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A V I S I T A T I N

OF TIIE

SEATS OF THE NOBLEMEN AND GENTLEMEN

OF

GEEAT BEITAIN AND lEELAND.

KINMEL PAEK, in tlie county of Denbigh,
the beautiful seat of Hugli Robert Hughes,
Esq., nephew and heir male of the first Lord
Dinorben.

In early times this property belonged to

the celebrated Gryffydd Lloyd, from whom it

passed by his daughter Alice, to her husband,
Ricliard ap Evan. Tlieir daughter and heiress,

Catherine, conveyed it by marriage to Pierce

HoUand, eleventh in descent from SirThomas
Holland, a son of John HoUand, Duke of
Exeter. From this family, passing again by
marriage, it devolved to the Carters, and
was alienated by John Carter to Sir Gfeorge
Wynne, Bart. From the last-named, the estate
was purchased by David Roberts, Esq., who
sold it tothe Rev. Edward Hughes, of Llysdu-
hxs, whose son,William Lewis Hughes—Baron
Dinorben—obtained his peerage by letters

patent, dated September lOth, 1811, to hiiu-

self and the heirs male of his body.
In the eighteenth century the old house was

almost entirely pulled doAvn, and a new and

splendid mansion was erected within a quarter
of a mile of its site, after plans by Samuel

Wyatt. This was destroyed by fire in 1842,
and was rebuilt by Lord Dinorben on "a
scale of great magnificence." Some remains of
the old building still exist, rendered yet more

interesting from their ruined state and the

dark ivy with which they are overgrown.
Within this venerable pile they still show a

room, abovit thirty feet long, by eighteen wide,
said to have been occupied by Oliver Crom-

well, during a visit he paid at Kinmel to his

friend and comrade, Sir John Carter, the same
that had acquired the estate by his marriage
with Miss Holland, whence the wits of the

time took occasion to say, in reference to

Carter's original occupation of a draper, that

the Colonel had " carried off' the best piece of

HoUand in the county." Ever since this

memorable visit, 01iver's spur* has been care-

fuUy preserved by the Kinmel family, the

relique having for many years past been

kept in tlie church for greater security.
One of the outer doors of the old hall,

which is of oak, and stvidded with nails,

bears within an escutcheon, formed likewise

* Oliver Cromweirs spur, as ijresevved at Kininel—



SEAT3 OF GREAT BRITAIN.

with nails, ihe following date and initial

letters :
—

1615

D. H. .'

l.

Within a few 3'ards of the entrance is a fine

old cedar, to which nuich legendary interest

is attached.

The modern house is exceedingly spacious
as well as handsome, and stands on the side

of a richly-wooded hill. It is constructed of

excellent freestone, from the Stourton Hill

quarries, in Cheshire. The eastern front,

whicli is the principal, is one himdred and

eighty feet in extent, relievedby a portico with

four massive lonic cohunns. At right angles
to it, hut on rather a higher elevation, stand

the stables, which are built of the same stone

as, and in a corresponding style with, the house.

The court is entered by a lofty archway,
sunnounted by a handsome clock tower.

The western front is reheved by another

portico of the same dimensions as the prin-

cipal front, and as well as the northern fi-ont,

opens upon a spacious teiTace, wliich com-

mands a fine view of the Irish Channel and
the vale of Clwyd.
The view from the mansion is no less beau-

tiful than extensive. On the right is the

Clwydian range of mountains, and the ruins

of Rhuddlan Castle, so much celebrated in

liistory, that we must not pass over it without

some notice, however cursory. In the early

days of Welsh independence, it was here that

the native princes were wont to receive and
cntertain their gallant followers. Here, too,

it was that King Edward I. dehided the half-

subdued Welsh by a pledge of giving them a
"
prince of their own blood," which he ful-

filled by bringing his Queen, Eleanor, to

lie-in at Caernarvon :
—

"
Kecpin^ the word of promise to the ear,
But breaking it to h.upe."

Tlicre is yct standing in Rhuddlan a por-
tion of the wall of the house in wliicli Edward
lield his parliament. The late Dean Shipley,
of St. Asaph, caused a tablet to be phiced

upon it, witli tlie following inscription :
—

" This fragmcnt
Ts thc rcmains of the building-

Whcrcin li.inti Edward thc Eirst

Ilcld his 1'arliamcnt,
A.l). 12K:i;

In which was passcd thc Statute of Rhuddlan,
Securinpr

To the principality of Wales
Its .ludicial llights
And Indcpendence."

Edward, anxious to secm-e his new con-

quest, kcpt three Christmases at Rhuddlan

Castle
;
and though the fact has been scarcely

noticed by historians. hisQueen, Eleanor, was

dehvered"here of a Priucess in 1283. Lysons
has translated from an old roU a minute ac-

count of the Royal expenses while at Rhudd-

lan, in which are many curious items. As,

for instance—" The Queen'3 gift to a female

spy, one shilling. A certain female spy,

to purchase her a house as a spy, one

pound. The Queen's gift to divers minstrels

attending her, ten poimds. For a certain

player, as a gift,
one shilling. For six hun-

dred turves, to place about the Queen's stew-

pond in the castle, one shilling. For the

carriage of eighty casks of wine from the

water to the castle, twenty-two shillings," &c.

Here, too, the unlucky Prince David was

brought prisoner, with all his family, and

placed before the judgment-seat of Edward.

After the death of liis brother, Llywelyn, and

the last slaughter of the Welsh, he had con-

trived to conceal himself, together with his

wife and childi-en, for some months, during
which time they were well nigh famislied. At

length two of his retainers, who, it is believed,

were bribed by the English, betrayed their

hiding-place ;
and on a night in June, Edward

sent a detachment, who dragged them all from

the morass in which they had sought slielter.

Ou being examined before the King at Rhudd-

lan, some very curious rehques were found

upon him, among which, one called Croese-

nydd, or a part of the real cross of Christ, and

the crown of the celebrated King Arthur, were

taken from him and given up to the conqueror.
It is needless to speak here of the brutal sen-

tence pronounced and executed on the imhappy

captive
— a sentence which disgraces even

those days of acknowledged barbarism. But

the people, impotent to resent this cruel out-

rage, found a sort of imaginary vengeance in

fancying a legend which punished one of the

inferior actors in this atrocious scene. A
courtier, willing to gain favour by a show of

zeal, pierced the heart of David as it lay

roasting in the fire which had consumed his

body ;
the heart, swoUen by the heat, burst

witli much force, and flying from the enibers,

struck the courtier in the eye, and blinded

him for hfe. We return once more to the

subject from which the prospect of these

celebrated ruins have led us thus far astray.

Between Kinmel House and tlie sca lies

that rich and liighly cidtivated tract of land

called Rhuddlan Marsh, which was reclaimed

from the ocean many centuries ago. The

embankment is nearly eight miles in length,

and of varying thickness according to the

force of the tidc. The land thus enclosed is

a rich k)am, part of which was sokl under

the act to defray the expense of defending

the whole marsh from farther inroads.

The park of Kinmel is studded with a profu-

sion of maguificenttimber of variouskinds. Till
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Avithin a few years ago, theve stood here a

Bahu of Gilead fiv, which measuved no less

tlian eleven feet in givth, and was supposed
to be the lai-gest in Eui-ope. It was blown
down in the high sea-gales of 1839.

Fvoni the size and appeai-ance of many of

the tvees, they must have been jilanted cen-

turies ago. Besides the vavious clustevs,
there ave some stately avenues of oak, lime,
and beech

;
and one of tlie lattev, whicli has

attaincd an unusual gvowth, is said to have been

planted in the time of tlie Commonwealth.
This pavk is supplied with deev of the

choicest sovt, fvom fouv to five hundved being
constantly kept in stock. They are secuved by
a vevy extensive park-wall, the uniformity of
which has been broken by the introduction of

iron vaihngs at cevtain vegulav intevvals.

On a lofty eminence, immediately behind
the pavk, is Pen-y-pave, upon the bvow of a

hill towavds the left. Heve again we find a

pecuUav intevest attaching to the locality
fvom the lingeving tradition of other times.

Upon the top of the hill is the site of Owen
Gwynedd's camp, after his retreat before

Henry II., whose farther progi'ess was

brought to a stand by this formidable obstacle,
which was most gallantly defended. Traces
of the okl fortifications still exist in two wide

deep fosses that surround the summit, and
from all appearances it must have been a

place of great strength, especially with refer-

ence to the more scanty war-appliances of those

days in which it was erected. The view from
this spot is no less extensive than interesting.
On one side spreads the romantic vale of

Clwyd, bounded by the Clwydian range of
niountains

;
on another rise up in distant

grandeur the mountains of Caernarvon, and
on a third is the Iiish Channel, with tlie

Ovmshead. The site, which is covered with
Uixuriant woods, is connected with the park by
walks, which afford a dehghtful retreat during
the lieats of summev.

Another interesting featuve of the neigh-
bouvhood is the village of Kegidock, ov St.

George's
—Llan-St.-Sion. In olden times it

was much celebrated for a weU dedicated
to St. Geovge, to whom, as its tutelav saint, it

was customavy fov the vich to pvesent a hovse,
in ovdev to pvocuve his benedlction upon the
rest of theiv stud.

The churchyard has also been a subject of
much interest to traveUers from its exceeding
neatness and rural beauty, the unsightUness of
death being tempered and softened down by
the shnibs and flowers that are nursed here in

great abundance. The hnpression produced
by this quiet scene, notwithstanding its asso-

ciations, may weU be caUed pleasing,
—

certainly
much more so than that which is excited by
the finest monuments of stone or mai-ble. The
Uving works of natuvcseemto havmouizemove

pleasingly with ouv ideas of an immovtal

though pavted spivit, than the cold, insensible

productions ofhuman avt. The pvesent wovtliy
rector is the Rev. John Jones.

In the church are several flag-stones en-

graved to the memory of the Carter famiJy,

ah-eady mentioned. Here, also, is a handsome
Gothic mausoleum, erected over the tomb of

the late Lady Dinorben.

CHATSWOKTH, in the county of Devby,
the seat of the Duke of Devonshive,

The beauty of the scenevy of the pavt of

Devbyshive wheve Chatswovth is situated, is

great and striking. The Palace of the Peak
vises Uke a gem in the midst of a wild and
somewhat vugged landscape. It is situated in

the centve of a vevy Uivge and pictuvesque

pavk, with magnificent tvees, a fine vivev, and

undulating banks of wood, intevspevsed with

frequent rocks. The sylvan scenery of the

park is graced by the clear streams of the

river Derwent
;
and behind the house, which

forms the middle distance in the picture, rises

a high sloping hiU, shadowed by broad and
davk masses of thick foUage ; while beyond
ave seen the vomantic hiUs which skivt the

peak of Devbyshive.
Chatswovth Pavk abounds with beautiful

views. From one point the buikUng is seen

backed with wide and ample foUage ;
in the

foreground are spread the green and sunny
banks of the stream

;
and the more remote

distances, covered with rocks and ornamented
with a picturesque towev, disclose a landscape
such as nevev was suvpassed by the happiest

inspivations of Chuide ov Bevghem.
Fvom another point of more elevated

ground, the ridges and peaks of the moorhmd
are partiaUy hidden by the beautiful knoUs of

the park ;
while in other directions they are

hvid bare in their bhackness, loftiness, and
massive outUne, skirting the horizon to the

east and north. The bare faces of rock and
broken fragments are thickly strewed on the

shelving sides of the hUls, and in the deep
ravines which traverse thera. Chatsworth is,

in trutli, a verdant and smUing oasis, sur-

rounded by bleak hiUs and wUd pictuvesque
vocks. The gvoups of tvees in the pavk, and
the masses of wood on the slopes, devive addi-

tional bvightness and beauty fvom the heights

vising above them, amongst which the vocks

stavt in vugged pinnacles.
Chatswm-th is situated in the manor of

Edensov, which, in the days of King Edwavd
the Confessor, belonged to Levenot and

Chetel
;
but when the Doomsday Survey was

taken, it appertained to Henry de Ferrars.

The mesne seigniory was anciently vested for

several generations in the ancestors of the

house of Shirley, M'hUe the immediate posses-

sion belonged \o the Foljambes, and then to

the Phunptons, who appear to have possessed
it about the middle of the 15th century, A
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half of tlie manor passed to the Chffords, and

was sold by the Earl of Cumherland to the

Countess of Shrewsbm-y, and the whole is now

the property of the Duke of Devonshh-e.

The churcli of Edensor was granted originally

by Fulcher, ancestor of the Shirleys, to the

convent of llocester. The hamlet of Edensor

has been rebuilt and ornamented recently by
the Duke of Devonshire, but in very question-

able taste.

Chatsworth is called in the Doomsday Sur-

vey "Chetelsvorde," and it took its name
from its former Saxon owner—Chetel, the co-

temporary of the Confessor. At the time of

that survey, it belonged to WilHam Peverel.

John Leech—said to liave been King Edward

the Third's surgeon
—was the founder of an

old race which preceded the more modem

family of Cavendish, and yielded to them.

Some mention is made of a possessor of

Chatsworth, intermediate between the Leeches

and Cavendishes, of the name of Agard. But

it is highly improhahle that such a person
ever actually was in possession of this estate.

Agard may have been the agent employed by
Bess of Hardwick and her husband in negociat-

ing tlie purchase with their brother-in-law,

Francis Leech
;
and it is possible that, in

order to satisfy some legal form, the nanie of

Agard may have been introduced in a deed,
as that of the hohler of the property. But
there is no reason to think that he ever

possessed it. In some of the correspondence
of Lady Shrewsbury, a person of the name of

Agard is incidentally mentioned as one of her

agents.
There is no doubt that during the various

changes of property which the lands about

Chatsworth, Edensor, and Bakewell under-

went iu the course of centuries, tlie name of

De Gernon occurs in connection with terri-

torial possession. The manor of Bakewell
was gi-anted by King John to Ralph De
Gernon, in whose family it continued for some

time, and at length came into that of Vernon.

Considerlng the chilms, which genealogical

flattery has fostered, of the descent of the

Cavendislies from the Gernons, it is a curious

coincidence that at an early date there should

actually have been Gernons settled as land-

owners in the immediate vicinity of Chats-

worth ! But this fact can have no real

connection with the dcscent of tlic Cavendishes,
who did not possess an acrc of hmd in Derby-
shire until the purchase of Chatsworth by Sir

WilHain Cavendish, about L55().

But it is probal)le that this ancient posses-
sion by the Gernons of property near Chats-

worth, may not so much be a coincidence
with the fabulous chiims afterwards ])ut forth

by tlie family of Cavcndish, as rather the sug-
gestor of those claims. The notiou tliat thc

first known Cavendisli wasa Gernon, isindced
devoid not only of cvidcncc, but of probahiHty.

Yet its origin may well be attributed to a

desire to show that, though the Caven-

dishes of the reign of EHzabeth did in-

deed appear as new men in Derbyshire,

they nevertheless could trace their male
descent from persons who had been eminent

in the county three or fom- centuries back.

Such seems to be the most Hkely origin for

the claim to a Gernon Norman pedigree !

The idea of Chatsworth is so intimately
connected with that of the proprietors by
whom it has been so h)ng owned and em-

belHshed, that it is difficult to conceive any
other race as having a prior claim to its pos-
session. Yet Cavendish is uot the old family
of Cliatsworth

;
and when we come to inquire

who the original possessors were, we find no-

tliing baronial or knightly, but a mere race of

plain Derbyshire squires, without iUustration,

and boasting of a very unaristocratic surname.

The ancientfamily of Ingwardsby, indeed, ap-

pear to have been the superior mesne lords
;
but

the substantial interest was, for many genera-

tions, vested in a family of the name of Leech.

This was a professional appeUation, adopted as

a surname, for in early times an ancestor of this

family is said to have been King's Surgeon.
Tliere are many ancient deeds, now extant,

which prove tlie antiquity of this family in

Derhyshire, apart from the testimony of old

heralds. WilHam Leech of Chatsworth was
witness to a deed as early as the 13th year of

King Edward II., andagainin the 17thyear of

thatreign. In the 28th year ofKing Henry YI.,

Philip Leech is, in a deed, designated as Elder-

man of the Guihl of St. Mary of Edensor. In

the 38th year of the same reign, the Abbot and
Convent of the Virgin Mary of Rocester (in

StafFord) grant a lease of certain tythes to

Lady EHzabeth, \nte wife of Ralpli Leecli,

Avith remainder to PhiHp, her son. In the

6th year of Henry VII. the name of Philip
Leech of Chatsworth appears in a deed

;
and

again, in the 18th of thatreign, George Leech's,
of Chatsworth, name appears.

There is an old and authentic pedigree of

this family, which once belonged to Camden,
and which begins with Dawkin Leech of Chats-

worth, wlio lived in the 1 4th century, and was
father of Sir Roger and Sir PhiHp Leech of

Chatsworth. Sir PhUip was father of Ralph,
who, by his wife EHzabeth, daughter of Ro-
binet Eyre of Pedley, had PhUip Leecli of

Cliatsworth, who married a lady of the house

of Vernon. The Leeches became very closely
connected with the family of Hardwick—
Fraucis Leech of Chatsworth having married

AHce Hardwick, sister of EHzabeth, wife of

Sir WiUiam Cavendish, and the Earl of Shrews-

bury ;
and Ralph Leech, the uncleof Francis,

having married tlie mother of AHce and EHza-

beth ilardwick, viz., EHzabcth, widowof John
Hardwick of Hardwick, and daughter of Leake
of Hasland.
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Francis Leech sold liis estate of Chatsworth
to his sister-in-law, Elizabeth Hardwick, and
lier husband, Sir Wilham Cavendish, about

1550, and thus Chatsworth became the pro-

perty of that powerful and i'ising family.
—

Francis Leech, who sokl Chatsworth, had no

children, and lie may be said to have been the

last of his line. However, his uncle Ralph
also married his wife's mother, the widow Eli-

zabeth Hardvvick, had by her three daughters,
who thus were half sisters of Bess ofHardwick,
Lady Shrewsbury. These ladies were the heirs

ofhne ofthe original proprietors ofChatsworth :

1. Jane, wife of Thomas Kniveton of Mir-

caston, in Derbyslure, by whom she had St.

Loe Kniveton, the antiquaiy, and SirWiUiam
Kniveton, created a Bai"onet in 1610. 2.

EHzabeth, wife of Anthony Wingfield, ofSuf-
folk. 3. Margaret, wife, Ist, of Richard

Shiter, of Lincohrsliire, and, 2d, of

Harrison of Biggin. The two last had no
issue

;
so that the heirs of hne of the Leeches

of Chatsworth, are the Knivetons or their re-

presentatives, whoever they may be, for the

male hne of Kniveton, is extinct.

There is a curious letter extant, written by
EUzabeth Leech, wife of Ralph, and widow of

John Hardwick, to her daughter, EUzabeth

Hardwick, at that time Lady St. Loe, beg-
ging, in the most urgent manner, some money
from her for one of her sons, as the purchase
money of a portion of his lands, which she had

bought. It does not seem certain whether the

son referred to was James Hardwick of Hard-

wick, her son, or Francis Leech of Chats-

worth, her son-in-law. The letter wiU apply
to either of them, for both of them wanted

monejf, and the estates of both were purchased
by the prosperous

" Bess of Hardwick."
James Hai-dwick, the brother of "

Bess," was

always in difficulties, and was, at length,

obUged to make way for his sister, who pur-
chased the HaUs of her fathers with the large
sums which she had amassed.

Chatsworth was a purchase which she in-

duced her husband, Cavendish, to make, at

the expense of his estates situated elsewhere.
These he sold with a view to concentrate his

interests in Derbyshire, and in order that his

property and hers might be brought within
a more convenient distance of each other. We
do not know anything of the ancient mansion
of the Leeches. Probably it was cleared away
by Sir WiUiam Cavendish, in conjunctionwith
his wife, who buiU a stately house there.

During three centuries, the Cavendishes
have held a very elevated position among the
nobles of EngLind ;

and a family that has for

so long a period enjoyed the highest honours

may be weU content to dispense with a ficti-

tious pedigree, setting forth an antiquity to

which it has no well-founded claim. The
Dukc of Devonshire, exaUed as he and his

ancestors have been for nine getterations, may
cheerfuUy acknowledge that in his earUer des-

cent there was nothing to flatter the pride of

lineage. Tlre chiim to a Knightly Norman ori-

gin vanishes with the Gernons, with whom
there is no good reason for supposing that the

Cavendishes had any connection. Robert de
Gernon was a Norman, who accompanied
WiUiam the Conqueror to England, and fovmded
a family, which continued for many generations,
and which, though it never attained to baronial

rank, undoubtedly enjoyed veryhigh conside-

ration. The flattery of genealogists derives the

Cavendishes from Geoffrey, a younger son of

WiUiam de Gernon, the 5th of this ancient

race. Tliey say that his son, Roger de Ger-

non, married EUzabeth, daughter of the Lord
of Cavendish, in the reign of King Edward the

Second, and that their son assiuned tlie name
of his maternal property as a surname. For
this there is no evidence.

The name of Cavendish is undoubtedly local,

and was assumed, as a family name, by the

proprietors of lands in Cavendish, in SutFolk.

But we have no means of ascertaining who the

first individual so named was, or what situa-

tion he filled. We can trace the family au-

thenticaUy as far back as the reign of King
Edward the Second, and there we nuist rest

satisfied that about the year 1322 there was a
John de Cavendish in Sutfblk, who held the

position of a respectable landowner. But

they do not appear to have possessed much

consequence until they were raised to some

degree of distinction by an eminent lawyer.
This was Sir John Cavendish, probably the

son of the above-named John. It is worthy of

remark that he had several brothers, from
one of whom was descended Thomas Caven-

dish, the enterprising navigator, who died

1591.

It was Sir John Cavendish, the lawyer, who
raised the family from provincial obscurity,
and gave them what in France might have
been termed a "noblesse de la robe" during
six generations. In the 39th year of King
Edward the Third he was made Lord Chief

Justice of the King's Bench, and he was
continued in his oftice in the reign of King
Richard the Second. But in the 5th year
of that reign he was seized by a furious

mob, and murdered, in the market place
of Bury. He was a man of very consider-

able landed propert}', and left good estates

to his son Andrew, who was succeeded by his

son WiUiam, of whose existence there is proof
in the 2nd year of King Henry the Fourth.

This WiUiam passed his estate of Cavendish to

his coiisin, also named WiUiam, son of Sir

John, younger son of Sir John, the Chief Jus-

tice. Tliis Sir John is said to have been a

personal attendant of King Richard the Se-

cond, and to ha\e shared with Walwortli, Lord
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of John Smith, he left several

the eldest, was ancestor of a

a few generations at Glems-

Mayor of London, the honour of slaying Wat
Tyler. By Joan, daughter of Sir William

Clayton, he had two sons
; Robert, a lawyer,

who became a Serjeant, and Williani, who
succeeded to Cavendish. He died in 1432

;

and by Joan Stevenson had a son, Thomas.
In liis time the family fell back in the world,
for he sold Cavendish and other lands, and

spent all. His wife's name Avas Scudamore,
and by her he had a son, Thomas Cavendish,

who, like most of his family, was a lawyer,
and seems to have held a respectable otHce

in the Exchequer. He died in the 15th year
of King Heni-y the Eighth, and by his wife,

the daughter
sons. George,
line settled for

ford, in Suffolk
; William, the second, is the

ancestor of the Duke of Devonshire.

Being a Sutfolk man, he had the good for-

tune to obtain an introduction to his distin-

guished countryman, Cardinal Wolsey, who
took liim into his service, and made him his

Gentleman Usher. After his master's fall, he
was taken by King Hem-y the Eighth into his

own service, and was employed in the sup-

pression of monasteries. After having accep-

tably served the King in an inferior capacity,
lie was made Treasurer of the Chamber,
and at length was Knighted, and made a

Member of the Privy Council. King Edward
the Sixth granted him considerable estates

wliicli had belonged to religious bodies. He
married, 1. Anne Bostock, by whom he left

issue. 2. Margaret Pauker, by whom he had
no issue. 3. Elizabeth Hardwick, daughter
of John Hai'dwick of Hardwick, and widow
of Robert Barlow of Barlow, both in the county
of Derby.

This marriage raised the family of Caven-
dish to rank, honour, and fortune. Not that

the Hardwicks possessed any great ilhistra-

tion, for they were a family of moderate an-

ticpiity, who had, during the few generations

preceding the birth of Elizabeth, gradually
attained to a distinguished place among the

country gentry of Derbyshire. That they
])ossessed great wcalth, is manifest from the

splendid ruins of their ancient seat, which
still adorn the Park of Hardwick

;
and this

wealth, and that of several other families,

seems, at length, to have centred in the per-
son of Elizabeth Hardwick, who was not ori-

ginally her father's heiress, as she had a bro-

thor and several sisters. But she was no or-

dinary woman, and apj^ears to luive been des-

tined l)y Providence to be thc founder of a

great family.
She marricd four husbands.—Ist. Robert

Barlow, who, dying very young, in 1532,
settled his great estate upon lier. She remained

niany years a widow, and tlien she nun-ried Sir

William Cavcndish, by whom she had a nu-

merous family. Her third husband was Sir

William St. Loe of Tornuirten, in (Jlouces-

tershire, Captain of the Guard to Queen Eli-

zabeth
;

but before she consented to marry
him, she secured, in as much as possible, liis

possessions to herself and her own children, to

the prejudice of his family by a former wife.

The Captain was a sufRciently unprincipled
fool to agree to her proposal, and accordingly
he settled his iarge estate upon her and her

heirs. Tliis union did not long endure, and

Lady St. Loe was left for the third time a

widow, with a fortune increasedto averygreat
amount.
Rank was now her aim, and she exerted

lier well-tried powers of fascination upon one
of the most distinguished subjects of the

reahn of England. George, Earl of Shrews-

bm-y, was an eklerly man, rich, full of loyalty,

probity, and honour
; high in ancestral rank,

and in the favour of his sovereign. Upon him
did the Lady St. Loe calcvdate, in order to

realize her visions of ambition
;
and she not

only wedded tliis great Earl, but bargained
for matrimonial alliances between his children

and hers, and thus she opened an entrance
for her own homely brood into the circle

of the highest English aristocracy. With
this alliance, the grandeur of the Caven-
dishes may be said to have commenced. A
magnificent jointure was settled by the earl

on his wealthy bride, and it was agreed
that her eldest son, Henry Cavendish, should

espouse the earPs daughter
—Lady Grace

Talbot
;
and that her youngest daughter Mary

shoukl become the wife of his son and heir,

Lord Gilbert. The peace of mind of Lord

Shrewsbury was now gone for ever, for at

this time he committed the double mistake of

allowing liimself to be caught by the attrac-

tions of an artful, designing woman, and of

accepting tlie sad ofhce ofguardian to a captive

queen.
Li a luckless hour, Mary, Queen of Scots,

threw herself on the protection of tliat ambi-
tious woman her sister and foe, who never
darcd to meet her face to face, knowing in

her heart tlie deep phms wliich she had laid

for her own safety at the expense of lier

dreaded rival. When Elizabeth decided upon
placing Mary in the custody of the Earl of

Shrewsbury, she was well assured of his

fidelity, and was doubtless glad to find in his

wife a woman of a cliaracter so resohite and

uncompromising. In truth, the Countess

EHzabeth greatly resembled her royal name-

sake, and tliere was little cliance of sympathy
or pity in her selfish heart towards the ilhis-

trious captive thus confided to lier. Tlie long
and jealous guardiansliip of tlie Queen of

Scots by Lady Shrewsbury, at the cxpense ofher

high-minded husband's happiness, is a matter

of history, and nced not here bc dwelt upon.
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The mutual affection of the Earl and
Countess seema to have begiui to cool ahout the

year 1577. Parties began to exist in the

family, and feuds and broils became frequent.
At this time the magnificent buildings and

improvements at Chatsworth and Hardwick
were carried on with activity. About 158S,
the Earrs domestic unhappiness appears to

have reached its climax. His letters at

this period upbraid his sons and daughters-in-
law and his Countess with their continual

ill-treatment and greediness. The whole

family seemed to be stiiiggling in a state of

warfare, and the grief of heart of the unfortu-

nate Eai-1 was lamentably aggravated, no doubt,

by the severeproceedings against the unhappy
captive who liad so long been under his care.

At length in November, 1590, the troubles

and domestic afflictions of this amiable noble-

man were brouglit to a close by death. The
Countess survived him many years, living to the

verge of ninety, and even to the last hour indulg-

ing in her pride and workUy magnificence. Her
passion was for buikling, and it is hard to say
how many more nobie monuments of her taste

she miglit have left behind her, if a hard frost

in 1G07 had not compelled her workmen to

stop suddenly, when engaged in improving
the Norman keep of Bolsover. The magic
spell was broken—the charm was ended—the

witches' prophecy was fulfiUed. Bess of

Hardwick ceased to build, and accordingly
died!

There is no place with which the remem-
brance of Queen Mary's captivity is more

intimately associated than Chatsworth. There
we are in imagination cariied back to the time
when tlie ill-fated Queen looked from its

turrets with vain hope. Little, however, is

actually left of Mary at Chatsworth except
her picture, and a romantic and curious raised

plat of architectural garden in the park, called
"
Mary's Bower," where she is said often to

have sat, pondering upon her eventful past
and her luicertain future. The relics of Mary
which are exhibited at Hardwick Hall, were

brought thither from Chatsworth, and formed
the furniture of the apartment there where the

captive was confined.

It is only of the children of Sir William

Cavendish, by Elizabeth Hardwick, that we
need to take account, as they alone properly
belong to the great patrician house which was
founded by that prudent and ambitious couple.
Sir William's elder childi-en were daughters,
and remained in his own condition of compa-
rative obscurity. The issue of William and
Elizabeth was as follows :

—
(1.) Henry Caven-

dish, who lived at Tutbury, and died there in

1616. He married Lady Grace Talbot,

daughter to the Earl of Shrewsbury, but had
no legitimate issue. His bastard son is the

ancestor of a family of the name of Cavendish,
who of late years have been advanced to the

peei-age with the title of Lord Waterpark. (2.)

William Cavendish, who in 1605 was ci'eated

Lord Cavendish by King James L, and in

1618 Earl of Devonshire. He married, first,

Anne Kighly, and, second, Elizabeth Bough-
ton, and was ancestor of the Dukes of Devon-
shire. (3.) Sir Charles Cavendish, who inhe-

rited Welbeck Abbey and Bolsover Castle. He
man-ied a great Northinnbrian heiress, Cathe-

rine, daughter of Cuthbert Lord Ogle. His
son was the renowned Sir William Cavendish,
created successively Lord Bolsover, Viscount

Mansfield, Earl of Ogle, Marquis and Duke
of Newcastle, and he is now represented by
the Duke of Portland as heir of line. The
daughters were (1.) Frances, wife of Sir Henry
Pierrepoint, ancestor to the Duke of Kingston.
(2.) Elizabeth, who by marriage became inti-

mately connected with the royal house, as wife
of Charles Stuart, Earl of Lennox, younger
brother of Henry Lord Darnley, King of Scot-

land, and uncle of King James L Her only
child was the ill-fiited Lady Arabella Stuart,
whose disastrous history is one of the most
romantic episodes in the annals of the royal
house. (3.) Mary, wife of Gilbert Talbot, Earl
of Shrewsbury.

It is impossible, without wonder, to consider
the splendour of the destiny of these children
of parents who, at the outset of life, certainly
had no illustration to boast of, and possessed
no claim to ambitious hopes. An upper do-
mestic in the household of a cardinal, the son
of a respectable otficial in the Exchequer,
whose highest boast was a descent from a

judge in the reign of Edward III., and the

daughter (one of many children) of a wealthy
Derbyshire country gentleman of no high
descent, gave birth to two sons, the founder of
two of the greatest Ducal houses in England,
and three daughters, one of whom matched
with a member of the royal family, and the
two others maiTied into the great houses of the

high aristocracy. Such was the singular for-

tune of the name of Cavendish. The present
Duke of Devonshire is the ninth in descent
from Sir William Cavendish. And the family
rise has been worthily kept up by high con-
nection and noble bearing. Their female
descents have been (with the exception of Miss

Ploskins, a rich plebeian heiress) very noble
and distinguished, and the blood of the Clerk
of the Pipe and the Gentleman Usher has been
enriched by that of Bruce Lord Bruce of

Kinloss, Cecil Earl of Salisbury, Butler Duke
of Ormond, Russell Duke of Bedford, Boyle
Earl of Cork and Burlington, and Spencer
Earl of Spencer.
The Leeches had a respectable mansion at

Chatsworth, with a park ;
but this old Hall was

pulled down by Sir William Cavendish after

he purchased the estate, and a spacious ele-

gant house, as Camden describes it, was com-
menced by him and left imfinished at his
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(leatb, but was completed by his widow. This

new bouse was a quadraugular building witli

turrets
;
and bere tbe widow Barlow, alias Ca-

vendish, alias St. Loe, frequently i-esided

during her union with George Earl of Shrews-

bury. In 1.570 Mary Queen of Scots resided

here, having been removed thitber from Wing-
field manor. In the end of this year Lord

Burleigh remained nearly a month at Chats-

worth, being engaged in a negociation between

the Queen and the royal captive ;
and writing

to Lord Shrewsbury after his return to court,

the minister thanks him for his "
chargeable

and lovying interteynment of him." In the

same letter he says,
" The Queen's Majesty is

pleased that your lordship sludl (when you see

tyme mete) sufFer the Quene to take the ayre
about your howss on horsebacke, so yoiu* ]ord-

ship be in company, and not to pass from your
howss, above one or twoo myle, except it be

on the moores." Soon after this, the Queen
was removed to ShefReld Castle, which con-

tinued to be for some years her chief residence,

except occasional changes of air at Chatsworth

and Buxton. She visited Chatsworth in 1573,

1.577, 1.578, and 1581. In 1577 Lord Bur-

leigh observes to Lord Shrewsbury that he

thought
" Chatsworth a very meete howss for

good preservation of his charge, having no
toun of resort where any ambushes might lye."
The royal prisoner was never moved from one

place to another without the Queen's express
sanction, and her pei'mission to grant change
of air was often refused although pressingly
solicited.

The old Hall of Chatsworth, built by Bess of

Hardwick, was occupied as a fortress in the

civil wars, both on the side of the King and
of the Parliament

;
in 1643, it was garrisoned

for the latter, by Sir John Gell, and in the

end of tliat year it was taken and garrisoned
for the King, by the Marquis of Newcastle.

The newhouse ofChatsworth was fii'st designed

by the first Duke of Devonshire. He pulled
down the south side of the old house, and re-

built a noble front to the gardens, Some

j'eai-s after, he built another side of the square,
and another, and another, until the entire

s])]endid qvmfh-angle was completed. And
although he expended an immense sum of

money on this magnificent pile, it is supposod
that lie Laid out a still hirger sum on his

gardens, water-works, andobjects of art. The

progress of tlie building lasted for about twenty
years, from 1688 "to 1708, when it was com-

pleted. This portion of the house of Chats-

worth is nearly a square, containing a courtin
tlie centre. Thc south part is 190 feet in

length, cncircled with pihisters, and sur-

mounted with a ballustrade. The west part is

172 in lengtli, with similar ornaments.
The okl gardens were begun in 1688, and the

grand parterre at the south front in 1694. Tlic

magnilicent water-works were begun in 1690,

and exhibit what is in this country considered

as one of the finest embellishments of an Italian

garden on a grand and splendid scale. They
have received important additions at the

expense of the present Duke, and they now
throw water up higher than any water-works
in Europe, leaving tliose of Versailles and
Wilhehnshohe far behind.

At the beginning of the present century,
Chatsworth was celebrated as one of the most

magnificent seats in England ;
but it owes the

chief share of its celebrity to the immense
sums of money which have been lavished upon
it by the present Duke. Its natural advan-

tages are veiy great, and it is quite apparent
that no expense has been spared in order to

heighten these original beauties by the most
elaborate art. Money has been lavished upon it

in boundless profiision, and the efi'ect that has
been produced is truly magnificent. Perhaps
a very severe classical critic might consider

many of the improvements as having been
executed in very qviestionable taste. But the

general effect is extremely gorgeous. And
Chatsworth has been a great boon to the

people of England, presenting them with the

type of a grand country mansion, the resi-

dence of a magnificent peer, accessible at all

times to the multitudes in any nuniber. It

is fortimate, for the sake of the enjoyment of
the niiddle classes, that during his brief visits

to Chatsworth, the Duke is amused by the
crowds that in summer throng his park, and

inspect his galleries, and ramble over his

gardens. The arrival of a monster train is

said to be an event of pleasurable excitement.
And if tbe people like to see Chatsworth, its

owner likes quite as much to let it be seen.

Thus, from its easy access, its natural beauty,
and the pomp and expenditure of its adorn-

ments, it is the most popular country seat in

England, and has been visited more generally
than any other.

The additions which have been made by
the present Duke consist of great galleiies,
and a high tower at one end of the house,

conservatory, rock gardens, and a collection

of statues.

W^e will now attempt to give some descrip-
tion of the wonders of this magic palace and
enchanted gardens; and to any traveller who,
after traversing the wild scenery of the peak,
or the romantic and rocky dales of North

Derbyshire, suddenly comes upon this won-
derfid niansion and its noble terraces and

sparkling fountains, the work seems that of

enchantment, devised and executed by genii,
ratlier than by mortals.

The original house, composedoffour nearly

equal sides, lias received immense additions,
and more especially since the accession of the

present Duke. The magnificent wings, gal-

leries, and tower, cause the original house,
built 150 years ago, to shrink ahnost into
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iRsignificance. The entrance is hardly worthy
of the grandeiir of the niansion. Entering
the vestihule, which contains a few antique
busts and figures, and passing along a corridor,
we come to the great hall and grand stair-

case, decorated witli paintings by Verrio
;
the

effect of whicli is gaudy, rather than agree-
able. In this hall tliere is a touching tribute

paid by the afFectionate feelings of tl:e Duke
to tlie memory of the wife of his heir pre-

sumptive, the Countess of Bui-lington, who
was liis own niece. It is a short Latin in-

scription, stating that tliis great mansion,
which had been begun in the year of British

liberty (1688), had received its final com-

pletion in the year of the present owner's

sorrow, viz. : that in which Lady Bm-lington
died.

There is a very sumptuous suite of rooms
called the state apartments, which are seldom

or never used. They are furnished and
decorated in the style of William III. and

Anne, and are a good specimen of the taste

which prevailed when tlie original house was
built. In these rooms are the celebrated

carvings of game, fish, fruit and flowers, wliich

have rendered Gibbons so famous in this

department of art. The ceilings are de-

corated witli allegorical paintings by Verrio.

The entire lengtli of this suite is 190 feet.

Tlie south galleries contain a collection,

probably the finest of its kind in Britain,

consisting of a thousand original drawings by
the most eminent masters of the Italian,

Flemish, and Spanish schools. The chapel is

wainscoted and seated with cedar, and abounds

witli carved and scidptured ornaments
;

but

the paintings, which are not in good taste,

disturb the solemnity of its appearance, so

that the chapel of Chatsworth has very little

the air of devotion.

The series of apartments in the new wing
form a connected suite, extending over an

area of 750 feet long. These rooms are fur-

nished and decorated with the utmost pro-
fusion of costly magnificence. The library
is a mass of gorgeous gilding, and, with its

ante-room, is about 120 teetlong. The dining-
room is 60 feet long. The sideboards rest on

massive frames of biu-nished gilding, and the

chimney-pieces are the " chefs-d'oeuvre" of

modern sculpture. In the dining-room and

drawing-room there are some very fine por-
traits by the first continental masters. But
Chatsworth is not rich in pictures, with the

exception of its unrivalled collection of etch-

ings already mentioned. The gem of the

place is the sculpture-gallery, which surpasses,

in the magnificence of modern art and genius,

every other great mansion in England. This

is a very fine apartment, lighted from the top.

The walls are of polished and variegated

granite, which is well calculated to heighten
the effect of the beautiful objects which it

contains. Here is a rare assemblage of the

works of Canova, Thorwaldsen, Gibson,

Chantry, Wyatt, Westmacott, Tenerani, and
other distinguished native and foreign artists.

The vases, columns, pedestals, slabs, and
brackets are most of them objects of great

beauty, from their exquisite forms and fine

materials.

Whatever criticism may be applied to the

palace of Chatsworth as a whole, or in its

details, must be disanned when describing
the two galleries which are its glory, and
which distinguish it above most private man-
sions, that of modern sculpture, and that of
the original drawings of great masters. While
the crowds that fill the monster excursion

trains, which are welcomed to Chatsworth,

gaze with wondering admiration at the gilded
window frames, and the vast pLIes of sump-
tuous masonry, the intelligent few will thank
the Duke of Devonshire for the permission so

liberally accorded to inspect what is really

valuable, beautiful, and calculated to improve
the taste.

The orangery is 180 feet long, and filled

with choice trees, and from this point is en-

joyed a magnificent vista of the grand suite of
rooms which we have been attempting to de-

scribe. A flight of steps leads from the

orangery into the flower garden, laid out in

beds of flowers and shrubs, and leading to

the water-works and great cascade. These

magnificent playthings were designed in the

beginning of iast century, and at the time

gave great celebrity to Chatsworth. They
remind one of the water-works at St.

Cloud. When they are in fuU play, a great

body of water rises from a square dome-
covered building, and falls into a basin below,
and on descending 300 yards over twenty-four
ledges, loses itself amidst masses of rock. A
squirting tree, which much delighted Queen
Victoria when a little girl, consists of a series

oi jets cVeau, the pipes of which are in the
form of a decayed tree. But the eniperor jet
tVeau surpasses everything of the kind either

here or anywhere else, rising to the height of
270 feet, and situated in a lage basin in front

of tlie house, between the rock garden and
the Italian garden.
Between the water-works and the grand

conservatory there is a rock garden, which
has been constructed at vast expense, great
masses of rocks having been brought from a

distance, and piled up here in most elaborate

confusion. They are covered with a profusion
of creeping and rock plants, and from their

great extent and abruptness have a very singu-
lar and striking appearance. But the eftect

is unnatural, and therefore unpleasing. It is

presumed that the design was to imitate the
Chinese taste in gardening.
From this wilderness of wooded artificial

rocks we pass to the grand conservatory, 300
c
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feet in length, and 145 feet in width. The
elevation of the central arclied roof is sixty-
seven feet, witha span of seventy feet. From
an elevation of five or si ; feet froni the groimd,
it is one mass of glass frames. The interior

comprises an acre, in the centre of wliich

there is a carriage-road ;
the gigantic speci-

mens of exotic vegetation heing distributed in

opcn horders, each class in the soil pecnliar to

it, and tlie temperature regulated in the man-
ner most conducive to the flourishing state

ofeach. There are six miles of tube for the

conveyance of hot and cold water. In order

to realize an idea of the conservatory at

Chatsworth, it must be visited. Nothing of

the kind was ever before planned on so gi-

gantic a scale, and it has given the idea to

other great buildings of public utility and

ornament, wliich will probably be greatly
extended.

The arboretum covers several acres, sheltered

and protected from the north and east winds.

The kitchen gardens are twelve acres in

extent. The most pleasing portion of the

pleasure-grounds at Chatsworth is the Itahan

terrace garden justunder the house, and com-

manding a fine sweep of the river. It is in

excellent taste, suiting the style of the adja-
cent magnificent mansion, and it is in itself an

admirable specimen of an Itahan architectural

flower garden, as expense does not seem
ever to have been considered in the adorn-

ment of this great place, it is ahiiost surpris-

ing that tlie river should have remained in

its natural state. Were it to be converted into

a large piece of water, flooding many acres of

meadow, and rising to the foot of the ten-ace

on which the Italian garden stands, the eflect

would be mucli improved.
Tlie park of Chatsworth is of great extent

and beauty, containing every species ofscenery,
lawn, rock, woodhmd, and hilL In natm-al

picturesqueness the place is almost unrivalled
;

and tliere is none whicli bears such evident

marks of wealth having been expended on
its adornment, in the most lavish profusion.

FYVIE CASTLE, co. Aberdeen, the seat of

Cosmo (jordon, Esq. Fyvie Castle, situated

on tlie nortli-east bank of the river Ytlian, in

the district of Formatine, is alike remarkable
for its commanding situation, its antiquity, its

connection witli interesting events in Scottisli

history, and its importance as a noble speci-
men of baronial architecture.

Tlicre a])])ears no doubt that the ]iresent

buihling was jireccded by a castle, or kecp, of

nuich greater antiquity whcn the domain was
a royal chasc

;
but whether the ancient walls

were removed, or built upon and enlarged, it

is now difticult todetermine. Conncctcd with
its early history may be statcd the fact that,
in the year 1296,Edward,the First of Englaiul,

visited the Castle in his progress through the

North of Scotland.

In the reign of Robert the Bnice, it was a

royal i"esidence, and continued the pro]:)erty of

the Crown imtil conferred by the grandson of

tliat monarch u])on this son, then Steward of

Scotland, and afterwards Robert III., who,
about the year 1380, resigned it in favour of

Sir James de Lindsay, wliose mother was the

sister of Robert II. In his possession the

Castle continued for some years. Sir James

ap]5ears to have ]5assed an active and eventful

life. In 1382, two years after havingbecome
proprietor of Fyvie, lie was involved in hostile

discussion with Adam Cimningham, then

Bishop of Aberdeen. The following year the

son-in-law of the King, Sir Jolm Lyon, of

Glammis, Chamberhiin of ScotLind, fell by
his hand in single combat. In 1388 he re-

ceived, at Otterbm-n, the request of the mor-

tally wounded Earl Douglas, to raise his

banner from the fiehl, where it had been beat

down and its bearer slain, an injunction im-

mediately comphed with, and pressing forward

with the i-allying cry of " A Douglas," he
aided in retrieving the fortunes of the day.
In this sanguinary battle the redoubted Ilot-

spur and his brother Ralph, or Ranulph, de

Percy, were taken prisoners ;
the former by

Montgomery, the ancestor of the present Eaid

of Eglinton, and the latter by Sir Hcnry
Preston. Robert III. rewarded Sir Hugh
Montgomery by granting him estates in the

county of Ayr, which stillremain in the family ;

and to Sir Henry Preston he gave the tower,
fortalice and domain of Fyvie,

" in lieu of

the body of Ranulph de Percy," doubtless

believing thatthe possession of twosons of the

haughty Earl of Northumberland might Avell

enable him to avenge the death of the gallant

Douglas. The original charter to Sir Henry
Preston, it is helieved, is in the Advocate's

Library of Edinbm-gh. An authentic ex-

tract, dated 1391, is among the ancient

writings in Fyvie Castle. The prior grant in

favour of Sir James de Lindsay had by some
means been overlooked by King Robert

;
but

thatin favour of Sir Henry Preston was con-

firmed, and Crawford Priory confeiTcd upon
Sir James in place of Fyvie. Sir Henry was
a brave knight, and engaged in all the feuds

and battles of his time. He died about the

year 1433, leaving twodaughters co-heiresses,
one of whom brought by maiTiage the estate

of Tolquhon to thc Forbeses, and the other,

Fyvie to the Meldrums, in whose jiossession
it continued until 1596, when Alexander

Seton, afterwards Lord Fyvie, and first Earl

of Dunfcrmline, became by purchase the pro-

])rietor.
In 1597 he obtained a letter, under the

great scal, erccting the Barony of Fyvie into

a frcc Lordship, with the title of a Lord of

Parliament to him and his heirs male. He
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had cliarge of tlie education of the Prinee,

afterwards Charles the First, iintil his fatlier's

succession to the Crown of Enghmd; he

became subsequently President of the Court

of Session, First Commissioner of the Trea-

sury, vice-Chancellor, and Lord Chancellor

of Scotland.

Charles, the second Earl, appears also to

luive been a distinguished man : dying in 1672,
he was succeeded by his son Alexander,
wlio surviving but a short time, his bi-other

James became thefourth Earl of Dunfermline,
and consequently the fourth of the Seton

family, proprietors of Fyvie Castle.

Earl James having served with reputation
in the Netherlands, was, upon his return to

Scotland, a firm adherent to the fortunes of

the House of Stuart, and fought under the

Viscount Dundee at Killiecrankie ;
he died

in exile at St. Germains, in 1G94, On the

24th October, 1G44, the great Marquis of

Montrose occupied Fyvie Castle, and in its

domain exhibited against the arniy of Argyle
those military talents which had previously
established his renowu. Fyvie appears in

those days to have been considered a place of

strength, and capable of defence, even when

regularly attacked; but it was inconsistent

with the character of Montrose to adopt the

resolution of garrisoning it
;
he preferred the

warfare of the open field, speedily proving to

his opponent his superior qualifications as a

commander
;
and at a time when opposed to

a very superior force, when desertion had
reduced his ranks, and when despair of the

cause had obtained the niastery over many a

stout heart in his camp, he continued to dis-

play an intrepidity and presence of mind

worthy of liis cliaracter, and whicli alone

extricated his foUowers from the dangers that

surrounded them.

After the forfeiture of the estate by the last

Earl of DunfermUne, hi 1689, the possession
of Fyvie Castle appears marked by no event

of importance until the year 1723, when it

was sold, under authority from the Court of

Sessiou, and purchased by William, Earl of

Aberdeen, tlie greatgrandfather of the present

earl, and the second peer of tlrat name. Earl

William was thrice man-ied, and by his last

wife, the Lady Anne, sister of Cosmo, Duke
of Gordon, he had General the Honourable
WilHam Gordon, Alexander, who became a

Senator of the College of Justice, assuming
the title of Lord Rockville, Colonel Cosmo
Gordon and other children. By that mar-

riage, the Earl became bound to settle an

estate of a certain vaUie npon his eklest son,

by Lady Anne Gordon
;
and on his death,

which occurred early in 1746, the Castle and

Domain of Fyvie became the property of

WiUiam, afterwards General Gordon. long a

groom of the bedchamber to George IIL, and

its possessor for a period of seventy years.

The Duke of Cumberland marched through
the grounds of Fyvie, on his route to the north,

previous to the battle of CuUoden, Lord Lewis
Gordon being then a distinguished officer

under the banner of Prince Clrarles Edwardi
The Countess of Alierdeen, but a few months
a widow, placed herself on the road side, ac-

companied by her eldest son, to see the passage
of his army. The Duke addressed her, and
asked her name; her answer was,

"
I am the

sister of Lord Lewis Gordon !

"
a reply cha-

racteristic of the firmness, as it was of the

loyaUy, mistaken or otherwise, of this noble

lady. General Gordon was succeeded by his

son, WiUiam Gordon, in 1816. During his

possession of the estate he greatly improved
not only the interior of tlie Castle but tlie ex-

tensive Park by whicli it is surrounded
;
and

whilehe aUered and decoratedtheapartments,
he avoided any external deviation from tlie

arcliitectural grandeur which characterises

this truly baronial residence.

Upon his death, in 1847, the Castle and
Estatesbecame theproperty of Captain Charlcs

Gordon, the eldest son of Lord Rockville by
tlie Countess Dowager of Dumfries. Captain
Gordon having died in 1851, he was suc-

ceeded by Captain WiUiam Cosmo Gordon,
late of tlie Madras artillery, his eldest son, the

present proprietor, who was man-ied in 1848
to Mary Grace, daughterof Sir Robert Aber-
crombie of Birkenbog and Forglen, Baronet.

Captain Charles left two other sons, Captain
Alexander Henry, late of the Indian navy,
and Captain Charles William, late of the

]\Iadras cavalry. Lord Rockville had a large

family ; amongst others, William, created a

baronet; Alexander, lieutenant-colonel, killed

at Talavera
;
the present Lieutenant-General

Cosmo Gordon
;
the Honourable Mrs, Hugh

Lindsay ; Lady Coutts Trotter, &c. &c.
The most ancient part of the present Castle

is the south-eastern or " Preston Tower," be-

lieved to be founded in 1394. The centre of

the sovith front, and over the former great
entrance, is the "Meldrum Tower." The
" Seton Tower," at the south-west angle com-

pletes the southern line of this regal edifice.

In the latter is contained a secret, and for

many years imopened, chamber ! The mys-
teinous character of this apartment will be best

preserved by abstaining from investigation ;

and if there are evil spirits domesticated in

this dark abode, they have continued quiet
and orderly for such a length of time that it

would be cruel and injudicious to disturb

them. At the north-west angle of the Castle
is sitviated the " Gordon Tower," erected by
the late General on tlie ruins of the ancient

chapel, and in good keeping with the archi-

tecture of the earlier portion of the building.
The Castle contains a select and valuable

library, chiefly coUected by the late WUliam
Gordon, Esquire, and many original paintings
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of the older masters ofgreat worth, with several

of the modern scliool. It also aboimds in

antique cabinets, one of them said to have
been a parting gift of the unfortunate Mary,
Queen of Scots, on the morning of hcr execu-

tion at Fotheringay, and in many other arti-

cles of antiquity and interest.

The charter room, which is fire-proof, con-

tains the title-deeds of the estates, from 1391

downwards to tlie present day in an unbroken

series, and much original correspondence
which had passed between the owners of the

property and the leading men of their day,
more particularly between Charles the First

and the first and second Earls of Dunferm-

line, all in excellent preservation.

CALLALY CASTLE, in the county of North-

vmiberland, two miles from Whittingham,
the seat of Edward John Clavering, Esq.
For at least six himdred years, this estate

has continued in the same family, descend-

ing from father to son, till it has come into

the hands of the gentleman now possessing
it. In the beginning of the reign of Henry
the Third, it was held by Gilbert de Callaly,
a name assumed from the place, and by him
it was first granted to this family in the person
of Robert Fitz-Roger, baron of Warkworth
and Clavering.
The original name of the Claverings, whp

derive their descent in tlie male line from

Charlemagne, was De Burgh. Two of them
came over with William the Conqueror, and
shared in the rewards as well as the glory of

the battle of Hastings.
It is not known at what period the old Castle

was built. The greater portion still remains,
but it has been so changed, and added to at

various times, that its character is nmch
altered. From some dressed mullion stones

found in parts of the wall, which has been
taken down, it appears to have been formerly
in the castellated style, but destroyed in the

frequent recurrence of border warfare. A
portion of the walls is nine feet thick, the whole

being built of stone, and in style of the com-

posite order. One date upon it is 1609,

evidently the mark of some more modern
alteration.

The tower, at the v/est end of the edifice, is

of high antiquity, while the centre and tower
to tlie east are of a later era. The great saloon

in particular is well worthy of being noticed.

It is forty-five feet in length, and twcnty-three
feet in height, and is profusely dccorated with

beautiful and highly finished stucco-work.
At either end is a gallery supported by noble

pillars.

According to tradition, the original builder

of the Castle intendcd to phice it on the top
of a hill, called Castle Ilill

;
a circinnstancc,

which from some unknown causc, ga^r greal
offcnce to thc fairics. Tl\ey thereforc undid in

the night all that the workmen had been able

to accomplish in the day, and hence the old

rhymes—
"
Callaly Castle stands on a height ;

Up in the day, and down in the night."

The builders renewed their efForts
;

so did the

fairies
;
nor does it appear that the " human

mortals" gained anything by setting watches

upon the hill, for if they did not get terrified

into flight, they were imceremoniously tnmdled
down with a heap of stones rolling after them,
and the work of demolition went on as merrily
as ever. At length a voice from the fairies,

who had either grown compassionate or weary
of the sport, was heard to admonish the

builders—
"Build it in the shepherd's shaw,
And it '^^•ill staud and never fa'."

To a certain extent the prophecy may be said

to have been realized, quite as much as fairy

prophecies are in general.
The plantations and pleasure-grounds about

tl\e house are extensive, and exhibit some of
the most romantic and picturesque scenery in

the county. At the foot of the garden flows a

handsome serpentine sheet of water, which
falls over a cascade into a small lake below.

Near it are two other pieces of water, divided

by a naiTow embankment. They are well-

stored with diiferent kinds of fish, and are

surrounded with wood
;
a shady walk winding

on a gentle slope along the edge of the water.

Two remarkable objects in the immediate

neighbom"hood, are the so-called Crag and
the Castle Hill, the latter of a conical form,
and both shrouded by woods. On the highest
elevation of the Castle Hill, which is fiat and

circular, containing an area of two acres, are

seen the large remains of a fortified camp,
supposed to have been of Roman origin, and
which probably gave rise to the report of

Callaly having been commenced there.

SWARCLIFFE HALL, near Ripley, in the

county of York, the seat of Jolm Greenwood,

Esq., who succeeded to it a year ago upon the

death of his uncle, Edwin Greenwood, Esq.
This estate may in one sense of the word be

said to have been created by the Greenwoods,
since they reclaimed it from a barren hill-side

and moor, and gave it the cultivated aspect
which it now presents.

Swarclifie Hall is most beautifully situated

upon a hill, overlooking the River Nidd, and
from tlie meadows may be obtained a vicw of

York Minster, the glory of York, as, indeed,
it is of all England. The old house was pulled
down by Mr. Edwin Greenwood upon his suc-

ceeding, anda new liouse commencedfromthe

plans of M. Rohdc Hawkins, Esq., Architect.

This was inl848, but thc building was not com-
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pleted vmtil 1852. It belongs to tlie Tudor style
of architecture, and bears undeniable testimony
to the taste and skill of the designer. The

drawing-room is particularly elegant, being
wreathed with fiowers, and panels after

Mounoyer, by a German-Swiss artist. Even the

fashion of tlie furniture has not been entrusted

to common hands, but has been designed by
the architect. What adds not a little to the

external appearance of the mansion is its

having been built of a fine stone, which is

found in a quarry belonging to the estate.

SPETCHLEY PARK, in the county of Wor-
cester, three miles from tlie city of that name,
the seat of Robert Berkeley, Esq.

In Domesday Book we find Spetchley held

by Robert de Lacy, and it appears to have

given its nanie to a very ancient family that

once resided tliere. From tlie De Spetchleys
it was bought in Edward the Fourth's reign

by Sir Tliomas Littleton, the eminent lawyer,
and Justice of the Common Pleas. In the

year 1508 it passed to Richard Sheldon by
his maiTiage with Catlierine, daughter of

Thomas Littleton, and sister as well as heiress

of William Littleton. In this family it re-

mained for some time, till Philip Sheldon

disposed of it to Rowland Berkeley, Esq.,
M.P. forthe city of Worcester, who also pur-
chased Cothei"edge Court near Worcester,
which he left to his eldest son.

Sir Robert, the second son of Rowland,
inherited Spetchley, and being one of the

judges in the time of Charles the First, gave
his opinion in favour of the King's right to

ship money, for which he was fined by the

parliament in the sum of twenty thousand

pounds, deprived of his oflice, and imprisoned
in the Tower. Notwitlistanding this devotion
to the royal cause, he was doomed to sufter

as much from the partizans of Charles as from
the Roundheads. A little before the battle

of Worcester in 1651, the Scotch Pi-esbyte-

vians, tliough in the King's service, burnt his

house at Spetchley as it lay in the way from

White-Lady-Aston, where Cromwell himself
had taken up his abode. The stables alone
were left standing, and these Sir Robert
afterwards converted into a dwelling-house
when affairs had again become somewhat
settled.

In 1811 Robert Berkeley, Esq., the then

possessor, pulled down the old house, and
commenced a new building upon the same
site, in the Grecian style of architecture, witli

a handsome portico before the principal
entrance in the front. The west approach to

this is by a winding road across the grounds,
three quarters of a mile in length.
The fine park that surrovmds the mansion is

exceedingly well timbered. In front of the

house, and visible from it is a large slieet of

water, while in its neighbourhood the oak and

the elm are growing in all their magnificence.
On tlie right is aprospectof tlie Malvern Hills,
Bredon vipon the left, and yet more remote,
but in front, are seen the hills of Gloucester-

shire.

DONHEAD HALL, formerly called Belknap,
in the parish of Donhead St. Mary, the seat
of John Du Bovday, Esq.

This estate belonged for many years to

the family of Weekes, by an heiress of wliich—
Mary, daughter of Luke Weekes—-it passed

in marriage to Godfrey Kneller, Esq. This

Godfrey had for mother a natural daughter
of Sir Godfrey Kneller, Knight and Baronet,
who bequeathed to him a considerable pro-
perty, when he took the name and arms of
Kneller by Act of Parliament.

Sir Richard Colt Hoare has well remarked,
when speaking of this estate, that " the topo-
grapher must not content himself with a mere

description of local habitations, but must
endeavour to illustrate his work with the

names, characters, and anecdotes of those dis-

tinguished, who have resided in, or are at all

connected with, each particvdar district." This

dictum, though somewhat magnificently ex-

pressed, seems to be correct enough in prin-
ciple, and may, perhaps, be received as a
sutflcient precedent for ovir venturing a few
words vipon this once so celebrated artist,

Sir Godfrey was a native of Lvibec, having
been born there in the year 1646. It is said

that his early destination was to a military life,

though this seems somewhat at variance with
the fact of his having been sent to Leyden, a

place much more adapted for the classical

than the mflitary student. His natural bias,

however, took a very different direction. He
soon evinced a decided turn for painting,
and his father — more rational than most

parents in such matters — acceded to his

wishes, and placed him vmder Bol of Amster-

dam, where he also received some instrviction

from Rembrandt. In 1672 he visited Italy ;

in 1674 he came over to England, and

through the interest of the Duke of Monmovith
was engaged to paint the portrait of King
Charles the Second. Lely had been also pro-
mised the same favour, and Charles, either

from whim, or to save himself the trovible of

sitting twice, proposed that both artists shovdd
enter upon their work at the same time. This

being agreed to, Lely as the more established

artist, chose his own station—the best, no
dovibt, for the lights

—but thovigh placed at

this disadvantage, Kneller performed his

task with so much speed and skill, that he
had nearly finished his portrait when Lely's
was only lead-coloured. This was enough to

establish his reputation, and, to the honour of
Sir Peter, it shovdd be added that he candidly
allowed the talents of his successful com-

petitor.
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In 1G92 Kneller was knighted by King
William, and was subsequently created a Baro-

net by George the First, whose propensities

always remained German. The university
of Oxford,—regis ad exemplar

— made him a

Doetor of Laws, and presented him with a

copy of Velleius Paterculus, both the title and
the present being somewhat incongruous in

reference to a painter, however illustrious.

Walpole in his Anecdotes of Painters

relates many anecdotes of him, and gives a

few specimens of the bon-mots, for which in

his day the painter was so celebrated. The

gains of his art must have been enonuous,
for though he lost twenty thousand pounds in

the South Sea bubble, he left to his heir an

estate of nearly two thousand a year. In

his works he employed numerous assistants,

which, as Walpole drily observes, may be

inferred from tlie badness of many of theni.

Yet he has obtained a monument in West-

minster Abbey, from which the remains of

Byron were exchided, and an epitaph from

Pope, which shows that the bard of Twicken-
ham was no less an adept in flattery than in

satire—
•' Kneller by Heav'n, and not a master, tauprht,
Whose art was nature,and whose pictures thought ;

WTien now two ages he had snatched from fate

Whate'er was beauteous, or whate^er was great,
Rests crown'd with princes' honours, poefs lays,
Due to his merit and brave thirst of praise ;

Li^dng, great Nature feared he niif?ht outvie

Iler works ; and dj-ing-, fears herself may die."

In 1825 Godfrey John Kneller sold this

estate to Charles Wyudham, Esq., fourth

son of the late William Wyndham, of Dinton,

Esq. From this family it has passed into the

hands of the present possessor.
The mansion-house, which stands in an

elevated situation, was built by Godfrey
Kneller, Esq., in the lifetime of his first wife.

In the ceiling of the hall are his family arms,

viz., under a sovereign's hehiiet, in chief two

roses, in base a fleur-de-lis, an escutcheon of

Ulster impaling those of Weekes, ermine,
three battle-axes, sable. Kneller

; impaUng
a chevron ermine between three swans'

heads couped. Also Weekes alone.

The estate, which at first consisted of

eighty-two acres only, has been much ex-

tended by later purchases. The owner of this

place is bound by his tenure to do suit and
service at the Manor Court of Donhead, and

pays yearly to the Lord of the manor eight

shilHngs,
The niodcru and very appropriate name of

Donhead, which has been given to this seat,

arises from its vicinity to the heads of the

River Don, one of which springs up in the

neighbouring grounds of Wincomb Park, and
forms two sheets of water, that in the olden

times siip])lied the convent of Shaftesbury
with carp and tench.

This mansion formerly contained an excel-

lent coUection of pictures, but they have all

been either sold or removed.

WyEARDISBTJHY HOTJSE, co. Bucks, thc
seat of Brooke Hamilton Gyll, Esq. This,

originally the rectory house, stands on the
Glebe held by the present proprietor as

parcel of the rectory, and was the resi-

dence of EUzabeth, widow of Benjamin
Hassel, Esq., who purchased property in the

parish a.d. 1696. In 1700 she became lessee
of the great tithes belonging to the dean and
canons of Windsor: at her decease in 1714

Wyrardisbury descended to her son, .lohn,
whose son Robert Prowse Hassel dying in 1760
left it to his daughters and coheirs, of whom the
eldest Elizabeth, was married in 1751 to

WilHam Gyll, Esq., a descendant of the an-
cient family of Gyll of Wyddial, Herts.
The house is a good specimen of a moderate

family mansion in the time of King James I.,
it is now without the left wing, which has
not been restored. The walls and beams are

very thick, and the rooms low. The garden
is enclosed between walls, and resembles a con-
ventual residence

; it, however, commands an

interesting view of the parish cluirch and the
beautiful elevated ground, known by the
classic appellation of Cooper's Hill. In the

garden is a very fine mulberry tree, as ancient
in appearance and large in bulk as any in

England, supposed to have been planted in
the reign of James I.

There is at Wyrardisbury a very curious

picture of this venerable tree, as well as of the
house itself taken in 1724.

For an account of the family of Gyll, see

Burke'sLanded Gentry and Dr. Lipscombe's
History of Bucks.

NEWTON PAEK, in the county of Som-
erset, about four miles from Bath, the seat of
William Henry Powell Gore Langtbn, Esq.,
Member of Parliament for the western division

of the same county.
This property has successively passed

through the families of St. Loe, Hungerford,
and Neville, to that of Langton, in which it

still remains. It is said that in the okl castle

of Newton St. Loe, King John was impi-isoned,
and the tradition does not altogether want

probability, though in general it is necessary
to receive legends of this kind with much
caution, as they are often built upon shght
foundations.

The keep of tlie old Castle and the gate-

way still exist, and in a fair state of ])reserva-
tion. The archway is supposed to belong to

the reign of Henry the Seventh. The grounds,
Avliich have bcen laid out l)y Brown and

Repton, arc extcnsive and picturesque, skill



SEATS Or GREAT BRITAIN. 15

having done its utmost to improve the advan-

tages, and siipply the natural defects of the

huidscape. Few artists, indeed, in this par-
ticular walk seem to have understood their

business better.

WINGERWORTH HALL, co. Derby, the

seat of Sir Henry Hunloke, Bart. This very
handsome and imposing Mansion is situated in

the midst of a large and beautifully wooded

park, about three niiles south of Chesterfield,
and commands a picturesque and extensive

view. In the reign of King Henry II., the

manor of Wingerworth belonged to a family of

the name of Brailsford. This name was as-

smned by Nicholas, son of Elsinus, in the

reign of William the Conqueror. In the

reio^n of Richard II., the heiress of the elder

branch of the Brailsfords married into tlie

great family of Bassett. A younger branch
was settled at Senior, in Hucknall, in the reign
of Edward VI.

;
but in 1662, though a cousin

of the same name then possessed that estate,

the heir of the family was a sei'vant to Sir

John Harpur. Their representatives are now

opulent yeomen in the neiglibourhood of Mans-
fiekl. From the Brailsfords, Wingerworth
Manor passed into the hands of the Curzons.
This great and distinguished family was settled

at Kedlestone and Croxall, in the reign of

King Henry the First. The elder branch,
Curzon of Croxall, became extinct in 1639.
Its heiress liad previously mamed Edward
Sackville, Earl of Dorset. The branch of

Kedlestone were made Baronets in 1641, and
Bai'ons in 1761. There are now two Peers of

tliis family, Lord Scarsdale and Earl Howe,
and an heir-apparent to a peerage, the eldest

son of Baroness dela Zouche.
From the Curzons, the estate of Winger-

worth was purchased in the reign of King
Henry VIII., by Nicholas Hunloke. The fa-

ther of thisNicholas (who was alsoof the same-

name) was a very wealthy man, and pos-
sessed large landed estates at Hadley, near

Barnet, in the county of Middlesex, and at

Bramcote and Stapleford, in Nottingham-
shire. Nicholas, the younger, added to his

paternal possessions this manor and estate,
whcre he fixed his residencc. He married
the daughter of the very ancient Derbyshire
family, Barlow of Barlow. He died in 1551.
His grandson, Henry Hunloke, being at that

time, as is said, High Sheriff of the county,

though old and in feeble health, set out to wait

upon King James the first, then passing

through Derbyshire in a royal progress in

1624. He reached the presence of tlie King,
who intended to confer knighthood upon him

;

but being fatigued with an exertion beyond
his strength, he fell dead at his Majesty's
feet.

His son Henry testified his loyalty sub-

stantially to King Charles the First, by lending
him a large sum of money in his pressing

necessity, and when he had no hope of repay-
ment. This was acknowledged in a letter

froni the King, dated 14th September, 1642.
Soon after he raised a troop of horse for the

royal cause, at his own expense, which he led

to the battle of Edgehill, where he had the

rank of Lieut. Colonel. King Cliarles re-

Avarded his services by creating him Knight
Banneret in the field of battle

;
and almost

immediately after, in 1643, he made him a

Baronet. During the whole of this disastrous

rebellion, he was distinguished for his loyalty,
and lie had the honour of sufffering severely
in his master's cause, having been disabled
for life by a terrible sabre cut in his elbow in a
skirniish near Nottingham, and being obliged
to pay a heavy fine by the Parliamentary
sequestrators. He was deprived of his estate,

and driven out of his house by Oliver Crom-
well, who turned Wingerworth Hall (a sub-
stantial stone edifice) into a garrison.

Sir Henry soon after died, being a young
man. His widow, Lady Hunloke, made what
was politically an unworthy alliance

;
but she

redeemed her credit, by tui-ning this to the

advantageof her family. She married Colonel

Mitchell, one of Cromweirs officers
;

and

through the influence of her second husband,
she preserved her first husband's mansion
and estate from sufFering damage, and ulti-

mately procured its restoration to her son.

This lady was Marina, daughter of Dixie

Hickman, of Kew, in Surrey, by Elizabeth,

daughter of Henry Lord Windsor ; from whom
the barony of Windsor descended to her brother

Thomas, created Eaid of Plymouth.
Sir Henry, the second Baronet, made an

alliance which brought nnich noble blood and
a claim for high honours into the family.
He married Catherine, only daughter and
heiress of Francis Tyrwhit, of Kettleby, in

Lincolnshire. This lady 's mother was a daugh-
ter of Browne, Viscount Montague ;

and her

grandmother, the wife of Robert Tyrwhit,
of Kettleby, was the Lady Bridget Manners,
eldest daughter of John Manners, fovirth

Earl of Rutland, lineally descended from
Anne Plantagenet, daughter of Richard,
Duke of York, and sister of Kings Edward
IV. and Richard III. Lady Bridget Tyr-
whit was the eldest sister of the seventh Earl
of Rutland, on whose death the Earldom went
to the yoxmger branch of the hovxse of Manners,
John Manners of Haddon Hall

;
while the

splendid old Barony of De Ros descended to

Villiers, Duke of Buckingham, son of a

daughter of the sixth Earl of Rutland, one
of Lady Bridgefs brothers. On the extinc-
tion of the line of the Duke of Buckingham,
and his sister the Duchess of Richmond, the

Barony of De Ros fell into abeyance between
the issue of Lady Bridget Tyrwhit and tlie
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issue of her younger sister, Frances Lady
Willoughby of Parhani.

The title was suffered to continue in abey-
ance for many years. In ISOG Sir Thomas
Windsor Hunloke was adjudged by the House

of Lords to be one of the coheirs of Robert

de Ros, who was summoned to Parliament as

a Peer in the 49th year of King Henry IIL

But, aUhough he was the eklest coheir, being
descended from the fourth Earl of RutLind's

eldest daughter, the King thought proper to

terminate the abeyance of the title in favour

of the descendant of the yoimger sister

Frances Lady Willoughby, Charlotte Boyle

Walsingham, wife of Lord Hcnry Fitzgerald,

who accordingly became Baroness de Ros,
and was motlier of the present peer. As it is

the law of England that a female title falls

into abeyance between coheiresses, and as the

Sovereign has a i-ight to terminate the abey-
ance in favour of the representative of either

the eldest or the youngest sister, the unsuccess

ful claimant has no ground for complaint of

injustice. However, we may be permitted to

remark, that, unless there is some very cogent
reason to tlie contrary, the abeyance ought

always to be tenninated in favour of the de-

scendant of the eldest sister, who is heir of

line of the family, and in the absence of heirs

male is its imdoubted representative. Lord

De Ros niay have the peerage, butthe present
baronet of the family of Hunloke is neverthe-

less the representative of Robert de Ros, the

first peer in the reign of Henry III. : and he

is, moreover, the true heir of line of the elder

branch of the Earls ofRutLind, andas such is

entitled to bear their arms
;
the Duke of Rut-

land, being only a junior cadet, representing
the Haddon branch.

Sir Henry Hunloke, the second baronet,

possessed the estate sixty-seven years. He

greatly improved the property, and enLarged
and beautitied the park. He died 1715. His

son, Sir Thomas Windsor Hunloke, in 1726,

took down tlie old house, and erected the

present Mansion—a noble structure finely

situated on a commanding spot, in the midst

of the extensive pleasure-grounds and woods

which adorn the fine park. His great

grandsou is Sir Henry Hunloke, the present
baronet.

Wingerworth Hall is one of the finest seats

in this part of the county of Derby. The

eutrance-hall is extremely spacious and lofty,

and the principal rooms are on a large scale.

There are many interesting portraits of the

diflcrent ancestors of the family. The plea-

surc-grovmds contain aprofusion of evergreens
of great size, and the woods are judiciously

))Linted on the ])icturesquc unduLitions of the

park, and consist of numy nol)le trees. The

gardens are large and j^roductive. Sir Henry
iias a very fine menagerie, consisting of many
curious specimens of rare foreign animals, and

peculiarly rich in beautiful birds which have
been collected at much expense, and with

great taste. He has also a riding-house and
a stud of horses trained by himself with much
scientific skill, according to the most approved
system of the inenage. It is believed that he is

the most complete master of this art in Eng-
land. Close to Wingerworth Hall stands the

little ancient parisli church, which has lately
been very beautifuUy restored through the

great liberahty of the family : and this de-

serves the more especial notice, as they, in

common with all their male ancestors, have
adhered to the Church of Rome. Besides his

more recentroyal descent, ah-eadymentioned,
from Anne Plantagenet, sisterof King Edward
IV., Sir Henry Hunloke is one of the coheirs

and representatives of Edmund Plantagenet,
Earl of Kent, son of King Edward L, and is

thus entitled to c[uarter the arms of England
and France.

KENISHAW HALL, co. Derby, the seat of
Sir Sitwell Revesby Sitwell, Baronet. This
is an irreguLir house ofverygreat size, and

presenting an immense fa^ade, situated on the

ridge of a steep hill, conmianding extensive

views, on the one side, over the village of

Eckington, and on the other, over the vale of

Searsdale, bounded by Bolsover Castle and
Sutton Park. Renishaw Hall is surrounded

by thriving woods, and possesses a park of
some size, with good gardens, There is a
suite of seven public rooms on the ground
floor, and two of them, the drawing-room and
the ball-room, are very large.
The manor of Eckington, in which the

lands of Renishaw are situated, belonged in

the days of King Etheh-ed to Burton Abbey.
At the time of the Doomsday Survey, it was
hekl by Ralph Fitzherbert. It then passed
tkrough the hands of the Stutevilles, Darcys,
Strangeways, and Dacres. Itwas then for-

feited to the Crown, and was k^ased to Henry
Carey Lord Hunsdon in 1570. During the

Commonweakh, it was seized as Crown pro-
perty. In 1675 Charks II. gave it in a bene-
ficial kase to Lord Frechevilkfor ninety-nine
years. It was afterwards leased, in 1804, to

Mr. Sitwell, and it has been subsequently
purchased by Sir George SitwelL
The family of Sitwell has long been settled

in the parish of Eckington. Renishaw Hall
was not their original possession. It belonged
for some generations to a family of the name
of Wigfall, and to one of tlie nanie of Newton.

George Sitwell of Renisliaw hved in the cnd
of tlie sevcnteenth century. He had two sons

George and WiUiam. George succeedcd his

father at Renishaw in 1680, and was a magis-
trate of Derbyshire. His son Francis and his

daughter Elizabeth dying unmarried (tlie

foi-mer in 1753) tlie Renishaw property dc-
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volved upon tlie dcscendnnts of his nncle

Willijim. This William, in 1693, married

Mary Reresby, desccnded from the ancient

family of Ilercsby of Thrihcrgl), hy whom he
had a son William, and a daughter Catherine,
wife of Jonathan Hurt of Sheifield, by whom
she had a son Francis. William Sitwell suc-

ceeded his cousin at Renishaw in 1753; but,

having no children, he was succeeded by his

sister's son Francis Hurt, of Mount Pleasant,
near Sheffiekl, who assumed the name of

Sitwell. He had three sons. To his second son

(Francis) he left Barmoor Castle in Northum-

berland; to his third son (Hurt) he left

Furney Hall in Shropshire ;
while he was

succeeded in his estates at Renishaw, and near

Sheffield aud Rotherham, by his eldest son

Sitwell. This gentleman was created a
baronet in 180S. He verymuch enlarged the

house of Renishaw, and improved the park
and pleasure-grounds. He died in 1814, and
was succeeded by his son Sir Geoi'ge, who,

dying in 1853, was succeeded by his son Sir

Sitwell Reresby Sitwell, the present proprie-
tor of Renishaw.

Close to this seat there are extensive iron-

works and collieries, and the very populous
vilhige of Eckington, of which the church is

ancient, being of tlie early English style, but

possessing no features of interest, and having
received additions in fonner times, which are

in very bad taste.

ANKETELL GROVE, in the county of Mona-

ghau, Irehand, the residence of Matthew John
Anketell, Esq.

Previous to the confiscation of Ulster, the

Anketell Grove estate belonged to an Irish

sept, well known asthe M'Kennas of Trough.
Their power was finally extinguished in the
March of 1688, when Matthew Anketell, Esq.,
collected two troops of horse, with three com-

panies of foot, in defence of the Protestant

cause, and defeated the Irish of the county of

Monaghan, who were commanded by Major
M'Kenna. Mr. Anketell was treacherously
slain after the engagement, in revenge of
which the Protestants put to death M'Kenna
and his son, whom they had made pi-isoners.
The body of Mr. Anketell was afterwards
buried with much solemnity in the aisle of

Glasslough church.

Anketell Grove is for the first time men-
tioned as a "residence" in the inscription on
the tombstone of Oliver Anketell, Esq., in

Monaghan church :
—" Here lyeth the body

of Oliver Anketell, of Anketeirs Grove, Esq.,
descended of the ancient family of Shawstone,
in Dorsetshire, England, who died at Ard-

magh, and was buried at Monaghan, the 28th

day of June, 1666." In the Visitation of

Dorsetshire, made in 1623, Oliver Anketell is

mentioned as " sonne and heire of William

Anketell;" this appears from an Harleian

Mauuscript, No. 1451,inthe British Museum.
The old Mansion-house having been de-

stroyed about seventy years ago, the present
edifice was then commenccd upon a different

site. It is a handsome Residence, in the

Italian style of architecture, with a central

tower and wings.
The domain, compi-ising nearly 700 statute

acres, is picturesque, more especially the older

portion, which is at the distance of a mile from
the present house. Much fine old tiniber is

to be seen here, with some remains of the

natural wood of the country, the approach to

the former house, called the " Beech Avenue,"
being remarkable for the age and great size of

its trees. A considerable stream, with pre-

cipitous banks, gives additional life and beauty
to this portion of the landscape.

LITTLE MALVEEN COTJRT, in the connty of

Worcester, three miles from Great Malvern,
the seat of Charles Berington, Esq.

Upon this site formerly stood a priory, which
was built about the year 1171, by a congrega-
tion of monks, who left Worcester Abbey and
entered the wilds of Malvern, to lead a more
austere life as hermits. Thedissolvedmonas-

tery was granted in the reign of Philip and

Mary, to Henry Russell, a younger branch of

the Russells of Strensham, in Worcestershire.

With his descendants it remained till the year
1734, when, upon the death of John Russell,
it passed to his sister Elizabeth, who married
Thomas Berington, and had issue Elizabeth,
who married Thomas Williams, of Trellynnic,
co. Flint : their dau. and heiress, Mary Wil-
liams—who by her father's mother, Elizabeth

Monington, was the last of the blood of Owen
Glendower—married Walter Wakeman, of

Beckford, and dying without children, left

Malvern by will to William Berington, yovmg-
est son of Charles Berington, of Wintercot, in

the county of Hereford.

Tlie house, which stands upon the site of
the old priory, is itself very ancient, devoid of

all architectural pretensions, and which has
been added to, or altered, by almost every
successive owner. It now forms a quaintgroup
of gables with a roimd tower in one corner.

At the top of this tower is a room, evidently of
later date, and difficult of access, probably
used as a hiding-place in the times of religious

persecution. Near is the old chapel, which is

now superseded by one in a more convenient

part of the dwelling.

Nothing can well be more secluded and

picturesque than the situation of this ancient

building. It is in a romantichoUow amongst
the hills, that are clothed with wood, and the

grounds also are studded with sonie fine old
trees. To the eastward, lies a fertile and ex-

tensive meadow. Here, says a very delightful
writcr,

" art has a venerable aspect gi^en to it

D
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by timc—herc natnro is rondercd plcasing by
lier cxuberanco and cliarniing simplicity."

LITTLETON PAEK,in Middlcsex, notfarfrom

Staines, thc bcautiful seat of Colonel Wood.
Tliis housc was erected by thc architect who

built Hampton Court, in the time of Henry
VIII. It has been altered at different times,

and is still in good rcpair.
Thc ncighl)ourhood is too flat to be highly

interesting ;
but the grounds attached to the

niansion arc extensive, and have a park-Hke

appearancc, being exceedingly well-wooded.

LAWNESWOOD HOXJSE, StafFordshire (three

milcs froyi Stourbridge), the seat of Thomas
William Fletchcr, Esq., M.A., F.R.S., Sic.

The house, which is a handsome and com-
modious structure, in the Italian style of archi-

tccturc, with towers and a bold and enriched

cornice, was erected in the year 1840, fronting
to the south-west, and its arrangements are well

adapted to mect the requirements of modern
comfort.

It occiqiies a beautiful sitnation on the side

of an cmincncc, backed by a fine hanging
wood of sixty acres, and commands extcnsivc

vicws over part of Stallbrdshire and the ad-

jacent counties of Worcester and Salop.

Thelibrary contains manycurionsand costly

works, with a rich selection of illuminatcd

missals, and other MSS. of intercst, besides a

large and uniquc coUection of fossils from the

adjacent Silurian district.

The woods and extensive estates of Lord
Ward adjoin the property, and Prestwood

Park, the seat of John Hodgetts Foley, Esq.,

M.P., for East Worcestershire, is situated in

the valley in front, immediately l)eyond which
ai'e thc park and shcepwalk of Envillc, the

])icturesque seat of the Earl of Stamford and

Warrington.
Stourton Castl(% tho birthplacc of Cardinal

Polo, aud thc bold emincncc of Kinver Edge,
with its Danish camp, are also in view, while

tho Malvern and Abberley ranges are con-

spicuous on the Worcestershire side, the

Shropshirc Wrekin and Clee Hills being dis-

tinctly visible towards the west.

The property wasformerly comprised inthe
ancient forest of Kinver.

THE DOWN HOUSE, Redmarley, in the

county of Worccstcr, the seat of the late

George Dowdcswcll, Estj.
This cstate has bcon a considcrable time

in the posscssion of tho family of Dowdes-,
well. In 182;3 thc old house was en-

tiroly pidlod dovvn, and a new one erected

by Mr. Ilicknian, architoct, at the expense
of the lato proprietor, Cicorge Dowdeswell,
Esq. The new building bclongs to the

Grccian stylc of architecturc, and is extremely
elcgant, whilc at thc sanu! timc evory atten-

tion has beon paid to intenial comfort and

accommodation. In this rcspect few mansions

of the samo sizc go beyond it. The grounds
in which it stands are ])ark-like, and ahovnul

in fine timbcr of all kinds, but more particu-

larly in oak and elm. The prospect around

is extremely beautiful, and of considerable

extent.

GLEMHAM HALL, in the connty of Suffolk,

near thc small market-town of Saxnumdham,
the seat of the late Dudley North, Esq., who
dicd in 1 829, and entailed the property on the

Earls of Guilford.

A family, which took its appellation from

the place, flourished here till the middlo

of the seventeenth century. One of this name,
Sir Thomas Glemham, distinguished himself

greatly, on the part of Charles, during tlie

civil war. He reduced York, and then

with equal skill and gallantry held his prize,
of which he had been made governor, against
the united forces of England and Scotland,

and that for eighteen weeks ;
nor did he sur-

render till compelled to do so by the King's
defeat at Marston Moor. In the same way
he subsequently defcnded Carlisle and Oxford,
and though cvontnally compcUed to yicld np
cithcr town, his defence was such as to obtain

for him honourable and advantageous terms

from his victors.

Early in the eighteenth centmy, the male

heirs having become extinct, the ladies of thc

Glcmham family sold the cstate to Dndlcy
North, son of the Honourable Sir Dudley
North, yonnger brother of the Lord Kecper,
Lord Guilford. Thc last of the Norths of

Glemham died without issue in 1829.

It is nncertain when or by whom Glemham
Hall was first orected, but probably by one of

thc {ilemhams. Many alterations were made
in the eightoenth ccntury, and some in the

ninctecnth also. Thc building is of red brick,

a convenicnt honse, but without pretensions
to any particvdar style of architecture. It is

surroundcd by a park, in which are some fine

old oaks and some lime trees.

KIDBROOKE HOUSE, in the county of

Sussex, near Forest Row, in the parish of

East Grinstead, and about thirty-three miles

from London, the seat of Lord Colchestcr.

This estate, at a romote period, belonged to

the Earls of Abcrgavenny ;
but in 1802, the

Lord Abergavenny of that day, having rcpaired
the ancicnt family Mansion of Eridge, took up
his abode there, andsold Kidbrooke to the Rt.

Hon. Charlcs Abbot, Speaker of the House
of Commons, who afterwards became Lord

Colcliester.

Kidbrooko House was built for William,
fourtecnth Baron Abergavenny, and was

complotcd in thc year 1734. It is a large and

substautial stone mansion, in the midst of a

woll-timbcred park that bordors upon the

wild sccnery of Ashdown Forest. At oue
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time thc appvoacli to thc House was by an

avenue in a direct line from the great road.

As, however, the ground fell off towards the

Mansion, the effect was anything but pleasing ;

and to remedy tliis defectthe present entrance

was formed, which gives an entirely new
character to the scene, revealing beauties till

then hidden, and particuhu-ly water, a some-

what rare ornament in tliis part of the country.
At the same time, the grounds received otlier

and no less important improvements under

the directions of Mr. Kepton.

THE GROVE, Gloucestershire, ncar Stroud,
tlie seat of William Capel, Es(i., a magistrate
and deputy-lieutenant for tlae county, and who
served the office of sheritf in 1848.

This estate at one time belonged to the

Mayos. About two centuries ago the hist of

this name, being sole heiress, conveyed it by
maiTiage to Sanuiel Capel, Esq., son of the

Rev. liichard Capel, Kector of Eastington,

Gloucestershire, in which family it has since

continued. The Capels were originally from

How Capel in Herefordshire, and settling near

Gloucester, one of them, in 1483, represented
that city in parliament.
The date of the house which formerly stood

here is not known, but the modern Mansion
was erected upon its site by tlie present owner
in 1845. It is in the Gothic style of architec-

ture, and stands on a slope of the Cotswold

Hills. To the east and north it is sheltered

by a bank and natural grove of beech, while

to the south-west it is open, looking towards

the river Severn, from which it is distant about

fourteeu milcs. The view is extensive, and
stretches as far as the Welsh hills, about thirty
miles otf in a direct line. Timber of all kinds

aboiinds here, some of which has attained an

unusual size, and has often been remarked
for its picturesque and beautiful appearance.

WOODSTOCK, co. Kilkenny, sixteen miles

south-cast of the city of that name, the seat of

tiie Kight Hon. William Frederick Fownes

Tighe, possesses great natural beauties, with
varied scenery of wood, rock, and glen. The
classic Nore divides the grounds ;

its banks,
adorned with magn'{icent timber and clothed

in rich foliage, rise boldly upou either side.

The verdant and ornamental grounds
—the

shaded drives and walks—the gardens and

conservatories, stored with the rarest and most

prized exotic plants and tiowers—the stately

Anglo-Grecian Mansion smTounded by exten-

sive lawns, where

" Trees of matchless sise a fragrant shade bestow—"

the exquisite taste and harmony that pervade
the entire donuiiu, aud the high order in which

it is kept, give to Woodstock a title to rank as

one of Ireland's most attractive resideiices.

Till its forfeiture, it formcd the domain of that

branch of the Geraldines who wero Barons of

Cluane and Brownsford, whose ancient castles,

now in ruin, innucdiately adjoin it. The
last of the race adhered to the fortunes of the

ill-fated Jamcs II., and fought for him in thc

battle-fields of the Boyne and Aughrim, and
at the latter fell. Upon the accession of Wil-

liam III. Woodstock was sold, and bought
subsequently by Captain Sweete, an officer in

WiIIiam's army, whosc onlydaughter andheir-

ess conveyed it in marriage to the ancestor of

the late Sir William Fownes, Bart., whose only
daughter and 'heiress married William Tighe,
of Kossanna, in the county of Wicklow, Esq,,
(son of the Right Hon. William Tighe, by Lady
Mary Blighe, daughter of the Earl ofDarnley),
and was grandmother of the present Right Hon.

proprietor, in whom the ancient possessions of

the Barons of Cluane and Brownsford are

united with those of the ancient Tighe family.
In a memoir of Woodstock, mention of the

accomplished authoress of "
Pysche

"
cannot

fail to create an interest and add a grace. In
it was passed the latter period of her life, and
there it closed in March, 1810, and close by
in the family cemetery rcpose her mortal

rcmains. Over them, in a mausoleum, is a
monument by Flaxman. She is reprcsented
in a recumbent position, and the sweet repose
of death is happily pourtrayed.
The following notice of Woodstock is from

the pen of a sister spirit :
—"The scenery of

the place is magnificent; of astyle I think I

prefer to every other. Wild profound glcns,
rich with every hue and form of foliage, and a

rapid river sweeping through them, now lost,

now lighting uj) the deep woods with sudden
ilashes of its waves. Altogether, it reminds
me more of Hawthornden than any other

thing l have seen since, though it wants the

solenni rock pinnacles of thatronianticplace."

TYNAN ABBEY, in tlie county of Armagh,
Irelaiul, the seat of Sir James Mathew

Stronge, Bart.

Tliis estate was at one time possessed by the

Echlins, but the heircss of the last Hugli
Echlin, Esq., of Tynan, conveyed it by mar-

riage to James Manson, Es(|. They also died

without Iieirs male, and their daughter and

heiress, Eleanor Manson, becoming the wife

of the Rev. John Stronge, Prebendary of

Tynan, in 1711 the estate thus passed into the

family of the present owner, who is the great

granuson of the divine just mentioned.

Tynan Abbey was built in 1750, by thc

Rev. James Stronge, U.D., upon the site of

an older mansion, and has since been con-

siderably added to and improved by the

present owner. It is a spacious house in

the abbey style, and has a pictm-esque appear-
ancc, bearing a vcry liappy semblance of an

ancieut edilice, adcception which isnot alittlc

hcightened by thc nature of thc surrounding
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country. The park whcrcin it stands is about

six hundred acres in extent, and presents sonie

remarkably fine timber of various kinds and

ages. A handsome lake adds the last featuro

wanting to complete so perfect a picture.
It is about seven miles from Armagh.

The coimtry around is highly cultivated, and
considered to be remarkably fertile.

CLAREMONT. in tlie county of Surrey, the

seat of Leopold, King of the Belgians.
The estate, now comprehended under this

name, cannot be considered as one of ancient

origin, to be traced up to the Saxon times or

the Norman Conquest ;
it is a modern assimi-

lation of various portions detached from
dilferent properties, and which has attained its

present height by a gradual increase since the

days of Queen Anne. In that reign, the

ponderous Sir John Vanbrugh, arcliitect and

dramatist, wliose name betrays his Dntch

origin, purchased some land at Esher, upon
whicli lie built a small brick-house for liis own
residence. It stood upon h)w ground, without
tlie least advantage of prospect, but being
afterwards disposed of to Thomas Pelham
Holles, Earl of Clare, and at a later period
Duke ofNewcastle, thatnobleman immediately
commenced improving his new acquisition

upon a most extensive scale. To the house
itself he " added a magnificent room for the

entertainment of large companies when he
was in administration," while he much en-

larged the grounds by enclosures from the

adjacent heath, as wellasby variouspurchases
of land that lay opportune to the original
estate. He also built a castcUated prospect-
h(mse upon a mount in the park; calling it

Chiremont after his own title, a name that

eventually came to designate the whole
demesne. In addition to these changes, he
much increased the phmtations, and employed
tlie celebratcd Kent in improving tlie grounds,
which, according to the poet-physician Garth,
liad been first laid out by Vanbrugh :

" But say who shall attempt th' adventurous part,
There natuic bovrows dress from Vanbmgh'8 art ?

If by Apollo taught, he touoh the lyre,
Stoncs niount in colunins, palaccs asjiire,
A;id rocks are animatcd by his firc.

'Tis hc can paint in versc thosc risinp hills,
Uheir gcnlle vallcys anU their bilvcr rills;
Closc groves, aud opening glailes with verdurc spread,
Flow'rB sighms swccts, and shruhs tliat balsams blccd

;

With t;ay varicty tlic in-ospcet crown'd,
And all tha bright horizon smiling round."

As Garth was contemporary with Van-
brugh, and must have known him from their

rcLitive positions in society, he could hardly
liave been mistaken in a niatter so simple and
so little likely to be misrcpresented.

Tiie Duke dying without issuc in 17GS, Ihe

title becamc cxtinct, for hisbrother, the Rigiit
Hon. Hcnry relham, had previously deceased

in 1754, andalso without malelieirs. Notlong:
afterwards, the Duchess of Newcastle, the

tlien possessor of Claremont, sold the estate to

Lord Clive, the celebrated founder of tlie

British empire in India. Improved as we
have just seen tliat Claremont liad been by the

late Duke, it was yet too small for one who
had so long lived in familiarity with eastei-n

magnificence, and wlio had brought home
with him, not only Indian habits, but the

ample means of gratifying them. Tlie

Nabob, as every wealthy Anglo-Indian was

styled in tliose days, immediately set about

remodelling the grounds and erecting a new
mansion. With this view, he employed Mr.
Lancelot Brown, who, from his real or siip-

posed qualities, had acquired the very signifi-
cant soubriquet of Capability Brown

; or, as

others have said, from his frequentuse of that

word when giving his advice either as architect

or gardener. According to tlie account

given by Manning, Clive did not fix any
limits to the expenses of the building, and the

historian further adds that it cost, when com-

pleted, npwards of one hundred thousand

pounds. The first of these assertions may jios-

sibly have been true
;

the latter would seem
to be an exaggeration. We also learn from
the same authority that this was " the only
complete mansion Brown ever built, although
he altered many ;" an assertion which, if it

be tme, affords a very sufiicient comment

upon his nickname.
Few men have earned such titles to a

nation's gratitude as Lord Clive, and few
have found their services so ill-requited ;

and
that not by the brute multitude, whose capri-
ciousness is the constant theme of reprobation,
but by those who assumed to themselves to be
of better mould than the ordinary run of

mankind, It was in the houses of parliament
that the most infamous attacks were made
upon this truly great man, and he, who had

fearlessly confronted all dangers and subdued

them, proved unablc to bear this petty war of

words. So decp was the imprcssion made
upon his noble mind by the malignity of his

adversaries, that he became gloomy and over-

whelmed, in which state he put an end to an
existcnce that he was weary of. At the time
of this melancholy cvent, CIive's son was in

his minority, and at a subsequcnt period the
CUiremont estates were sold to Viscount Gal-

way. The next owner was the Earl of

Tyrconnel, who, in 1807, disposed of this

property to Charles Ilose Ellis, Esq. ;
and he

again conveyed it to the Connnissioners of his

Majcsty's Woodsand Forests, under the act for

])roviding a fitting residence for the Princess

Charlotte on her marriage with Leopold
Princc of Saxe Cobourg. By this act, passed
in the 5Gtli of George III., cap. 25, thc royal

couj)le were to enjoy the whole of tlie Clare-

inoat property during their joint lives, but
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wlthout any power of alienating or encumbcr-

ing it, and at theiv death it was to revert to

the Crown. It was also providcd by the same
act that whichever survived, the Prince or

Princess, was to hold Claremont under the like

conditions, as when it remained in their joint

possession. Hence it is that the King of the

Belgians is tlie owner of an English estate up
to the pvesent time, the Princess Charlotte

having died in childbed on the 6th ofNovem-
ber, 1817.

The House at Claremont stands upon an

eminence near the middle of tlie park, com-

manding an extensive prospect. In form, it

is an oblong square, forty-hve yards in length,

by thirty-five in breadth. The main walls of

thc edifice are built of brick, but the window
and door frames, with the other dressings, ave

of stone. A noble povtico, of the Covinthian

ovder, embellishes the eastern or cavviage

front, in the pednnent of which are sculp-
tured the amis and supporters borne by the

great Lovd Clive. A flight of one-and-twenty

steps leads to the entvance hall, or saloon,

which is decorated with scagliola pillars,

while the walls are ornamented with com-

partments of various devices in basso-relievo.

In the centre stands a pedestal bearing a cast

of tlie Warwick vase, fovmed of ivon and
lined with coppev, a pvesent fvom the late

King of Prussia, in whose capital of Bei'lin it

had been executed. This hall is in shape
oval, thirty-three feet long, twenty-five feet

wide, and eighteen feet in height. On the

same fioor—besides the great staircase—are

eight rooms, all spacious and convenient. The

librai-y contains a fair selection of books in

dilievent languages, and some half-length

portraits by Dawe, of no vevy pavticulav inte-

rest. The so-called gallery is fifty-eight feet

long, twenty-four feet wide, and twenty-two
feet high, and comprises some valuable paint-

ings ;
such as Frederick the Great, of Prussia

;

General Wolfe, who fell in the arms of victory
at Quebec ;

and sevei-al cabinet pictures by
old masters.

Communicating with the breakfast-room is

the apartment in which the Princess Charlotte

died.

The great staircase is embellished with

pilasters and columns of Sienna marble, and

opens to the rooms on the middle fioor, on
wliich is tlie suite of apartments generally
used by the present Queen wlien residing at

Claremont with Pvince Albevt. Tlie most

intevesting pictuves in this part of the building
are the portvaits of Charles I. and Henrietta

Maria, whose very evvovs and misfovtunes

have secured for them a bvighter page in

histovy than their virtues, although there is so

much in the chavacter of Chavlcs fov love, if

uot fov admiration.

Tlie pleasuve-grounds attachcd to Clavemont

occupy about sixty acres, the landscape being

varied and agi*eeable. Art, too, has made thc

most of the site, clothing the heights and

slopes with large trees of various kinds, inter-

mingled witli laurels and other evergreens,
and with long avenues of beech and elm.

Much of tlie timber to be found here is con-

spicuous for the vigour of its growth, particu-

larly the Norway Spruce, the Pitch-Fir, the

Cork-Tree, and the Cedar of Lebanon.

On the west, at a sliort distance from the

house, is the Mount or eminence, which we
have alveady noticed as having given to the

estate the lattev half of its uame. Tliis niound

is steep, and vising to a tolerable height, is

surmounted by the castellated building or

tower, which was erected by the Duke of

Newcastle for an observatory, and is still so

named. It is built of bvick, and extends to

thvee stovies, the dvessings being of stone.

The pvospect froni this spot is beautiful and

expansive.
The conservatory is also deserving of

notice. It is still farther on, in a western

direction, andisreached through a fine avenue
of beeches. In shape it is oblong, witli cir-

cular eiids and a lofty span-roof, the whole

space being divided into three compartments
by partitions of glass. Various kinds of

camellias, in a highly Hourislnng state, are to

be seen in the two outer compartments, while

the centve is occupied by ovange tvees, mag-
nolia fuscata, banksia, and other hard-

worded plants. An acacia pubescens, which
is trained along the roof, has often been

remarked for its singular beauty when in

flower.

Towards the north-west, and about a quar-
ter of a mile from the Mansion, is a small but

handsome building, which the Princess had

designed for an alcove. At the time, how-

ever, of her premature death, it was still

unfinished
;
and Leopold, improving upon tlie

original plan, converted it into a mausoleum
to her memory. Its site is upon an artificial

eminence, having a gavden in fvont, and

commanding a prospect of much interest over

the lake below. The windows are of stained

glass by Backler
;
the ceiling is grained, and

richly adorned witli tracery, rendered yet
more beautiful by the mellow, and even

solemn, light under wliich it is seen. At one
time a bust of the Princess Charlotte stood

here, but this was some time since taken

away, and a plaster cast poorly substituted

in its place.
The lake, to which we have just alluded,

covers about five acves of ground, with a

pretty wooded islet in the middle. On its

south-west side is some artificial rock-work,
with the mimic ruins of a grotto, and a back-

ground of trees and underwood. Upon the

north is a bank whcre rhododendrons and
various kinds of evevgveens ave fiouvishing in

gveat abundance ;
while all around ave scat-
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tered singly, or in groups, elnis, beeches,

planes, bird-cherrics, phies, birches, oalcs,

elms, and cedars. Seldoni has art, seconded

by a lavisli expenditurc, bcen more eminently
successlul

;
kitclien gardens, vineries, fruit-

pits, and all upon a large scale, contributing
to the luxuries of this favoured spot.

In circumference, Claremont Park is nearly
three miles and a lialf, and includes an area of

about tln-ee Imndred acres; but the whole

extent of these demesnes can scarcely be less

than fifteen or sixteen hundred acres, the

present owner havingpurchasedlargeportions
of tlie adjoining hmds, in order to maintain

the privacy of Claremont, and remove the

possibility of building as far as possible. The
chief entrance to the park is near Kslier, on

the road thence to Leatherhead. It is sur-

rounded by a ring-fence, and on each side of

the gates is a liandsome lodge.

GOLDINGTON HALL, in the county of

Bedford, and not far from the town of that

iiame, the seat of Wilham Kenworthy Browne,

Esq.
This Hall was at onc time the residence of

Admiral Sir Tliomas Allen, who makes so

prominent a figure in tlie Civil War. He was
a native of Lowestoft in Suffolk, and having
embraced the king"s party kept up a sort of

piratical warfare against tlie town of Yar-

moutli, which was in the opposite interest.

Nor were tiie peo])le of Yarmouth a whit be-

hind tlieir o])pouents in tliis traffic, though

they had no leader of the talent of Admiral,
then Captain, Allen.

Subsequcnt to the timc of this gallant sea-

man, Goldington passed througli many hands,
until atlength we find it possessed by tlie family
of tlre Pahners, who continued to liold it for

about a century. From them it was purchased
in 1836 by Mr. llobert Falconer, and in 1848

by the present owner.

The old house was erected in 1050 by Sir

Thomas Allen. It was in tlie EUzabetlian

style of architecture, badly proportioned and

badly built, the timber used in it being cliicfiy

elm. What little oak has been discovered by
no means resembles tlio usual oak of the dis-

trict, and, according to all api^earances, must
have been brought from some otlier part of

the country. This Mansion, however, was

puUed down and rebuilt in 1848 by the gentle-
man now owning it.

The old rehgious house of Puttenhoe stood

about a mile north of Goldington Hall, and
the ancient Priory of Newenham about the

same distance soutla. Any one looking upon
this district, as it now appears, wouhl be sur-

prised to learn that a pension of twenty marks
was granted by King John to the Abbot of

Puttenhoe for damage done to his woods in

the siege of Bedford, modern improvcments

(so called) having scarcely left a singlc large
tree of any kind.

About a mile due east is a large movind,
wliich antiquarian conjectin-e has set down for

an outwork to the almost fabulous Risinghoe
Castle, a possession of the Beauchamj^s, once
a jiowerful family in tliese parts, but of whom
a few traces only exist in the northern por-
tions of the county. Risinghoe is mentioned
botli by Leland and by Lysons, and but Httle

has been added since tlieir time to our infor-

mation respecting it, although the place nuist

have been one of considerable importance.

DELVINE, in the county of Perth, the seat

of Sir John Mvur Mackenzie, Bart.

This seat is situated on a romantic island of
table huul wliich forms its jjark, consisting of

considerably above a luindred acres, fcnced
in all round by copscd and steep banks, and

standing in the stratli of the Tay. It is called,
in Gaelic, Incli-tutliel. Being naturally

fortified, it was selected by the Romans as a

camp ;
and at one end of tlie Incli thcre arc

niost curious traces of embankments, mounds,
and ditches, wliere it is supposed tliat tlie

pretorium stood. This is well described by
Pennant in his Scottisli tour. Inch-stutliel

is tlie park and pleasure grounds of Delvine,
and is surrounded by thriving woods. Tlm
House is situated at tlie end opposite the traccs

of tlie ancient camp, and is fianked by flower

gardens and extensivc slirubberies. It is coni-

modious and of considerable size, but has been

built, at ditferent thnes, witli a view to internal

comfort rather than to external elegance.
The views from many points in the park

are most beautiful, commanding the magnifi-
cent stream of the Tay, and the Highhuul
niountains towards the north. Delvine is on
tlie boundary between the Plighlands and the

Lowlands, and unites the beauties of both
kinds of scenery.

Mackenzie of Delvine is a cadet of thc

Baronet of CouII, who is a cadet of tlie faniily
of the Earl of Seaforth. Sir John Muir Mac-
kenzie's father, Sir Alexander, the first baro-

net, inherited this estate from his niaternal

uncle
;
while he succeeded his father in the

paternal property of the family of Muir, Cas-

sencary in Galloway. By his wife, the daugh-
ter of Sir Robert Murray, Bart., of ClcrmoiU,
he wasfatherof Sir John, thepresent baronet,
who married the daughter of Mr. Johnstone
of Alva, and has issue.

WOOTTON HALL, in the county of Stafford,
the seat of the Rev. Walter Davenjjort

Brondey.
The situation of Wootton Hall is extremely

romantic and beautiful
;

a high stcep bank

overlooking a deep, rocky, and wooded glen,

running for about a mile in the midst of crags,

tangled dinglcs, grassy knolls, and thick
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grovGS, and crowncdby the niajesticmountmn
of the Weaver. Wootton llall has been for

sonie generations possessedby the Davenports
of Capcsthorne, a principal branch of one of

the oldest families in Cheshire. Davenport
is, indeed, one of tlie most ancient houses of

the gentry of England. Until the taste and
wealth of the present Mr. Davenport Bromley
crected this new, handsome, and spacious

mansion, Wootton was an okl and small house,
seldom inhabited by the family, though prized
from its natural heauty as a temporary resi-

dence. Here Mr. Davenport Bromley's an-

cestor afforded an asylum to Jean Jacques
Rousseau, who spent some years at Wootton,
and wrote his " confcssions" in a grotto, which
lias been built over in erecting tlie flight of

steps which leads to the principal entrance,

After enjoying the hospitahty of liis benefactor

for several years, Rousseau listened to the sug-

gestions of his crazy fancies, and tliinking
himself dceply injured, made a precipitate re-

treat, and revenged himself by some of the

most distempcred of his letters, in which he
scts forth his imaginary wrongs. The present

proprietor inherited Wootton Hall as a second
son of the Davenport family, and he assumed
tlie surnanie of Bromley on inheriting the

estate of Baginton, wliich had belongcd to

Lord Chicf Justice and Mr. Speaker Brom-

ley. Attracted by the natural beauties of

Wootton, he fixed his residence here, and
added a handsome Mansion, in the Italian

style of architecture, to the small original
house. Tliere is a broad terrace under the

windows, which commands a fine view of the

rocky glcn.
Thei"e is a very remarkable collection of

pictures at Wootton Hall, chiefly brought to-

getlier by the taste of the present proprietor.
Thcre are a few good family portraits of the

Bromleys, and one or two of public men whicli

belonged to the Spcaker. But it has been
the endeavoiu- of Mr. Davenport Bromley to

selcct the finest specimens of the older Italian

masters
;
and he has succeeded in fonning

what may be called a large and interesting

gallcry. One of the pictures at Wootton

ought to be in the National Gallery : it is by
Sebastian del Piombo, and some of the figures
were sketched by Michael Angelo. It origi-

nally belonged to a Roman convcnt, was re-

moved from thcnce by the French, fell into

the hands of Cardinal Fesch, and at his death

was purchased by the present proprietor. It

represents the Visitation, and is of great size.

From the summit of the higli liill of the

Weaver adjoining Wootton Hall, tliere is the

most varied and glorious view, extending over

many counties, and emi)racing beautiful

scenery. In the immediate neighbourhood
there ai'e many fine scats : Alton Towers, be-

longing to the Earl of Shrewsbui-y ; Calwich,

formerly to Mr. Granville, now to the Hon.

and Rev. Mr. Duncombc
; Ilam, to Mr. Watts

Russcll
; Tissington, to Sir Hcnry Fitzlierbcrt,

and within a short distance is the romantic

scenery of Dovedale.

MYTON HALI, Yorkshire, six miles from

Easingwokl and one from Boi"ouglihridge, the

seat of Stapylton Stapylton, Esq.
The town of Myton-upon-Swale, so called

from its situation upon the river Swale, was a
Saxon settlement, as is shown in the word

Myton, whicli is compounded of two Anglo-
Saxon roots, riicr, "a lake or pool," and tun,
"a town." Itis a place somewhat cclebrated

in ancient chronicle for a battle fought there

in the year 1319, when the Scotcli general,
Thomas Randolph, Earl of Moray, entered

England with a large army, wasting all with
fire and sword till he came to the very gates
of York, wlien he nearly captured the Queen
before she could gct into the city. Ile, how-

ever, burnt the suljurbs, morc in the spirit of
a pagan Goth or Vandal than of a chivalrous

Christian soldier, and theii would fain liave

stolen off" to Scotland with his booty. But
the Archbishop of York, William de Mclton,
had not forgotten the use of the sword when
he took up the crozier. Witli a courage
worthy of his renowncd Norman ancestors, he
assembled such forccs as he could raise, com-

posed of monks clergymen, canoiis, and other
members of the Church, together with a motley
heap of peasants, artificers, and tradesmen,
to the number of ten thousand. This sin-

gular array, unfitted, as it should seem, to

contend with soldiers by habit and profession,
with De Mclton, the Bishop of Ely, and the
Lord Chancellor, at their head, pursucd and
overtook the invaders at Myton. The Scotch

army drew uj) in ordcr of battle on the eastern

side of the Swale, near to Myton. While the

English were crosing thc river, the Scots set

fire to some haystacks, the smoke of which so

blinded the English, that the marauders came
down upon them unpcrceivcd. The result

was precisely such as might have been ex-

pected. The English were utterly defeated.
Of tlie Yorkists, two thousand—some have
said four thousand—were slain or drowncd.
So great was the slaughter of the priesthood,
that this battle, says Buchanan, was after-

wards called the White Battle.

The Stapyltons have been seated at Myton
Hall since the time of Charles the First

;
but

their original abode was at Stapylton-upon-
Tees, from which place they took their sur-

name. But the family is of higli antiquity,
and was seated in Yorkshire before thc Nor-
man conquest. They appear to have distin-

guished tliemselves greatly in the wars that

were constantly being waged by the English
monarchs against France and Scotland, and
to have had their full share in the various
civil feuds that rent the kingdoni. One in



24 SEATS OF GREAT BRITAIN.

particular, Milcf? Stapylton, was a celebratcd

warrior. He assisted at the siege of Calais,

and afterwards passing through Frauce at tlie

head of two thousand nien conipclled the

P'rench into a treaty with the King of Navarre.

He was also one of the first Knights of the

Garter, commonly called the Founders of the

Order, who were selected for military skill

and courage, and bore an annulet of gold upon
the shoulder of his lion as an armorial differ-

ence. It is also recorded of him that lie slew

a Saracen chief in single combat, the kings of

England and France being present, and
assumed a Saracen"s head for his crest in

conscquence.

Myton Hall is a plain, substantial building,
and was erected in the year 1693, by Sir

Henry Stapylton, Bart. It stands on the

banks of the river Swale, sun-ounded by
park and gardens. Sir Walter Scott has 1

^

an additional interest to Myton by connoctr^t

it, in his "
Rokeby," with the fight of M^ng

ton Moor, so disastrous to tlie royalists ars-

so glorious to the arms of Cromwell :

" Moncton and Myton told the news,
How troops of Roundheads choked the Ouse,
And niany a bonny Scot aghast,

Spurrmg his palfrey northward fast,

Cursing the day whcn zeal or raeed
First lureil their Lesley o'er the Tweed;
Yet when I reaclied the banks of Swale,
Had rumour learnt another tale

;

With his barbed horse, fresh tiding'! say,
Stout Cromwell has redeemed the day."

DANNY, in the county of Sussex, the seat of
William .1. C.ampion, Esq.

Danny is a noble old Hall, situated in the

midst of a fine park, embowered amongst
ancient vcnerable trees, in the parish of Hurst

Pierrepoint, in the county of Sussex, about
ten miles from Brighton. It was built by
Lord Denny in tlie reign of King Henry
VIII., and is one of the finest specimens in

that part of England of the domestic archi-

tecture of the Tudor age. It is of very great
extent, and built of brick, which has, from

exposure to weathcr during thrce centuries,
become mellowed to a deep reddish purple
hue. The great oriel windows are innume-
rable. The hall is of immense size, and its

ceiling ascends to the roof of the house, thus

cutting the mansion into two divisions. The
apartments are liandsome and numerous

; but,

except the great hall, there is none of very
large size. The back part of the liouse was
rebuilt about the year 1700, in the unadorned

style of Anne and George I.

Formerly, behind the house, there was a
series of tcrraced gardens, rising upwards
towards a grove of vcnerable trees. But, in

the spirit of improvement of last century, the
terraces were levolled, the gardons were re-

moved, and thogrcen park was brouglit undcr
the very wiiulows. This has again been

changed ;
but the ancient formal terraces

have not been restored, though thatportion of

thc park has been made to give way to a

niost beautiful and extensive flower garden.
The park is of very considerable size, and

is literally crowded with magnificent timber,
which rise all round the house, and with their

dark green shade make an appropriate back-

ground to the ancient niansion. AU round
the park there are walks, and from different

points in it the views ovcr the rich scenery of

Sussex are vcry beautiful. Just bohind Danny,
and adjoining the park, risesthe lofty summit
of the Downs, called Whistonbury Hill, whicli

commands a glorious prospect.

Danny origiually belonged to the family of

Denny, which was of great antiquity, aud

possessed considerable estates. Henry Denny,
by Honora his wife, daughter of William

Lord Grey of Wilton, was father of Edward

Denny, knightcd by Elizabeth, and croated

Lord Denny by King James I. in the third

year of his reign; He was afterwards created

Earl of Norwich. By his wife Mary, daughter
of Thomas Earl of Exeter, he had an only

daughter and heiress, Honora, who married

Thomas Hay, Viscount Doncaster, and after-

wards Earl of Carlislo. Danny subsoquently

belonged to the family of Goring, who werc

nearly allied to that of Denny, and upon
whom the Earldom of Norwich was bestowod

on the failure of the Dennys without male
heirs. Sir George Goring, of Hurst Picrre-

point, son of George Goring, by Anne, sister

of Edward Denny, Earl of Norwich, was
created by Cliarles I. Lord Goring of Hurst

Piorrepoint, and was subseque-ntly ad-

vanced to the Earldom of Norwich, a dignity
vacant by the death of his uncle Donny. He
marricd a daughter of Edward Lord Aber-

gavcny. His eldest son Lord Goring, the

famous royalist comiuander, diod before his

father, after having led a stirring life full of

strange and romantic vicissitude. The sccond

son, Charles, accordingly bocame second Earl

of Norwich
;
and on his death, without issue,

in 1672, his title became cxtinct. This anciont

family is now represented in the male line by
Sir Harry Goring, Baronet, of Highden Hall,

in tlie county of Sussex.

During the seventeenth century Danny
passed into the family of Courthope, one of

okl standing and good desccnt. Their hoiress

married Mr. Campion, of Campion Ilal), in

the county of Kent, the prescnt Mr. Cam-

pion's great-grandfather ;
and thus the

ancient and distinguished family of Campiou
bccame possessed of this boautiful ohl scat.

Prcforring it to thoir original family place of

Campion Hall, thoy fixed thoir rosidoncehorc,

and for three genorations tliey have exercised

within thoso old halls tlie most gcnuine and

gonial ancicnt English hospitah'ty. Benevo-

leuce, worth, and kindness are synonymous
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witli theii- nanie. Long may their race con-

tinue to maintain the character and station of

the old country gentry of England ! We
cannot better describe this place and family
than by quoting the words of a hate talented

and cminent politician and noveUst—Mr.
Phnner Ward, In one of the letters of his

pubHshed Correspondence there is the foUow-

ing description, which all who have the privi-

lege of knowing Danny and its inmates will

pronounce to be truly graphic :
—

" We spent ten absolutely happy days (Jan.

1844) at Danny, owing somewhat certainly
to the beauty of one of the finest old seats in

England ;
a hall ninety feet long and tliirty

feet high, full of family pictures from Henry
VIII. downwards, quite after my own taste

;

but
cliiefly from the primeval manners and

goodness of the family who preside over it, in

most substantial old English hospitality, with
a kindness and simplicity one seklom sees.

A fine old Sir Roger de Coverly chief, and a

wife and mother, such as Lady de Coverly
would have been had the knight been mar-
ried ; a very agreeable and accomplished set

of sons and daughters, and two charming
daughters-in-law ;

last and not least (except
in stature), six grandchiklren, most consvnn-

mately well brought up, yet full of liveliness

and merriment, which keptthe house alive from

morning till night, and made the old ones

young again. I know not when I enjoyed
myself so much."
Some who read these pages will probably

find in their memories of the past, reason to

re-echo the description thus cordially drawn

by this distinguished statesman and moralist.

The family pictures to which Mr. Phuner
Ward alkides are a series of portraits of gen-
tlemen and ladies of the family from the be-

ginuing of the seventeenth century. But
there are some much okler, and very curious,
which belonged to the house before it was the

property of the Campions or Courthopes.
Tliere is a very remarkable large full-length

portrait in the great hall, of Hay, Earl of

CarUsle, dressed in the most finished and
studied elegance of the court of the first Stuart

King. There are also large portraits of several

of our Kings and Queens, especially Charles
I. and Henrietta Maria, in their robes of state.

Another and original portrait of Charles I.

is of uncommon interest, having been painted

during his last imprisonment, and within a

few days of his execution. The Campions
have ever been distinguished for their loyalty
to tlie ancient Hne of our Sovereigns. The

picture most highly valued in the family is a

beautiful portrait of that noble knight and

cavaHer, their immediateancestor, Sir WilHam

Campion, Governor of Colcliester, who dis-

tinguishedhimselfby hisheroic conduct, during
the Civil War between King and ParHament,
on the side of the former, There are many por-

traits ofmembers of the Kit Kat Ckib, of whicli

Mr. Campion's great-grandfather was one.

In the church of Hui'st Pierrepoint, which

has, of late years, been rebuik in the best

style of Gothic, there are many interesting
monuments of several generations of the fami-

lies of Campion and Courthope. Besides

Danny, Mr. Campion possesses large estates

at Campion Hall in Kent, where his ancestors

have not resided since the time of his great-

grandfather.

CASTLE ASHBY, in the county of North-

ampton, the seat of the Marquess of North-

ampton.
About eight miles from the town of North-

ampton, in the midst of a large park, stands
Castle Ashby, the ancient and noble seat of
the Comptons. At a short distance from the
Castle Ashby railway station, the traveller

enters the park, and after a drive of upwards
of a mile through very pretty park scenery,

though flat and devoid of any striking featm-es,
he arrives in front of a large and noble pile of

building, which has been for three centuries
the principal seat ofone of the most respected
and best of the good old English houses of

pure blood.

The greater portion of Castle Ashby was
built in the reign of Elizabeth, as three sides

of a quadrangle ; a fourth side or front,
was afterwards added by Inigo Jones

; and,

notwithstanding the difterence of architec-

tural style, the whole harmonises extremely
well. The quadrangle has very much the

appearance of one of the smaller colleges in

Oxford or Cambridge. The great gates open
in the front of the addition made by Inigo
Jones

;
and on crossing the quadrangle, a

broad flight of steps leads to the great hall,
and grand staircase, and state apartments.
But the entrance generally used is a small
door to the right, after passing the great gates,
which opens on a corridor leading to the

public rooms most commonly occupied. These
form a considerable suite of library, drawing-
i;ooms, and dining-room, all connected toge-
ther, of spacious size, and well supplied with
valuable books and remarkable objects of

curiosity and value.

Opening from the great gates are the

entrances to the chapel on one side, and to

the museum on the other. The chapel is

large, but possesses no remarkable feature
;

as

it has been fitted up at a time when there was
little knowledge or taste displayed in ecclesi-

astical architecture. The nuiseum contains a
fine collection of geology and mineralogy,
formed by the late marquis. The great hall

occupies the centre portion of the original
Elizabethan building, and is a very noble
room. The grand staircase is cxtremely
handsome

;
its wood-work being in the style

of Charles the Second. It conducts to the



26 SEATS OF GREAT BEITAIN.

state apartnients, a fine suite of large saloons

and drawing-rooms, all lurnished in excellent

taste, though without any ettbrt to imitate the

style of a particular age. One striking fea-

ture in Castle Ashby, is the harmonious blend-

ing of the styles of difFerent times together.

Many portions of the house recall the original
Elizabethan period. Others belong to tlie

times of Charles I. and II. Others again be-

token the taste of the eighteenth century.
But in all this, there is nothing ofFensive,

nothing incongruous,
—the one generation

grows out of the other. The traces of the

by-gone age are not discarded at the same
time that modern improvements are added,
so that the fittings and furnishings of Castle

Ashby give a key to the history of the family.
A noble house, continually inhabited by the

same distinguished race without violent vicissi-

tude or change for centuries, with a gradual

enlargement of building, and accumulation of

vahxable domestic property. It is probable
that no room has ever been entirely fitted

up anew since the house was originally built
;

and thus there are no absurd contrasts or

violent attempts, in a tasteless age, ignorantly
to reproduce antiquity, in the way in which
the interior of some iine old seats have been

destroyed.
The efFect of Castle Ashby is extremely

pleasing, and the visitor findshimself at once

in the home of genuine old English aristo-

cracy, without pi'etension, but with dignity and

solidity. Here are no remarkable paintings,
with the exccption of a great number of fine

family portraits ;
and no family deserve better

to be commemorated than that of Compton.
There is no lack of fine old cabinets, com-

modes, and all the usual furniture of ancicnt

EngHsh mansions. In a remote part of the

house is situated the library proper ; though
there are several other rooms in habitiial use

fitted up as libraries. The upper part of the

Inigo Joncs front is formed into a very long,
broad gallery, which is unfurnished except
with pictures, and which would have been an
exccllent Uicah' for the very vahiable collec-

tion which the late Marquess took such delight
in forming, and which are scattered all over

the house.

We have ah-cady said that the Marquess pos-
sessed a fine collection of mineralogical s])eci-

mens. But as his knowledge was universal and
his taste exquisite, he had brought together

many most curious objects of antiquarian
vahie. His specimens of ancient ghiss formed
acollection quite unique. He posscssedafew
most beautifid cliefs d'oevvre of ancient art,

and his assortment of Etniscan or Grecian
vases was, in vahie, about the third in Eng-
land—that in the Britlsh Museum ranking
first

;
Mr. Rogers' and Mr. Hope's, second

;

Lord Northampton's and Mr. Hamilton

Gray's, third. His lordship's great libei-ahty

has impoverished his own collection by tho

gifts that lie has madeto tlie British Muscuni.

From the roof of Castle Ashby there is a

very extensive view over a rich and flat

country. But the chief attraction to that

portion of the building is the extraordinary
balustrade in ornamented letters of stone-

work, about four feet high, which form a

cornice all round the roof, andconsistof many
verses from the vulgate translation of tlie

Psahns. The same sort of ornament to tlie

roof exists at the Duke of Devonshire's seat

of Hardwick. But there, the letters are de-

signed to perpetuate the pride of the builder—
E : S : surmounted by an EarPs coronet, to

mark the memorial of Bess of Hardwick,
Countess of Shrewsbury. Whereas the builder

of Castle Ashby desired to glorify God, and
to express a humble trust in his providential
care. One bed-room and dressing-room are

peculiai-ly beautifid in the taste and richness

of their furniture. Everything is in the

style of EHzabeth
;
and tlie guest might sup-

pose himself to be, in truth, carried back
three centuries.

The parish church of Castle Ashby is

situated about a hundred yards from the house,
at the commencement of the beautiful and
extensive shrubberies. It is a handsome
Gothic buihhng, which has been recently
restored and beautified by tlie late Marquess,
who was a thoroughly good ecclesiastical archi-

tect, and made that art his peculiar study.
The altar and Reredos are of very great

beauty, a gift from the Marquess. An elegant
monument was erected by him, a few years
before his death, to the Marchioness, and on
it he has commemorated her mcrit and his

own affection in some verses which cannot
fail to touch and please, because they come

simply from a warm and feeUng heart. The
shrubberies, gardcns, and pleasure groimds
are very extensive, but they do not posscss any
features which merit a particular dcscription.
The Marquess of Northampton possesses

anotlier seat, Compton Winyates, in Warwick-

shire, which, though on a smaHcr scale, is

not less dcserving of attention than Castlc

Ashby, but whicli has not been inhabited by
the family for some generations. One or two
rooms are kept furnished with a view to an
occasional visit.

The Comptons are a family of the most
ancicnt English nobihty, and were Lords of

Compton, in the coimty of Warwick, before

the Conquest. The first wlio was raised to the

peerage was Sir Henry, who, in \572, was
created a Baron. His son WilHam was
created Earl of Northampton in 1G18. His
son Spencer, second Earl, was a noble Cavalier,
and distinguished himself on the royal side

dvn-ing the civil wai"S. One of his younger
sons was the respectable Bishop of London,
in wliose episcopate St. Paufs Cathedral was



SEATS OF GREAT DRITAIN. 27

erccted, and who crowned William and Mary,
iii place of tlie Archbishop, who woiild not

ackuowledge them. James, the third Earl,

had the honour of fighting uuder his father

for the cause of King Charles. His younger
son was speaker of the House of Commons,
and was created Earl of Wihiiington. James,
fiftli Earl, man-ied the heiress of the Barony
of Ferrars, which was transmitted along with

the Baronies of Bourchier, Lovaine, Basset,

and Compton, by his only child, to the family
of Townshend, into which she married.

Charles, seventli Earl, iu like manner, had an

only child and heiress, who married Lord

George Cavendish, afterwards Earl of Bur-

lington, to whom she brought very large
estates. Compton Lodge, near Eastbourne,
was hiherited by Lord Bm-lington fi-om her.

Tlms by the coUateral succession of brothers,

the Northampton family have been deprived
of many titles and large estates

; though the

ancient family properties aud seats have

happily been preserved.
Charles, ninth Earl, was created in 1812

Marquess of Northampton, Earl Compton, and
Baron Wilmington. His son was the late

Marquess, a nobleman of whom it is impossible
to speak without aifectionate respect ;

and

whose somewhat prematui"e deatli has been

Jamented by as wdde a circle of friends as

ever man possessed. Probably few men had
a more general knowledge of every subject
than Lord Northampton ;

and on some points
that knowledge was profound. During the

later ycars of his life lie devoted himself

chiefly to thc study of archa>ology. He had

spent much of his time in Italy. where he

cultivated his taste, and enriched his cabinet

with rare and curious objects. There never

existed a more single-hearted, kind, or bene-

volent man; and when these more solid

qualities were adorned witli learning and

imagination, and graced with high rank, dis-

tinguished birth, and considerable fortune, it

may well be imagined tliat few men were more

generally esteemed than their possessor. Lord

Northampton was one of those men whom
his friends woidd have wished to preserve

among them for ever
;
and he was, alas, cut off

suddenly, and before age had chilled his warm

feelings, or extinguished his insatiable thirst

for knowledge. In life he did his duty to

God and to man
;
and in death he has left

behind him a name that will long be esteemed.

COCHNO HOUSE, in the county of Dumbar-

ton, the seat of Miss Hamilton, of Barnes.

Cochno Housc is a handsome Mansion, built

about a century ago, in the midst of a con-

siderable park, timbered with venerable trees,

and commanding one of the most extensive

views in the west of Scotland. It inchides in

its range Glasgow, the h)wcr-ward of Lanark-

shire, tlie Firth of Clyde and Renfrewshire.
An ancient castellated dwelling formerly stood

near the site of the present house, which was
built by the grand uncle of the present pro-

prietor.
Cochno originally belonged to a family of

the name of Hamilton, of a different branch
from that of the present proprietor. The first

of that original family on record is Andrew
Hamilton, captain of Dumbarton Castle and
Provost of Glasgow in the time of Queen

Mary, for whom he fought at Langside. He
died before 1572. There were several pro-

prietors of Cochno of this family; one ofwhom
(Claude) married the daughter of Sir James

Edmonstone, of Duntreath, about 1591. To-
wards the middle of the seventeenth century,
the estate ofCochno was acquired by Hamilton,
of Barnes, one of the most distingriished
branches of the ducal house of Hamilton,

being the representatives of the great family
of Ilaploch.
The founder of this braneh was Tliomas

Hamilton, of Darngaber, a younger son of Sir

John Hamilton, Lord of Cadzow, and uncle

of James, Lord Hamilton, who married

Princess Mary, of Scotland. This Thomas
Hamilton married Helen Douglas, of the great
house of Lochleven, and was the progenitor
of Hamilton of Raploch and its numerous

branches, Ton-ance, Westburn, Stonehouse,

Nielsland, Lord Belhaven, Earlof Clanbrassil,

&c., &c. No branch of the ducalhouse, with

the exception of the Marquis of Abercorn,
has been so prolific in distinguished offshoots

as Hamilton of Raploch.
In the reign of Queen Mary, Gavin Hamil-

ton of Raploch was one of the most influential

men in Scothmd. He was bred to the church,
and was made Dean of GLisgow, which ofiice

lie exchanged for the abbacy of Kilwinning,
which he held in commendam, He was a

man of much spirit and ability, had great
talents for business, and was well versed in

all the learning of tlie times. He was in high
favour with Queen Mary, to whose interest he
ever continued attached, and he fought for

her at the battle of Langside in 15G8. He
was the confidential adviser of his kinsman,
the Regent, Duke of Chatelherault. He
obtained a breviate from the Pope, with the

consent of his sovereign, appointing him

coadjutor and successor to Hamilton, in the

archiepiscopal see of St. Andrews. On the

establishment of the reformed religion, he
erabraced secuh'ir life, and foUowed the

example of many churchmen of that period,
and married a lady of the family of Hamilton.
He was sLain in 1570, in a skirmish between
the troops of the Queen and those of the

Regent Lennox. His loss was greatly la-

mented both by friends and focs, as hc was a

man of great ability, mudei"ation, and saga-
ci(v.
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His grandson Claud Hamilton, a younger
son of Raploch, was tlie founder of the faniily

of Barnes
;
but on the faihire of the elder line

of Raploch, in the course of a few generations,
Barnes became their sole representative. He
had a charter from his father of the barony of

Bai'nes in 1575. He married a daughter of

Knox of Ranfurleigh, and had a son, Robert,
in wliose time it is probable that the estate of

Cochno was acquired from the family who

originally possessed it. His son, Claud

Hamilton of Barnes, sufFered greatly in the

persecutions on account of religion during the

reigns of Charles II. and James II. In 1662,

1674, 1684, he had very large fines imposed
upon him for his strict maintenance of his

religious principles. He was for many years
member of Parliament for the county of

Dumbarton, and was one of the most con-

siderable men in the West of Scotland. His
wife was a daughter of Sir Walter Steuart, of

Allanton, by whom he had a son, James

Hamilton, of Barnes, who married a sister

of Sir John Maxwell, Bart., of Pollock. His
eldest son, Claud Hamilton of Barnes, built

the present mansion house of Cochno. He
was succeeded by his brother, who was grand-
father to Miss Hamilton, the present proprie-
tor of this estate, and representative of this

very distinguished branch of the house of

Hamilton. She succeeded her brother in

1852.

COURTEEN HALL, in the county of North-

ampton, the seat of Sir Charles Wake, Bart.

This is a handsome and spacious Mansion,
built by the late Baronet, in the midst of an

extensive park, and sun-ounded by a profusion
ofremarkably fine trees. The offices, gardens,
and pleasure-groimds, are very considerable.

The church and parsonage are on the verge of

the park, and tlie whole presents a good
specimen of the seat of a first-rate EngHsh
country gentleman. The place possesses no

particular interest beyond a well-wooded park,
handsome mansion, and large farms in a high
state of cultivation.

The Wakes were a Saxon family of im-

portance before the Conquest. And under the

Norman kings they possessed large estates and

distinguished rank. Henewald de Wake was
one of the noblest and bravest of the Saxon
thanes

;
and his descendant, Baldwin de Wakc,

was one of the barons at tlie Coronation of

King Richard I. His descendant, John de

Wake, was suirimoned to parliament as a baron

of the rcalm, in the 2;5rd year of Edward I.

Thonias Lord Wake married Blanche, daughter
of Ilenry Earl of Lancaster. But having no

issue, liewas succeeded byhis sister Margarct,
wife of Edmund ofWoodstock, Earl of Kent,
wliose daughter loan Plant;igenet, the fair

maid of Kent, was wifc of thc Black Prince,

and mothcr of King llichard II, Thus tlic

elder line of the Wakes was extinguished iii

royalty. The family of Courteenhall are de-

scendcd from a yoimger branch. Baldwin

Wake, their immediate ancestor, was created

a baronet in 1621, by King James. The
celebrated Arclibisliop Wake was a grandson
of tliis family. The present Sir Cliarles is the

tenth baronet. He succeeded his father in

1846.

LOWTHER CASTLE, in the county of West-

morland, the seat of William Lowtlrer, Earl

of Lonsdale, K.G.
This estate, from which the family has de-

rived its name, is said by some to liave been
so called from theriver Lowther, ov Loiider—
that is, as Burns explains it, tlie clear ivater,

but as otliers have interpreted it, the darlc

water. The word is Celtic, according to these

authorities
;

but Spelman, with mucli more

probability, tells us, on the authority of Olaus

Wormius, that it is derived fi-om Ijoth-er,

meaning fortunate honour, and that it is a

common title amongst the ancient lcings of

Denmark. This might ahnost lead to a con-

jecture, tliough unsupported by any proof,
that the family is of the Danisli origin.
The older Lowther Hall was pulled down

in 1685, and rebuilt by Jolm, first Viscount

Lowther, who seems to have had no less

taste for building and the fine arts, tlian

he had for landscape-gardening. It was
liis delight to adorn the mansion lie had
erected, with the works of tlie most eminent

artists, while he laid out and planted the ad-

jacent lands, improving with unbounded
munificence the face of tlie old country. Dis-

tinguished as tlie part vvas, that he played in

the great world, he was only too glad to escape
from public life, and enjoy himself in that

rural solitude, whicli he was wontto call, "his
dearest companion and entertainment."

In 1720 the mansion. thus built and em-
bellished, was burnt down, with tlie exception
of two wings. The first Earl collectcd stone

and timber in quantities for the purpose of

rebuilding it
;
but the design was not carried

out till 1808, when it was commenced by his

successor. It is entirely constructed of a rose-

tintcd wliite stone, exceedingly smooth and
durable

;
the style of architecture, both witliin

and without, being that which generally cha-
i'actcrised the principal edificesof Europe dur-

ing the tliirteentli and fourteenth centuries.

The approach to it is from the north, through
an arched gateway, with a porter's lodge, from
wliich a high embattled wall, witli towers at

intervals, branches out each way, enclosing
the entrance-court. In the centre of this

court is a smooth green lawn, with a gravclled
walk, and roads on either side thirty feet

vvide, that risc to the tcrrace, vvhich is five

hundred fect in length, and in breadth a hun-
drcd. There is also a flight of steps sixty feet
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wide from the entrance court to the terrace

opposite to the gateway. In the centre of

the north front, is a noble open porch, admit-

ing carriages. The entrance-hall, the saloon,
the staircase are all upon the same scale of

extent and magnificence. The last of these,
which is approached from the hall, is sixty
feet square and ninety feet in height, entirely
of stone, and lighted by windows above of

painted glass. In the middle of the ceilingis
this inscription, in the old black letter, round
a wreath of stucco-work :

—
EdifK GuU. Com.

de Lonsdale anno Regni Rs. GeoK SK j4°. Dk
MDcccx cure Robo. Smirke. The north front,

which contains eight lofty turrets, is fourhun-
dred and twenty feet long ;

the prospect from
it opening to Penrith beacon-hill—to Saddle-

back, which rises three thousand and forty-

eight feet above the level of the sea—and to

the mountains of Scotland. The south front

is two hundred and eighty feet long, having
in its centre the saloon, to the right and left

of which are other magnificent apartments.
The park and pleasure-grounds that en-

viron this noble mansion are of very great

extent, commanding a variety of prospects,

certainly not surpassed, and perhaps hardly

equallcd in any other part of England, The

great terrace is nearly a mile in length, run-

ning along the edge of a deep limestone clift",

which overlooks some portion of the park, with

its immense forest trees, and its herds of

antlered deer. But the beauty of the place may
be best estimated from the impi-ession it made

upon Lord Macartney, aman whounquestion-
ably had seen enough of the workl to have
arrived at Horace's stoical maxim of " nil ad-

mirari!
"—to be astonished at nothing :

"
I

wandered in Van-sJioo-qucn, or the Paradise

of Ten Thousand Trces^ for several hours, and

yet was never weary of wandering ;
for cer-

tainly so rich, so beautiful, so sublime a pros-

pect my eyes had never behekl. But if any
place can be said in any respect to have simi-

lar features to the westernpark of Van-shoo-

quen, which I have seen this day, it is at

Lowther Hall in Westmorland, which—when
I knew it many years ago

—from the extent
of prospect, the grand surrounding objects,
the noble situation, the diversity of surface,
the exteusive woods, and command of water,
I thought might be rendered by a man of

sense, spirit, and taste, the finest scene in the

British dominions,"

Nothing can well add to the brilliancy of

this picture, while indeed there might be some

peril of diminishing its effect by any additions

from the hand of an inferior or less experien-
ced artist.

Lowther ! in thy majestic pile are seen
Cathcchal ponip and grace, in apt accord

With the Baronial Castlc's sterner mien
;

Union signiiicant of God adorcd,
And charters won, and guarded with the sword
Of ancieut honour.

In Henry the Second's time the Manor of

Lowther woukl seem to have been divided

into three parts, for in that reign Humphrey
Machel gave a third part of the church of

Lowther to the priory of Carlisle. In 1278,
one of these portions was divided between co-

heiresses, married to Robert de Morville, and
Gilbert de Whiteby, while the other two per-
tained to the priory of Wotton and WilHam
de Strickland. In the year 1309 it was held
of the CHlfords by the heir of John de Coup-
land, Hery de Haverington, Simon de Alve,
and the prior of Wotton

;
and in 1314 the

moiety of Simon de Alve was possessed by
Hugh de Lowther. In 1421 Sir Robert de
Lowther held the whole of this manor by
the cornage of twenty shiUings and four-

peitce.

KINGSCOTE PARK, Gloucestershire, in tlic

hundred of Berkeley, about sixteen miles from
the provincial capital, the seat of Colonel

Kingscote.
The genealogical history of this seat, if

we may be allowed such a phrase, is easily
traced

;
it has been in the same family for

upwards of six centuries. "
It may be said,"

says Smytlie,
" of this family, as doubtless of

no other in the county of Gloucester, nor, I

think, of many others in this kingdom, that
the present Mr. Kingscote and his lineal an-
cestors have continued in this manor nowc
about five hundred years, never attainted, nor

dwelHnge out of it elsewhere
;
nor hath the

tide of his estate higher or k)wer flowed or

ebbed, in better or worse condition
; but, like

a fixed star in his firmanient, to have re-

mained without motion in tliis his Httle orbe,
without any remarkable change ;

and as to

the name of the first ancestor, that is not

perished
—

Ansgerus ;
it importeth that it is

hereditary Saxon.
' '

This is no doubt correct :

the Saxon word cotc^ from which the modern
EngHsh derive cot and cottage, being famiHar
in many component names of places, and then

signifying, not as Rudder states, "awood,"
but a "viUage."

" At one timc," in the

Doomsday Book,
"

tliis place was written

Chingescote, but the sound was still the

same, and the compound meant 'the king's
village.'"
The county historian tells us,

" the inha-
bitants"—that is, of the viUage

—"have a
tradition that there was once a city here, of
the name of King Cliester, which, however,
may be a mistake, if understood agreeably to
their notions of a city ;

but as tradition has

generaUy something of truth for its founda-

tion, it serves at least to show tliat this village
has been anciently distinguished by camps or
some eminent buikHngs. And accordingly it

appears that there was a Roman station at a

place called the Chestles,not only from the name
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of it, which seenis to have something of a

military signification, as if it were tlie same
with castle, from castellan, a fort or toivn—
but also from the remains of a tesselated pave-
ment, and great nmnbers of Roman coins

which liave been fomid there in plougliing
the fields at different times. A large statue

of stone, and other remains of antiqiuty, have
also been turnedup by the plough in the same
field. I saw many of the coins, and some
of the dice-hke pieces that composed the pave-
raent, which were of brick of diiferent colotu-s,

in the possession of Mr. Brooks of this place.
There was also an a\\c\ew\ jihula vestiaria, of

brass, curiously chequered on the back part
witli red and blue enamel, found in the same
field iu the year 1691."

The Mansion, wliicli is of a simple and plain

style of architecture, stands at the end of an

extensive and well-wooded park, full of vahi-

able timber. It is surrounded by picturesque

pleasure grounds, laid out with much taste

and judgment.

DKOMANA, co. Waterford, the seat of Lord
Stuart de Decies.

Dromana is built on the summit of a pre-

cipitous clifi" overhanging the ISIunster Bhick-

water, and though some centuries have rolled

by since the waters first reflected on their sur-

face the aerial dwelling, it is still strongly
seated on its rocky throne, and looks finnly
as of old. The drive from the thiiving little

town of Cappoquin lcads througli a succession

of most pictiu^esque scenes. The entrance to

Lord Stuart's domain is singularly fanciful

and striking. A handsome bridge over tlie

Finnisk river conducts to a pagoda lodge, with

its niinarets and globidar headed towers, look-

ing like some romantic scene in the Arabian

Nights suddenly realized before us. This

opens on, in every sense of the word, the
" wide domain;" land and water, field and

grove, proclaim the territorial lord. We drove

along the flowery meads through which flocks

and herds roamed um-estrained by fences, and
uubroken savc by tlie clumps of stately forest

trees, dotting tlie green, and darkening the

verdant Lawn with friendly shade. The Man-
sion presents a hnig front, and does not exhibit

any architectural display in its outward ap-

pearance, but the interior is quite worthy of

its hospitable and noble owner
;
and while its

situation is sure to render it an object of in-

terest, the historical associations which blend

with its walls add considerably to the etfect

of its venerablc and striking appearance.
Seward, in his "

Topographia Hibernica,"
states the dwelling to be tlien (1795) the seat

of the Earl of Grandison, and built on tlie

foundation of an ancient castle, fonnerly the

cliief seat of ihe Fitzgeralds of Desmond. This

pvftcrful race jjosscsscd tlic entire of tlie couu-

try bordering on the Blackwater
;
and one of

the fierce conflicts between them and their

rivals,the Butlers of Omionde, was fought close

by, at Affane, on Ist Febmary, 15G4. On
this occasion the Fitzgeralds sustained a great

defeat, having 300 men killed, and tlie chief

himself womided and made prisoner. But
neither the loss of the battle, nor the number
of his clansmen slain, nor his own freedom

lost, nor the anguish of his wounds, could

diminisli the boldness of liis spirit, or weaken
his hostility to his hereditary foes. While
the tinumphant conquerors were bearing their

bleeding enemy a captive ou tlieir shoulders,
the leader of the Onnonde araiy rode up and

tauntingly asked,
" Where is now the great

Eiul of Desmond?" The tone and words
rankled in the breast of the vanquished lord

far more deeply tlian the weapons of the

speaker's host had tortured his flesh. He
raised proudly his drooping head, and casting
a haughty glance of defiance upon his ques-
tioner, boldly replied,

"
Here, in his proper

place, still on the necks of the Butlers."

Dromana is reputed the birtli-place of the

venerable Countess of Desmond, who, at the

age of 140 years, crossed tlie Channel and
travelled to London to demand and obtain

from King James I. the restoration of her

jointure, of whicli she had been deprived on

the attainder of her husband. How long slie

niight have enjoyed the niiits of lier journey
it is liard to say, but a fall from a cherry tree,

into wliicli she liad climbed to get at the fi-uit,

put a sudden period to her receipt of tlie royal

bounty.
Tlie grounds of Dromana are varied and

very picturesque. The gardens command
some fine views, and a spacious terrace atfords

a prospect as far as Cappoquin. Near the

gardens is a tasteful bastion, arches beneath

which atford accommodation as a boat-house.

There is a handsome keeper's lodge in the

deer park, and abundance of rides and drives

tlirough the spacious grounds.
The titlc, Stuart de Decies, is borne by a

nobleman no less distinguislied by his liigh

rank tlian his gi-eat personal worth and ex-

emplary public conduct. He is a resident

landed proprietor
—foremost in every useful

manner to benefit his fellow countrj^men.
The Lords of Decies derived their de-

scent from James, seventh Earl of Desmond.
In 1561 a descendant of this nobleman was

created Baron of Dromana and Viscount

Decies. Dj^ing without issue, his estates (tlie

title being extinct) devolved on his brother,
Sir James Fitzgerald, who removed fi-om

Cappoquin to Dromana, where he died in

December, 1581. In " Burke's Peerage," it

is recorded that the Hon. Edward Villiers, in

1677, married Catherine, daughter and hcu-ess

of Jolm Fitzgcrald, Esq., of the Dccies,

lim.ally desccnded froni James, seventli Earl
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of Desmonrl, and wlio dying, lcft his son John
heir to his griuulfathor, as tifth Viscount

Griuulison. He was created Earl of Clrandi-

son lltli Septeniber, 1721. His great-great-

grandson is Henry Villiei-s Stuart, Baron Stuart

de Decies, of Dromana.
There is at this nohle seat a fine collection

of paintings, principally portraits of the cele-

brated courtiers of the time of Charles II.

FELIX HALL, or FILIOLS HALL, in tlie

coimty of Essex, about a niile distant from

Kelvedon, a little to the left of the London

road, the seat of Thomas Burch Western, Esq.,
of Tattingstone Park, SufFolk, who succeeded
to it at the death of his cousin, the late Lord
Western.

Shortly after the Norman Conquest, this

estate was possessed by a family of the name
of Filiols, from the Latin word Filiohis,

or the French filenl, a godson. This deri-

vation is further supported by a seal of a grant
to Coggeshall Abbey by WilHam Filiols,

whereon is the representation of a font with a

King upon one side of it and a Bishop on the

other, holding a child as in the ceremony of

baptism. Hence it may be reasonably inferred

the family had a tradition of this surname hav-

ing been given at the time of biiptism to one
of their ancestors by some king of England.
The name also occurs in the role of Battle

Abbey, and from other sources we know that

Robert FiUols possessed lands in Lexder Rod-

ing, in or near the reign of King Stephen, and
another of the family held estates at Kelvedon.
In 1345, the property was conveyed in mar-

riage to Sir John Bohun, by Cicely, daughter
and heiress of Sir John Filiols. After the

death of their two daughters and heiresses, tlie

estate passed through various hands, until it

was bought by Sir Anthony Abdy, in 1G30.

In 1733, Sir Anthony Thomas Abdy died, leav-

ing two daughters, who in 1 762 disposed of it to

Daniel Mathews, Esq. The estate was finally

purchased by the late Lord Westem, in the

year 1793, as an addition to his other exten-

sive estates in the county. The family of

Westeme, who possess records since the time of

Henry VII., when they were living in London,
have been settled in Rivenhall, a neighbouring
parish, since 1693. Mr. Western possesses also

the old family mansion at Rivenhall-place,
which is still of considerable size, though a

large portion of it was pulled down when the

residence was removed to Felix Hall. Felix

Hall is a very handsome house, standing on
the site of a very okl mansion, surrounded by
a park, and commanding an extensive pros-

pect over the Braxteds and other neighbouring

parishes. Both the house and grounds were

greatly altered and improved by Loi"d Wes-
tern

;
he gave to the elevation its present

striking appearance, and decorated the front,

towards Kelvedon, with a handsome portico,
after the model of the Temple of Foi;tuna

Virilis at Rome. His Lordship, being an
ardent admirer of the fine arts, collected dur-

ing his various travels in Italy a considerable

number of highly interesting and vahuible

works of ancient sculpture, some of them of

great beauty and rarity. This coUection

adorns the two halls, as well as various apart-
ments of the Mansion. Tliere are also some

interesting family portraits, including those of

Sir Robert and Sir Anthony Sliirley, Ambas-
sador from Persia ia the reign of Queen
Elizabeth.

DTJNCOMEE PAEK, Yorkshire, about half a
mile from Helmsk^y, the seat of Lord Fever-
sham.

At the dissohition of monasteries by Henry
the Eighth, the abbey of Rievaulx, with the
land thereto belonging, was granted in ex-

change to Thomas, Lord Roos, adescendantof
Walter de Essex, its founder, and first Earl of

Rutland, who also possessed the castle and
manor of Hehnsley, and other lai'ge estates in

the neighbourhood. In the reign of James
the First these iinited properties became vested
in Catherine, only surviving child and heiress

of Francis, the sixth Earl of Rutland. This
heiress man-ying George Villiers, tlie first

Duke of Buckingham of that name, the pro-
perty descended to their eldest surviving son,

George, the second Duke of Buckingham, of
whose trustees they were purchased in the year
1695 by an ancestor of the present owner.
The family of Duncombe, originally of Bar-

leyend, in Buckinghamshire, was divided, in

the reign of Henry the Eiglith and Edward
the Sixth, into several branches, from one of
which the present Lord Feversham is descend-
ed. In 1634 WilHam Duncombe married

Mary, daughter of John Theed, Esq., and their

second son, Anthony, married Mary, daughter
of Paulye, Lord of the Manor of Whitchurch.

Anthony had several sons; the eldestofwhom,
Charles, was in 1700 Sheriff of London, in

which year he was knighted, and subsequently,
in 1709, he became Lord Mayor of London.
This fortunate citizen accumulated a large for-

tune, and dying immarried, he bequeathed it

to his two nephews, Anthony, son of his bro-

ther, Anthony Duncombe, and Thomas Brown,
Esq., son and heir of his sister Ursula, the wife
of Thomas Brown. From this younger bro-
ther the present owner derives his claim to the

Hehiisley estate.

Anthony Duncombe, of the elder branch of
this family, and nephew to Sir Charles, was
created Lord Feversham, Baron of Downton,
in the county of Wihs, in the year 1747. He
was thrice married, but the title became ex-
tinct in 1 763, the then Lord Feversham dying
without male issue. It was, however, revived
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in the person of Charles Duncombe, Esq., who
in 1826 vvas advanced to the Peei-age, and,

dying in 1811, lie was succeeded by William,
the pi'esent Lord Feversham.

This Mansion, according to the most au-

tlientic accounts, was designed by Sir John

Vanbrugh, out constructed by William Wake-

field, Esq. of Huby, near Easingwold, in the

year 1718. It is in the Doi-ic style of archi-

tecture, situated on an eminence in the ro-

mantic vale of Ryedale, and surrounded by the

niost enchanting scenery. Tlie principal front

is a beautiful specimen of skill and combina-

tion, and has been veiy generally admired, a

praise which may be extended to the hall and

saloon, both evincing the purest and mostclas-

sical taste in design as well as in execution.

Several additions have been made to the origi-
nal structnre by the present noble owner.

These are, principally, two wings, and a noble

conservatory, ninety feet long by thirty feet in

breadth, built under the direction of Sir Chas.

Barry, so justly celebrated as the architect of

tlie new Houses of Parliament.

The hall is sixty feet long by forty feet

broad, with fcmrteen tall Corinthian pillars,

and many beautiful sculptures. The most

noted amongst these is the Docj nf Alcihiades,
said to have been the work of Myron, a Gre^

cian artist, who flourished about one hundred

and forty years before the birth of Christ. If

we may believe Dallaway, and there seems to

be no reason whatever for distrusting his ac-

count, it was discovered at Cagnuolo, and

brought over to England by Hem-y Constan-

tine Jennings, Esq., when it was bought by
an ancestor of the present possessor, for the

sum of one thousand guineas. There is also

the celebratedDiscobolusin Pentelicanmarble,
which is generally allowed to be the finest

statue in the country.

Upon the walls are medallions of the twelve

CaBsars, as many busts of Greek and Latin

poets, a few of eminent statesmen, and some

fine antique statues. It may indeed be called

a gallery of art, the various specimens being of

tlie choicestkind.

The saloon is now converted into a library.

Itisninety feetlong by twenty-four feet broad,

formed into three divisions by lonic columns.

The ceiling is composed of a fine basso relievo

in stucco, presenting
" Flora in the centre, en-

circled with festoons, very delicate, and small

figures in the sides and corner divisions ;
at

one end Peace, at the other Plenty. The cor-

nices of the chimney-pieces are supported by
double lonic pilhu-s, and the ornaments en-

close two landscapes. The tables are of fine

Sienna marble
;
the room is adorncd with four

anticjue statues, Mars, Mercury, Bacchus, and

Apollo, and two fine busts of Cicero and Ho-

vace.

Tlie sister art of painting lias not been ne-

glected. Many splendid pictures are to bc

seen here, but numerous enoiigh to occnpy a

long catalogne, if their merits as well as sub-

jects are to be discussed. For the present
pm-pose, it will be enough to mention a few of
the leading artists, whose names alone are

sufficient:—"
St. Catharine,"

" Adoration of
the Shepherds," "The Daughter of Hero-

dias,
" " Bacchus ofFering Marriage toAriadne,

' '

"St. Peter Penitent," "Christ Visiting St.

Jolm,"
"
Charity," and "

Abigail supplicating
David," all by Guido

;

" Venusand Adonis,"
and "The Holy Family," by Titian

;

"
St.

Paul," by Leonardi da Vinci
;

"
Virgin and

Chikl," by Correggio ;

"
Assumption of the

Virgin," by Carlo Maratti
,

"
Morning," and

" Summer Evening," by Claude Lorraine
;

"A
Landscape," by Pictro de Cortona, and which,
in the grandeur of the scene, has never been

sm-passed, and perhaps never equalled
—it is

a real gem, and has been so considered by the

bestjudges;
" The Scourging of Christ," by

Old Pahua, painted in competition with Titian,

andcrowned;
"
Martyrdom of St. Andrew,"

by Carlo Dolci
;

" A Dutch Merchant," by
Rembrandt;

" An Old Woman and Boy with
a Lighted Candle," and the "

EmperorOtho,"
by Rubens ;

" The Presentation in the Temple,"
by Giovanni Bellini, the founder of the Vene-

tianSchool, so memorablefor havingproduced
Titian and Georgiani ;

" A Hawking-Piece,"
by Wouverman, one of his best productions,
&c. &c.

Much taste has been exhibited in laying out
the pleasure-grounds of Duncombe Park. The
views from the so-called Home TeiTace are of
wonderful variety and richness. At one end
is an lonic temple, which commands a splendid
landscape, broken byimmensetrees, andopen-
ing to the right upon a fine champaign country
of great extent, the prospect being terminated

by distant hills. At tlie opposite end is a
Tuscan Colonnade Temple, ornamented with
white and gold mosaics. Below is seen a

lovely vale winding at the base of a woody
amphitheatre, which spreads over a long ex-
tent of hills, and fringes the banks of the Rye,
the stream flowing through the valley, and

forming a cascade almost in its centre.

But the prospect varies in its form and ob-

jects from every part of thc Terrace, though
always with undiminished beanty. Its termi-
nation opens upon an extensive park-Iawn,
skirted by plantations, the sublimity of the
scene in this part forming a happy contrast to

the landscape, throngh which we have just
bcen passing, of a much softer nature, and

principally characterised by rich woodlands.
The great entrance to the park is through

a triumphal arch erected in honour of the
inmiortal Nelson, to whose crowning victorv
at Trafalgar England owed her escape

—^a

narrow escape
—from Napoleon's threatened

invasion. On the arch is the following
inscription :

—•
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" To the memovy of Lonl Viscount Nelson, and the un-

parallelod gallant achievements of the British Navy.

Lamented Hero!
O price hisconquerins couiitry grieved to pay !

O dear-bought glories of Trafalg-ar^s day ! 1806."

Taken altogether, few seats present more

striking points of attraction to the visitor than

Duncombe Park
;
and tliat, whether we consider

the varied interest of the scenery, the architec-

tural beauties of the buikling, or the numerous
and rare treasures of art which it contains.

MADRYN, co. Caernarvon, the seatofThomas
Love Duncombe Jones-Parry, Esq. (Elifin ap

Gwyddno) F.S.A., Justice of Peace and De-

puty-Lieutenant of Carnarvonshire ;
a Cap-

tain in Royal Anglesey Liglit Infantry Militia.

This place received its name from a Welsh

saint,
—Saint Madryn, or Madmn, a daughter

of Gwrthefyr y Fendigaid, or Vortimer, sur-

named Bendigaid, that is the "
Blessed," an

appellation which was probably given to him
from his liaving restored those churclies

wliich had been destroyed by the Saxons,
and the respect paid by liim to ecclesiastics.

In the Triads he is styled one of the three

canonized kings of Britain. His daughter

having married an Irish prince, converted him
to Christianity, which so mucli incensed his

heathen subjects tliat they murdered him,
when she fled, to escape their fury, across the

sea with her son Ceidio to her native Wales.

Either by chance or choice she found a place of

refuge at the foot of a mountain, which was
ihenceforth called after her Carn Madryn. Her

hermitage was a small rude vault, imbedded in

the side ofa sloping bank upon the margin of a

rivulet, which here expands itself into apool.
All around or near it wears the venerable aspect
of age, or leads the mind back by the power of

association
;

—the wierd and decaying trees,

the murmuring brook, the church, at no

great distance, dedicated to her son, Ceidio,

and the ruins of the strongholds on the moun-

tain-top, where, in after years, Roderic and

Maelgwn, the sons of Prince Owen Gwynedd,
bade deliance to their enemies. Later still,

though tlie date is lost in the obscurity of

ages, another castle stood, upon the site of the

present Madryn. A portion of the outer wall

still remains, behind the more modern Man-
sion, having a terraced walk along. One
also of the round towers at the angles may
still be seen, and a little postern, which was
the only outlet except the great entrance in

front. In the highest part, this wall reaches

to about thirty feet, while the terrace is

eight feet from the ground, approached by
flights of steps. It is not, as is so generally
the case, pierced with loopholes, the besieged

probably having repeUed their assailants with

missiles sent down amongst thcm from the

towers at the angles. The ground plan of the

walls was quadrangular, in the centre of

which stood the castle. The square building
in front called the Gate-house, or barbican,
was remodelled towards the end of tlie

sixteenth century
—

perliaps about the year
1570—by the Madryn of Madryn, who, in

L587, was Sherift'of the county of Caernarvon.

It is not unlikely that he altered and improved
tlie house aboutthe same period, liis alterations

having been upon an extensive scale.

Madryn is situated nearly eleven miles

from the extremity of the promontory of

Lleyn, under tlie shadow of the bold rocky

group called Carn Madryn. The Southern

country is barren and less interesting, and

partly consists of a vast wild, or common,
known by the name of Rhos Irwan. The

grounds more immediately adjacent are pic-

turesque a swell as extensive, containing fish-

ponds, brooks, plantations, and a quantity of

fine old timber.

The Madryns of Madryn have been seated

here from very remote times, and their names
will be frequently fovmd in the list of sheriffs.

One of tliis family, Ricliard Madryn, had the

honour of being imprisoned in the Tower of

London for resistance to tlie oppressions and
extortions of Dudley, Earl of Leicester, who
had been appointed Ranger ofSnowden Forest,
whicli anciently extended into Lleyn. Abusing
the power entrusted to him by his too partial

mistress, Queen Elizabeth, he attempted to

extort unjust taxesfromthe people, and some

poems are yet extant upon the subject,
addressed by native bards, Gutyn Peris, &c.,
to the patriotic gentlemen wlio withstood tlie

injustice. Tliey were eiglit in number, one of

tliem being Sir Richard Bulkeley, of Baron

Hill, in Anglesey, and another, a Hughes of

Cefnllanfair.

At one time the family estates passed to the

Wynnes of Wernfawr, and in this manner :

Madryn disgusted witli the extravagance and
bad conduct of his eldest son, and all his othei-s

having died without children, bequeathed the

family estates to his daughter Margaret, who
married Jolm Wynne, Esq., of Wernfawr.
Witli a generosity, however, and justice not

usually practisedin such cases, she willed them
back at her deatli to her disinherited brother.

Thomas Madryn was sherift" during three

years of the great Civil War, and ruined him-
self in the royal cause. His son sold the

estates to Owen Huglies, Esq., of Porth-

Uondy, Anglesey, whose sister and co-

heiress, conveyed it, by marriage, into the

family of Davies of Beaumaris, and their

daughter married Bodfel, of Bodfan. That

family resided here till—her brothei-s being
dead—the estates became the property of
Gwen Bodfel of Bodfan, who, dying unmarried,
bequeathed them to a daughter of—-Hmn-
phreys, Esq., the wife ofAmbrose Lewis. Love

Parry, Esq., having married the elder daugh-
ter and co-liciress of this family, became pos-

F
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sessed of tliese estates, By a similar mode of

transniission it passed into the family of

Jones, of Llwyn Onn, who then by royal
license assumed the additional name and
arms of Parry.
To retrace om- steps that we may mention

some matters, which must not be wholly

neglected, but which could hardly have been
mentioned before, wathout interrupting the

continuity of our narrative :
—

GeofFrey Parry of Rhydolion was a cadet

of a Herefordshire family, and distinguished
himself as a colonel in Cromweirs army. He
married the daughter and sole heiress of Hugh
Hughes, of Cefnllanfair, whom his country-
men of Lleyn called on his tomb Dda,
or the Good, an honourable addition which
is seldom given by the popular voice

till it has been duly earned. The old Man-
sion at Cefnllanfair has been demolished
within the last seventy years ;

it was of high

antiquity, and said to have been, atone time,
a residence of Llwelyn the Great. This

Geoffrey was the father of the first Love

Parry, who obtained of Penarth in right of

his wife, Ellin Wynn, who came of an
ancient family, settled from very early times

at Penarth in Efionydd. The Mansion here
was a fine, antique building, though now
used as afarmhouse, in which the old hall still

remains, with its carved oak rafters and

large arched fire-place, having a shield of the

Wynns carved above it. They descended
from one of the fifteen noble tribes of VVales,
and one of them, Sir Howel y Fwyall, or

Sir Howel with the axe, was particularly
celebrated for his exploits at the battle of

Agincourt. Upon that memorable day he
took the King of France prisoner, having
struck off' the head of the monarch's charger
with a blow of his ponderous battle-axe,
which seems in size and weight to have
resembled that of Richard Cceur de Lion, so

fatal to the Saracens. In reward for this

achievement he was made Constable of

Cricaeth Castle, a strong fortress in Caernar-

vonshire, upon an eminence above the sea,
which is now in ruins. He had also, as a

fartlier honour, and at the king's expense, a

mess of pottage served up daily before the axe,
with eight yeomen to guard it, after which
the disli was distributed amongst the poor.

From a younger son of this family
descended lineally Wynn, Lord Newborough,
of Glynllifon. As, however, this is not the

place for minutely describing the various

leaves and branches of the genealogical tree,
we shall here close our account of Madryn
and of those connected with it.

LYME, in the county of Chester, the seat

of Thomas Lcgh, Esq., a uuigistrate and

deputy-lieutenant for the counties of Lancas-
ter and Chester.

This estate, like so many othersin the north

of England, was the reward of martial

achievement, as in our own days land is for

the most part the recompense of mercantile

skill and enterprise. Onnerod, although in

general so trustworthy, has been incorrect in

many points, and some of importance, with

regard to this family. He tells us that " Sir

Piers Legh, younger son of Sir Robert Legh,
of Adlington, married, in the year 1388, Mar-

garet, only daughter and heir of Sir Thomas

Danyers, of Bradley, and obtained through
that alliance the lands of Lyme Handley, in

Macclesfield." Now Sir Thomas Danyers,
who is thus in a way made the founder of the

family greatness, had in reality nothing to do
with it, as appears by different deeds, as well as

by HoIIinshed, the historian. The Margaret
mentioned by Ormerod, was the widow, not

the daughter, of Sir Thomas Danyers, and was
thrice married, the third time to Sir Piers

Legh, sometimes styled Sir Peter, or Sir Per-

kin Legh.
A second blunder, committed by Ormerod,

is his statement that the Earl of Tankerville

was taken prisoner at the memorable battle of

Cressy. He was captured at the storming of

Caen, previous to the fight at Cressy, when Sir

Piers Legh, son of Robert Legh of Adlington,
served in tlie expedition ofEdward IIL, under

Lord HoIIand. It is, however, uncertain

whether the Earl surrendered himself to Sir

Piers Legh, or was forcibly made prisoner. At
all events, for this and other services, the Black

Prince, Earl of Chester, settled on Sir Piers an

annuity of forty marks per annum, issuing out

of his manor of Frodsham, imtil a convenient

grant of lands of the value of £20 per annum
could be made. In the twenty-first of Richard
II. it wasfinally settled that this estate shoidd

be the landsof Lyme Handley in Macclesfield

Forest, which that sovereign accordingly

granted to the widow of Sir Thomas Danyers,
and her third husband, Sir Piers Legh. The
latter lived only two years to enjoy the grant,
for in 1399, when the insurgent forces of the

Dukc of Lancaster advanced into Cheshire,
Sir Piers was seized upon by that nobleman,

and, in consequence of his well-known attach-

ment to his ill-fated prince, beheaded at

Chester on the Ist of August, a residt so

common in those days as to seem the natural,

and almost inevitable, end of birth and talent.

Upon his decease, Lyme devolved to his son,

Sir Petcr Lcgh, knight-banneret, who was

slain at Agincourt, and from that redoubted

warrior descended the knightly and eminent

family of Legh of Lyme.
The late owner of Lyme, Thomas Peter

Legh, Esq., who died in 1797, suftered a re-

covery to bar contingent interests in his free-

hold property, and by will settled the estate

of Lyme, with its numerous dependencies in
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Lancaslnre and Clieshire, on his son, Tliomas

Legh, Esq., the present possessor.

Lyme Park is situated in aromantic country,
about four miles from Whalley Bridge, over

the little river Goyt, which divides Cheshire

from Derbyshire. About a mile from it is

the village of Disley, from which the road is

pleasing and secluded. A broad and gently-

winding highway, more than a mile in length,

displays the peculiar features of the Park,
which is extensive, and like all aroimd it

exceedingly wild and romantic. To epicures
it has the recommendation of being celebrated

for the iine flavour of its venison. Here also

is to be seen a herd of wild cattle, the re-

mains of a breed preserved from time imme-

morial, and supposed to be indigenous.
The fine old Mansion, built of free stone,

stands in a dell, and is not visible from the

road, until the traveller is close upon it, being
screened by the high grounds of the Park,
and backed by woods that completely shelter

it from the winds. Before the northern front

is an entrance-court, enclosed with handsome
iron palisades, with a handsome iron gate,
ornamented on its piers with eagles and re-

cumbent lions. The date of the oldest portions
of this house is uneertain. Great additions

were made in the reigns of Henry VIL and

Queen Elizabeth
;
the characteristic features

of that interesting period are observable in the

plan of the house, and in the principal part
of the north front. The centre compartment,
in which is the entrance-porch with stone

seats on either side, is rich in architectural

ornament of the grotesque and niixed kind

which then prevailed, and bears the chief

armorial quarterings of the family, eight in

number, with the motto,
" En Dieu est ma

foi." Above this is a dial, and the whole is

finished with an open pediment, enclosing

Minerva, a termination that was the work of

Giacomo Leoni, who Italianized the man-

sion, casing the extremities of this front,

and making considerable alterations in other

parts of the building, about the year 1720.

The nortli front was in all lilcelihood ori-

ginally ornamented with an open parapet.
The architectvire of the wings is of the

Corinthian order, and finely proportioned,

though it must be admitted not quite in har-

mony with the venerable centre. The south

front would seem to have been entirely the

work of Leoni. It is raised upon a rusticated

basement, and in the centre is adorned with

a noble portico, which, as well as the whole

elevation, is of the lonic order. Above rises

a lanteru tower, surmounted by balustrades

of stone. On the pediment are statues of

Venus, Neptune, and Pan.

The Mansion surrounds a court, or quad-

rangle, in the manner of ancient times.

The spacious hall, with its lonic decorations,
some sculptured arms and swords, and above

the antique hearth are hung two antique

helmets, a sword, and a pair of spurs, said to

have been worn at the Battle of Cressy. Here
also are full-length portraits of Edward III.

and the Black Prince.

The most cin-ious apartment in this Man-
sion is the Stag Parlour, so called from its

decorations
;
the space below the cornice being

occupied by twelve compartments in relief,

tliat represent the huntingofthe stag, painted
in proper colom's. This room is hung with

tapestry, and the furniture—as indeed is the

case throughout the house—is as old as the

walls themselves. The antique chimney-piece
is also remarkable. It is divided into three

compartments. In the first of these are the

arms and quarterings of the family, all pro-

perly blazoned
;

in the second, are the royal
arms between the allegorical figures of peace
and plenty ;

and in the third, is a view of the

north front of Lyme Hall in its original state.

In the front of the house is represented the

custom, formerly observed here about Mid-

summer, of driving the deer round the park,
and collecting them in a body before the

house, after which they were made to swim
the water.

Lyme Park abounds in curiosities of all

kinds, the number of which has been greatly
increased by the present proprietor. To the

collection made by his predecessors he has

added many valuable specimens of sculpture
and antiquity, the result of his travels in the

east. In the great hall is the portrait of

Joseph Watson, a venerable old man, who
was seventy years keeper of the park, and is

remembered still as having originated the

custom of driving the deer. In 1705, when
he had accomplished a fuU century, he is said

to have hunted a buck during a chase of

nearly six hours, and he lived to be a hundi-ed

and five years old, an age as remarkable as

was his general character. The following
anecdote of him has been told more than once,
but it is too characteristic of his woodman

qualities to be omitted.
" In the reign of Queen Anne, Squire Legh

was at Macclesfield, in Cheshire, in company
with a number of gentlemen, among whom
was Sir Roger Mason, who was one of the

members of the said county. They being

merry and free, Squire Legh said his keeper
should drive twelve brace of stags to the

forest of Windsor, a present to the Queen.
So Sir Roger opposed it with a wager of five

hundred guineas, that neither his keeper nor

any other person could drive twelve brace of

red deer from Lyme Park to Windsor Forest

on any account. So Squire Legh accepted
the wager from Sir Roger, and immediately
sent a messenger to Lyme for his keeper, who

directly came to his master, who told him he

must immediately prepare himself to drive

twelve brace of stags to Windsor Forest for a
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wager of five hundred guineas. So he gave
the Scjuire, his niaster, this answer, that he
would at his command drive him twelve brace

of stags to Windsor Forest, or to any other

part of the kingdom, by his worship's direc-

tion, or he would lose his life and fortune.

He undertook and accomplished this most

astonishing performance, which is not to be

equalled in the annals of the past ancient

history."
Thomas Legh, Esq., is the possessor also

of

HAYDOCK LODGE, near Newton, Lanca-
shire. This manor was held jointly by the

families of Holland and Haydock so long as

the former had any estates in the county. In

the eighteenth year of Edward IL, Gilbertde

Haydock had a license for emparking Hay-
dock, and for free warren on Bradelex. From
this feudal proprietor descended Sir Gilbert

de Haydock, whose daughter and heiress,

Joan, wedded Sir Peter Legh, of Lyme. The
latter died in 1422, and from that time the

estates of Haydock and Lyme have neverbeen

separated.

Haydock Lodge is a mansion of considerable

antiquity, but has lost much of its ancient

character by modern improvements. It has

long been disused as a private i'esidence,

having been converted into a barrack for

soldiers, who have ample room for exercise in

the beautiful park, by which the Lodge is

surrounded.

In connection with the Leghs, Golborne
Park must also be mentioned. In former

times it was the seat of a family, who derived

their name from the place. From them it

passed successively to the Banisters and the

Langtons, Barons of Newton. Joan, co-

heiress of Sir Thomas Langton, conveyed
Newton and its appendages to the family of

Fleetwood
;
and Sir Thonuis Fleetwood, Bart.,

in the seventeenth century, sold considerable

property here to the Leghs of Lyme and

Haydock.
And thus Golborne now belongs to Thomas

Legh, Ksq., the present Lord of Newton and
its dependent manors.
The Hall of Golborne stands in a pleasant

park, and is a spacious ediiice, rebiult some-
where about the year 1737.

MANOR HOUSE, Tendring, in the county of

Essex, about eleven miles distant from

Colcliester, the seat of John Cardinall, Esq.
This place takes its name from the manor

of New Hall, the principal manor in the

parish, the estate having remained for several

generations in tlie family of tl\e present owner,
who appear to have been great benefactors to

tlie neighbourhood. Thus we find that in

the ycar 1593, William Cardinall, endowed
the Queen EHzabetli's grammar-school at

Dedham, with a farm in Great Bromley for

the education of two poor scholars, who, after

having gone through the prescribed scholastic

course, were to be sent to the university of

Cambridge.
The manor-house was principally rebuilt

in 1824, by the late John Cardinall, Esq. It

is a substantial and massive edifice of white

brick, with a parapet running round the
western and southern fronts, standing upon
elevated ground in a well-wooded and pic-

turesque part of the parish. Towards the
south it commands good views, being other-

wise surrounded and enclosed by its own

]fcleasure-grounds and shmbberies, that extend
over from fifteen to twenty aci-es.

IRTON HAIL, in the county of Cumber-
land, the seat of Samuel Irton, Esq., a

Magistrate and. Deputy Lieutenant of the

county, and also Member of Parliament for
the western division.

The family of the Irtons have been seated
here for centuries, and even, as some suppose,
before the time of the Norman Conquest.
The first of the name mentioned on pub-
lished record, is Bertram d'Yrton, who
lived in the reign of the first Henry. The
mansion stands upon the ascent of a hill, near
the banks of the river Irt, that issues from
Wost Water, passes by Nether Wardale,
Santon, Irton, (between Drigg and Carlton),
and falls into the sea near Ravenglas, its

course being about eight miles. The building
consists of an ancient square tower, and
various additions that have been made from
time to time, till now the whole presents the

appearance of a large mansion in the Eliza-
bethan style of architecture. It is well
sheltered with wood, and commands an
extensive prospect over the west part of

Cumberland, and the Irish Sea to the Isle of

Man, and Galloway in Scotland. Where the
soil is not rocky, it is tolerably fertile.

Camden tells us that the shell-fish of the
Irt used to produce pearls after having become
impregnated with dev/, an aliment of which,
he says, they are particularly fond. The
natural philosophy of the antiquary is not,

perhaps, worth nuich in this case, but there is

no reason for doubting that pearls were once
found here, though never, perhaps, in very
great abundance, nor of a very high quality.
In 1695 a patent was granted to some gentle-
nien for pearl-fishing in this river, but the
result of their undertaking has not been left

on record. The parent fish was the muscle,
which tlie people of the neighbom-hood used to

seek for at low water, and afterwards dispose of
to the jewellers. Those days, however, have

gone by ;
the pearls of the Irt, like the fairies of

the nu^adows, are to be foimd no longer, a
fact which may be easily understood, when
we refiect that the products of nature are

exhaustible, while human cupidity has no
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liinits. Tlie fable of the Golden Goose has

not yet lost its signilicance, and probably
never will.

BEDDINGTON, sometimes called Bedding-
ton Fark, in the county of Surrey, about a

mile and a half from Croydon, the seat of

Captain Charles Hallowell Carew, R.N.
This manor belonged, in the olden times,

to the ancient family of the Carews, who

occupy so important a place in the pages of

Englisli chronicle. In the days of Henry
the Eighth, we find a Sir Nicholas Carew in

especial favour with the blufF monarch, and
a "

partaker with himin all jousts, tournaments,

masques, and other diversions of the same

kind, with which that reign abounded." In

1523, he was made Master of the Horse, and

subsequently created a Kniglit of the Garter,
but for all this, would seem to have been

engaged in the conspiracy to upset the Govern-

ment, and establish Cardinal Pole upon the

throne. The plot being discovered, he was exe-

cuted on Tower Hill, on the 3rd of March, 1539,
in the forty-third year of his age, and his

forfeited estates escheated to the crown.

Fuller, however, has given, ii\ his Worthies,

another, and not quite so lofty a version of

the cause which led to the sudden disfavour

of Sir Nicholas, with his despotic master.

He tells that " Tradition in this family re-

porteth how King Henry, then at bowls, gave
this Kniglit opprobrious language, betwixt

jest and earnest, to which the other returned
an answer more true than discretionary, as

more consulting therein his own animosity
than allegiance. Tlie King, who in this

kind would give and not take, being no

guod fellotv in tart repartees, was so

highly offended thereat, that Sir Nicholas
feil from tlie top of his favour, to tlie bot-

tom of his displeasure, and was bruised to

death thereby."
Tliis was the true cause of his execution,

though in our chronicles all is scored on his

complying in a plot with Henry, Marquess of

Exeter, and Henry, Lord Montague.
Wliatever might be tlie cause of the

Kniglit's disfavour, liis son obtained so

nmch grace with Queen Mary, that in 1554
he obtained the restitution of his ancestral

estate. Nor was lie less fortunate in winning
the regard of Queen Elizabetli, who twice

honoured him with a royal visit at his

newly-built and splendid mansion of Bedding-
ton—once in 1599, and again in the year
1600. An anecdote has been handed down
to us by Sir Hugli Plott, in liis

" Garden of

Eden," illustrative of the devices used to give

pleasure to the royal visitor:—" Here I will

conclude with a concert of tliat deUcate

Knight, Sir Francis Carew, who, for the

better accomplishment of his royal entertain-

ment of our late Queen, Elizabeth, of happy
memory, at liis house of Bedington, led Her

Majesty to a cherry-tree, whose fruit he had
of purpose kept back from ripening at the

least one montli after all clieiTies had taken

their farewell of England. Tliis secret he

performed by so raising a tent or cover of

canvas over the whole tree, and wetting the

same now and tlien with a scoop or liorn, as

the lieat of tlie weatlier required ;
and so by

witliliolding tlie sun-beams from reflecting

upon the berries, they grew both great, and
vvere very long before tliey had gotten their

perfect clierry colour
;

and when he was
assured of Her Majesty's coming, he removed
the tent, and a few sunny days brought them
to tlieir full maturity."

Simple as tliis expedient was, it seems to

have answered its intended purpose, and to

have well satisfied the royal visitant. At the

same time it sufficiently shows that the Knight,
in addition to his otlier good gifts, was a most

accomplished courtier.

The direct line of the Carews having at

length become extinct, Beddington, according
to the will of Sir Nicholas Hacket Carew,
Bart., devolved in tlie year 1780 to a distant

relation of tlie main branch, Richard Gee,

Esq., who assumed the name and arms of the

family of Carew. Dying unmarried in 1816,
he bequeatlied the wliole of his property to

his brother's widow, Mrs. Anne Paston Gee,
and tliis lady, having no issue, left this, as

well as anotlier estate in Kent, to lier first

cousin, Admiral Sir Benjamin Hallowell,

G.C.B., a native of Canada. In compliance
with lier will, he also assumed the name
and arms of Carew, by royal license, so

tliat the old designation remained, without

any blood-connexion with the ancient family
of tlie Carews. When the admiral succeeded

to this property, he was sixty-eight years old,

and it is said of him that, on being congratu-
lated by a friend upon his good fortune, he

sadly repHed,
" Half as much twenty years

ago Irad indeed been a blessing ;
but I am

now old and crank." He had gallantly fought
under Nelson at the battle of the Nile, and
died in 1836.

Beddington House stands in a large park

adjoining tlie church, and in a pleasant part
of the country. Aubrey, in his account of

Surrey, has left us a description of it in his

usual loose, gossiping style, which, as a

picture of what it once was, will hardly be
read without interest.

" The seat of this

family (the Carews) stands low, in a moorisli

soil, but mucli assisted by art
;

it is a hand-
some pile of building, having before it neat

gardens, not yet finished, with several canals

and an orchard; but what more particularly
deserves our notice is the fine orangerie, where
are several orange-trees

—
transplanted from

the warmer breezes of Italian air into our
more inclement climate—planted in tlie open
ground, where they have throve to admiration
for above a whole century ;

but are preserved
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during tlie winter season under a moveable
covert. They were brought from Italy by Sir

Francis Carew, Knt., (whobuilt the old man-
sion house) and it was the fii'st attempt of the

kind that we hear of." Lysons, however,
tells us that a very different account of these

oranges has been given by other writers in

the Biographia Britanmca, under the head
of Raleigh. The editors, he says, relate

from a tradition preserved in the family, that

"they were raised by Sir Francis Carew from

the see(h of the first oranges, which were

imported into England by Sir Walter Raleigh,
who had man-ied liis niece, the daughter of

Sir NichoLis Throgmorton." It has been
stated that " most of the trees were thirteen

feet high in 1G90, and that, at least, 10,000

oranges were gathered from them in that year.

They continued to flourish for about a century
and a half, but were destroyed by the hard
frost in the winter of 1739—40."

Nothing remains of the original mansion,
built by Sir Francis Carew, except the Great

hall, which fonns the central part of the

modern edifice, and is a noble specimen of

the domestic style of architecture prevailing
in the reign of Queen EHzabeth, and which
even now seems to have such general attrac-

tions for the owners of country seats. The
roof is of oak, the principal ribs springing
from large carved gilded brackets, and form-

ing an equilateral pointed arch, underset with

small ribs that give it the trefoil character.

A stout beam extends over each arch, and
forms a brace with the rafters. The walls are

panelled with oak, and the floor presents a

polished surface of black and white marble.

The space above the windows is embellished

with military and naval trophies, painted so

as to resemble bronze. On the south side,

over the door, is an emblazoned shield of the

Carew arms, with supporters and crest, hand-

somely carved, as also an escutcheon of

pretence. Above the opposite fire-place is

a carved trophy in aUo relievo, presenting
ahnost every implement of warfare, whether
ancient or modern, that was known in the

days of Queen Elizabeth. But the ancient

fire-place has been filled in with coving,

&c., and andirons being substituted instead,
three feet six inches high, with brass ends, and
each decorated with a demi-savage, support-

ing an eagle. Upon the great entrance door

is a remarkable lock of wrought iron, covered
with elaborate gothic tracery, richly gilt, the

key-hole of which is hidden by a shield of the

royal anns, moving in a groove, and which
sHdes down upon pressing a knob, in the

shape of a monk's head. This noble room
extends sixty one feet six inches from tlie

door to the fire-phvce, while its breadth,
reckoned between the skirtings, is thirty
two feet. The walls are of prodigious
thickncss, measurhig no less than eight feet

six inches from the inner face to the windows,
the principal of which are eighteen feet high,
and in width, six feet six inches. The height
from the floor to the brackets, from which the

arched ribs spring, is thirty-five feet two

inches, and from the floor to the centre of the

roof is forty-six feet.

The modern mansion was erected some-

where about 1709 by Sir NicholasCarew, who
was created a baronet by Queen Anne. It is

of brick, with stone dressings, and presents a

centre and two wings, so ananged as to form

three sides of a square, the fourth being closed

in by iron railings, that separate tlie quad-

rangle, if it may be so called, from the adjoining

grounds. Of the two wings, that on the north

is uninhabitable, the whole interior having
been consmned by fire soon after its comple-
tion, since which time no part of it has been

restored. The entrance to the great hall,

ah-eady described, is from the fore-court,

beneath a handsome stone door-way, sm-
mounted by an ornamented turret in the

Italian style of architecture.

Much of the south wing was repaired and

modernised in 1817. A long gallery extends

through its whole length, besides which it

comprises the dining and drawing-room, as

well as some other spacioiis apartments. In

the gallery are many fine portraits of the

Carews, and of others more or less remotely
connected with the family, while in the dining-
room are portraits of many naval oflScers, the

associates of the gallant admiral.

The park, which is about three or four

miles round, abounds in fine timber and herds

of deer. The Queen's Oak, and her favourite

walk, are still pointed out, but the summer-
house in the grounds, on the top of which was

painted the Spanish invasion, has long since

disappearcd. Still, however, the grounds
exhibit many characteristics of the ancient

style of gardening, the most remarkable of

which is a waterfall towards the east, fed by
the river Wandle, as it intersects the park on

its passage to the Thames. The same river

also supplies a lai-ge canal upon the west, on

either side whereof grows a line of venerable

ehns. Parallel to these is an avenue of mag-
nificent chestnut trees, and nearer to the

house on the north-west, are some walnut

trees of unusual growth.

HOLME LACY, Herefordshire, the seat of

Sir Edwyn Francis Scudamore Stanhope,

Bart.,

This was more than three hundred years
the residence of the ancient Family ofScuda-

more. Tlie name Hohne is sometimes written

Hamme, which in Saxon signifies a house,

farm, or village. Sometimes Homme, Home
or Hom, i. e., a place surrounded with water

;

whilst Ham, Home, Hom, are pLiinly con-

tractions of the Saxon Hamme or Hohne.
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It derived the additional name of Lacy, fiom

AValter de Lacy, a valiant Norman, wlio

acquired so greatpossessionsin the county of

Hereford soon after the Norman Conquest,
that his son Roger, in the reign of William

Rufus, had sixty-live Lordships in the said

county, among which was principally this of

Homme. The family of Scudamore, variously
written in ancient records, de Eskidimore,

Esquidmor, Escuedmor, Schidmore, Skydmore
&c., is of great antiquity. It was one of

those who followed William Duke of Nor-

mandy into England, as is evident from the

most authentic copies of the Roll Orodicus
of Battel Abbey, particularly that taken from

Vitalis, where the said roll being alphabeti-

cally arranged, the foUowing names, amongst
others, occur under the letter S :

—
Seint Quintine
Seint Omer
Seint Leger
Seint George
Semt Clo

Seint Albine
Seint Barbe
Seint More
Sandevile
Seint Scudamore

the last a surname derived from their bearing
smtum rnnoris divini, the shield of divine love,
the cross patee fitchee, which was anciently
their arms, and was, in all pi-obability, given
upon some gallant action done by them in

defence of the Christian faith. Their first

situation in England was atUpton and Norton
in Wiltshire, thence called Upton Scudamore
and Norton Scudamore. Walter de Scuda-
niore was Lord of the Manor of Upton Scuda-
more in the reign of King Stephen, and

Godfrey de Scudamore had tliat whole village

granted him by Robert of Ewyas for his

homage and service, and the finding of one
white war-horse every year for the service of
a sentinei at the Castle of Ewyas mider liis

custody or guard, as appears from a deed in

Latin still extant. (Patrick the first witness
to this deed was created Earl of Salisbury by
the Empress Maude, and died in 1167, 13
Hen. II., which proves the great antiquity
of this deed). This family of Scudamore
lived in great reputation and esteem in Wilts
for several generations, as appears from
evidences taken out of the Red Book of the

Exchequer, the Pipe and fine Rolls, Rylys
Placita Parliamentaria, the Books of Visita-

tion, &c. About the 28th Edward III.,

Thomas, the younger son of Sir Peter Scuda-

more, of Upton Scudamore, Wilts, married

Clarice, eldest daughter and heiress of Clara
de Ewyas (by Joan Whelen) Lady of Ewyas
Harold, co. flereford, in tlie marches of Wales,

upon which he took the arms of three stirrups,
buckles and straps, or, which this family have
borne ever since

;
and assumed the name of

Ewyas from the inheritance of the said Clara,
their son and heir, Philip, being thence called

Philip de Ewyas. He had issue Sir John
Scudamore ofEwyas and Holme Lacy, Knight,
who was Escheator of Herefordshire, Glo'ster-

shire and Marches of Wales, and Constable
of Godericlr Castle during the minority of

Lord Talbot
;
he married Alice the daugliter

and one of the co-heirs of Owen Glendour,
the famous antagonist of Henry IV.; and left

issue, Philip, who married Agnes, daugliter
and co-heir of John Lord Huntercomb.

Pliilip Scudamore great-grandson of Sir Peter

Scudamore first planted himself at Hohne
Lacy, which has ever since been the principal
seat of this ancient family, as is shown from
several deeds and releases signed by him in

the reign of Henry IV. Long after their

settling at Holme Lacy, the members of this

family were in great esteem in the country,
court, and camp. John Scudamore, ofHolme
Lacy, was High Sheriff' of the county in the

16, 21, and 35, Henry VIII.; he married

Sybell, daugliter of Watkin Vaughan, of

Hengist, he lived to a great age, and was

(with his wife) buried in the cliurch at Holme
Lacy, where is a fine old monument with
two recumbent figures in alabaster, and the

follovving inscription :
—" Here lythe John

Scudamore Esquir. sometyme one oftlie foure

gentyllmen usliers unto our late Sov'raigne
Lord King Henry the Eighte, afterwards

admytted one of the Esquirs for His Highness
body ;

and Sybell his wyef, which John
decessed in the yere of our Lord God a thou-
sand five hundred (further date obliterated),

praynge them that passeth hereby of their

charitie to say a paternaster and an ave."
His eldest son, William, married Ursula,

daughter and co-heir of Sir John Pakington
of Westwood, county Worcester, and dying
before his father, his son, John, succeeded
his grandfather at Hohne Lacy. He was
Gentleman Usher to Queen Elizabeth, and
Standard-bearer to the Honourable Band of
Gentleman Pensioners, and one of Her
Majesty's Council for ihe Marches of Wales.
He received the honour of Knighthood, and
was elected one of the Knights of the Shire
for five successive Parliaments, and was High
Sheriff' for said county 1581. He was a

great benefactor to the Bodleian Library.
His son, Sir James Scudamore, was another
of Sir Thomas Bodley's most esteemed
friends. He was knighted, for his signal
valor, at the Siege of Cadiz, and in the first

year of King James I. served in Parhament
for county flereford. He was one of the
most renowned men in England for chivalry,
and no time will obliterate the brave and
genei-ous character that is given of him under
the title of Sir Scudamore in Spenser's poem
of the "

Faery Queen." He married Anne,
daughter of Sir Thomas Throckmorton, by
whomhe had issue John (of whom presently),
and Barnabas, who was in the army of King
Charles I., and governor of Hereford, which
city he most gallantly defended against the
Scottish forces under the Earl of Leven. He
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was twice summoned to suvrender, to which

he returned the following spirited answers :

"My Lord,
"

I am not to give up the King's garrison

upon any simimons or letter; neither shall it

be in the power of the Mayor or other to con-

descend to any such jjvoposition made unto

him. I was set in here by the King's com-

mand, and shall not quit it but by special
order from His Majesty or the prince : and
with this resohition I shall persist in Hereford.

This last day of July 1645.

Barnabas Scudamore."
In consequence of this refusal to surrender,

hostilities were carried on during a fortnight,
but no impression was made on the city.

At the expiration of that time a second sum-
mons was sent by the Earl of Leven to whicli

the governor replied as follows :

"My Lord,
" For your favourable profter to the inliabi-

tants of this city, I shall returne theirtliankes,

and resolution that they intend to suffer with

me, and I shall not sufier alone for the sufiu-

sion of bloud. I am sorry to think of it

that two united nations should so much differ,

having paid once well for Scotland's fViend-

ship. My Lord, I am resolved to endure all

mines and stormes whicli shall be made

against this place, and doubt not by God's

assistance to render His Majestie a good
account of it

;
the wliich by my endeavours,

1 slrall maintain to the last, and remaine,
Your Lordsliip's servant,

Barnabas Scudamore.
" To the Right Honourable the Earl of Leuen,
General ofthe Scottish forces."

In consequence of this second refusal, a

general assault was determined on by the

besiegers ;
but the King advancing with a

superior force from Worcester on the Ist of

September, with the intention of relieving the

city, the Scottish army suddenly broke up
and quitted the country. During the time

the King was with the royal armyin Hereford-

shire, he made Holme Lacy his rendezvous,
as appears from the foUowing extract from

the " Iter Carolinum;" Wednesday, 10

Aug., 1645, to Holme Lacy (Lord Scuda-

more, supped and slept.) John Scudamore
eldest son of Sir James, and brother of Bar-

nabas, succeeded his grandfather, at a very

early age married Elizabeth, only daughter
and heir of Sir Arthur Porter, Knt. He was
created a Baronet 1620, 18 James I., in

which year he served iu Parliament for county
Hereford, as also in 21 James I.

;
and was

created Baron of Dromore and Viscount

Scudamore of Sligo by letters patcnt, July
2

; 1628, 4 Cax 3. In 1634, he was sent

Ambassador to the Court of France, in which

employment he acquitted himself witli singu-
Jar prudence and honour. In the beginning of

the civil wars he was surprised in liereford

by Sir John Waller, and sent prisoner to

London. Some of his houses were besieged,

plundered and burnt by the rebels, and his

whole estates sequestered for several years,
after which he compoimded for his liberty
and property as other loyalists had done.

During the dismal confused usurpation he
sent money privately to the exiled King, and
relieved all his fellow-sufferers to the utmost
of his power ; particularly he gave yearly
pensions to several deprived orthodox minis-

ters, and entertained so many others in his

house, that he was justly styled a nursmg
father of tJie Chiirch. He rebuilt the stately
church of Dore in Herefordshire, and erected
a very good parsonage house there, as he
likewise did at Hempstead near Gloucester,
and at Holme Lacy, Herefordshire, liberally

endowing those three livings and three others

with all his own and more (dearly purchased)
impropriate tithes, all which he secured to the

church by Act of Parliament 17, Car. II.

When Ambassador at the Court of France,
the Poet Milton was, at his own particular

request, introduced by Lord Scudamore to

the celebrated Hugo Grotius
; probably from

a particular motiverelating to Milton himself.

Grotius had written a tragedy upon Adam's
Fall, a subject which Milton had thought
upon with the same design. Grotius' poem
in Latin was printed in 1601, with the title of

Adam's Exul. (Biogr. Brit., vol. V). At
the age of seventeen Lord Scudamore ob-
tained leave to travel in foreign parts, and
soon after his return from travelling he

applied himself very strictly to his studies,

by which he weakened his constitution to

that degree that Bishop Laud gave him this

advice Bouk it not too miich. The remarka-

bly studious, pious, and hospitable life he led
made him respected and esteemed by all

good men, especially by Bishop Laud, who
generally visited him in going to and from
his Diocese of St. David's, and " found his

entertainment as kind and fuU of respect as

ever he did from any friend." The Bishop's
letters abound with such grateful acknow-

ledgements as this, and how much the Bishop
was obliged to Lord Scudamore for his trans-

lation to the Bishopric of Bath and Wells

may be seen in the following extract from
one of his letters—" Whereas you write that

you are glad to see the same hand and a
new name

;
I may thank you for it. In that

or any other state I shall ever rest,

Your loving friend,
Guil: Bathon and Wellen."

The Bishop and Lord Scudamore were tme
fricnds, and heartily disposed to serve each
other in all the vicissitudcs of their lives.

After the death of the Duke of Buckingham,
who Lord Scudamorehad attonded as a volun-

tccr iu his second expedition for the rolief
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of tlie Frencli Hiigiienots at Rochelle, he

retired to his country course of life, diverting

lumself with phinting and grafting apple-trees,

and it was his Lordship who first brought the

Red-streak cider into request, and raised it to

such perfection, that Phillips in his poem
" In

Pomona," speaking of Musk, a fine and

delicate sort of fruit, says
—

" Yet let her to the Red-streak yield, that once

Was of the sylvan kind, uncivilized,

Of no i-ep^ard, 'till Scudamoi-e's sk.lful hand

IniprovM her, and by courtly discipline

'J'aught her tlie savaire natuie to forget ;

Ileuce called the Scudaraoreaii plant, whose wine
Whoever tastes, let him with grateful heart

Respect that ancient loyal house, &c."

Cider made of this sort of fruit was

frequently given as a present to foreign Princes,

by whom it was highly vahied. Lord Scuda-

more was High Steward of the city of Hereford,
and at his death left a legacy of £400 to be

a perpetual stock to set to work tlie poor

people of the city. No good thing can be said

ofany man which may not justly be said ofhim,
who lived and died a rare example of piety
towards God, loyalty to his king, love to his

country, hospitality to his friends, economy in

his family, charity to the poor, and great
munificence to the church, upon which it is

known he bestowed above £10,000. He died

universally lamented, in the seventy-first year
of his age, 8th of June, 1671, and was buried

in the south aisle of the chancel in the Parish

Church of Hohne Lacy. Of six sons of this

truly great and noble lord, only James lived to

man'sestate,andhedyinginhisfather'slifetime,
liis son John succeeded to the title and estates

of his grandfather : he married Frances, daugh-
ter of John, Earl of Exeter, by whom he had
issue three sons and three daughters. He died

the 22nd July, 1697, and was succeeded by
his second son James, thirdandlast Viscount,
who married Frances, only daughter of Simon,
Lord Digby, bnt died 1716 without issue

male, when the titles of Baronet, Baron,
and Viscount, became extinct. His daughter
Frances married first, Henry Somerset, Duke
of Beaufort, fro-.n whom she was divorced, and

secondly, Charles Fitzroy, Esq., who assumed
the name and arms of Scudamore : by him she

had an only daughter andheiress, Frances, mar-
ried in 1769 to the Hon. Charles Howard, after-

wards Earl of SiuTey and Duke of Norfolk, who
diedlSth December, 1815. The Duchess did

not very long survive him
;
she died on the 22nd

of October, 1 820, when, there being no issue

by that marriage, the estates of Holme Lacy
devolved upon Sir Edwyn Francis Stanhope,
Bart., the present owner, as lineal descendant

of Mary, wife of Sir Giles Brydges of Wilton

Castle, co. Hereford, daiighter of Sir James

Scudamore, Knt., and sister of John, first Vis-

count Scudamore. SirEdwynStanhope assumed
the additional name and arms of Scudamore by

sign manual, on coming into possession of the

estates of Hohne Lacy. Sir Edwyn is

descendedfrom the ancient family of Brydges

(De Brugge orBruges, Barons Chandos, Earls

of Caernarvon, and Dukes of Chandos). His

father, Admiral Sir Henry Edwyn Stanhope

(who was created a Baronet for naval services),

was great-grandson of {ex parte maternd)
James Brydges, ninth Lord and first Duke of

Chandos, who acquired, by his magnificence,
the appellation of " the princely Chandos."

He built Cannons, the following brief descrip-
tion of wliich may not be uninteresting :

—
" This most splendid palace stood on the road

leading to Edgeware, abont ten miles from

London. The fronts wei"e all of freestone, and

the pillars of marble, as were also the steps
of the great staircase. The gikling was

executed by the famous Pargotti, and the hall

painted by Paohicci. The apartments were

most exquisitely finished and most richly fur-

nished. The house contained 84 spacious

apartments, and 117 inferior rooms, ofiices,

&c. The stables, gardens, avenues, &c., were

proportionably grand. At night, there was
a constant watch kept, who walked the

rounds and proclaimed the hours. The Diike

maintained two chaplains and a full choir, and
had divine service performed, with the finest

music, in a chapel that could hardly be ex-

ceeded in the beauty of its workmanship. The
Duke's estabhshment at Cannons consisted of

174 persons. Some idea may be formed of

the costliness of this magnificent house from

the circumstance that the shell alone of the

house cost £36,162. The entire cost of the

building was £112,000, and including furni-

ture, pictures, &:c., &c., the whole vakie was

upwards of £180,000, a large sum in those

days."
The original mansion of Hokne Lacy is

supposed to have been buik by John Scuda

more, Esq., within the last 10 years of Henry
VIIL, as appears by the badges of Edward

VI., when Prince ofWales, with the initialsE.

P., in painted glass, found in the old house. In

the early part of the reign of Wikiam III.,

the house was in great part rebuik by John,
second Viscount Scudamore, but remained
unfinished. The present owner, at a very
considerable cost, has completed the house,
and made great alterations and improvements.
The house presents an uniform structure,

nearly in the shape of the letter H, having
three fronts of stone with projecting wings.
The N. and E. fronts are nearly 200 feet in

length, and the South front 150. The house
is approached by a noble terrace 700 feet

long, and 47 wide. The entrance-hall opens
upon a gallery 90 feet in length, and is lighted

by five windows of stained glass, in which are

the arms of Brydges, Scudamore, and Stan-

hope. At the further end of the gallery,

folding-doors open on the principal staircase

G
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lighted by a lavge window ot' painted glass, in

wliich are the anns of Henvy VIII. and Ed-

ward, Prince of Wales. On the left side of

the gallevy, doovs open into the pvincipal

apavtments, which ave lofty and well pvopov-
tioned, having vichly stuccoed ceilings in

compavtments of flowevs and vavious other

designs, especially the saloon, a voom of spa-
cious dimensions, 31 feet in height, the ceil-

ing of which is of most heautifid design,

having pendant festoons of fvuit and flowevs
;

also some iine cavving by Gvinling Gibbons,
over the chimney-piece. In this roop and
the dining-voom adjoining, ave some fine

family povtvaits by Vandyke, Siv Petev Lely,
and othevs. The wliole of the vooms on the

gvound-floor ave of good pvopovtion, and com-
municate with one anothev by folding doovs,
to the length of 130 feet, and othev rooms on

the vight and left. In these vooms ave some

exquisite specimens of cavving by the cele-

bvated Gvinling Gibbons, in bivds, shell-fish,

fvuit, flowevs, &c. "Theve is no instance,"

says Walpole,
" of a man befove Gibbons, who

gave to wood tlie aivy lightness of flowevs,
and chained together the various productions
of the elements with a free disorder natural to

each species."

Thegardens andpleasuve-gvoimds of Hohue

Lacy ave extensive and unique, pavticularly
those on the south side, which are laid out

in King W^illiam's style of fovtification, with

magnificent yew hedges of extvaovdinavy

height and thickness. The flowev-gavden,
which is modevn, is extvemely beautiful. On
the south side is also a tevvace 800 feet

in length by 30 feet wide, communicating
with othev tevvaces and walks of lessev extent.

Po])e, Gay, and othev litevati of that day,
weve nuich at Holme Lacy duving the time of

the last Lady Scudamore, and often spent
their summers with that lady. It was at

Holme Lacy Pope became acquainted with

John Kyrle, whom he lias celebrated under the

title of "The Man of Ross,"-—a poem he
wrote at Holme Lacy. In the garden of the

vicarage-house at Holme Lacy, is a remarkable

pear-tree, wliich formevly covered nearly an
acre of gvound; much ofit lias, howevev, been
cut down fvom time to time owing to its too

closely suvvounding the house. P'vom 14 to

IG hogsheiids of pevry, of 100 gallons eacli,

have been made fvom this tree in one year.
In its growtli, it in some sort resembles
the growth of the banyan tree. The scenery
around Holme Lacy is highly picturesque,
and replete with endless variety. Tlie view
from the East end of the South Tervace is

suvpassingly beautiful. The okl towev of

Hohne Lacy Chin-ch, with the spivc of Fovvn-

liope on the vight, the hills of Fownhoj)e,
vichly wooded from the summit to the base

;

Caplar Hill, on the top of which are the ve-

mains of a lloman camp, with the Wye

running at its base, form altogctliev a land-

scape rarely equalled. The scene is again

charmingly varied as you ascend the Park,

(well stocked with deer), which takes in other

agveeable objects, and move of the Wye's me-

andeving vivev. Still fuvther on, the distant

view expands nobly, whilst tlie huge and

magnificent oaks, those venerable giants of

the forests, spread their umbvageous avms

evevywheve avound. Fvom the summit of

this beautiful Pavk you command the Black

Mountains, in Bvecknockshive; the Clee Hills,

in Shvopshive ;
the celebvated Malvevn Hills,

in Wovcestevshive, and the well-known hills

called " Robin Hood's Butts."

Although theve ave, doubtlcss, many Seats

move impovtant fvom histovical vecollections

and associations, few suvpass Holme Lacy in

beauty of situation and surrounding scenery.

BIECHEK HALL, in the county of Hereford,
near Leominster, tlie seat of Thomas Dunne,

Esq.
At one period this estate was possessed by

Adam Ward, Esq, and was conveyed, subse-

quently, by tlie marriage of Mr. Ward's
niece and heiress to Thomas Smith, Esq.,
whose daughter and heiress married Thomas,
Dunne, Esq., the present owner.

Bivcher Hall is in the modern style ofar-

chitecture, but the date of its erection is not

knoAvn. It stands in a lawn of nearly thirty

acves, and commands an extensive view of a

fevtile and intevesting countvy.

LLANTILIO, Monmouthshive, the seat of

Colonel Cliftbvd, M.P. This propevty was
fov many centuvies held by the Powells,
an ancient Monmouthshive family; and fov

thvee genevations by the family of Lewis,
who obtained it by mavviage. The pve-
sent ownev is a great-gvandson, in the fe-

male line, of the last of the Powells.

The more modevn pavt of the pvesentman-
sion was built in the yeav 1751

;
the oldev

povtion is of unknown antiquity. The whole

fovms a plain squave building thvee stovies

high, with a povtico and detached offices.

The pvospect from it extends ovev the mag-
nificent Welsh mountains—the Skyvnyd, ov

Holy Mountain, the Blovenge, ov Blawvenge,
that is the Civey Mountain, and the extensive

vemains of White Castle, a vude and gigantic

vuin, pavtly antevior to the time of the Nor-

mans, moated, and standing on a ridge about

six miles from Abergavenny.
Colonel Cliftbrd possesses also

PEREISTONE, in the county of Heveford. It

is a low rambling structure, of old date, that,

at various times, has been considerably added

to and altered. According to the fashion

of early days, it has terraces, fishponds, and

avenues ; but, although deeply embosomed in

trces and shrubs, the upper windows of the
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liouse coinmand some extensive and interest-

ing prospects, while tlie imdulating iinely tim-

bered grounds towards the Wye are of extra-

ordinary and picturcsque beanty.

DUKINFIELD, co. Chester, the seat of

Francis Dukintield Pahiier Astley, Esq., is

about six miles N.E. of Stockport.
The ancient faniily of Dukinfiekl, anciently

Dokenfield, were seated here soon after tlie

Conquest, and doubtless derived their nanie

froni their abode. The manor, however,

originally belonged to the Barons of Dunliam,
till it was given by Hamon Massey, Baron of

Dunham Massey, to Matthew de Bromhall.
In 1327 it was purchased, from WilHam de

Stockport, by Kobert de Dokenfield, repre-
sentative of the k)cal family.

In 1665 Sir Robert Dukenfiekl, of Duken-

field, was created a Baronet, and the estate

descended regularly to Sir William Duken-
field—Daniel, third Bart., who assumed the

latter surname on becoming possessed of the

estates ofthe Daniels of Tabley. Sir WiUiam
married Penelope, daugliter of John Vernon,

Esq., of Hilton, co. Staiibrd, by whom he had
an only daughter, Henrietta. As, he died

without male issue, in 1758, the Baronetcy
passed to his cousin, Sir Samuel Dukinfiekl,
and is now inherited by the Rev. Sir Henry
Robert Dukinfield

;
but the Dukinfiekl estates

were left in the power of his widow, Penelope,
who married John Astley, Esq., an eminent

painter (of a Shropsliirefamily). Mr. Astley
thus becoming seated at Dukinfiekl, did

much to increase the vakxe of the estate, by
estabUshing coUieries and manufactories. He
was Sheriff of Cheshire in 1776, and was
succeeded by his son, Francis Dukinfield

Astley, Esq., who also served the same oflfice,

and wliose son is the present proprietor.
Dukinfield HaU, the ancient mansion, is

divided into two tenements : the ehapel,
which was originaUy built in 1398, forms one
of the Avings : in the chancel is stiU to be
seen a memorial for Sir Robert Dukinfield,

Bart., who died in 1729, Dukinfield Lodge,
the present seat, was erected, towards the

close of the last century, by John Astley,

Esq. It is a handsome and commodious
mansion, pleasantly situated on a wooded bank
of the River Tame, and contains some fine

pictures, several of which were the production
of the builder, John Astley, Esq.
Near to Dukinfield Lodge is an ancient

dissenter's meeting-house, with a burying-

ground, which also contains some monuments
to the Dukinfield family.

FAIRFORD PARK, Gloucestershire, about a

quarter of a mile above the town of Fairford,
remarkable for the painted glass windows
in the parish church. The park is the seat

of John Raymond Ilaymond Barker, Esq., a

magistrate and deputy-lieiitenant for the

county.
The name of the town, from which the

seat takes its appeUation, has been a matter

ofmuch dispute. Rudder derives it, and he
is probably right,

" from the Saxon verb

faran, to go, fo pass. The name was sug-

gested by, and is descriptive of, the situation

of the jjhice, and signifies, the passage at the

ford." This explanation is borne out by the

original name of the town having been Fare-

forde, which at once demoUshes the opinion
of those, wlio taking their etymology from the

modern speUing have derived it from the

Fair Ford, which was there before the build-

ing of the bridge across the ford.

King WiUiam the first, seized this manor
into his own liands. It is uncertain who liad

the first graiU of it from the crown, but in

the fifth year of King John, PhiHp of Wor-
cester was seized of it, as was George de

Sunerilinthe year foUowing ;
Gilbert de Clare,

Earl of Gloucester, possessed it in the time

of Edward the Second, and he dying without

issue, it devolved to Eleanor, his eldest sister

and coheiress, who married Hughle Dispencer,
the younger. By a marriage into this

famUy it came to the Beauchamps, and with

them it continued tiU King Henry the

seventh prevailed upon Anne, the great
heiress thereof, and widow of Richard Nevil,
the renowned Earl of Warwick, to convey it

to him and his heirs male, in tlie third year
of his reign.
The manor was bought of the King by

John Tame, a London merchant, of whi^h
famUy Leland speaks in tlie highest terms,

saying,
" Fairford never florished afore the

cmnming of the Tames into it." With the mer-

chant's descendants it remained tiU Edmund
Tame, in the reign of Henry the Eighth, dying
without issue, the estate was held by his

widow in jointure. He left three sisters,

coheiresses, whose successors sold it to Sir

Harry Horton and John Cooke, and from

them it was bought by the Tracys. From the

Tracys again it was purchased by Andrew

Barker, Esq. His son left two daughters,
one of wlioni died unmarried, while the sur-

vivor married James Lanibe, of Hackney in

Middlesex, who died without issue. His
widow during her lifetime possessed the

estate, which upon her death devolved to her

nephew, John Raymond, Esq., from whom
it has passed through one generation, to

his lineal descendant John Raymond Ray-
mond Barker, Esq.
The house at Fairford Park was erected in

1650 by Andrew Barker, Esq. It is a sub-

stantial and comfortable, though not very
handsome, building, in the domestic style of

architecture, but the internal part has been

considerably improved by the present owner,

The park, about five miles in circumference, is
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exceedingly beautiful
;
the clear, silvery waters

of the River Cohie, running through it, and

lending no shght additional charm to the

landscape. At tlie highest point of tlie

sloping and extensive pleasure-grounds is a

handsome obelisk. Many battles have been

fought in the neighbourhood, and the tokens

of them are still extant in the tumuli, little

more than half a mile from the house, which,

being opened long since, were found to con-

tain the skuUs and bones of the fallen. There
are also some curious large Saxon remains to

be seen here.

STANDISH HALL, Lancashire, the seat of

Charles Standish, Esq., Sheriff of the county
in 1836, is situated in the parish of the same

name, about three milcs from Wigan.
From time immemorial this estate has been

the inheritance of the very eminent family of

Standish, who were seated here in unbroken
male descent till the middle of the eighteenth

century, when Ralph Standish, Esq., died at

an advanccd age, leavhig, by his wife

Phihppa, daughter of Henry, Duke of Norfolk,
a daughter and heiress, Cecilia, who married
William Towneley, Esq., of Towneley. The
devotion of Mr. Standish to the House of Stuart,
induced him to take part in the rebellion of

171.5, and led to the forfeiture of the Standish

estates, but they were afterwards restored,
and eventually passed in the female line to

Thomas Strickland, Esq., of Sizergh in West-

morehmd, who assumed in consequence the

additional surname of Standish, and died in

1813, having bequeathed the Sizergh estate

to his younger son, Thomas Strickland, Esq.,
and the Standish property to his eldest son,
the present Charles Standish, Esq. Standish
Hall is a large irregular brick house, having
attached thereto an ancient Roman Cathohc

chapeL The moat which formerly encircled

the house was filled up in 1780, and mucli of

the original building was then removed. The
" Lancashire plot

"
of 1G94, which had for its

object the dethronement of William III., and
the re-establishment of the Stuarts, is supposed
to have been concccted in this house, and a

reward was offered by royal proclamation for

the apprehension of Mr. Standish, one of the

alleged conspirators, but witliout success.

BORWICK HALL, co. Lancaster, also tlie

seat of Charles Standish, Esq., stands in the

parish of Warton, at the northern extremity
of the county. Anciently a family of De
Borwick was seated liere, and afterwards tlie

estate belonged to the Whittingtons. It

eventually passed to the eminent" family of

Bindlosse, of whom was Sir Robert Bindlosse,
createda Baronet in 1641. Sir Robert dying
without malc issuo, in 1G8S, the title expired
and the estate passed to his only daughter
and heiress, Cecilia, who married William
Standish, Esq., of Standish, and thusBorwick

has descended with the Standish estates to

the present proprietor, who makes the Hall
his principal residence.

Borwick Hall is a spacious and venerable

mansion, partly Eb'zabethan, and partly
castellated. Over the fire-place in tlie hall are
the arms of Bindlosse impahng West, and
beneath the names "Byndlos: West." Sir

Francis Bindlosse having married Cecilia,

daugliter of TiiomasW^est, Lord De la Warr.
One of tlie bed-rooms was the ancient chapel,
and adjoining is tlie priesfs closet, beneath
whicli still remains a secret place, into which
tlie persecuted ecclesiastics, on pressing part
of the fioor, suddenly descending, ekuled for

the time all furtlier search.

When Cliarles II., says Dr. Whitaker, was
at Borwick Hall, in August, 16.50, he was
little aware in how few days he was to be
indebted for his crown and life to a simihir

contrivance. The mansion stands in a most

picturesque situation, and altogether forms
one of the most interesting seats in this part
of the country,

BADMINTON HOUSE, Gloucestershire, six

miles fr(j)m Tetbury, and about twenty-eight
miles from the city of Gloucester, tlie scat of
tlie Duke of Beaufort.

Edrick held Badminton in thereign of King
Edward the Confessor

; Ernuph de Esding
held it in the time of the Norman ('onqueror ;

but it was for ages the seat of the ancient

family of Boteler, so called from one of the

family having held the honorary office of
Boteler or Bntler, to Robert, Earl of Mellent
and Leicester. After having continued in the
Botelers for more than four hundred years,
Nicholas, of that name, disposed of the estate

in 1608, to the Hon. Sir Thomas Somerset,
K.B., third son of Edward, fourth Earl of

Worcester, who, in 1626, was created Viscount

Somerset, of Cashel, in the county of Tippe-
rary, Ireland. He left an only daughter and
heiress, Elizabeth, who, dyingunmarried, gave
Badminton to Henry, Lord Herbert, after-

wards created Duke of Beaufort, and his

family, shice the destruction of Ragland Castle
in the great civil war, have made this their

principal place of residence. " This noble

Duke,
"

says Rudder, speaking of the Beau-
forts,

" derives his genealogy from Geoffry
Phmtagenet, Earl of Anjou, son of Foulk,
king of Jerusalem, by Maud, the empress, his

wife, daugliter of Henry tlie First, king of

England ; being Hneally descended from John
of Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster, who caused all

his natural children, by Catherine, the widow
of Sir Jolin Swinford, Knight, who became
afterwards liis third wife, to be called Beau-

fort, from the castle of that name in the

county of Anjou, the place of their nativity,
and part of the inheritance of the house of
Lancaster.

"
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Tliis noble mansion— one of tlie finest,

perhaps, in England—was erected by the

first Dnke of Beaufort soon after liis accession

to that title in the year 1682. The principal

front, which is in the Palladian style of archi-

tecture, is of considerable extent. It consists

of a rustic basenient story, in which is the

entrance, of the Tuscan order
;
two cohnnns

rusticated on the shafts support a correspond-
ing entablature and pedinient. The centre

part of the building is adorned by a colonnade
of the composite order, snrmounted by an

attic, at the top of which on a pediment is a

circuhu" cartouche shield, sculptured with the

arms of Sonierset, ducally crowned. The

wings give a noble effect to the architectural

elevation, which is terminated by Tuscan

archways to the offices and stables. Over
each extremity of the centre are a cupola and
vane. The grand approach is through the

park from Worcester Lodge, which stands at

the distance of nearly three miles fronr the

house, and is itself a fiiie, lofty, free-stone

building, with iron gates. Internally, this

mansion is distinguished by the splendour of

its decorations, tlie various rooms being
spacious and elegantly ornaniented. In the

great dining-room is a profusion of admirable

carving in wood by Grinlin Gibbons
;
and in

the picture-gallery is a fine series of family
portraits. But the most valuable, as well
as interesting picture to be seen here, is a
satirical work by the great Salvator Rosa,
for which he was expelled from Rome. In

this, he represents the European sovereigns
under the shapes of diflPerent animals, such as

an eagle, a wolf, a sheep, a hog, a fox, a cow,
and an ass

;
over the latter is thrown the

pontifical pall ;
and the blind goddess, For-

tune, is represented showering her gifts upon
the whole gronp. Here also will be found
the liead of Guido, by himself

;
of Cardinal

Alberoni, by Trevisani
;
of Erasmus, and Sir

Thomas More, by Holbein
;
and of Cornelivis

Jansen, by himself
;
besides some excellent

landscapes, by Italianmasters, a Holy Family
by Raphael, and several much admired paint-
ings by Guido and Carlo Dolce. Neither
should we omit to mention a large sarcophagus
that stands in the hall

;
it is of Roman sculp-

ture representing a bacchanalian procession,
and was given to Henry, the third Duke of

Beaufort, by Cardinal Alberoni.
The park is very extensive, being nearly

ten miles in circumference, of an obk)ng form,
about three miles long, and in width, not
much less than two. Rudder is enthusiastic

in the descrijJtion of its beauties. "
It would

be difficult by words," he says, "to convey
a tolerable idea of the beautiful plantations

belonging to it, which have been raised from
time to time at a vast expense, and are con-

tinually improving under the direction of the

present noble proprietor. I shall, however,

observe, for the information of those who have
seen them in their former state, that the laby-
rinth and all that profusion of figures in box
and yew, which came first into use in this

country about the reign of William the Third,
are taken away, and give place to the modern
taste and less restrained method of planting."
It should, however, be remembered tliat

Rudder wrote in 1779, and his account is

chiefly vahiable as showing what the park
and grounds were at a yet earlier period.

In the year 1702, Queen Anne and her

consort, Prince George of Denmark, visited

Oxford, and going thence to Bath, were met
at Cirencester by the Duke of Beaufort, and
conducted by him to Badminton, with the

beauties of which they seem to have been
much deUghted. But, if the popular belief

were true, this locaUty would have higher
claims to consideration, than any it can derive

from even a royal visit. The people say of
this place, as others have said of Linley, in

Leicestershire, that neither snake, adder, nor
lizzard have been seen in it. The more

moderate, however, qualify the report by
stating that "

they have been very rarely seen,
till within these few years." We again quote
from Rudder's account in 1779; and beyond
doubt the limitation makes the legend less dis-

putable than it else would be. Like Lady
Froth's " more or less

"
in her stanzas upon

the sun, the qualification saves all harmless.

THONOCK HALL, Lincohishire, near Gains-

borough, the seat of Henry Bacon Hickman,
Esq., who served the office of High Sheriff for

the county in 1831.

In the early ages, this estate, was the resi-

dence belonging to Roger of Poictou, Earl of

Lancaster, upon whom it had been conferred

by William at the time of the Norman con-

quest. From him it passed to the family of
De Munolen, and with them remained until

1272, when we find itlield by Richard Planta-

genet, Earl of Cornwall. In the year 1300,
Thonock was passed to the natural son of

Edmund Walter de Cornwall, in whose family
it continued untill561, at whichtime it became
the property of William Nauphan, passing
from him again to W. Godfrey. By this last

it was sold in 1714 to Sir W. Hickman. In

1781, Sir Neville Hickman dying without
male issue, it devolved to his daughter and

heiress, Frances, who, upon her death be-

queathed it, with the rest of her estates to her

cousin, Henry Bacon, youngest son of the

late Sir Edward Bacon, premier Baronet of

England. This bequest took effect in 1826,

subsequent to whicli Mr. Bacon assumed, by
royallicense, the additional surname andarms
of Hickman.

It is uncertain at what precise period
Thonock Hall was first built, but, as we have

already observed, it existcd, and was inhabited
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at the tlme of the Nornian Conquest. It was

enlarged and modernised by SirNeville Hick-

man, Bart., previous to his removing thither

with his faniily from the old manor-house at

Gainsborongh, which still remains. Since his

time, it has again been much enlarged by the

present proprietor. At a short distance from

the mansion, a lake has been formed, and
several drives made through the wild grounds

adjoining it. In the park there are still the

remains of an ancient fortification, known by
the name of the Danish Cainp.

In the library is a vakiable collection of

books, and scattered through the house are

many portraits by tlie first masters.

WYVENHOE, WivENHOE, or Wivenhoo
Hall, in the county of Essex, about five

miles south-east from Colchester, the seat of

Nicholas Caesar Corsellis, Esq.
At the time of the Domesday Survey, tliis

manor was hekl by Robert Gernon, and sub-

sequently became part and parcel of his

barony, Stansted Montfichet. At a later

period it came into the hands of the Batayles,
or De Batailes, from whom it passed by
marriage through the famiUes of Sutton, Wal-

ton, and Howard, to John de Vere, twelfth

Earl of Oxford, of that name, who lost his

head in 1461, for having espoused the Lan-

castrian interest against the Yorkists. His

estates being confiscated, were granted by
Edward the Fourth to his brother, the Duke
of Gloucestcr, afterwards Ricliard the Third.

When Richmond achieved the throne by his

victory of Bosworth Fiekl, he restored their

lands to the De Veres, and in their possession

they remained until tlie extravagance of

Edward, the seventeenth Earl, caused Wiven-

hoe to be sold to Roger Townshend, Esq.,
who was knighted at sea for his valour in the

engagement with the Spanish Armada. From
the Townshends it passed, by sale, about the

time of the Restoration, to the Corsellis', from

vvhich faniily the present owner is descended.

Of the Hall, Morant has left us the foUow-

ing graphical account :
— " Wivenhoe Hall

stands pleasantly at the upper end of the

town. Whilst it belonged to the Earls of

Oxfoi-d, who sometinies made it the place of

their residence, it was a Large and elegant

seat, having a noble gate-house, with towers

of great height, that served for a sea-mark."

WYVENHOE PAB,K, the seatof John Gurdon

Rebow, Esq., formerly belonged to the Berift'

family, at which time indeed the grounds
coukl hardly be said to deserve the name, not

having been convertcd into a park until tlie

estate passed, about 1740, into the hands of

Sir Isaac Rebow, Knight, and Member of

Parliament for ("okhcster. His grandson,
Isaac Martin Rebow, Coh)noi of the Essex

Militia and M. P. for Colchcstcr, rebuiU the

house there. This was in the style of Chelsea

Hospital, but it has been altered by the pre-
sent owner into an Elizabethan structure. It

stands in the midst of a flovver-garden, with a

well-timbered park, looking towards the town
of Colcliester, between which and the park
runs tlie river Coln.

EDGE, co. Chester, the seat of the Dod
family, lies near the Welsh border of the

county. Hova, son of Cadwgan Dot, about
tlie time of Henry II. married the daiigliter
and heiress of the Lord of Edge, and settled

there in consequence. The name of tlie pro-

^irietor, whose daughter Hova married, does
not appear, but it is probable that he was the
son of Edwin, a Saxon thane, who was

allowed, after the Norman Conquest, to retain

possession of his lands at Edge. From Hova
Dot the estate regularly descended in un-
broken male sviccession to the late Thomas
Crewe Dod, Esq., who died in 18271eaving
no surviving male issue, wlien tlie estate

devolved on his eldest daughter, Charlotte

Dod, now of Edge. The remains of an
ancient mansion, probably the earliest resi-

dence of the family, are to be seen at a spot
caUed " the Hull Ileys" at one extremity of

the estate. The present seat is of considerable

antiquity, but has been so repeatedly altered

in various styles, that no date can be inferred

from its architecture. This house has also

been moated, and stands very low, the ground
sloping to it in every direction

;
at the back

is a park-Hke enclosure ascending gently to a

terrace, on the summit of a rocky eminence
w^ll plantedwith trees, through the interstices

of wliich tlie eye commands the higher Brox-
ton and Bickerton liills behind, and in front,
tlie Clwydian i-ange, with loftier mountains
above them, seen over the broad vale of

Chester. On the right, the estuaries appear
in the distance, and on the kft is a boinidk>ss

continuation of the maguificent vak> bclow,
broken in some places by the Montgomeiy-
shire liills, and completely losing itself in the

vista.

CHILDWALL HALL, Lancashire, a seat of

the Marquess of Salisbury, stands adjoining
the village of the same name, about five miles

from Liverpool.
Soon after the conquest, Childwall was

annexed to the Barony of Manchester. The
estate subsequently passed to the Lathoms,
and from them, by an heiress, to the Stanleys.
About the middle of the seventeenth century
we find a family of Legrey, or Legay, in

possession, from whom it was eventually pur-
chased by Isaac Green, Esq., of Liverpool,
who married Mary Aspinall, the heiress of

Hak, by whom he luid three daughtei-s and

colieirs, tlic second surviving of whom, Mary
Green, married Bamber Gascoyne, Esq., of
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Bavking in Essex. Mr. Gascoyne was
thrice niember of Parliament for Liverpool,
and his brotlier, General Isaac Gascoyne, was

representative of that borough during many
years. Mr. Gascoyne died in 1830, leaving
an only daughter and heiress, Mary, who

conveyed tlie estate by man"iage to the pre-
sent noble owner, and he, in consequence,
added the surname of Gascoyne to his patro-

nymic, Cecil.

Cliildwall Hall is a spacious castellated

edifice of stone, standing in the midst of lawns
and pleasure-grounds. It was erected, on tlie

site of the ancient mansion, by the Lite

Bamber Gascoyne, Esq., after a design by
Nash. As Lord of Childwall, the Marquess
is entitled to certain small dues, amounting to

a penny or twopence from eacli occupier of

land, whicli was formerly paid to the Knighfs
hospitallers of St. Jolm of Jerusalem, who had
a liouse upon the heath of Great Woolton.

CAMBUSNETHAN HOUSE, usually abbre-
viated into Camnethan, in tlie county of Lan-

ark, the seat of JamesSinclair Lockliart, Esq.
At a very distant period the barony of

Cambusnethan belonged to a family named
Baird, and from them passed successively into

tlie liands of the Stewarts and the Sommer-
villes, the last of whom, a powerful family in

the west of Scotland, retained a portion of it

Tor six generations, tlie rest being disposed at

various times to different heritors. About the

year 1649, the house andmains of the barony
of Cambusnethan were conveyed to James
Sommerville, of Drum, and by him sold, in

16G1 to Sir John Harper, who rebuilt the old

mansion-house. Upon his death, aboutl6G£,
these lands were disposed of to the Lockharts,
of Castlehill, a younger branch of the Lock-

harts, of Lee, and in this family have remained
ever since.

Upon the destruction of the old Iiouse by
fire, the present one was erected in 1816 by
Robert Lockhart, Esq., of Castlehill, father to

the gentleman now possessing the estate. It

is an elegant Gothic structure, so built as to

be a perfect representation of a priory, and
stands upon a sloping lawn close to the river

Clyde.

Externally, the appearance of this mansion
is exceedingly picturesque, surrounded as it is

by fine old wood and extensive orchards of

apple, pear, and plum trees, which, owing to

the excellence of the soil and the sheltered

situation, are reckoned the finest and most

productive in the county. In some years the

produce has realised as much, in the Glasgow
market, as £800.

RUFFORD, co. Lancaster, the seat of Sir

Thomas George Hesketh, Bart., Sherift'of the

county in 1848.

This estate, which lies on the great Liver-

pool and Preston road, about ten miles south

of the latter town, has been the inheritance of
the eminent family of Hesketh for many
generations. Anciently the faraily of Fytton
were seated here, till Dame Maud, daughter
of Richard Fytton, married, about 1310, Sir

William Heskayte, Lord of Heskayte, frbm
whom the present proprietor derives his

descent with the lands of Rufford.

There are two mansion-houses here. The
old Hall, situated in park-Iike grounds, is of
the age of Elizabeth, and was among the early
erections of this county, which cemented the
brick and the wood-and-plaister niate-

rials. Many of the rooms are panelled
and oi-namented with carved figures and

foliage. The house is still maintained in

perfect repair, and was the residence of the
father of the present baronet before his acces-
sion to the title in 1842. The new Hall, or as
it is called ^j^r excellence, Rufford Hall, was
erected by Sir Tliomas Dalrymple Hesketh
in 1798. With the exception of the east front,
which has a portico of four lonic columns, the
exterior of this mansion is devoid of ornament.
The entrance hall forms a brilliant room, and
on the ballustrades of the light and elegant
staircase is the family emblem of the eagle
displayed. The library is fitted up with
classical taste, the bookcases being divided by
short Scagliola columns supporting delicately-
formed alabaster vases, and a choice collec-
tion of paintings adorns the drawing-rnom.
The park is extensive and well wooded, and
there are here all the indications of ancient

family dignity sustained and heightened by
modern improvements. With the exccption
of one small estate bclonging to the church,
the whole parish of Rufibrd is an unbroken
nianor, of which Sir T. G. Hesketh is Lord.
A court baron is held at the Hesketh Arms in

the village annually in October, at which the

tenants, who chiefly liold their land upon life

tenures, render suit and service.

LONGNOR, co. Salop, the seat of Panton
Corbett, Esq., Sherifi' of the county in 1849,
lies eight miles south of Shrewsbury, on the
Ludlow road. The hall which was erected by
Sir Richard Corbett, about 1670, is a large
and commodious mansion of brick, but devoid
of ornament. It stands in a small well-wooded

park, stocked with deer.

The Longnor estate has been in the posses-
sion of the Corbetts for above four centuries.
A Baronetcy was conferred on the familv in

1642, and on the demise of Sir Richard
Corbett in 1774, the title is supposed to have
expired ;

but the estates passed, under his will,
to Robert Flint, a descendant in the female
line from Sir Edward, the first Baronet. Mr.
Flint assumed the name of Corbett, and as
" Robert Corbett, of Longnor," was Sheriff of
the county in 1778. On the demise of this

gentleman without issue, the estates passed,
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according to a furtlier entail, to the Rev.

Joseph Pljnnley, whose mother was Miss

Flint, and he consequently assimied the name
of Corbett, and was Archdeacon of Salop, in

the diocese of Hereford. His eldest son and
successor is the present Panton Corbett, Esq.

BOLD, co. Lancaster, is situate in the parish
of Prescot, about five miles from Warrington.
The family of Bold are said to have been
seated here before the Conquest. The ancient

pedigree of the family commences with

William Bold de Bold, whose grandson ^vas

Matthew de Bold, mentioncd in the Testa de

Nevill. From this Matthew the family
continued in male descent till the middle of

the eighteenth century, when Peter Bokl,

Esq., of Bold, M.P. for Lancasliire, died

without male issue, and tlie estate eventually
canie to liis second surviving daughter,

Dorothea, wlio married Tliomas Patten, Esq.,
of Bank Hall, who thereupon assumed the

additional surname of Bold. The eklest son

of this marriage was Peter Patten-Bokl, Esq.,
Colonel of the Lancasliire Militia, who died in

lcS19, leaving two daugliters only. Mary, the

elder, married Prince Sapieha, a Polish noble-

man, Init died without issue, wliile the younger,
Dorothea, who eventually inherited the estates,

married Henry Hoghton, Esq., eldest son of

Sir Henry Philip Hoghton, Bart., wlio

therefore assimied the name of Bold. Mr.

Bold-Hoghton was Sheriff of Lancashire in

1829, and succeeded to tlie Baronetcy of Hogli-
ton Tower in 1 83,5. Lady Bold-Hoghton dying
in 1 840 the estates passed according to settle-

ment to her eldest son, Henry Hogliton, Esq.
Bold Hall is a noble mansion, erected about

1730, having a lofty portico in front. It

stands in an extensive pai-k, abounding with

timber. To the south of the house there is an

e.xtraordinary ckxster of fine okl oaks, many
of them of vast girth, which cover forty
statute acres ofland.

The old Hall of Bold was erected by Richard

Bold, Esq., in the reign of James L It was
a Gothic building of stone, siun-ounded by a

moat, and stoodmidway between the new Hall

and the Warrington road. The pillars of the

gateway, the bridge, and one wing ofthehall,

used as astorehouse, stillremain. Tlie oaken

staircase is yet in a tokn^ably perfect state, and
over the doorway are the initials ofthebuilder

and liis wife, Anne, daughter of Sir Peter

Legh, of Lyme—
R B 1G16 A B

Dr. Legh, in his "Natural History" observes :—" The most remarkable thing ofthe wild duck
is their way of feeding them at Bold, in

Lancashire. Great quantities of these birds

breed in the sunnner season in pits and ponds,
witliin tlie deniesne, to makc tlieir visits in the

winter. They oftentimcs adventure to come
into the moat near the Hall, which a person

accustomed to feed them, perceiving, he beats

with a stone on a hollow vesseL Tlie ducks
answer to the sound, and come quite roimd
him upon a hill adjoining the water

;
he

scatters corn amongst tliem, which they take
with as much quietness and familiarity as tame
ones. When fed, they take their flight to the

rivers, meres, and salt marshes."

COMPTON WYNYATE, Warwickshire, a seat

of the Marquess of Northampton, is situate

near the Oxfordshire border of the county.
The term Wynyate appears to be derived froni

a vineyardformerly ciiltivatedhere. Camden
styles the place Compton-in-the-HoIe, a

designation suited to its local circumstances,
but which is a redundance of expression, as

the word Compton itself signilies a collection

of dwellings in a cwm or valley.
The ancient and eminentfamily ofCompton

took their name from this fertile lordship.
The first of the family who attained great
distinction was Sir William Conipton, who
was at an early age, page or companion to

the Duke of York, afterwards Henry VIII.
The favour of this intimate of his youth pro-
cured for Sir William at a subsequent period,
state employments, which he supported with

credit, and riches which he enjoyed without

ostentation. His grandson, Henry Compton,
was summoned to the House of Lords by the-

title of Baron Compton of Compton, and

William, his son, created Eaid ofNorthampton
in 1618. From this peer the present noble
owner derives deseent and the Lordship of

Compton Wynyate.
The kouse at Compton was erected by Sir

William Compton in the i"eign of Henry VIII.
Sir William had, by the king's grant, the

custody of the neighboui-ing castle of Fulbroke,
and from the ruins of that pile he removed the

chief matcrials of which this mansion is com-

posed. A surrounding park he commenced in

llth Henry VIII., and obtainedroyal licence

to enclose, for that purpose, 2,000 acres of

land and wood.

Compton Wynyate House is an extensive,
but irregular edifice, formed to surround a

court, and was originally encompassed by a

moat, some traces of whichyet remain. Over
the porch of the pi'incipal entrance are thc

royal arms, beneath a crown, supported by a

greyhound and a giuffin. On each side are a

rose and crown in panels. The shafts of the

chimneys are made leading features of orna-

ment, as was usual at this period ;
and much

carved timber is inserted in some of thegables.
AVithin the mansion is tke ancient ckapel.

Compton House narrowly cscaped demoli-

tion during tke Civil War, in wkick its noble

owners acted so conspicuous a part. In 1646
it was garrisoned for tke Parliament army,
wko reduced tke neigkbouring ckurck to

ruins, and niingled the monumental tributes.
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hithcrto lield sacred, with tlie diist. On the

restoration of national order the chnrch was

rebuilt, and has since aflbrded a place of

sepulture to the Compton family.

DKUMCAR HOUSE, in the county of Louth,
the seat of John M'Clintock, Esq., who repre-
sented the borough of Athlone in the parHa-
ment of 1 823, and at the general election in 1 830,
wasreturned for the county of Louth, after a

severe contest of five days' duration, defeat-

ing the Right Hon. Richard Lalor Shiel,

M.P., by a large majority, and continuing to

represent the county until the dissohition of

parliament. During the eventful year of

1798 he served the oftice of High SherifFfor
the county of Louth, and held the situation

of chief Serjeant-at-Arms for Ireland from

1792, a period antecedent to the legislative
union of Great Britain and Ireland. He is

also a magistrate of the same county.
Drnmcar House was built in 1777 by the

father of the present proprietor, John M'Clin-

tock, Esq., M.P. for Enniskillen and Belturbet
in the Irish Parliament, and who died in

1799. It is a handsome edifice in the Grecian

style of architecture. The groimds comprise
about five hundred acres, ornamentally
planted, and watered by the river Dee. They
command a most extensive view of the sea, as

well as of Dundalk Bay, and the Carlingford
and Moure mountains, in the county of Down.

PENNYWOKLODD HALL, in the parish of

Llanigon, near the Hay, Brecknockshire, the
seat of Arndell Francis Sparkes, Esq., of

Bridgnorth, in the county of Salop.
This estate was formerly possessed by

Joseph Arndell, Esq., from whom it descended
to his nephew, Joseph Sparkes, Esq., who
was High SheriiF for the county of Brecon in

1802, and was the grandfather of the present
proprietor. The date of the house isunknown,
but it is a plain stone building, standing upon
an eminence, and commanding an extensive

prospect, in which the river Wye and the
Black Mountains are prominent objects. The
estate consists of about six hundred acres.

BAYFOEDBUEY, Hertfordshire, at a short
distance from the village of Bayford, the seat
of William Robert Baker, Esq., a magistrate
for the same county, who served the ofiice
of High-Sheriff, in 1836.

In the reign of Edward the Confessor, Bay-
ford was held by the Saxon Earl Tosti. After
the Norman Conquest, it wasgrantedto Peter
de Valoines, from whose family it passed into
the possession of the Crown, and in the reign
of Edward the Tliird, it was held in capite
by William de Scrope. In the time of Edward
the Sixth, we see it held by the Knightons,
and from them the daughter and heiress of
Sir George Knighton, who died in 1613, con-

veyed it by marriage to Sir John Ferrers, a

gentlemen of the privy-chamber to Queen

Elizabeth, James the First, and Charles the
First. It was afterwards conveyed to the

Fanshaws, by the marriage of a grand-daughter
of Sir John Ferrers with Thomas Fanshaw,
Esq., who, after the death of his wife, dis-

posed of it to John Mayo, Esq. The son of
this last-named proprietor was SherifF of
Herts in 1668, upon whose decease the estate

was sold to HenryLong,Esq. The daughterand
heiress of Mr. Long, married Charles Adelmare
Caesar, Esq., and from this family it went by
purchase to Sir William Baker, Knight, some
time Lord Mayor of London, and with liis

descendants it still remains, they having posses-
sed this estate since 1759.

The mansion was erected by Sir William

Baker, in the year just mentioned. It is built

in the Grecian style of Architecture, and
stands upon high ground, surrounded by a
well wooded and extensive park. The gar-
dens are handsome, and the grovmds are famed
for its noble cedars, and for containing one of
the finest pinetums to be found in England.
The present owner of this estate has inherited
the only collection of original portraits of the

Kit-Cat Club, painted by Sir Godfrey Kneller.

LEVENS, co. Westmoreland, the seat of
the Hon. Colonel Fulke Greville Howard, lies

to the south of Kendal, in the parish of

Heversham.

Inll88, "Lefuenes," asthe estate wasthen
cailed, was sold by Ketel, son of Uchtred, to

Norman de Redeman, whose descendants con-
tinued seated here till the time of Henry
VII. A younger son of the Bellinghams, of

Bournestead, purchased the estate from tlie

Redmans, and his descendant, Alan Belling-
ham, sold it about 1686, to Colonel James
Graham, younger brother of Sir Richard

Graham, of Netherby. His only daughter
married Henry Bowes Howard, Earl of Berk-
shire

;
and the grand-daughter of this mar-

riage, Frances Howard, became eventually
heiress of the property, and man-ied Richard

Bagot, Esq., who assumed, in consequence,
the surname of Howard. Of this marriage
there was an only davighter, Mary, who mar-

ried, inl807, the Hon. Fulke Greville Upton,
yovmger brother of Lord Templetown ;

this

gentleman thereupon exchanged his patro-

nymic for that of Howard.
Levens Hall is avenerable pile of ''nilding,

built in the reign of Elizabeth. The gardens,
with which it is svuTounded, were laid out by
the gardener of James II., and the straight
walks and clipped yew hedges remain perfect
specimens of the quaint style which then pre-
vailed. The road to Kendal separates the
house and lawn from the park, which is singu-
larly beautiful and romantic. The grovmd
in some places is bold, and hangs abruptly
over the river Kent, which flows through it

;

in others, it falls into gentle slopes and easy
plains. The whole is beautifully diversified.
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Tliickets cover the brows
;
ancient thorns,

and niore ancient oaks are scattered over
the plains, and chunps and solitary beech
trees of enornious size frequently appear.
The park is well stocked with fallow deer.

The side of the Kent is fanious for petrifying

springs which incrust vegetable bodies.

Kirkstead, within the park, is the name of

tlie ruins of an ancient round building, said

to have been a temple of Diana,

HADDON HAIL, an ancient seat of the
Duke of Rutland, is situated two miles south
of Bakewell, on a bold eminence, rising on
the east bank of the river Wye, and ovei--

looking a pleasant and fertile valley. It is

surrounded by an extensive park; and the
situation is altogether oneof themostromantic

beauty. But tlie great charm of Haddon is to

the antiquarian and the imaginative tourist,
even more than to the mere lover of pictur-

esque scenery; for no mansion in England
affords a finer sample of an ancient baronial

residence, which, as it was built at many
different timea, gives a faithful idea of the
domestic architecture of various periods of

Englisli history. In the deserted courts and

empty lialls of this most venerable abode,
we obtain interesting glimpses of modes of
life peculiar to the remote times in which they
were erected, and when tliey were crowned
with the hospitality of a magnificent race of
ancient EngHsh nobles.

It adds considerably to our interest in this

old seat, when we r&flect that it has been
handed down in uninterrupted succession, in

the family of the prcsent proprietor, from the
middle of the twclfth century ;

and though
it is not now an actual residence of the Duke
of Rutland, it is kept m thorough repair, and
is very frequently visited by him. Indeed,
he spendsa considerable portion of theautumn
in the immediate neighbourhood, ahnost within
the doniain of Haddon—at Stanton Wood-
housc, distant about half an hour's walk.
This is a quaint old house, situated on a steep
natural terrace overlooking thebeautiful dale.

We will now give a genealogical sketch of
the ancient and illustrious line to whom this

venerable hall has belonged, with some
account of the history of the building.
The foundation of Haddon is a lunestone

rock, rising out of the valley of the river

Wye, between the town of Bakewell, and the
hamlet of Rowseley, in the county of Derby.
It stands upon the slope of a well-timbered

chasc, ascending from the level meadows on
the river side, and stretching over the range
of hills to the east of the lovely valley.
When a residence was iirst built at Haddon

it is hard to say ; probably it was the abode
of a Saxon Thane. We know that from the
earliest times, civilization had found its way
to this romantic ncighbourliood. The lead
mines at Bakewell brought thither a Roman

settlement, and ever after, caused a continued

pojjulation, and as the site of Haddon chase
is so well adapted to be a pleasant residence,
it is most probable that the existing Norman
towers may have had Saxon, or even British

antecedents.

Haddon is mentioned in that most valuable

document, the Domesday book, the survey
in which was commenced in 1081. The first

owner who is recorded, was Henry de Ferrers,
a member of the illustrious Norman house of
Ferrers Earl of Derby, a family now repre-
sented by Mr. Ferrers, of Baddesley Clinton.

This knight possessed one carucate in Nether

Haddon, in the manor of Bakewell.
The manor of Bakewell, and other posses-

sions to an immense extent in Derbyshire
and other counties,were given by King William
the Conqueror to William Peverel, who is

said to have been that monarch's half-brother—son of his mother by the husband whom
sbe married after William's birth, and the

death of his father, Robert, Duke of Nor-

mandy, whose inistress she was. It is highly

improbable that Haddon was ever honoured

by being made the residence of this potentate
with widely spread possessions. He had
erected two castles in Derbyshire, which must
have suited him much better, Bolsover and
Peak—as Haddon, from its situation, never
could have been a place of any great strength.
The power of the Peverels, though great,

and in Derbyshire paramount, did not last

long. W^illiam Pevei'ers grandson was a

partizan of King Stephen in his wars with
the Empress Matilda, and in the ardor of his

partizanship, he poisoned the Earl of Chester,
who was her adherent. When Henry II.

ascended the throne, Peverel, fearing that he
would avenge the death of his mother's friend,

placed himself under the protection of the

Church, by becoming a monk, and his family

being extinct, his vast possessions reverted to

the Crown.
Haddon at this time was held, under

Peverel, by a knight of the name of Avenel,
on the tenure of knighfs service. He thus

became tenant in chief of the Crown, and cer-

tainly was proprietor of these lands in 11.54,

and probably for some time previous. But
even dating his possession from that year, it

follows that Haddon has descended in unin-

terrupted succession in one race for seven

centuries
;

as the Duke of Rutland is the

lineal representativeof the first of the Avenels.

However, concerning these first proprietors
of Haddon we know but little. They were

knights of wealth and importance, and of

noble Noi-man blood. The last of them,
William de Avenel, had two daughters, Eliza-

beth de Avenel, who married Simon de Basset,
and Avicia, who, in 1195, niarried William
Vernon. The estates of William de Avenel
were divided between his sons-in-Iaw Basset

and Vernon. Haddon fell to the share of
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Vevnon, but a moiety of the property, contain-

ing Basselaw (Baslow), and other lancls were
held by the deseendants of the Bassets, until

tlie reign of Henry VI., when it was pur-
chased by the Vernons.

William de Vernon, the husband of Avicia

de Avenel, was the son of Warine de Vernon,
fourth baron of Shipbrook, who lived in the

long reign of Henry III. The Vernons were

a family of noble Norman origin, and their

ancestors were seigneurs of Vernon, in Nor-

mandy. William de Vernon founded and

richly endowed the collegiate chui-ch of St.

Mary there, in 1052, Avhere he is interred.

His eldest son, Ilichard, accompanied William

the Conqueror to England, and was one of

the barons created by Hugh Lupus, to whom
King WilHam, in tlie twentieth year of his

reign, granted the county Palatine of Chester.

His great-grandson,Warine de Vernon, fourth

Baron of Shipbrook, was father of William,
who man-ied the heiress of Avenel.

Warine de Vernon had an elder son,

Richard, who carried on the line of the elder

branch, the Barons of Shipbrook, of whom
the representative in 1615, was Sir George
Vernon, of Haslington, a jvidge of Common
Pleas, whose daughter and heiress, Muriel,
married Heni-yVernon, of Sudbury, descended
from a younger branch of the Vernons, of

Haddon.
William de Vernon and Avicia de Avenel

were seated at Haddon in the year 1195, and
if they could have lookedinto the future, they

might have considered their family blessed

with rare good fortune, as still holding in the

latter half of the nineteenth century, that wide

domain which their ancestors acquired in the

earlier half of the twelfth. From William and

Avicia, descended a long line of lords of

Haddon. Sir Richard Vernon, who died in

1377, married Juliana, sister and heiress of

Sir Fulk de Pembridge, lord of Tonge castle

in Sliropshire, which thenceforth became a

principal possession of the Vernons. This

alliance is commemorated by two shields of

the arms of Vernon and Pembridge carved in

stone over the door of the great porch leading
into the hall. Another Sir Richard, who died

1481, married Benedicta, daughter of Sir

John Ludlow, of Hodnet. They are com-
memorated on the east window of the chapel,
" Orate pro ai'abus Ricardi Vernon et Bene-
dicite uxoris ejus." Sir Wilham who died

1467, married Margaret Pype, an heiress
;

her arms, three trumpets, are to be seen em-
blazed with those of the Vernons. The old

vestment closet is of their time, and has on it

the arms of Vernon, Pembridge, and Pype.

By the alliances of the successive genera-
tions of the family, their wealth increased,
and they became more and more important
under the sovereigns of the hoiise of Tudor.

The seventh in descent froni William and

Avicia was Sir Henry Vernon, Lord of

Haddon and many other estates, the cotem-

porary and confidential friend of King Henry
VII., who trusted to him the education of his

eldest son, and heir apparent, Prince Arthur.

He signed the marriage articles between his

royal pupil and Princess Catherine of Spain,
and was a Knight of the Bath, and a Coun-
cillor for the Government of Wales. Prince

Arthur frequently lived with Sir Henry at

Haddon Hall, where there was an apartment
called the Prince's chamber, in which were
carved the royal arms. Sir Henry married
tlie Lady Anne Talbot, daughter of John,
second Earl of Shrewsbury, and died in 1495.

Sir Henry and Lady Anne Vernon had a

mnnerous family. His eldest son, Sir Richard,
carried on the Hne of the house of Haddon

;

and from Humphrey, a younger son, the

present peer of tlie family of Vernon is de-

scended. It is remarkable that the branch of

Vernon, Lord Vernon, springs from the

reunion, by marriage, of two branches of

the family, viz. : Humphrey Vernon, of Hod-
net, and John Vernon, of Sudbury, and may
be said to be heir of line of the eldest bi-anch

of the old Barons of Shipbrook,by the marriage
of Henry Vernon, of Houndshill and Sudbury,
with Muriel, daughter and heiress of Sir

George Vernon, of Haslington, judge of the

Common Pleas. For tliose of our readers

who are curious in genealogy, we subjoin a

slight genealogical sketch of this ancient

family, which is, however, necessarily succinct

and imperfect.
The family of Vernon was at the cuhni-

nating point of its prosperity in the time of

Sir Henry's grandson, Sir George Vernon, of

Haddon, who died in 1635, seized of no less

than thirty manors, and was buried in the

neighbouring church of Bakewell. " This Sir

George Vernon, of Haddon," says Camden,
"was thelast male of that branch whose chief

seat was at Haddon, by the river Wye, in

Derbyshii-e, the seat for many years of the

Vernons, who, as they were ancient, were no
less renowned in these parts ;

insonuich as

this Sir George Vernon, who lived in our time,
for his magnificent port and hospitaUty, was
called by the multitude, King of the Peak.
He lefttwo daughters,one married to Manners,
of the Duke of Rutland's family, by which
Haddon came to them

;
in venerable remem-

brance of wliich, there is wrote over the eu-
trance into the house ' Godsave the Vernons;'
and the Vernons' crest being a boar's head,
used to be served up, with a song, every
Christmas. The other daughter, married to

Stanley, second son of the Earl of Derby, by
which he had Tonge, in Shropshire." Sir

George Vernon married first, Margaret,
daugliter of George, Lord Talboys, by whom
he had two daughters ;

aud secondly, Matilda,

daughter of Sir Ralph Longford, by whom
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he had no issue. It is said that he dis-

approved of the marriage of his daughter and

heiress, Dorothy, with Sir John Manners; and

consequently an elopement took place. Sir

John disguised himself as a forester, and

lingered about the park, and hid liimself in

the woods till a favourable opportunity should

occur of carrying ofF the young lady. This
he accomplished on the occasion of a great
ball

; when, amid the confusion incident to a

crowded assembly, the fair Dorothy eloped
with her lover, through the doorway in the

anteroom adjoining the east end of the long gal-

lery, which leads into the iipper part of the

romantic garden. Sir John Manners was by
birth, at least, equal to Dorothy Vernon, for

though lier father was titular king of the

Peak, his father was Earl of Rutland. Yet
we may suppose that Sir George had higher

views for his daughter and principal heiress

than a younger son, though of good family,
and he could not foresee the ducal honours
which were to grace their descendants.*

Though the chief family estate of Haddon
went with Dorothy into the Manners' family,
her sister, Margaret, brouglit large possessions
to her liusband, Sir Thomas Stanley, second
son of the third Earl of Derby, Her son,
Sir Edward Stanley, possessed in lier right

Tonge Castle, in Sliropshire. He married

Lady Lucy Percy, daughter and coheir of

Thomas, seventh Earl of Northumberland,

by whom he had numerous issue, but two only
who married, viz., Petronilla, the wife of John

Fortescue, of Salden, and Venetia, the wife of
Sir Kenehn Digby.
The family of Manners made Haddon their

seat for several generations, while they con-

PEDIGREE OF THE VERNONS.

Williain de Vernon, Sei^neur of Vernon,
in Noimandy, 1U52.

Kichard de Vernon, Seignenr of Vernon, aecompanied William the Conqueror to England.
He was one of the Barons of Hugh Lupus, Earl Palatine of Chester.

Warine de Vernon, fourth in desccnt, Baron of Shipbrook.

Hichard de Vernon, eldest son.

Warine de Vernon, fifth Baron
of Slxipbrook.

William de Vernon, second son, marriet!

Avicia de Avenel, and with her acquired
Haddon.

Richard Vernon, Lord of Hadden.

Sir Henry Vernon of Haddon, sixth in

deseent from Kichard, Kt. of Bath, lived

in the reipn of Henry VII., married Lady
Anne Talbot, dau. of Edward, Second

Earl of Shrewsbury.

Sir Georfce Vemon,
Kt., of Haslington,
Judge of Conunon
Pleas, fourtcenth in

descent from Wu-
rine, Baron of Ship-

brook.

Sir Richard Vernon, of Haddon.

Sir Georjje Vernon, of Haddon,
King- of the Peak, married Mar-

garet, dau. of George, Lord

Talboys.

Humphrey Veruon, of Hodnet

Dorothy Ver-

non, wife of Sir

.lohn Manners,
socond son of

Thomas, Earl
of Kutland.

Mary Vernon,
wife of Thos.

Stanley, sec.

son ofiidward
third Earl of

Derby.

GeorgeVernon,
of Ilodnct.

Sir Kichard
Vcrnon, Bart.,
the fourth in

descent, d. s. p.

Thomas Ver-
non.

Sir Jolin Vemon,
of Sudbury, Hen-

ry VIII.

Henry Vernon, of

Sudbiuy.

Walter Ver-

non, ofIlounds
Hill.

Sir Edward
Vernon, of
Hounds Hill.

The house of

Kutland.
Sir Edward Stan-

ley, of Tonguc.

Two daugnters.

John Veraon.

Margaret Vernon,
heiress of Sud-

bury.

MuriellVernon, heiressof SirGeorge_-.Hcnry Vcrnon, of Hounds Hill, and
Vernon.

| Sudbury.

George Vcrnon, of Sudbury, dlcd 1702, Eather of the

first Lord Vernon.
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tlnued a yoiinger branch of the great house

of Ruthuid. It is superfluous here to dwell

upon the ancient histre of this noble faniily.

From the earliest times after the Conquest,

they were settled in honour and affluence in

Northumberland, and their connection with

Belvoir was by the marriage of Sir Robert
Manners (who lived in the reign of Henry
VI. and Edward IV.) with Eleanor, eldest

sister and coheir of Lord Roos. The Son of

this marriage, George Lord Roos, marined

Anne, daughter and coheiress of Sir Thomas
St. Leger, by Anne, sister of King Edward
IV., by whom he had a son, Thomas, created

Earl of Rutland by his near kinsman King
Henry VIII. The second son of this noble-

man, Sir John Manners, was the husband of

Dorothy Vernon, heiress of Haddon. She
died in 1584, and he, surviving until 1611,
died at Haddon Hall, and was buried at

Bakewell.

Their son, Sir George Manners of Haddon,
married Grace Pierrepont, sister to the Earl

of Kingston, by whom he had a son, John
Manners of Haddon, who, on the death of his

kinsman George, seventh Earl of Rutland,
succeeded him as eighth Earl in 1641. He
died at Haddon in 1679. His son John,
ninth Earl, was created Duke of Rutland in

1703. In his time the family residence was
transferred from Haddon to Belvoir Castle,
the seat of the elder branch of the family.
Haddon continued to be a frequent abode

of the family down to the time tliat

the dukedom was conferred
;
for as late as

the year 1696, the bowling-green was

made, and the pavilion thereon was erected.

But though fladdon is no longer inha-
bited by the owner, it cannot be said to be

deserted; it being prized and cared for as

much as any constantly occupied mansion
could be. It is frequently visited by the

Duke, who spends much of his time at his

romantic shooting lodge, Stanton Woodhouse,
in the immediate neighbourhood. It is kept
up in excellent repair, and it is very evident
that the Duke of Rutland has no small pride
in this ancient and noble possession. It is

delightful to see a fine old seat so highly
appreciated, and the Duke shows his good
taste in leaving it in its present state, without

any attempt to improve or alter it
;
but with

the utmost care to preserve it. To the anti-

quary it is very much more vahiable in its

actual condition than it wovdd be, if it were
furnished and adapted to the modern wants of

adistinguishedfamily; and wehope thatit may
remain a perfect specimen, well preserved
and undecayed, of agreat English Hall ofthe

good old time. We trust that the foregoing
historical and genealogical sketch may not be

thought superfluous, as it shoukl tend to give
greater interest to the following description
of the ancient mansion.

Few or no certain records remain of tlie

original Lords of Haddon, the Peverels.

Though its towers and turrets give it some-
wluit the appearance of a fortress, nothing
remains to show that it ever was i-eally what

may be called a castle. The Peverels (as

has been ah-eady remarked) possessed strong
fortresses in this county at Bolsover and
Peak. They were also Lords of Nottingham
Castle

;
so that it is improbable that they

ever actually lived at Haddon Hall. It

is, however, likely that the Avenels, who
were a powerful family and made Haddon
their residence, bviilt a tower at the north-

east side, of which some portions remain.

The corbelling under the parapet is Norman.
The south aisle of the chapel is also Norman,
and there are very early foundations to be
traced along the north and west fronts.

These earliest portions of the building are

attributed to the Avenels, who held the place
first under the Peverels, and then under the

Crown, upwards of a century. It is probable
that in their day, a space equal to the present
area covered by building, was walled in, to

which their retainers could retire for protection
with their families and cattle, in case of a

sudden attack. But it would appear that

from the first, it was more of a manor-house
than a place of strength. It escaped attack

because it could not be used as a foi-tress,

unhke Bolsover, which in every generation
seems to have cost large sums to the Crown for

repair of the breaches and ruin made by civil

wars. This is a fortunate circumstance for

those who love to trace the progress of

domestic architecture in England ;
as this

building has been preserved from all

changes, save those produced by time and the

taste of successive proprietors. It was, doubt-

less, preparedfor a certain degree ofresistance,
as aU large mansions must have been during
the more stormy periods of EngHsh history.
And we perceive clear evidence of such pre-

parations, in the bowstringing machine in the

north-east tower, and in the rack to hold

arrows in the adjoining room. But it must
be borne in mind that the interest of Haddon
is not that of a fortified baronial castle, but of

the baronial manor-house and residence of a

i'ich and powerfid country noble.

It is pi-obable that all the earliest woi"k

which we now perceive about the hall was
antecedent to the marriage of Sir William
Vernon with the heiress of Avenel, which
took place in 1195. From the arms of Ver-
non and Pembridge over the porch of the

banqueting hall, its date must be about 1370 ;

and the hall itself must be older
; say, about

the time of King Edward the Second, which is

also the date of the restoration of the chapel.
Sir Henry Vernon, who died in 1515, and who
was a favourite of King Henry the Seventh,
iutroduced the Tudor arms on the walls and
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in the windows
;
as also the effigies of Henry

the Seventh and Queen Elizabeth of York,
carved on the panelling of the dining-room

bay. Sir Henry constructed the western

range of buildings, which were probably
finished by his grandson Sir George, the

King of the Peak, whose arms and initials

are seen on the principal entrance. He
finished the dining-room in 1545, as appears

by the date attached to his initialsandthose of

his wife carved in the panelling. He was the

richest of his race, and his unbounded hos-

pitality and splendid way of living requiring

large accominodation, it is probable that he

greatly added to the buildings. He erected

the range of kitchens and offices in the north

front, and also the suite of rooms between the

great hall and chapel. He probably alsobuilt

the walls of the long gallery, and laid out the

gardens on their present beautiful plan. He
was the lastof the Vernons, and died in 1567.

Thethree Lords of Haddon of the Manners'

family, who constantly resided there, seem to

have taken much pains to improve and beautify
the place. Sir John Manners finished the

works in progress at the death of his father-in-

law. He decorated the long gallery with

beautiful carved panelling and an ornamental

ceiling with much heraldic blazonry; and

here we, for the first time, find the coat

armorial of the house of Manners. He
finislied the interior of the state bed-

chamber and of the rooms in the principal
entrance tower. The last works done at

Haddon, as before menlioned, were the

bowiing-green and pavilion in the north-east

of Dorotliy Vernon's walk, constructed by the

ninth Earl, afterwards first Duke of Rutland,
in 1698, a few yearsbefore the family finally

abandoned Haddon Hall as a residence

As the traveller approaches the ancient

Hall, ascending the gentle slope throughthe

park, the view of the high battlements and

many towers is very sti-iking. On entering
tlie building, it is found to consist of numerous

apartments and offices, erected at many
difierent periods, and surrounding two jiaved

quadrangular courts. The principal entrance

is under a light tower, tln-ougli a wide arched

gateway, that leads by a flight of steps into

the first of the two courts. Aboutthe middle

of the east side of this court, a second fliglit

of steps communicates with the great porch.
On the right of the passage, leading from

theporch, isthegreat hall,having a comnumi-
cation with the grand staircase and state

apartments. On the left, are four large arched

and pointed doorways leading to the kitchen,

buttery, cellars, &c. In the kitchen are two
vast fireplaces, and all the apparatus of

substantial old hospitality. At the upper end
of the great hall is a raised floor, where the

table for the lord and his principal guests used

to be spread, and on two sides is a galkry

supported by pillars. The dining-room was

erected at a later period, and then the hall

was only used on occasions of peculiar festivity.

The gallery occupies the south side ofthe inner

court, and is 110 feet long, 17 wide, and 15

high. The wainscoting is of oak, curiously
ornamented with carvings, in which the boar's

head (the Vernon crest) predominates. In the

midst of the gallery is a great square recess,

besides several bay windows, ornamented
with armorial escutcheons. At the end of

the gallery a passage opens into rooms
ornamented with friezes of boars' heads and

peacocks, and bas relief. The gallery and
three adjoining rooms were fitted up about

1550. The furniture and hangings of the

state bed-chamber are rich and curious, and
aflbrd an excellent sample of the style of that

period. There is much ancient arras hanging
on the walls, and covering tlie doors. The

chajiel stands on the south-west angle of the

great court. It consists of a body and two
aisles divided from it by arched pillars. In

the windows are good remains ofpaintedglass,
Near the entrance of the chapel stands a

Roman altar said to have been dug up at

Bakewell. In a room adjoining, are some
curious old relics of domestic utensils.

Nothing can convey a better idea of the

ancient habits of life in England than this

venerable mansion. Many great houses which

formerly served this end, are now heaped in

ruins. Others are too much altered and
mutilated to give any longer a notion of their

original structm'e. It is scarcely possible to

comprehend their original plan, or conceive

what they once were. It is therefore devoutly
to be wished that this truly old habitation

may never be modernised, lest the traces of

ancient times and manners, which are here so

well preserved, should be utterly lost.

During the wars, civil and foreign, of the

seven centuries that Haddon has belonged
to the Avenels, Vernons, and Manners, its

lords have ever led the lives of great country

gentlemen, residing on their estates, and fiUing
the offices of Sherifls of the county, Members
of Parliament, governors of princes, and com-
manders of troops; and though a race well

known to chivalric fame, they seem always

equally to have cultivated the arts of peace.
We may picture to our imaginations the

feudal hospitality which reigned at Haddon,
and the ancient sports in which its inhabitants

delighted. We can imagine the hawking
parties in the meadows, the hunting parties in

the chase, and the merry-makings in the hall.

" O 'twas merry in the hall,

When their beards wagged all."

The iron hook on the screen is a relic of

these carousals
;

it having been used to tie up
above his hcad, the handsofany dcfaulter who
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(licl not drink fairly, and in this position cold

water was poured down the sleeves of liis

doublet.

We may next picture to ourselves the stately

and ceremonious style of Queen Bess's golden

days, when she lield her splendid progresses

through England, and when her nobles put their

houses in order, to receive her with due pomp.
Feasting in the great hall was then succeeded by
treading silkenmeasuresin the long gallery. Sir

George Venion having handsome daughters,
rich heiresses, and we may suppose, for the

time, liighly accomplished damsels, Haddon
was doubtless in their days the resort of

rank, fashion, and gallantry.
Toomuchcannotbesaidin praise of the quaint

and magnificent old terraced gardens. The ter-

races rise one above another with lofty flights of

steps and carved stone ballustrades, and they
are crowned above and in the back gi"ound,

bv a noble grove of old trees. The ninth

Earl, and first Duke of Rutland is the last pro-

prietor who lived at Haddon Hall, where it is

said that he maintained seven score ofretainers,

and kept tlie house open in the true style of

old English hospitality during Christmas time.

Since then, festive gatherings have only been

occasionally revived within its ancient and
lionoured walls.

BRICKLEHAMPTON HOUSE, Worcester-

shiiT, near Pershore, the seat of Francis Wood-
ward, Esq.

This estate was a grant from Edward the

Second, and after various occupiers, came
into the hands of the present owner, who, in

1848, erected there a handsome mansion. It

is of the Italian style of architecture, and
stands in the centre of the vale of Evesham,

upon rising ground that slopes towards the

south. The prospect from it is exceedingly
beautiful, ranging over the Bredon hills and
Malvern in thedistance. Within, it contains

an entrance-hall, reception-room, a spacious

dining-room, drawing-room, fifteen bed-rooms,
servants' hall, ofRces, &:c. Nothing, in short,
is wanting to the most perfect convenience of

a modern habitation.

Some portions of the adjacent country are

very beautiful. Itsnear neighbour, Pershore,
once so famous for its abbey, is now no less

celebrated for its picturesque and interesting

scenery, which, coupled witli the fact of the

bad roads that at one time led to the town,
has given rise to a proverbial joke at the

expense of the inhabitants. If met in summer
and asked by the inquisitive tourist wliere

they lived, their answer would be more than

enough arrogant
—"

Pershore, and be hung
to you." But if the season chanced to be

winter, when the roads were almost inacces-

sible, then the tone was changed, and it was,—"
Pershore, God help me." To be sure

the same tale has been told of other places,
and no doubt with as much truth.

CONSTABLE BURTON, Yorkshire, the seat

of Marmaduke Wyvill, Esq., a magistrate and

deputy-lieutenant for tlie county, who was also

twice member for the city of York.
This property has been long held by the

Wyvills, a family of ancient knightly degree,
and of Norman extraction. In the year 1611,
Sir Marmaduke Wyvill was created a baronet

by King James I. The barony of Scrope of

Masham was in abeyance between this family
and the Danbys, of Swinton Park. At the

death of the late W. Danby, Esq., the claim
to the barony rested in the representative of

the Wyvills.
The old mansion has been pulled down, and

a new one erected from plans by Carr. The

principal front is built of a very fine stone,
with columns of the lonic order, the access to

the great entrance being by a double flight of

lofty steps. The situation of the house is

picturesque and interesting.

WALCOT, co Salop, the seat of the Earl of

Powis, is situated about three miles from

Bishop's Castle. The estate was for many
generations the residence of the very ancient

family of Walcot, until John Walcot, Esq.
contracted for the sale of the park and the

greater part of the Walcot property to Robert,
the celebrated Lord Clive, and the sale was

completed by his son, Charles Walcot, Esq.,
about 1 764. From his lordship the estate has

regularly descended to the present noble pro-
prietor.

Walcot Hall is a spacious mansion ofbrick,
with stone corners, and ornamented with a
Doric portico in front

;
the interior is fitted

up with great taste and elegance.
The park is very extensive, and comprises

a fine expanse of water, with an abundance
of noble timber, and commands very extensive

prospects. The conservatories and hothouses
are of a most complete character, and the

gardens and pleasure-grounds are all main-
tained in a style indicating the place as the

abode of wealth and taste.

FELBEIG HALL, in the county of Norfolk,
three miles from Cromer, the seat of William
Howe Windham, Esq., a magistrate for the

shire, who served as Sheriff' of the same in

1842, and represented the eastern division of
Norfolk in 1832. It has been possessed by
the Windhams for many centuries.

This Hall stands at tlie eastern extremity of
a high tract ofland called Felbi-ig and Sherring-
ham Heaths, and is generally considered to be
one of the finest situations in the whole county.
It is an Elizabethan structure, which hasbeen
much enlarged at diflTerent times, and is now
not only commodious but even elegant. The
alterations of the hall and library correspond-
ing with the original south front, do infinite

credit to the taste and judgment of the im-
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prover. The library contains a valuable col-

lection of books, wliile amongst tbe pictures
are several fine old productions from the easel

ofRembrandt, Vandervelt, Berghem, and other

painters of European celebrity. The park has
the great advantage of possessing several fine

old standing woods, to which of late years many
plantations have been added.

CADLAND, Hampshire, near the pleasant

village of Fawley in the New Forest, and
between three and four miles from Hythe, the
seat of Andrew Robert Drummond, Esq.,
stands upon a gentle eminence, at a short
distance from the so-called Southampton, or
Southton Water, which here looks like the

estuary of some mighty river, but which in

reality is an arm of the sea that terminates at

Eling. It is a plain but exceedingly comfort-
able and commodious mansion, originally
erected in 1775 by the Hon. Robert

Drummond, and rebuilt in 1837 by the

present Andrew Robert Drummond, Esq.,
from his own plans and designs, standing in a
fine park, which is about six miles in circum-

ference, and presents some noble specimens of
old timber. The grounds were originally
laid out by capabiliti/ Browne, as he was

usually styled, his skill in this instance fully

proving that the souhriquct has been worthily
applied. Every advantage has been taken by
him of the undulations of the ground, which
in its rise and fall affbrds many picturesque
views of the water and woodlandscenery. In
the autumn of 1806, Mr. Bowles, while on a

visit here, indulged in a description of the

place, which, though in blank verse—that easy
difficulty

—may be worth repeating, as giving
a tolerable notion of the surrounding scenery.

"If ever sea-maid from her coral cave,
Beneath the hum of the g-reat sur|?e, has loved
To pass delighted from her green abode,
And, scated on a summer bank, to sing
No earthly music ; in a spot like this

Fancy might think she heard her, as she (h-ied
Her golden hair, yet diipping from the main,
In the slant sun-beam :

So the pensive bard
Might shadow, warmed with tliis enchanting scene
Th' ideal form

;
but though such things are not,

He, who has ever felt a thought retined ;
—

He, who has wandered on the sea of life,

Forming delightful \isions of a home
Of beauty and rcposc—he, wlio has loved
With tilial warmth his country,—will not pass
Without a loolv of more than tenderncss
On all the scene ; from where the pensile birch
Bends on the bank, amidst the chistered group
Of the dark hollies, to the distant spires
Of Hampton crowning the long hicid wave.
WTiite in the sun bcncath the edging shade
Full shines the frequcnt sail, like Vanity,
As she goes onwards in hcr glitt'ring trim
Aniid the glances of Iife's transient iiiorn,
Calling on all to view her.

Vectis theve,
That slopes its grecnsward to the lamhent wave,
And showsthrough softest haze itswoods anddomes,
With grey St. C'atherine's creeping to the sky,
Seems like a modcst fair, who charms the mbre
Concealing half her beautics.

To the East,
Proud, yet complacent, on its subject realm,

Seem indistinct, but formidable, mark
With masts innumerable thronged, and hnlls
AIbion's vast fleet, that, like th' impatient storm,
Waits but the word to thunder and flash death
On him who dares approach, to \ioIate
The shores and living scenes that smile secure
Beneath its dragon-watch."

PLAS-YN-YALE, North Wales, Denbigli-
shire, the seat of Colonel Yale, who hasserved
as High-sherift' for Denbighshire.

It is uncertain at what time, or by whom,
Plas-yn-Yale was built. Indeed it is no more
than a cottage, but exceedingly picturesque,
situated amongst the Grousing hills, in the

very centre of the district which is called
the hundred of Yale. This district comprises
five parishes, viz., Bryn-Eglwys, LLandeglo,
Llanferis, Llanarmon, and Llantysilio.

EOUNDHA.Y PARK, the seat of Stephen
Nicholson, Esq., is situate in the township of

Roundhay, in the parish of Barwick-in-Ehnet,
in the West Riding of the county of York,
and is remarkable for the extreme beauty of
its grotmds and woods. The mansion, which is

in the Grecian style of architecture, was
erected about the year 1813 by the late
Thomas Nicholson, Esq., brother of the

present owner.

Waterloo Lake, covering thirty-four acres,
was formed in 1815, and presents a striking
featiu-e in the landscape on entering the

grounds.

Roundhay derives its name from being
anciently a park tvithin a circular jjalc. It

belonged to Henry de Lacy, Earl of Lincohi,
from whom it passed to Henry, Duke of

Lancaster, and afterwards to John of Gaimt,
in right of his wife Bhmche. Thus Roundhay
became vested in the Crown.
The next account which we have, is an

order from Henry VII., addressed to the
Governor of Pontefi-act Castle, requiring hint
to make a survey of Roundhay Park, and a
return was accordingly made of the deer
killed and timber cut down. Henry VI 11.

granted the park of Roundhay to Lord D"Arcy,
who was afterwards attainted. EHzabeth
restored Roundhay Park to Lord D'Arcy's
son, who, dying without issue, was succeeded
in his estates by the female branch, and
Roundhay Park passed by marriage into the

family of the Duke of Norfolk, and subse-

quently to Lord Stourton, by whom it was
sold in 1802 to the hite 'Thomas Nicholson,
Esq.

SADBOKOW, in the jiarish of Thorncombe,
Dorsetsliire, the scat of WilHam Bragge, Es(j.

This estate has been held in xminterrupted
succession by the same family since tlie vear
1598. The present house was erected in 1774,
by John Bragge, Esq., grandfather to the

present owner, and is a handsome square
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buikliug on an elevated situation, and coni-

mands a beautiful prospect,
The parisl) of Thorncombe was formerly a

part of Devonshire, but since the Reform Bill

it has been transferred to the county of Dorset

and diocese of Salisbury ;
while the parishes of

Stockland and Dalwood were on the other

band transferred from Dorsetshire to Devon-
shire. In this district was formerly an abbey
for Cistercian monks, founded in 1140 by
Adeline, daughter of Baldwin de Biioniis.

The remains are considerable, consisting

partly of the entrance tower and the old

abbey walls, with various other parts that are

now used as a private mansion.*

MOSLEY, co. Lancaster, the ancient seat of
tbe Leylands, stands in the parish of Leigh.
In the tirae of Henry VIII., this was one of
the most considerable seats in Lancashire, and

Leland, the itinerant, gives the following

glowing description of it :
—

"Morle (in Darbyshire f) Mr. Lelande's

place is builded saving the foimdation of stone

squarid that risith within a great moote a vi.

foote above tbe water al of tymbre after the

commune sort of building of houses of the

gentilmen for most of Lancastreshire. Ther
is much pleasur of orchardes, a great vai-ite of

frute and fair made walkes and gardines as

ther is in any place of Lancastreshire. He
brennith al turfes and petes for the com-
niodite of mosses and mores at hand. For
chatle mosse that witb breaking up of abun-
dance of water yn hit did much hurt to landes

thereabout, and rivers with wandering mosse
and corrupt water is within less than a mile
of Morle. And yet by Morle as in hegge
rowes and grovettes is meatley good plenti
of wood, but good husbandes keepe hit for a

jewell."
The manor of Morley, or as it has been

variously called, Morleis, and More Lees,

gave originally name to a family long since

extinct in these parts. It afterwai-ds passed
to the Leylands, who resided here in great

respectability for several generations. Sir

William Leyland, the " Mr. Lelande
"

of tbe
venerable antiquary just quoted, died about the

reign of Edward VI., leaving a son and three

daughters. The son, Thomas Leyland, Esq.,
who succeeded to the patrimonial estates,
married Anne, the daughter of George Ather-

ton, and had a daughter and heir, Anne, who
by a romantic adventure became the wife of
Edward Tyldesley, Esq., son of Thurston

Tyldesley, of Wardley. The tradition still

prevailing in the parish, is that the daughter

* Ford Abbey is now tlie property and residence of

George Williaiu Miles, Esq., the soiitli front, 300 feet in

length, is very haudsome: it includes a chapel, cloisters
and refectory in good preservatiou.

t The hundred of West Derby was so called in former
times.

of Leyland, having formed an attachment
to young Tyldesley, in opposition to the
wishes of her father, tbe young lady was
shut up in her room

; but, having provided
herself with a rope, she tied one end of it

round her body, and threw the other to her

expecting lover, on the opposite side of the

moat
;
when casting herself out of the window

into the water, which was thirty feet wide, he

dragged her to land, and they were man"ied
before the adventure was known to the family.
Thomas Leyland died about 6 Elizabeth,

when his son-in-law, Edward Tyldesley, suc-

ceeded to the estates in right of his wife, and
died in 29 Elizabeth. His eldest son, Thomas
Tyldesley, married Elizabeth, daughter of

Christopher Anderton of Lostock, and was
succeeded by his son, Edward Tyldesley, who
by his wife, Elizabetb, davighter of Christo-

pher Preston, of Holker, was father of Sir

Thomas Tyldesley, the Lancashire hero,
slain at tbe battle of Wigan Lane in 1651,
who lies buried in the Tyldesley chancel
at Leigh. Sir Thomas Tyldesley married

Frances, daugbter of Ralph Standish, Esq.,
of Standish; and his eldest son, Edward
Tyldesley, alienated the estates of Tyldesley
and Morley. Morley Hall was sold to the

Leghs of Chorley ;
and at a subsequent

period the Old Hall, with a moiety of the

demesne, were pvuxhasedby Josiah Wilkinson,
Esq., who devised it to his son, the late John
V/ilkinson, F.R.S. and tbe other moiety by
Thomas Lyon, Esq., of W^arrington. Dr.
Wilkinson devised his estate to Richard

Marsh, Esq., of Westleigh, its present pos-
sessor

;
but Morley Hall, once the pride of

the parish, is now a farm-house.

GIBSIDE HALL, in the county of Durham,
the property ofJolm Bowes, Esq.
Tbis wasthe ancient residence of the Marleys,

the estate being held of the see of Durham in
the time of Bishop Bury. From this family it

passed by marriage in the year 1534, to

Roger Blakiston, he having married Elizabeth,
daughter and heiress of Richard Marley. In
1715, Elizabeth, only daugbter and heiress
of Sir Francis Blakiston, conveyed it in like
manner to Sir William Bowes, of Streatlam
Castle.

Gibside Hall was built in the reign of
James the First by Sir William Blakiston.
In the succeeding generation it passed into
the hands of his second son, John Blakiston,
who was an active leader of the Parliamentary
party in the time of the Civil War. John
Blakiston was INIember for Newcastle-on-Tyne
in tbe Long Parliament. He was subsequently
appointed one of the Commissioners for the

King's trial, and his signatvu-e and seal may
be seen appendedto tbe warrant for Charles"s
execution. John Blakiston died shortly before
the Restoration. On his death, the Gibside pro-
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perty appears to have reverted to his elder

brother, Francis, whom John had dispossessed.
Gibside became afterwards the favourite resi-

dence of George Bowes, Esq., M.P. for the

county of Durham during the reigns of

George I. and II. Mr. Bowes expended
large sums on the embelUshment of the

grounds and gardens of Gibside. Indeed, the

grand pahitial style of the avenues, drives,

walks, and ornamental buildings, were ex-

clusively the creations of his taste and
munificence. His daughter and heiress, the

Countess of Strathmore, who was one of the

most learned botanists and distinguished
fiorists of her time, gave a great celebrity to

the gardens of Gibside—a celebrity which

they have well sustained up to the present day.
Gibside stands upon the east side of the river

Derwent, the chief approach to it descending
for a mile through the wood. On the north a

terrace only intervenes between the mansion

and the steep descent into the Ladi/'s Hatigh,
a deep rich area of pasturage surrounded by
a rapid bend of the Derwent. The south

front has been almost entirely rebuilt in a

style uniform with its ancient architecture,

embattled with deep bay windows, divided by
stone mulHons and transoms. In the interior

the okl drawing-room remains entire. Terms,
or termini, of Sampson and Hercules support
a huge mantel-piece, above which are the

arms of the founder, Sir WilHam Blakiston.

The house contains many family portraits,

besides a fine selection of paintings of other

kinds. Of the latter, the principal are—
Rubens'swifewhilepregnant, in a fruit-shop ;

the expression of the sick woman's face is

exceedingly fine and characteristic of her

condition
;
but it is fully equaUed by the

lynx-eyed curiosity of the wrinkled, hook-

nosed old crone, to whom she is addressing
herself

;
while in another part of tlie picture

a monkey is cHmbing up, and oversetting a

basket of peaches. A magnificent portrait, by
Rubens. A Holy Family, by GiuHo Romano.
Some good pictures, by HemmeHng, Van

Eyck, and other masters of the early schooh

A few excellent portraits by Domenico

CapriaU, Murillo, Van der Helst, Hogarth,
Sir Joshua Reynolds, &c.

; sea-pieces, battle-

pieces, and Landscapes, all of a superior order,

by Vernet, Vander Meer, Lairessi, &c. We
shouhl also mention, as particidariy worthy
of notice, a fanciful piece by Watteau

;
it

represents a pretty gii-1,
in a hoop, dancing,

boys andgirlslooking on, and Cupid crowning
her with a wreath of flowers. Altogethcr
this isa remai'kably fine collection.

Tlic woodland scenery of Gibside has long
been celebrated. "

Woods, venerable in

their growth and magnificent in their extent,

sweep from the height of the hills to the

brink of the Derwent, intersected by deep

irregular ravines, and relieved by plots of

open pasturage. The whole landscape, to

use a painter"s phrase, is touclied in a broad

free style, and the few artificial objects inti-o-

duced are sufficiently grand and distinct not

to disgrace the noble scenery which surroimds

them. Across the Derwent a cultivated

country, sloping gently to the water, and

variegated with enclosures and scattered

woodland, forms a fine bright contrast to

the deep forest masses which almost darken
the southern bank."

Rising over the woods eastward of the house,
and forming a striking object from the north

side of the Derwent, is a Doric coliunn, a

hvmdred and forty feet in height. It is

crowned with a colossal figure of Liberty.
From this a broad walk, or terrace, leads a

mile westward to the chapel, a handsome
Italian building with a richly embelHshed

portico and dome, intended as a mausoleum.
The Earl of Strathmore, when he resided

here, completed this building as a place of

worship, and endowed the Donaiive of Gib-

side with a farm of land worth nearly one
hundred pounds a year, at Ladonfield in

Ravensworth
;

and also fifteen hundred
three per cent. stock, vested in trustees,

part of which he intended to be laid out in

erecting a house for the minister. Some
difficulties appear to have arisen at the time

about the consecration, but the ceremony
was at length performed in 1812 by the

Bishop of Durham.

STEEATLAM CASTLE, in the county of

Durham, and parish of Girnford, Darlington
Ward, the stately seat of John Bowes, Esq.,
about three miles from Barnard Castle.

Streatlam Castle is a noble pile, consisting
of a centre and two wings; but though it pre-
sents an imposing front of 152 feet in length,

yet this is less by 12 feet than the front of the

former castle, many parts of which have been
built upon, or are enclosed within, the present
structure. The original castle, erected by the

Baliols, was the residence of the ancient fa-

mily of Trayne, whose possession dates as far

back as the year 1200. It devolved to the

Bowes's by the marriage of Sir Adam Bowes
with the heiress of Trayne. Sir William, his

lineal descendant—chamberlain to the Duke of

Bedford, Rcgent of France—rebuilt the castle,

after a Norman model, about the year 1450
;

but we know nothing of the state of the castle

previous to the rebellion of 1569, nor are there

any indications by which its condition may be

traced; for although Sir George had shut himself

up in Barnard Castle, belonging tothe Queen,
with his friendly kinsmen and tenants, as eai-ly

as the27th ofNovember, yetStreatlam wasnot
won by the insurgentsimtil the 4thof Decem-

ber, and was evacuated by them upon the ap-

proach of the Queen's troops on the 16th

of the same month. Short as this period was,



SEATS OF GREAT BEITAIN. 59

the rebels in mere wantonness committed no

little niischief, tearing out the glass windows

and iron stanchions, and carryingaway every-

thing which could possihly be removed. The
h)ss caused to Sir George hy these depreda-
tions at Streathim alone, was reckoned at no

less than twelve hundi-ed pounds. So com-

plete had been the woi-k of destruction, that

when the good knight returned to his home
after liaving expelled the intruders, he found

himself obhged to take up his residence at

the Isle for many months.

The present mansion, still retaining a con-

siderable portion of tlie old castle within its

massive walls, has a solid appearance, though

by no means quahfied to resist a siege. It

was new fronted and modernised by Sir Wil-

liam Bowes, great-grandson to the Knight
Marshal, in 1708-9-10, the stone for this pur-

pose having been brought from the quarries of

Stainton and Lingbury.
This castle fronts the south, the pi-ospect

being bounded by the park attached to it.

Immediately beforeitis a deep ravine, through
whicli serpentines a rivulet or beck, changing
its name as it proceeds. Before it enters the

park, it is called the Porth-Burn
;
as it passes

the front of the castle, it is called the Streat-

lam Bec
;
and before it mingles witli the waters

of the Tees, its appellation is once moi"e altered

to the Alweat Barn. To the east and west of the

castle, the ravine isshaded by aged sycamores.
The general cliaracter of tlie situation is that

of solemnity and quiet grandeur. From the

iipper portion of the castle, rich and beautiful

views are obtained of an undulating country,
the bomidary to the north-east being the

Hamilton Hills, whicli have been called tlie

Alps of England. It would now be difficult

to trace anything like a correct outUne of the

ancient building, with its outworks and de-

fences
; yet a considerable portion of its walls

has been retained in the modern edifice, and

may be seen at tlie back of the castle as well as

at the western wing ;
even the thickness and

solidity of tlie southern front—-more particu-

larly towards the western end, where the re-

mains of a squaretower are evident—will tend

to sliow tliat tlie original walls have been

largely built upon.
At tlie west end of the castle, and below the

level of tlie present passage, there was for-

merly an iron "
grille,

"
wlnch separated the

portion called the dungeon from the moi"e

habitable parts ;
and rings were fixed in the

wall, to some of wliicli chains were attaclied,

showing only too well tliat tlie place was de-

serving of its name.
In the year 1580, after the death of Sir

George Bowes, four vaults are mentioned

in the inventory of liis liousehokl furniture,

one of whicli was called tlie
" Great Vault,"

besides " Haddon Hole," a lower dungeon.
The dungeons were beneath the great hall, and

tlrat again was below the chapel. The " Low

Chapel Chamber" and the "
Higli Chapel

Chainber" are also mentioned; andatthewest
end of the present building there still reniain

two pointed arches, now built up, which evi-

dently were intended to give light to the chapel
of former times.

Towards the north-east end of the mansion

there existed, within the memory of man, a

gateway, a moat, and a drawbridge ;
and the

broken ground, hastily levelled, shows, when

dug into, the remains of former buildings.
There was, witliin the last fifty years, a large

pond at this part called " the moat;
"

while

to the north of the western wing there was
a sort of walled and deep tank, in which

articles of value were secreted in times of

danger and alavm. '

The accidental discovery of tlie Bowes

Manuscripts throws a curious light upon the

rebellion of 15G9, when Elizabeth was more
than once in imminent danger of losing life

and throne
; for, as the old writer observes,

" the antient faith lay like lees at the bottom

ofmen's hearts
;
and if the vessel was ever

so little stirred, came tothe top." Sir George
Bowes, as appears from his diary, was very
active in the Queen's service

;
and when the

rebellion was suppressed, showed himself no

less zealous in putting the prisoners to death in

compliance with the mandates of the Earl of

Sussex:—"
I have sett," says the Earl, "the

numbers to be executed in every towne, under

the name of every towne, as I did in your
other book, which draweth nere to two hun-

dred
; wheryn you maye use your dyscretyon

in takyng more or lesse in every towne as

you shall see juste cause for the offences and

titness for example, so as in the hole you passe
not of all kynd of such the nomber of two

hundred; amongst whom you may not

execute eny that hath freholds, or noted

welthye ;
for so is the Quene's Majestie's ple-

sier, by her specy al commandment.
" One might

have imagined that this bloody rescript was

indispensable to the safety of the government,
and in so far excusable, but for its being
directed solely against the poor and feeble,

which gives it mueh more the appearance of

a timid act of vengeance than of a measure of

self-defence. The order is written on the

last page of a thin-paper book (Bowes MSS.
vol. 13) containing,

" the information of the

constables of Richmond and Richmondshire,

geven to Sir George Bowes, Knyght, Provost

Marshall in the northe parts, of all suche as

did joyne theymselfes with tlie rebells at any
tyme duryng the rebellyon, within their

several constableryes."
To the credit of Sir George he seems to

have been somewhat slack in the performance
of the sanguinary duties entrusted to him, for

the Earl of Sussex writes to tell him,
"

it is

thought that th' executions be very longe in
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doynge, and I fearethe Quene's Majestie wyll

fynde cause of offence with her charge con-

tynued so long, for that purpose ;
and therfor

I pray you make all the haste you can, to

avoyde offence, for a lyttel matter wyll stirre

offence where charge growethe by it." The

charge here aUuded to, is the expense of

keeping up the army after the rebellion was

crushed, and which could not be safely dis-

charged until the rebel-party had been so

broken to pieces as to be incapable of doing
farther mischief. Of this Queen Elizabeth

had become not a little impatient, her temper

being at all times inclined to extreme frugaUty,
of which we have a sufficient proof in her

sparing the lives of tlaose who were rich

enough to buy out their pardon. But for this,

and other more important matters, we must

refer the reader to Sir Cuthbert Sharp's
curious and interesting volume, founded vipon
documents stUl in the possession of the Bowes'

family.
A heavy cuirass, with a helmet, are pre-

served at Streatlam, that, according to tra-

dition, belonged in his day to Sir George
Bowes. It is even said that the room wherein

he died is subject at tiraes to his nocturnal

visitations, the fame of the stout knighthaving

peculiarly identified hini with tlie castle, while

his less remembered descendants are allowed

to sleep in quiet.
Several human skeletons have been dis-

covered to the north and nortli-east of the

building ;
and two skuUs vvere long preserved,

which were found there, the supposed remains

of bodies hastily interred.

The park suiTounding Streatlam is exceed-

ingly picturesque, and embraces an extent of

about four hundred acres, of which more than

one fourth is planted. The ohlest ti-ees in the

park, and which seem to be indigenous, are

the ash and the sycamore.
Besides several highly interesting family

portraits at Streatlam, there are some vahiable

pictures by the old masters
;

as a portrait of

tlae Archduke Albert, by Rubens ;
a Fruit-stall,

by Snyders ;
a Game-hall and Boar-hunt, by

the same
;

the Holy Family, by Annibal

Caracci, after Raphael ;
and various smaller

paintings by artists of first-rate reputation.
In addition to the two estates just mentioned,

Mr. Bowes is also possessed of—

HILTON CASTLE, in the county of

Durliam, near Sundcrland, and three miles to

the west of Wearmouth Bridge, on the road

to Newcastle.

The feeHngs produced on the mind by a

stroll over the park and ancient teiTaces of

Hilton, are of no ordinary character. They
bring with them meditations on fallen glories,

blighted hopes ; thoughts of decay and ruin

and the tomb. There, in its amphitheatre of

hills, in the soft vale of Wear, on greensward

whereon the chariot passeth not, stands the

castle
; neglected, chiefly tenantless, but en-

tire in its massiveness, and in spite of its

modern additions, presenting a front of un-

usual simplicity and grandeur in design. Go
upon the roof, and a sight almost unrivalled

bursts on the visitor. There are the turrets

with their staircases, the bold broad machico-

lations, even the guard's room (surmounting
a square tower projecting from the centre of

the eastern front) remain perfectly entire,
and nothing but a few armed men is wanted
to complete the picture of by-gone baronial

power. In plan, Hilton is an oblong of 69

by '66 feet, having four octagonal turrets

surmounting its western front, and two
circular ones at the angles of the eastern

front, which has also the square tower just
named. The octagonal turrets are 9 feet 4
inches wide internally, and are decorated
with corbel heads, and figures at the top in

all attitudes
;
some being combatant, perliaps

intended to deceive an approaching enemy,
who coukl hardly tell at some distance whether
tlie garrison were on the alert or not. The
machicolations, or hanging parapets, were of
coiu-se for the benefit of archcrs, who, pro-
tected by the tiuTet, could shoot down arrows
on any person wlio reached the foot of the

castle. The castle contains five stories. In
the eleventh year of Bishop Neville, the manor
of Hilton contained one hall and four cham-

bers, one chapel, one kitchen, and one house
constructed of stone called "le yatehous."

In 1559 are mentioned the great cliamber,
the green chamber, the middle chamber, the

new chamber, the gallery, the wardrobe, the

cellar within the parlour, the parlour, the
chamber over the hall door, the ' ' lawe chekar,

' '

the kitclien, tlie larder, the tower, the hall,
the buttery, garner, and tlie barne.

All authors allow the Saxon descent of the
fair-headed and bhie-eyed face of Hilton, but
we know not liow far the earlier stories of
Adam Hilton, who gave a massy crucifix to

the Abbess of St. Hilda at Hartlepool,

sculptured with his two bars
;
or of Lancclot,

the partisan of the Conqueror ;
or of Henry,

who built the castle in 1072, are to be be-

lieved.

The first Hilton on actual record is
" Romanus the Knight of Hilton," who held
three knight's fees in 1166, of ancient feoff-

ment, an expression evidently alhiding to a

long previous settlement. His successor,
Alexander de Hilton, seals with a demi-Hon

passant, and the common bearing
" az. two bars

arg.," siniple as it may seem, is therefore not

the original coat. It appears in right gaHant
array on the east front surmounted by a

hehnet, splendidly diapcred, on which is the

odd crest Moses's head horned in j)rofile.

The west front presents a most sumptuous
heraldic display. Lowermost under a fretted
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canopy is a banner supported by two lions

rampant, charged with the bars, above which

are various coats of arms. Among these

is the royal banner of England and France,
a fitting symbol of the loyalty and de-

votedness of the race on whose castle it

appears. A letter found in the papers of

the last Baron, states that, of the Hiltons, one

was slain at Feversham under the Conqueror,
one in Normandy, one at Metz, three in the

Holy Wai-s under Richard I., one in the same
imder Edward I., three at Bordeaux under the

Black Prince, one at Agincovu-t, two at

Berwick against the Scots, two at the battle

of St. Alban's, five at Market Bosworth, and
four at Flodden Field.

The loyalty of the Hiltons at last proved
one great help to their ruin, though that was

begun by tlte melaiicholy Baron Henry
Hilton, who in 1640-1 devised his estate

to the City Chamber of London for ninety-
nine years, chai-ged with charities innumera-

ble, but only with an
. annuity of £100

to his heirs, who at the expiration of

the term were to regain possession, provided
the claimant should not claim to be tlie issue

of the testator's own body. This proviso is

several times repeated with ahnost insane

precaution, in the most piteous manner, by
the Baron, who " declares to his griefe, that

if anie person shall pretend to be a child of

niy body begotten, which I hope noebody
will be soe impudent and shameless : I

hereby calling God and man and witness

that I have no child living of my body
begotten, and if any such shall pretend so to

be, I hereby declaire he or she so doing to be
a very imposture."

Henry's brother, Robert, survived him but

a few months, when John, the seventh

brother of the melancholy baron, succeeded

to the shadow of an estate, and perilled it in

the royal cause. The fatherland of the

Hiltons was plundered by all parties. Yet

though the heir then starved, he woukl not

give up his rights, and after the Restoration

an amicable decree was obtained, the City of

London being wearied out by contests with

the consorts of the two dowager Baronesses

of Hilton. The son of the gallant loyalist, a

prudent cavalier, then resumed his property,
but the wasted revenue was totally unequal
to the charges. Henry, his successor, com-

plained to the Court, that " hee and his wife

and childrenhave nothing to live on ;" and all

the payments were at last reduced to one

third, still leaving serious burthens. Li 1GG8,

Bishop Cosin had expressed his sorrow for
" our good Baron Hilton

"
(John junior), and

wished to know what good works he had done
or ordered to be done, after his decease, but

here the good Baron's ill ancestors had been

beforehand with him ;
and he very wisely

conckidcd that the most charitabk work hc

could do was to leave his estate, such as it

was, to his natural heirs.

From this period, says Surtees, the Barons of

Hikon retreated without degradation of

blood or of honour into the quiet ranks of

private gentry. Three successive chiefs of

Hikon were not more respected for their

ancient and undoubted descent, than for the

prudent and unostentatious simplicity with

which they supported the fallen fortunes of

their house, without meanness and without

vain regret or misplaced pride. They re-

ceived rather than claimed from the general

courtesy of the country, the acknowledged
rank of the first untitled gentry of the North,.

of noblesse without the peerage. Their name

always stands first in Episcopal commissions

and grand jury ksts
;
and in 1669 Mr. Arden

adduces as a superlative instance of the

unseemly pride of Dean Carleton and his

daughters, that he had seated himself at the

Quarter Sessions above Baron Hikon, to the

great disgust and rekictancy of the country

gentry, and that moreover the yoimg lady
Carletons had crowded themselves into a pew
in the catkedral, before Baron Hikon's

daughters. The last Baron, a man of mild

and generous disposition, and hospitable to a

fauk, is stiU remembered with a mingled senti-

ment of personal respect and of that popular

feekng, which even ill-conduct can scarcely

extinguish, towards the last representative of

a long and honourable kne. His portrait

occupied the panel above the fire-pkace in the

deserted dining-room, and presented a fair,

blue-eyed, flaxen-haired, pleasant-looking

gentleman in a suit of blue and gold, with a

mlld composed countenance, and somewhat

high cheek-bones. There were many other

short, round, companionable-looking faces on

canvass, which by no means beked the family
character.

The last Baron dying without issue, the

representation of the blood of Hilton passed
to the heirs of his sisters, the Musgraves and

Briscos. His nephew, Sir Richard Musgrave,
was his devisee, and assumed the name of

Hilton, hls daughter and heiress marrying
Wiklam JoUitFe, Esq., M.P. for Petersfield,

By Act of Parkament, 23 Geo. II., the estates

were sold, the castle now being the possession
of John Bowes, Esq., of Streatlam and
Gibside.

The castle is buik or akered in the early

perpendicidar style, about the tinie of Richard

II., probably about 1389, when Sir Ralph de

Lumley obtained a kcense to re-edify and
embattle his manor-house at Lumley, as the

two buildings bear a close resemblance to

each other, though Hikon is richer in detail

and of finer character. He blocked up the

elegant window beneath the arms, as weU as

the Tudor kght at one side of the fiag-stafi",

and hid the fine and warkke doorway with a
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modern Gothic porch, wliich is of a semi-

Moorish style, and exhibits a cm-ious attempt
at reviving the early English dog-tooth orna-

ment. Against the eastern front is a similar

porch, and two projections of the same style,

which, however impm-e, has a gorgeous
effect on entering, where a passage from door

to door presents itself, vaulted in Gothic

fashion— (query
—if notthe original vaulting)—but moulded in very rich manner; smaller

pasages have the same Moresque appearance.
The splendidly decorated ceilings which

formei-ly graced the saloon and otlier apart-

ments, were executed in 1738 by one Frankini,
an Italian

;
the dimensions of the former

room are twelve yards by eight and a foot,

and twenty-four feet high. The last Baron
Hilton also erected at least one of the modern

wings which now cause the frontage (one hun-
dred and seventy feet) to be nearly three

times the original length, but still tliey are

unable to destroy the simple grandem" of the

original composition. By the way, between
the central turrets of the west front, are the

remains of two representations of a knight in

mortal conflict with a winged serpent or

dragon, which twists its poisonous folds round
his leg, probably referring to some long for-

gotten feat, which would fitly form a com-

panion to the neighbouring legend of the

Worm of Lambton. In the gardens are some
of tlie finest apples in the country.
The chapel of Hilton stands a little to the

N.E. of tlie castle on a mound, and is of a

peculiar plan, consisting of a nave, chancel,
and two porches or transepts of a semi-

hexagonal form, which open to the body of

the chapel by depressed arches. The chapel
seems originally to have been early floi-id of

the same date as the castle, but has been
altered in tlie rcnaissauce period, and sub-

sequently Itahanizedby thelastBaron, a small

campanile turret being a conspicuous feature.

The chapel is mentioned as early as 1157,
but all tithes, &c., of Hihon, were to be paid
to tlie cell of Wearmouth, as the mother
church

;
the chaplain's salary arising entirely

from personal ofterings of the Barons.

Surtees has given a very annising account
of a certain Brownie that used to haunt the

castle—a sort of domestic spirit, who appears
to be a legitimate descendant of the Roman
Lar FamiUarh. He was said to be somewhat

rough and wild iu his appearance, hirkuig

during the day-time in dark nooks and cor-

ners of the old houses, which he delighted to

haimt; while at night he would diligently

applyhimself to the discharge of any menial
oflicc he thought miglit prove acceptable to

the family. He is tluis described by our

poetical antiquary :
—

" The Cauld Lad vf Ililtonhelongs to avery
common and numerous class, the Brotvnie, or

domcstic spirit, and seems to havc possessed

no very distinctive attributes. He was seldom

seen, but was heard nightly by the servants,
tvho slept in the great hall. If the kitchen

had been left in perfect order, they heard him

amusing himself by breaking plates and

dishes, Imrling the pewter in all directions,

and throwing everything into confusion. If

on the contrary the apartment had been left

in disarray
—a practice wliich tlie servants

found it most prudent to adopt
—the indefati-

gable goblin arranged everything with the

greatest precision. This poor esprit follet,

whose pranks were at all times perfectly

harmless, was at length banished from his

haunts by the visual expedient of presenting
him with a suit of clothes. A green cloak

and hood were laid before the kitchen fire,

and tlie domestics sat up watching at a pru-
dent distance. At twelve o'clock the sprite

glided gently in, stood by the glowing embers,
and surveyed the garments provided for him

very attentively, tried them on, and seemed

delighted with his appearance, frisking about

for some time, and cutting several summersets
and gambados, till on hearing the first cock,
he twitched his mantle tiglit about him and

disappeared with the usual valediction :

Here's a cloak and here's a liood,
The CauUl Lad of Hilton Tvill do no more good.

" The genuine Brownie, however, is supposed
to be aborigine, an unembodied spirit ;

but

the Boy of Hilton has, with an admixture of

English superstition, been identified with the

apparition of an vmfortunate domestic, whom
one of the old chiefs of Hilton slew at some

very distant period in a moment of wrath or

intemperance. The Baron had, it seems, on an

important occasion, ordered his horse, which
was not brought out so soon as he expected ;

he went to tlie stable, found the boy loitering,
and seizing a hay-fork struck liim, though
not intentionally, a mortal blow. Tlie story
adds that he covered liis victim with straw till

niglit, and then tlirew him into the pond
where the skeleton of a boy was (in confirma-

tion of the tale) discovered in the lastBaron's

time."

RAVENSWORTH CASTLE, in the county
of Durliam, the splendid seat of Lord Ravens-

wiirth, is about a mile and a half to the

north-west of Lamesley. Hutchinson sup-

poses the name to allude to the reaffon, the

standard of Denmark, whicli lie tliinks floated

over the towers of Ravensworth.

" "Wlicn Denmark's ravcns o'er tho .seas

Their bodinfir black wina:s spread,
And o'er the Northunibrian lands and leas

The gloomy squadrous sped."

This notion is scouted by the more sagacious

Surtees, who observes with great truth that the

name of Raven cnters into the composition
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of numeroiis Saxon names of places,
—Raven-

glas, in Cuniberland; Ravenstonedale, in

Westmoreland; Ravensfone, in Leicestershire
;

Raveningham, in Norfolk
;
and some otliers.

Besides tliis, it will hardly be denied that the

name may possibly be derived from the haunts

of the A'ery bird itself.

This place must have been well known so

early as the year 1080, for we are told how
one Eardulf rose here from the dead to pre-
dict the death of Bishop Walcher, and the

punishinent of his murderers ;
a rather use-

less visitation, since it neither prevented the

murder, nor was the cause of the punishment
that followed it. A century later, Bishop
Ranulf granted this nianor to his nephew,
Richard, who belonged to the stock of the

Barons of Fitz Marmaduke, Thelast Richard
Fitz Marmaduke, who was miu"dered on the

okl bridge at Durham, died childless, and his

sister, Eleanor, cariied Ravensworth in mar-

riage to a younger branch of the Lumleys,
of Lvmiley Castle. In asimilerway itpassed
to the Boyntons, and then to the Gascoignes.
In 1607, SirWilliam Gascoigne ahenated this

and other property to Thomas Liddell, Esq.,
in whose famlly it still remaiiis.

The old Castle of Ravensvvortli, as it stood

in the time of the Boyntons and Gascoignes,

appears to have consisted of four oblong

square towei's, coimected by a regidar cm-tain,

and probably inckiding a keep or central

tower. In 1S08, nearly tlie whole of tlie

ancient house was pulled down, and a splen-
did newmansion begun, after plans by Nash.
The style of buildmg is a selection from tlie

castle architecture of various periods, not,

however, too remote to be thus brought to-

gether. Sometliing, of course, is lost by this

contrivance, m autlienticity^
—^to the eye, at

least, of the antiquary, whose feelings, or

whose prejudices, are shocked by the appear-
ance of a pile tliat belongs to no tinie or

country ;
but this is more than made up to tlie

lovers of the picturesque, and of actual

beauty, no matter from what sources it rnay
have been drawn, by the liappy combination
of forms and their general resulL The Castle

has three fronts—north, soutli, and west
;

the

eastem side is closed in by offices, and by
plantations, intended, as they grow up, to shut

out the view of Gateshead Fell. Two of the

old towers are incorporated in the offices.

The park includes the ancient baronial

appendage of a heronry. Within the manor
is a very extended and valuable fiekl of coal,

the existence of which has been well known
• for upwards of three centuries.

LAKE HOTJSE, near Salisbury, Wilts, the

seat of the Rev. Edward Duke.
No document has been preserved by which

the exact date of its erection can now be

ascertained; but in all probabilitj'- it was

built in the reign of Elizabeth, soon after the

purchase of the estate and manor, of which it

forms the mansion, by George Duke, in the

year 1578. This George Duke was of Otter-

ton, in the county of Devon, and was a

descendant of the ancient family of Duke,
which was settled originaliy at Power Hayes,
in the same county. His son and successor,
John Duke, served the office of High Sherift"

of the county of Wilts in the year 1640, and

together with his eldest son, George Duke of

Salterton, was engaged in the unsuccessful

attempt which was made in the year 1G50 to

restore Charles II. to the throne. It Iiad been

arranged by the too sanguine royalists, who
held scant correspondence with the exiled

monarch, that risings in his favom- should be

attempted simultaneously in the north and
west of England, the former headed by the

Earl of Rochester, and the latter under Sir

Joseph Wagstalf. That in the north never
took place; that in the west gleamed indeed,
but only totally to darken the hopes of the

royalist party, and more lirmly to strengthen
Cromwell on his usurped seat.

On the llth of March, 1655, Sir J.

Wagstafl^", accompanied by Colonel John

Penruddocke, with many neighbouring gentle-
men and others, to the amount of nearly two
hundred horse, entered Salisbury early in the

morning, and seized in their beds the High
Sheriff and Judges, who were at that time in

the city on a commission of assize. After

proclaiming Charles II., and remaining some
hours in the expectation of being joined by
the citizens of Salisbury and their adherents
from the country, they retired towards Exeter,
and at length surrendered to a troop of horse
which was sent in pursuit of them, on the

unsanctioned promise of the Commander of

security to their lives and fortunes. Cromwell,
without loss of time issued a special commis-
sion of oyer and terminer to be held at Exeter,
where were arraigned Colonel Penruddocke^
Hugh Grove, Richard Reeves, John Duke,
George Duke and several others

;
the event

was probably the conviction of the whole,
and in tlie final result, Colonel Penruddocke
and Hugh Grove were beheaded, and eight
others were hanged. John Duke, it appears
from the warrant of execution, had a very
narrow escape of suffering decapitation in

company with his friends Penruddocke and
Grove. His name was at first, from some

oversight, omitted
;
then interlined under the

misnomer of Rohert Dnke ; and at last

(probably from superstitious feelings in

Cromwell) was altogether struck out. It is

certain, however, that he survived this perilous
danger, and in the year 1671 died quietly
in his bed, at the ripe old age of ninety-
four.

George Duke, his son, who died in about
six months after this affair, probably received
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the pardon of Cromwell, as acting under the

supposed influence of his father.

The mansion, which has been possessed by
the same family frora its erection to the

present time, is constructed of alternate

squares of free-stone and flints, and is a

beautiful and pure specimen of the style of

architecture adopted in the reign of EHzabeth.

The fa^ade, which is singularly picturesque,
is embellished by three projecting and embat-

tled turrets, of which the two end ones are

semi-octangular in form, and the central one

square. The characteristic gable ends of the

roof also contribute much to the beauty of tlie

edifice.

The grounds surrounding the mansion are

pleasingly varied and adorned with nunierous

and aged trees.

PINNER HILL HOUSE, in the county of

Middlesex, about three miles from Harrow,
the seat of Arthur William Tooke, Esq.,

M.A., Oxon.
At an early part of the seventeenth century

this estate belonged to Sir Christopher Clithe-

row, who in the year 1627 represented tlic city
of London in parliament, and afterwards filled

the office of Lord Mayor. Sir Christopher
was also president of Chrisfs Hospital, where

there is a good portrait of him, besides being

governor of the Eastland Company. He was

twice married
;
his second wife was Mary,

daughter of Sir James Campbell, Kt. (who had
filledthe civic chairin 1610), and by both his

wives he had several children. AU the

branches, however, of his family in the male
line have become extinct, except the posterity
of James Clitherow, his fourth son by Mary
Campbell, who soon after the year 1670,

purchased Boston House and Manor, about a

mile from the town of Brentford, which is still

possessed by his hneal descendant, General

James Clitherow, of Wimpole Street, Colo-

nel of the West Middlesex Militia. Such

is the fluctuating state of property in Middle-

sex, that this family is to be mentioned as one

of the very few that have resided for nearly
two centuries on the same estate. To return

to Pinner :

The Pinner Hill estate Avas sold by the

representatives of Sir Christopher Clitherow to

Sir Bartholomew Shower, of whom Macaulay
says,

" he was equally notorious as a servile

Tory and a tedious orator." He Avas indeed

one of those upon whom James the Second

principally relied for the carrying out of his

arbitrary measures, and he was selected to fill

the office of llecordcr to the city of London,
a situation from which the learned and upright
Holt had been ejected, as tooinflexibly honest

for the royal pin-poses. It had become

expedient in the king's mind to hang a few ofhis

soldiers by way of securing the fidelity of the

rest, and as the Recorder occupied the bench

at the Old Bailey, it was very essential to have
a man of pliant principles appointcd to the

office. The new Recorder did all that was

expected of him, and from his seat at the

Old Bailey illegally dismissed many poor
soldiers to the gallows.

" He had some legal

learning," says Macaiday, "but Iiis fulsome

apologies and endless repetitions were the jest
of Westminster Hall." But now came the

storm from Holland—the constitutional revo-

lution brought about under the auspices of

William, Prince of Ofange ;
this of course put

an end to the court favour of Sir Bartholomew
;

as a fitting punishment for his venal compli-
ances, he was superseded, and died in 1701.

We next find this estate, by purchase, in

the hands of John Baker Sellon, Serjeant-at-
law. By him it was again sold, and to Albert

Pell, who held a similar grade in the profession,
but afterwards became Sir Albert, and was a

judge of the Insolvent Debtors' Court. His

widow, the Hon. Lady Pell, disposed of it in

1S4.5, toWilliam Tooke, Esq., of Russell Square,
late Member of Parliament for Truro.

This mansion was erected on the site of an

older house, built by Sir Bartholomew Shower.

Sir William Milman, Bart., brother of the

Dean of St. Pauls, has a house in the hamlet

of Pinner, called The Grove, which was

formerly the property of Sir Michael Foster,
a very eminent judge of the Court of King's
Bench, and author of the best treatise on

crown law.

John Zephaniah Holwell, at one time

Governor of Bengal, who wrote a narrative

of the suflerings of himself and his fellow-

prisoners in the memorable Black Hole of

Calcutta, resided in Pinner several years, and
died and was buried there in the year 1798.

There is a monument in the church to the

memory of John Day, minister of Pinner, one

of whose successors was the pious andexcellent

Mr. Venn.
The church was completed in the year 1320

;

it is a large structure built chiefly of flint,

with a nave chancel, two aisles, and two

transepts. The nave, separated from the

aisles by octagonal pillai*s
and pointed arches

;

at the cast end, is a square tower of stone and

flint, embattled. In the east window of the

chancel are some remains of painted glass.

KIMEOLTON CASTLE, Huntingdonshire, the

seat oftlie Duke of INlanchester.

According to Camden this place was at one

time called Kinnibantum. It belonged at a

a very early period to the Magnavilles ;
after-

wards to the Bohuns and Staftbrds, and then

to Sir Richard Wingfield, who obtained a

grant of it from Henry VIII., upon the

attainder of the Duke of Buckingham. His
son sold the estate to Sir Henry Montagu,
afterwards first Earl of Manchester, with

whose descendants it has ever since rcmained.
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The iiiunecliate ancestor of the Earls and
Dukes of Manchester was Sir Edward iMon-

tagu, wlio "
being entered of the Middle

Teniple, became such a proficient in the study
of the law, that in the tenth of Henry VIII.,
he was chosen Autumn Reader of that society,
to which none but persons of great learning
were then elected. He was also of such

authority and account, credit and countenance,
in the House of Commons, of which he was

Speaker, that a bill for subsidies not passing,
he was sent for to his Majesty, who said to

him,
' Ho ! will they not let my bill pass ?

'

and laying his hand on the liead of Montagu,
kneeling before him, he said,

' Get my bill to

pass by such a time to-morrow, or else by such
a time, this head of yours shall be off !

'

Sir

Edward considering the danger wherein he

stood, in regard of the displeasure of such an

impetuous prince, wrought so efFectually, that

before the time prescribed, the bill passed
with the approbation of the House, and to his

sovereign's satisfaction. In the twenty-third
of Henry VIII., he was called to the degree of

Sergeant-at-Law, and with others then elected

kept snch a magnificent feast at Ely House,

London, for five days, that it wanted little of

a feast at a coronation
;
the King and Qneen,

and the whole court honouring tlrem with their

couipany. In the twenty-ninth of Henry
VIII., he was constituted the King'sSergeant-
at-Law, and had the honour of knighthood
conferred on him the year following, and was
advanced to the office of Lord Chief Justice

of the King's Bench. In 1545 he resigned
that office, and was constituted Lord Cliief

Justice of the Common Pleas
"—a transition,

which FuUer calls,
" a descent in honour, but

ascent in profit, it being given to old age,
rather tobe thrifty than ambitious." So long
as Henry reigned he continued in high favour

with the capricious monarch, and was ap-
pointed one of the sixteen executors of his last

will and testament, who were also to be regents
of the kingdom and governors to Edward
VI., his son. Things, however, were much
changed with him upon the accession of Mary;
he joined in attempting to transfer the crown
to Lady Jane Grey, for which off^ence he was
dismissed from office and imprisoned in the

Tower.
A yet more celebratedmember of thishouse

was the Parliamentary General, who holds so

conspicuous a place in the history of the

great Civil War. Eventually he abandoned
his party, who were evidently going farther

and faster than he had ever anticipated. In

consequence of this change he lias been

painted in very favourable colours by Lord
Chu"endon.

The time at which Kimbolton Castle was

originally built can no longer be ascertained.

Leland in his Itinerary tells us,
"

it is double

diked, and the building of it metely sti-ong.

It longed to the Mandevillcs, Earls of Essex.

Sir Richard Wingfield built new fair U)dgyns
and galleries upon the old foundation of the

castle. There is a plottc now clene desohited,
not a mile by west from Kimbolton, called

Castle Hill, where appear ditches and tokens of

old buildings."
Kimbolton Castle was the jointure of

Queen Katheinne, and thither she retired

after she had been divorced by King Henry
VIII., that he might supply her place with a

younger and fairer wife, who was in her timi

to be flung aside. When the fii'st Earl of

Manchester came into possession of the castle,

he expended large sums of money upon it,

making considerable alterations and additions,
an examjile that was foHowed upon the same
scale by his grandson, Robert.

MULGRAVE CASTLE, Yorkshire, in the

North Riding, foin- niiles from Wliitby, seven-

teen from Gisborough, and twenty-five from

Stokesley, the seat of the Marquess of Nor-

manby.
According to Camden, this was anciently a

fortress of the Saxon Duke, Wada, whom
tradition has represented to be a giant. After
the Norman Conquest, the castle and barony
were granted to Nigel Fossard, and was, by
man-iage with the heiress of that family,
transferred in the reign of Richard Coeur de

Lion, to Sir Robert de Turnham. He dying
without heirs male, his daughter and heiress,

Isabella, conveyed it in marriage to Peter de
Malo Lacu—or, as he is sometimes called,
Peter de Mauley,

—a native of Poictou, and

esquire of King John, wlio had employed him
to destroy Prince Arthvu, in order to pave tlie

way for his own accession to the crown. For
this good service John i-ewarded him with the

hand of the lady, slie having become a royal
ward by the death of her father.

Peter rebuilt and fortified the old castle,

which stood at no gi'eat distance from the

present noble mansion. Its situation was u^ion
a high hill, and from the beauty of the site, as

well as of the fabric, he called it Moultgrace ;

"but,"says Camden, "because it became a

heavy grievance to the neighbours thereabouts,
the people (who have always tlie riglit of

coining words) by changing one single letter

called it Moultgrave ; by which name it is

everywhere known, though the reason thereof
is little understood."
The same writer adds that the " inheritance

was enjoyed by seven Peters in succession."
In fact this family contimied to posspss it tlU

the reign of Henry V., when in defaultof heirs

male, it was by tlie marriage of heiresses

successively transferred to tlie Bigods and the

Radchffes.

About the year 1G25, this estate passed into

the hands of Edmund, Lord Shefiicld of

K
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Butterwick, Lord President of the North, who
in the reign of Elizabeth greatly distinguished
himself by many gallant services, and par-

ticularly in the defeat of the Invincible

Armada. By Charles I. lic was created Earl

of Mulgrave, but the familybecame extinct in

17.35. Itwas, however, revived in the person
of Constantine Phipps, whose maternal grand-

mother, Catherine, Countess Dowager of

Anglesey; married secondly, John ShcfReld,
Duke of Buckingham, and succeeded by
bequest to the Sheffield estates. Constantine

was created Lord Mulgrave in 1767. His

son, Constantine John Phipps, 2nd Lord, a

captain in the British navy, has obtained

a lasting name among our early voj^agers,
from exploring the Arctic regions to a

parallel far beyond any of his predecessors.
It is true that the enterprise of modern times,

aided by the vast improvements in modern

science, have penetrated beyond the barriers

of ice that arrested his progress ;
but still we

must not forget how much we owe to those

who with far more scanty apphances showed
the practicability of such enterprises, and

tauglitus, in understanding, to overcome them.

During the Civil Wars the ancient castle of

Mulgrave havingbeen garrisoned by the King's
forces, itwas dismantled by the Parliament in

the day of their supremacy. The present
edifice is of modern date, though the archi-

tecture is that of an ancient castle with

numerous towers, square and polygonal, some
of which, in addition to the battlements, are

machichoLated. In a tower, forming the centre

of one front, the windows are constructed with

pointed arches and mullions of stone, in other

parts they are square at the top, but are all

surmoimted by labelled cornices. It stands

in a commanding situation on the coast, from
which the views are varied and romantic, and
at a short distance from the okl castle of Peter

de Malo Lacu. The grovmd, declining towards

the south-east, opens a tine prospect of the

sea, Whitby harbour, with the ships sailing in

and out, and the black promontory of Saltwick,
while to the south-west the view extends for

several miles over a pleasant mixture of lawns
and woods.

The shore in tliese parts has long been
famous for the quantities of black aniber or

jet, a Rubject upon which Camden dihites, and
as it wouki seem, with infinite gusto.

" Near
this place," he says, "and elsewhere on this

shore, is found black amber or jet ;
some take

it to be the gagates, wliicli was vakied by the

ancients among tlie rarest stones and jewels.
It grows upon tlie rocks within a chink or chfi^

and before it is pohshed, looks reddish and

rusty ;
but after, is rcally, as Solinus describes

it, dianujnd-like, black and shining ;
of which

Rliemnius Palaemon, from Dyonisius, writes

thus :
—

' PraefulerPt nifjro pplendorc fjafratcp,

Hic lapis ardcscens austro i)erfu?us iKiuarum,
Ast oleo perdens flammas, mirabile risu,

Attritus rapit hic teneras, ceu succina, frondes.'

' All black and sliininpr is tlie jet ;

In water dipp'd it flames witli sudden heat.

But a strange coldness, dipp'd in oil receives ;

And di'aws, like aniber, litlle sticks and leaves.'

" Likewise Marbodoeus in his Treatise of

Jewels :
—

' Nascitur in Libya lapis, et prope g:enima, pagates,
Sed g:cnus eximium fecunda Britannia niittit ;

lAicidus et uiger est, levis et loevissimus idem ;

Vicinas paleas trahit attritn calefactus,
Ardet aqtia lotus, restinguitiir unctus olivo.'

'
Jetstone, almost a ^em, the Libyans find,

But fruitful Britain sends a wondrous Ivind ;

'Tis black and shining-, smootli and evcr litjlit,

'Twill draw up straws, if rubbed till liot and briglit ;

Oil makes it cold, but water gives it heat.'

" Hear also what Solinus says.
* In Britain

there is a great store of gagates, or jet, a very
fine stone. If you ask the coloui-, it is black

and shining ;
if the quality, it is exceeding

light; if the nature, it burns in water, and is

quenched wdth oil
;

if the virtue, it has an

attractive power, when heated with rubbing.'
"

Kelp, too, is made in great abundance all

along this shore, from the sea-weed, which
the people lay up in heaps till it is dry, and
then burn it.

" While it is burning, they stiv

it to and fro with an iron rake
;
and so it

condenses and cakes togetlier into such a

body as we see kelp to be, which is of use in

making of alum
;

if they should not stir it, it

would burn to ashes as other combustible

bodies do."

THOENDON HAIL, in the co. of Essex,
about two miles from Brentwood, the seat of

Lord Petre.

Previous to the year 1442, the manor of

West Thorndon belonged to the celebrated

family of Fitz I^ewis, whose last male descen-

dant, John, in the reign of King Henry VII.,
married Anne, daughter of Sir Robert Lovel.

The fate of the newly-married couple was
most unfortunate, both of them being biu-nt

to death in a fire which destroyed the manor-

house, as we are told by Camden. His sister,

Ela, becoming heiress to his extensive

possessions, was married to Sir John Mor-
daunt, who had given the King thirteen

hundred marks for her wardship. In the

reign of Queen Elizabeth, or perhaps even so

late as the time of her successor, we find this

manor become the property of the Lords

Petre, but whether by purchase, or otherwise,
is uncertain

;
but in all likclihood by pin-chase.

Thorndon Hall stands on a fine eminence,
in an extensive park, at the south-eastern

extremity of an avenue that leads from the

town of Brentwood. It consists of a centre

with two wings, connected by circular

corridors, and is built of white brick. Upon
the north front is a small portico, supported by
six fluted Coi-inthian columns. The hall is a

fine room, forty feet square, the roof of which
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is uplield by eigliteen pillars, wliich are

covered over witli a composition iniitative of

niarble. The library, resembling a semi-

circnlar gallery, extends over the east corridor
;

and a chapel,"handsomely fitted up, occupies
the whole of the right wing. The saloon is

sixty feet by thirty.
In this mansion are to be seen many fine

portraits, as well as other paintings. To name
a few of the principal :

—Henry VIII. and

Edward VI., apparently by Holbein
;
Janies

II.; the Earl of Darnley, a whole length ;

Joan of Arc
;
the Duke of Buckingham ;

St.

Catherine, reading and leaning on the wheel

of martyrdom ;
and some others of more

or less merit, besides various elegant busts.

One of Charles Fox, in particidar, is deserving
of notice. In the chapel there is a very beau-

tiful picture of the Nativity, by Rubens;
as well as a white marble tabernacle, and four

statues of considerable merit, by a young Irish

artist, Farrell.

CHILLINGHAM CASTLE, in the co. of North-

umberland, the seat of the Earlof Tankerville.

This place, oi-iginally called Chevelingham,
was at one time held of the barony of William

de Vescy, by Robert de Muscamp. It

afterwards belonged to the heroic race of the

Greys, barons of Wark, from whom it has

been inherited by the Earls of Tankerville.

Chillingham Castle, which stands upon an

eminence, was rebuilt in the reign of Queen
Elizabeth. It is a square, massive structure,

having four stories in the wings, and three in

the centre, which last has an open area,
" whence you ascend by many steps into a

balustrade ornamented with the effigies of

British warriors armed, cut in stone." The
comnumications betweeen the various parts
of tlie building are irregular, and the rooms in

general are far from being large.
" In one of

the apartments," says Mr. Wallis,
"

is a mar-

ble chimney-piece; in sawing which from the

block, a live toad was discovered therein.

The nidus where the animal lodged, as it was

disagreeable to the eye, by order of the late

Earl was fiUed with cement. We inquired
after this cui"iosity, but the housekeeper
knew nothing of it. We saw a painting of

this phenomenon, subsci-ibed to which were

some Latin stanzas. The toad, if as large as

represented in the painting, was wonderful

indeed for size, as well as its existence, being
near as big as a hat crown. It is not possible
to look on this object without giving passage
to some reflections of the following order—
How incomprchensible is the existence of

this animal ! shut up in the bosom of a moun-

tain, cased in a rock of marble, perhaps a

hundred feet from the surface
; living without

air, or such only as should pervade the veins

of this stone ; existing without other diet than

the dews which might pass through the tex-

ture of marble
; deprived of animal consola-

tions, without light, without liberty, without

an associate of its kind. If deposited here

when the matter which enclosed it was soft,

and before it gained its consistencyas marble,
how many ages ought we to number in its

life ? for multitudes of years must have passed
to reduce any soft substance, in a state of na-

ture, to the state of this stone. We may ask,

why did it not perish in the universal wreck
of animal existence ? and at what age of the

woi"ld were these niountains of marble first

formed? The inquiry leads to a maze of per-

plexity ;
like the ingenious Mr, Brydon's in~

spection of the stratas of jEtna lava, all adopted

chronology sinks in the view, years are ex-

tended on the age of creation, beyond every-

thing of Chinese calculation."

But the greatest curiosity about Chillingham
is the breed of wild cattle, which is still pre-
served in the park belonging to this estate.

They are called the White Scottish Bison,
and are said to be of so fierce a nature as to

be absolutely untameable. Pennant thus

speaks of them in his '' Tour in Scotland"

(vol. ii. p. 124) :
—

" In my walks about the park see the white

breed ofwild cattle, derived from the native race

of the country, and still retaining the primeval

savageness and ferocity of their ancestors :

were more shy than any deer
;
ran away on

the appearance of any of the human species,
and even set off at fuU gallop on the least

noise, so that I was under the necessity of

going very softly under the shelter of trees or

bushes to get a near view of them. During
summer they keep apart from all other cattle,

but in severe weather hunger will compel
them to visit the outhouses in search of food.

The keepers are obliged to shoot them if any
are wanted

;
if the beast is not killed on the

spot, it runs at the person who gave tlie

wovmd, and who is forced, in order to save

himself, to fly for safety to the intervention

of some tree. These cattle are of a middle size,

have very long legs, and the cows are fine

horned
;
the orbits of the eyes, and the tips of

the noses are black
;
but the bidls liave lost

the manes attributed to them by Boethius."

It should be observed, however, that Pen-
nant is speaking of these cattle, as he saw

them, not at Chillingham, but at Drumlanrig,
in Scotland, which was then a seat of the

Duke of Queensberry.
In the house at Chillingham are several

interesting portraits, amongst which may be

enumerated—a full length of Lord Chancel-

lor Bacon
;
another of Lord Treasurer Bur-

leigh ; a gaudy painting of Buckingham, in

a white satin gilded vest, gold and white

striped breeches, efteminate and fantastical
;

a portrait of King Ciiarles

James II., with a

of good to himself or others, &c

g,
^wuz.^..

,
a portrait of

countenance little omiuous
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At no great distance from Chillingham are

two circular intrenchments ;
and aboiit a mile

from it, at New Town, is a stone cross twelve

feet high, called tlie Hurle Stone.

BEYNBRAS CASTLE, North Wales, in the

co. of Carnarvon, the seat of Thomas Wil-

liams, Esq.
The name of this place is in part derived

from the Welsh word bryn,
" a hill," which is

strictly descriptive of the situation. Brds is

also Welsh, and may have heen applied as

pro])er to the fertility of the soil.

The estate has been in the family noAv

possessing it since the reign of Queen Eliza-

beth. The house, however, has been built in

modern timcs. It is a castellated mansion,
situated on high ground near the mountains,
three miles from the base of Snowdon, con-

taining circular rooms, corridor, hall, and

banqueting room. They are in the pure
Norman decorative style,
The grounds are enclosed by park walls,

several niiles in length.

BERWICK PLACE, in the co. of Essex,
and parish of Hatfiekl Peverell, the seat of the

Rev. C. G. Gretton Townshend.
This mansion was built about the year

1830, by A. Johnson, Esq., from plans drawn

by Mr. T. Hopper, the county surveyor. It

is a plain square edifice, sufficiently large
and commodious, standinguponrisingground.
From the gardens niay be seen some of the

finest cedars in England. They grow upon
an estate belonging to Lord Rayleigh, called

at present Topinhoe, or Toppingo, but wliich

at one time borc tlie name of Fihols, a house

in the Elizabethan style, wliich was formerly
of considerable importance.

HUNSDON, Hertfordshire, about five miles

from Warc, the seat of Major-General Calvert.

In the time of Hcnry VI., this manor

belonged to Sir William Oldham, Kt., who was
attainted oftreason in the thirty-cightli year of

that n)onarch'sreign for adliering to the Duke
of York. When Edward IV. obtained the

crown, tliat which liadbeen high treason, then

became loyalty and good service, in conse-

quence of which, the sonof Sir Jolin Oldliam
had his estates rcstored. Hereupon he built

afair house here after the manner of a castle,

wbich building, it is said, cost upwards of seven

thousand two hundred poimds, an inunense

sum for those days. In theLatin Ithwrary of

William Cotoner,—or William of Worcester, as

he is somctimes called—we are tokl that the

Tower ofHounsdon was a villa,with othcr build-

ings and stables of brick
;
the breadth of every

side of the said tower was eighty feet, having in

each seven wide buttresses
;
its height with the

"
ovyrstorye" called " an ovyell

"
with windows

aiid gildcd vanes, measured from the ground a

hundred feet. Tlie leiigth of the principal liall

of the said tower was eighty feet. Its wldth

was twenty. We may further add that it

fronted the west, for the stables, which are

represented inSir HenryChamicy's view, still

remain, and sufficiently indicate itspo.sition.

When the star of the Yorkists again set

with King Ilichard at Bosworth Field, and the

Sir John Oldham of that day was slain Avith

his master, the estate once more reverted to

the crown, then upon the head of Henry VII.

The new monarch granted Hunsdon to his

mother, when after some doubtful changes, Ave

find it in the possession of Henry VIII., who
in the twenty-third year of his reign made

great additions to it by building overthe moat
which closcly circumscribed the walls of the

ancient edifice. When at length it came into

the hands of Queen Elizabeth, she grantcd it to

Sir Henry Cary, the son of her unfortunate

mother's sister, Mary Boleyn, and who wms
afterwards created Baron Hunsdon. This,

however, did not satisfy him
;
he aspived to

be Earl of Wiltshire, a title which he con-

ceived belonged to him in right of his niother,

Mary ;
and this being refused, he took it so

much to heart that he fell into a fatal sickness.

The Queen, then becoming sensible that she

had nsed him harshly, caused his patent to be

drawn out for the desiredearldoni, hisrobes to

be made and laid upon his bed, andgraciously
visited him in person. But the rough old noble
—as rough upon his death-bed as he had ever

shown himself at court, bluntly exclaimed, that

as he had been accounted by her unworthy of

this honour while living, so he reckoned him-

self unworthy of it when dying.
The gi-eat gi-andson of this roughbuthonest

soldier—John, second Earl of Dovor—sold

Hunsdon to William Willoughby, Esq., after-

wards Lord Willoughby, of Parham, who in

1671, re-sold it to Matthew Black, Esq., oneof
the six clerks in Chancery. His son disposed
of it again to Josias Nicolson, Esq., and this

last named gentleman bequeathed it by will

to his grandson, Nicolson Calvert, Esq., in

whose family it still remains.

The old house at Hunsdon, the residence

both of Mary and her sister Elizabeth, has

undergone many vicissitudes. In 1743 Mr.
Nicolson pullcd down the wings, which had
never been finished internally, and left the

house as built by Sir John Oldham. In this

state it remained vmtil the year 1804, when
his great grandson pulled down most part of it

and rebuilt it upon a large scale, with its face

towards the south. It now presents the castel-

lated appearance ofthe old edifice, the identical

front of which yct remains. The park attached

to this mansion is well stocked with timber,

and is sitnated in a very fcrtile part of the

county. The quality of thc soil with relation

to forest trees may be best estimated from a

single fact. At the distance of about three

hundred yards south-east of the house, there

stood at one time a willow trce more remark-
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a1)le in its kind tlian either the chestnut tree at

Little Wymoiulley, or tlie oalc in the p^rounds

of Earl Cowper at 1'ansanger. In 18120 the

trnnk of this tree, then in a vigorous state, and

witliout any external marks of decay, was found

to contain, by measurement taken under the

bark, 420 cubic feet of wood; and over the

bark, not less than 479. It was blown down

l)y a heavy gale of wind in the winter of the

year succeeding.

DYNES HALL, in the co. of Essex, and

parish of Great Maplestead, the seat of Henry
Jolui Sperling, Esq.

In the reigns of King John, Henry III.,

Edward I., and Edward II., this manor was

possessed by the family of Dynes, or Deanes,

originally of Lancashire, froni whom it re-

ceived the name that it still retains. Subse-

quently it was exchanged for the estate after-

wards called Hyde Park, which Colonel

Sparrow bad obtained for his services to

Parlianient in the time pf Charles. At a

later period it was sold to Sir Mark Guyon ;

a daughter of wliich family, in default of heirs

male, conveyed it, bymarriage, tothe Bullocks,
of Faulkborn Hall, near Witham, Essex.

From one of their descendants, it was bought

by tlie father of the present possessor. The

Sperlings came originally from Dantzig, or

Conigsburg, and fii-st settled here in 1698.

The oldest known niansion on this spot was

built in 1580, by one of the Deanes
;
but this

was puUed down, and anewhouse commenced
in or near 1690, by SirMark Guyon, Kt., son

of the rich clothier,Thomas Guyon, of Cogges-
hall. Sir Mark, however, died before it was

linished. It is a red brick building, in the

plain style common to the period of its erection.

The grounds, with three pieces of oi-na-

mental water, are tastefully laid out, and were

nuich improved by the father of the present
owner. But nature had already done much
for them, the surface being pleasingly varied

by gentle unduhitions, and watered by a little

stream that rims into the river Colne, about a

quarter of a mile below. The general beauty
of the landscape is much heightened by an

artificial waterfall, pronounced by Sir John
Franklin to be the most natural one he had
ever seen.

TITSEY PLACE, in the co. of Surrey, near

the eastern end of the Surrey Downs, the seat

of William Leveson Gower, Esq.

Up to the year 1297, and for a long time

previous, the manor of Titsey was possessed

by a family who either gave their name to

the place, or derived one from it. We next

find it occnpied by Sir Thomas de Uvedale,

by one of wliose descendants it was alienated

to Sir John Gresham, Alderman of London,
a member of the same family as the founder

of the Royal Exchange. He was Sheriif of

London in 1537, and Lord Mayor ten years

afterwards, and died exactly after the hipse of

anotlier ten years, the several dates running
thus—1537, 1547, 1557.

In 1804, Catherine Maria Gresham, who
had obtained the estate in default of heirs male,

conveyed it by marriage to William Leveson

Gower, Esq., third son of the Hon. John
Leveson Gower, an admiral in the navy, and

eldest son of John, first Earl Gower, by his

third marriage with Mary, reHct of Anthony
Grey, Earl of Harold, and daughter and co-

heiress of Thomas, Earl of Tlianet.

The present mansion was built by Sir

John Gresham, the last Baronet of that name,
who erected it on the site of an older house,
which he had pulled down for that pnrpose.
It stands at an angle of the road, leading from

Limpsfield to Croydon, through Warlingham,
and opposite to the modern church, an edifice

of brick and stone, bviilt also by Sir John
Gresham. Tlie present owner of this estate

has done much towards improving the house,
which was not originally remarkable for

architectural elegance ;
and surrounded as it

is by plantations, it now olfers a very hand-

some and picturesque appearance. In the

library is a fine porti-ait of Sir Thonias

Gresham, the founder of the Royal Exchange,
wliose celebrity has outlived tlie fame of many
a man of genius. It was painted by Sir

Antonio More, and represents the rich mer-

chant in mature age, dressed in a suit of

black, a pair of gloves in his right hand, and
a small cap upon his head, that usvial appen-

dage of the grave citizen, and the constant butt

of the dramatists of the age.
In the grovmds at Titsey Place, several

stone monvnnents have been discovered at

various times by labourers, when digging up
the eartli. They are generally supposed to

have belonged to the thirteenth centvny, a

notion which can as little be proved as it can

be disproved. Such fragments are without

any inscription, and with no other ornament
than a cross rudely sculptvu-ed upon the stone.

In 1738, when thisproperty was held by Sir

Marmaduke Gresham, Bart., ayetmore curious

relique was found in the gardens. Tliis was a

silver ring, closed, as it were, by joined hands,
and thus inscribed, -t- Jhe + nazaren + Rex.
The characters of the inscription helong to

the Gothic, as commonly vised in the middle

ages, and the relique has been variously conjec-
tured to be a bridal ring, or a pledge of

friendship. Tlie more natural solution is, that

it was a religious ornament worn by the pious
in memory of our Saviour.

HAKEWOOD HOUSE, Yorkshire, in the West

Riding, rather more than six miles from

Leeds, and eight from Harrogate Spa, tlie

splendid seat of the Earl of Harewood, recently
renovated and improved.
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The lordship of Harewood at an early

period was possessed by the family of Gas-

coigne. At GawtJiorpe, within the township
of Harewood, resided Chief Justice Gascoigne,
who has obtained in the pages of Shakspeare a

more lasting record than any given by history
or chronicle :

—
•' I then did use the person of your father

;

The image of his power lay then in nie,
And in tli' administration of his law,
Wliiles I was busy for the conmionwealth—
Your highness pleased to forget my place,
The majesty and power of law and justice,
The image of the King- whom I presented,
And sti"uclj me in my very seat of judgment ;

Whereon, as an offender to your father,
1 gave bold way to my authority,
And did commit you."

Nor was this the only instance of the Judge's
firm and independent spirit. He refused

the conimands of Henry IV. to try Richard

Scrope, then Archbishop of York, for higli
treason

;
an office which a more pliant judge

assumed, and pursued to a fatal end.

Gawthorpe, with the castle and honours of

Harewood, passed by marriage from the Gas-

coignes to the family of Wentworth, Earl of

Strafford, in which it continued for fovir gene-
ratious, till in the year 1656, it was piu-chased

by Sir John Cutler, who conjointly with his

friend and relation by marriage, Sir John

Lewis, bought Ledstone and Harewood.

Upon a division of the property, Harewood,
with its dependencies, fell to the share of

Cutler, who bequeathed his estates to his

only surviving daughtei', Elizabeth, wife of

Jolm Robarts, Earl of Radnor, with a re-

mainder in failure of issue, to his kinsman,
Jolm Boulter, Esq. About 1771, the trustees

of the last-named gentleman sold the manor,
with its appurtenances, to Henry Lascelles,

Esq., father of the Ist Lord Harewood.
The foundations of this mansion were laid

by the above-mentioned nobleman in the year
1760, upon a spot a little elevated above that

of Okl Gawthorpe. It is built of a very fine

sort of stone, taken from a quarry at no great
distance, and commands a i-ich home view over
fields and woods. The woi-k was commenced
imder the direction of Adams, but the quad-
ranglo of the stables was built by Sir William
Chambers. Its length is 247 feet, 10 inches,

by 89 feet in width, dis])laying all the rich-

ness of Corinthian architecture. The whole
consists of a centre and two wings.
Of the fronts, tlie south is jjerhaps thc

finest, its greatcr apparent elevation giving to

it a more imposing character.

The apartments are Large and numerous,
and tiiiished in the highest style of elegance.
Many of the ceilings are richly decorated with
beautiful designs by Zucci, and otlier artists

of rcputati(m. The gaHery andgreat drawing-
room are peculiarly nuignificent ;

the former,
wliich occupies the west wing, being 77 feet

in length, 24§ in breadth, and 22 in height.
The designs on the ceihng, by Rebecci, are

admiraljly executed, and representtlie seasons
of the year, intermixed with figures from the
heathen mythology, while the stucco-work, by
Rose, can hardly be surpassed. The drawing-
room is not less magnificent, and yet with all

the splendour that pervades the whole man-
sion, it is remarkable in an unusual degree, for
its convenience

;
an advantage that is too fre-

queiitly forgotten by those who study excel-
lence of architecturec

The gardens and pleasure groundswerelaid
out by Browne, whose skill upon this occasion
seems to have rivalled that of ihe builder. The
ground before the south front was originally a

rough hill, but, as we have already noticed,
it has been sloped down, so as to form a
beautifid declivity. The gardens abound
with every contrivance for producing the
finest fruits, flowers, and exotics. A noble
sheet ofwater embellishes the pleasure grounds,
and in the park is a handsome lodge ;

the
whole of tltis fairy landscape having arisen
out of what was not so many years since only
ploughed land.

At a very short distance from the house,
is Harewood Chm-ch, an ancient and vener-
able structure, embowered in trees, which
gives to it a peculiar character of solemnity.
Amongst the distinguished individuals that
moulder beneath the monuments within, is

Prince Henry's Lord Chief Justice.

RIBY GKOVE, in the co. of Lincoln, near
Great Grimsby, one of the most ancient

boroughs in England, the seat of George
Tomline, Esq., M.P. for Shrewsbury, who
also possesses Orwell Park.

In 1611, Riby was received by the then
Mr. Tomline, in exchange for the Manton
estate in the same county, at which place, the

family had for some time resided.
The present mansion was erected about one

hundred and fifty years ago, by Marmaduke
Tomline, Esq. It is a large building in the
Italian style of architecture, and has been
mucli celebrated for its noble library.

If we may judge from ancient records, this

neighbourhood has been at different times

subject to storms and overflowings of the sea
after no ordinary measure. Many pampldets
are still extant, detailing visitations of this

kind, one of which has the following copious
and somewhat singular title-page :

—
"
Thunder, haile, and lightning froni heaven

against certaine covetous persons, inhabitants
of Humerston, Lincolnshire, five miles from

Grimsby, thought to be a just punishment
from God in the behalfe of the poore, the 3rd
of July last, 1610; how the corne was de-

stroyed, the like never heard of in any age,
only one man's estatc preserved, who gave
them reliefe, as it was justified before tho
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knights and justices of the countie at the

sessions held at Lowth, the lOth dayeof July ;

witli the lanientable end of John Cornish, his

wife and two children, who were most stranglie
consumed in a day at Stow, in StafFordshire,

the 9th of May, 1G16."

BEOCKLESBY PARK, in the co. of Lincohi,
about eight miles north-east from Caistor,
and ten miles westward from Grimsby, the

seat of the Earl of Yarborough.
This house was not remarkable for architec-

ture in its original construction, but it has of

late years received many additions and im-

provemcnts. It contains a fine coUection of

paintings by the old masters, and a few sculp-
tured marbles, amongst which is an antique
head of Niobe, in high estimation amongst
artists.

In 17S7, the noble owner of this estate

commenced a mausoleum and chapel, which
was completed in 1794. It was executed

under the direction of Mr. Janies Wyatt, and
stands upon a commanding eminence in the

park, which at one time, must have been a

pUice of Iloman sepulture, as appears from
the sepulchral urns, burnt bones, and ashes,

together with a variety of rings, combs, and

perforated beads, discovered upon digging for

the foundation. The form of the edifice is

that of a Grecian temple ;
it is circular, with

a colonnade consisting of twelve fluted Doric

columns, that stand upon a rusticated base-

ment, about fifty-two feet in diameter
;
these

uphold a bold entablature, the frieze of which
is adorned with festoons of flowers, "sus-

pended from the horns of the buU, and above
which is an open balustrade. The external

body of the temple, which is nearly forty feet

in diameter, contains four niches, in each of

which stands a sarcophagus. This part of the

building rises to a small height above the

balustrade, where it is surmounted by a dome,
the commencement of which is of stone, and
the upper part copper, with a circular curb of

stonework surrounding an aperture at the

summit through which descends the light

necessary for the interior of the building.
The basement contains the cemetery, with

compartments and recesses for depositing
coffins (which also is divided by pillars, and
has a circular sarcophagus in the centre).
Above the basement is the part called the

chapel, wliich is ascended by a spacious flight
of

steps. The interior is divided into four

compartments by eight fluted columns of the

Corinthian order, supporting the highly
decorated and lofty dome."

HOLKHAM HALL, in the county ofNorfolk,
the seat of the Earl of Leicester.

This magnificent edifice was begun in the

year 1734 by the Earl of Leicester and the

Earl of Burlington, assisted by Kent, the

architect. It would seem, however, as if the

design chiefly emanated from the Earl of

Leicester, who, amidst all his improvements
in planting and agriculture, never lost sight of

his main object, the erection and embelHsh-
ment of this mansion. In reality, though
not in name, he was an architect, having dili-

gently studied the profession during a seven

years' residence in Italy, his plans for Holk-
ham having been principally borrowed from
PaUadio and Inigo Jones. But he did not

live to complete his work, which was after-

wards finished by his Dowager Countess, in

1764.

This mansion may be properly said to con-

sist of five quadrangles ;
that is, of a large

central building and four wings, so that each

side presents a regular and perfect front. The

junction of each wing to the main body by
means of corridors, is an admirable contri-

vance, as they serve either to unite theprinci-

pal floors of the wings with the state apartments,
or to detach them, at pleasure, communicating
either directly with the lawn, or with the offices

below on the basement story. With some

trifling deviations, this resembles Palladio's

plan of a villa designed for the Cavalier

Leonardo Morenigo, upon the Brenta.

The extent, including the wings, is 344
feet by 180 in depth. Of the fronts, the

south has a noble portico supported by six

Corinthian columns, and presents an air of

lightness and elegance, imited to uncommon

justness of proportions. The north, which is

the grand entrance, exhibits other and per-

haps more majestic features
;

it comprises a

centre and two wings, with a tier of Venetian

windows, over one of sniall square windows in

the rustic basement.

Each of the four wings, or pavilions, has its

respective destination. That called the
"
Stranger's Wing," is intended for the ac-

connnodation of visitors, for which purpose
it is divided upon the ground-floor into single

bed-chambers, while above, on the principal

floor, it is arranged in a similar way, but

with single or double dressing-rooms, and
communicates by a corridor with the grand

apartments at the north end of the statue-

gallery. The "
Family Wing,

"
as its name im-

plies, is reserved for the owner and his family ;

it contains the library, besides two additional

rooms, the one fitted up for the reception of

an invaluable collection of manuscripts, the

other, for the earlier edltions of the classics.

The "
Chapel Wing" contains on its principal

floor, the Chapel and two sleeping apartments,
with dressing-rooms, above which are lodgings
for the servants

;
the lower part is appropri-

ated to the laundry and dairy offices, with a

drying yard and court attached. The "Kitchen

Wing" speaks for itself. The samemight be

said of the basement story, with the cellarage
beneath it. The entrance-hall (46 feet by 70,
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and 43 higli) is entircly of Derbyshire marble ;

lonic columnsj upon a basement of the same

material, forming around it a gallery of com-
munication to the apartments upon the princi-

pal floor. The saloon is a noble apartment,

being 40 feet by 28,

The ancient Romans, as \ve are told by Vi-

truvius, preferred the use of bricks to marble,
as being firnier and more durable. Even in

the present day the modern Roman builders

choose the brick fragments of ancient and di-

lapidated edifices for rough walling and for

fa^ades of houses intended to be stuccoed.

The Holkham bricks resemble the modern

yellow biick of the Romans, both in colour

and hardness, a similarity that was discovered

by comparing the former with one of the

latter, accidentally sent from Rome in the

packing-case of an antique statue.

Bath stone, in deference to its fine yellow
tint, was at first fixed upon for the external

surface of the proposed edifice, but a brick

earth was found in the neighbouring parish of

Burnliam, which, with proper seasoning and

tempering, produced an excellent well-shaped
brick, approaching nearly to the colour of

Bath stone, full as ponderous, and of a much
firmer texture. The result has fully justified
tliechoice.

No less care was taken in preparing the

mortar for the walls. It was first mixed in

due proportion of lime and sand, and then, to

render it of sufiicient fineness for close brick-

work, ground between a pair of large mill-

stones, fitted to an engine for that purpose.
It shoukl also have been mentioned that the

bricks were not made to fit into their respec-
tive beds, by chipping or cutting, as is tlie

common practice, but were cast in no lesa

than tliirty moulds of different shapes and

sizes, by which means also any discoloration

of them was avoided.

Themortarhavingbeen made in themanner
described above, it was reduced to grout, and

poured in a licjuid state upon every course,
or every two courses of the brick-work

;
at

the same time, the architect was careful that

no part of the principal walls should be sup-

ported on tiniber, lest in decaying it might
damage the fabric. So little, indeed, does
the strength of this edifice depend upon its

timbers, that the girders of the chief fioors

were not hoisted into their respective situa-

tions till after the roof had been raised to

the building and the walls of the house com-

pleted. By tliis manngement the timbers
haveafree circulation ofair aljoutlheni, being
in contact with tlie wall only on thcir lower
surfaces.

Evcrything within this noble mansion is wor-

thy of thc labour and oxpense that liave been
bestowed upon the exterior. The fioors are

cntirely of wainscot oak
;

the chinmey-pieces
are in the finest style of art, tliose of the prin-

cipal rooms being of pure statuary marble,
while the rest are composite, and in point of

beauty as well as variety of material and

workmansliip, are not to be surpassed ;
the

ceilings to the principal floor are ably exe-

cuted in white and gold, presenting a liglit

and beautiful effect
;

tlie Venetian windows
are ornamented with handsome pillars, and
are also gilded.

Those who now visit the grounds attached
to this seat, will hardly believethat they once

presented nothing more than an open, barren
waste

; yet such is the fact, and it is thus re-

corded in an inscription over the entrance-
door into the hall :

—
" This seat, on an open, barren estate, was planned,

planted, built, decorated, and inhabited, the middle of
the eighteenth century,

BY THOMAS COKE,
KARL OF LEICESTKK."

Never have human skill and human in-

dustry achieved a nobler triumph. Tlie

park, within its paling, contains about 3,500
acres, its circumference being upwards of ten

miles. Within it is a most enchanting ride,

seven miles in length, amidst a belt of firs and
other trees, shrubs, and evergreens, whose

foliage exhibits every variety of summer and
autunmal tints. On tlie north side of the

park is a lake extending over about twenty
acres, in the midst of whicli is a small island.

The shore is bold, and finely clothed with
wood.
Another ornament of the park is an obelisk,

eighty feet high. It is, however, only cased with

Bath stone ashlar, fastened together with iron

cramps, and as the work advanced, filled up
with regular courses of brick-work, laid dr}',
and cemented with grout, or liqiud mortar.
A few yards to the north of the obelisk is

a remarkably grand view of the house and of

the lake, which fi-om this situation appears to

be only separated fi-om the sea by the beauti-

ful intervening wood. Indeed, it resembles
an arm of the sea flowing up amidst a sylvan
scene, not unlike that witnessed by ilineas

on the river Tiber, as he proceeded to the

hospitable dwelling of Evander :

"
Thybris ea fiuvium—quam lontta est !

—nocte tumentem
Lcniit, et tacita reflucns ita substitit unda,
Mitis ut in morem staj^ni placidivque paludis
Stcrnerct a?qor aquis, remo ut luctamcn abesset."

"The following niglit and the succeeding day
Pi'opitious Tiber smoothcd his watery wa)' ;

He rolled his river back, anil poiscd lie stuod,
A gentle swelling and a pcaccful llootl."

The kitchen-garden, including the outer

belt, comprises eight acres of gronnd in a

high state of cultivation. The princij^al part
is divided into three squares of one acre each ;

the lesscr j)art contains two coinpartments of

one acre each. The walling extends to iip-

wards of fourteen hundred yards in lengtli,

and foiu"teen feet in height, covercd with
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fmit-trees. Iii the middle square are two

niulberry-trees, one of which spreads to an

extent of thirty yards, while the smaller one

is no less than twenty-seven in the circum-

ference of its branches. The vinery is one of

the finest to be seen throughout England.
In the house is a splendid collection of pic-

tures, but the catalogue is much too long to

be enumerated. The names of some of the

leading artists will alone suffice to give the con-

noisseur an idea of what is to be seen at Holk-
ham :

— Lanfranco, Guido, Titian, Carlo Ma-

ratti, Rubens, Annibal Caracci, Vandyke,
Sebastian Conca, Canaletti, Gaspar Poussin,

Raphael, Parmegiano, Paul Veronese, Leo-

nardo da Vinci, Claude Lorraine, &c., besides

sonie antiques, and choice pieces of sculpture.

GEOVELANDS, in the county of Middlesex,

Southgate, the seat of John Donnethorne

Taylor, Esq.
This property belonged at one time to the

family of Gray. It afterwards passed to the

present owner from Walter Gray, Esq., his

imcle by marriage. The house is a building
in the lonic style of architectiu-e, erected after

designs by Nash, three fronts of it being
ornamented with columns of that order. The
entrance is attained by a flight of stone steps,
and is enriched by duplicated lonic pillars,

while evei-y attention has been paid within to

the requisitions of modern convenience. It

stands upon a gentle eminence that forms part
of a hilly amphitheati-e, the lawn in front

sloping downwards to the very edge of an
artificial lake, while the rising grounds upon
the opposite side of the water are covered

with wood, broken into parts by a glade in

the centre. and by varying outlines along the

banks. It was built by tlie Walter Gray
above mentioned, and completed about the

year 1798. At one time there was a beautiful

conservatory attached to the mansion, and
which was mentioned by Loudon when

writing in 1839, but it has since then fallen

into decay from the dry-rot, and has been
removed.
The kitchen-garden is close—perhaps too

close—to the house. One modern topographer,
Mr. Keane, says of it, that it is

" hennned in by
trees and walls, and more suited for a suburban

edifice of a few acres, than for an estate of five

hundred." A wall goes round the park and

pleasure-groimds, which has latterly been

pierced with openings like windows, and which

only wants the addition ofbeing overgrownwith

ivy, tobear afanciful resemblance to cloisters.

The park extends to one hundred and

twenty acres, and abounds with fine trees that

give shelter to a herd of deer. The pleasure-

grounds were laid out by tbe celebrated

Repton, whose talents have been much aided

by the natural beauties of the site, and its

perfect air of stillness and seclusion.

CASTLE TOWAED, Argyleshire, the seat of

Alexander S. Finlay, Esq.
The family of the Finlays left Inverness-

shire about the year 1600, and settled in Dum-
bartonshire, where they have for a long time

possessed the estate of " the Moss," near Kil-

learn. Mr. Kirkman Finlay, father of the

present proprietor, being of the younger branch
settled in Glasgow, where he made a handsome
fortune. He was returned Member of Parlia-

ment for that city in 1812, and in 1819 was
elected Rector of the University. After a long
and useful career, during which he was uni-

versally esteemed and respected, he died at

Castle Toward in 1842. A marble statue,
executed by Gibson, has since been erected

to his memory in Glasgow.
The present mansion was erected in 1820

by Kirkman Finlay, Esq., and is situated

near the southern extremity of the peninsula,
which stretches into the Firth of Clyde. It is

a comfortable mansion, in the castellated

style of architecture, built after the plans of

Mr. Hamilton of Glasgow, who himself con-

sidered it as one of the best of his designs, an

opinion confii-med by the voice of less partial

judges, who have decided that " there are few

specimens of the modern Gothic more happily
conceived, ormoreadaptedtothe circumstances

of situation. If when critically examined, it

be judged deficient in massive grandeur, its

lighter and more ornate features harmonize
with the surrounding scenery."
The grounds are extensive, and command

several beautiful views, and more particularly
of the Firth of Clyde, and Kyles of Bute.

This estate once belonged to the ancient

family of the Lamonts, the i-uins of whose
castle still exist within three hundred yards of

the present mansion. Upon the twenty-ninth
of August, 1563, Mary Queen of Scots dined

here, while making a tour thi-ough the west

covmtrj', and after dinner crossed over to Ayr-
shire. The castle was attacked in June, 1646,

by a body of Campbells, vmder the command
of the Laird of Ardkinglass, and surrendered

after a six-weeks' siege, when it was burnt,
and the lands attached to it laid waste. The
unfortunate garrison were taken to Dunoon,
where some were hanged, and the rest cruelly
butchered in cold blood with dirk and pistols.

This fact formed an important item in the

indictment preferred against the Marquis of

Argyle in 1661 for high treason.

WINDMILL HILL, in the co. of Sussex
;
the

seat of Herbert Mascall Curteis, Esq., recently
Member of Parliament for Rye.

This gentleman is the head of the Sussex

Curteis's, who have for some generations
resided in that county, and who have pos-
sessed property there from time immemorial:

They spring from a Kentish family of con-

siderable antiquity, descended, according to
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ti-adition, from the unfortunate Robert

Curtliose, the eldest son of William the

Conqueror. The father of the present Mr.

Curteis (Herbert Barrett Curteis, Esq.,)
and his grandfather (Edward Jeremiah Cur-

teis, Esq.,) represented the county of Sussex,

and the latter the borough of Rye in Parlia-

ment for some years.
The estate of Windmill Hill belonged for

some centuries to the ancient family of Lux-

ford, or Lunsford, who made it tlieir place of

residence. They were eminent loyalists, and

when Charles IL proposed founding an order

of knighthood for those who had distinguished
themselves in the royal cause dm-ing the

great Civil War, the name of George Lux-

ford, Esq., of Windmill Hill, is uniformly secn

in the historic lists of the intended knights.
Li 1739 the lastof the Luxfords bequeathed

this estate to his widow. By her it was left

to a niece, who married Comyn, Esq.,
and their son sold it to his brother-in-law,
William Pigou, Esq. He again disposed of

it to Edward Jeremiah Curteis, Esq., in whose

family it still continues.

The okl house, wliich had existed from time

immemorial, was pulled down towards the

end of the last century by Mr. Pigou, when
he erected the present mansion on its site,

from the plans of William Reveley, an inge-
nious architect and antiquary, who had
studied under Sir William Chambers. It is

an elegant mansion, in the Italian villa style,

exceedingly convenient, and stands upon an

eminence that commands deliglitful and
extensive views over the South Downs,

Pevensey Bay, and the Weald of Sussex to

the north, togetlier with the fine old ruins of

Herstmonceux Castle, the property of Mr.
Curteis. The house is well sheltered by
woods and plantations to the north and west,

and—what is no longer common in this

country
—close to it is a heronry, with

the less unusual adjunct of a rookery.

ABEECAIENY, Scotland, in the co. of

Perth and parish of Fowlis Wester
;

the seat

of the late William Moray Stirling, Esq.,
and now the property of his sister, Mrs. Home
Drummond. The estate has belonged to the

family of Moray for nearly six centuries. 'J'he

mansion is an extensive modern building in

the Gothic style of architectiu-e, It is built

of a hglit grey-coloured stone, combining
durability witli beauty, and being situate on

a bank sloping to tlie soutli, and surrounded

by extcnsive plantations, produces an imposing
etfect. The west end of the house commands
a magnificent view of the Grampian Hills.

LUDE, near Blair AthoU, in the co. of

Perth
;
the seat of James P. Mclnroy, Esq.

There are no records extant of this estate

prior to its posscssion by the Robertsons,

from whom it passed to the family of the

present owner. The present mansion was
erected in 1840 by James P. Mclnroy, Esq.,
on the site of an ancient edifice that dated as

far back as the beginning of the sixteenth

century. It belongs to the old English style
of architecture, and stands upon an eminence,
surrounded with fine growing woods, and

having the river Garry in front towards the

south. The prospect is exceedingly pictu-

resque and striking, the hoiise overlooking
the whole of the valley of Atholl.

There is a tradition of Queen Mary having
once paid a visit to the old house of Lude.
On tliat occasion she presented the lady of

John Robertson, Esq.,
—the then owner of

the estate—witli her own harp, which still

remains in the possession of Major Robertson,
of the 82nd regiment, the direct representative
of the Robertsons of Lude, one of the most
ancient and eminent families in Scotland.

In 1745, Prince Charles Edward Stuart

remained here for ten days when on his way
to Perth and Edinbm-gh.

TOE ABBEY, Devonshire, near Torquay, the

seat of Robert Shedden Sulyarde Cary, Esq.
This was, in tlie olden time, a Norbertine

monastery, dedicated to the honour of tlie

Saviour, and richly endowed by William,
Loixl Brewer, in tlie year 1196; so much so,

indeed, that it has generally been considered

the most opulent of all the monasteries of this

order in England. It was colonized from
Welbeck House, in Nottingliamshire, the

abbots of which were especially licensed by
the Pope, to preside at the election of its

superiors, and to present the persons elected

to tlie diocesan, for confirmation in their

office. Unlike the Dominicans and Francis-

cans, this order is hardly known under its

original name to our days. St. Norbert erected

his first monastery of canons regular about
the year 1120, in a lonesome valley, called

Premontre, (in the diocese of Laon,) which
mother-house afterwards gave its appelhition
to the whole order. By this title it will pro-

bably bebetterrecognised bymodern readers,
than by the name of Norbertine. A curious

story is tohi by monkish historians, respecting
the derivation of this word. Inglebrand the

Great, who was celebrated for his heroic

achievements, set out one day to kill a lion

that had long been the terror of the neigh-

bouring country. It so fell out that he saw
the animal nmcli sooner than he had expected,

whereupon he cried out,
" Saint Jean, tu me

Tas de prds Premontre,"— (St. John, thou

hast ahuost foreshownhim to me.) After the

dissolution of monasteries, King Henry VIII.

granted it, in 1543, to John St. Legcr, Esq.,
whose grandson, in the reign of Queen Eliza-

beth, disposed of it to Sir Edward Seymour,
Knt. His son and heir sold the estate about

I
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nine years afterwards to Thomas Ridgeway,

Esq., ancestor ofthe Ridgevvays, Earlsof Lon-

donderry, with whom it remained until the

year 1653, or perhaps 1654, when it was sold

to John Stowell, Esq. From the last-named

gentleman it was piirchased in 1662, by Sir

George Cary.

Enough remains of the old abbey, to hint

at its original magnificence. Two of its three

gateways mentioned by Leland, have dis-

appeared, one of them having fallen from

neglect, at no very remote period ; another,

which appears to have been coeval with the

origin of the building, still remains, and seems

to bid defiance to the march of time. It is

seen at the western wing of the mansion—
has two grooved entrances, and is surmovmted

by a flag-stafF. Under its vaulting, may be

traced the arms of the abbey, as well as of

its founders and benefactors, the Brewers,

Mohuns, and Spekes. The massive irons, on

which the folding gateway swung, are still

seen fixed in the walls. The roofless Chapter-

house, the pr-ostrate masses of tlie central

tower of the abbey-church, the refectory, now
converted into a chapel, and the stately grange,
cannot fail to deeply interest the antiquary
and the genuine lover of the picturesque, who
admires from innate feeling, and not as an

idle echo of guide-books or dilettanti. A
garden and orchard have superseded the

ancient churchyard
—^life out of death. At

one time there was in front of the garden, a

large fish-pond, contiguous to what was called

theMill-garden, but this was fiUed up about

eighty years ago, with the nuns of the church

and cloisters. From an attentive examination

of the ground-plan, it has been inferred that

the choir of the church was seventy-two feet

long, by thirty feet in breadth
;
the transept,

ninety-six feet ;
and that the whole length of

the fabric, including the Lady Chapel, mea-
sured about two hundred feet. One curious

visitor, who made sundry diggings here, in

theMay of 1825, found much tessellated pave-
ment, a stone coffin, and many human bones.

The old abbey has thus been described by
the Rev. Joseph Reeve, though perhaps it will

not much add to the impressions produced by
more humble prose :

—
"
Though hallowed mitres glitter heve no morc,
The friendly Abbey still adorns the shore ;

Here meek religion's ancient temple rose,

How great, how fall'n, the mournful ruin shows.

Of sacrilege, behold, what heaps appear !

Nor blush to drop the tributary tear.

Here stood the font ; here on hig-h columns raised,

The dome extended ;
there the altar blazed.

The shattered aisles, with clustering ivy himg,
The yawning arch in rude confusion flimg ;

Sad striking remnants of a former age,

To pity now might melt the spoiler's rage.

Lo ! simk to rest, the weary vofry slceps,

"While o'er his urn, the gloomy cj-press weeps ;

Here silent, pause ; here draw the pensive sigh ;

Here, musiiig, learn to Uve ;
here learn to die!"

The house is mostly modern. It consists of

a centre and two wings ;
the western being

connected with the ancient castellated gate-

way, with octagonal towers and battlements
;

this, and the barn adjoining, now partly
covered with ivy, will be seen with peculiar
interest. Some parts also of the interior be-

speak a high antiquity.
Tor Abbey was the favourite residence of

Lord St. Vincent during the late war, while

Torbay was the rendezvous of the Channel

Fleet, and some curious documents comprising
his plans for the order of battle in the event

of thearrival of the French Fleet, are still pre-
served here. The pictures in the mansion
are chiefly by modern English artists. The
Roman Catholic chapel attached to the house
is ornamented with a superb altar and para-

phernalia, on each side of which arepaintings ;

one represents the Saviour crucified, the other

the Virgin Mary. Tlie end of this chapel,

projecting into the garden, is completely

overgrown with ivy. There are also several

niins covei-ed with the same natural and

picturesque drapery, amongst which should

be particularly noticed a large Norman arch,
with a smaller one on either side, richly orna-

niented with sculpture.
At no great distance ai-e the so-called

Abbey-sands, from the western extremity of

which a lane leads to those of Livermead.

Passing round the headland, the tourist comes

npon a natural curiosity of some note, named

Thunder-hole, from the resemblance which the

roaring of the sea in its recesses bears to

thunder. The entrance to this cavern is

divided by columns, round which a boat can

easily pass at the proper time of tide. For-

merly there was a mill upon the headland.

At low-water circular cavities may be observed

in the rocks, produced to all appearance by
the manufacture of mill-stones, the clift" being
a hard compact granite, well adapted for such

a purpose. These excavations afford a shelter

to many of the more delicate algse that tlu-ive

here in much beauty and abundance,

In connection with Tor Abbey, as forming
a peculiar featin-e in the adjacent scenery, is

Chapel Hill, a lofty rock of limestone, rising

above the Newton road, at a short distance

from the village of Tor. On the very apex of

the rock, and as if a strong wind must inevi-

tably blow it away, is a sniall building that

faces east and west. On the latter side are

two small windows, and in the cell of the

lowest are the remains of a perpendiciilar and

two horizontal irons. The window on the east

side is larger, and tliere are the vestiges of a

porch on the southern side, a few feet only
from the brow of the precipice. This edifice has

been variously held to be a chapel connected

with Tor Abbey, and dedicated to St. Michael
;

a chapel erected by some marines on escaping
a tempest, St. Michael appearing to be a

favourite saint amongst the weather-beaten

navigators ;
a religious structure where pilgrims
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were wont to repair ,
andby an expiatory penance

atone for a life of pleasure; and lastly, some

have imagined it to be tlie ehapel erected by

Reginald de Mohun within this parish. It

is, however, more easy to demonstrate the

fallacy of any or all of these conjectures, than

to show what was its real origin and object.

Another curiosity of these parts is a sort of

rocky island, which has been thus described

by Hyett in his Descrtption of the Watering
Places hi Dcvon.

"
It is approachable at low-water, separated

from aprojecting clifFby the sea, corroded by
the saline spray in the upper parts, andunder-

mined and excavated by the surge below. The

loose sandy stratumhas formed itselfinto rude

natural arches, from which there are seen

several charming views. As the rocky pillars

divide the landscape, Tor Abbey and its

wooded vale appears to much advantage, but

the opening towards Torquay is perhaps more

beautiful still. A few yards farther on is

another curiosity of somewhat thesamenature.

Here, to an immense cavern there are three

entrances
;
two lateral, and another in front.

The roof may be nearly thirty feet high, and

the length one hundred and thirty feet."

lEESWOOD, North Wales, in the co. of

Flint, the seat of John Wynne Eyton,

Esq.
This house must not, however, be con-

founded with another in the neighbourhood,

having the same name, and being the paternal
residence of the same owner, although he

himself no longer lives there. The Leeswood,
in which Mr. Eyton resides, was bought by
his father from the late Mr. Garnons, and is

a very old mansion, the original date of which

can no longer be ascertained, but it has been

greatly added to, and at a considerable

expense, by the late Sir George Wynne, who,

amongst otlier improvements, erected two

magnificent iron gates in front of it. Mr.

Eyton also possesses
—

TOWEK, in the co. of Flint, inherited

from his niother's family. It is situated

about a mile and a half from Mold, and

on the right hand side of tlie road from that

town to Nerquis. The building has a vener-

able, but somewhat desolate, appearance, and
is partly of ancient, partly of modern date,

standing amongst the remains of its ancestral

groves. It consists of a tall macliichohitcd

and embattled tower, adjoining to what

appears to be a dwelling-house of the time of

Queen Anne. The two structures, as may be

sup])osed, are perfectly incongruous. Of the

fortified portion, the defences and outer-works

are gone, and there is not even the trim gar-
den nor the stable-yard of thc niore peaceful

habitation. In front is an ordinary pasture-

field, with a fish-pond and sohtary sun-dial
;

—
" The dial-stone aged and green ;"

while beyond are piggeries, cow-sheds, and
the other essential, but not very picturesque,

adjiuicts of a small farm. Still the edifice is

not much dilapidated ;
the masonry of the

tower is as sound and sliarp as when first

erected
;
even the rampant monsters at the

corners, tliat voided from their mouths the

waters of the roof, grin as freshly and gro-

tesquely as ever they did, and if injury be

anywhere visible, it has come, not from

time, but from the hand of man.
The principal tower, and which seems to

have given its name to tlie entire building, is

on tlie western side of the house, forming an

oblong of forty-five feet on the western and
eastern sides, twenty-seven on the nortliern

and southern, and about forty feet in height
to the top of the battlement. At one period
it was divided into three stories, but these

have been altered into two, and apparently
at the commencement of the eighteenth

century ;
and thus the architectural character

ofthewhole has been mucli altered.
" On

the top was once a stone roof, reposing on

massive timber beams, sufficiently level to

permit the working of warlike engines upon it,

with area enough to accommodate a score or

so of archers. A circular turret staircase

leads to the roof at the south-eastern angle,
and has three doors within, con-esponding
with the ditFerent stories of the original
structure. At the south-western corner of this

tower is a lower oblong building, usually
called the dungeon. It consisted of two

stories, with a cellar beneath, and communi-
cated with the ground-floor room of the larger
tower by a small arclied doorway. In this

lesser building are some remains of an orna-

mental timber ceiling ;
and a water-channel

with a ring in the subteiTanean part leads to

the bcHef that it was used either for a prison
or for a place of conceahuent. It is lighted

only by long narrow loop-holes from without,
and preserves its original stone roof. Under
the larger building is a cellar, with a plain

segmental vault, which was approaclied by a

doorway leading from the mansion. On tlie

eastern wall of the main tower are to be seen

traces of jimction with tlie old roof of the

house, M'hicli, as we shall presently have
occasion to mention, was burnt down in the

fifteenth century ; andithasbeenconjectured by
an able writer in the "Cambrian Arch^ology

"

—from whom we have largely borrowed—that

this tower was intended as a place of security
in case of any sudden attack, rather than as a

piace of permanent abode. From the forms

of the archways, wliich are flattened and four-

centered, from the mouhlings of the battle-

ments, and from the workmanship of the
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immense gargoullles, that are still perfect at

each corner of the machicholated battlement,
it may be conjectured tliat the building was
erected early in the fifteenth century, tliough
there is no documentary evidence as to its

precise date. The old roof of the tower had
been altered in the sixteenth or seventeenth

century, and raised so as to allow of a place
of concealmentbeingniade among the timbers,
which may have served as a shelter for pro-
scribed Catholics, or any other individuals out

of favour with the ruling authoi-ities of the

day. The style of the two large apartments
which occupy the whole extent of tlie building
is French, and is rather curious from the

respect that has been shown in making them,
to the styie of themiddle ages; for instead of

forming square-headed Italian windows, an

attempt, and not a bad one, at medicTeval win-
dows has been made. The mouldings liave

been imitated froni the battlements
;

and
certain ornamental portions of the okler win-
dows have been used up, so as to produce an
effect which at first puzzles the antiquary.
Were it not for the style of the rooms within,
we should assign these windows to the

temporary revival in the time of Charles I.

Over the northern window of the upper
apartment is a shield, the bearings of which
we are not able to assign correctly to any
family. They are quarterly, first and fourth,

threefletirs-de-li/s, two and one; second and
third, three lions passant rcgardant; sup-
porters, on the dexter side, a mermaid, on
the sinister side what appears (being much
mutilated) to be a grifiin. A small head
crowned terminates the dripstone on the
eastern side of this window, and a female
head with the horned head-dress in fasliion

during the fifteenth century ends that on the

western. These ornaments formed part of
the older decorations of the original

buikling.
In the lower apartment of the tower, which

is panelkd with oak all round to three-fifths

of its height, there is a shiekl over the chim-

ney-piece, the bearings connected with those
of the Wynnes, formerly possessors of the

domain. On a corbel outside this room is a

griffin.

The masonry of this tower shows few signs
of decay, and none but what might be easily

•

repaired. Severalofthestonesintheturret-stair-
case and on the western wall bear themason's

mark, a rude W. The gargouilks of the

tower no longer serve to caiTy off the water,
from the roof having been altered

;
but they

are in exceUent preservation, and of truly
monstrous design. The loop-holes of the

battlement are beautifully formed equal-
armed crosses, with circular ends.

The modern house, on the eastern side of

the tower, presents no features woi'thy of

remark; but it might be fornied into a com-

modious residence. In a fiekl on the western
side of the tower is a circular pigeon-house,

perhaps of the seventeenth century ;
and

tradition—only an idle one—says that a sub-

terraneous passage leads to it from the

dungeon.
Pennant tell us that, during the wars

of the Roses, this place was inhabited by
ReinaUt ap Gruffydd ap Bleddyn, a descen-
dant of Bleddyn ap Cynvyn, founder of the

third royal trilje of Wales. He and his peo-
ple were always at variance with the citizens

of Chester. In 1465 a considerable number
of the latter came to Mold Fair

;
a fray

ensued between the two parties, and a dread-
ful filaughter was made on both sides. Rei-

nallt, however, obtained the victory, took

prisoner Robert Bryne, linen-draper and ex-

Mayor of Chester, whom he led to his tower
and hung on his staple in his great hall. An
attempt was subsequently made to seize

Reinallt, two hundred powerful men sallying
forth from Chester for thatpurpose. He retired

thereupon into a neighbouring wood, per-
mitted some of his enemies to enter the house,
then rushing from his hiding-place fastened

the door, and setting fire to the place, burnt
them without mercy. He then attacked the

rest, and pursued them to the sea-side, where
those who escaped the sword, perished in the

Cliannel. Reinallt, however, had the good
fortune to receive a pardon for his offences

from Thomas Lord Stanley, Lord of the

Council of Wales, the difficulty of bringing so

formidable an offender to justice being, no

doubt, the principal cause of this impolitic

lenity.
Some portions of this tradition, as given by

Pennant, are manifestly false. As to the hanging
of the ex-Mayor, this could hardly be, since

the room, in which the hanging is said to

have taken place, was of a date long posterior
to that event, while the supposed staple is

nothing more than a slight stapk for a chande-

lier, with nothing antique about it. The

burning, too, of Reinallfs house by himself,
when he had other modes of vengeance at

hand, seems to be somewhat problematical ;

besides which there is a ti-aditionary anecdote

that completely contradicts either of these

assertions.
" Four cousins having met at an inn, began

to boast to each other of their various exploits.
The first was Davydd ap Sianeyn, ap Davydd
Crech of Nant Conwy, who began :

' This is

the daggerwith which I slew the red judgeon
the bench at Denbigh.' The second, Davydd
ap Jeuan ap Einion, who had been keeper of

Harlech Castle said :
' This is the sword, and

this the ashen spear, with which I slew the

sheriff at Llandrillo.' The third, Reinallt ap
Gruffydd ap Bleddyn, of Tower, said ' This is

the sword with whlch I slew the Maijor of
Chester when he came to burn my house.'
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Then they inqiiired of the fourth, GrufFydd
Vychan ap Jeuan ap Einion, a quiet and

peaceable man, what dai-ing deed had he
ever performed? when he replied :

' This is

the sword with which, had I drawn it in

dishonour, I should have accomplished as

much as the best of you ever did.'
"

A Welsh bard has left us a song, showing
the high estimation in which the Lord of

Tower was held in his own days.

"Reinallt ap Grnff>'cld ap Bleddyn
Possesses a sword wliich is sharp upon tlie skin ;

For fear of it, whilst it attaclis at once a hundred men,
Tlie puny city (Cliester) and its inhabitants tremble.

Chester and its inhabitants trembled for fear of Reinallt,
As far as the extrcme edg^e of Velallt (Beeston)
They tremblcd whilst they fled towards Wenallt,
Trembled all over, their skin and hair.

Their skin, and brittle bones, and shanks,
"Will the desccndant of Einion break

;

In every part of Chester
He will slay a thousand men with his ashen spear."

And much more there is to the same
effect; the bard having been inspired with
a double portion of the poetic fury, from
his having been driven out of Chester and

deprived of all his household furniture,
because he married a citizen's widow with-
out the leave of the magistrates.

It only remains to observe that one of the

names of Tower in former times was Bryn-
coed 'The woody bank;' and the township
in which it stands still retains that name.

ILAM HALL, in the co. of StafFord, four
miles and a half from Ashbourn, the seat of
Jesse Watts Russell, Esq.

Rhodes, who visited this place in 1820, a
short time before the old Hall was puUed
down, has thus described it—and his record of
the ancient fabric becomes doubly interesting
from the absence of any other sufRcient
account of it :

—" The principal entrance," he

says, "agreeably to the fashion that once

generally prevailed, was a square hall in the
centre of the building, which communicated
with the adjoining apartments. A massive
old-fashioned fire-place, admirably adapted
for winter, with a huge unlighted log of wood
and some faggots in the grate, occupied nearly
one side of the room

;
in a niche opposite lumg

a Chinese gong, whose loud and sonorous sound
summoned the company at Ilam to dinner

;

bows, aiTows and targets, a fine old organ, and
some chairs ofmodern manufacture, completed
the rcmaing part of the furniture of this

apartmcnt. In the dining-room there were
several good pictures."
The modern mansion at Ilam belongs in

great part to tho Eliza])cthan style of archi-

tecture, having large bay windows, octagonal

projections, and highly-ornamented parapets.
Some portions, however, approach the Gothic,
both in character and ornament

;
but the most

beautiful feature of the whole is the circular

Gothic lantern by which it is surmounted. Its

dimensions are grand, and perfectly in

accordance with the ample base upon which it

rests. The circle of which it is composed,
presents to the spectator a series of painted
arches resting on appropriate shafts

;
these in

connexion with each other describe a circle,
and constitute the frame-work of the lan-

tern.

In the principal entrance also, the architect
has aimed at novelty. It is not, as is usual,
constructed in front of the mansion, butrather
on one side of the chief wing. A Gothic

portal of admirable proportions, siu-mounted

by the family arms in relief, leads immediately
to the hall. On each side the steps ascending
to it is a figure of life-size, in complete armoiu-,
one of whom brandishes a lance, and the other
leans upon a long two-handled sword. In the
hall itself is a collection of arms and armour,
belonging to all times and all nations, and
at the farther end of it are two other

figures, also in armour, armedfrom head to

foot.
From the hall to the vestibule is a square

room with tessellated pavement. A window
of stained glass upon the right side throws
over it a soft and pecuHarly mellow light.

In the dining-room stands the massive silver

candelabrum presented to Mr. Watts Russell,

by the Conservatives of North StafFordshire, on
the 20th of August, 1834.

Here also we find a library, amusic-room, and
a picture-gallery, the pictures in which are for

the most part modern. Its principal ornament
is the " Font of Raphael," originally in the
Florence Gallery. The foUowing description
of tliis curiosity has been given by the late

Noel Jennings, Esq.
" Tlie magnificent lawn

ofan oval form, with a recurved edge and

pointed bottom, which, as well as the raised
zone on the belt, encircles the middle of the

outside, is wrought in fluted or gadrooned
work. Each side is ornamented with a laughing
cornuted satyr's head

;
two grotesque sphinx-

like figures, half satyr and half dragon, with
each a double tail, serve as supporters ;

their

arms are extended to the edge, and their hind

parts with wings expanded undemeath resting
on an oval base, which has a hollow gadrooned
edge. The whole is painted in the most Hvely
colours, and glazed. On the inside, within a

grotesque border, is represented a Roman
naval engagement. The boarding of two ships
by a number of soldiers in boats, sword and
shield in hand

;
sailors fixing their grappling

hooksto facilitate the cntrance of the assailants,
who are opposed by soldiers on board the

ships, armed in like manner. The exterior is

enriched with grotesque figures, supporting
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festoons and flowers, interspersed among
which are birds, military achievements, foliage,
&c."

This gallery, which is iipwards of eighty feet

long, contains several fine models of ancient

ruins, chiefly of those which are known to us

by classic lcgends. Among them should be

noticed, "Remains of the Sepulchre of Scipio

Africanus," "Ruinsof partof the AncientWalls
of Rome," "Temple of Minerva Medica,"

"Temple of Peace," "The Sepulchre of

Csecilia Metello in the Court of the Farnese

Palace at Rome,"
" The Temple of Vesta at

Tivoli," "The Sepulchre of the Horatii and
Curiatii at Albana,"

" The Temple of Janus,"
&c.
From the terrace in front of the Hall, the

lawn slopes down to the river and the viUage
church, by which apath leads into the gardens
and pleasure-grounds. Ascending several

winding flights of nistic stone steps, hewn ovit

in the side of a mass of disjointed rocks, the

visitor reaches a handsome conservatory, well

stocked with choice exotic plants and flowers.

In a sequestered recess amongst the i-ocks

below, is the grotto, with roughly-formed stone

seats and table of the same material, in which
tradition tells how Congreve

—then only nine-

teen—wrote the " Old Bachelor," and a

portion of the "
Mourning Bride." It is now,

however, too closely shut in by trees and their

spi-eading branches, to be a pleasant retreat;

that which at one time was only cahn and

sequestei'ed, having now become damp and

gloomy. The hoUy, with its dark green leaves,
stands at the entrance, and yew and elder

bend over the rocky arch, thus exchiding the

sunh'ght and even the air itself.

Near this spot bubbles upwards from its

dark fathomless channel the long-hidden

Manyfold; and about twenty paces farther on,
within a sort of cavern below the rock, rise

the subteri"anean waters of the Hamps. The
latter abandons its natural course and dis- .

appears under ground,
—in a way exactly like

the Manifold
— at the Water-houses, a village

several miles oflP, nearly midway between
Ashbourne and Leek. The waters of both

streams then combine with that branch of the

Manifold, which has retained the ancient

channel round the amphitheatre of rock and
wood in front. From the rivers rising into

day so near each other, some have been

inclined to consider them as being identical
;

but this is sufficiently disproved by two facts
;

first, tliere are two degrees difterence in the

temperature of the streams
; secondly, when

corks and other hght bodies have been thrown

in at the chasms where each river disappears,
such floating articles have invariably emerged
in thesame water into whichtheyhad been cast.

But it is well to compare this description with

what Rhodes has said of the same spot with

its attendant wonders.

"
Returning from the meadows to the gar-

den-grounds of nam, I passed a narrow foot-

bridge at the base of a rocky bank, from
wheiice the two subterranean streams, the

Hamps and the Manifold emerge, and form a
river at a burst. Tliis is one of the curiosities

of this romantic place. The river Manifold

formerly flowed beneath the amphitheatrical
sweep of wood that forms the back-ground of
Ilam Hall

;
but it has abandoned its ancient

course, where it had continued to run for

ages, and now pursues its way for the space
of five or six miles through caverns deep in

the mountains, where it has obtained a passage
to its forsaken channel, which it again enters
in the gardens at Ilam. Here the united
rivers become a powerful stream, that within
a few yards of the place where they first

appear, is precipitated over an artificial bar-

rier, where it forms a cascade of considerable
extent and great beauty. The Manifold now
becomes a busy and brilliant stream, which
after winding round a part of the village,
about a quarter of a mile from the principal
front of the Hall, flows through some pleasant
meadows, and enters the river Dove at a
short distance from Thorpe Cloud."
The hills about Ilam liave a magnificent,

and almost subHme character
; they are

thrown together in irregular masses, which,
with one exception only, are connected. Some
of them are covered with noble woods, while
others again present to the eye a carpet of
the smoothest and most glossy verdure. In
the space between them lies the lovely vale of
Ilam—so lovely, indeed, that the tourist can

hardly be accused of exaggeration, when he
exclaims in a burst of irrepressible enthusiasm,
"I felt as if I had been treading on fairy-

ground; the parts were so beautiful, and so

exquisitely combined, and the whole so rare

and unexpected, that it seemed more like a
scene of enchantment that might soon pass

away, than anything real aiid permanent."
"A village of a few houses only scattered

amongst trees, a country-church with a tower

nearly covered witli ivy, verdant meadows
watered by a biisy stream, everywhere spark-

ling with light, and on a gentle eminence a

venerable mansion— the old Hall -—
^rising

out of, and backed by, luxuriant foliage, are

the principal features of this lovely spot,
which is one of the most romantic httle vales

that nature ever formed. No glen in the Alps
was ever more beautiful, more picturesque, or

more retired.
' '

LLAN-BEDROG, Carnarvonshire, about four

miles from PwUheli, the residence of Lady
Jones Parry.
The house at Llandebrog, a picturesque and

commodious dwelling, is built of the materials

of the two old houses of Cefnllanfair and
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Wernfawr. It is situated upon the beautiful

little bay of the same name, commandin^ a

splendid prospect of the Merionethshire hills,

and the bay of Cardigan. Close by is the

little church, dedicated to St. Pedrog, con-

taining the tombs of the Wynnes of Wernfa-wr,

the Hughes' of CefnUanfair, the Madryns of

Madryn, and the Parrys of Penarth and

Madryn.
Nothing can be more lovely and romantic

than the adjoining scenery. LLandebrog lies

in a picturesque valley, embosomed among
hills, and at the foot of a marine mountain.

The beach here is one of the most beautiful in

all Wales, and the best adapted for bathing.

To the mineralogist this place will have a

peculiar charm, the shore being literally

strewed with the finest crystals. Nor is there

any want of interest for the antiquary, more

particularly if he extend the limits of his

inquiries to a short distance. Near at hand,

upon the headland mountain, Mynydd Tir-y-

Cwmmwd, is a fallen cromlech, the upper
stone of which is of lai-ge dimensions. The

word Mynydd is Welsh, and signifies a

mountain.
Within a circuit of twelve or fifteen miles

are many spots hkely to highly interest the

poet or the painter, but from their distance

they hardly can be said to come within the

bounds of this notice.

DONADEA CASTLE, in the co. Kildare, is

the seat of a trvdy resident landlord, Sir Gerakl

George Ayhner, the premier Baronetof Ireland.

It evinces, in the mixed character of its archi-

tecture, that it was fashioned at different

times, with an effort to reconcile modern im-

provements to the original castellated charac-

ter. It presents an Elizabethan front, falling

back in the centre, from which springs out a

handsome porch, erected in 1812. In the

rear is incorporated the only existing portion

of the original edifice, so very antique that

tradition does not affect to fix its date, but

that may be conjectured from the records

hereinafter set forth. The front was erected

in 1773, on the site of the advanced buildings

of tliat elder castle, but which, with the ex-

ception of the above portion, were destroyed

by fire, when it was besieged in 1641. A
corridor at one side communicates with a

square tower of yet more modern date, while,

on the other side, is faintly seen through trees

a second square tower, erected in the same

embattled style, for a clock. The demesne,

which commands extensive views of the Wick-

low mountains, is tastefuUy phmted through-

out, and further embellished by a fair sheet of

water.

Within this demcsne, close to the Castle,

is the parish church
; adjolning to which, in

a cliapel containing the faniily vault, is a fine

sepulchral moniUTient. On the vertex of this

interesting family memorial isa Death's head,

winged ;
below it, on each side, are pinnacles,

bearing in basso-relievo, the one, the Ayhners',
the other, the Nugents' arms. In the front

of the pediment, the Ayhner ai"ms are more

extensively displayed. On the frieze of the

entablature are two tablets. In one is the in-

scription in Roman capitals :
—

Stay, ijassenger ! thj- hasty foot ;

This stone delivers thee
A messag-e froni a famous '

twin,'
That here entombed be.

In the other run the lines—

Live, for virtue passeth wealth,
As we (lo fiml it now,

Beauty, riches, and worldly state,
Must all to virtue bow.

Over the sarcophagus, are two niches, contain-

ing the effigies, in alto-relievo, of Sir Gerald

and his lady, with their son and daughter, the

figures being dressed in the fashion of their

age. Sir Gerald is in the fidl-lapelled coat,

with double rows of buttons, and mitred

button-holes
;

the sleeves are also trimmed
with mitred loops and buttons in each angle
from the wrist to the shoulder, being what
was then called a fuU-trimmed doublet

;
his

son kneels behind him in the same dress, with

the addition of the short mantle and hood at

that period worn by children. Lad}' Aylmer
is attired in the kirtle and mantle, made close

by a girdle ;
her neck and bosom are covered

by a collar and falling ruff, from which hang
a chain and cross, and another cross from

the girdle. Her hair is plaited and tiuned

up behind, and on the top of the head slie

wears the cushion or roll to which the veils

were pinned ;
her daxighter also kneels behind

her, in the same habit, except the crosses.

The middle pilaster of the niches is orna-

mented in basso-relievo with military trophies,
as are those at the sides with sepulchral em-
bellishments. Between the archivolt of the

niches are the Ayhuer arms, quartered with

those of Nugent. To the Lady Ayhner refers

an inscription :
—

"
Pray for the soul of Dame Julia Nugent, daughter to

Sir Chrfstopher Nugent, Lord Baron Delvin and v.ife to

Sir Gerald Aylmer, Knifjht and Baronet, by wliom she

had issue, Aiidrew Ayhner and Julia Ayhner. She

deceased the lOth November, 1617."

That to herhusband is :
—

"
Pray for the soul of Sir Gerald Ayhner, Knight and

Baronct, who built this chnpcl, tomb and monument,
witli the chureh and chapcl adjoining. Deceased the

19th of August, A.D. 1634."

On the plinth of the sarcophagus are four

niches containing figures, in alto-relicvo, of

I

I
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the four great fathers of the church, Saints

J erome, Gregory, Amhrose, and Augustine, ancl

under this fine monument is the family vault.

Donadea, in its earliest records after the

English invasion, appears to have been pos-
sessed by the family of that John de Ber-

mingham who conquered Edward Bruce at

the "field of Faughart. In 1356, the Irish

Council, having felt the necessity of establish-

ing a ward against the incursions of the

0'Tooles and 0'Byrnes, at Bray, as the en-

trance into their territory, especially required
John de Bermingham "of Donaghdea," Knt.,
to repair forthwith thither with men-at-arms

and horse in harness, 20 hobillers and 40 foot

soldiers, and there to sojourn ;
while they com-

mitted the custody of certain castles to tlie

same individual. Twenty years aftei", Meiler,

the son of this John de Bermingham, sued

out then two politically necessitated letters of

pardon and protection, in which he likewise is

styled
" of Donaghdea." In 1387, the custody

of two-thirds of its manor was committed to

William Wellesley, the other third being as-

signed to the widow of the late inheritor,

unafTected by the King's greedy prerogative,
In three years after, the wardenship of these

two-thirds was transferred to John Fitz-

maurice, wliile apatent of 1392 more explicitly
discloses the connection of the Crown with

this locality, and the nature of John de Ber-

mingham's title herein, as that same had been

held by him in capite of James Le Botiller,

then late Earl of Ormond, on knighfs service,

and were forfeited for treason by him com-
mitted

; whereupon the King granted the

whole manor to James, then present Earl of

Ormond, for life, with liberty to alien same,

saving and excepting the advowson of the

church there, which was especially reserved

to the Crown.
At the close of the sixteenth century, the

aforesaid Sir Gerald Ayhner, the first Baro-

net, branching from the trunk at Lyons,
became the founder of this line. He was
the grandson of Richard Aylmei", of that

ancient stock, Chief Sei-geant of the county
Kildare, and was knighted in 1598

;
at which

time he resided here, and as such his possession
of Donadea is recognised in a patent of 1616

to David, Viscount Fermoy. In 1621, King
James, proposing to confer dignities on per-
sons of merit, selected this Sir Gerald to be a

Baronet,
" as well for his services done to him

as for his other virtues," and created him

such in the first batch of that newly esta-

blished dignity in Ireland. Previous to this

event, Sir Gerald had married, first, Mary,
the widow of Viscount Baltinghis, who died

in 1610, without issue, whereupon he espoused
his second wife, Julia, daughter of Chris-

topher, Lord Delvin, who died in 1617, as did

himself in 1634, as recorded on the above

monument. Sir Andrew Ayhner, the afore-

said son of Sir Gerald, by his second wife,

married Ellen, sister of James, first Duke of

Ormond
;
and she was the person who, in the

troubles of 1641, in the absence of her hus-

band, gallantly defended the Castle of Dona-
dea. Until the Restoration, howevei-, Sir

Andrew Ayhner was precUided from enjoying
his estates. His grandson, Sir Fitzgerald

Ayhner, while yet a minor, in 1670, had a

grant ofupwards of 9,000 statute acres in other

parts of this county, including
" the Wood of

AUen," about 940 acres. He studied and
travelled on the Continent until 1681, when, re-

turning to Ireland, he married Lady Helen

Phuiket, second daughter of the Earl of Fingal,
and died in 1685, leaving Sir Justin his suc-

cessor, then aged but three years, under the

guardianship of his mother, who prudently
removed hira to France, and kept him there

during the ensuing civil war. The child was
nevertheless attainted, as became the spirit of

the times, and it was only upon his mother's

earnest petition that Queen Mary, in 1692,
issued direction for a reversal of the outlawry.
The present Baronet is the fourth in lineal

descentfrom said Sir Justin, born in 1798, and
married in 1826 to Maria, eldest daughter
and co-heir of Colonel Hodgson, of Carlisle,

of the East India Company's Service, by
whom he has an only son, Gerald George,
born in 1830. Sir Gerald is a Deputy-Lieu-
tenant of his county.

LYONS, the seat of Lord Cloncurry, is situ-

ated within twelve miles of Dublin, the

counties of Dublin and Kildare meeting in

its demesne. The Grand Canal passes through
a flat country at its front, while, at the rear,

the ground rises in a bold eminence, a striking

object from every surrounding point. The
lands afford very superior pasture for cattle,

sheep, and deer
;
are studded with judicious

plantations, and traversed with avenues of

ancient and magnificent timber, through which

walks and alleys are pleasingly opened. The
house is of grey Irish granite, quadrangvdar,

spacious, and handsome, ornamented with cor-

ridors and pavilions. The portico is of siennite

or red Egyptian granite, each column being a

single stone. Three of these, originally from

the Golden House of Nero, at Rome, had
been placed in the banqueting hall of the

Farnesine Palace, by Raphael, and bought by
Lord Cloncurry from the King of Naples, when
his Majesty succeeded to the property of the

Farnese family. The fourth cokmin was
found in the Baths of Titus. A pillar, which
had formed the fourth in the Farnesian, but
which is of white marble, though it had been
stained to resemble granite, stands alone in

front of the portico, supporting a statue of

Venus, found at Ostii. At each side of the

portico are lions in Irish granite, by Smyth.
The hall, which is well proportioned and of a

M
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chaste Doric architecture, contains six very
fine basso-reUevos over the doors

;
a very fine

beantifiilly draped Minerva, from the Justi-

niani Gallery, a very perfect sarcophagus of
white marble, from the Garden of Venus at

Tivoli, curiously encmisted by a deposit of

sidphureous cLay ;
the bold sculpture, em-

blematic of mortahty, is evidently of the best

school. On a slab of black marble, which acts

as a lid to the sarcophagus, are pLiced a fine

laclirymatory vase of grey pojihyry, an an-

tique head of Venus, and the busts of Grattan
and Curran. On the chimney-piece are

busts of Hamilton Rowan and Archibald

Douglas, two urns of Spanish marble, and
a mask of Medusa. Round the hall, on

pedestals of porphyry and other rare marbles,
are the busts of Csesar, Pliocion, Tasso, a Ma-
donna by Bernini, a genii, and a fawn. There
are also two liandsome cohimn candelabra of

goklen brecia, with Corinthian bases and ca-

pitals, of statuary marble, exquisitely worked.
The front drawing-room contains a beautiful

statue of the fawn and kid, one of Venus,
another of Andromache

;
two tables of Egyp-

tian granite, one ofancient mosaic, a cm-ious

Chinese cabinet, fiUed with Tndian shells
;

some paintings from Herculaneum, by Ga-
brielli

;
a model of the tomb of Scipio, and

two small Grecian vases. The inside draw-

ing-room, painted by Gabrielli, contains four

beautiful tables of verde-antique, two of por-

phyry, and one ofvarious marbles; two mag-
nificent ancient cups on marble tripods ;

tlie

statues of Venus from the bath, Venus and

Apollo, and Agrippina, two vases of verde-

antique ;
a model in rosso-antico, and the

casts of two consular senators sitting. The

dining-parlour presents two splendid vases of

choice sculpture, one representing Apollo and
the Muses, the other a Bacclianalian dance.

Over the doors, are three basso-relievos by
Acquisti, representing the story of Da^dalus,
the fiight and fall of his son, and tlie attempt
of the fatlier to make a statue representing
him, as so touchingly expressed by Virgil.
There are views on tlie walls of tlie Bays of

Dublin and Naples, by Gabrielli, and a niodel,
in miniature, of tlie tomb of Agrippa. In
the library are some fine cliiaro-scuros, by
Pompeo Battoni

;
a Madonna della sedici, by

the same master; a porti"ait of Lord Edvvard

Fitzgerald, by Hamilton
;

a Cupid, by Ber-

nini
;
a cast of Gannymede, and tlie heads

of Hcrcules, Ariadne, and the Muses. In tlie

billiard-room are some fine casts, the Apollo,
Laocoon,Venus, Meleager, Antonius, andTibe-
rius. In the ante-roomarebusts of Menelaus,
Nero, and Seneca, and a very fine cast of the
" Gladiator."

The attractions of the demesne have been

already alluded to, and it but remains to note

that there stands within it a rath, which com-
mands prospects extending over thirteen

counties, and that, in the farm-yard, are some
remains of the okl Castle of Lyons, and a
section of the church, long the burial-place
of its ancient proprietors.

This locality lay within one of the four
manors wliich were, on the earliest distribution

of Irisli property amongst the invaders, espe-
cially saved and set apart for the Crown, and
as such, was farmed for its exclusive benefit,
wliile parcels were granted to more influential

courtiers. Of these, Ralph and William

Ayhner, who claimed descent from Athelmar,
the Earl of Cornwall in the time of King
Etheh-ed, were settledhere in 1300. In 1422,
Ricliard Aylmer, styled

" of Lyons," was
appointed one of the Guardians of the Peace
in the county Kildare, witli especial powers
of gaol dehvery. In 1431, he was chosen

Sovereign of the adjacent town of Tassagard,
in wliich year occurs the first mention of the
Castle of Lyons, as forcibly lield against the
Crown by "malefactors and traitors," whom
the Sheriff of Kildare, and certain other per-
sons named in the order, were directed to

eject, seize, and imprison. In 1440, John
Sees was appointed Senesclial of this castle

;

and in 1460, tlie commission of the above
Richard Ayhner, "of Lyons," was renewed, in

company with Richard Wellesley, Knt., and
two of tlie noble liouse of Eustace.

Soon after the outbreak of the Geraldine

Rebellion, in August, 1535, the Lord Deputy
summoned a meeting ofhis council and ahosting
of the available military supplies to assemble on
thehill of Lyons ("for," says acontemporary
writer,

"
all the towns of this country be sore

infested with the pestilence, and especially
Dublin"), there to receive from the King's
messengers his Grace's late despatches, and
to hold consultation upon their contents. In
this year Richard Aylmer, the younger,

" of

Lyons," was constituted Chief Sergeant of the

county Kildare
;
in a few years after which, as

it would seem, under some terror of royal jea-
lousy, he conveyed away to trustees his manors
of Lyons, Kill, and Donadea, with various
other lands, chief-rents, and services in the

county Kildare, as well as the advowsons
of the livings of Lyons and Donadea

; and
at same time he made a gift in possession of
all his chattel property to his family, while the
Sheriff of Kildare thereupon made a return,
that he could not be found within his baili-

wick.

In the i'eign of James I., the possessions of

Aylnier of Lyons are stated as extending
over 2,000 acres, on which were six castles

and four water-mills, of all which Thomas

Aylmer leviedfines, in 1610. The castle, then

existing here, had been erected on the site of
one which the 0'Tooles, the active native

assailants of the Pale in this direction, had de-

stroyed, and was itself, in the troubles of 1641,

sacked, and a large tract of the surrounding
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counlry wasted, by order of the Coinmon-

wealth Lords Justices, Parsons and Borlase.

Thomas Ayhnery of Lyons, dyhig in 1639,

was buried in the church before mentioned,
as was his widow Mabel, daughter of Sir Pat-

rick Uarnewall, of Turvey, in 1654, beside

him
;
and his nephew, Thomas Ayhner the

yovmger, in 1681, with several other mem-
bers of the family. George Aylmer, of

Lyons, was a Lieutenant-Colonel in the

Irish army of King James IL, and at

the Revohition was comprehended within

the Articles of Limerick. (He had mar-

ried, in 1685, Mary, the ehlest daughter
of Sir Valentine Browne, the first Lord Ken-

niare, and, dying in 1729, was buried, pursu-
ant to his will, in the church of Lyons.) It

may be added that there were in King James's

service, in the war of this period, other Ayl-
mers in commission. Gerald Ayhiier was

Major in Lord Abercorn's Troop of Horse;

George Ayhiiei-, a Captain in the Royal Regi-
ment of Foot; and Peter Ayhner, a Lieu-

tenant in Colonel Roger MacGilhcuddy's
Foot. In the confiscations of the time, Gar-

ret and George Ayhner, "of Lyons,
"

were

attainted, with six others of their name
;

but

Lyons remained in the Ayhners until the mid-

dle of thelastcentury, when Michael Aylmer
sold it to Sir Nicholas Lawless, afterwards cre-

ated Lord Cloncurry, from whom his son, the

present accomphshed and patriotic Bai"on, in-

herits the title and estates. The present

representative of the Aylmers of Lyons, is

Michael Valentine Ayhner, Esq.

KEYTHORPE HALL, Leicestershire, near

Tughy, and nine miles from Market Har-

borough, and twelve from Leicester, the resi-

dence of Lord Berners.

This property came into the Wilson family

by pui"chase, in the year 1646. The present
house was built in 1842 by the nobleman now

possessing the estate, and is a plain, yet hand-
some country mansion, standing upon an
elevated site, in a rich grazing part of the

county. Lord Berners also possesses
—

ASHWELLTHOEPE HALL, in the co. of
Norfolk. It is an Elizahethan edifice, con-
structed of brick, and partly rebuilt by the

present owner. This property, with its

ancientmanor, was inherited by Sir Humphrey
Bouchier, Knt., eldest son of John, Lord

Berners, about the year 1460, and has ever

since continued in his family. Lord Berners
is also the owner of—
KIEBY-CANE, in the co. of Norfolk, in the

hundred of Clavering, and four miles from the

town of Beccles. This was at one time called

Kirkehy-Cam, or Kam; from Richard de

Cadomo, or Caam, who, as lord of the town,
gave his name to it, in the reign of Henry III.

Lord Berners possesses hkewise the manor and
ancient castle ofWingfield, in the co. of Suffolk.

EED HOUSE, Yorkshire, in the West Riding,
about seven miles north-west of York, forty
miles from Doncaster, and twenty-eight from
Pontefract

; the seat of Sir Charles Slingsby,
Bart.

At one period this property belonged to the

Oughtreds. In the eighth year of Edward
III., Thomas Oughtred had license from the

king to impark his woods of Kirby Monkton

upon the Moor and Scogglethorpe. Henry
Oughtred, Esq., in the year 1506 granted to

WilHam Fairfax, Esq., and his heirs, free hberty
to hunt, hawk, and fish inthemanor of Colton,
in the county of the city of York, rendering,
for all, one red rose at Midsummer. These
estates continued in his family till about the

year 1568, when Francis Shngsby, Esq. pur-
chased Red House and Scogglethorpe of

Robert Oughtred, Esq., and with his des-

cendants it has remained ever since.

Red Hall, which is situated upon the

southern bank of the river Ouse, was erected

by Sir Henry SHngsby iu the reign of Charles

I.
;
one south front of the house is inscribed :

—
Peo TEEMiNO Vrr;E;
Sic Nos NoN Noms.

On the west front is :
—

Paulisper et Relucebis ;

Et Ipse, M. R. 29, 1652.

Under this is a figm'e of the setting sun. At
a small distance from the west front is the place
where some ages since stood the ancient man-
sion. The site is fifty yards by twenty-five,

encompassed by a wide and deep moat,

according to the custom of the feudal ages
when every capital mansion was a fortress. Iii

the middle of this area is a mutilated figure
of a horse, as large as Hfe, and carved in

stone by Andrew Karne, a Dutch statuary,
to commemorate a favourite mare of Sir

Henry SHngsby's. At a short distance is

the foHowing inscription upon a stone fixed

in the ground :
—

He Did Win The Plate Of Achombe. Mooe,
The Kino Being Thekb. 1633.

In the room called the " Star-Chamber"
are four shields of arms, beautifully stained

on glass; First, Slingsby and Mallory ; second,

Slingsby and Percy ; third, Slingsby and
Vavasour

;
and fourth, Slingsby and Bella-

syse. In this room also are the figures of

Truth, Justice, Temperance, and Fortitude,

supporting a carved chimney-piece, in the di-

visions of which are symbolical representa-
tions of the five senses, well executed.

The most important feature of the building
is the grand staircase. It is thus described

by Sir Henry Slingsby in his Memoirs, written

by himself and published in 1642 :
—

"The staircase is above five feet within

the rails, in width
; the posts eight inches

square ; upon every post a crest is set of sottie
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one of my especial fi-iends, aiid my brothers-

in-law, and upon that post that bears up the

half-pace that leads into the painted chamber
theresits a blackamoor, cast inleadby Andrew
Karne, with a candlestick in each hand to

set a candle in to give light to the staircase."

Of the chapel, the same Sir Henry tells us.—" The chappell at Red House was built by
my father, Sir Henry Slingsby ;

it is in the

form of a coUedge chappell. In the east end

upon the glass is painted a crucifix, not as

ordinarily crucifixes are made, but with a

transverse piece of wood at the feet, as there

is for the hands. At the feet of the cmcifix is

set the Virgin Mary, and on the one
hand the picture ofthe apostle, St. John, and on
the other, Elizabeth

; underneath, St. Peter,
St. Andrew, St. Paul

;
in tlie south window

the rest of the apostles ;
in the north corner is

a handsome pulpit, a table altar-wise imder
the east window, witli a cloth of purple colour

wrought with stripes of worsted, which was

my wife's own handy-work. In the middle
of the cliappell, to be removed at pleasure,
stood a pillar with branclies at tlie top to set

a basin on, wherein water was set for the

christenings." Afterwards we find him making
alterations in the building, the utility of

whichis not very obvious—" The 7th October

1639, John Gowland, the carpenter, took
down the gavel end of the chapel, which was
of brick, and set up anotlier of wood. I had
also John Davie, a carpenter, an ingenious
workman, but drunken, and one that went in

his apparel more like a bedlamite than a

working man."
This Sir Henry was a stout cavalier, and

being particularly scrupulous about taking
the national covenant, he became an object of

persecution with tlie now triumphant party in

the state. His own account of the affair is

melancholy enough :
—

"Aftertaking leave of

the King I went to Newbrough, wliere my
daughter was in the house with my brother

Bellasj^se ;
and after a day's rest came home

to Red House. But since they have from
York laid wait for me to take me, and I liave

escaped them, I take myself to one room in

my house, scarce known of by my servants,
where I spend my days in great silence,

scarce daring to speak, or walk, but with

great heed, lest Ibe discovered
;
Et jam veniet

tacito cui"va senectus pede. Since my coming
home I did pare ofFtlie swarth, and didgravel
that walk which is on the side of the west or-

chard, which Will. Hinckes planted, and set

the walk with trees on either side
;
one of asli,

the other of sicamore, and among them one
oak planted in the year 1G22. Thomas
Adamson, my gardiner, in the year 1646, at

my coming home set that ash which grows by
the causey as you go from the low stable to the

inges ; hc also set that grove of sicamore by
the green, which many years agoe had becn

the seat of the house, which is now called

Redhouse."
There is something excecdingly touching

in these recollections of the broken-down old

cavalier, his seckision, his constant fear of

discovery, his plantings, and the minute in-

terest he attaches to them—" the ash wliich

grows by the causey as you go from the

stable," the year when each tree was planted
as duly set down as if it had been the birth of

a child in t\\e parish register. And then in

the midst of all this, come tidings to him of

the King's execution, when, as if Ufe had no-

tliing now left wortliy of record, lie suddenly
breaks off with,

" Heu me! quid heu me !

humana perpessi sumus." "
Truly for my

part," as Cromwell used to say, "I profess
there is much food for meditation in tliese

memoirs."

DITCHLEY, in the co. of Oxford, five miles

from tlie town of Woodstock, and one froni

Kiddington ;
the seat of Viscount Dillon.

The name of Lee has become as familiar

witli most readers as "household words," by
Sir Walter Scotfs inimitable romance of
Woodstock—Sir Henry Lee of Ditchley

—but
it was not, however, till the reign of James
I., that the Lees acquired possession of tliis

manor and the Hall attached. Before tliat

time their principal residence had been at

Quarendon, in Buckinghamshire.
The mansion of Ditchley built by Gibbs,

the architect of tlie RadcHfFe Library, has
been generally considered the best of his per-
formances. It exhibits a great extent of

front, and consists of a somewhat massive
centre and two wings, the centre being
adorned with many vases and two statues on
the coping. Tlie entrance is by a flight of

stone steps with a handsome balustrade, leading
to the hall, a splendid room thirty-six feet

richly cai-ved and gilded ;
the ceiling of this

room is painted by Kent with cliaracters from
the ancient mythology, while tlie compart-
ments on the walls are occupied by designs
from Virgil, above which are busts of Homer,
Sapplio, Socrates, Livy, Virgil, Cicero,

Shakespeare, Milton, and Dryden.
Witliin this mansion are to be seen several

fine pictures ;
as—"

Rubens, his wife, and

son, hunting,
'

the figures by Rubens, the

animals by Scheighers ;

" Two fuU-length

portraits of ladies," by Paul Veronese
;

"
Cliarles I."by Vandyke, the Prince of Wales

(a child in petticoats) by his knee
;

"
Henry

VIII.," a highly finished whole-length, sup-

posedtobe the vvork of Holbein
;
"Mrs. Lucy

Waters, with the Duke of Monmouth," an
unattired infant, partly resting on a table, and

playfuUy assisted by her arms
;

" Sir Christo-

plier Hatton," by Cornelius Ketel. "
Sir

Henry Lee, with tlie dog that savcd his life."

On a corner of the canvass is an inscription,
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More faithful than favoured, the tradition of

which is thus given by Pennant :—
" A servant had formed a design to rob

the house, and to murder his master. But on

the nightthis project was intended to be put
in execution, the dog, though no favourite,

nor indeed ever before taken notice of by
his master, accompanied him upstairs, crept
under the bed, and could not be driven

away by the attendant ;
when at length Sir

Henry ordered him to be left, and in the

dead of night, the treacherous servant,

entering the room to execute his design, was

instantly seized by the dog, and on being
secured, confessed his design."
To the catalogue of pictures ah-eady given,

may be added—"
Lady Rochester," by Sir

Peter Lely ;

"
Asleeping Venus and Painter,"

by Titian;
"
Philip IL of Spain," by Cor-

nelius Jansen
;

"
Sir Francis Drake ;" several

portraits by Vandyke, and landscapes by
Wootton, &c.

The park is large, and well-wooded. The

grounds are tastefully laid out, and the

sloping bank scattered with trees and lianging
to the serpentine lake, with a rotunda upon
rising ground amongst the foliage, forms an

interesting landscape. From many points,

too, there are picturesque, if not striking
views over the adjacent country.

TJTTERBY HOTJSE, near Louth, Lincoln-

shire, the seat of the Rev. Henry B. Benson.

This estate has successively belonged to

the Sapsfoi"ds and the Harrolds. The man-
sion was built in the year 1718, by Captain
John Sapsford, who, it is said, obtained his

promotion for his gallant conduct at the

Siege of Vigo in 1702. Upon this occasion he

swam with a saw in his mouth, and under the

enemy's fire cut through the boom which had
been laid across the mouth of the harbour to

prevent the assailants from entering it.

Utterby House has been greatly altered by
the present possessor ; moi-e, however, with a

view to improving its comfort as a residence

than with any regard to architecture. The

garden and grovmds are extensive, and by no
means deficient in pictui-esque attractions.

INCHMARLO, in the co. of Kincardine,

parish of Banchory Ternan, the seat of Patrick

Davidson, Esq., of Lichmai-lo and Dalhaikie,
a Deputy-Lieut. of the co. of Kincardine, and
Professor of Civil Law in the University and

King's CoUege of Aberdeen.
A branch of the Douglas family for nearly

four centuries possessed large estates in this

district, comprehending besides Lichmarlo and

Dalhaikie or Tilliehaikie, the now separate

properties of Tillwhilly, Kincardine, &c.
;
the

representative of this family is now in Austria.

The Douglases sold all their lands on

Deeside about 1819, in which year the estates

of Inchmarlo and Dalhaikie, or Tilhehaikie,
were acquired by Walter S. Davidson, Esq.
In 1838, they were purchased by the late

Duncan Davidson, of Tillichetly and Dess-

wood, whowas succeeded in them in 1849, by
his eldest son, Patrick Davidson, Esq., the

present possessor.
The house was originally built, (and after-

wards rebuilt in 1800,) by the Douglases of

Tillwhilly and Inchmarlo, whose family resi-

dence it was for upwards of a hundred years.
It is now a plain modern edifice, but beautifully
situated on the northern bank of the river

Dee, about two miles above the picturesque

village of Banchory. Around it is a well-

wooded park, of nearly a hundred acres in

extent, abounding in various kinds of timber,
and the vicinity is by no means deficient in

picturesque attractions.

ORWELL PAEK, SufFolk, in the parish of

Nacton, near Ipswich ;
the seat of George

Tomhne, Esq., M.P. for Shrewsbury, whoalso

possesses Riby Grove, Lincolnshire.

Admiral Vernon, the celebrated captor of

Porto Bello from the Spaniards, fixed his

residence in this parish. Upon his death he

bequeathed the bulk of his property to his

nephew, who erected a new mansion upon the

site of the old house and surrounded it with a

park, giving it the name of Orwell Park from

the beautiful river upon which it borders.

The heir of this gentleman, Sir Robert Harland,

Bart., disposed of the house and estate to

George Tomline, Esq., the presentowner.
The garden and grounds, as well as the

rides in the neighbourhood are exceedingly

picturesque, the river Orwell forming a

lovely feature in the landscape.

HILLINGTON HALL, in the co. of Norfolk, the

seat of Sir Willam John Henry Browne

fFolkes, Bart.

This manor, in the monastic days, belonged
to the Abbots of Dereham, but of course passed
into lay hands at the time of the dissolution.

In 1590 we find it in the possession of Richard

Hovell, who built a house there in 1627, and
who sprang from a very ancient family, that

may be traced back to the time of William tlie

Conqueror, when a Richard Hovell held of

Baldwin, Abbot of Bury, the lordship of Wig-
vereston, in SufFolk.

In 1669, Sir William Hovell dying without

male issue, this estate devolved to one of his

daugliters, who married Martin ffolkes, an
ancestor of tlie present owner.

The house, as already mentioned, was built

in 1627 by Richard Hovell, upon a manor

belonging to the Abbot of Dereham. Within
the last few years large additions have been
made to the original structure, which now

presents a handsome elevation in the Gothic
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style. It stands in the midst of a park, two

hundred and fifty acres in extent, aboimding
in noble firs and oaks, and adorned with a fine

piece of water. The gardens and pleasure-

grounds are extensive and well arranged.

COTHEKIDGE COUIIT, Worcestershire, the seat

of William Berkeley, Esq., is about fourmiles

west of Worcester, on the left of the road to

Bromyard.
Atone time this estatebelonged to the Lucys,

from whom it descended to the Barons Vaulx,
of Harrowden, Northamptonshire. By one of

that family it was sold to Sir Robert Acton,

Knt., of Elmley Lovett, Worcestershire, of

whose son it was purchased, in the reign of

Elizabeth, by Francis Brace, Esq., ofWarndon
in the same county. Of this gentleman it was

bought by Rowland Berkeley,Esq., of the city
of Woixester and of Spetchley, lineally des-

cended from Thomas, fourth son of James
Lord Berkeley, by Isabel daughter and coheir

of Thomas Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk, tlie

ancestors of the present Earl of Bei-keley.
Rowland Berkeley died in 1611, andleft Cothe-

ridge tohis eldest son William, whosedescen-
dant now possesses it. Sir Rowland Berkeley
of Cotheridge, the son of William, was a

Royalist OfRcer and a person of considerable

distinction during the Parliament War. He
was one of the intended Knights of the Royal
Oak, and his name is still remembered in the

traditions of the neighbourhood in connection

with the troubles of that time, and tlie disas-

trous fight of Worcester. There is a good
portrait of Sir Rowland at Cotheridge Court

together with other interesting portraits.
The mansion is ancient and was formerly

a gabled building, and though a portion of

it has been rebuilt and altered, it agrees with

the grounds around
;
some of which are laid

out in the fashion of other times. Theavenue,
more than half-a-mile in lengtli, formed of a

double row of large limes on each side, wlien

in full foliage, gives an air of grandeur to the

aj^proach. The Parish Church, partly con-

cealed by trees, is an object which adds to the

beauty of the grounds. There is a fine view
of the Malvern Hills from the lawn and gardens,
and a short distance from the house the river

Teme flows picturesquely at tlie foot of a

high bank, which is shadedby majestic oaks.

Rowland Berkeley left Spetchley to his

second son Robert, who became a Justice

of the King's Bench in 1632.

TEENAKREN, in the co. of Cornwall, the

seat of Tliomas Hext, Esq., whose ancestors

were for many centuries settled at Kingston
in Devonshire, but who, alienating their pro-

perty in tliat district about two or three

hundred yeai's ago, took up tlieir residence at

Trenarrcn.

A mansion stood near this site, of very

ancient date, but this was puUed down in

1805 by Thomas Hext, Esq., and a new

building erected in its place, which has since

been much added to and improved by the

present owner in 1850. It is a structure

in the modern style of building, and hardly

belonging to any distinct style of architecture,

though, when seen from without, it presents a

picturesque object, and within, it is by no
means wanting in convenience. Its situation

is at the head of a valley, and it commands a

beautiful sea-view.

SKEEENS, in the co. of Essex, about a mile

from Roxwell, the seat of Thomas William

Bramston, Esq., a magistrate and deputy-
lieutenant for £ssex, and M.P. for the

southern division.

This estate took its name from a family of

note, who possessed it for many years, until

after the death of Sir John Skreene in 1478 it

passed into the hands of Lord Hastings, and

subsequently to the family of Farmer. In 1544
Ricliard Farmer was attaintedof high treason,

whereupon Skreens was granted by Henry
VIII. to Richard Sampford, yeoman, who in

1554 sold it to Richard Weston, Esq. From
him it descended to the Earl of Portland,
who left it to his second son, Thomas, and he

again sold it in 1635 to Sir John Bramston,
Knt., LordChief Justiceof the King's Bench.
In his family it has continued till the present
time.

An older mansion being pulled down, the

Sresent

house was erected in 1728 by Thomas
Iramston, whose son, Thomas Berney Bram-

ston, added the stables. Since then it has

been much improved and enlarged by the

present owner. It is a square red-brick

edifice, with a noble hall and fine library,

standing on the left side of the road, going
from Roxwell to Shellow, about a mile beyond
Roxwell Church. The grounds and the park
abound with magnificent old timber.

HANWELL PARK, Mlddlesex, the property
of Benjamin Sharpe, Esq., is situated in the

parish of Hanwell to the northward of the

Great Western Railway, which forms its

southern boundaiy : it consists of 107 acres

well covered with old timber. The mansion
and gardens, surroimded with shrubberies and

trees, are placed near the middle of the pai-k,
which ascends in fine bold swells to its

northern extremity, where it attains a con-

siderable elevation, aflfording a fine view over

Middlesex and the adjoining counties.

After passing the western gates and lodge,
the drive to the house winds through a fine

avenue, consisting principally of ehns, many of

which have attained a considerable Iieight, and

being divested of their internal branches,
with their tops arching over, form no inapt
resemblance to the roof of a cathedral

;
this

I
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avenue still retains its ancient name of " The

Grove," which tradition has assigned to it.

On quitting the Grove, a fine vievv of the

south-front of the house is obtained, with

glinipses between the trees of the higher

grounds ascending to the northward. The

road, after crossing in front of the house,

approaches it througli ornamental gates lead-

ing to a terrace road.

The mansion has ahnost entirely been re-

built witliin the last thirty years, and is con-

sidered a very favourable specimen of Grecian

architecture. Itconsists of a centre and two

wings with a portico supported by six fluted

Doric columns and two pilasters, extending
the whole distance between them

;
thehouse

has apparently but one story which adds con-

siderably toits efFect; but, in the centre, there

is a second one for servants' rooms, the

windows of which are well hidden by bahis-

trades in front ofthem—the offices and stabling
lie to the eastward.

The reception-rooms are all on the ground-
floor, and being lofty and of fine proportions
fonn a handsome suite of apartments. One of

the drawing-rooms is of considerable dimen-

sions measuring 50ft. 5in. by 28ft. 9in.—the

dining-room is also large,
—the ceilings of

these rooms are strict specimens of Grecian

decoration, that of the drawing-room is sup-

ported by four scagUola pilasters ;
in this

room tiiere is a remarlvably fine mantel-piece,
the. upper portion of which is formed of a

single block of white marble llft. in length,

supported by Gialloantico cohimns. Several

of Miss Linwood's large tapestry pictures
decorate the walls, which are principally hung
with pictures by the old masters. Among them
is the celebrated supper at Emaus by Michael

Angelo da Caravaggio, wliich was formerly in

the Borghese Palace at Rome— (a copy of tliis

picture has been presented to the National

Gallery). The angel staying the sacrifice

of Isaac, by Guercino, and a figure the size

of life of a reclining Magdalen, wliich has

formed the altar-piece in a convent, must also

be particularized. A complete series of pic-
tures by Fuseli, ilkistrating Sotheby's Oberon,
fiU the panels of four cheffbnniers. Tlaere is

a fine marble figure by Canova on a pedestal
formed of vahiable antique marble, which
has three panels of rosso antico sculptured
in basso-reUevo by one of his principal pupils.
There is also a fine bronze of the cinque-cento

age, describing the martyrdom of St. Paul and
the origin of the tre fontane at Rome. This

room has been pi-incipally furnished with

olive wood from difterent parts of the Medi-
terranean.

In the other rooms are several fine speci-
mens of pictures by difierent masters. Nash's

celebrated model of the Parthenon at Athens
is also here.

Two large waUed gardens Ue to the east-

ward. In the park are several fine ehns and

oaks, one of the hatter is sufficiently capacious
to accommodate half-a-dozen persons at a

table 'midst its branches.

A large orchard to the south has been laid

out as a circular plantation which disguises
its chai'acter, and enables it to be both a
useful and oi-namental screen to the railway.
From an ice-liouse at the top of the park
several beautiful views of Harrow, Greenford,

Perivale, and the neighbouring country, form-

ing the vaUey through which the river Brent

flows, can be seen to great advantage.

FLASBY HALL, in the co. of York, the seat

of Cooper Preston, Esq., J. P.

This mansion is in the ItaUan style with

Campanile, having been recently nearly
rebuilt with stone from quarries on tlie estate.

It has a long approach through park-Uke
scenery, with a clear Trout-streani to the right
of the road, bordered by a steep-wooded bank.
Tlie liouse with its northei^n entrance is not

visible until nearly arrived at.

The principal front faces the south—from
its windows, there is the first view of Sharpah
with its varied outUne and cone rising above
the rest, being the most conspicuous part of the

isolated range of Elso covered with hanging
wood nearly to the heath's summit. Upon
this cone was one of the stationsin the Ordnance

survey, and upon the side are those two sin-

gular natural depressions caUed the Dead

Eyes, noticed in tlie Survey.
A short distance behind the house is the

site of an encampment, whence you have
a splendid view of the country east and west,
with the great bulk of Pendle in the distance.

That the turn of the vaUey below the terrace

has been the scene of some battle or skirmish

is evident (although aU history of the event

is lost), from the number of human bones

deposited ;
the vicinity of the barrow and

the quantity of reUcs, urns, quorns, spears, &c.,
wliich have been from time to time dug up :

amongst them is that remarkable Roman
sword noticed by the Archseological Society
in their Transactions. In fmther corroboration

of this having been a battle plain, we may
add the fact of its being the best military

position, most likely to have been contested by
forces passing from one side of the country
to the other before the use of fire-arms.

The estate of Flasby or Flacebye was

granted by the Conqueror to the family of de

Grandeorge. The signet of William de

Grandeorge, Abbot of Furness in Lancashire,
was found here on the terrace a few years

ago, and is also figured in the above-named
Transactions.

Flasbye must have been from early times

the favoured site of a considerable residence :

but of the ancient House nothing now remains
;

the great-grandfather of the present owner
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pulled down the most partof the old mansion,
with its seven gable-ends in a row, after his

purchase in 1720.

EVEKINGHAM PARK, in the East Riding
of the 00. of York, five miles from Market

Weighton, and about six miles ft-om Pock-

lington ;
the seat of William Constable

Maxwell, Esq., repi-esentative of the Earls of

Nithsdale and heir to their barony of Hemes
of Terregles. He is a magistrate and Deputy-
Lieutenant for the East riding, and served as

High SheriiF of Yorkshire in 1833.

The estate of Everingham came into the

family of the Constables in the reign of

Henry VIII., at which time Sir Marmaduke
Constable married the daughter and heiress

of John Suthell, Esq., the then possessor of

the estate. The present mansion was erected
about eighty years ago, by William Hagger-
ston Constable, Esq. It is a large and lofty

building of brick, the common material of all

thegentlemen's houses in this district between
Market Weighton and Howden. It presents
three fronts; one towards the east, a second
towards the south, and a third towards the

west; the two former facing the park, which
is of considerable extent. The flatness of
the suiTounding country is such that tliere is

not very much to admire in the prospect, as

seen from the lower part of the house, but
the upper stories command a fine view of the

western edge of the Wolds as well as nver the

levels towards York and Howden. Upon the

north side, however, the hand of art, most

judiciously applied, has created a beautiful

landscape, denied by nature, who certainly
does not seem here to have been in one of her
most smiling moods. Between the garden
and park runs a piece of water, resembling a

natural river
;
in the niiddle of this water

rises a small island, dividing it into two

branches, over each of which is a wooden

bridge, the whole producing a most picturesque
efFect. At the entrance into the church of
St. Everilda is a Saxon font, that formerly
stood in the parish church. It is of a circidar

form, and carved on its exterior with uncouth

figures of animals and other devices, the rude
work of a rude age ;

but venerable from its

antiquity, and having that undefinable value

which belongs to the monuments of the past,

independent of any intrinsic merit.

MONK CONISTON, in the co. of Lancaster,
about four miles from Hawkeshead

;
the seat

of James Garth Marshall, Esq.
This mansion—formerly called Waterhead

House, from JVaterhead, the head of Coniston
Lake—was built in 1816 by Michael Knott,

Esq., who resided there imtil his decease in

1836. It was afterwards purchased by John
Marshall, Esq., for some time knight of the

shire for the co. of York, and in his family
the estate still remains.

This mansion is situated at the headof Lake

Coniston, or, as it is sometimes called, Thurs-

ton Water, which extends about six miles

from north to south, is about half-a-mile across

in its widest part, and in depth, at some places,
not less than forty fathoms. Besides other

fish, it abounds in char, of a peculiarly fine

flavour.

The celebrated novelist, Mrs. Radcliffe,

has left so vivid a description of this lake and
the surrounding scenery, that we cannot do

better than give it at sorne length in illustra-

tion of our present subject.:
—

" As we advanced, Coniston Fells seemed
to multiply, and become still more impressive.
until having reached atlength the summit of

the mountain, welooked down upon Thurston

Lake immediately below; and saw them rising

abruptly round its northern edge in somewhat
of the sublime altitudes and dark majesty of

Ulswater. A range of lower rocks nearer to

the eye exhibited a very peculiar and grotesque

appearance, coloured scars and deep channels

marking their purple sides, as if they had
been rifted by an earthquake.

" The road descends the flinty steeps towards

the eastern bank of the lake, that spreads a

surface of six miles in length, and generally
three quarters of a mile in breadth, not wind-

ing in its course, yet much indented with bays,
and presenting nearly its whole extent at once

to the eye. The grandestfeatures are the Fells

that crown its northern end, not distantly and

gradually like those of Windermere, nor varied

like them with magnificent colouring; but

rising in haughty abruptness, dark, rugged,
and stupendous, within a quarter of a mile of

the margin, and shutting out all prospect of

other mountain summits. At their feet, pas-
tures spread a bright green to the brim of the

hike. Nearly in the centre of these Fells,

which open in a semicircle to receive the lake,

a cataract descends, but its shining line is not

of a breadth proportioned to the vastness of its

perpendicular fall. The village of Coniston is

sweetly seated under shelter of the rocks
;
and

at a distance beyond, on the edge of the water,

the ancient hall or priory shows its turrets and

ivyed ruins among old woods. The wliole

picture is reflected in the liquid mirror below.

The gay convivial chorus, or solemn vesper,
that once swelled along the lake from those

consecrated walls, and awakened perhaps the

enthusiasm of the voyager while evening
stole upon the scene, is now contrasted by
desolation and profound repose, and as he

ghdcs by, he hears only the dashing of his

oars, or the surge beating on the shore."

This lake appeared to us one of the most

charming we had seen. From the sublime

mountains which bend round its bead, the

heights on either side decline towards the
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soiitli into waving hills that form its shores,

and often stretch in long sweeping points into

the water, generally covered with tnfted wood,
but sometimes with the tender verdure of pas-

turage. Tlie tops of these woods were just
embrowned with autumn, and contrasted well

with other slopes, rough and heathy, that

rose above, or fell beside them to the water's

brink, and added force to the colouring,
which the reddish tints of decaying fern, the

purple bloom of heath, and the bright golden

gleams of broom, spread over the elegant
banks. Their hues, the graceful imdulations

of the marginal hills and bays, the richness of

the woods,the solemnity of tlie northeni Fells,

and the deep repose that pervades the scene,
where only now and then a white cottage or a

farm hu-ks among the trees, are circumstances

which render Thurston-Lake one of the most

interesting, and, perhaps, the most beautiful of

any in the country.
Tlie road undulates over copsy hills, and

dips into shallow valleys along the whole of

the eastern bank, seldom greatly elevated

above the water, or descending to a level with

it, but frequently opening to extensive views

of its beauties, and again shrouding itself

in verdant gloom. The most impressive pic-
tures were formed by the Fells, that crowd
over tlie upper end of the lake, and which,
viewed from a low station, sometimes appeared
nearly to enclose that part of it. The effect

was then astonishingly grand, particularly
about sunset, when the clouds, drawingup-
wards, discovei-ed the utmost summits of these

Fells, and a tint of dusky blue began to pre-
vail over them, which gradually deepened
into night. A Hne of lower rocks, thatextend
from these, are independently of tlie atmosphere
of a duU purple, and their shaggy forms would

appear gigantic in ahiiost any other situation.

Even here they preserve a wild dignity, and
their attitudes somewhat resemble those at

the entrance of Borrowdale
;
but tliey are for-

gotten wlien the eye is Hfted to the solemn
mountains immediately above. These are

rich in slate quarries, andhave some copper-
mines; butthe latter were closedduring the civil

wars of the List century, having been worked,
as we are told in the descriptive language of

the miners, from the day to the evening end,

forty fathom
;
and to the morning end, seven

score fathom
;
a figvu"ative style of distinguish-

ing the western and eastern directions of the

mine. The lake towards the lower end naiTOWs
and is adorned by one small island

;
but here

tlie hills of the eastern shore soar into fells,

some barren, craggy, and nearly perpendicular,

othei'sentirely covered with coppice-wood.Two
of these, rising over the road, gave fine relief

to each other, the one showing only precipices
ofshelvingrock,while its rival was adorned with

woods, that mantled from the base to the sum-

mit, consisting chiefly of oak, ash, and hoUy.

Not any lake, that we saw, is at present so

much embellished with wood as Thurston.

AU the mountains of High, and the valleys
of Loiv, Furness, were indeed some centuries

ago covered with forests, part of which was
called the Forest of Lancaster; and these

were of such entangled luxuriance as to be

nearly impenetrable in many tracts. Here

wolves, wild-boars, and a remarkably large
breed of deer, called Leghs, the heads of which
have frequently bcen found buried at a consi-

derable depth in the soil, abounded. So secure

an asylum had these animals in the woods of

Higli Furness, that even after the low lands

were cleared and cultivated, shepherds were

necessary to guard the flocks from the ravages
of the wolves. Towards the end of the

thirteenth century, the upper forests also were

nearly destroyed.
"In winter, the shepherds used to feed

tlieir flocks with the young sprouts of ash
and holly, a custom said to be still observed

;

the sheep coming at the call of the shepherd,
and assembling roundtheholly tree, to receive

from his hand the young shoots cropped for

them. Whenever the woods are felled, which
is too frequently done, to supply fuel for the

neighbouring furnaces, the hoUy is still held

sacred to the flocks of these mountains."

EUETON CONSTABLE, Yorkshire, fivemiles

from Hedon, and about nine miles froni Hull
;

the seat of Sir T. A. Cliflbrd Constable, Bart.

Camden tells us that " Constable Burton is

so named from the lords of it, who by mar-

riages are allied to very honourable families,
and flourish in great splendour at this day.
Robert, of this house, as we find it in Meaux
Abbey Book, was one of the knights of the

Earl of Albemarle, who being old and full of

days, took upon him the cross, and went with

King Richard to the Holy Land." For a
considerable period the Constables held the

title of Viscount Dunbar. The present owner
has derived this property by inheritance.

Burton Constable, which is supposed to

have been built by King Stephen, is a fine

old building with two noble fronts. The
west front is one hundred and ninety-one feet

long ;
the east is but one hundred and thirty-

three, being shortened by two wings of

seventy-eight feet in length, each projecting
from its extremities. Foiu' square towers,
with battlements, two at each end of the

edifice, rise a little above the roof, but main-
tain the character of an old baronial residence.

The magnificence within is in keeping with
this noble exterior, the entrance-hall being
sixty feet in length, and thirty-one in breadth
as well as in height. The gallery is one
hundred and thirteen feet long, and nineteen
feet high, adorned with family pictures, and
furnished with a great variety of mathematical
instruments. The library is large and well

N
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chosen. Amongst the curiosities of the place

may be enumerated four beautiful tables of

black marble, richly inL^id with composition
of vai-ious colours, the work of Italian artists.

The park is spacious, with extensive

walks and ornamented with chimps of trees,

as well as with a large piece of water, over

which is a handsome bridge. A gravel road

leads thence to the porter's lodge.
The owner ofthis noble estate posseses also—

WYCLIFFE, in the North Riding of York-
shire. The mansion is in the Grecian style
of architecture, and has succeededto one of a

much older date.

ENFIELD OLD PAEK, Middlesex, the seat

of Edward Foi-d, Esq., (in the parishes of

Enfield and Edmonton,) called in the early

surveys
" Parcus Intrinsecus

"
to distinguish

it from Enfield Chase (" Parcus Extrinsecus ")
was formerly the home-park of the ancient

Royal Palace of Enfield, where Queen Eliza-

beth resided before she came to the throne,
and where in the early part of her reign she

frequently held her court.

This Park, with the "hop-garden" and
"warren" was granted by Charles II. to

George, first Duke of Albemarle, in 1660.

After the death of Christopher, second Duke,
it escheated to the crown, and was again
granted by King William, in the first year of

his reign, to the Earl of Rutland. It subse-

quently became, by purchase, the property of

the late Mi-s. Lewis (widow of the Rev.
Thomas Winchester Lewis), who bequeathed
the mansion and surrounding estate to her

son-in-law, Edward Ford, Esq., (youngest
son of the late John Ford, of Lancaster, Esq.,)
the present possessor.
The house appears from the survey of 1650

to have been then a ranger's lodge, and from
the remains of massive foundations in every
direction, must have been of considerable

extent
;
but the greater part of the original

structure has long been pulled down and the

remainder transformed into a comparatively
modern residence, which, however, has been

again added to and partially restored by the

present owner.

The Park is richly wooded with oaks, the

growth of centin'ies, from which three hundred
and ninety-seven were selected and felled for

the navy in the time of the Commonwealth
;

and the beautiful and extensive lawn (finely
broken by groups of stately forest-trees) is

mentioned by Camden asthe site of an ancient

Roman Oppidum, and is surrounded on three

sides by acircular enttenchment
;
from which

various interesting rehcs have at ditferent

times been obtained.

CLUNY CASTLE, Scotland, in the co. of

Inverness and parish of Laggan, the seat of

Ewen Macpherson, Esq., of Cluny Macpher-
son, chief of tlie Macphei'sons, and lineal

descendant in the male hne of the chiefs of

the Clan Chattan, so wellknown totheEnghsh
reader by Sir Walter Scott's graphic descrip-
tion of them in the " Fair Maid of Perth."
" You must know, brother, that Clan Chattan's

claws pierce rather deep," says iVarwjflw of t]ie

Hammer, a distinguished member of tlie

hostile tribe of Clan Quhele, who yet is too

generous to refuse acknowledging the merits

of an enemy.
Not the least celebrated of this distinguished

family is the Cluny Macphei-son, who
flourished in the days of Preston-Pans and
Cidloden. At the beginning of the contest he
served as a Captain in the King's army. His

company was stationed at Ruthven Castle

about ten miles dovvn the Spey, at a time

when he chanced to be at his own castle ;

which fact coming to the knowledge of the

Chevalier and his party, it was proposed that

a detachment should be sent to seize the

rebel, as they chose to style hira. This com-
mission was entrusted to Lochiel, who deem-

ing it too hazardous to attempt capturing a

chieftain in his own castle, and in the midst
of his own clan, by the open way of violence,

despatched only one man, who managed the

aiFair so well that he surprised Cluny, and

brought him prisoner to the Prince. Exei^

cising a wise clemency, the latter pardoned
Cluny his so-called rebellion upon condition

that he should abandon his colours, aud join
the standard of the Stuarts. To this it is

said that Cluny assented
;
the whole story,

however, may well be doubted, and we should
incline to believe those who tell us that Cluny
had always in his heart been warmly attached
to the deposed family, although serving as a

Captain in Lord Loudon's Highlandcrs. He
threw up his connnission, therefore, upon the

arrival of Prince Charles Edwardin 1745, and
raised the clan in his ftivour, joiningthe army
soon after the victory at Preston-Pans. Accord-

ing to other accounts the Macphersons assisted

at this battle. Be this as it may, they dis-

tinguished themselves highly in the rest of

the campaign, unfortunate as it turned out

for the cause they had espoused. In the

skirmish at Clifton, or Penrith, Cluny com-
manded the rear-guard, and with about six

hundred Macphersons put to flight two regi-
ments of the Duke of Cumberland's dragoons.

It has been said that the Macphersons
were chiefly stimulated to embark in this

unfortunate adventure from the fate of three

of their clan, who tvvo years before had been
shot for joining in the mutiny of the Black

Watdi, now known as the Forty-Second. The

story is thus told by Logan in his excellent

account of the Highland Clans :
—

" This regiment having been marched to

the vicinity of London, were apprehensive
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tliat it was intended to send them abroad,

contrary to the terms of their enlistment, and
ahnost the whole body decamped at night, in

the hope of being able to reach the Highlands,
but they were intercepted in Northampton-
shire, and marched to the Tower. Being
brought to trial, many were banished to dif-

ferent colonies, and three were shot."

Cluny was not present at the Battle of

CuUoden, but his relinquishment of his original

standard, and his zeal in the Chevalier's ser-

vice, were not the less remembered against
him when that decisive day liad rendered the

Hanoveriau cause triumphant. Tlae Duke of

Cumberland, at no time remarkable for lenity,
was more than usually vindictive in the case

of this gallant chieftain, and for nine long

years he caused the pursuit of him to be con-

tinued with unremitting animosity. The
house of the fugitive was burnt, his lands

forfeited, and his lady, a daughter of Lord

Lovat, having no other refuge left to her,

gave birth to a son in a kiln for drying corn,

Cluny himself wandered from wood to wood,
from cavern to cavern, chiefly hiding himself

in the district of Laggan, and although his

haunts must have been known to many of his

clansmen, not one could be found to betray
his chieftain, He had, however, many hair-

breadth escapes. Upon one occasion, while

concealed in the house of a friend, aparty of

soldiers was seen approaching the house, but
the discovery was not made till it seemed too

late for him to escape. In this dilemma he

equipped himself in the dress of one of the

Gillies in the house, blackened his face and

hands, and, with head and legs quite bare,

boldly went out to meet his pursuers.
The commanding oflicer of the detachment

gave him liis horse to hold while he went
with his soldiers to search the house, and

actually rewarded hini witli lialf-a-crown upon
his return from tlie fruitless investigation.
At length Cluny had the good fortune to

escape in safety to France, but he never could

succeed in obtaining a pardon for his offences,
and died in exile, a martyr to the cause,

which, whether right or wrong, he had so

nobly and faithfuUy supported.
This estate from time immemorial has been

possessed by the chiefs of the Clan Macpher-
son, or, as it was originally styled, Clan

Chattan; the word Cattamch,—the generic

appellation of the clan—signifying, "shaggy-
haired, rough-looking men," a name suitable

to their supposed descent from the German
Catti, of whom Tacitus says, that the youth
never cut their hair or shaved their beards, till

tliey had distinguished themselves in battle.

Tlie present mansion is a modern castellated

structure, upon the site of the old castle,

already mentioned as having been burnt down

by the Duke of Cumberland in 1746. It was
erected in 1 834 by the late chief, Duncan Mac-

pherson, a Lieutenant-Colonel in the Scots

Fusilier-Guards
;
and is built of a fine blue

granite, a material wliich gives to it an air of

antique grandeur, independently of any archi-

tectural considerations. "Here," says Logan,
"is the Prince's target, whicli lay buried un-

der-ground until the death of Chmy. It is

mounted richly and with much taste in silver

trophies and other ornaments, and is lined

with leopard-skin. There are also a pair of

gold-inlaid pistols, and his sporan, or purse,
formed of seal-skin, with silver mounting and
tassels. The colourswhicli waved overthebat-

talion on that occasion are still preserved, and
in a good state, considering that they have
been nine times perforated with musket-balls.

These colours formed the Bratach vaine,

or green banner, of which, it is said, an old

woman foretold the Duke of Cumberland,

that, should he await its arrival, he would

assuredly meet his defeat. Tliere are also

the lace ruflles, which ornamented Cliarles's

wrists, and were given by him to Cameron of

Fassifearn
;

an autograph letter from the

Prince, promising an ample reward to his

devoted friend, Cluny, and a plate intended

to strike oflT notes for the use of the army. A
leathern belt of red morocco, called the

Criosbreac, is likewise shown, which has been
so called from its numerous silver studs.

These represent the Agnus Dei and head of

St. John alternately, with other ornaments;
and there can be little doubt but that it was

brought from the Holy Land by Murdach, or

some otherchief whohad made the pilgrimage
thither. The Feadan f/«',orblackpipe-chanter,
must not be forgotten

—the prosperity of the

house of Cluny is popularly believed to be

dependent on its preservation ;
and it is not

doubted by all true clansmen that it is the

veritable instrument which fell from heaven

to supply the place of that used by the piper
at the battle of Perth."

The prospect from the Castle is remarkably
fine. It overlooks the river Spey below, with

the Grampian range of mountains in the

distance. The background is formed by a

tall dark rock, called Crai(j Dhuhh—or, as it

is more usually written Dhu—which has ever

been the rendezvous of the Macphersons,
and which has become the war-cry of their

clan. Down the rock falls a small stream,

and at the base of it are two pretty little

lakes, called Lochan-uvie.

IlEDGEA"\rE HALL, in the co. of Suffblk,

about two miles from Botesdale
;
the seat of

Goorge Wilson, Esq,

Redgrave Hall was originally built of stone

by Sampson, Abbot of Bury, the date of its

erection having been A.D. 1211. It was one

of the villas belonging to the prelates of that

monastery, but passed into other hands at

the time of the dissolution of the conventual
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houses, About the year 1770, it was in the

hands of Rowland Holt, Esq., who pulled
down the old building, and erected upon its

site the present mansion. This last is a large
and handsome edifice of Woolpit brick, and
has a projecting centre, with a pediment sup-

ported by four lonic cohunns. Sir John
Cullum tells us, "in the evidence-room here

are preserved many valuable manuscripts."
The park abounds in fine timber of various

kinds, and some of respectable antiquity. In

front of the house is a sheet of water, deserving
the name of a lake, which adds not a little

to the general beauty of the landscape.

BOWOOD, Wiltshire, two miles from Calne,
and fom- from Chippenham ;

the seat of the

Marquess Lansdowne.
Bowood formed originally a part of the

royal and extensive forest called Pewisham,
which extended from Chippenham nearly to

Devizes, and from Laycock to Cahie, the river

Avon bounding it upon the north and west.

King James I. is said to have been in the

habit of hunting the deer that abounded
within these precincts ;

but at his death it was

disafForested, and dividedbetween the ancestors

of Lord AvuUey and the Carys, a Roman
CathoHc family of Devonshire. The latter

portion was afterwards sold to Mr. Montagu,
of Lackliam.

During the protectorate of Cromwell,
Bowood was amongst the estates that the

Commonwealth foi-feited to its own use. There
is still a current tradition that the Parhament-

ai-y Commissioners were puzzled as to how

they should convey the deer over Lockshill

Heath to Spy Park, till the clothiers of the

neighbourhood constructed a skirted road of

hroad cloth between those places, and thus

accompHslied their removaL In the reign of

Charles II., Bowood was gi-anted to Sir Orlando

Bridgeman, Bart., one of the royal favourites,

and son of the Lord-Keeper. He, however,
died insolvent, when it was purchased of his

creditors by the Earl of Shelburne, and from

him it has descended Hneally to the present

possessor.
This mansion presents a grand pile of buikl-

ing, situated near the north-east side of the

park, upon a knoU of groimd which slopes

gently down towards the lake. The principal
front was erected by John, Earl of Shelburne,
from the plans of Robert and James Adams.
It is ornamented with an octostyle portico of

the Doric order, bcaring the founder's arms
in its pediment, and looking towards the south,
over a rich tract of diversified and pleasing

scenery. To this portion, his son WiHiam,
the first Marquess of Lansdowne, added on the

west side, tlu"ee hundred feet of building,
modeHed exactly after a wing of the Emperor
Diocletian's palace, at Spalatro, in Dalmatia.

This constitutes the fa^ade of two quadran-

gular courts of offices for the servants. Tlie

north front contains the private apartments of

the family
—the state-rooms being towards the

south—and has no remarkable architecturai

character. The saloon and dining-room are

noble apartments, in which will be found a

valuable collection of pictures. The entrance-

hall, or vestibule, though not large, is hand-
some

;
it is paved with tessellated marble, and

adorned with a few statues.

The pai-k and pleasure-groimds are exten-

sive. They Avere laid out under the direction

of William, Marquess of Lansdowne, assisted,
as it is said, by the Hon. Charles Hamilton, of

Pains Hill. The park is well-nigh encircled

by woods, the helt of which varies in its

width according to the diversified natiu-e of

the ground. A lake, nearly thirty acres in

extent, sparkles like a mirror in the centre of

this lovely landscape, sometimes concealed in

part by its serpentine windings, and at others

by the trees that overhang its hanks. This

noble sheet of water extends to the foot of

the lawn before the house, where it falls in a

beautiful cascade over a huge mass of rock-

work, the descent heing thirty feet perpendi-
cular. The idea of it was taken from a pic-
ture by N. Poussin, and its beauty seems to

have warmed the antiquarian Britton into a

fit of poetical rapture.
" The water,

"
he

says, "gushesout of several excavations in

the rock
;
and the principal sheet, after fal-

ling a few yards, dashes against some project-

ing masses of stone, and flies ofF in a cloud

of white spray. The dashing and roar of

the waters, the jumbled confusion of the

rocks, the wildness and seclusion of the place,
and the various subteiTanean passages under
the head of the river, conspire to render it

a scene strikingly pleasing to every man of

taste
;
but more pecidiarly so to the painter

and admirer of the picturesque ;
for here he

may indulge himself in the reveries of fancy,
and by a small effbrt of imagination may
think himself amongst the wild waterfalls of

North Wales, or the thundering cataracts of

Switzerland.

"This cascade is produced by the overflowing
water of the lake

;
in constructing which the

latter was made to expand into its present

consequence. By raising a high embanked

head, the waters have been thrown out of the

original channel, and caused to cover an ex-

tent of about thirty acres."

Into this lake several petrifying spriiigs

cmpty themselves, after oozing from the rocks

in the eastern division of the park, and gently

meandering through alandscape ofuncommon

beauty. Near to the house the grounds are

nuich broken and diversified, the charms of

the immediate picture being much heightened

by the distant views of the Marlborough
Downs, the White Horse on Cherill HHls,

and other objects of equal interest.



SEATS OF GREAT «RITAIN. 93

Near the aviary is a somewhat remark-
able echo; it gives back every word three

or four times, each tone and infiection of the

voice being distinctly audible.

KINNAIRD CASTLE, Scotland, in the co.

of Fortar
;

the seat of Sir James Carnegie,
Bart., of Southesk, heir male of the Earls of

Southesk.

This property belonged in olden times to

the family of De Kinnaird, whose male line

at length becanle extinct. In the division of

property which then took place between the

three co-heiresses, Kinnaird Castle fell to

Mariota, who, in 1410, married Diicathus de

Carnegie. The families into which the other

sisters married are now extinct.

Since the period above-mentioned, Kinnaird
Castle has continued in the Carnegies

—with

one interruption only, to be mentioned pre-

sently
—and has been the scene of many

historical events. In 1452, the old Castle,
the date of which is vmknown, was burnt
down by Lord Huntly, but was rebuilt, as it

is supposed, on the same site about the year
1610. This edifice, however, did not stand

quite two centvn-ies, for we find a new build-

ing raised here by Sir David Carnegie, Bart.,
in 1785, or much about that time.

Upon more than one occasion, this Castle

has been the temporary abode of a reigning

sovereign. James L, Charles L, and Charles
II. have slept within its walls, and it was
from here that the Clievalier—the elder Pre-
tender—dated many of his proclamations.
Portions of his bed-curtains are still preserved,
with that passion for memorials of the

past that is more or less common to all men.
But the family name is rendered yet more
ilhistrious by its connection with that of the

great Marquess of Montrose. He was the

ward of the first Lord Southesk, and at the

age of seventeen only, married Magdalene,
the daughter of that nobleman. A picture
of him in his bridal dress, painted by Jameson,
is yet preserved liere.

From 1410—the year in which Ducathus
de Carnegie married—this estate has remained
in the present family without interruption,

except for a short interval between 1716 and

1740, or thereabout; in that period it lay
under forfeiture on account of the fifth Earl
of Southesk having risen in the first rebelUon.

Afterwards—that is, in 1740—Sir James Car-

negie bought both house and estate from the

York Building-Company.
The mansion is castellated and of a square

form, with a square tower sixty feet high in

the centre, as also at each corner. The chief

front is two hundred and two feet long. Such
at least is the description of this edifice as it

was a short time since
;
but it is undergoing

many and important changes under the hands
of the present possessor. He is remodelling

the whole, and when completed, it will re-

semble an ancient French chfiteau, instead of

being as now a modern castle, for such it

may in fact be called, notwithstanding that

some of the old castle-walls yet remain, at

least eight or nine feet thick—as well as the

King's bed-room, and some portions of the

house of 1600.

Tlie park and pleasure-grounds extend to

nearly six hundred acres, of which the deer-

park occupies four hundred. It is surrounded

by a wall from seven to eight feet high, and
abounds in fine old timber, more especially
oaks. The whole place is on a scale of

magnificence hardly equalled, and certainly
not surpassed, by anything in its own part of

the country.

WILTON PAEK, Buckinghamshire, one mile
east of Beaconsfield

;
the seat ofJamesDu Pre,

Esq., a magistrate and Deputy-Lieutenant for

the county. This gentleman also served as

High-Sheriff", in the year 1825, for Bucks.
The bmlding of this house was commenced

by the late Governor Du Pre, but it was not

completed until about fifty years since, when
it was finished by his widow, after the designs
of Mr. Jupp, late surveyor to the East India

Company. At this time it presented the

appearance of a square brick building, covered
witli stvicco, neat and convenient, but not

otherwise remarkable. Since then it has been
so mvich altered and enlarged as to present
a very different character. To the original
structure two handsome wings have been

added, with a noble terrace and a conserva-

tory, so that the whole now forms a striking
architectural feature in the landscape. Within
the mansion are several fine pictures, some of

which were bought from the late Mr. Pvirling's
celebrated collection.

The park, which originally consisted of

about two hundred and fifty acres, has been

embellished with plantations ;
these are now

upwards of fifty years growth, and add much
to the general beauty of the scene. In the

older part of the estate, oaks, beech, and elm

trees flourish in high luxvu-iance, the soil

appearing to be well adapted to such pro-
ductions.

DKYGSANGE, near Melrose, in the co. of

Roxburgh ;
the seat of Thomas Tod, Esq.

Drygrange was built in or about the year
1760, by the grandfather of the gentleman
now possessing the estate. It is a fair man-

sion, of good size, most picturesquely situ-

ated on the banks of the Leader and the

Tweed, the latter of which has too often been

eulogized both in prose and verse to need any
fvnther description. The former is a small but

beautiful river, that, like the yet more interest-

ing Allan, finally forms a jvmction with the

Tweed.
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The grounds about Drygrange are remark-
able for the variety and beauty of the trees.

POLOC, co. Renfi-ew; the principal residence

of Sir John Maxwell, Bart., the heir and re-

presentative of the ancient and eminent family
of Maxwellof Poloc, sprung from a connnon
ancestor with the noble house of Caerlaverock,

dignified in after-times with the Earldom of

Nithsdale. Sir John Maxwell has sat in

Parliament successively for the counties of

Lanark and Renfrew.
At the earliest period to which existing re-

cords reach, this estate was possessed by
Roland de Mearns, and it subsequently became
theinheritance ofhis heirs of line,tlieMaxwells.
The old Castle of Poloc, probably built before

the thirteenth century, was inhabited by the

second son of Lord Maxwell, before the year
1250. Within Norwood, part of the grounds,ap-

pears an ancient camp. The present mansion

wasbuiltinl740by Sir John, son of Sir John,
sixth Baronet, son of Sir John and Lady Anne
Carmichael. He passed some time in Italy, and
built his house in the Italian style of architec-

ture : it stands upon a small river called the

White Cart, which takes its soiurce in Eagles-
ham Moors, and after passing through various

districts, joins the Clyde aboutseven milesbe-
low Glasgow. Thegroimdthatadjoinstheman-
sion is undvdating, and coveredwith fine timber.

60LDEN GROVE, Flintshire
;

the seat of

Lieutenant-Coloncl Morgan, of the Merioneth
Militia.

The original name of this place, in Welsh,

wasGwlgre, signifying,
"
Strong Watch." It

is supposed to have derived ihe appellation
from there being two rocks in the groimds,
with a high-road between them, forming one
of the minor passes into the Vale of Clwyd.

Golden Grove has been in the family of the

Morgans from time immemorial. The hoiisc,

though modern in comparison with the posses-
sion of the estate, is yet nearly three centuries

old, having been built in the year 1578. No
tradition remains of the person by whom it was
first erected, but the architecture belongs to

that Elizabethan style which is found so pre-
valent amongst the mansions both of Wales
and England.
The grounds attached to the mansion are

hilly and well wooded. In one part of them
is a summer-house that overlooks ten counties,
the prospoct including the Snowdonian range
ofmoimtaias, the Irish Sea, Liverpool, Chester,
andthe Isle of Man. Altogether, it wouldbe
difficult to find a more magnificent panorama
than is here presented to the eye, or one that

presents a greater variety of bold and striking
features.

The name of Morgan is piu'e Welsh, de-

rived from the family localization, Mor-gan,

signifying
" one who lives by, or ncar thc sea,

' '

in like manneras Tre-vor, signifies
" a village

upon the sea." In the Welsh dialect, M and
V are mutually convertible terms, the change
being made for the sake of euphony. The
same may be observed in many other family

appellatives amongst the Welsh
; but, until a

very recent period, the more usual mode was
to adopt the Christian-name only, varying it

with the monosyllable ap, or " son of ;" thus,
John ap David ap Lewellyn. A last, and,

perhaps, a yet more common way, was to form a

surname by merely adding the letter S to the

Christian designation ;
as Robert—Roberts

;

Hugh—Hughs ;
William—Williams, &c.

FORNHAM HALL, in the co. of Sufiblk,
about three miles and a half from Bury ;

the

seat of Lord Manners.
At a very early period the manor and estate

of Fornham St. Genevieve belonged to the

abbots of St. Edmimd, at Bury, and made

part of the property held by the treasurer of

that monastery. The Prior had a villa here,
and a water-mill on the estate for grinding
corn is mentioned in early records by the

name of Abbofs Mill. At the dissolution of

monasteries, the property was bought by Sir

Thomas Kytson, known, from his extensive

commercial transactions, as Kytson tJie Mer-
chant. He also purchased the messuage,
called The Priory, in Fornham, part of the

Abbey estate, and a few years since, the foun-

dations of a building on the north side of the

church were discovered, which are supposed
to have been this very Priory. Hisson dying
in 1602 without heir male, his daughter and

heiress, Mary, conveyed thisnoble inheritance,

by marriage, to Lord Darcy, afterwards Earl

Rivers. In the following generation, Pene-

lope, daughter and co-heir of Thomas, Earl

Rivers, conveyed it in a similar way to Sir

John Gage, of Firle, in Sussex. From the

Gages, it passed into the hands of the Gipps
family, and was sold, in 1721, by Richard

Gipps, Esq., of Badley, to Edward Whitaker,

Esq., Sergeant-at-law, who again disposed of

itin 1731 to Samviel Kent, Esq., purveyor to

Chelsea Hospital, and Member of Parliament
for Ipswich in the four last Parliaments of the

reign of George II. His daughter and
heiress conveyed the estate, by marriage, to

Sir Charles Egleton, Sherifi" of London in

1743, andhis son succeeding him, assumedthe
name of Kent, in compliance with the will of

hismaternalgrandfather, SamuelKent, Esq. In

1769, before which time he had been created

a Baronet, he sold this estate to the Duke of

Norfolk, and from him it passed to Lord Man-
ners.

The present mansion was built about the

ycar 1760, by Sir Charles Egleton Kent,

Bart., and stands in the midst of a beautiful

park, with grounds in which there is an abun-

dance of all sorts of game. Upon the heaths
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of thc neighbourliood,bustards are occasionally

found, and quails are sometimes seen upon the

hills

Fornham Saint Genevieve is divided from

Hengrave, the seat of Sir Thomas Gage, by
the Lark, or Burn, which river was made na-

vigable (by Act of Parliament, in King
WiUiam III. 's reign) as far as the town of

Bury.
At no great distance from the Hall are

various spots of historical or legendary noto-

riety. To the north ofFornham is an eminence

called Kingsbury Hill, which, if we are to

beUeve popular tradition, was the burial-

place of three British monarchs. Near the

church is an enclosure caUed the Camping Close,

where Montfort, Earl of Leicester, was defeated

with great slaughter, in tlie year 1173, and

himself, as weU as his Countess, taken pri-

soners. Such, at least is the more modern
notion as to the locality of this alfair, re-

versing the dictum of Blometield, who places
it at the Seven HiUs, near Ingham. Some
recent discoveries made here lend an air of

much plausibiUty to the later conjecture. It

is not long since that, at St. John's HiU, just
above the ford of the river Lark, some remains

of the dead were found, together with divers

cuUnary articles, and a few pennies belonging
to the time ofHenry II. Conjecture has even

taken a wilder sweep, as to a gold ring with a

ruby, found near the river, in the parish of

Fomiham *St. Martin, which is supposed to

have been dropt by the Countess of Leicester

in her flight; andperhaps, after aU, the notion

may be correct. The ring is now in the

possession of Charles Blomefield, Esq., of

Bury St. Edmund's.

MAESLWCH CASTLE, Radnorshire, South

Wales, twelve miles from Brecknock, and four

from Hay ;
the seat of Walter de Winton,

Esq., (a minor.)
At one time this estate was possessed by Sir

Humphrey Howarth, from whom it was bought
by Walter Wilkins, Esq., M.P. for Radnor-
shire during forty-seven years. The old

mansion was puUed down by Walter Wilkins,

Esq., his son, and the present one commenced

by hira in 1828. His son, WaUer de Winton,

Esq., M.P. for Radnorshire, completed it in

1839.

It commands a magnificent view of the

Black Moimtains and of the Brecknock

Beacons, the highest point of which is Call

Pen-y-Van, and is the loftiest mountain in

South Wales.
At the point where the Castle stands, the

Wye, from a wild river, has become a staid

and almost glassy stream. Gilpin, in de-

scribing the house, declares its situation to be

one of the finest in Wales. It is thus he de-

scribes it—including a censure, which, how-

ever just it might have been at onetime, is no

longer appUcable :
—

" On the north side," he says,
" about four

miles beyond the Hay, a town upon the Wye,
and formerly a Roman station, stands Maes-

llwch, the ancient seat of the Howarths. The
house shows the neglect of its possessor, though
the situation is in its kind, perhaps, one of
the finest in Wales. The view from the haU-
door is spoken of as wonderfuUy gratifying.
The park extends to the river, which encircles it

with a curve, at the distance of half-a-mile.

The banks are enriched with various objects,

amongst which the bridges, and the tower of

Glasbury Church, suiTounded by wood, are

conspicuous. A distant country, equaUy en-

riched, fiUs the remote parts of the landscape,
which is terminated by mountains."

DAIEMAIN, in the co. of Cumberland, Leath

Ward, and parish of Dacre
;
the seatof Edward

WiUiams HaseU, Esq., a magistrate and De-

puty-Lieutenant for the covmties of Westmor-
land and Cumberland, and chairman of the

Quarter-Sessions for both shires. This gentle-
man is also Lieutenant-Colonel Commandant
of the Westmorland and Cumberland Yeo-

manry Cavalry, and served as High Sheriflf

for the latter county in 1830.

This manor was formerly held of the barony
of Greystock by cornage, that is, by blowing
a horn to give notice of the Scottish inroads,
and by other services. The first possessor

upon record is Jolm de Morvil, who flourished

in the reign of Henry II.
;
but in the time of

Henry III., it woidd appear to have passed
to the Laytons, which family held it for many
generations. At length, towards the conclu-

sion of Charles II. 's reign, and in the yeai
1 665 it was purchased by Sir Edward HaseU
of the co-heiresses, who had succeeded to this

property in the absence of male issue. This
Sir Edward descended from an ancient and
time-honoured family in Cambridgeshire.
The oldest part of Dalemain was probably

buiU in the reign of King Henry VII. The
front is of a much more recent date, having
been erected about a hundred and twenty
years ago by Edward Hasell, Esq. The poet

Gray describes it as " a large fabric, of pale
red stone, with nine windows in front, and
seven on the side

;
behind it is a fine lawn,

surrounded by woods and a long rocky emi-
nence rising over them, A clear and brisk

rivuletruns by the house, to jointhe Eamont,
whose course is in sight."

Gray's account, however, does but give an
indistinct and partial notion of this place. It

is beautifuUy situated in a vaUey, high grounds
crowned with woods,i-ise behind the house, that

standsin themidstofan extensive park, through
which flows the river Eamont, a lovely stream

originating in the lake of UUswater, about two
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milesoff. The wholeneighboiirhood isexceed-

ingly picturesque, and presents sonieofthemost

interesting scenesin the counties of Cuniberland
and Westmorland, of which the river Eamont
and the largest portion of the lake of Ulls-

water form the boundary. On tlie Westmor-
land side of the Lake is Martindale Forest,
which is part of the Dalemain Estate, and con-
tains a herd of red deer.

WHITMORE PARK, Warwick
;
the seat of

Edward Phillips, Esq., F.S.A., formerly
Sheriff, and afterwards a magistrate for the

city and county of the city of Coventry, and
the last Alderman of Bishop-Street Ward in

that city under the charter of James I.

Whitmore Hall and Park is within the

parish of the Holy Trinity, Coventry, and
situate two miles from that city.
The Hall is a neat structure in the Eliza-

bethan style of architecture, and was erected

mainly of stone by the present possessor : it

contains abundance of oak carvings of that

period, and the staircase and dining-room
walls are hung with arras tapestry, which is

in most excellent preservation. The subjects,
taken from the Iliad, are " Achilles in retire-

ment,"
" Reconciliation of Achilles and

Agamemnon," and '.'The Redemption of
Hector's Body."
Rubens is supposed to have painted the

Three Cartoons, from which the tapestry was
worked.
The exterior of the Hall is covered with ivy,

and, therefore, in keeping with the antique
relics of the interior, and the panels of the

porch-ceiling contain shields of the armorial

ensigns of family intermarriages, and in the
centre of the ceiling, where the panels inter-

sect, is a carved oak boss, thereon the letter

((5 taken from the dirge Hall at Bablake,
Coventry, the site of which was given by
Edward the BLack Prince, and in commemora-
tion of his gift, the initial of liis Christian

name was carved on the boss. Whitmore
belonged to the Monks of Coventry, who in

6 Edward IH. obtained a licence from the

King and made it a park. It is now disparked,
yet many evidences remain of its former use.

It came to the Crown at the dissokition of
the monasteries, andl EdwardVI. wasgranted
to Sir Ralph Sadler, Knt., who soon conveyed
it to John Hales, Clerk of tlie Hanaper, femp.
Hen. VIII., and founder of the Free School
at Coventry.
Whitmore Park and the Grange were held

by the Hales' until 1720, when Sir Edward
Hales sold his interest therein to the Duke of

Montague. The Hills of Hawkstone, Salop,
subsequently possessed Whitmore Park, from
which family it was alienated early in the

present century.

ANTHONY HOUSE, in the co. of Cornwall
;

the seat of W. H. P. Carew, Esq.

The manor of East Anthony is said to have
been the early inheritance of the Dawnays,
from whom it passed by marriage to the family
of the Erchdekens. Philippa, daughter and
heiress of Sir Warren Erchdeken, conveyed
it in a similar way to Sir Hugh Courtenay,
whose daughter and sole heiress brought it in

marriage to Sir Nicholas, Baron Carew,
upwards of five hundred years ago, and with
his descendants it has ever since remained.

There has been much dispute as to the origin
and meaning of this family designation.
Prince, in his " Worthies of Devon," says, "a
worthy gentleman of the name and family
owns their original to have been from France,
in his ingenious

'

Survey of Cornwall,' whose
words are these :

"
Carew, of antient, Carru was,
And Carru is a plow ;

Romans the trade, Frenchmen the word,
I do the name avow."

This derivation, however, can hardly be

correct, ardar, aradr, arar, is a plough in

Welsh, Cornish, and Armoric
; whereas Carew,

caer-ew, caer-eff, is he, his, or her, castle
;
and

Caer-eau, British Saxon, is a "
castle, or place

of fortified water," referring perhaps to the
medicinal waters existing there. Camden, in

opposition to the Norman derivation of the

family, is positive that it was so called from
Castle Caereu in Pembrokeshire, thus inferring
that the Carews were native Britens of old

extraction.

The present mansion was begun on the site

of an ancient castle, and completed at the

expense of Sir William Carew in 1721. It is

built of Pentuan stone, and in its southern
front has a square court, enclosed on each side

with rows of offices, supported by piazzas, and
ornamented with a turret at each of the four
corners. The stables, coach-houses, and other
offices are arranged on the eastern side. The
entrance to the house on the northern side is

from a handsome terrace, commanding an

interesting view over a fine sweep of lawn,
which gently declines towards the waters of
the Lynher, and is bounded by exensive and
rich plantations. Within the mansion are
numerous family and other portraits by Hol-

bein, Vandyke, Sir Godfrey Kneller, Sir

Joshua Reynolds, &c.
North of the houseisahandsomeshrubbery,

well laid out, and intersected by nmnerous

winding walks, below which stands a modern

bathing-house. Adjoining these plantations,
and separated from them by a brick wall, are

the gardens, in a high state of cultivation.

From the eastern side of the house a retired

road is carried through ancient woods, ter-

minating at a fish-pond, which at one time was

supplied with sea-water. Of the pond, Carew
has given a dcscription, which, as it is not only

exceedingly quaint and amusing, butmay serve
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as a model for imitatora, we shall venture to

repeat it here, and at somelength.
"

It exceedeth good manners to invite your

longer stay at our cold harbour
;
and yet that

divers strangers have, either upon cause or

kindness, pretended to like well of a salt-water

pond there made
;
and others, whose dwelling

affordeth a semblable opportunity may perhaps
take some light herefrom to do the Hke: if

tliey be so disposed, I will put myself to the

pain of particularly describing it, and you may
notwithstanding, |at your pleasure, save the

labour of perusing it, wherein I will, by the

way, interlace some notes for the imitator's

better instruction.

"There lieth a creek of oose between two

hills, which delivering a little fresh rillet into

the sea, receiveth for recompense a large over-

flowing of the salt-water tides. This place is

deepened to a pond by casting up part of the

ooze to the heads, part to middle, and part to

the sides; the upper part stoppeth out the

fresh water, the lower keepeth in the salt
;
the

middle raiseth an island for theworkman's ease,

the owner's pleasure, and the fishes' succour.

The ooze thus advanced, within short space,

through the sun and wind changeth his former

softness to a firmer hardness. Round about

the pond there is pitched a frith of three feet

height, sloped inwards, to bar any other from

issuing if he there adventure his natural theft,

as it would foreclose his entrance, but lose the

pastimeofhis hunting, if the same declined

outwards. In one of the corners, next the

sea, standeth a floodgate, to be drawn up and
let down, through reigles in the side-posts,
whose mouth is encompassed with a double

frith, of two feet distance each from other, and
their middle space filled up with small stones :

this serveth to let in the salt water, and keep
in the fish, when the floodgate is taken up ;

and therefore you must not make the frith too

close, nor the compass too little, lest they too

much stop the water's passage. It riseth of

equal height with the banks, and they nuist

outreach the highest full sea-mark by two feet

atleast. Neither oughtyour floodgate'sfoot to

stand even with the pond's bottom, lest

emptying the water, it wholly abandon the

fish; but must leave about three feet deep
within. In the half-circle enclosed between
the floodgate and the compass frith, there is

digged a round pit, of three feet diameter and
four feet deep, frithed on the sides, which is

continually fed with the water soaking from

the said floodgate, and serveth to keep any
fish alive that you have before taken, and to

save over often drawing. The floodgate will

hold water best if his sides be walled up with

cob. The pond may not carry one continual

depth, but contain some shallow places to

protect the smaller fish from the greater,

and for them all to play in when the weather

is hot. In the higher bank there is also a

floodgate to let in the fresh water, during
summer season, which the fish then best

aflecteth
;
the rest of the year it is carried

away by a trench, for avoiding divers discom-

modities,
" Thus much for the making ;

now to the

use. Such as have the means may benefit

themselves by letting in the salt water every
tide, which is easily done, in making that

place, where the water entereth, lower than

the banks and frith, and so suffering the tide

to take his course forth and back without stop
or attendance

;
and in this case you may place

your floodgate even with the floor of your
pond, and never take it up but when you
are disposed to view all your store. But
mine lieth so high from the mouth of the

haven, as I am driven to detain the last

provision, imtil the coming spring-tide have
taken two days increase ;

at which time the

floodgate is hoisted up, the old water let out,

and the new admitted. AtfuU sea down goeth
the floodgate again, and there abideth until

the next day minister the like occasion
;
and

after this manner is opened and closed for six

days in the whole, continuing from thenceforth

other ten days unmeddled withal; to wit—
eight days of the neap, and two of the spring.
Neither doth all this require over-long or busy

pains or attendance
;

for if the former water

be let out—saving in extreme cold weather—
before any new come in, or stopped somewhat
too late, it little skilleth, so as on the last day

you keep the advantage which the flood, then

at highest, doth give you.
"And all these services about my pond,

together with sundry other, are performed by
an old fellow whom I keep for alms, and not

for his work. The best means of preventing

leakage, is to let three or four shovels full of

earth fall softly down by the inner side of the

floodgate, which will quurt up his chinks.

In winter, six feet depth oS water at least is

requisite.
" Now touching the fish, this is the manner.

When the pilchard-seiners cut the most

impaired pieces out of their nets, they are

bought for a trifle, and serve to make a less

sein, of some thirty or forty fathom length,

and two in depth, for this purpose, wherewith

between Midsummer and the end of August,
when the full sea falleth in the afternoons, my
people make droughts on the shallow places
within harbour, and taking sniall fishes, cast

them into the pond; they are kept and brought
thither alive in a boat half full of water, which

entereth through a little augre-hole in the bot-

tom, and so continueth new. The fish thus takcn

are commonly basse, millet, gilthead, whiting,

smelts, flouk, plaice, and soal. The pond
also breedeth crabs, eels, and shrimps ;

and

(in the beginning) oysters grew upon boughs
of trees(an Indian miracle), which were cast in

thither toserve asahoverforthefish. Thebasse
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and millet do also spawn there
;
bnt whether

they outlive their breeders' i-avening to any
big growth, I am not certain. The pond will

moreover keep shot, peal, trout, and sahiion,
in seasonable plight, but not in their wonted
reddish grain. They feed on salt unmer-
chantable pilcherd, small fish called brit and
barn, tug-worms, lugs, little crabs, and the
livers of beasts. The rest devour their meat,
but the millets content tliemselves with

sucking it, and chewing of the sedge. Every
evening they come to a certain place in the

pond for receiving their allowed pittance, and
in summer approach very near, and in the topof
the water phiinly discover themselves. They
were first trained hereunto by throwing in

their bait at the pond's mouth, as they resorted
thither to take pleasure of the new entering
water, and are now become alike tame with
those in the Sicilian river, Horus, for which
Leonicus voucheth the testimony of Apollo-
dorus. If they be absent, a knocking like the

chopping of their meat serveth for a summons
to call them, and confirmeth Pliny's assertion
that fishes do hear. In the hottest summer
weather they swim with the rim of the water

;

and in the winter keep the depth. Slimy,
or thick, puddly water killeth them

; they
grow very fast and fat, which also bettereth
their taste, and delivereth them to the
demaunder's ready use at all seasons, season-
able. They are taken generally by a little

sein net
; especially the eels in weelies

;
the

flouks by groping in the sand at the mouth of
the pond, where (about Lent) they biuy
themselves to spawn; and the basse and
millet by angling."

This spot was so great a favourite with our
author that he has celebrated it in verse as well
as prose, or as he himself says,

" the pleasure
which I took at my friend's pleasure herein,

idly busied me thus to express the same :
—

" I wait not at the la\vj'er's gates,
Ne shouldcr climers doisni the stairs ;

I Taunt not manhood by debatcs,
I envT not the miser's fears

;

But mean in state, and calm in sprite,

My fishful pond is my delight.

Where equal distant island views
His forccd banks and otter's cage ;

Wherc salt and fresh the pond renews
As spring and dvought increase or swape ;

Whcre boat presents his ser^ice prest,
And net becomes the ftsh's nest.

Where suckinpr millet, STvallowing basse,
Side-walkins crab, wry-mouthed flouk,

And slip-fist eel, as eveninys pass,
For safe bait at due place do look,

Bold to approacli, quick to espj',

Greedy to catch, ready to fly.

In heat tlie top, in cold the cleep,
In sprinar the mouth, the mids in neap ;

AVith chanareless change by shoals tliey kccp,
Fat, fruitful, rcady, but not chcap ;

"

Thus mean in state, and calm in sprite
My fishful pond is my delight."

Truly, as Shakespeare's clown says to the

page, "there is no great matter in the ditty,"
yet tlie various points in it are set forth with
as strict and conscientious a regai-d to truth,
as if the poet had been describing his " fishful

pond
"

upon oath. It has, however, been
neglected many years, as not turning to

account.

In the centre of this artificial piece of water
is a small island, of a square form, with four
rounds at the corners, like Mount Edgecombe.A pretty walk is carried round its boundaries,
overhung with the spreadingbranches of oaks
and other trees. In the middle of the Lynher,
which is navigable and washes the foot of the

richly wooded clifts, arises a little spot of firm

land, called Beggar's Island. Many attempts
were made by the owner to raise a plantation
in this desolate islet, but all to no purpose ;

the tides occasionally swelling to a very great
height in these branches of the Hamoaze as

constantly baflfled all his effbrts. A little

above the island is a ferry, known as Antony
Passage, the property of Mr. Carew in his

character as lord of the manor.

NORTON HALL, the seat of Offiey Shore,
Esq.

Norton is a specimen of a country village

peculiar to England. It is of considerable

size, and, though within a very few miles of

Sheffield, rural and picturesque. There is a
handsome church and parsonage, and the
entrances to three gentlemen's seats, two of

which, at least, are considerable in point of
extent and importance ;

the Oakes, the seat
of Mr. Bagshaw, andNorton Hall, the subject
of this notice. On one side the Hall may be
said to be in the village, while on the other

side, there is a park with very extensive and
beautiful pleasure-grounds. The house is

spacious and handsome, and contains much
good acconmiodation

;
but the interest con-

nected with it relates to the past and not to

the present. The family of Shore are of some

antiquity near Sheffield. They are now
divided into two branches, the elder being
represented by Mr. Offley Shore, and the

younger
_
by Mr. Nightingale of Embly, in

Hampshire, and of Lea Hurst, in Derbyshire.
The estate of Norton came to Mr. Offley
Shore's grandfather by marriage with the
eldest coheiress of the ancient family of

Offley, who had possessed this estate for many
generations.

Soon after the middle of last centiuy, the

family of Offley consisted of three orphans—a
brother and two sisters, who were left with a

very ample estate, but destitute of near rela-

tions. Their guardians do not appear to have
given themselves muchtroubleontheiraccount.

They administered the fortune, but left the
children to take care of thcmselves. A good
deal of personal guardianship thus devolved
on the old neighbour and intimate friend of
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the Offley family, Mr. Newton, a man of

benevolence, sense, learning, and independent
fortune, wlio lived in the smallest of the three

squires' houses, which, as we have said, dis-

tinguish the village of Norton. Mr. Newton
was an elderly bachelor

;
and as he spent

much of his time alone, at his country seat,

he was glad to devote himself to the improve-
ment of his young friends, who greatly

enjoyed his society, and derived much advan-

tage from his knowledge both of men and
books.

Young Offley was a weak and impromising
boy ;

but his sisters were girls of no common
tone of mind

;
and it was for their welfare

that Mr. Newton was chiefly interested.

Offley was a few years older than his sisters
;

and as Edinburgh University had begun to

attract the attention of EngHshmen as a good
school of science and philosophy, the guar-
dians thought it might be as well to send him
thither

;
without nuich inquiry whether he

was likely to derive benefit frora a residence

there, and without thinking of procuring for

him such distinguished introductions as his

family and fortune entitled him to expect.

They heard of a clergyman there who took

pupils, and immediately sent ofl" young Offley
to reside with him, paying him a high board,
and requesting him to make all the necessary

arrangements for his academical studies.

At this time Offley was about nineteen, and
his sisters four and five years younger. They
remained at Norton Hall with a governess, and
under the constant inspection of the able and

friendly Mr. Newton.
About the middle of last century, a journey

from Sliefflekl to Edinburgh was a considera-

ble undertaking ;
and when once settled in

Scotland, it does not appear that Offley cared
to return home. He seems to have been of

indolent temperament, and very soon fell

entirely under the influence of the Rev.
with whom he was boarded. We do not

think it proper to state the name of this gen-
tleman, nor will we even say to what com-
munion he belonged

—whether Episcopahan
or Presbyterian. He did little honour either

to his family or his church, although he had
hitherto maintained a very fau* character
with the world.

Offley had been in Edinburgh between two
and three years, and was of age. His sisters

had long anxiously expected that he would
return and gladden the old Hall with his

presence ; restoring the hospitalities of the

good old time, and enabling them to renew
the intercourse and connection with many
distinguished tamilies from whom their

orphan seclusion had separated them. Mr.
Newton endeavoured to influence him by his

letters, strongly urging him to return, and
take his proper place in society, and appear

publicly as one of the chief landowners in

that part of Yorkshire should do, in the styl
of a hospitable English country gentleman.
His sisters wrote repeatedly, entreating him
to return to them. But the answers were
few and unsatisfactory, and ere long they

altogether ceased. Week after week, and
month after month, no letter came from
Scotland. And, at length, anxiety became
serious alarm.

The Miss Offleys led a very secluded and

melancholy life in the old Hall, a respectable
mansion of early EngHsh times, which, within

the last sixty or seventy years, has been

replaced by the present handsome edifice.

The faithful old servants entered into their

feelings, and shai-ed their depression of spirits
and uneasiness of mind. This may possibly
accovmt for the strangereports which originated
in two of the oldest servants, but which

speedily spread over the Hall and into the

village. It was said that young Squire Offley
had been seen on the roof of the Hall (which
was of lead) leaning over the parapet, looking

very pale, with hair dishevelled, beating his

breast, wringing his hands, and crying wo-

fully ! It was said that he had so appeared
again and again. Superstitious terror now
became master of the minds of the inhabi-

tants of the Hall. The young ladies had
recourse to the consolations of Mr. Newton,
who tried to cheer them, laughing at the

gliost-story, though, at the same time, he

began to entertain serious alarm as to the fate

of Young Offley.
At length a report reached Norton that the

young Squire had died in Edinburgh. And a

report even more strange began to gain

ground, that Norton Hall had been left by
him away from the family, and that the

young ladies were about to be turned out of

their ancestral home. Mr. Newton desired

the old and trusty servants of the family to

be on the watch, to keep the doors and win-

dows barred, to let no one in, and to inform

him of every report that they might hear, and

every stranger wliom they might see. In the

course of a few days the okl Imtkr caUed on

him to tell him that two or three ill-looking

people had arrived atthe Hall in order to take

possession in the narae of the Rev.

who, they said, was now the Squire ;
for young

Mr. Offley was dead, and had left all to him.

Mr. Newton in a moment took his resohi-

tion. He had an insight into character, and
knew whom he coukl trust. He appointed
the butler within doors, and the baiHff"

without, to command the garrison of Norton

Hall, enjoining them to let no one in until

his retvnn
;
and promising to be back again in

a very few days, he confided to them that he
was going to Edinburgh to see how matters

stood, as he was very sure that all was not

right about the young Squire's death and the

will. He took a hasty and affectionate leave
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of the young ladies, and mounting liis good
horse, and putting pistols in his holsters, he

forthwith proceeded on the Great North Road
to Edinbiu-gh.
At Ferry Bridge, he met the funeral party

of poor young Offley, which he ordered to

stop there until his return. His manner was
so commanding, and his urgency was so

impressive, that he could not be resisted. He
said that he knew there was foul play, and
he protested that if the body were buried he
would have it disinterred immediately on his

return. Thus the funeral remained at Ferry
Bridge, and Mr. Newton proceeded to Edin-

burgh.
He immediately went to the house of the

Rev. with whom he had an inter-

view
;
and he immediately saw that under a

plausible exterior he was an unprincipled and

cowardly man. He, therefore, at once, told

him that whatever the nature of Mr. Offley's
will might be, an attempt would be made to

set it aside
; that, at all events, his cha-

racter would sufter materially in the eyes of

the world
;
that the Miss Offleys were well

and extensively connected, and that society
would be in arms against him if he deprived
the two orphan heiresses of their inheritance.

He reminded him that his late pupil was a

weak youth, and that it might not be difficult

to prove that undue influence had been used.

Mr. began to take high ground ;
but

Mr. Newton cut him short, by producing
bank bills to the amount of £5,000, which he
offered to put into his hand in exchange for

the will, with an engagement that the whole
transaction should be bvu"ied in obHvion. On
the indignant refusal of Mr. ,

he replied,
"
Very well, I will come again this evening !"

He did so, and this time, he oftered only
j£3,000. On a second refusal he said,

" To-
morrow morning will be your last chance."

Returning on the following morning, he
oftered £1,000, and said,

" If this is not

accepted, I go immediately to the proper au-

thorities,and I denounce you as Young Offley "s

murderer
;
and mark me, a fearful witness is

yet within reach,—Offley is unburied!"
Newton's penetration seemed Hke intuition.

He appeared to possess the strange faculty
which it is, now-a-days, said some possess, of

knowing at a glance, the antecedent circvmi-

stances of the Hves of those with whom they
come in contact. Mr. began to falter,

and waver
; Mr. Newton immediately saw that

his victory was gained. "Remember!" said

he
;

"
your professional character, yoiu' per-

sonal safety, nay, your Hfe are at stake ! and
even if you are innocent, which," said he, in

an emphatic whisper, "I know you are not;
the will may be set aside. Offley knew Httle

of the state of his attairs, or of his power
over the property. Here is a thousand

pounds and secrecy ;
take it, and give me the

will."

After a momenfs hesitation, the important
document was transferred to the pocket of

Mr. Newton, who rode with a Hght heart out

of Edinburgh. He found the body still un-

inten-ed at Ferry Bi-idge, and himself headed
the procession wliich brought it back to

Norton to the tomb of the Offleys. He imme-

diately waited on his young friends, saUited

them as heiresses of their brother's broad lands,

and, in their presence, burnt the unworthy
wiH.

The eklest of these sisters married Mr,

Shore, of Meresbrook, and the younger mar-
ried Mr. Edmunds of Worsborough Hall.

Mr. and Mrs. Shore Hved for many years
with honour and in affluence, at Norton, and

they puHed down the old Hall, and built the

present mansion. Norton HaH has very

recently passed away from the family of

Shore. Mr. Newton's expedition to Edin-

burgh occupied only a very few days. The

present Mr. Offley Shore is the grandson of

this marriage, and heir of Hne of the ancient

family of Offley. Norton is famous as the

birth-place of Chantrey.

METTmGHAir CASTLE, in the co. of Suf-

folk, about a mile and a half from Bungay ;

the seatof the Rev. James Cutting Saftbrd,J.P.
for Suftblk, who married Louisa, the daughter
oftheRev. James Chartres, B.D., formerly Fel-

low of King's CoHege, Cambridge. In the

Domesday Book the viHage of this name is

written Metmgaham, while in subsequent
records we find it ii-?a\siovmeA.'mto Meiynham,
and finaHy into Mettingham, its present

appeHation. Tlie word is fonned fi-om three

Anglo-Saxon roots. signifying,
" a viHage or

dweHing-place, situated near low meadows."

Mettingham, at the time of the Nornian

survey, occurs amongst the possessions of

Earl Hugh. In the reign of Edward L, Sir

John de Norwich was Eai-1, and in the time of

Edward III., these lands were held by Sir

John de Norwich, who buiU a castle there.

His grandson leaving no issue, the estate

was inherited by Catherine de Brews, as the

next heir, she being daughter and heiress of

Thomas de Norwich, brother to the founder

of the castle. In the days of Richard II.,

Catherine de Brews, being then a nun at

Dartford in Kent, conveyed this manor to

the coHege in Mettingham Castle, which had
been removed from Raveningham in Norfolk,
the place of its original foundation by Sir

WaUer de Norwich in 1342. At the dissohi-

tion of monasteries, Henry VIII. granted it

to Sir Anthony Denny. We next find it in

the fanuly of the Bacons, who in 1675 trans-

ferred the manor and castle to John Hunt,

Esq., whose grandson, Tobias, dying in the

centm-y afterwards without issue, the estate

feH to Mary and Grace Hunt, his coheiresses.

Thc rest of the descent is thus correctly traccd

by SuckHng in his admirablc but as yet un-
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finished History of SufFolk :
— *' James Safford

of Ipswich, Esq., married Grace, the yoiingest

sister, and was the father of the Rev. James

Safford, late Vicar of Mettingham, who mar-
ried Kitty Baines and died without issue

;

and of John Saffoi-d, Solicitor, of Bungay, who
man-ied Martha Smith, and was the father of

Samuel Safford, Esq., who married Mary Cole,
and held in right of his grandmotlier a moiety
of the castle and estate, and was the father of

the Rev. James Cutting Safford, who resides

at the Castle, and is the sole lord of the manor,

impropriator, and patron of the vicarage ;

liaving derived the other moiety of this

estate from his great-uncle, Burham Cutting,
the son of Mary Hunt, the eldest coheiress of

Tobias Hunt aforesaid, by her hushand,
Burham Cutting, Esq."
We shall now have to retread some of the

ground already gone over
;
a repetition which

is absokitely essential to a clear understanding
of the subject.

Mettingham Castle w^as biiilt by Sir John
de Norwich, who in the seventeenth year of

Edward III. obtained permission to convert

his liouse here into a castle. It was in the

form of a parallelogram, the nortli and south

sides being somewhat lai-ger than the other

two
;
and its area, taking in the site of a

college of priests afterwards attached to it,

inchided nine and a half acres. Before, how-

ever, the Knight could finish his work, he was

obliged to join the wars in France, when he
left its completion tohiswife, Dame Margaret,
who built the keep or citadel of the fortress

upon the west side of the court. At each

angle was a massive square tower, while the

principal entrance was through the great gate-
house on the north, of which we have still

some remains. The deep groove, wherein

tlie portcuUis worked, is quite distinct, and
there is also a partof the pi-ojectingbai"bican,
with the entrance to the machicolated gallery
above. In the curtain, westward of the

great entrance-gate, is a range of large win-

dows, which, thougli placed high in the wall,
woidd seem to bespeak a neglect of the

precautions usual in castellated architecture.

Tliey at one time served to light the great

banqueting-hall, if we may believe tradition.

In 1382, as already mentioned, the castle

was conveyed to the master and priests of

Raveningham College, in Norfolk, and in

their hands it remained for about one hundred
and sixty years ; and, as Suckling drily

observes, "its latter possessors must liave

incorporated inuch of the church militant into

their observances, to have preserved tlie for-

tress in a state of architectm-al integrity."
From a letter in the possession of Sir

Thomas Gage, of Hengrave, it appears that

the Lord-Keeper Bacon resided or visited at

Mettingham. The castle residence, however,
fellmuch into neglect soon after thistime

;
for

in Buck's view of the place, published in

1738, the remains are not much more exten-

sive than they are at present. After the death
of Mr. Hunt, to whom the view in question
was dedicated, the habitable part of the castle

was for many years occupied as a farm-house,
the ruins being converted into barns and out-

houses. At length the father of the present
owner caused the greater part of the old

house to be pulled down, and erected a new
mansion in the Gothic style upon its site,

retaining only an angle of tlie ancient keep.
Rather extensive remains of the college are

yet standing within a quadrangular moat at

the south-east angle of the castle. A very
pictm-esque tower, the most attractive feature

in these ruins, fell down in the night, about
thirteen or fourteen years ago, with so Httle

noise as scarcely to be heard by the inmates
of the castle.

TENDRING HAIL, in the co. of Suffolk ;

the seat of Sir Josliua Ricketts Rowley, Bart.

This place belonged in the olden time to a

family which, according to the common
custom of our ancestors, took its name from
the seat in which it was located. William de

Tendring had a grant of a market and fair at

Stoke-juxta-Neyland in tlie thirty-first year of

King Edward I. About the year 1421, Sir

William Tendring dying without heirs male,
his daughter, Alice, conveyed it by marriage
to Sir John Howard, Knight, the immediate
ancestor of the Dukes of Norfolk. From that

family it passed to tlie Lords Windsor, and
soon after the Reformation we find it belong-

ing to the Williams's. From them it was

eventually purchased by Sir William Rowley,
a Knight of the Bath, and a distinguished
naval officer. His principal service was in

the Mediterranean, where with much inferior

nvimbers he kept the combined French and

Spanish fleets in so much awe, that they

scarcely dared to venture out of harbour. He
was succeeded by his son, Joshua, who was
also in the British navy, and who in 1786 was
created a Baronet in recompense of his various

services while afloat. He died at Tendring
Hall in 1790, only two years after he had
built the present mansion, from a design of

Wyatfs.
A tower of the old buUding still remains.

It belongs to the Tudor style of architecture,

and forms a handsome feature in the pleasure-

grounds. According to the existing tradition,

the famous Lord Siirrey spent here a great

part of his childhood; anditseemsnotunlikely
that he wrote some of his sonnets under the

old oaks of Tendring.

" Here noble Surrey felt the sacred rage—
Surrey, the Granville of a former age;
Matchless his pen, victorious was his lance,
Bold in the lists, and graceful in the dance."
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PUSEY HOUSE, Berkshire, in the parish of

Pusey, aboiit five miles from Faringdon ;
the

seat of Philip Pusey, Esq., the writer on agri-

culture.

According to a still current tradition,

this manor was granted by King Canute to

one of the family of Pusey, who had been an

ofHcer in his army, in requital for his having
discovered an ambuscade formed bythe Saxons

to intercept and destroy the Danish monarch.

It was held by the medium of a horn, as in-

deed the tenure by cornage was by no means

unfrequent in early times. Upon the horn

was this inscription :
—

"
I, Kyng Knowd geve thee Wyllyam Pewse

this Horn to holdeby thy Land."
It is described by Gough as being of the ox

or buffalo, of a dai-k brown tortoise-shell

colour, mounted at each end with rings of

silver, and having a third round the middle,

upon which is the inscription before men-
tioned. The characters, however, and

language, are of a much later date than tlie

time of the Danish king, and Lysons seems alto-

gether to discredit the tradition. He saj^s,
' ' the family of Pusey are of considerable

antiquity ;
but it may be much doubted

whether they possessed the manor of Pusey
till long after the time of Canute. When
the Norman survey was taken, there were
two manors in Pusey ;

the principal manor,
which belonged to lloger de Iveri, and a

smaller one, which belonged to the foreign

monastery of ^9^. Peter swper Dinain. The

lay manor had, in the reign of Edward tlie

Confessor, been the property of Alaric, a free-

man. The first mention of tlie Puseys to be

found on record is in the year 1316, but it

appears by ancient deeds in tlie possession of

the present proprietor, that they had been

settled at Piisey for six generations before

Sir Henry Pusey, who appears to have been

then lord of a manor in this parish."
Thus far Lysons ; but, though in general

very mvich disposed to scrutinize myths, yet
in the present case we feel inclined to hold by
the tradition, because the inscription in the

days of Chaucer proves the then existence of

the legend, and the interval of time when he

lived was not so very great.
No manor is specified in the inscription ;

only land
;
and the deeds, which are as fresh

as if written yesterday, bring the possession
of the land by tlie former family

—not that

of the present owner—very near to the Nor-

man Conquest.
In 1710, the male line of the Puseys became

extinct by the death of Charles Pusey, Esq.,
who bequeathed the manor to his nephew, on

condition of his taking the name of Pusey, in

addition to his own. By a clause in the same

will, it was provided that tlie estate should

descend to Mr. Allen's sisters and nieces

successively, if he also died without issue. He

did die without issvie, and the two sisters

coming into the propei-ty, they joined in

settling it upon the Hon. Philip Bouverie,.

nephew of Mr. AUen Pusey's lady, who was

daughter of Sir William Bouverie, Bart.

This happened about 1780, when the new

possessor, in pm'suance of their desire, assumed

by law the name and arms of Pusey. He
was the father of the present owner, and also

of Dr. Pusey, whose innovations upon, or res-

torations of, the Anglican Church, have given
to the family name a celebritj- that seems

likely to be lasting.

Pusey House, which was built about the

yearl750^isa plain Grecian building, with

gardens terraced in the Italian style. It

was here that Dr. Pusey was born, and Ash-
mole has given vxs an inscription, from which
his hereditary piety has been inferred, and
which we only quote to notice its utter worth-

lessness. It runs thus :
—

" Richard Pusey, alias Pesey, alias Pecote,

having in his lyfetime received whole Christ,

that is, not only as a Prophet and Priest, bvit

as Lord and King too, in this true justify-

ing faitli dyed most comfortably, Avig. the

iii., A.D. MDLIII. ^tat "

This has evidently been drawn up by some
illiterate person, but the tablet has not been

altogether correctly quoted. No such name
as Pecote occurs in the family deeds, which

have lately undergone a diligent examination,
and which exist in great numbers and vuvin-

terrupted series from the reign of Henry III.

The name is, indeed, varied much in early
times—as Sir Henry de Pusye, Sir Richard

de Pesaye, and perhaps in other ways.
If the inheritance of a deep religious feeling

in Dr. Pusey be not borne out by the mural

tablet, it is sufficiently avouched by a monu-
mental sculpture and sitting figure of Mrs,

Allen Pusey, placed in the chvu-ch—the work
of Nollekens. This lady is there said to be
" descended from a family which had suf-

fered greatly for the Reformed Religion."
Lam-ence de Bouverie, ancestor of the Bou-

verie family in this country, quitted Lille,

from religious grounds, vmder the Duke of

Alva's government ;
and there is no doubt

that for many generations a strong religious

feeling has existed in the family.

BEAUPRE CASTLE, in the co. of Gla-

morgan, about half a mile from St. Mary
Church, called by the Welsh Eglwy&
Vair, from the dedication of its church to

St. Mary. This estate is the property for

life of Mrs. Basset, widow of the late Captain
Richard Basset, of the Royal Artillery.

Beauprd has always been possessed since the

time of the Conquest, by the Bassets, who pre-
servcd an vmbroken male succession till the

death of the late Captain Richard Basset.

The castle was built by the patriarch of the
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race, Thuvston the Norman, notlong after the

battle of Hastings. It is a singular example
of the classic style of architecture engrafted

iipon the Gothic, and is in a very fair

state of preservation. The old porch within

tlie inner court—the vvork of Inigo Jones—
is even now perfect. The classic additions,

above alluded to, were niade in the year 1586

by a Welsh artist, who had originally been a

stonemason, but wbo afterwards went to

Italy, where he acquired great skill in archi-

tecture. Chance, however, as is often the case,

would seem to bave had more to do witb

this Italian journey, tban any premeditated

scheme, based upon an exclusive devotion to

the fine arts. He and his brotber, wbo was
also a stonemason, happened to fall in love

with tbe same damsel, wben, as neither would

abandon bis pretensions, they bad a fierce

quarrel, in consequence ofwbicb they solemnly
swore never to speak to eacb other again. This

vow tbey rigidly kept ;
but so Httle was tbe

damsel nioved by tbis proof of attacbment, that

she immediately declared she would have

neither. Hereupon the eldest, bickily for him-

self, went as wehave just said to Italy, and from

being a stonemason soon rose to be an architect

of eminence. Mr. Harding, in his Cym Trans :

says, "there is a vague tradition thatMagna
Cbarta was bere composed." The thing is

likely enougb, but still it is not supported by
any stronger evidence tban mere tradition.

The family residence stands about a mile

distant from the old castle. It is a modern

structure, built not mucb more than thirty

years ago. Tbe scenery aroimd it is exceed-

ingly beautiful, being tbickly wooded, and

diversifiedby bills, while tbe estate isbounded

by a pretty streamlet.

By the will of tbe late Captain Basset, tbis

property, after tbe deatb of bis widow—the

present owner, is entailed upon bis nephew,
William West James Bruce, Esq., whom he

enjoins to bear the surname of Basset. The
same condition is imposed upon all future

inheritors of tbe estate.

PLASCOCH, in tbe co. of Anglesey ;
tbe seat

of William Bulkeley Hughes, Esq., Member
of Parliament for tbe Caernarvon Boroughs,
a magisti-ate for tbe counties of Caernarvon

and Anglesey, and Deputy-Lieutenant of tbe

former. Mr. Hugbes bas also served the

oflice of High-Sheriff for Anglesey.
This pbace has a singular interest, froni its

connexion with tbe olden time. The house

itself is supposed to stand on the very ground
once occupied by the palace of Llowarch ap

Bran, Lord of Cwmmwd Menai, in Anglesey,
the founder of the second of tbe fifteen noble

tribes of Nortb Wales. Beyond all question

Plas Coch formed a part of his inheritance.

From bis time to the present day, it bas ever

remained with bis posterity ;
the gentleman

now owning it, being the eighteenth in male
descent from tbat iUustrious cbieftain.

The mansion, wbicb is a splendid instance

of tbe EUzabethan style of architecture, and

by far the most ancicnt of the residences in

its locality, was rebuilt in 15G9, by Hugh
Hugbes, Esq., Attorney-General for North
Wales to Queen Elizabeth—wbo first as-

sumed tbe family surname. The original

appellation of the place was Port Hamll Issa,

butthiswas cbanged in 1569 to Plas Cuch, or

Red Hall, from tbe colour of the stone of

whicb it was built. Tbe demesne is well

wooded, and is beautifully situated on the

banks of tbe river Menai (upon tbe south side

of Plas Neivydd Park, the scat of the Marquess
ofAnglesey), commanding an excellent view of

Snowdon and tbe Alpine scenery of the other

Caernarvonsbire mountains.

Tbe sbore near Porthamll, not far from

bere, is celebrated as being the spot wbere
Suetonius Paullinus,tbe Roman general, landed

bis army, a.d. 62, resolved by one decisive

blow to subdvie tbe turbulent spirit of the

natives, and tbus equal tbe fame of his rival,

Corbulo, in the conquest of Armenia. The
affair is thus related by Tacitus, in his usual

terse and vivid manner :—
" He therefore prepares to attack Mona, an

island strong in its inhabitants, and a refuge
for fugitives ;

for whicb purpose he builds ships
witli a flat bottom to act against a sballow

and uncertain coast. In them passed over

tbe infantry. Tbe horse following went over

by the fords, or where tbe water was deep by
swimming.
"Upon the shore stood a motley array,

dense witb arms and men, with womenrunning
wildly amongst them like furies, who in

funereal dress and disbevelled hair brandished

aloft their torches. Tbe Druids around,

poiiring fortb dire imprecations, with hands

uplifted to beaven, so struck the soldiers by
tbe strangeness of tbe sight, that, as if tbeir

Hmbs had been transfixed, they presented
their bodies motionless to wounds. At length

by tbe exhortations of the general, and urging
eacb otber not to be frightened at a herd of

women andfanatics,tbey display theirbanners,
overthrow their opponents, and wrap them in

their own flames. A garrison afterwards was

imposed vipon the conquered, and the groves
sacred to their inhuman sviperstitions were cut

down. For they hold it lawful to smear
their altars witb the blood of captives, and to

consult the gods by the entrails of men."

EOSEHILL PAEK, in the co. of Sussex, and
in tbe parisb of BriyhtUny, that is

"
Bright

or
\\a,i\tri.ng,

or fvn-ze," bvit, in the Conqvieror's

survey, styled Brisliugliam. This is the seat

of Avigustus Eliott Fvdler, Esq., a magistrate
and Deputy-Lieutenant for Sussex, as well as

Member of ParHament for the Eastern Divi-

sion of tbe same county for many years.
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The old mansion was purchased about
the year 1697, by Thomas FuUer, who,
havhig pulled it down, erected a new mansion

upon the same site, and gave it to hisnephew.
This gentleman married Elizabeth, daughter

of Mr. Rose, of Jamaica, with whom he

acquired a considerable property in that

island, and, in compliment to her, gave the

house the name which it still bears. John,
his eldest son and successor, made many im-

provements upon the original structure, erect-

ing the great room, building additional offices,

and surrounding the whole with a handsome

park. At his death, in 1755, the estate de-

scended to his next brothei", Rose Fuller, Esq.,
from whom again it passed to his nephew.
The mansion of Roselull Park stands on an

eminence adjoining Brightling Down, wliich

is agreeably undulated, and covered with

wood of various kinds. In the groimds are

several elegant obehsks and other structures
;

but more particularly to be noticed is a beau-
tifui temple, from the designs of Sir Robert
Smirke. Near the western limits of the

park, and on the most elevated part of the

down, which here rises 646 feet above the

level of the sea, is a neat and .convenient

observatory, erected by Mr. John FuUer, so

well known for his love of science and his

liberal patronage both of literature and the

fine arts. The panorama from the top of this

buikling is one of great variety and extent,
and all equally beautiful. The view to the

east comprehends the inchly-wooded estate of

MiijuFuller, Silver Hill, and the lofty emi-
nences whereon standthe churchesof Ewhiu-st
and Northiam, while onwards it extends into

the Weald )f Kent. Upon the south, the

prospect is terminated only by the Hne of the

French coast, or by the receding waters of the

Channel, the mid-distance being occupied by
the bluff promontory of Beachy Head and

Pevensey Castle, with the sinuous bay stretch-

ing out to the neighbourhood of Hastings.

Westward, are the South Downs, in the

vicinity of Lewes, with Heathfield Park and
Monument. Northward, the view inchides a

considerable segment of that portion of the

Weald which has latterly been distinguished
as the Forest Ridge, and hence onward to the

Surrey Hills.

In a manuscript quoted by Horsley, we are

told— " The house over against Brighthng
Church, has for many years been owned and

occupied by persons of repute ; as, Mr. Ed-
ward Enghsh, who, on the restoration of

Charles II., in 1660, was a Captain of the

Train-bands, and Hes buried under a flat grave-
stone within the communion-rails. After him,

by Mr. WiUiam Pixe, Mr. Thomas Lade,

attorney, and his widow
; Captain Harry

Hasler; and Mr. Edward Colhns, tillMichael-

mas, 1697
;
when Mr. Thomas Fullcr pur-

chased it, rebuilt the house, and at Lady-

Day, 1705, put his nephew, John Fuller,

in possession of it.

LITTLE THTJRLOW HALL, in the co. of

Suffolk (about five miles and a half from

Haverhill) ;
the seat of Mrs. and the Misses

Soame.
The present mansion is a modern structure,

recently erected upon the site of a more an-

cient building. The latter continued for

many years to be the abode of the Soame

family. It was a fine old dwelhng, built

during the reign of Queen Elizabeth, by
Sir Stephen Soame, who had enjoyed the

civic dignity of Lord Mayor of London.
He also founded here a free-school and an

alms-house, and died in 1619. In the chmxh
is a handsome monument to his memory.
The modern mansion, one of moderate size,

is situated in a small park. The grounds,
laid out some hundred years ago, are very

romantic, and are diversified with a winding
stream, and adorned with fine old trees, in the

midst of a country that is by no means de-

ficient in picturesque beauty, though it niay
not ofter any objectsof extraordinary interest.

Such, however, with few exceptions, may be

said to be the general character of the Suffolk

scenery ;
its woods being limited in extent,

but luxuriant
;

its rivers being small, but

often highly interesting.

EAST SUTTON PLACE, in the co. of Kent;
the seat of Sir Edmund Fihner, Bart., M.P.
for the Western Division of the county.

Early in the reign of James I., this estate

was bought of the Argalls by Sir Edward

Filmer, whose family had been settled at

Herst, in Ottenden parish, as early as the

reign of Edward II. His descendant, Sir

Robert Filmer, was zealous in the cause of

King Charles, which he supported with his

pen, as well as with his sword
;
and he suf-

fered accordingly in the Civil War, his man-
sion being several times pkmdered, and

himself imprisoned. Tlie nature ofhisworks

is sufficiently indicated in their names,—" Ob-

servations upon Aristotle's Poktiques, with

directions for Obedience to Governors in

Dangerous and Doubtful Times
;

" " Patri-

archa, or the Natural Power of Kings ;

" " The

Anarchy of a Limited or Mixed Monarchy ;

"

" The DiflTerence between a Hebrew Witch

and an English Witch,"—works which suffi-

ciently attest that there was a strong leaning in

many towards arbitrary power.
In East Sutton Church are several monu-

ments of the family and their connexions—the

Argalis, Randolphs, &c.

GAYBKOOK, in the co. of Westmeath ;

the seat of Robert Smyth, Esq., a ma-

gistrate and Deputy-Lieutenant for the

county, who served as High-Sheriff for West-
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meatliin 1830, and alsoforthe county Antrim,
in 1852.

This house was erected in the year 1787,

by Ralph Smyth, Esq., who diedin 1817. It

is a large and handsome building in the

modern style of architecture, which, if not

so pleasing to the eye as the Greek orltalian,
is probahly much niore comfortable and con-

venient vvithin than either of them. The

grounds contain 842 acres, English measure,

riclily planted and diversified with two arti-

ficial lakes.

The estate received its name, in part at

least, from the family of the Gays, who for-

merly possessed it, andfrom one ofwhom, John

Gay, Esq., it was purchased by Mr. Smyth.
Tradition also has lent its interest to this

romantic site. On Gaybrook Hill, at no great
distance from the house, a battle was fought
between the forces of William III. and the

adherents of James II. The latter were de-

feated. The ancient name of Gaybrook was
Redmonstown.

ADLINGTON HALL, Lancashire, about
three miles and a half ft-om Chorley, and two
miles to the north-east of Standish

;
the seat

of Richard Clayton Browne Clayton, Esq.,
a magistrate for the counties of Lancaster and
Wexford.

In some ancient deeds, this manor is called

Adelvinton. Soon after the Nonnan Con-

quest, a family of the name of Standish
woukl seem to have been settled here, a de-

scendant of which, was a servant to King
Richard II., and distinguished himself by
helping to slay Wat Tyler, in the memorable

meeting between the aggrieved subject and
his degenerate monarch, at Smithfield. The
story is thus told by the old chronicler,

Holinshed, in his usual quaint fashion :
—

"The King, though he was but a child, in

yeares, yet taking courage to him, com-
manded theMayorto arrest him (WatTyler).
The Mayor, being a man of incomparable
boUhiesse, rode to hini and arrested him, in

reaching him such a blow on the head that

he sore astonied him therewith
;
and streight-

wayes other that were about the King, as

John Standish, an esquier, and divers more
of the King's servants, drew their swords, and
thrust himthroughin diverspartsof hisbodie,
so that he fell presentlie from his horsse, downe
to tlie earth, and died there in the place."
He was knighted for this deed with the

rest who had shared in it.

A much less questionable fame attaches

to others of this family. Ralph Standish

commanded an army in France, under the

fifth and sixtli Henries. Alexander Standish,
in 1482, was knighted for his valour at tlie

battle of Hopton Field, in Scotland
;
and

Henry Standish, who was created Bishop of

St. Asaph, in 1519, accompanied Sir John

Baker, on an embassy to Denmark, in 1526,
and in 1530, was one of tlie Bishops that

assisted Queen Catherine in thc affair of her
divorce from Henry VIII.
A portion of the township of Adlington

and that which we have at present to deal

with, belonged to the knightly family of Clay-
ton, who branched from Clayton-le-Woods,
in Leyland parish, a race that came over to

this country with the Norman Conqueror.
Richard Clayton, Esq., Lord Chief Justice of

the Common Pleas in Ireland, was uncle of
the late Sir Richard Clayton, Bart, to whom,
by will, dated 16th March, 1772, he left his

manoi's of Adlington and Worthington. In

1772, thelatter became a magistrate, and was
made a Baronet May 3rd, 1774. Sir Richard
was Recorder of Wigan and Constable of Lan-
caster Castle, and died Consul at Nantes, in

1828, leaving an only daughter and heiress,

Henrietta, who married General Browne. The

baronetcy passed to his only brother, Robert

Clayton of Larches, near Wigan, upon whose
death the estate passed to Richard Clayton
Browne, Esq., son of General Browne, by tlie

heiress of the estate.

Some antiquities appear to have been
found in this neighbourhood. Dr. Charles

Leigh, in his " Natural History ofLancashire,

Cheshire, and the Peak, in Derbyshire," tells

us—"a signet found near Standish, in Lan-

cashire, in a copper vu-ceohis"—alittle pitcher,
or water-pot

— " with 200 Roman coins and
two gold rings of the Equites Aurati,or Roman

Knights; these were found by a country in,

as he was ploughing. The figure is Mars,

leaning with his left hand upon a spear, hold-

in his righthand a victoriohi, or ? all victory,
with a target at his right foot. .

BAETON, in the co. of Suffolk, and hundred
of Thedwestry, between two and three miles

from Bury St. Edmunds
;

the seat of Sir

Henry Edwai-d Bunbury, Bart.

Bartoti, usually called Great Barton, to

distlnguish it from Little Barton, or Barton

MiUs, was in ancient times the lordship of the

abbots of Bui-y. At tlie dissohition of this

abbey, the Chancellor Audley obtained grants
for his family of the manor and hmds possessed

by the monastery in Barton, with the exception
of one hundred acres, called the Ox Pasturcs,
wliich were given to Sir Thomas Kitson. It

has been said by some writers, but without

sufficient grounds, that at a later period it

passed into the hands of the Cottons of

Nexton Hall, a very ancient family, which
had long resided in the same parish. Setting
aside this as totally unsupported, we comc at

once to its possession by the family of Folkes,
the manor, mansion-house, &c., being bought
of the Lisiof the Audleys by Thomas, brotlier

of Martin Folkes.

His dauirhter and lieiress conveved it
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by marriage, to Sir Thonias Haiimei-, Bart.,

Speaker of the House of Commons in Queen
Anne's last parliament. He is also known
to us as the editor of Shakspeare, and

though severely attacked by Johnson in this

capacity, the Doctor did not the less praise

him, when dead, in a Latin prose epitaph,
which we may suppose he thought highly of,

as he was afterwards at the trouble of render-

ing it into English verse, as foUows,—
"

Tliou, who survey'st these walls with curious eye,
rause 011 this tonib where Hanmer's ashes lie,

Ilis various worth through varied life attend,
And learn his virtucs while thou mourn'st his end ;

llis force of genius burn'd in early youth
^\'ith thirst of lcnowledge and with love of truth ;

Ilis learning, joincd with cach endearing art,

Charmed every ear, and gained on every heart ;

Thus early wise tli' eudangered realm to aid

His country caUed him from the studious shade ;

In life's first bloom his public toils began,
At once commenced the senator and man

;

Iii bus'neps dcxtrous, weighty in debate,
Tlirice ten long years he laboured for the state;
In every speech persuasive wisdom fiowed,
In every act refulgcnt virtue glowed ;

Suspenfied factiou ceased from rage and strife

To hear his eloquence and praise his Ufe ;

Itesistless merit fixed the senate's choice,
WTio hailed him Speaker with united voice.

IUusti-ious age ! liow bright thy glories shone,
AATien Hanmer fiUcdthe chair, "and An-ne the throne !

Then when dark arts obscured each fierce debate,
When mutual frauds perplexed tlie maze of state,
The moderator firmly mild appeared,
Beheld with love, with veneration heard.

This task performed, he sought no gainful post,
Nor wished to glitter at his country's cost ;

Striet on the right he flxed his stedjfast eye
With temp'rate zcal and wise anxiety ;

Nor e'er from virtue's path was turned aside

To pluck the flor\v'rs of pleasure or of pridc ;

Her gifts despis'd, corruption blushed and tied

Aud fame pursued him whcre couviction led
;

Age called at length his active nitnd to rest,

With honour satcd, and witli cares oppress'd ;

To letterkl ease retired, and honest mirth,
To rural grandeur and domcstick worth ;

'

Helighted still to please mankiiid or niend,
The patriofs fire yet sparkled in tlie friend ;

Calm conscience then his fornicr life surveyed,
And recoUccted toils endeared thc shade

;

'TiU naturc called him to tlie general doom,
And virtvie's sorrow digniticd his tomb."

From the Hanmers, Barton passed to the

Bunburys, Sir Henry Bimbury, third Bart.

of Stanney, having married Susannah, only

daughter of Sir Thomas Hanmer, M.P. for

the county of Flint.

POYNTON KALL, Cheshire, nearly five

miles froni Stockport, the jiroperty of Lord
Vernon.

Poynton, anciently called Ponynton,
belonged in early times to the family of

Stockport, from wliich it passed by successive

female heirs to the Etons and Warrcns. It

was by one of the latter name, Sir George
Warren, that the discovery was made of the

valuable coal-mine on this estate
;
the affair,

however, was pin-ely accidental and happened
llius : An okl tenant on one of hisfarms liad for

a long time becn obliged to bring from a con-

.sidcrable dis^tance the water requisite for fajiiily

uses : in consequence he frequently petitioned
his landlord to have a well sunk. Finding
liimself continually put oft' by empty promises,
lie gave notice that hewouldquit the premises
unless his demand was immediately complied
witli; upon which, SirGeorge, unwilling to lose

a good tenant, set about the work in earnest.

The spring lay at a considerable depth, and,
before they came to the water, the workmen
were surprised by the appearance of one of

the finest veins of cpal in those parts. Tliis

lucky chance much enhanced the value of the

property, for a colliery was established here
without delay, and has ever since been
worked with tolerable success.

Witli Sir George, terminated the direct

male line of tlie Poynton branch of the

Warren family. He died in 1G09, when his

daughter and heiress, the Viscountess Bulk-

ley, canie into possession. But this title also

became extinct in 1822, when Poynton came
into the possession of the late Lord Vernon,
whohad married Frances-Maria, only daughter
of the late Right Hon. Admiral Sir John

Borlase-Warren, Bart., K.B.
The mansion, which formerly stood here,

was erected in the reign of King Edward VI.

by Sir Edward Warren, the tlien owner
of the estate. It was pidled down by his

descendant, Sir George Warren, who erected

on its site the present Hall, a modern structure

upon a large scale with sufficient offices.

The staircase receives its light from a lantern

that surmounts the centre of the mansion.
The elevation of this part is lower than tlie

rest, comprising only two stories
;

the ends,
or wings, consist of three.

The pleasm-e-grounds are well laid out,
and are ornamented with a handsome sheet of

water, thatgiveslife and variety to the svuTomid-

ing landscape. The Park is extensive, having
of late years been considerably augmented.
One portion of it commands a delightful

prospect, including Stockport, Mancliester,
and the more remote divisions of Lancashire.

YOUNGSBURY, Hertfordshire, the seat of

Lady Giles Puller.

The manor of Youngs, or, as it was at one
time spelt Yonges, upon which this mansion

stands, belonged, in thereign ofHenry VI., to

John Oke, who released it to Henry Barton
and others. In the days of Edward IV. we
find it possessed by Nicholas Elderbeck. In
the year 1628, it belonged to Richard Worth,
and having descended to William Worth, it

was aftcr his deatli, in 1G77, conveyed by
Margaret, his widow, and Edward his son, to

WilHam and John Leake, to tlie use of Robert
Bird and his heirs. In 1732, John Bird died

without issue, leaving fonr daughtcrs of his

brother Robert-—wlio died inhis life-time—his

coheiresses. One of these daughters, Jane,

havmg become possessed of three-fourths of the



SEATS OF GREAT BRITAIN', 107

manor in 1744 married David Poole, sergeant

at-law, who in tlie year following, bonglit the

remaining fom'th part of his wife's sister,

Abigail. His widow, and his son Josiah, in

1769, joined in conveying the manor to David

Barclay, Esq., wlio, after liaving mncli im-

proved botli the estate and the mansion, sold it,

in 1793, to William Cunliffe Shawe, Esq., Of
him it was pnrchased in 179G, by Daniel Giles,

Esq., ofLondon, and on liis deatli, in the year
1800, it descended to his son, also named
Daniel Giles. This gentleman died in the

year 1831, and by his will the Youngsbury
estate passed to his nephew, Benjamin Giles

King, Esq., and after his death, which hap-
pened in 1840, to the present owner, Lady
Giles PuIIer, sister of Mr.' Giles King, and
widow of Sir Christopher Puller, late Chief

Justice at Calcutta.

The mansion of Youngsbury was built

abouttheyear 1745 by DavidPooIe, sergeant-
at-Iaw.

JORDANHILL HOUSE, Scotland, in the shire

of Renfrew, and parish of the same name, the

seat of JamesSmith, Esq., F.R.S., amagistrate
for the counties of Renfrew, Lanark, Stirling,
and Dumbarton,

This estate was anciently possessed by the

Crawfords, cadets of the Crawfords of Kil-

burny
—Sir Hew Crawford Pollok, now repre-

senting both families. In 1750 it was sold to

Alexander Houston, Esq., and in 1800 it was

disposed of to Archibald Smith, Esq., father of

the present proprietor.
Jordan-hill was built in the year 1780, by

Colonel Houston, It is a square edifice, with

a Grecian porch, and is beautifully placed

upon an eminence, whence it commands an
extensive view of the valley of the Clyde.
The situation of it is about four miles from
Glasgow.

KIMBERLEY HALL, in the co, of Norfolk,
about three miles and a half from Wymond-
ham, the seat of Lord Wodehouse.

This place at one tinie belonged to the

family of Fastolf, when the house stood upon
the west side of the village of Kimberley, In

the reign of Henry IV., it passed to Sir

John Wodehouse, Knight, by his marriage
with the daughter and heiress of Sir Thomas

Fastolf, whereupon he pulled down the ancient

house, and erected a noble mansion upon the

east side. The circumstance is thus recorded

in a curious pedigree of the family, in which

the arms of all the intermarriages are blazoned

in old English vei"se :
—

"Being matcli'd to Fastolf s heir, he had

Enlarsed his elbow-rooiu ;
'twas he who made

The Moated Hall, and Tower withiii the Parli,
At the east end of the towne, of more remark
Than the old one in the west, dispark^d loug since."

It was a lai*ge quadrangular building, with

an open court in the centre, and moated

round, with a tower, from which it then took

the name of Wodehouse Toiver. This con-

tinued to be the principal residence of the

family till the year 1659, at which time,

falling into decay, it was demolished by Sir

Philip Wodehouse, and another mansion
erected upon the site where it now standa.

This decay and rebuilding, like the former,
have also been recorded in verse—

" First fell Queen Elizabcth's brave lodging roome,
Then the fair stately hall to ruin came,
Next falls the vast great cliamber arcli'd on liigh,
With golden pendents fretted sumptuously ;

Yet of four parts there still remained the seat
Unto that heir who was first baronet,
And to his son, till the long Parliament
Nobles and gentry sunk to discontent ;

In which sad humoiu- he lets all the rest
Of this fair fabric siiik into its dust.
Down falls the chapeL, last the goodly toure ;

Though of materials so tirm and stoure,
Time scarce uncements tlu;m ;

like dismal Fatc,
Does England suffer both in Churoh and State ;

But these may God rebuild and raise again
By restauration of our sovereign."

There are, however, still visible some re-

mains of this old house, which was visited by
Queen Elizabeth in one of her progresses.
She spent the night there, and the dress that

she wore upon the occasion, is yet iu the

possession of the family.
The new house is built of red brick, con-

taining many convenient rooms, a spacious

library, and offices detached. The architecture

is plain, with four square towers, or turrets,

wliich were added by the founder's son, Sir

Armine Wodehouse, one at each angle
of the edifice. A very fine portrait of

Vandyck, when young, is preserved here,
and has tlie additional interest of having
been painted by himself. A greater curiosity

perhaps, but less intrinsically valuable, is a

rosary given by Catherine, Queen of Henry V.,
to the Lady of Johir Wodehouse, one of the

most gallant knights of that chivalrous period.
The rosary is very large, all of coral, escept

every tenth bead, which is wrought gold, there

being seventy in all, with a cross of gold

hanging to them. As a companion to these,

may be mentioned a large hilt of a sword

adorned with silver, together with a long knife

or poniard, of the same workmanship, gene-

rally supposed to be those used by the samc
John Wodehouse,

Last to be mentioned, yet by no means the

least curious of these reliques, is a splendid

throne, which was erected for Queen Elizabeth

in the great hall at Kiraberley, and which is

still in the possession of the family. It is of

crimson velvet, richly embroidered with gold,

having upon it the arms and quarteriiigs of

Wodehouse, with tlie supporters, very curi-

ously worked
;

above are the same arms

impaling Corbet.

The house stands in a large and bc.iulirul

park, richly ornamented with wood and watcr,
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and bounded upon the west and north by a

rivulet, which keeps on its winding course for

nearly a mile. This stream issues from a lake

that covers about twenty-five acres of ground.
On the declivity of the hill on the northern

part is a handsome lawn, the whole forming
a delightful prospect from the house.

CHOLMONDELEY CASTLE, Cheshire, about

four miles from Malpas, and twice that

distance frorn Nantwich, the seat of the

Marquess of Cliolmondeley, whose ancestoi"S

derived the name from the township. Their

descent is from Robei-t, a younger brother of

David de Malpas, who settled at Chohnon-

deley about the tirae of King Jolin, when he
became of that estate by the gift of his father.

His son, Sir Hugh Chohnondeley, had a

grant of manorial rights and privileges in

Cholmondeley from Randal de Bhmdeville,
Earl of Chester.

The present building, which was begim by
the late Marquess in 1801, but not completed
until 1804, is nearly three-quarters of a mile

from the Old Hall, and is in the pointed style
of architecture. It occupies an insuhite

eminence, which but for its immense pro-

portions might be mistaken for the keep of

a Norman fortress. The hall is a noble

apartment, on the sides of which are a

library and state bed-room, and in front a

saloon decorated with rich painted glass and

opening to spacious dining and drawing-
rooms.

Tlae prospect from the Castle is extensive,

passing over a fertile and well-wooded

country, in which the lake of Barmere is the

principal object. There is also a second

piece of water under the eye, smaller but

scarcely less pictiuesque.
In the house are several pictures by the okl

masters; as,
" A Holy Faniily," by Rubens'

master
;

" The Death of Germanicus;"
" Christ on the Mount," by Paul Veronese

;

"St. Andrew," and "ItaHan Ilmns," by Le
Brun

;
&c. Among the more modern works

may be mentioned,
" A Portrait of Hugh,

first Earl of Cholmondeley," by Sir Godfrey
Kneller;

" A Portrait of the late Marquess
Chohnondeley," by Sir Joshua Reynolds ;

"A Portrait of Sir Robert Walpole," by
Hogarth, &c.

The Old Hall at Chohnondeley,—which
ilself succeeded to one yet older—was built

by Sir Hugh Cliohuondcley in the reign of

Queen Elizabeth. It was a quadrangular
edifice, constructed in part of wood, each

story of which projected according to a very
connnon fashion of that period, although in

utter opposition toall architecturalormechanic

principles, and not mucli in consonance with

good taste. Above the hall-door were placed
the armorial bearings of the family with the

quarterings, and over the arms was cut in

wood—"Thehouse was then built by William

Fawkoner, Master of the Carpentry and

Joynery worke, 1571." Upon acarvedbeam
were the letters,

"
S. H. C. K.—M. C." being

no doubt intended for the initials of Sir Hugh
Chohnondeley, Knight, and of his lady, Mary
Chohnondeley.
About the beginning of the eighteenth

century the north side was pulled down. At
tlie same time the west and east sides were

lengthened and improved by Sir John Van-

brugh, and it might have been called an

elegant biiilding but for the disproportionate
lowness of the elevation.

During a great part of the Civil War Chol-

mondeley House was a garrison. First it was
held by the royalists, when in the month of

April, 1643, it was attacked by the parlia-

mentary troops then quartered at Nantwich,
In this engagement fifty of the cavaliers were

killed, and the conquerors carried ofl" with

them to Nantwich six hundred horses. The
men killed in this fight were interred at

Malpas a few days afterwards. On the

24th of the same month, Sir William
Brereton being then absent from Nantwich,
the cavah-y poured out of Chohnondeley and

phmdered Nantwich without mercy. In
November the tables were again turned, by the

Roundlieads possessing tliemselves of Chol-

mondeley, though it was only to be once more

ejected by the CavaUers, who were finally

expelled on the 30th June, 1644. The story
is tlius told by Burghall in his diary :

—" Sun-

day
—

they marched towards Chohnondeley
House witlr three or four pieces of ordnance,
and four cases of drakes, wlien two Nantwich

companies, vohmteers, guarding the great

piece of ordnance, met them
;

and before

break of day tliey plantedall theirgreatpieces
within pistol-shot of the house, and about
three or four in the morning, after they had
sunnnoned them, they played upon it, and
shot through it many times

;
and they in the

house shot histily at them with their muskets.

Tlie besiegers playing still on them with their

ordnance and small shot, beat them at last out

of the house into their works, where they
continued their valour to the utmost, them-
selves being few, killing four or five more of

them, and Major Pinkney, a brave coni-

mander; but being too weak to hold out any
longer, about one in tlie afternoon they called

for quarter, which was allowed
;
and Mr. R.

Horton, captain of tlie horse, let down the

drawbridge,"
—it was moated round—" and

opened the gates, when the Earl of Denbigh,
Colonel Booth, and the rest entered, and
took the captain and all the rest prisoners,^

—
about thirty-six,

—with their arms and pro-
visions."

This would appear to have been the last

change in the possession of Cholmondeley
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House, the parliamentarians being able to

retain a firni hold of their prizc, till it was

finally assured to them by the triumph of

Cromwell and the death of Charles I.

A domestic chapel, established more than

five hundred years ago, is still in existence at

Chohnondeley, its date being fixed by the

original grant in the year, 1285.

STOWIANGTOFT, in the co. of Suflfolk and

hundred of Blackbourn, about five miles

from Bury St. Edmunds, the seat of Henry
Wilson, Esq., a magistrate and deputy-lieute-
nant for Sufiblk, and M.P. in 1835 for the

western division of that county.
In the year, 1614, this manor was pur-

chased by Paul D'Ewes of Milding, the

father of the celebrated Sir Symonds D'Ewes,
and one of the six clerks of chancery. Sir

Simonds has left us a very graphical descrip-
tion of the estate, as it existed in his day ;

entering as might be expected, into certain

antiquarian details, which it woukl take some

time and research to coUect from other sources.

He tells us that " the capital messuage and site

of the manor, called Stow Hall, is a goodly and

pleasant seat
;
which my father, after he had

bought it, enlarged and beautified very much
with brick walls and buildings. It is in the

second, or lesser, volunie of Domesday in the

exchequer, written in the twentieth year of

King William the Norman, called Single Stona.

It was the ancient possession of the family of

the Langetots, whence it came to be called

Stoiulangetot, anciently, and by corruption of

speech at this day, Stowlangtoft. The last of

that tamily, called Robert de Langetot, the

son of Richard de Langetot, hadissue, Maud,
his daughter and heir, married in King John's

time, or about the beginning of the reign of

Henry III., to Sir Nicholas Petche, in which

name it continued till towards the latter end

ofthereignof Edward III., when the three

daughters and coheirs of Sir John Petche,

Knight, the last of that family, sokl it to

Robert Davy of Ashfield, sometime calkd

Robert de Ashfield
;
in which surname it con-

tinued for divers descents, till it was this year,

1614, sold by Sir Robert Ashfiekl, Knight, to

my father, wlio soon after removed thither, to

inhabit with his family, from Lavenham Hall,

and there continued his ordinary pkace of

residence in the vacation time to his dying

day. This manor, in the space of five hun-

dred years, was possessed, as I gather, by five

several stems, of which the last being my own,
I made this distich of it :

—
Qumscutis annis Stowlansetoft quinque tcnebant

Stirpes ; postremoe det Deus usque frui.'"

Part of this mansion-house, calkd Stow

Jlall, was pulkd down npwards of seventy

oreighty years ago ;
but the remains in 1783

received great additional improvements from

Sir WaUer Rawlinson, he having inherited it

in 1754 from his father, Sir Thomas, Lord

Mayor of London, by whom the whole parish
was purchased in 1760. From the Rawlin-

sons it passed to the family of the present
owner.

WENTWORTH HOUSE, Yorkshire, in the

West Riding, four miks from Rotherham,
nine and a half from Sheffiekl, and thirteen

from Doncaster
;
the seat of Earl Fitzwilliani.

Tliis family may be traced up to Sir William

Fitz Godric, cousin to King Edward the Con-

fessor. His son, Sir William Fitzwilliam,

being ambassador at the coiut of the Duke of

Normandy, attended the future conqueror

upon his expedition against Saxon England
in the year 1066, and so distinguished was

his bravery at the Battk of Hastings that the

Duke honom"ed him with the scarf from

his own arm. This Sir William rnarried

Emma, daughter and heiress of a Norman

Knight, named De Solabis, and by her had a

son, who by his marriage with Ekanor,

daughter and heiress of Sir John Ehnky of

Ehnky and Sprotborough, brought those

estates into the family.
Wentworth House is a magnificent edifice,

built by the Marquess of Rockingham, and

standing in the midst of a park, that presents
one of the most beautiful landscapes of the

kind to be met with throughout the whole

country. The building consists of an irregular

quadrangk, enclosing three courts, with two

grand fronts, the principal one of which,

towards the park, consists of a centre with

two wings extending in a Hne of more than

six hundred feet. Before it is a spkndid

portico sixty feet long, and projecting no less

than twenty, which is supported by six hand-

some Corinthian columns upon pedestals, with a

bahistrade about the area. Three hght figures

surmount the pediment, and in the tympanum
are the arms and supporters of the Marquess of

Rockingham. Statues are also placed at the

angksof the centre, upon thebahistrade, and

between them are handsome vases.

The grand hall is sixty feet square, and

forty feet in height. A galkry, ten feet in

width, is carried quite around it, being sup-

ported by eighteen fluted lonic pillars, with

bases and capitals of white marbk, whiie the

shafts are of Sienna. In niches between the

cohimns are marble images, above which are

medallions, containing relievos from the

designs of the cekbrated travelkr, known
under the soubriquet of Athenian Stuart. The

roof over the gallery is upheld by Corinthian

pilasters united by festoons; the ceiUng is

divided into ornamental compartments.
To the kft of this hall are some of the finest

apartments of the buikling ; namely, the

supper-room, drawing room, and dining-room.
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To tlie left are an ante-room, a grand draw-

ing-room, a dressing-room, and a state bed-

chamber. In thismansion also is a splendid

library, containing many valuable works, and

thelargest selection perliaps of medals to be

seen in England.
The stables, attached to the house, form a

lai-ge quadrangle, and surround a court of one
hundred and ninety feet square, with an

elegant front towards the park.

Many exquisite paintings are to be seen

here, such as,
—"A Sleeping Cupid," by

Guido ; "The Death of Lucretia," by the

same
;

" Christ taken from the Cross," by
Caracci ; "A Magdalen," by Titian ; "A
Portuguese Coiu'tezan,

"
by P«k^ Giordano ;

" The Earl of Strafibrd and his Secretary,"

by Vandyck, a very celebrated picture and

generally considered to be the finest work of

that artist, &c., &c.

The chapel also contains several very valua-

ble paintings, and in the museum are some

interesting antiques.
The park contains fifteen hundred acres,

the ground being beautifully varied, witli

noble woods and more tlian one handsome
sheet of water. Tlie aid of architectm-e also

has been called in to heighten the general
effect of the landscape by many ornamental

temples that break in upon the eye at eveiy
angle.
About a mile from the principal front, upon

an eminence, stands a mausoleum, ninety feet

in height. It was erected in 1788 to the

memory of the patriotic -Marquess of Rock-

inghani.

HALSEWELL, Somersetshire, about four

miles from Bridgewater, the seat of Charles

Kemeys Kemeys-Tynte, Esq., amagistrate and

Deputy-Lieutenant for the counties of Somer-

set, Glamorgan, Monmouth, and Surrey,
and also Colonel of the West Somerset Cavalry.

In Domesday Book this manor is written

Hasewell, a compound term of uncertain

derivation, and it appears in those early days
to have been held of Wido, by Roger Arundel.

Subsequently it became, for several centuries,
the residence of a family, which took its name
from the seat, according to a common custom
of the time. At length, however, this estate

devolved, in default of heirs male, to a sole

heiress, Jane, the daughter of Hugh Hals-

well, son of Sir Nicholas Halswell. This

lady conveyed it, by marriage, to John

Tynte, of Chelvy, Esq., progenitor of Sir

Charles Kemeys Tynte, Bart., who died in

1785, after having represented the county of

Somerset in many Parliaments. He married

Anne, daughter and co-heir of the Rev. Dr.

Busby, of Addington, to whom, having no

issue, he bequeathed the manor of Goathurst,
and his moiety of the manor of Broomlield,

together with all his lands in the county, for

life
;
remainder to his sister's daughter, who

married John Johnstone, Esq., a Lientenant-

Colonel in the Guards. 'Ihe last-named

gentleman, upon coming into possession of

the estate, assumed the names of Kemeys-
Tynte.
The house at Halswell was rebuilt, in the

year 1689, by Sir Halswell Tynte, who was
raised to the dignity of a Baronetin the time of

King Charles II. The front of this mansion is

ninety-seven feet in length, with a proportion-
ate height of fifty-four feet. The chief apart-
ments in this portion of the building are

the parlour, saloon, and drawing-room, with a

library and staircase at the ends. Over the

saloon is an elegant room of the same dimen-

sions, used as a breakfast-room, the windows
of which extendto the floor, with a balcony in

front of them. Some good pictures are to be

seen here, chiefly by Titian, Vandyck, Can-

aletti, Bartolomeo, Sir Peter Lely, and Ho-

garth.
The grounds attached to Halsewell were

thus described by Arthur Young :
—

" The riding which leads to the principal

points ofview crosses the parkfrom the house,

commanding a fine view of the Vale ofBridge-
water. It then runs by the side of a woody
precipice, and up through some new planta-

tions, from a dark part of which you enter

through a door into a temple dedicated to

Robin Hood, upon which a most noble

prospect breaks at once upon the beholder,
which acts not a little by the surprise
of the entrance. The ground shelves from

it in front and to the right gradually,
but to the left in bolder slopes, where the

dips are beautifully grouped with wood, and
the hills above them rise in curving enclosures.
" About the house, the groves thicken, and a

vast vale of rich enclosures, spotted in a

beautiful manner withwhite objects, sti-etches

beyond it to the distance of twelve miles.

Then you command the Channel, which is

here nine miles over, the stecp Holm rising
in the midst of it very boldly ;

and beyond
these the mountains of Wales rise one be-

hind another.
" From hence, the riding leads up the hills,

commanding all the way a most extensive

prospect, after which it turns through a plan-
tation to a single oak, with a few poles about

it, and a bench. Here the grounds, sinking
from the eye, form a most sweet landscape.
The lawns undulate in the finest manner, and

the groves of oak seem to drop into the hollows.

The clumps and scattered trees have an un-

common elegance, and unite the foreground
of the scene with Robin Hood's Temple,
which is here seen to great advantage. Be-

yond the whole, you have the distant ex-

tensive prospect.
" From hence, the riding leads down the

hill to a wood of noble oaks, which shade a
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spot bcautifiilly wikl and sequcstcrccl, wlierc a

linipid spring rises at the foot of a rock,

overhung in a fiue, bokl manner by wood

growing from its clefts. The water winds

away through the grove in a proper manner.

Here is a tablet with these lines :
—

" "Wlien Israers wancVrinjj sons the dcsert trod,
The raelting rocks obeyfd the prophefs rod ;

Forth jruslied the stream, the tribes their thirst allayed,

Furgetful of their God, thej- rose and pUiyed.
Ye liappy swains, for -whom these «•aters flow,

Oh, ma}'"your hearts -with grateful ardours glow.
Lo ! herea fountain streams at His command,
Not o'er a harren, but a fruiltul hind,
Wliere Nature's choicest gifts ihe valleys fill,

And smihug plenty gladdens every hill !
"

"
Turning the corner, you catch a bridge,

inider a thick shade, and then come to the

Druid's Temple, built in a just style of bark,

&c., the view quite glooniy and confined;
the water winds silently along, except a little

gushing fall, which hurts not the emotions

raised by so sequestered a scene.
"
Following the path towards the bridge,

you catch, just before you come at it, a little

landscape through the trees, of distant water

iinely united with wood. From the bridge,
the river appears to great advantage, nobly
embanked on one side with tall, spreading
trees, and on the other with green slopes,
in which single ones are scattered.

" From theseretu-ed and gloomy spots, you
leave the dark groves and open into a moi-e

cheerful ground ;
the 1'iver is bounded only

on one side by thick wood, and on the other,

by waving lawns open to the fields, and
scattered thinly with trees. From a bench on
the banks, you view a slight fall of water
well shaded.

" As we advance, the character of the

ground again changes most happily ;
the

woods open; on both sides the water
;
the wav-

inglawnsare ofthemostlively verdure. Trees

thinly scattered, brighter streams, touches
of distant prospect and elegant buildings, all

unite to raise the most cheerful ideas, which
we were prepared for by gradually leaving
the gloom of the more sequestered woods.

" A break througli the trees to the right,
lets in a view of the Rotunda. Passing to the

lonic portico, which is excelkntly placed,
the scenery in view is truly enchanting. The
lawn is gently waved, and spotted with trees

and shrubs in the happiest taste. The water

seems to wind naturally through a falling vak ;

and a swelling hill, crowned by the rotunda,
forms a compkte picture. The whok scene

is really ekgant ; every part is riant, and
bears the stamp of pkasure.

" As you cross the bridge, you look to the

right on a very beautiful cascade, which makes
five or six slight falls over a moss and ivy

bank, under a dark shade of wood. The

skpes, wood, and water, unite to render the

scene striking.

"Turning down by the water, the lawn
continues very beautiful, and you gain a fine

view of the lonic portico on a rising slope,
which here appears to great advantage ;

but

the middk cascade, which you here command,
should be totally hid

;
it is a repetition of the

principal one.
"

Rising the hill by the side of the water,

you have, from a bench vmder a spreading
wood, an agreeabk view of a bridge ; and, a

littk farther, another commands the same

object, and has also a very pkasing opening
through the trees to the portico. The view
to the kft up to the river, is a confirmation

of Shenstone's observation.
" The riding, which follows on the bank of

the river under the gloomy shade of niune-

rous venerabk trees, is a fit residence for con-

templation to dwell in. The openings across

the water, on the opposite lawn, are just
sufficient to heighten by contrast. The awful

shade, the solemn stiUness of the scene, broken

by nothing but the fall of distant waters, have

altogether a great eifect, and impress upon
the mind a melancholy scarcely elfaced by the

view of a rich vak, with the water winding

through it, which is seen on crossing the park
towards the house. This seat has received

rich gifts from nature, and very pkasing
ones from art. The riding is of large extent,

and commands a great variety of distant pi-os-

pect and rich landscapes. The home scenes

are ekgant, and set off by the shade of such

a nobk wood, that every impression they
make is rendered forcibk. The biuldings are

inh'ght and pkasing style."

CLAYTON PEIORY, in the co. of Sussex,
twomiles anda quarterfrom Hurst Pierpoint;
the seat of Lieutenant-Colonel Charks Wil-

liam Elwood, formerly in the East India

Company's service. This gentkman is

a magistrate and Deputy-Lieutenant for

Sussex.

Clayton Priory at one time belonged to the

family of Podmore, from whom it passed to

the present possessor. The fine old mansion,
calkd Hammond's Place, was partly taken

down and its matcrials used in constructing
the modern dwelHng, whik the portion of it

that yet remains is used as a farm-house. It

was built early in the reign of Queen Ehza-

beth by Edward IMichelbounie, Esq., the

last male heir of whose family was his bro-

ther's great grandson, so distinguished at the

siege of Londonderry in 1C89. He died in

1721.

The modern mansion, that forms the pre-
sent family-dwelling, under the name of

Clayton Priory, was erected by the late Robert

Poclmore, Escj., some time about the year
1821. It is a handsome and comniodious

edifice, with a Grecian coknnade and portico.
The grounds about it are well wooded, and it
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commands a fine view of the South Downs
and the adjacent comitry.

OXBTrRGH, in the co. of Norfolk, and hun-
dred of South Greenhow, aboiit three miles

from the market-town of Stoke Ferry ;
the

seat of Sir Henry Richard Paston-Bedingfeld,
Bart.

" In Domesday Book," says the county
historian, Blomefield,

"
it is called Oxenhurgh,

taking its name from its site on the Ouse or

Wissey, a river navigable from hence to Cam-

bridge, Lynn, &c.
;
and this name it very well

answers, as being a peninsula surrounded by
this and two or three other rivulets, except on
the north-east point. The adjunct word,

Burgh bespeaks its eminence, showing it to

liave been some fortified town and phice of

strength, and besides its natural site above

observed, about half-a-mile from the town to

the north-west, on a place called the IVarren

Hill, may be observed a very deep valluni or

trench adjoining. The word Burgh may
also signify some remarkable place of burial

;

and about the limits of the town are several

tumuli, three or foiu' near one another on the

common a little south of the church and town
;

and by the river that divides the town from
the common (near the said tumuli) are several

places contiguovis, about four or five yards

long, and two or three broad, having the

earth sunk a little, where it may be justly
concluded many persons who fell in some

battle, were inteiTed, those Little Pitts being
called by antient people, the Danes' Graves."

Without exactly agreeing with the whole
of these inferences, there can be no doubt
that Oxburgh Castle took its name from the

town so called. It came into the faniily of

Bedingfeld in the reign of Henry V., wlien

Sir Edward Bedingfeld, Knt., married Mai--

garet, the sister and coheiress of Robert de

Tuddenham. Their grandson, Ednnmd,
obtained a license or patent from King
Edward IV., in 1483, tobuild a Hall at Ox-

burgh, "more castelli," with towers, battle-

ments, machicohitions, &:c. He was a stancli

friend to the house of York and was created

a Knight of the Bath at the coronation of

Richard III., a circumstance which did not

prevent his being an equal favom-ite with

Henry VII. His descendant, Sir Henry
Bedingfeld was one of those gentlemcn tliat

appeared in arms at Framlingham in Suflolk,
on behalf of Queen Mary, and advancing from

onehonourto another,wasafterwards entrusted

with the charge of the Pi-incess EHzabeth.

Fox, who perveiis his name into Benifield,

gives a long account in his " Acts and Monu-
ments" of his cruelty towards his prisoner." On Trinity Sunday," he says, "being the

19th day of May, she (Elizabeth) was removcd
from tlie 'l'o\ver, the Lord Treasm-er beiug then

there for tlie huling of the carts and discharging

the place of the same
;
where Sir Henry Beni-

field, being appointed her jailor, did receive her
with a company of rake-hells to guard her,
besides the Lord ofDerby 's band, waiting in the

country about for the moonshine in the water.

Unto wliom at length came my Lord Tame,
joined in commission with the said Sir Henry
for the safe guiding of her to prison."

If we are to believe the martyrologist, Sir

Heniy had serious disputes with his brother

commissioner, who would persist in treating
their charge with indulgence, "whereat he

grunted, and was highly offended, saying
unto them they could not tell what they did,
and were not able to answer their doings in

that behalf
; letting them to understand that

she was the queen's prisoner, and no other-

wise
; advising them therefore to take heed

and beware of after-claps. Whereunto the

lord of Tame answered in this wise
;
that he

was well advised of his doings, being joined in

commission as well as he, adding with warrant,
that her grace might and should in his house be

merry. The next day, as she should take her

journey from Ricot towards Woodstock, the

Lord of Tame with anotliergentleman being at

tables playing and dropping vie crowns, the

Lady Elizabeth passing by, stayed and said she

would see the game played out, which Sir

Henry Benifield would scarce permit. The

game running long about, and they playing

drop vie crowns,
' Come on,' saith he,

— '
1 will

tarry,' saith she, 'and will see this game out.'

"After this SirHenry went into a chamber,
where were appointed for her grace a chair,

two cushions, and a foot-carpet, very fair and

prince-like, wherein presumptuously he sate,

and called one Barwick, his man, to pull of

his boots
;
which as soon as it was known

among the ladies and gentles, every one
mused thereat, and laughed him to scorn,

observing his indiscreet manners in that be-

half, as they might very well. When supper
was done, he called my lord and willed him
that all the gentlemen and ladies should

withdraw themseives, every one to his lodging,

marvelling much that he would permit tliere

such a company, considering so great a charge
committed to him. 'SirHenry,' quoth my
lord,

' content yourself, all shall be voided,

your men and all.'
'

Nay, my soldiers,' quoth
Sir Henry,

' shall watcli all night.' The Lord
ofTame answered,

' It shall notneed,'— ' Well'

said he, 'need or need not, they shall do so'—
mistrusting belike the company, whicli God
knoweth was without cause.

" The next day her grace took her journey
from thence to Woodstock, where she was

enclosed as before in thc Tower of London, the

soldiers guarding and warding both witliin and

without the walls every day to llie number of

sixty, and in the night without the walls, forty,

diu'ing tlie tinie of her imprisonnient tliere.

At lenglli she had gardens appointed for her
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walk, which was very comfortable to her Grace.
But always when she did recreate herself

tlierein, the doors were first locked up in as

strict a nianner as they were in the Tower,
being at the least five or six locks between
her lodging and her walks

;
Sir Henry hini-

self keeping the keys, and trusting no man
therewith. Whereupon, she called him her

jailor; and he kneeling down desired her

grace not to call him so, for he was appointed
there to be one of lier officers. ' From such

officers,
'

quoth she,
'

good Lord deliver me.'
"And now, by the way, as digressing, or

rather refreshing the reader, if it be lawful in

so serious a story to recite a matter incident,
and yet not impertinent to the same

;

occasion here moveth, or rather enforceth me
to touch briefly what happened in the same
place and time, by a certain merry conceited

man, being then about her grace, who noting
the strait and strange keeping of his lady and
mistress by the said Sir Henry Benifield,
with so many locks and doors, with such
watch and ward about her, as was strange and
wonderful, spied a goat in the ward where
her grace was, and whether to refresh her

oppressed mind, or to notify her strait hand-

ling by Sir Henry, or else both, he took it

upon his neck, and followed her grace there-
with as she was going into her lodging. Which
when she saw, she asked him what he could
do with it, willing him to let it alone. Unto
whom the said party answered,

'

No, by
St. Mary—if it like your grace

—will I not
;

for I can not tell, whether he be one of the
Queen's friends or no. I will carry him to
Sir Henry Benifield— God willing

— to
know what he is.' So, leaving her grace, he
went with the goat on his neck, and carried
it to Sir Henry Benifield

;
who when he saw

him coming with it, asked him, half angrily,
what he had there. Unto whom the party
answered, saying,

<

Sir,
'

quoth he,
'
I cannot

tell what he is. I pray you examine him, for
I found him in the place where my lady's
grace was walking, and what talk they have
had I cannot tell, for I understand him not

;

but he should seem to me to be some stran-

ger, and I think verily a Welshman, for he
had a white frieze coat on his back. And
forasmuch as I, being the Queen's subject,
and perceiving the strait charge commited to

you of her keeping, that no stranger should
have access to her without sufficient license, I

have here found a stranger
—what he is I can-

not tell—in the place where her grace was
walking ;

and therefore, for the necessary dis-

charge of my duty I thought it good to bring
the said stranger to you, to examine as you see

cause,
'

and so he set him down. At which
his words Sir Henry seemed nuich displeased,
and said,

'

Well, well, you will never leave
this gear, I see;'

—and so they departed."
Another sore subject between Elizabeth

and her jailor was his interfering with her

letters, and mucli more there is to the same

jmrpose in Fox. But he jjroves too much
;

had he used her with half the seveiity that

Fox attributes to him, it is quite incredible

that on coming to the throne she would have
visited him at Oxbm-gh Hall, in her progress
into Norfolk.

This mansion, as we have already observed,
was erected in the latter end of the fifteenth

century by Sir Edmund Bedingfeld. It is

built of brick, and was originally of a square
form, surroundinga court, or quadrangle, one
hundred and eighteen feet long, and ninety-
two broad, round which the apartments were

ranged. It resembles Queen's College, Cam-
bridge, a structure of nearly the same period.
The whole is encompassed with a moat, about

fifty-two feet broad, and ten feet deep,whichis
supplied with water from an adjacent rivulet.

The entrance over this to the castle is abridge—
formerly a drawbridge

—
through an arched

gateway between two majestic towers, eighty
feet in height. The battlements of these towers

are peculiar, and in the centre of thepediments
are the bases of two chimneys. In the western

turret—the one, that is, on the right hand of

the entrance—is a spiral brick staircase, beau-

tifully turned, and lighted by small quatre-
foil apertures. The other tower contains four

stories, each consisting of a single octagonal

room, three of which have groined brick

ceilings with projecting ribs, stone window-

frames, and stone fire-places. These windows
and the whole exterior of this part of the

building appear to be in their original state.

The chamber in the centre and above the

entrance, is of large size, and has a large mul-
lioned window towards the north, with two

bay windows to the south looking upon the

court below. It is paved with small fine bricks,

and the walls are covered with a curious tapes-

try, exhibiting several figures of princes,

gentlemen, and ladies in the costume of Henry
VII.'s time. From a visit of Henry VII. to

Oxburgli, when he is supposed to have been

domiciliated in this room, it has obtained the

name of the Kinc/'s Room. In the eastern

tm-ret is a small closet in the wall, measuring
six feet by five, and seven feet in height, the

approach to which is by a secret passage

through the floor. This is generally supposed
to have been intended as a place of conceal-

ment during the days of the persecution of

Catholic priests, such contrivances being by
no means unusual in the mansions of Roman
Catholic families.

The great hall, which had an oaken roof in

the style of that so much admired at West-

minster Hall, and other rooms, which formed

the south side of the court, were taken down
in the year 1788, and the distribution of almost

every apai-tment has been successively

changed. The offices have been removed to
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tlie east side, while the dining-room, drawing-
rooni, and liljravy are now upon the west.

It appearsfrom an old inventoryof Oxburgli
Hall, that one chamber was called the Fciter-

lock, the well-known badge of the house of

York, and probably adopted as a mark of

respect by the founder of tliis seat, who was
zealous in their cause.

In this mansion is a collection of ancient

armour, besides portraits and paintings by the

old masters.

ACmSE PLACE, in the co, of Kent, about
five miles from Folkstone

;
the seat of Thomas

Papillon, Esq,
In the Domesday Book this place is written

Acres, a name given to it for its high situation

and the abundance of oak trees growing here—
quasi, oakrise. By the common people in

the neighbourhood it is generally called Awk-
eridgc, by which name it is sometimes men-
tioned in legal documents,
At the time of taking the general survey of

Domesday, in the fifteenth year of the Con-

queror's reign, Acrise was part of the lands

belonging to Odo, Bisliop of Baieux, WiUiam's
uterine brother, Upon the disgrace of this

turbulent prelate, it becanie forfeited to the

crown, when it was granted to Anchetil de

Rose, who from having been mesne tenant,
became lord paramount of the land, and held
it immediately of the cxo^xim capite. Ofhis
descendants this manor was again held by the

family of Cosenton, or Cossington, In the

reign of King Henry VIII., and in the early

part of it, TliomasCosenton, Esq., dying with-

out male issue, his three davighters became his

coheirs, Upon the division of his lands, this

manor felltohis youngest daughter, Elizabeth,
who was married to Alexander Hamon, Esq,
Their grandson, Alexander, also died without

male issue, leaving two daughters his coheirs
;

to the youngest of whom, Catherine, the wife

of Sir Robert Lewknor—he devised this

manor and estate in tail male
;
and in this

family it remained till, in 1G6G, it was alienated

by his grandson to Thomas Papillon, Esq.,
of Lubenliam, in the co. of Leicester, a rieli

London merchant, and a member of the

Mei-cers' Company, According to Hasted the

Papillons were " of good account in this

kingdom in very early times.
" We find

one of this name and family filling the high
office of Abbot of Westminster in the reign
of King John.

Acrise, which is a handsome brick mansion,
stands in tlie south-westportion of tlie parish,
It has the appearance of having been built

about the time of King Heni-y VII, Close to

it, and upon the noi-tli side, is the village
church

;
a neat buikling, in which are many

monuments belonging to the family of Papil-
lon.

MUNCASTEE, in the co. of Cumberland, a

mile and a half from Ravenglass, and sixteen

miles south of Wliitehaven
;
the seat of Lord

Muncaster,
The original name of this place was Meol-

castre, Mealcastre, or Mulcaster, from a castle

which was the ancient residence of tlie lords

of the manor at Eskmeal, near the moutli of

the Esk, between the mountains and the sea,

Tlie suhject is thus explained by Hutcliinson,
in a quotation from Denton's MS,:—

" The place is now corruptly called Mun-
caster

; howbeit, the right name is Midcastre,
or Moel-castre, of an old castle tliere toward
the water side, near vmto Eskmeal, which
was the ancient dwelling-place of the Pen-

ningtons, and is yet visible in the ruins
; they

call it the Old Walls. It was called Moel-

castre, or Mule-castre, from the nieal on which
it anciently stood; and itis accordingly written

Mule-castre and Meal-castre in all their old

evidences and records. Eskmeal, wliereon

the ancient castle stood, is a plain, low, dry
grovmd at the foot of the Esk, between the

mountains and the sea, which sort of grovmds,

lying under mountains and promontories into,
or at the sea, are commonly called Mules or

Meils, as it were the entrance or mouth from
the sea into a river, or svich like place ;

as

the Meil, or Esk, Kirksanton Meil, Cartmeil,

Mealholme, the Mule of Galloway, and Millum
itself."

Tliis manor, which lies in the ward of Aller-

dale above Derwent, is known to have be-

longed to the Pennington family as early as

tlie reign of Henry II, They took theirname
from Pennington, in Lancashire. Sir John

Pennington, who lived in the reign of Henry
VI,, was a decided Lancasterian, and is said

to have secreted that ill-starred monarch,
when his party was defeated by the Yorkists,

having accompanied him in his flight from
the field of battle, According to the same

tradition, upon qiutting Mvmcaster, Henry
presented his host with a small glass vessel,
still preserved in the family, and called the

Luck of Muncaster, a rival, in name at least,

to the weil-known goblet called the Luck of
Eden Hall ; to the safe keeping of either, a
considerable degree of superstition was for-

merly attached, and perhaps the feeling lias not

altogether died away in our own more enlight-
ened times, Tlie tradition is as foUows :

—When
concealment at Mvmcaster was no hmger prac-
ticable, tlie King prepared to carry his broken
fortunes elsewhere, bvit before liis departure he
thvis addressed his loyal host—" Silver and

gold and jewcls I have none to give, but this I

will give, and along with it, tlie blessing of

the most unfortvmate of princes," There-

vipon he presented to Sir Jolin the curiously-

shaped carved-glass cup, in which he used to

keep his holy water
;
and kneeling down, and

praying that every blessing might await the
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loyal friend who had shown such constancy
to him undei- his heavy misfortunes, he

implored God that a male heir might never be

wanting to the ancient i-ace of Pennington.

Upwards of half a century ago, the box in

which the cup is enclosed, fell to the ground ;

great fears were felt lest it might have sus-

tained injury ; yet no one had courage to

ascertain the fact, and the box remained shut

for many years. At length it was opened, and
nuich to the joy of the family, it was found

quite uninjured.
This Sir John was a distinguished soldiei-, and

commanded the left wing of the EngHsh army
in one of the many expeditions undertaken to

put down the turbulent spirit of their Scottish

neighbours. His grandson, Sir John Pen-

nington, was present at the battle of Flodden

Field. Another descendant of the same nanie

inherited the family love of warfare, but it

took another direction, showing itself by sea

instead of by land. He was Admiral to King
Charles I., and much trustedby that monarch,
as he well deserved to be, in naval afFairs,

although he is dismissed after a most sum-

mary fashion by Canipbell in his " Lives of
British Admirals." That author says, "As
for Sir John Pennington, Sir Henry Marom,
and some other seamen, who rose to be

Admirals in this reign, we meet with nothing

relating to them of importance enough to

deserve the attention of the reader." Such a

remark rather proves the neghgence of the

wi-iter than the want of merit in the subject
of his remarks. Our limits, however, forbid

our entering into the historical details of that

period.
Muncaster Castle stands upon an eminence

to the east of tlie road, and on the nortli-west

bank of the river Esk. It was nearly rebuilt

by the late Lord Muncaster, and even the

principal tower, though still retained, has lost

much of its pristine character. In front it

commands a fine view of the vale of Esk,
terminated by the wildest mountain scenery,
and flanked on either side by a landscape of

a similar description. In the house are several

family pictures, and a curious portrait of

Thomas Skelton, the Fool of Muncaster, who
is said to have lived in the family at the time

of the civil wars, and of whose sayings there

are many ti-aditional stories. He is dressed

in a check gown—bhie, yellow, and white—
under his arm is an earthen dish, with ears

;

in his right hand a white wand, in his left, a

white hat, bound with pink ribbands, and bhie

bows
;
in front, a paper on whicli is written,

" Mrs. Dorothy Copeland.
' '

Upon the picture
are inscribed the following lines :

—
"Tho' Skelton, late Fool of Muncaster's

last Will and Testament.

" Bg it known to you, oh, giave and wise men all,

That I, Thom Fool, am Sheriff of ye Hall ;

I mean the Hall of Haigh, where I command
What neither I nor you do understand.

My Under Shcrift"is'Ualph Waytc, youknow,
As wise as I am, and as witty too.

Of Egremond I have Barrow Serjcant heene,
Of Wiggan, Bailift', too, as may be scen

By my white staff of otRce in my hand,
Being carried streiglit as the badge of my command.
A low high-constable, too, was once my calling,
\\Tiich I enjoyed under kind Henry Rawling ;

And when the Fates a new ishcriff' send,
I'm Under Sherifi' prick'd world without end.
He who doth question my authority

May see the seal and patten hcre ly by ;

The dish with luggs, which I do carry here,
shows all my li\ang is on good strong beer.

If scurvy lads to me abuses do,
I'll call 'em scurvy rogues, and rascals, too.

Fair Dolly Copeland iu my cap is placed ;

Monstrous fair is she, and as good as all the rcst.

Honest Nich. Pennington, honest Tho. Turuer, both
Will bury me whcn I this world go forth.

But let me not be carry'd o'er the brigg,
Lest falling, I in Duggas river Ugg ;

Nor let my body by old Charnock lie,

But by Wlll. Caddy, for he'll lie quietly.
And when I'm bury'd then my friends may drink,
But each man pay for liimself—thafs best, I think.

This is my Will, "and tliis I know will be
Performed by them, as they have promised me.

Thos. Skelton,
X his mark.

SigTi'd, seal'd, publish'd, and declared, in the presence of

Henry Rawling,
Henry Troughton,
Thos. Turner."

In the park is about a hundred head of

deer, and the bleak hills of the vicinity have

been covered with forest trees by the present
and late proprietor. Irrigation, too, has been

here introduced upon an extensive scale, and

with the best possible effects.

The children of the inhabitants of this

manor still observe the ancient custom of

going about from house to house, and singing

a ditty which craves the bounty

" They were wont to have in old liing Edward's days."

The origin of the custom is not known, but

the donation is only two-pence, a tolerably

sure token of its antiquity, from the smallness

of the sum demanded. It is, however, much
too coarse for repetition.

BOTLEYS, in the co. of Surrey, and parish

of Chertsey ;
the seat of Robert GosHng, Esq.

Tliis manor is supposed to have been so

called from the fcuuily of Butteley, or Botley ;

if indeed, which seems much more probable,

the family did not take its name from the

place where they chanced to be located. In

1505, the estate known as Botlese Park was

possessed by Henry Wykes, Gent. In 1541,

we find the manor belonging to Sir Roger

Chohueley, Knight, Chief Baron of the Ex-

chequer, of whom it was bought by King

Henry VIII. We next see it granted, in the

early part of Mary and Philip's reign, to the

Duchess of Somerset, widow of the Protector

Somerset, who had been executed not many
yearspreviously. Thisgrantwas forlife,andby
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way of compensation for her dower and thirds.

After her death, Matthew Alie, Gent., had a

lease of the estatein 1581. In IGIO, James I.

granted this manor to George Salter and John

Williams, and their heii-s, who in the same year

disposed of it toWiiham Garwaie, Gent., of St,

Peter the Poor, London. At alaterperiod, it

was in the hands of Samnel Hall, citizen and

felt-maker, also of London, after whom, his

widow, Mrs. Pleasance Hall, had a life-

interest in the estate
;
but having bought the

reversion of her son, she disposed of the whole
in 17G3, to Joseph Mawbey, Esq., who was
created a Baronet during tlie administration

of Lord Rockingham. He was descended
from a fiimily in Norfolk, where the village of

Maltby (originally Maws-bey), still marks
the dwelling-place of his Danish ancestors

;

and a ruined chapel at East Flegg, exhibited

at the close of the last centmy, the tomb and

effigy of a Knight-Templar, named De
Mauteby. The property of the family being
confiscated in the Civil Wars, they removed
into Leicestershire. Colonel Mawbey fell at the

head of his vohmteers, in Sir Arthur Hesil-

rigge's corps, at Roundway Down
;
and the

*' Paston Letters
" make mention of Margaret

Mawbey, who, dying early after her union
with John Paston, was honoured with an

epitaph by Dryden.
Sir J. Mawbey was born at Derby, and

educated forthe clerical profession ;
but even-

tually entered into partnership with his cousin,
Mr. Pratt, a distiller, at Vauxhall, (the de-

scendant of Colonel Pratt, of a branch of the

Camden family, the representative of Leicester

in the Long Parliament,) whose daughter and
heiress he married . He relinquished business

on his return to tlie House of Commons,where
he served as Member for the borough of

Southwark, and afterwards for the county of

Surrey, during an unbroken period of thirty

years ;
he was also sixteen years Chairman

of the Newington Sessions. He levelled the

antique manor-liouse of Botleys, standing near
a hirge pond embosomed in trees at the

boundary of the demesne, and erected the

present mansion on an eminence formerly
well wooded, and a hunting-ground of Queen
EHzaheth. King Henry VI. (whose tem-

porary interment at Cliertsey Abbey is com-
memorated by Shakespeare) had likewise a

hunting castle here, surrounded by a moat, in

which the royal arms of Enghuul were found
embossed on copj^er, with some curious speci-
niens of the locust, in the bcginning of the

present century. SirJoseph died in Jvme, 1 798,
and his only surviving son inheritcd liis name,
title, and estate. He"died 27th Augiist, 1817,

leaving (by his marriage with the eklest

daughter of Thomas Henchman, Esq., Pay-
master-General of the East India Company's
forces, Governor of Malda Factory, Bcngal
Bank, and Orphan Ilouse at Calcutta), an

only surviving daughter, who married John
Ivatt Briscoe, Esq., of Cross Deep, Twicken-
ham. Botleys was sold by auction at Garra-

way's, in the summer of 1822, to David Hall,

Esq., a merchant of Bai-badoes. Previous to

the union of the lamented Princess Charlotte

of Wales with Prince Leopold of Saxe

Coburg, proposals were made to convert

Botleys into a royal residence, but the estate

being then entailed, could not at that time be
alienated by the tenant. Subsequently, Mr.
Hall disposed of the property to John Beccles

Hyndman, Esq., and he again sold it to the

present owner, Robert Gosling, Esq.
The mansion at Botleys was erected, as we

have already stated, by Sir Joseph Mawbey,
not long after his purchase of the estate, in

1763. It is a handsome building of stone,
which material was obtained from the quarries
of Heddington and Barrington, in Oxford-

shire, that from the last-named place being

chiefly used for the columns and decorative

parts. Altogether, this edifice is generally
considered as being one of the finest and most

noteworthy in the county of SuiTcy. In form
it very nearly presents a square, standing

upon an eminence, from which there is an
extensive prospect over wood and vale into

several counties. A double flight of steps,
with balusters, conducts to the entrance-hall,
which is handsomely paved with marble.

Scagliola columns and pilasters of the lonic

order support the ceiling, and the ditferent

rooms are for the most part well proportioned,
as well as fitted up with much elegance.
This remark more particularly applies to the

dining and drawing-rooms.
The fagade, or east front of this mansion

includes a tetrastyle, which, like the cohmins
and pilasters of the entrance-hall before men-

tioned, belongs to the pure and simple lonic

order. In it, the ainns of the Mawbey family
are sculptured, in a larger size than usual.

The grounds resemble the house in being
of a square form, extending to about two
miles in circumference. The approach to the

house, from the low and dull market-town of

Chertsey, is by a carriage-road, nearly a mile

in length, and very gradually rising the whole

way, the entrance to which is by folding gates
of iron. These gates are connected on either

side with a soi't of stone screen, or imitation

lodge, while on the left is a pretty cottage in

the Gothic style, called the Farm, and used as

a dwelling for the gate-keeper. The park
itself abounds in well-grown timber, and is

further embellished with picturesque sheets

of water, as well as the most luxuriant planta-
ticns.

COLNE PAEK, in the co. of Essex
;
the seat

of Robert Ilills, Esq., a magistrate for the

county.
At one time it formed part of the lands
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belonging to the Prior and convent of St.

Botolph in Colchester, and is supposed to be

what was confirmed to thein in the charter of

King Richard I., under the name of Coliim.

In 150G it would seem to have been hekl by
John de Vere, Earl of Oxford, whose grand-
son, Edward, sold it to Richai-d Bovu-chier.

In 1631 we find this estate possessed by
Humphrey Maudit. From him it passed to

Daniel Caldwell, Esq., after whose death, in

1634, it was disposed of to Thomas Rookwood,

Esq., of Coldham Hall, in SuiFolk. It then

passed into the hands of Sir Thomas B. Gage,
of Hengrave, in Suffolk, who in 1762 soldit

to Mr. Michael Hills of Colchester, and
his son bequeathed it to Philip Astle, Esq.,
who took the svu'name and arms of Hills.

He was the second son of Thomas Astle, Esq.,
the Keeper of the Records in the Tower, by
Anne Maria, only child of the Rev. Philip

Morant, the well-known historian of Essex.

The mansion of Cohie Park was cased with

white brick, and otherwise improved by the

gentleman last mentioned. Since then it

has been enlarged by the present proprietor,
and ornamented witli a Grecian portico in

front. It'is situated on the highest part of an
extensive lawn, surrounded by plantations,
and enclosed within a park that abounds in

fine timber.

At no great distance from the house is a

tall column of Portland stone, and of the

lonic order of architecture. It bears the

following inscription :
—

Michael: Roberto Hills, arm. Philippus Hills, obser-
Tantiae ergo, P. 1791.

The demesne lands of this seat inchide

about a hundred and ten acres, and occupy
the central part of the whole manor.

HEMSWORTH HALL, formerly called High
Hall, in the parish of Hemsworth, and West

Riding of Yorkshire, about six miles and a

half from Pontefract, the seat of William

Henry Leatham, Esq., a magistrate and

deputy-lieutenant of the same Riding.
The manor was passed, in the reign of

Charles I., by Sir Richard Gargrave to Dr.

Richard Berrie of Hoh-oyd, under whose will,

the intermediate heirs being dead, it devolved

to Ann Bradshaw, of St. Andrew's, Holborn,
and Ehzabeth Todd, of Kirton-in-Lindsey,
both widows. The former lady bequeathed
her portion to her grandson, Thonias Brad-

shaw, and from this family it passed to Dr.

Henry Wood, who bought it out of chancery
inl769. Itnowinregularsuccessiondescended
to Sir Charles Wood, late Chancellor of the

Exchequer, who continued to reside there until

1836, when he succeeded his father, Sir Francis

L. Wood, Bart., and removed to Hickleton

Hall, a seat purchased of the Wentworths.

The High Hall was subsequently occupied

by Miss Tempest, by the Rev. Arthur Bland

Wrightson, and Henley Greaves, Esq. In
1 849 it was bought by William Henry Leatham,
Esq., who did not reside there till 1851.

This gentleman is the second son of the late

William Leatham, of Heath, Esq., banker at

Wakefield, Doncaster, and Pontefract—by
the daughter and heiress of Dr. Joshua
Walker. He was born July 6th, 1815, mar-
ried in 1839 Miss Priscilla Gurney, daughter of

Samuel Gurney, Esq., of West Ham, Essex,
and continued to be a banker at Wakefield and
Pontefract till 1851, when he took up his abode
at Hemsworth. Prior to this time he had
resided at Woodthorpe near Wakefield, and
afterwards atHeath near the sametown. Mr.
Leatham qualified as a magistrate for the

West Riding in 1850, and was appointed
deputy-lieutenant of the county in March,
1853. He is also well known in the hterary
workl, being the author of several plays and

poems, besides delivering lectures at the

Mechanics' Institute.

The Hall is a plain stone building, the

centre of which is two stories high, while the

wings only reach to one. Before the centre

is a porch with a terrace and a flight of steps,
added (with a Conservatory) to the original

building by the present owner. It stands on
elevated ground,

—whence probably its more
modern name of the High Hall, and commands
a fine south view. The gardens and pleasure-

grounds comprise about seven acres. There is

no park attached to the mansion, but both before

and behind it are large green fields, plentifully
dotted over with fine timber, its site being at

the extremity of the village adjoining the

rectory.

DRINKSTON PARK, in the co. of Suffolk,

and parish of the same name, the seat of Mrs.

Grigby.
This property was bequeathed to his widow

by the late owner, who died in 1829, with

entail to his nephew, John Harcourt Powell,

Esq. The house was erected in 1763 by
Joshua Grigby, Esq. It is a square building
in the style of architecture which prevailed
in the days of George II., and stands in a park
of about two hundred and thirty acres, with

plantations, flower-gardens, and the usual

appendages of a country mansion. Within

are a few good paintings by the old masters.

LOCKINGTON LODGE, near Belturbett, in

the co. of Cavan, the seat of James Hamil-

ton Story, Esq., LL.D. a magistrate of the

counties of Cavan and Tyrone
—who served

as High Sheriff of the first-named county in

the year 1822.

This lodge was biiilt by a tenant on Mr.

Story's estate who assigned his house to John

Moutray Jones, Esq., a gentleman of inde-

pendent fortune and a Justice of the Peacc
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for the county of Cavan, who considerably

enlarged and improved it, and kept a pack of

hounds there for several years, vifhen he

again assigned his term to the Rev. J. Carver,
who having lived there for a few years,

assigned it over to Mr. W. GrifRth, and he

again sold the tenancy to Mr. Knight, who sur-

rendered it on the expiration of the lease, in the

year 1849, to the present owner, J. H. Story,

LL.D., who now resides there, and who is

adding to its grounds and plantations ;
it will

probably in a few years be a very pretty pLace,
a good sized lake near the house adding to its

cheerfulness.

RALEIGH lODGE, in the co. of Tyrone,

parish of Kilskeriy, is now in the possession of

Colonel Robert W. Story of the Royal
Artillery. This place was commenced in the

year 1814 by Samuel Story, Esq., who built

the present front, to which two entrances in

the shape of a rectangle have since been
added by James Hamilton Story, LL.D.
The place is extensively planted, and the

Lodge is pleasantly situated on the north side

of the Brougher range of hills, commanding a

very extensive view ovcr the counties of

Fermanagh and Tyrone.
Colonel Robert Story, since his accession

to this estate, has taken up his residence at

the house commenced by the Rev. Edward

Story, called Errington, which is adjoining

Raleigh Lodge, and he is now making con-

siderable improvements to that house and
domain.

GLIN CASTLE, in the co. of Limerick,
and province of Munster, about twelve miles

from Askeaton
;

the seat of the Knight of

Glyn.
This estate has always been held by the

Knights of Glyn, since the reign of Henry
II., with only one short intermission, when,
in the tenth of Elizabeth, it became forfeited

by the rebellion of Gerald, the sixteenth Earl

Desmond, but was restored to the family in

the twentieth year of the same reign. For
some time, Desmond carried on the war against
the English with equal vigour and success,

till, at length, it became imperative upon his

opponents to crush him, if tliey did not wish

themselves to be destroyed. Then, all at

once, his star began to dechne; his castles

were taken one after another, and the garinsons
that had defended them were all put to the

sword, or hanged without mercy. He became
a fugitive with a small band of foUowers

;

but it wasnotlongbefore they were surprised,
and ahnost totally cut off". The h)rd of

so many princely estates was now a dreary
sojourner in woods, or amongst rocks and

marshes, driven to support himself and his few

remainingfollowersby stealing cattle.
" In a

late expedition of this nature," saysthelrish

historian,
"
they had taken the cattle of a

poor woman, named Moriarty, her only pro-

perty, and she and her brother had followed
the course of the pkmderers. Being joined
on the way by others, and having appointed
a man named Kelly to be their captain, they
came, at length, to a winding footway, which
led them down into the deep and wooded

valley of Glenskilty. The ghmmering light
of a fire at a little distance attracted their

notice, and approaching it cautiously, they
perceived through the windows of an old

half-ruined house, five or six persons sitting

by a wood fire. Suspecting strongly that

they were the party who had committed the

phmder, they retired for a nioment to consult

as to the mannerin which they shouldproceed.
On their return, however, they found that all

had departed except one man, of venerable

appearance, who lay outstretched before the

fire. Kelly then struck at this old man with
his sword, and ahnost cut off" one of his anns

;

on which he cried out,
'

Spareme ;
I am the

Earl of Desmond.' But the appeal came too

late
;
and Kelly, fearing lest the EarFs fol-

lowers should haste to rescue him, bade him

prepare himself for death, and immediately
smote off" his head.

' '

It would seem from what follows in this

account, that the body was kept for sonie

weeks concealed, and then buried in the sniall

chapel of Killamanagh, not far from Castle

Island. The head, however, was transmitted

by the Earl of Ormonde to Queen Ehzabeth,
who caused it to be fixed on London Bridge.
*'C'est ainsi," says the Abbe Geoghegan,
" cette ilhistre maison des Fitz-Geralds en

Desmond, ces Maccabees de nos peres,

apres avoir soutenu si glorieusement la cause

Cathohque jusqu'a reffusion de leursang etla

perte de lem's biens."

The son of this unfortunate nobleman was

brought up in the Protestant faith, at the

court of Elizabeth, who, hoping to win over

by his influence the adherents of his father,
restored to him the confiscated estates, and

despatched him into Ireland. But with the

change of the family-religion had also changed
the attaehment of the family followers, and
he soon returned to London.

Glhi Castle, as it now appears, was erected

about the year 1588, after the restoration of
the property, the building having been com-

menced, though it was not completed, by
Edmund Fitz-Gibbon, Knight of Glin. It

stands upon the Shannon, which is here two
miles and a half across, surrounded by a

highly-wooded demesne. Beliind the Castle

rises a hill, 269 feet above the level of the

sea, and covered with trees to the very sum
mit. The grounds are agreeably diversified

by continuous undulations, considerable pains

liaving been taken to improve the natural

advantages of the locality.
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ELKINGTON HALL, near Loutli, Lincoln-

shire, tlie seat of tlie Rev. William Smytlie.
Tlie liunily of" Sniythe was seated from the

latter end of the thirteenth century, at Ac-

thorpe, in this parish. That mansion, how-

ever, is supposed to have been puUed down

upon their removal to Annables, in the parish
of Harpenden, Hertfordshire, which took

pLace in the sixteenth centvu-y.

Elkington Hall was built in the year 1841.

It belongs to the Italian style of architecture.

LOPPINGTON HOUSE, Shropshire, twelve

miles from the town of Shrewsbury ;
the

seat of Thomas Dickin, Esq., a Justice of the

Peace and Deputy-Lieutenant for that county ;

and formerly Major in the Shropshire Militia.

This estate has been handed down iminter-

ruptedly from father to son for many genera-
tions. The mansion, however, is of modern

date, having been erected by the present
owner of the property, no further back than

the year 1820. It is a handsome buikling, of

good size, in what is generally called, though
not altogether correctly, the Grecian style of

architecture. The front is ornamented with

a portico. Within is a fine coUection of pic-
tures by some of the mostapproved masters.

The park that surrounds the house is ex-

tensive and well timber ed, the trees being of

various kinds and ages. The gardens and

pleasure-grounds are laid out with much taste,

considerable ingenuity having been shown in

taking advantage of the better points of the

locality. The river Rhoden meanders beauti-

fully through the grounds, and is a source of

great amusement in fishing, boating, &c.

The present Mr. Dickin, of Loppington, is

eldest son of the late Thomas Dickin, Esq.,
of Wem, High SheriiFof Shropshire in 1799,

by Sarah, his wife, sister and co-heir of Ed-
ward Acherley, Esq., of the Cross.—(See
Landed Gentry.)

ULVERSCROET ABBEY, Leicestershire, five

miles from Loughborough, and about seven

miles north-west from Leicester
;
the seat of

Thomas Pares, Esq.
In old deeds, the name of this place is

variously written, Osolvescroft, Olvescrofte,
and Alwayscrofte. It was " a small priory for

eremites of the order of St. Augustine, founded

by Robert Bassu, before the time of Henry
II." At the dissohition of monasteries, it was
of course suppressed, but was especially re-

foundedby King Henry VIII., in consequence
of a strong recommendation from Mr. GifFord

to the Lord Cromwell. It may be worth

while to quote it at some length, as very suf-

ficiently proving that all the conventual

establishments were not the receptacles for

mere drones that they are vulgarly believed

to have been, and that if much good was

eventually produced by that arbitrary mea-

svu-e, it was not witlvout some portion of evil

botlv at the time and afterwards :
—

"The svvre knowledge I have Ivad always in

yovu- indifference" (impartiality)
"
giveth me

boldness to write to yovv in the favovvr of the

house of Woulslorjj" (Ulverscroft),
" the

governor whereof is a very good husband for

the house, and well-beloved of all the inhabi-

tants thereunto adjoining, arighthonest nvan,

Ivaving eight rehgious persons, being priests,
of right good conversation, and Hving reli-

giously, having sincere quahties of virtue as we
have not found the Uke in no other place ;

for

there is no one reUgious person there, but that

he can and doth use either embrothering or

writing books witlv very fivir hand, making
their own garments, carving, painting, or

grafFying ;
the hovvse without any slander of

ill-fanve, and standing in a waste grovvnd very
solitary, keeping such hospitaUty that, ex-

cept by singular good provision, it could not

be maintained with half so much land nvore as

they nvay spend ;
svvch a nvnnber of poor

inhabitants nigh tlvereunto daily reUeved, tlvat

we have not seen the like, having no more
landthan tlvey have. God be evenmy judge
as I do write unto you the truth, and none
otherwise to nvy knowledge, whiclv very pity
alone causeth nve to write. The premisses
whereof considered, in most hunvble wise I

beseech you to be a mean vmto the King's

Majesty for the standing of tlve said Wouls-

torp, whereby his grace shaU do a vnyche

gracious and a meritorious act for the relief of

his poor subjects there
;
and ye shall be sure

not only to Ivave the continual prayers ofthose

reUgious persons there, but also the hearty

prayer of all the inhabitants within fovvr or

fiye miles about that house. And this for

lack of wytte, I am bold to write unto you in

the pleynes" (plainness)
" of vny heart, as

unto hinv that of all Uving creatures I have

mostassured andfaithfultrustin
;
so knoweth

our Lord God, who have you in Ivis most

merciful tuition. Frovn Geradon, the xix day
of Jvvne, Yovvr bounden bedeman at command-
nvent.—^George Gifford."

Ulverscroft Priory, or, as it is now called,

Abbey, is situated in a deep valley which Ues

north and south, nearly through the nviddle

of the lordship. On aU sides, except to the

sovvth, it is surrounded by high eminences in

the forest
;
but to the south, the prospect is

open and extensive, commanding the town of

Leicester, and a considerable expanse ofcoun-

try arovvnd and beyond tliat city.

The site is a very picturesque and seques-
tered one, and must have been yet more so

at tlve time when the adjoining IviUs were

ahnost entirely covered witlv trees, as we
know to have been the case. Nor is it at all

unheahhy, altlvouglv the spot is low and not

far from some nvarshy grounds. In the various
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changes of occupants of tlie house durmg the

last century, many individuals have lived

there to a very advanced age.
A rather large, and at thnes rapid, brook,

which has its rise higher up, flows through
the valley, and at a little distance helow the

Abbey, or Priory. It produces trout, craw-

fish, &c., in some abundance, and of a good
quality. Tliis, with another stream that skirts

the Priory still nearer, but in a difterent direc-

tion, served amply to supply the moat and

fish-ponds by which it was surrounded, and of

which the site may even now be traced

without difficulty.
The locality of Charnwood Forest is well-

described by Drayton, with reference towhat
it once was :

—
" O Charnwood, be thou caird the choicest of thy kind ;

The like in any place what ford hatli hope to fiud 2

I\o tract in all this isle, the pi'oudest let her be,
Can show a sylvan n\mph in beauty like to thee.

The Satyrs and the Fauns, by Dian sent to keep
Roujfh hills and forest holts, were sadly seen to ^veep,
Whea thy high-palmed harts, the sport of boors and

hounds,
By gripple borderers' hands 'werebanished thy bounds."

GAniLOCH, Ross-shire, near the town of

Dingwall; the seat of Sir Kenneth S. Mac-

kenzie, Bart.

These lands were at one time possessed by
the Macleods, till in 1494, they were granted

by the King to Hector Roy, son of the

seventh baron of Kintail. It happened thus :

his nephew being a minor, he became his

guardian, in which capacity he commanded
all the Highlanders of that part of the

covmtry in the feuds that were perpetually

going on with clans hostile to the King or with

the Englisli. For these good services it wasthat

James requited him with the barony of Gair-

loch, at the expense of the jVIacleods, with

whom Hector was at feud for their having
killed two young Macbeths, the children of

his sister. After some years, he managed to

extirpate the offending clan, and the property
thus gained has ever since remained with his

descendants. He also led the Highlanders at

the battle of Flodden Field, so disastrous to

Scotland
;
but more fortunate than the King,

and so many other gaUant chieftains, he

escaped witli life, and fortified the Red Castle

for the royal behoof. The situation of this

stronghold is generally supposed to be in

Ross-shire, although ithas never been precisely
ascertained.

The ori^inal house at Gairloch was built

of wicker-work, in 1738, and was surrounded

by a moat, wlience it obtained the name
of Tigh-Dig, pronounced Ty-Jeeg, or the

"House of the Moat,"— Tigh signifying a

"house," in Gaelic, and Dig, a"moat." In

later times, a sort of castellated building was

erected, which was called the Tiir, or Tower.

When Sir Alexander Mackenzie puUed this

down and raised the present edifice, in order

to entitle it to the old name of Tigh-Dig, he

dug a moat in front of it; and aUhough the

moat is now filled up, the house still retains its

ancient appellation among the natives of the

country. Somehow or anotlier, the Angli-
cised portion of tlie community have shown
themselves less mindful of old associations,
and have got into the way of calhng it

Flower-Dale, a name more euphonious, per-

haps, but hardly so much in character.

The situation of Gairloch is in a deep, m
romantic glen, that opens to the western sea.

"

Aroimd it are high mountains, finely clothed

with natural and planted woods, some of the

trees being of high antiquity.
Sir Kenneth Mackenzie is also the possessor of

CONAN, CONON, or CONNON, in the same \
co. of Ross, about two miles and a half from

Dingwall. -

This house stands on the banks of the river 1

Conan, a large and beautiful stream, which
runs into the Frith of Cromarty, a mile and a

half above Dingwall. The neighbouring lands

are finely wooded and well-cultivated, in

which resjiect they equal any part of Scotland ;

for though the average heat of summer is

lower in Ross-shire than in many other coim-

ties, yet the winters there are very moderate.

It isno uncommon circumstance to see goosc-

berry-bushes in full bloom at Christmas, and
trees are found to flourish very near the sea.

DINGLEY PARK, Northamptonshire ;
about

two miles and a half from Market Harborough,
the seat ofHenryHungerford Holdich Hunger-
ford, Esq., a Deputy-Lieutenant for Leicester-

shire and High Sherifl" for the county of

Northampton inl828.
In the reign of King Stephen there was a

Preceptory here, with lands attached to it,

belonging to the Knights of St. John of Jeru-

salem. Another part of the manor of Dingley
was possessed by Hugh de Dingley, who
derived his name from the place. He was
the founder and patron of the church, under
the north wall of which, when it was repaired
in 1790, some bones were found that were

generally supposed to have been his. From the

descendants of this Sir Hugh the estate in

time passed to John Bray, and soon afterwards

devolved by marriage to the Norwich family,
seated at Brampton. By them it was given in

1588 to Edward Grifiin, Esq. (second son of

Sir Nicholas Griffin of Braybrooke), who

purchased other lands at Dingley of the

Watsons of Rockingham.
At the dissolution of monasteries by Henry

VIII., the Preceptory, with the lands attached

to it, was granled to Edward Hastings for

one-and-twenty years, at the end of which
time it was sold to the before-mentioned
Edward Griffin, solicitor-general to Henry
VIII., and attoi-ney-general to Edward VI.
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Queen Mary and Queen Elizabetli. From
his descendants tlie estate came into tlie

hands of Thomas Peach, Esq., who dying in

1770, bcqueathed the property to his son-in-

law, J. Hungerford, Esq.
This mansion is in part formed of the old

preceptory, in part of very ancient alterations,

and in part of comparatively recent improve-
ments. Tt must be described and studied

piecemeal.
The porch was built by Edward Griffin,

the sohcitor and attorney-general ah-eady
mentioned. He also pulled down a part of

the old preceptory, leaving the chapel, the

ancient tower, and the wing, which are yet

standing. As he died in the year 1569, the

date of these improvements may be inferred

with tolerable accuracy.
There vvas another wing at the west end of

the great hall, leading into Tutton Lane. It

contained a good suite of bed-rooms, kitchen,

larder, and every other convenience ;
but it

was taken down in 1781, or 1782, by John
Peach Hungerford, Esq.
The porch was erected in the reign of

Philip and Mary, and has upon it the date,

1558, with the initials E.G. andA.G. Itwas,

however, in all probabihty, not finished until

the reign of Queen Ehzabeth, if we mayjudge
by the Elizabethan honeysuckles which orna-

ment each side of the sun-dial.

The date upon the porter's ward is 1560.

It was erected by Edwai-d Griffin, the attoi--

ney-general.
The rectorial house, fi-om the date of the

terrier, was built in 1634; and it may be in-

ferred that some part of the old hall was at

that period being taken down, as the doors,

beams, floors, and windows of the parsonage-
house, have, according to all tradition, been

formed out of the fragments.
The finishing and fitting up of the great

hall, from the resemblance it bears to the west

front, both externally and internally, must,
it is concluded, have taken place at tlie same
time. Tradition, moreover, assigns the erec-

tion of all the new part of the house to Sir

Edward Griffin, the fourth in descent from

Edward Gi-iffin, the attorney-general, of

whom we have so often had occasion to make
mention. He married the Lady Essex

Howard. The cipher of the hidy's name,
with that of E. G., carved over the present

hbrary door
;
the death of his father, Sir E.

Griffin, in 1681
;
and the still surviving tra-

dition, that the workmen were dismissed upon
the abdication of James II., in 1638-9, fix

the date of the building between the years
1681 and 1689. The south part of the house,
which was thus left in an unfinished state,

was completed by J. Hungerford, Esq., the

son-in-law of Thomas Peach, Esq., who died

in 1770, bequeathing to him the estate of

Dingley HaU.

The bay-window in the drawinai-room was

built, and the room fitted up, by Mr. Hunger-
ford. He also made a passage, now enlarged
and called the corridor, contiguous to the

dining-room, which Last formerly opened into

a garden, once the chapel-yard, but now the

kitclien-yard.
The antique bed-i-oom, ante-room, and

dining-room, were fitted up, by the Griffins,

with oak wainscot and tapestry. In that

state they still remain.

The gardens and walks, formerly to the

north and east of the house, now also extend

towards the south and south-west.

GOLA HOTJSE, in the co. of Monaghan ;
the

seat of the Rev. Wm. Henry Edward Wood
Wright.

Since the time of Captain James Wright,
who was an officer in Cromwell's army, this

seat has continued in the occupation of his

lineal descendants up to the present day.
He it was who erected the old mansion in the

year 1640
;
but this was rebuilt by his great-

grandson in 1742, on returning from his

travels. The stonework of this mansion has

been much admired
;

it is massive, elaborate,
and exceedingly well carved, and indeed the

whole edifice is considered, in Ireland, to be

unique. Many have imagined that the

original idea was taken from some old French
chateau.

The room on the top of the house is a hand-
some and spacious apartment, upwards of

forty feet long ;
and the entrance to each

of the gardens is through an ancient archway
thickly clothed with ivy.

Gola House stands in a domain of two

hundred and twenty statute acres, of which

about thirty are planted with oak, ash, and fir.

The principal approach is by a straight
avenue of oak and elm. The gardens, which

extend on each side of the house, are laid out

in the Dutch style, and abound in yews and

evergreens.
James Wood, Esq., the father of the present

owner, assumed the name and armsof Wright,
upon his marriage with Elizabeth Isabella

Wright, who succeeded her father in the estate,

in default of heirs male.

OSSINGTON HALL, in the co. of Notting-
ham

;
the seat of John Evelyn Denison, Esq.,

]\I.P.
;
ten miles north of Newark, and two

miles from the Carlton station on the Great

Northern Railway, belonged for many gene-
rations to the family of Cartwright. In the

middle of the last century, it devolved upon
three joint heiresses, and was purchased by
Mr. William Denison, a wealthy merchant of

Leeds. The old mansion figured in Thoroton's

History, and, partly destroyed in the Civil

Wars, was replaced by the present building,
erected in the early part of the last century.
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The lioiise is large and commodious, Avithout

any pretensions to architectural ornament. It

has been altered and much improved hy its

presentpossessor. It contains some fine rooms,

painted by German artists brought over from

Munich, in 1840, and was the first house

decorated in this style in England. It con-

tains, also, some fine pictures of the Italian and

Spanish schools.

The pleasure-grounds are remai-kahle for

many rare andheautiful slirubs. l'he church

was rebuilt by Mr. Robert Denison. The old

monuments of the Cartwright family were re-

stored in tlie new building ;
and at the west end

of the church, stand two fine marble statues

by Nolekins, of Mr. William and Mr. Robert

Denison, pLaced there by Mr. John Denison,
the father of the present possessor.

EAMSDEN CEAYS, Essex, the seat of

Thonias Matthias Bearda Batard, Esq., was
known originally by the name of " Three

Ashes;" three of those trees of very anti-

quated appearance, and in the shape of a

triangle, are still to be seen in heaUh and

vigour, grovving in the grounds. 'Ihe present
residence v/as formerly a very old cottage,
used by Mr. Batard as a shooting-box, but

within the last few years it has been much

enlarged, and rendered suitable for a family
mansion. It stands in a beautiful part of

the estate, which comprises,inchuling the park,
about seven hundred acres of highly cultivated

and productive land. The frontage to the

south, on which side are the principal rooms—is of considerable extent, and commands
fine views across the Thames, into Kent.

The woods and plantations are particularly

remarkable, and from the care bestowed on

them by the present proprietor, have become

very valuable.

Tlie locaUty in which Ramsden Crays is

situated, is one of the most salubrious and

picturesque parts of the county of Essex.

SANDFORD HALL, in the co. of Salop,
about a mile and a half from Prees, and five

miles and a half from VVem, a town celebrated

in the Great Civil War for its devotion to the

cause of Parliament, and for the gaUantry of

its women in assisting tlie mcn to defend their

homes against the Royalists under Lord Capel.
This seat is the property of Thomas Hugh
Sandford, Esq.
The manor of Sandford and other lands in

Shropshire were granted to Thomas Sand-

ford by King William I., immediately after

the Norman Conquest. They were hekl by
him and his posterity by military tenure, the

nature of which was to siipply one armed
horseman for the defence of Montgomery
Bridge against the Welsh. The present pro-

prietor succeeded to the estates in an imbroken
line of twenty-five descents from the Thomas

Sandford mentioned above, whose name is to

be found in the Battle Roll. FuUer, in his

WortJiies of England, in a note upon Nicholas

Sandford, who was Sheriff" of Shropshire
during the troublesome reign of Richard II.,

observes—" This ancient name is still extant,
at the same place in this county, in a worship-
ful equipage. Well fare a dear token thereof :

for in the hst of such as compounded for their

reputed dehnquency in our Late Civil Wars, I

find Francis Sandford, of Sandford, Esq.,

paying four hundred and fifty-nine pounds for

his composition. Yet I believe the gentleman
begrudged not his money in preservation of
his own integrity, acting according to the in-

formation of liis conscience, and the practice of
all his ancestors. I understand that the said

Francis Sandford was very weil skilled in mak-

ing warlike fortifications."

The manor of Sandford comprises about
fourteen hvmdred acres, at the westei-n ex-

tremity of which is situated the village of

Sandford, composed of several farm-houses,

cottages, &c.; and upon a gentle, but well-

wooded elevation, stands the Hall, looking
down on a small mere, or lake. It is men-
tioncd in his Itinerarn, by Leland, who says," Mr. Sandford liath a place and a fair poole
by yt in a wood side, a mile and a half from

Pryce," or, as we now write it, Prees. And
again, he tells us,

" Sandford dwelleth at Sand-

forde, wher is onely his place and a parke,
three miles be south from Whitechurch."
The present mansion was built, sometime

in the reign of Queen Anne, by Thomas
Sandford, who, in 1752, Avas High Sherift' for

Shropshire. It stands upon the site of an old

half-timbered building, whicli was puUed
down to make way for it, and is of tlie style
of architecture that prevailed in the time of

that sovereign.

WAETHILL, Aberdeenshire, in the parish of

Rayne ;
the seat of William Leslie, Esq., a

magistrate and deputy-lieutenant of the county.
This gentleman is tlie tenth Laird of Warthill

in lineal succession, and the twenty-second
lineal male descendant of the original founder
ofthe ancient family of Leslie,

This estate hasbeen heklby the Lesliessince

the year 1518. Prior to that time it was pos-
sessed by the Cruikshanks, the only daughter
and heiress of whicli family conveyed Warthill

by marriage to William, second son of Leslie

of Wardes, afterwards Baronets of Wardes and
Findrassie.

The mansion-house of Warthillwas erected

in the beginning of the century by the present
venerable proprietor, now in his eighty-fourth

year, and has, fromtime totime, receivedcon-

siderable additions. It is a handsome edifice

in tlie okl Scotch castellated style, pleasantly
situated in the ricli and fertile valley of the

Garioch, surrounded by thriving woods and
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undulatlng grounds. Some fine old trees

still remain near the house, though the

greater part of what once stood here have
been cut down by former generations.

OMBERSLEy COURT, Wovcestershire, about
four miles and a half from Droitwich; the seat

of Lord Sandys.
This place in former times was variously

written Amhresloy, Amhresley, and Omhresley.

Bishop Kennet in his " Parochial Antiqiiities,
"

derives Ambresloy from Aurelius Ambrosius
;

he says," The poor remaining Britons struggled
for their liberty, and the best defender of it

was the person who most likely gave name to

the parish of Ambrosden, Aurelius Ambrosius,
whom Gildas makes of Roman extraction, and
to have survived his royal murdered parents.
Some of our other historians report him the

son of Constantine, King of Britain, by a

Roman lady, born about 435, and educated

by Guitheline, Archbishop of London,
'

who,
bein forc't to retire to Armorica, was thence

recalled by the oppressed Britons, and de-

feating the Saxons under the conduct of

Hengist at Wipped-fleet in Kent, he march't
to York, thence to Winchester, Salisbury, &c.,
to encourage and recruit the Britons. Now
in this circuit of travels, it is probable he

encampt nigh those places which the Romans
had garison'd and made populous, so as Al-

chester being lately deserted by the Romans,
and posses"t as a tenable fort by the Britons,
Ambrosius may be well suppos'd to have
visited this place, and to have encampt his

marching army on the rising plain, where
Ambrosden now stands ;' andby this encamp-
ment, or some other action, might leave his

name to it
;
the termination being British and

Roman, Amhrosdim and Ambrosdanum, Dun
being the British final syllable to those places
which were situate on a hill, or an ascent

;
and

the Romans, letting their proper names be

adapted to the British, made those names end
in Dunum, which Dun the English converted
into Don, as Meldon, Ambrosdon, &c."

Ombersley continued with the Abbey
of Evesham till the dissolution of monaste-

ries, when Henry VIIL took it into his own
hands. After some years it was leased by the

Crown to Sir John Bourn, of Holt, knight,
sometime secretary to Queen Mar^r, from

whose heir it passed to John Talbot, of

Salwarp. Then Sir Samuel Sandys, knight,
eldestson ofArchbishop Sandys, purchased the

lease, and got a grant from the Crown in fee.

With this family it has ever since remained.

Ombersley House was built by the Sir

Samuel just mentioned. It stands near the

church, in the midst of extensive but very
flat grounds, except towards the river, wliere

they are picturesque and well wooded. AI-

though built so long since, it has a modern

air, not a little improved by the new stone

coating it has received. It consists of a centre

and two wings.
In this house are preserved portraits of

several members of the Sandys fiimily, some
of whom were distinguished in their day, and
have left names that are not yet forgotten.
Not theleast among them is George Sandys,
brother to the first peer of that name, and who
is still remembered for his travels to the Holy
Land, and for his translation of Ovid's Meta-

morphoses, as well as for some original poems.
The Metamorphoses have been highly praised

by Dryden, and we are told by old Antony-a-
Wood, that his "

Paraphrase on David's

Psalms was one of the books King Charles I.

delighted to read in Avhile he was a prisoner
in Carisbroke Castle in the Isle of Wight."
Certainly the author of the following lines,

addressed to Queen Henrietta, was no mean

poet, though it is likely enough that his attach-

ment to royalty was a recommendation ofhis

muse to the King's favour :
—

" The Muses by your favour blest,
Faire queene, invite you to their feast.

The Graces will rcjoyce, and sue,
Since so excell'd to wait on you.
Ambrosia tast, which frees from death,
And nectar, fragi-ant as your breath,

By Hebe fill'd, who states* the prime
Of youth, and brailest the wings of time.

Here in Adonis' gardens gi-ow
What neither age nor winter know
The boy, with whom love seemed to die,

Bleeds in this pale anemony.
Sclfe-lov'd Narcissus in the myiTor
Of your fair eyes now sees his error ;

And from the flattering fountain turnes.

The hyacinth no longer mournes.
Tliis heliotrope, which did pursue
Th' adored sim, convcrtst to you.
These statues touch, and they agen
Will from cold marble change to men.
Chast Daphne bends her virgin boughs,
And twines to embrace your sacred browes.
Thcir tops the Paphian myrtles move,
Saluting you their Queene of love.

Myrrho, who weeps for her offence,
Presents her teares ;

her frankinsence,
Leucothoe

;
the HeUades

Their amber
; yet you need not these.

They iill retain their sence, and throng
To heare the Thracian poefs song.
IIow would they, should you sing, admire !

Neglect his skill, as he his Ijtc ;

Contending nightingales, strucke mute,
Drop downe, and dy upon your lute.

The Phccnix from the glowing east

With sweetes here builds her tombe and nest ;

Another Phccnix seene, shee dyes,
Burnt into ashes by your eyes :

This swan, which in Peneus swims,
His funerall song converts to hj-mnes.
These azurc-plum'd halcyones,
Whose birth controulcs the raging seas,
To your sweete union yield the praise
Of nuptial loves, of peacefull dayes.

Nymph, take this quiver and this bow
;

Diana sueh in shape and show,

* That is
"
pays homage and ser^Tce to the prime of

youth."
+ To brayle, or braile, is a word borrowed froiu

hawking, and according to the explanation given in

Blome's GentlemeiV s Recre/itiom,
" to brayle the hawk's

wing is to put a piece of leathcr over the pinion of one of

her wings to keep it close."

t That is, turiis towards you ; a meaning of the word

strictly in accordance with its derivation, and by no
means imcommon with our old writers.
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When with her starr-like traine shee crownes
Eurota's bancks, or C)Tithu's downes,
There chace the Calydonian bore ;

Here see Acteeon fly before
His eger hounds. Wild heards will stand
At gaze, nor feare so faire a hand.
There be who our delights despise,
As shaddowes and vaine phantasies ;

Those sons of earth, inthrald to sense
Condenme what is our excellence.
The aire, immortall soules, the skyes,
The angels in their hjTarchies,
Unseene, to all things seene dispense
Breath, life, protection, influence.
Our high conoeptions crave a minde
From earth and ignorance reiin'd ;

Crowne vertue
; fortune 's pride controule,

Raise objects equall to the soule ;

At will create : eternity
Bestow on mortals borne to dy ;

Yet we, who life to others give,
Faire queene, would by your favour live."

SLEDMERE HALL, in the East Riding of

Yorkshire, six miles from Driffield, eleven and
a half from Malton, eighteen from Beverley,
and about the same distance from Scarborough—the seat of Sir Tatton Sykes, Bart.

Sledmere Hall is situated in a Large valley,
that runs through the centre of the Yorkshire

Wolds, a bleak and hilly district, but pic-

turesque, if not magnificent, in its very baiTen-
ness. The house, wliich is a handsome and

spacious edifice, wholly built of stone, stands
out in fine contrast with the more distant

scenery, amidst sheltered avenues of larch and
fir. It was erected by the late Sir Christopher
Sykes, father of the present Baronet, who was
his own architect, and who, judging from
these results, was well able to dispense with

any professional assistance. His taste, how-
ever, evidently inclined to the florid and
ornate.

The most striking and elegant part of the

mansion is the south front, the interior of
which is finished and fitted up in a very supe-
rior style of excellence. The library here
extends in length one hundred feet, with a

proportionable width and height, and may
be considered as one of the handsomest in the

country. Some, indeed, have thought it too

ornate for its purposes,
—of too drawing-room

a character. Be this as it may, the hbrary
contained at one time a noble collection of
books

;
while in the department of virtu, the

baronefs Faithorns and Hollars ahnost defied

competition. Dr. Dibdin, speaking of the

collection as it existed in his day (Sir Mark
Sykes, the third baronet, was then alive), styles
it a hihUomanicpreserve, and, bursting out into

one of his usual fits of rapture, exclaims," Here repose all the Editiones Princeps
"—

[principes, if you please, Doctor]
—"of Sir

Mark, and among them the first Livy upon
Vellum. Here, too, are seen his History
and Topograpliy, and Voyages, and Travels,

mostly upon large paper, in beautiful condi-
tion and appropriate bindings ;

while below

stairs, in Sir Mark's own particular depart-
nient—and by the side of a book-case which

contains some of the very rarestOLD English
PoETRY in oiu- language

—are his beautifiU

HoUars and matchless Faithorns."
But of all this, we must say, as jEneas does

of Troy—"fiiit." In the spring of 1824,
this splendid collection was submitted to

pubhc sale, and the hammer of the auctioneer

dispersed the coempfos nndique nohiles Ubros,
which altogether realized the large sum—large
for a private coUection—of ten thousand

pounds. The Livy upon vellum was sold

for four liundred and
fifty guineas ;

a magni-
ficent landscape, by Salvator Rosa, for two
thousand one hundred guineas, and Noah's

Sacrifice, by Poussin, for three hundred

guineas.
The Park is extensive, and has within it a

churcli dedicated to Mary, in the patronage
of the family of Sykes, This building is

partly old, and partly modern, comprising a
nave and chancel, with a tower at the west
end. The latter is of moderate height, and
finished with a plain parapet. The rest of

the church appears to have been erected in

the last century. It is of stone, and has cir-

cular-headed windows. At the junction of

the nave and chancel is a projection, which,
hke the east end, is finished with a pediment.
The interior is plain and very neat, having at

the west end a sniall gallery. There are

many monuments, and some very elegant,
erected to the memory of various relatives of

the present owner.
The gardens attached to this mansion are

well laid out, and amply provided with every

hixury and contrivance demanded by modern
ideas of comfort,

—
hot-houses, green-houses,

pavihons, and the other usual adjimcts.

LLANWERN HOUSE, in the county of

Monmouth
;

the seat of Sir Charles-John

Salusbury, Bart.

This estate belonged in early times to the

ancient family of Le Walleis, afterwards cor-

rupted into "Welsh. They had before this

borne the title of Counts de St. Valery in

Normandy, and held large possessions in divers

counties of England. For some generations

they resided at Llanwern, until the death, in

1629, of Anthony Welsh, whose tomb still

remains. It then passed to the Vanne family,
wlio had long resided at Coldra House. near

Christchurch, one of that name having mar-

ried the sole daughter and heiress of Sir Simon
Le Welsh, a younger branch of the house

seated at Llanwern. Charles Vanne, Esq.,

dying in 1778, this estate fell by will to his

eklest daughter, Catherine, who conveyed it

by marriage to Sir Robert Sahisbury, the

father of the baronet now possessing it.

The old mansion of Llanwern was erected

about the year 1214, by Sir John Le Walleis.

This, however, was puUed down and rebuilt
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by Charles Vanne, Esq., the father of Lady
Sahisbury, It belongs to that style of archi-

tecture which characterized the age in which
it was built, the reign namely of George II.

The site of the house is on a gentle eminence,

overlooking on one side a low district, some-

times called the'3/oors, and sometimes known as

Caldecot Level, a tract of land which was once

entirely overflowed by the sea, but which has

since been drained, and brought into a state of

high cultivation. On the other side, the man-
sion embraces an extensive view over the

Bristol Channel and the opposite coasts of

Somersetshire and Devonshire. The grounds
attached to it are exceedingly beautiful, many
kinds of trees seeming to flourish with un-

usual vigour in the neighbovuhood of the sea.

At no great distance is a natural curiosity
worth observing, called GoldclifF, a penin-
sulated rocky hill, about three quarters of a

mile in circumference, rising abruptly on one

side from the sliore, and on the other gradually

terminating in the plain ;
the part towards the

sea is a perpendicular cliff of limestone, about

sixty feet in height. No other hill rises in the

level between Caldecot and Newport, and it

forms the only natural bamer to the depre-
dations of the sea in an extent of sixteen miles.

Giraldus Cambrensis derives its name from

the gold colour which the stones reflect from

the rays of the sun. Strange says,
—" It con-

sists of many strata of limestone, disposed

nearly in a horizontal direction, and parallel
to each other

; immediately under which is

seen a bed of a hard reddish brown grit or

sandstone, full of yellow inica, and which
forms in appearance the base of the cliff". A
considerable part of this bed continues from

under the limestone rock, along the shore,

and the reflection of the rays of the sun from

its glittering micaceous surface produces the

effect mentioned by Giraldus, and which the

neighbouring peasants, even at present, con-

sider as probable signs of a gold mine. From
hence the name given to this remarkable

headland seems to derive its oi-igin in the

same manner as, I imagine, the Mont d'Or,
or Golden Mountain, near Lyons, in France,
and another of the same name a few leagues
from Clermont, in the province of Auvergne,
have been named froni the ghttering mica

observable in an ordinary sort of granite of

which these mountains are formed."

HARDEN, in the co. of Roxburgh, the seat of

Henry-Francis Hepburne-Scott, Lord Pol-

warth, Lord-Lieutenantand Sheriff-principal of

Selkirkshire. By failure of the male heirs of Sir

Robert Scott of Murthockstone,—from whom
derives the noble house of Buccleuch—the

chieftainship of all the Scotts in Scotland

devolves to Lord Polwarth, both families

being descended from sons of Sir Michael

Scott, who was killed in 1346.

Harden Castle stands upon the very brink

of a dark and precipitous dell, through which
steals a scanty rivulet to meet the Borthwick,
which nearly opposite Goldieland's Tower

joins the Teviot. Externally, it is a long-

shaped, plain-looking structure, but highly

interesting as a specimen of an ancient Border-

fortress. Within, it has some points that are

not less worthy of notice. The carved stucco-

work upon the ceiling of the old hall par-

ticularly deserves attention. The lobby is

paved with marble, and the mantel-piece of

one of the rooms is surmounted with an earUs

coronet, and the letters W. E. T. wreathed

together ; they are intended to designate
"
Walter, Earl of Tarras," a title borne

for life by Walter Scott of Harden, the

direct ancestor of Lord Polwarth. The
Scotts of Harden descend from a younger
son of Scott of Synton, and have produced

many remarkable characters
;
but by far the

most interesting to the lovers of romance
is the Walter Scott of Harden, who flourished

during the reign of Queen Mary, and who
is thesubject of many a Border tradition both

in prose and verse. He was a freebooter of

high renown, "a strong thief," and used to

ride out upon his forays with a numerous
band of foUowers, as fearless and as fond of

rapine as himself—

" The good old nile

Sufficeth them the simiile plan,
That they should take who have the power,
And they should keep who can."

Into the deep and almost impervious glen

already mentioned, and at the head of which

stood the Castle, the freebooter used to drive

his- cattle. Hence they were brought out, one

by one, as they were wanted to supply his

table
;
an economical, and for the time, luxuri-

ous, mode of housekeeping. When the last

bullock had been killed and devoured, it was

the custom of his lady to put on the table a

dish, which on being uncovered, was found to

contain a pair of clean spurs, a hint to the

riders that they must shift for their next meal.
"
Upon one occasion when the village herd

was driving out the cattle to pasture, the old

laird heard him call loudly to drive out Har-

dens cotv.— ' Harden's cow!' echoed the

affronted chief
;

'
is it come to that pass? by

myfaith, they shall soon say,
' Ha.rden's ktje,'

(cows.) Accordingly he sounded his bugle,

mounted his horse, set out with his foUowers,

and returned next day with a how of kye, and

a bassened (brindled) bull. On his return

with this gallant prey, he passed a very large

haystack. It occurred to the provident laird

that this would be extremely convenient to

fodder his new stock of cattle
;
but as no means

of transporting it were obvious, he was fain to

take leave of it with this apostrophe, now
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proverbial :

'

By my soul, liad ye but four feet

ye should not stand long there.' In short,

as Froissart says of a similar class of feudal

robbers, nothing came amiss to them that was
not too heavy, or too hot." The same mode
of housekeeping characterized most Border

families on both sides. A MS., quoted in

Burn's History of Cumberland, p. 466, con-

cerning the Graemes of Netherby and others

of that class, says,
"
they were all stark moss-

troopers and aiTant thieves
;
both to England

and Scotland outlawed
; yet sometimes con-

nived at, because they gave intelligence forth

of Scotland, and would raise 400 horse at any
time upon a raid of the English into Scotland.

A saying is recorded of a mother to her son—
which is now become proverbial

— '

Ride,

Roivley ; houyh's i' th' pot ;' that is, the last

piece of beef was in the pot, and therefore it

was high time for him to go and fetch more."
In one of these forays, according to a tra-

dition still extant, Wat of Harden carried ofF

an infant, who afterwards became the autlioress

of some of the most popular of the Scottisli

songs. The following lines, in allusion to this

story, occur in Leyden's Scenes of Infancy :
—

" WTiere Boi-tha hoarse, that loads the meads with sand
Rolls her red tide to Teviofs western strand,
Through shity hills •svhose sides are 8hagg'd with thorn,
Where springs in scattered tufts the dark-green corn,
Tow'rs wood-girt Harden far above the vale,
And clouds of ravens o'er the turrets sail.

A hardy race, who never shrunk froni war,
The Scoti, to rival realms a mighty bar,
Here fixed his mountain-home ;

—a 'wide domain,
And rich the soil, had purple heaths bcen grain ;

But what the niggard ground of wealth denied,
From lields more bless'd his fearless arm supplied.

The waning harvest-moon shone cold and bright ;

The warder' s horn was heard at dead of night ;

And as the massy portals wide were flung,
With stamping hoofs the rocky pavement rung.
What fair, half-veiled, leans from her latticed hall,
Where red the wavering gleams of torchlight fall ?

'Tis Yarrow's fairest Flower, who through the gloom
Looks, wistful, for her Iover's dancing plimie.
Amid the piles of spoil that strewed the ground,
Her ear, all anxious, caught a wailing sound ;

With trembling haste the youthful matron flew,
And from the hurried heaps an infant drew.

Scared at thc light his little hands he flung
Around her neck, aud to her bosom clung ;

While beauteous Mary soothed in accents mild
His fluttering soul, and claspcd her foster-child.
Of mikler mood the gentle captive grew,
Nor loved the scenes that scared his infant view ;

In vales remote, from camps and castles far,
Ile shunned the fearful shuddering joy of war ;

Content the loves of simple swains to sing,
Or w ake to fame the harp's heroic string,

His are the strains whose wandering echoes thrill

The shepherd lingering on the twilight hill,
WTien evening brings the merry folding hours,
And sun-eyed daisies close their winking flow'rs.
He lived o'er Yarrow's Flowcr to shed the tear,
To strew the holly leaves o'er Hardcn's bier :

But none was found above the minstrePs tomb,
Emblem of peace, to bid the daisy bloom

;

He, namcless as the race from which he sprung,
Saved other names, and left his own unsung."

This fortunate freebooter had the good kick

to die in his bed, a thing hardly to have been

expected, and which was a manifest cheating
of the woodie. But in every accident of life

the same success seems to have attended him.

His estate was very extensive, and, to crown

all, he carried off from his rivals and married

Mary Scott, daughter of Philip Scott of Dry-
hope, a lady of such sm-passing beauty that

she was generally called the Flower of Yarrow.
The horn vised by this formidable leader, is

still preserved by his descendant, the present
Scott of Harden, Lord Polwartli.

CLUMBER PARK, in the co. of Notting-
ham, four miles from Worksop, and seven
from Retford

;
the seat of the Duke of New-

castle.

The Clintons are stated by most writers to be
derived from Renebaldus de Villa Tancredi,
Chamberlain to King William I., whom he

accompanied in his Norman invasion of Eng-
land. The son of this nobleman took the

appellation of Clinton, from a place of that

name—butnow called Glympton
—near Wood-

stock, in Oxfordshire. By others, however,
the CHntons are said to be of Anglo-Saxon
origin. Whichever is the case, tliey greatly

distinguished tliemselves in the splendid war-
fare of our Edwards and our Henrys, and

played a no less conspicuous part in the wars
of the Roses, adhering to the party of the

Yorkists through their good and evil hours.

The consequence of tliis was, that in the

reign of Henry VI., during the short-lived

triumph of the Lancasterians, the lands of

John, Baron de Clinton, were seized, and
himself attainted by the Parliament at Coven-

try. With the returning fortune of the York-

ists, the star of this family, as a matter of

course, again became ascendant, till tlie union
of the two Roses in Henry VII., by his

politic marriage, put an end to these dissen-

sions. We then find them shining more peace-

fully in the splendid jousts established by
Henry VIII.

;
and at the funeral obsequies of

that sovereign, Lord Edward Clinton was
one of the twelve peers selected to attend the

progress of the royal corpse to the place of its

intennent at Windsor. When King Edward
VI. came to the throne, he was made
Lord High Admiral of England and Wales,
and was created Knight of the Garter at the

same time with the French King. His

appointment of Lord Higli Admiral continued

through the reign of Queen Elizabeth, who
elevated him to the Earldom of Lincohi.

This mansion, which stands in the neigh-
bourliood of Sherwood, is constructed wholly
of a white stone from quarries upon the

estate, at a short distance from the house
itself. It presents three fronts, and in the

centre of that which faces the lake, there is a

very light and handsome colonnade of the
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lonic order. The four corners of tliis imper-
fect quadrangle are respectively occupied by
the state drawing-room, library, and kitchen,
each measuring forty-eight feet by thirty-
three. The entrance-hall is very lofty, and

supported by cohnnns. The principal stair-

case is oval and of a very pleasing construc-

tion, but not happily placed for eftect on

entrance. It is of stone, with a handsome
iron railing,

"
curiously wrought and gilt in

the shape of crowns, with tassels hanging
down between them from cords twisted in

knots and festoons."

Tlie library is a large, square, lofty room,
well lighted, and containing a noble collection

of English, foreign, and classical literature.

But the pride of this noble mansion is the

state dining-room, a magniticent apartment,

sixty feet long, thirty-four feet broad, and in

heiglit thirty. It is sufRciently large to

accommodate as many as one hundred and

fifty guests at table, besides leaving ample
space for a large recess, in which stands a

side-board. The ceiUng and panels are rich

in stucco and gilding ;
the lustres are of the

finest cut glass ;
while the marble chimney-

piece and steel grate must be seen to be duly

appreciated. This room contains seven pic-

tures, valued together at no less than five-

and-twenty thousand pounds.
To the north-west wing of the mansion is

attached an elegant chapel, wherein are four

large windows, painted by Peckitt, of York.
It is said that each of these cost eight hundred

pounds; a large sum, but fuUy justified by
the excellence of the work. Indeed, expense
seems to have been spared in no part of this

building, which at various times has been con-

siderably altered and improved from what it

once was.

The offices are situated to the left of the

house, and are spacious as well as convenient.

All those wlio have described this noble

mansion are alike enthusiastic in its praises.

Thoroton, in general so dry and meagre, ven-
tures out of his shallows, and launching forth

into a sea of hyperbole, tells us—" The Duke
of Newcastle's dwelling in this place is truly

magnificent, although tlie buikling is neither

lofty nor very extensive. From the new

bridge, which spans the apparent (ly) endless

stream which waters Chmiber, there appears
an harmonious whole of grandeur ;

the proud
chested swans, wliich sail gently in numbers
to and fro in the space between the bridge
and the house, happily corresponding in com-

plexion with everything of art on view, blended
with the various natural tints of foliage which
surround you (if I may be allowed the ex-

pression), paradises the mind."

Britton, less flowery, but more to the pvn*-

pose, says
—"

Proceeding along the Manstield

road, a picturesque scene presents itself cut

through the rocks, amidst overhanging woods,

which addmuch to the wildness of the scenery ;

but the country soon opens into a wide and
half-uncultivated tract, soon after which the

roads divide, the turn to the left leading to

Ollerton, and at a distance of two miles from

Worksop presenting an uncouth path through

heavy sands that leads to the park gate, a

modem erection of handsome stone-work, with

an old lodge. On entering this, a splendid
scene presents itself, and following the

track the visiter finds himself ahiiost in a

desert, amongst woods, rough lawns, rising

grounds, and small hills broken into steep

clifis, crowned with planting, and feathered

even to their bases. Amidst this sylvan scene

some marks of rude cuUivation accompany
him for two miles, when the mansion bursts

at once upon his view
;
but standing rather

low, it does not at first make an impression

equal to the idea with which the mind is filled

from the approach....With respect to the

house itself, so muchhas been said in its praise,
that it is difficult to find novel terms in which
to express its elegance. It has been saidthat

it embraces magnificence and comfort more than

any other nobleman's mansion in England;
that everything reflects the highest credit on
the taste displayed in the accommodations and
ornaments found in this delightful retreat

;

and that, in this princely abode, the writer of

romance (and why not the reader also ?) might
enrich his fancy, and the poet imagine himself

wandering through an enchanted palace."
It must, however, be remembered that this

description was written about forty years ago,
and although it is curious as showing what the

landscapes in the neighbourhood of Clumber
then was, the whole face of the country has

been mateiially improved by cidtivation since

that period.
Clumber contains a valuable and extensive

collection of paintings, some interesting from

their subjects, and others as works of art, the

productions of the old masters. Amongst
them we find the names of Guido, Rubens,
Michael Angelo, Correggio, Rembrandt, Salva-

tor Rosa, Domenichino, Battisti Franco,

Castiglione, Albert Durer, Vandyck, Teniers,

Poussin, Vander Meuden, Van Oorst, and

Snyders. To this splendid catalogue
—

splendid
in every sense of the word—-may be added
some modern artists of high repute, particu-

larly Gainsborough and Sir Joshua Reynolds.
Clumber Park is nearly thirteen miles in cir-

cumference, and abounds in wide plantations,

though it is little mox-e than half-a-century
since it was little more than "ablack heath
full of rabbits, having a narrow river nmning
through it, with a small boggy close or two."
In no place is the triumph of human art and
human industry more apparent.
The name of Clumber belongs to the olden

times. In Domesday Book we read, that in

Clumber were two manors of Roger de Buisli,
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which, before the Conquest, Adelwool and
Ulchil had

; and, according to the Regist. de

Welbec, vii., 60—" The wodds of Clumber
were of the sokage of Meansfield and Wode-

house, and the bound began at Suthones, and
extended itself by the way which is called

Kirkegate, and led to Worksop."

THORESBY PARK, in the co. of Notting-
ham, the seat of Earl Manvers, is less than a

mile from Clumber.
The first of the Pierreponts settled here

was William, second son of Robert Pierre-

pont, who was created, in 1627, Viscount

Newark and Baron Pierrepont of Holme

Pierrepont
—a lordship which came into the

family by a mai-riage with a sister and heir

of Lionel de Manvers, temp. Hemy III. The

year foUowing he was advanced to the dignity
of Earl of Kingston. The grandson of William

became the first Duke of Kingston in 1715,
but with Evelyn, the second duke of the

name, the title became extinct.

The Pierreponts are of French extraction.

Robert, the first of wliom we find any mention,
came over to England at the time of the Nor-
man Conquest, and held lands in Sussex,

In the reign of Edward IV., Henry
Pierrepont became famous for his loyal ser-

vices against the Lancastrians. At the

dissolution of monasteries by Henry VIII.
,

his son and heir, George, purchased several

large estates and manors, and received the

honour of knighthood in the first yeax. of

Edward VI. He died in the first year
of Elizabeth, being at the time possessed of

Hohne Pien-epont, in this county, besides nine

other manors.

His son, Robert, we have akeady mentioned

as having been created Earl of Kingston.
This was in the reign of Charles I., by
whom he was also made Lieutenant-General

of all the King's forces within the counties of

Lincohi, Rutland, Huntingdon, Cambridge,
and Norfolk. The rest of this line were all

more or less distinguished.
The mansion that formerly stood here was

consumed by fire in the year 1745, and with

it perished many valuable and curious manu-

scripts of its first possessor, who had been one

of the leading members of the House of Com-
mons dui-ing the great Civil War. Amongst
these were the original minutes and papers

relating to the treaties with King Charles I.

at Uxbridge and the Isle of Wight. Only
a small part of the furniture, the plate,
and the family deeds, were saved from the

flames.

Not long after this event a new mansion
was built by the Duke of Kingston, in a fine

open situation upon a gentle eminence. A
modern tourist describes it asbeing

" rather a

comfortable house than a magnificent seat.

The entrance is on the basement story into a

hall, adjoining to which are a breakfast-room,
a dining-room, and drawing-room. A pair of

stone stairs leads out of the hall to the next

story ;
at the top of the first flight they divide

into two, and lead into a circular room

lighted by a large skylight in the roof, and

having a gallery which runs round it,

in which are the doors of the bed-

rooms. The sides of this room are of the same

composition as is used in the hall at Lord

Rockingham's, resembling yellow marble
;
on

the side are pillars and pilasters, mostly white,
but some resembling verd antique. The floor

is of the same composition. Out of this room

you go into a large drawing-room, hung with

pictures, prints, and drawings. On the right
is a small library. On the left, a very elegant

drawing-room. The Duchess made some gar-
dens with covered arbours in the German
taste. There are some pieces of water near
the house, on one of which is a large vessel for

sailing. We were told that the park is thirteen

miles round."
The nameless composition here alluded to

is, as we need hardly explain, what is now
called Scagliola marble, and the German gar-
dens since the time of t\\e Duchess have been
much improved. The account, too, given by
the tourist of the house, hardly does justice to

the interior. In addition to what he has said,

we may observe that the octagonal drawing-
room, when viewed from the staircase, has a

very fine effect, being superbly, yet at the

sanie time simply, fitted up, notwithstanding
the elegance of its gilding

—that the floor of

the dining-room is tesselated, with a recess at

the endformed by curiously-twisted cokunns
—

and that the apartments in the garden front

command a view of the very fine waterfall in

the shrubbery.
Britton speaks in raptures of the grounds.

He says
—" The lake near the house, which

is very fine, is laid out so as to represent an
extensive river; and which, being amphi-
theatrically suiTounded with lawns, that hang
as it were towards the house in varied and
verdant slopes, has a fine efFect, enlivened as

it is with several vessels of different sizes."

This mansion contains several portraits and
other valuable paintings, such as the portrait
of Henry, Earl of Pembroke, 1769

;
of Pascal

Paoli, the celebrated Corsican patriot, 1770 ;
of

Colonel Sawyer ;
of Admiral Medows, father

ofthefirst Earl Planvers; of Earl Howe
;
of

Evelyn, Duke of Kingston, &c., &c.
;
besides

a profusion of drawings, that consist of land-

scapes and miniatures, amongst whicli is an

inimitable head of a boy writing. Neither

shouhl we omit to notice the exquisite
Madonna and Infant Jesus, in the dining-

room, or thc handsome bust of Paoli in the

octagonal drawing-room.

CASTLE-MAHTIN; tlie handsome seat of the
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Carter family, adjoinstlie town of KilcuUen, in

the co. Kildare. It is bounded by the Lifley,
wliose western bank it embellishes for a consi-

derable distance. The mansion-liouse is a large
and conniiodious building, originally erected iu

the last century. Within the demesne, in a

roniantic situation on the river, is a mortuary
chapel, considered to have been built in the

commencement of the thirteenth century, by
one of tlie family of Eustace, as a cell de-

pendent on the mother church of Kilcullen,
and a mausoleum and chapel for himself and
his descendants, according to the piety of the

age. In the centre may be traced a tomb,

su])posed to commemorate the fovmder
; who,

before his death, in 1212, granted this little

church in frankahnoigne to the Priory of

(Jhrist Church, Dublin, with seven acres of

land. In the attached burial-ground are frag-
ments of several monuments, amongst which

may be noticed part of the base of an altar

monument, having, in painted niches, the

heads of mutilated figures, wearing the usual

Irish cap ;
here also may be seen the figure

of a knight fidly armed, but headless, about

eighteen inches in height, holding in the right
hand an uplifted sword, and in the left a pair
of scales, each of which is occupied by a di-

minutive figure.
There is extant a record of a disputed

claim to 120 acres here in 1399, which had
been previously seized by Richard II., as

escheated to the crown, but were then claimed

by Nicholas Bailey and Matikla his wife as

belonging to them, and the question was sub-

mitted to a court of law. In 1561, John
Eustace died seized of all the castles, lands,
and tenements in the manor and town of

Castle-Martin, together with a water-mill and

well, and various chiefries issuing out of the

lands of Clongowes-wood, Harristown, &c.,

&c., of all which his son, John Eustace the

younger, was found seized in 1581.

In 1599, in the words of Sir John Har-

rington's Report to the Queen—" After the

Lord-Lieutenant General and Governor of

Ireland (the Earl of Essex) had rested certain

days atDublin, for establishing the stateof the

kingdom and for making his necessary provi-
sion for the war, his Lordship depaited thence

(May the lOth) towards the '

champion
'

fields

between the vilhiges Kih-ush and Castle-

martin, in which hitter place, on the 12th, he

appointed to meet him seventeen ensigns of

foot and three hundred of horse, which his

Lordship divided into regiments, appointing
the same to be commanded by colonels. The

day foUowing the rebels showed themselves

in small numbers, delivering some few shot

out of woods and ditches upon our ' vaunt '

couriers, but without any hurt." In and after

1613, William Eustace was seized of the fee

hereof down to the year 1635, when he died

seized of the manor, containing one castle,

ten messuages, one water-mill, andone himdred
acres of land. His eldest son and heir, Maurice

Eustace, aged thirty years at the time of his

fathcr's death, and married, was attainted

on Inquisition of 1642, as was also Edward
Eustace, of Castlemartin, and thirteen others

of the name.
In 1643, when the Marquess ofOrmonde was

directed by King Charles to treat with the Irish

about a temporary cessation of arms, he pro-
ceeded to meet their agents here. Their

Commissioners, Lord Gormanstown, Lord

Muskerry, Sir Lucas Dillon,Sir Robert Talbot,

Turlough 0'Neill, Geoffrey Browne, Ever
MacGennis, and John Walsh, presented them-
selves to him in his tent, his Lordship sitting
in a chair covered, and they uncovered.
He told them he was come according to their

desires, and expected their propositions in

writing. The next day they desired a sight
of his commission, alleging that they were

ready to show theirs, and gave a copy. They
demanded, in the name of the Confederates,
that the exercise of their government should
continue during the cessation, and that a free

parliament should be convened
;

but these
concessions the Marquess refused, and above
all he required a "

supply
"

for maintenance
of the King's forces previous to the cessation.

They observed, in reply, that this demand
was not warranted by the King's commission,
and declined to bind themselves by any pre-
vious stipulation, while they declared their

intentions to be to grant to his Majesty a free

gift on conclusion of the truce. Ormonde
hereupon deemed it prudent to suspend the

negociations ; but, in a short time afterwards,
renewed them at Jigginstown, near this.

The Irish agents came there more moderate
and complying; and, after some parleying,
agreed to grant the King £30,000 ;

one-half
in money to be paid by instalments, the other
in cattle. Articles for a cessation were finally

adjusted, and on the 15th of September the

treaty was signed by the Marquess and the

Irish Commissioners. It received the ratifi-

cation of the Lords Justiccs and Council, and
was notified by a public proclamation to the

whole kingdom. In the June of 1647, how-

ever, Castlemartin was burnt by the Parlia-

mentary forces under Colonel Michael Jones.
The Lord Chancellor, Sir Maurice Eustace,

who died in 1665, by his will of that date,
directed his interment in Castlemartin, and

accordingly was buried in the mortuary
chapel before mentioned. His nephew, Sir

Maurice Eustace, the younger, Baronet, was
attainted in 1691 by the style "of Castk-
martin

;

"
which estate was thereupon, as

confiscated, leased by the Crown for 99 years
to Thomas Keightley. It but remains to say,
tliat the house here was in 1798 converted into

a barrack for the King's troops, from which

military occupation it sustained mucli injury.
S
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Near this, in the ruins of the Franciscan

monastery, at New Abbcy, might be seen

imtil the year 178G, a noble " Eustace" momi-

mcnt, which was then carried off to the uses of

a modern buihling. (A drawing ofit, taken

two years previously, may be seen in the third

volume of the Anthologia Hlbernica, fronting

p. 255.) Upon the sarcophagus were, in alto

relievo, the effigies of Sir Rowland Eustace,
Baron of Portlester, and his lady. SirRow-

land, who was the founder of this house, was

represcnted clothed in the armour of his day,
while Lady Eustace woi-e English attu-e. On
her head was a species of cap, called a comet,
bound by a fillet or frontlet of lace, as wrought
with the needle in no inelegant pattern. This

fiUet appeared tied behind with longlappets, or

rather a kindof veil, which could occasionally
be drawn over. On her breast was scidptured
a cross

;
her gown, or kirtle, fitted close with

robings ; and, as pins were not then in use,

was made fast by a girdle studded with roses.

The skirts were plaited in large and thick

folds, and trimmed at the bottom with a

flounce. Round the figures, on the outer edge
of the tomb, was engraven in Church-text the

inscription
—"Oratepro anima Rolandi Fitz-

Eustace de Portlester, qui hoc mo : construxit

et fundavit, et qui ob : die Decemb. 19, a.d.

1496
;
etiam pi"o anima Margaritae uxoris

suse." On the front of the sarcophagus were

carved three figures in bas-relief
;
that in the

middle representing a keener, clothed in the

Irish habit
;
those beside her purported to be

two heralds, wearing the crown, sword, tunic,

and cloak of their office, and also on their

heads, under the crowns, the long veil or coif

usually worn at funerals.

In the immediate vicinity of Castlemartin,
is Dun-Allen, that hill of ancient Irish cele-

brity, on which "Finn Mac Cumhal and his

Friars were wont to celebrate their feasts
;

"

and whose summit still exhibits some traces

of entrenchment.

DUNROBIN CASTLE, Sutherlandshire
;

the

seat of the Duke of Sutherhmd.

Dunrobin Castle was first built by Robert,
E irl of Sutherland, in the ycar 1275. It

stands nearly in tlie middle of the parish of

Golspie, upon the edge of a bank, that rises

considerably above the level of the sea. The

biulding is of that okl-fashioned style of

Scotch architecture, which defies classification,

but which at the same time has a picturesque
interest that does not always belong to more

legitimate edifices. Narrow towers, tapering
ofl^'like spires, and much lower than thebuild-

ing itself, flank eitlier end, while the numer-
ous windows look out quaintly from the dark

and iiTeguhu* nuiss.

Tlie adjacent landscape is varied andhilly,
with no want of timber, and the garden,
which spreads itself out at the foot of the

eminence on which the Castle stands, har-

monizes well with the character of the

Castle and its grounds, which havebeen vastly

improved by the present noble proprietor.

DUFFIELD, in the co. of Derby ;
the seat

of John Balguy, Esq., a magistrate and

Deputy-Lieutenant of the county. This

gentleman is also Queen's Counsel, Recorder
of Derby, and one of the Commissioners of

the Court of Bankruptcy.
Duffield was at one time in the hands

ofthe family of Wihnot, of whom it was

bought somewhat more than sixty years ago
by the father of the present owner. As to

tlie house, it is uncertain at what time it was

built, but in all probability about a century
and a half ago. It is a comfortable covmtry

gentleman's residence, without any marked
architectural features.

It is traditionally said that a large forest

once existed in the neighbourhood, but of

this there are no longer any remaining traces.

HILLINGDON PLACE, near Uxbridge, in

the co. of Middlesex
;
the seat of the Count

de Salis.

This mansion was erected about the year
1775, by Admiral Sir Francis William Drake,
grandfather of the present proprietor. It

stands upon an estate called Coomes, or Little

London, and itself sometimes bears the name
of Hillingdon Park, under which name it was
at one time advertised for sale. The building
is square and large, but without any peculiar
architectural characteristics,

The estate was formerly possessed by the

Walker family, and afterwards by that of
Greenwood.

LANGLEYS, in the co. of Essex
;
the seat of

John Jollifie Tufnell, Esq., a magistrate and

Deputy-Lieutenant of the county, who in

1823 served the office of High Sherift".

This house was finished in the year 1720,

by Samucl Tufnell, Esq., since whose time it

has only been possessed by his family descen-

dants. It is a plain, imornamented building,

standing in a deer park.

GIFFORD'S HALL, in the co. of Suftblk, and

parish of Stokc J/uta Nayland, so called to dis-

tinguish it from Stoke Juxta Clare, and Stoke

near Ipswich ;
is the property of P. Mannock,

Esq. This gentleman has for many years
residcd on the contineut.

Previously to the reign of King Henry VI.
this estate belonged to the Giftbrds. It was
then purchased by Phillip Mannock, whohad
till that had his abode in the neighhouring

village of Stoke, as appears from the family

pedigree, but whose ancestors are said to have
come originally from Denmark, and to have
flourishcd in England under the rule of her

Danish monarchs.
In the year 1789, William Comyns, Esq.,
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cousin of the present owner, came into pos-
session of the Giflord's Hall property, and

thereupon took the name of Mannock. He
died in 1819, leaving no issue, and the estate

devolved to Patrick Power, Esq., wlio about

1830, likewise assumed the surname of Man-

nock, by royal license. The connection

of this gentleman with the Mannocks came

througli marriage into the Strickland family,
as shown in "Burke's Extinct Baronetcies of

England." His grandfather was an Irish Offi-

cer, who served under the Chevalier, Charles

Edward, in consequence of whose final defeat

he lost all his property in Ireland, nor have his

family been able to trace his pedigree in that

country.
Gifl[brd's Hall is by many supposed to have

been built, in the commencenient of Henry
VIII. 's reign,by Peter Gifford, a relation of the

unfortunate Anne Boleyn. This, however,
can only be true in reference to the front gate-

way, which is Elizabethan
;

the great hall

and some other parts of the mansion are

imquestionably ofa much anterior date
;
and

Dr. Milner has pronounced them to be about

six or seven hundred years old, and the pre-
sent owner is known to liave amongst his

ancient records, leases of some poi-tion of tlie

property dated in the time of King Henry IL
Gifford's Hall surrounds a quadrangular

court, the entrance being by a gateway between
two lofty embattled towers, with narrow win-

dows. Although the entire mass is of brick,
even to the mouldings of the windows, doors,
and other ornaments, yet the whole presents
an ancient and very striking appearance that

carries back the fancy of the spectator to ages

long since past. Opposite to this gateway are

the mouldering ruins of a chapeh

FILLONGLEY HALL, in the co. of Warwick,
Hemlingford Hundred, about six miles and a
half from thetown ofCoventry ;

theseat of the

Rev. Bowyer Adderley. In Domesday
Book the name of this place is vainously writ-

ten Filungelei, Filingelei, Felingelai, and

Filunger. Such a discrepancy however, is too

common to the olden times when the same
looseness of ortliography was universally pre-
valent.

Tlie ancient mansion belonged to Miss
Wrench. Of her it was purchased in 1823

by the Rev. Bowyer Adderley, who in the

following year pulled it down, and commenced

building a new mansion upon the same.
The work, however, was not completed
until 182.5. Since then it has received con-

siderable additions, in 1840 and 1841, under
the directions and at the expense of the pre-
sent owner.

Fillongley Hall stands upon an eminence,
surrounded by a well-wooded lawn, and
commands a fine view of the adjacent country,
the village of tlie same nanie being only a

mile off. There are several very fine trout-

streams in the parisli.

Tlie Rev. Bowyer Adderley is the youngest
son of the late Ralph Adderley, Esq., of Coton

Hall, co. Staffbrd.

HARKISTO^WN,
picturesque seat

in the co. Kildare
;

the

of John Latouche, Esq., is

a fine mansion, with a stately lonic portico,

standing in a rich valley that is watered

throughout by the Liffey, in its progress from
the celebrated fall or rapid of PoU-a-Phuca to

Kilcullen. Tlie demesne is the most extensive

in a wide circuit of country, spreading nearly
ten miles to the base of the hills that rise from
Dunlavin to Blessington, and finely ornamented
with timber

;
the parochial church of Carnal-

way stands within it, having been built at the

private expense of the proprietor.
Soon after the English invasion, a branch

of the noble fiimily of Eustace settled in this

county, and took the title of Baron from
Harristown. Sir Edward Fitz-Eustace was
settled here in the fifteenth century

— '* a war-
hke knight, and fitted for a government that

required activity and vigour." In 1452 he
routed the 0'Connor of Oftaley, in that memo-
rable engagement where Leland records the

generous contest between father and son of

that Irish sept, each seeking by self-devotion

to save the other from the vengeance of the

enemy. In 1454 he was Lord-Deputy of

Ireland, when his son, Sir Rowland, was
created Baron Portlester, in Meath, with the

manor annexed, to hold in tail male. In

1462, this Sir Rowland founded the Franciscan

Monastery of Kilcullen, called New Abbey,
in this county ;

all whose possessions were, on
the Dissokition, granted to Edmund Spenser
the poet. In its churchyard is tlie figure of

a knight in armour,, wliich, according to tra-

dition, was sculptured in commemoration of

him
;
he also erected the beautiful structure,

called from him, Portlester's chapel, within

tlie precincts of St. Andrew's churcli, in

Dublin. He much improved the house and
demesne of Harristown, and obtained the

patent from His Majesty constituting it a

borougli, witli privilege of sending two mem-
bers to Parliament. " In those periods,"

says a writer at the close of the last century,
" Harristown was esteemed the most beautiful

seat in that part of tlie kingdom. The liouse

was large and commodious, with convenient

and ample offices. An elevated terrace in

front commanded a beautiful view of an ex-

tensive and crystal lake, skirted witli wood,
and furnished witli swans and other aquatic
birds

;
and on it floated a ship completely

rigged and fitted out forpleasureand recreation.

Tlie woods were extensive, wcll 1'eplenished
with game of various species, and intermixed

with shady walks, pleasant bowers, and fine

avcnues
;

whilst the gardens produced every
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kind of fruit appertaining to the climate : but

(Iie laments) of this once delightful spot no

remains now (1794) exist, all is laid as low

as the noble possessor. Of the woods no ves-

tiges are to be seen, corn grows where they
once stood

;
the lake is become a morass, and

in part a ploughed fiekl
;
and of the house

scarce one stone remains upon another." In

the Parliament of Naas, held in 1474, Harris-

town was declared to be thenceforth discharged
of subsidies, and directed to be assessed with

the county at large ; and, in the same year,
Sir Rowland and Sir Robert Eustace were,
as the two most noble and worthy pei"sons,

selected to represent the county Kildare in

the honourable order of the Brotherhood of

St. George; a fraternity "formed," says Sir

John Davis,
" that the state might not seem

utterly to neglect the defence of the Pale."
" It was created with the authority of Parha-

ment, and consisted of a total of thirteen of

the most emineut within these four shires,

vvhich were alone then amenable to English
law : viz., Dublin, Meath, Kildare, and Louth.

They were to assemble annually at Dublin,
on St. George's day, to express their zeal for

Enghsh government. Their captain, who was
to be chosen for one year on this anniversary,
had a train assigned to him of one hundred
and twenty archers on horseback, and forty
other horsemen, with one attendant to each

;

the arcliers being entitled to receive sixpence
each for their daily pay ;

the others, for them-
selves and their attendants, five-pence, with

an annual stipend of four marks. This was
the only standing force then maintained in

Ireland, and a tax was established for their

supjjort." {D'Alto7i'sHist. of Drorjheda, v. ii.,

p. 161.) In 1488 the bounds of the few

obedient shii-es of the Pale, before alkided to,

were marked off, through Harristown and
Naas to Clare and Kilcock. Immediatelypre-
vious to this occurred the wild question of

Lambert Simners claim to the Crown
;
when

Sir Rowland Eustace, in his zeal for the House
of York, espoused the Pretender's cause, but

was pardoned on doing homage to Sir Richard

Edgecombe, and died in 149G.

In 1535, this chivalrous but imprudent

family again took part in the insurrection

of the silken Lord Thomas Fitzgerakl, and

experienced tlie melancholy consequences
in attainders, executions, and confiscations.
" We have in ward," (writes in 1535, John

Akn, then Master of the Rolls iu Ireland, to

Cromwell, the King's secretary,) "in tlie

castle of Dublin, Dame Jenet Eustace, Sir

Waker de la Hyde's wife, which was the Earl

of Kikku-e's aunt, and most of secrets witli

him, and by all probable conjecture she was
the chief counsellor and stirrer of the inor-

dinate rebcllion. She is the traitor's (Lord
Tli()mas's) fostei-mothcr, aiuk the time tliat tlie

army discomlited him, aiid liad liim in cliase,

for his succour, he fled with himselfand a boy
to her, into Delahyde's castle of Ballina, and
there was rescued. Also we have in ward, in

the said castle, Rose Eustace, (who appears
to have been the daughter of Dame Jenet,)
which waited on my Lady of Kildare until tlie

Earl of Kildare was committed to the Tower,
and after, as you know, witli tlie said EarPs

daughter, privily stole hither." Tliis Dame
Jenet was tlie daughter of Sir Rowland Eustace
of Harristown

;
and her sister, Akson, who

was married to Gerald, the eightli Earl of

Kildare, had some years previously died of

grief at his confinement on suspicion in London.
As all these individuals were of tke Harristown

Eustaces, their introduction here is at least

allowable. In 1541 Sir Thonias Eustace,

Knight,
" of Harristown," was created Baron

of Kilcullen, and was in the following year
advanced in tke peerage by the title of Vis-

coimt of Baltinglas.
In 1G03, King James granted to John

Eustace " the castle and village of Harristown,
and also the site, circuit, and precinct of the

chiefhouse, containing two castles, a hall, one

garden, the orchard, the haggard place, one

chapel upon a vaidt, one churchyard, with
certain other buildings, containing by estima-

tion three acres and more
; sundry messuages

and cottages, one hundred acres arable, forty

pasture, with common of turfary, and a water-

mill, with the watercourse
;
the estate of James

Eustace, late Viscount Baltinglas, attainted."

He was the grandson of Sir Thomas before

mentioned as the first Viscount. In the fol-

lovving year, these possesions were, with many
more in the county, granted by the King
to Sir Henry Hamngton, who died seized

thereof in 1612; soon after which the town
and lands of Harristown, with certain hamlets,
were granted to Sir John King and Sir Adam
Loftus, as assignees of Sir Charles Wihnot,

Knight. In 1639 the Irish House of Commons
elected for their Speaker, Mr. Sergeant
Maurice Eustace, "a wise, learned, and dis-

creet man, and of great integrity." In 1642,
His Majesty appointed him one of the Com-
missioners to confer with the Catholic con-

federates
;
and in 1647, ke waskonoured witk

a vote of tkanks fromtke House of Commons,
for " his singidar aiFection to the English nation,
his public services, and kis earnest advance-
ment of tke Protestant religion." In 1G60,
he took out a confirmatory patent for his

ancient inheritance in the counties of Kildare

and Dublin
;
which was further secured to

him by the Act of Settlement, and also by a

private Act of Parliament; in the same year
ke was appointed Lord Ckancellor of Ireland,
and in 1665 ke died.

In 1650, tke Castle of Harristown was

bcsicged by tke Parliamentary forces imder
Coloncls Hfwson aud Reynokls. In 1681, Sir

Maurice Eustace,the nephewof the Chancellor,
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and to wliom he liad bequeathed Harristown
in tail-male, obtained a Cliarter constituting
his estates here a manor, with power to hold
courts leet and baron, and a seneschars court.

It was afterwards made a free borough, with
a corporation which had the privilege of re-

turning two members to Parliament, (aprivilege
which it exercised until the Union, when it

was disfranchised, and the usual compensa-
tion, £15,000, paid to John Latouche, then
its proprietor ;

the borough at the time, ac-

cording to Brewer, containing but a single

house.) In 1G88, the aforesaid Sir Maurice
Eustace was Colonel of the 19th Regiment of

Foot in King James's service, at the siege of

Derry, in which body James Eustace was
a Captain, Richard Eustace a Lieutenant, and
John Eustace an Ensign ; while, in the same

service, in Sir Neill 0'Neiirs regiment of

Dragoons, Nicholas Eustace was a Captain,

andChristopher Eustace aLieutenant; Anthony
Eustace was a Captain in Colonel Chai-les

Cavenagh's regiment of foot; and Rowhmd
Eustace an Ensign in Sir Michael Creagh's.
In the Parliament convened at Dublin by that

last of the Stuart dynasty, James Eustace and
Maurice Eustace were the representatives of

the borougli of Blessington. The succeeding
attainders were rife with the name

;
no less

than twenty-four appear upon the Inquisitions
Rolls in tlie counties of Dublin, Wicklow,
Carlow, and Kildare. In the latter appears
the name of Oliver Eustace, of Harristown.

It would seem, however, that the estates of
Sir Maurice Eustace here were trausmitted, un-
afFected by forfeituve, down to the year 1720,
when, under the sanction of a private Act of the

first Parliament, they were sold for the payment
of his debts and of other encumbrances affecting
them. The first Duke of Leinster became a

subsequent purchaser of HaiTistown, and his

son sold it to John Latouche, before men-
tioned as its proprietor at the time of the

Union. He, it is said, offered a pension to

the last representative of the Eustaces of

Harristown,
" who then resided in a cabin in

or near the ancient demesne, aged, infirm,

poor, and unnoticed. The object of his com-

passion, however, with dignity declined his

bounty, observing tliat his family were more
accustomed to grant than to receive such

favours.

HOVINGHAM HALL, Yorkshire, the seat

of Sir WiUiam Worsley, Bart., a deputy-
lieutenant and magistrate for the North

Riding, is situated 17 miles north of York.
The name is written "Houingham," in Domes-

day book, and is said to be derived from
"houe" (Brit.), aplace of graves or "tumuli,"

many of which are still to be seen in the

neighbourhood,—"
ing," a place of waters,

there being several streams near, and "
ham,"

a Saxon word, signifying a liouse or village
—

the " ton" or " tun" at the end of so many of
the names of our villages had reference to an

enclosure, but the Saxon " ham" implied that
it was the residence or home of its possessor,
and is no doubt synonymous with the present
vernacular word in the north of Yorkshire,"
yham," meaning home.
The town is no doubt a place of great an-

tiquity. Its situation is in strict accordance
with the accounts handed down to us of the
towns of the ancient Britons, which were for

the most part fixed upon the border of a Large
forest, for the double convenience it offered

for hunting and pasturing cattle, and at the
same time, on the banks of a river or running
stream, for the conveniency of water.

After the Nonnan Conquest, Hovingham,
with other adjacent lands, was given by
WilHam the Conqueror to the great Roger de

Mowbray, who is supposed to have built a
castle here

; or, what seems more Hkely, to

have re-edified and refortified the Saxon villa,
which was ah-eady in existence

; amphfying
it, no doubt, so as to render it more suited to

a wari-ior of his rank and celebrity. His

descendant, John de Mowbray, conspiring
with Thomas, Earl of Lancaster, against the

Spensers, was taken prisoner at tlie battle of

Boroughbridge, and beheaded at York, when
his estates, as a matter of course, were
confiscated. This was in the reign of
Edward II., 1332. Their lands were after-

wards restored in the reign of Edward III.,

yet it would seem that the family of

Worsley obtained some property here before

the final confiscation of the Mowbray estates,

upon the insurrectionary movement, called
" the pilgrimage of grace."

Hovingham Hall was built in the reign of

George III., by Thomas Worsley, Esq.,
the then Surveyor-General of the Board of

Works, from his own designs, upon, or near,
the site of Mowbray Castle, the position al-

ready mentioned as being that of a Saxon

villa, where originally stood the Ronian
Station andBaths; some of the works relating
to which, and their foundations, may still be
seen in the grounds adjacent.
The mansion is a handsome buikling, in tlie

style ofsome of the principal Itahan villas. It

is approached through a handsome covered

gateway, over which is this inscription : Firtits

in actione consistit. A strong iron-gate se-

cures this entrance, which leads directly into

a hall, called the "
Riding School," ninety-

six feet in length by thirty-six in width.

Through the riding school carriages pass
into the vestibule, a square of thirty-six feet,
its semi-circular grained masonry top resting
on four centre columns and twelve other

three-quarter cokimns attached to tlie walls,
all of the pm-e Tuscan order. From this ves-

tibule you enter on the right and left to the

other parts of the buikling. The entrance-
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hall leading from it on the right
—

together
with the corresponding hall on the left—^is of

a size and style of groined stone-work
cohimns and pilasters, in harraony with the

vestibule, and conducts to the principal stair-

case and dining-room. The latter is thirty-
six feet long by thirty feet wide, adorned with

Corinthian cohimns, and a handsome chimney-
piece of Italian marble, with projecting
cohmms of yellow antique; fine models of the

pure Greek Doric cohimns, which were

always without bases. The walls of this

noble room represent mural tablets painted in

fresco—a sacrifice to ApoUo by Sebastian

Rizzi, &c.
;
and there is a fine bust of Oliver

Cromwell in a niche over the chimney-piece.
Several of the apartments in the mansion are

of large proportions, handsomely furnished;
for instance, the state bed-room, which opens
out of the dining-room, is thirty-six feet by
twenty-two, adorned with Corinthian columns,
and some fine Itahan paintings, having two

dressing-rooms attached, and a second en-

trance into the principal staircase. The

drawing-rooms are over the entrance-hall

and vestibule, commanding a fine view of

the groundsin front, and correspond in regard
to arciiitecture and dimensions witli the rooms

above-mentioned,— the principal drawing-
room, called the robe-room, is a square of

thirty-six feet by twenty-eight higli, the floor

being supported on tlie four stone columns of

the hall below
;
both drawing-rooms are hung

vvith numerous paintings by the old masters
;

indeed, the collection here of statues, bronzes,

busts, casts, paintings, drawings, and prints,
is both very numerous and interesting; the

library consists of a large collection of ancient,

classical, and modern books.

The country around the Hall, bothnear and
in the distance, is singularly beautiful and
varied. At a short distance from the village
itself are three spas, with baths attached, on
the south side of the main valley, in a spot

something like the place where the HaiTogate
waters issue

;
from which, however, they

essentially differ, their medicinal properties

being of the sulphur-sodaic character, highly
beneficial in allaying irritation, and invi-

gorating the system. In the neighbour-
hood are more noble mansions than will

usually be seen within the same limits
;

the

principal being,
—Castle Howard, the seat of

the Earl of Carlisle
;

Duncombe Pai-k, the

seat of Lord Feversham
; Wiganthorp Hall,

the seat of William Garforth, Esq. ;
New-

burgh Hall, the seat of Sir Geoi-ge Womb-
well, Bart.—the beavity of whose park and
domain has been so much extolled—whilst the

unrivalled ruins of Rievaulx Abbey, Helmsley
Castle, Byland Abbey, &c., aftbrd ample in-

terest for the tourist. There is an excellent

hotel within a few lumdred yards of the Hov-

ingham Station, on the Malton and Thirsk line.

THE CASTLE, Castle Bellingham, co.

Louth, about one mile from the sea on the

east, and nearly the same distance from the

railway-station on the west; the seat of Sir

Alan Edward Bellingham.
An old castle stood here, which was burnt

down by the anny of King James II.
;

and in or near 1712, a new mansion was
erected by Henry Bellingham, Esq., M.P.
for Louth, out of the ruins of the ancient
edifice. It was built in the Dutch style, with
a high projecting roof, in which were windows.
In 1798, according to the prevailing bad taste

of the times, its antique appearance was mo-
dernized, the fine old avenues changed to a

winding approach with clumps of trees, and a
belt to hide the church

; the steps and vases
were removed, the terraces broken down into

slopes ;
and the house so altered as to have

mucli the appearance of a large manufactory.
The arches of the old castle near the river

were also demolished and covered over with

earth, which was sown with grass-seed. In
the years 1836 and 1846, the east and south
sides were castellated, but the rest remains
unfinished.

This mansion stands on a terrace, near the
river Glyde, which runsthrough the pleasure-
grounds, gardens, and park. In the latter are

some very large trees, planted during the

reign of Queen Anne. Two fine avenues of
limes still remain here, and some noble yew-
trees, intermingled with hollies, that in several

instances have trunks as large as those of

forest trees. There is also a group of magni-
ficent ilexes.

Since 1846, terraces have been formed
;
and

the walks and drives have been remodelled
in consequence of the deepening of the river

Glyde, under the management of the Board
of Works. The trees and shrubs are so

planted as to give shelter at all seasons from

cold, or wind, or sun, and thus there is a

southern cliraate on a gravel soil. Within the

domains are the manor-mill and the cluu-ch,
with handsome stained-glass windows. With
a liberality which is not very conimon, the

owner allows the public at all tinies in the

island, the park, and the flower-garden.
The Ordnance niap shows in the pai-k a

royal oak, grown from an acorn brought from
Charles II. 's oak about the year 1720. On
the south side of the river is a cock-pit,
or amphitheatre for cock-fighting, opposite to

which, and to the salmon-bank preserves, are

statues given by the first Lord Mayor of

Dublin. Several silver coins of Edward
VI., Mary, Elizabeth, &c., have been found
near the old castle, as also by the farni-yard,

where, in 1847, many skeletons were disco-

vered. The latter lay about four feet belovv

the surface, in a gravelly subsoil, and in

gravcs forraed by small flint stones. They
are supposed to be the remains of persons
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killocl \n Cromvveirs time, or of some who
(licd of fever aiul fatigue when part of King
William's army encamped there on their

march to the Boyne. That monarch is

traditionally said to have taken refreshment

under the great old elm, near the eastern gate.
He presented Colonel Bellingham with a

li([uor-case, used by himself at the battle of

the Boyne, which is still in the possession of

the family, as is also the journal written by
the Colonel, while attending King William in

Ireland.

CASSIOBUEY PAKK, Hertfordshire, adjoin-

ing the town of Watford, and about seventeen

miles froni London
;
the seat of the Earl of

Essex.

It was anciently parcel of the lands of St.

Alban's Abbey, to whom it was given by
Offa, King of Mercia. After the dissolution

of monasteries it was gi-anted by Henry VIII,
to Richard Morison, Esq., who was employed
by that monarch in many state afFairs, and
who died at Strasburgh in the year 1556.

His grandson, in the reign of Charles I.,

married Mary, second daughter to Viscount

Campden, and, dying without heirs male, their

daughter Elizabeth conveyed the inheritance

of the Morisons, by marriage, to Arthur,
Lord Capell, of Hadham in Hertfordshire,
from whom the present Earl is descended.

The Capell family were long seated at Stoke

Neyland in Suifolk, upon a manor which bore

their name. Sir William Capell, Lord Mayor
of London, amassed so large a fortune that

he was considered a fit subject for plunder by
the notorious Empson, andthenolessnotorious

Dudley, whom King Henry VII. was in the

habit of using as instruments in the pillage of

his loving lieges for the benefit of the royal
coifers. Under some pretext, the worthy
Mayor was compelled to pay two thousand

pounds, but being afterwards called upon for

a second fine to a similar amount, he stoutly
refused compliance, when he was punished for

his outrecuidance by imprisonment in the

Tower till the King's death.

The son of the unlucky Lord Mayor seems
to have been a great favourite with Henry
VIII. He was knighted by the bluft"monarch,
and accompanied him to France, where with

other knights he challenged all comers to a

trial of skill in arms during thirty days. His

descendants went on increasing in royal favour,

till, in the reign of Charles I., Arthur Capell
was created Baron Capell of Hadham. He
was a staunch loyalist, and lost his life in the

King's service, being beheaded by order of

the Parliament, for his gallant ciefence of

Colchester, 1648-9. His son was restored to

the family honours and estate, by Charles II.,

and farther created Viscount Malden and Earl

of Essex by that monarch in April, 1661. In

1670, this nobleman was sent ambassador to

Denmark, where lie gallantly ujdield the

honour of England, refusing to lower his

colours, though the Governor of Croningberg
Castle fired upon him to enforce compliance.
For this unwarrantable breacli of the law of

nations the Governor was eventually obliged
to beg pardon on his knees.

In 1672, the Earl wasmade Lord-Lieutenant
of Ireland, and in 1680 was appointed First

Commissioner of the Treasury.
The family mansion at Cassiobury is a spacious

edifice, standing in an extensive and well-

wooded park, through which flows the i-iver

Gade. Over this,the waters of the Grand Junc-
tion Canal have been carried. The house was

originally commenced in the reign of Henry
VIII. by Richard Morison, Esq., and com-

pleted in the style of that age by his son, Sir

Charles Morison. Since that time it has

undergone many alterations andimprovements,
and particularly by the late Earl

;
the result of

which has been a great change and improve-
ment in its original character. In its general

appearance the niansion has the character of

a castellated mansion, but within are many
elegant rooms in a more modern style of

ornament, while there is a sort of cloister, the

windows of which are decorated witli stained-

glass, that when
" The moonbeams kissed the holy pane,

It threw on the pavement a bloody stain."

Cassiobury has long been celebrated for its

coUection of paintings, some being curious as

being the portraits of illustrious characters,
and others no less valuable as exquisite works
of art. Amongst the former may be numbered

Algernon, Earl of Northumberland
;
his daugh-

ter, Elizabeth, wife and widow of the first

Lord Capell ; Lady Anne and Lord Percy, by
Vandyck ;

the Earl and Countess of Clarendon,

by Sir Peter Lely ; Sir Charles Hanbury
Williaras

;
Charles L, by Vandyck ;

Charles

II., by Sir Peter Lely; &c., Amongst the

latter may be enumerated a "
Virgin and

Child," by Carlo Maratti
;
a" Monk's Head,"

by Carlo Dolce
;

" Two Small Views," by
Canaletti; a "

Sea-piece," by Vander Velde
;

a "
Landscape," by Gainsborough ;

a " Land-

scape," by Wouvermann; &c., all remarkably
fine, and valuable as specimens from the easel

of the highest artists. Another noticeable

object is the Gobelin tapestry in the statebed-

room, displaying a village-feast, with wine-

making, &c., copied from an original picture

by Teniers.

The park is extensive, being between three

and four miles in circumference, abounding in

rich scenery and noble trees. The walks are

said to have been originally laid out, and the

woods planted by the celebrated Le Notre,
the architect-gardener of St. James's Park.
Since his time, however, they have been

greatly improved and enlarged, in conformity
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with the more natural and picturesque taste

of modern times.

DUNOLLY CASTLE, Argyllshire, the seat of

John McDougall, Esq., of McDougall,Captain,
R.N., a magistrate and deputy-lieutenant for

the same county.
It is altogether uncertain at what time the

old castlc was first built, neither history nor

tradition supplying any record of the fact.

Nothing now remains of this interesting pile
but a mass of ruins, of wliich Sir Walter Scott

has left iis so graphic and beautifid a descrip-

tion, that, as we cannot hope to equal it, we

give in his own words.
"
Nothing can be more wildly beautiful

than the situation of Dunolly. The ruins are

situated upon a bold and precipitous promon-

tory overhanging Loch Etive, and distant

about a mile from the village and port of

Oban. The principal part, which remains, is

the donjon or keep ;
but fragments of other

buildings, overgrown with ivy, attest that it had
been once a place of importance, as large a^i-

parently as Artornish or Dunstafthage. These

fragments enclose a court-yard, of which the

keep probably formed one side
;
the entrance

being by a steep ascent from the neck of the

isthnuis, formerly cut across by a moat, and
defended doubtless by outworks and a draw-

bi-idge. Beneath the castle stands the present
mansion of the family, having on the one hand
Loch Etive, with its islands and mountains,
on the other, two romantic eminences tufted

with copse-wood. There are other accompani-
ments suited to the scene

;
in particular a

huge upright pillar, or detached fragment of

tliat sort of rock called plum-pudding stone,

upon the shore about a quarter-of-a-mile from

the castle. It is called Clach-na-cau, or the

J)og's Pillar, because Fingal is said to have

used it as a stake, to which he bound his

celebrated dog, Bran. Others say that when
the Lord of the Isles came upon a visit to the

Lord of Lorn, the dogs brought for his sport

were kept beside this pillar. Upon the whole

a more delightful and romantic spot can scarce

be conceived, and it receives a moral interest

from the considerations attached to the resi-

dence of a family once powerful enough to

confront and defeat Robert Bruce, and now
sunk into tlie shade of private life. The heir of

Dunolly fell lately in Spain, fighting under the

Duke of Wellington,
—a death well becoming

his ancestry."
The House of Lorn—of which Captain

McDougall is the lineal and rmdisputed repre-
sentative—descended from a son of Somerled,

slain at Renfrew in 1164. This son obtained

the succession of his territories upon the main-

land, which comprehend the greater part of

the three districts of Lorn in Argyllshire, so

tliat they seem to have been more like petty

prhices than feudal barons. At a later period

they assumed the patronymic of McDougall,
by which they are distinguished in the chron-

icles of the middle-ages. The Lord of Lorn,
who floui-ished during the wars of Bruce, was

Allaster, or Alexander, McDougall, called

Allaster of Argyll. He had married the third

daughter of John, known in history asthe Red

Comyn, and murdered by Bruce in the Do-
minican church at Dumfries

;
in consequence

of this act, Allaster became the mortal enemy
of the fiitiu-e liberator, and more than once
reduced him to great straits in the early and
more unsettled parts of his reign, giving him
in particular a severe defeat at Dalree, near

Tyndrum, when the vanquished king left in

tlie hands of the conquerors his brooch and

plaid. Afterwards, however, when Bruce
found himself more firmly established upon
the throne, he did not forget to revenge these

disgraces by marching into Argyllsliire to

lay waste the hostile territories. John of Lorn,
the chieftain's son, posted himself with his

followers in the formidable pass between Dal-

mally and Bunawe. It is a nari"ow path along
the verge of the huge precipitous mountain,
called Cruachen Ben, and protected on the

other side by a precipice overhanging Loch
Awe. Strong, however, as such a position

was, if attacked in front, the defenders seemed
never to have recollected that it might be

turned, a circvunstance which had not escaped
the watchful eye of Bvuce, who, while he en-

gaged their attention by a false attack in front,

sent three chosen leaders with a select body
of archery to obtain possession of the heights

by which the pass was commanded. Having
once gained these points, the battle was in

fact won. From their secure post they poured
down volley after volley of arrows upon the

enemy below. The Argyllshire men, who had
hitherto fought with determined courage, in

full reliance upon the strength of their position,
now took to flight. Their way lay across the

deep and rapid river Awe, over which was a

bridge which they attempted to demolish be-

hind them, in order to secure their retreat, but

the pursuers were too quick for them, and they
were dispersed with much slaughter. John of

Lorn, anticipating the fatal result at an early

period of the battle, had betaken himself to

his galley on the lake, a circumstance of which
Sir Walter has not foi'gotten to avail him-

self in his Legend of Montrose. But in the

case of John of Lorn no suspicion of cowardice

attached, if we may believe the old poet.
" To John off liOrne it suld tlisplcse
I trow, quhen he liys men mycht se,

Owtc of his schippis fra tlie se

Be shiyne ancl cliassyt in the hill,

That lie mycht set na lielp thar'till.

Bot it ang-rys als jfretumly
To gutl hartis that ar -northi,
To se thar fayis fultill thair will

As to thaim selff to thole the ill."

" After this decisive engagement, Brucelaid
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waste Argyleshire, and besieged DunstatFnage
Castle on tlie western shore of Lorn, compelled
it to surrender, and placed in that principal

stronghokl of the McDougalls a garrison and

governor of his own. The elder McDougall,
now wearied with the contest, subniitted to the

victor
;
but liis son, 'rebelUous,' says Barbour,

' as he was wont to be,
'

fled to England by sea.

When the wars between the Bruce and Bahol
factions again broke out, hi the reign of David

II., tlie Lords of Lorn were again found upon
the losing side, owing to their hereditary en-

mity to the House of Bruce. Accordingly,
iipon the issue of that contest, they were de-

prived, by David II. and his successor, of by
far the greater part of their extensive terri-

tories, which were conferred upon Stewart,
called the Knight of Lorn. The House of

McDougall continued, however, to survive the

loss of power, and affbrds avery rare, if not a

unique instance of a family of such unlimited

power and so distinguished during the middle

ages, surviving the decay of theirgrandeur, and

flourishing in a private station. The Castle of

Dunolly, near Oban,with its dependencies, was
the principal part of what remained to them,

withtheirrightof chieftainship over the families

of their name and blood. These they con-

tinued to enjoy until the year 1715, when their

representative incurred the penalty of forfeiture

for his accession to the insurrection of that

pei-iod ;
tluis losing the remains of his inheri-

tance to replace upon the throne the descend-
antsof those princes, whose accessionhisances-
tors had opposed at the expense of their feudal

grandeur. The estate was, however, restored

about 1745 to the father (grandfather) of the

presentproprietor, whomfamily experiencehad
taught the hazard of interfering with the estab-

lished government,andwhoremained quietupon
that occasion. He therefore regained his pro-
perty when many Highlandchiefslosttheirs."
The brooch, lost at Dah"ee by Bruce, and

known in song as " The Brooch of Lorn,"
though carefully preserved by the McDougalls,
did not escape its share in the family vicissi-

tudes. At the time of the Civil War in the

seventeenth century, Gylen Castle, a strong-
hold of this race, romantically situated upon
a rocky headland in the Island of Kerrera, was
laid siege to, and reduced by a detachment
from the main army, despatched from the

main army under General Leslie. It so

chanced that the Brooch of Lorn was then

deposited in Gylen Castle, and became the

spoil of Campbell of Inverawe, who was

serving with the troops which had been sent

against Lorn. From his descendants it was

bought, in 1826, by the late General Duncan

Campbell, who generously restored the relic

to the present owner of the estate.

But this is not the only memorial of other

times still possessed by the McDougalls. The

following deserve more particularly to be

enumerated :—A bronze equestrian figure,

very finely executed, of Eia?i Bacaeh, or Lame
John, whom Robert Bruce defeated at the
Pass of Awe

;
a brass gun, presented by

James VII. to Allan McDougall of DunoIIy ;

a medal, given to John, the son of Allan, by the

Chevalier St. George, for whom John led his

clan to the unfortunate field of SherifFmuir
;
a

pair of transparent crystal balls, about tlie size

of pigeon's eggs, and reflecting light in all the

colours of the rainbow
; these, it is said, were

brought from the Holy Land by a Lord of Lorn,
who had joined the army of the Crusaders, and
for centui-ies they were believed to possess great
and mysterious powers of healing ;

with cattle

they were vmusually efficacious, no more being
requisite than to soak them for a short time in

water which the animals were to drink. It is

not a hundred years ago that they were sent

for, express, a distance of forty miles, to arrest

the progress of a violent epidemic.
The present mansion of Dunolly, the situ-

ation of whichhasalreadybeendescribed, was
erected about one hundred and ten years since.

It belongs to the old Scotch style of archi-

tecture, and has the peculiar merit of harmo-

nizing with the locality. The grounds are very
beautiful and romantic.

ARDFERT ABBEY, in the co. of Kerry, has

been long tlie residence of the Crosbie family,
of whom were the former Earls of Glandore

;

it is now that of their descendant, William Tal-

bot Crosbie, Esq. In the demesne, which ad-

joins the town, are situated those picturesque
ruins of the Franciscan monastery, which give
name to the mansion. Smith, in his interest-

ing, but too inadequate History ofthe County of

Keriy, describes the ruins of this religious
house in his time as,

"
standing a little to the

east of the town
;
the walls of the steeple, the

choir, with some of the cloisters, the dormitory,
and the chapel, remain entire. In the church is

a fine figure of St. Brandon, in alto relievo, ad-

joining which was a Round Tower, 120 feetin

height, and esteemed the finest in Ireland, but

being neglected, it unfortunately fell to the

ground in 1771 ;" tumbling at one crash into a

heap of ruins. The house has been enlarged on

the site of an older edifice, erected in the reign
of Charles I., and has been greatly improved
by later occupants. It is said to contain an
extensive library of choice works and nume-
rous family manuscripts, and, in the dining
and drawing rooms, a variety of paintings and

family portraits. The demesne is well stocked

with deer
;
the gardens are extensive, and

open into several noble avenues of elm, lime,
and beech trees. Nearthis thegreat promon-
tory, called Kerry or Ballyhegue Head, majes-

tically towers over the Atlantic Ocean, to whose
full swell the whole coast from Tralee Bay is

exposed, and, except a small inlet near this,

offers neither shelter nor harbour.

T
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Soon 'after the introduction of Christianity
into Ireland,there was erected an Abbey at Ard-

fert, which became the seat of a Bishop's see
;

coraprehending the northern portion of the

county of Kerry, and continued to be governed
by a succession of its own Bishops luitil 1663,
when it was united to the Bishopric of

Limerick. St. Brendan erected a sumptuous
monastery here in the sixth century, which,
with the town, was destroyed by fire in 1089.

It was again reduced to ashes by Cormac
0'Cullinan in 1151; and, with the town,
suffered a similar visitation in 1179. The

subsequently-erected cathedral occupied an
eminence on the north side of the town, but
was suffered, on the Reformation, to fall into

decay ;
the walls of the nave and choir are

however still perfect; the east window has
three lofty lancet-shaped compartments, orna-

mented internally with light and elegant
clustered pilasters ;

on each side is a niche,
in one of which stands the figure of St. Bren-

dan, before alluded to
;
near it, in the choir,

is another of much superior workmanship.
On the south side, near the altar, are nine

windows, ornamented with pilasters termi-

nating in a trefoil arch. Four nide Nomian
arches also remain, of which the largest, in

the centre, was the doorway. An opening
at the north-west led into a later addition,

part of which only remains
;

it was purchased,
in 1668, by the Dowager Countess of Kerry
for her tomb, and has since been the family
vault of the Crosbies.

In 1253, Thomas, Lord of Kerry, founded
there the aforesaid Franciscan monastery, in

which he was buried in 1280, as were subse-

quently other Lords of Kerry and many mem-
bers of their family. Of this foundation, the

present ruins exhibit a cruciform appearance,

consisting of the nave and choir, with a lofty
tower in the west, a chapel in the south, and
the refectory in the north

; adjoining which
are two sides of the cloisters, the whole prin-

cipally in the pointed style. The great east

window has five divisions, and is of bold

design. On the south side, the choir was

lighted by nine windows, under which are

five arches in the wall, differing in style and
elevation : in the centre is an altar tomb of

the last Earl and Countess of Glandore. The
south chapel, of which the great window is

perfect and its details handsome, was con-

nected with the nave by three noble pointed
arches resting on massive, but peculiarly ele-

gant, circular columns. A stone in the buttress

of the arch nearest to the tower bears a rude

inscription. In the choir are several very
ancient tombstones, one beai-ing the eftigy of

an Abbot.
In 1382, William, Bishop of Kerry {i.e.

of Ardfert) having shown that, by reason of

the poverty of his see, and the impassable
nature of his country, he could not attend tlie

King's Parliaments and Councils, was there-

upon excused. Cainden, in the days of

Elizabeth, speaks of the county Kerry as
" fuU of high inaccessible mountains, inter-

spersed with numerous valleys ;

—
running out

into the sea, the waves dashing against it on
both sides

;
a harbour of villains and retreat

for rebels !

"

At a later period (1683), the lady of Sir

William Petty writes, "My aftectionate, truant,
and humble servant, as he is pleased to style

himself, intends to go to Ireland within four-

teen days, as he tells me that, if I am truly

valiant, I will come to him. . . . There is a

coach in design that can't be overthrown, nor
be jolted in the highest ways, which you shall

hear of in due time." .... And again she

writes,
" Sir William has obtained a custo-

diam of his lands in KeiTy, and is gone upon
the unlucky place himself, which I am very

sorry for, considering how unfit he is to ride on
horseback in such dangerous ways."

"In 1582," say the Four Masters, "a
company of foot soldiers and half a company
of cavalry of Captain Zouch's force, were

quartered at Ardfert from the beginning of

harvest of the present year; and, although

tliey had plenty of provisions and stores from
the Queen, they didnot cease from consuming
and wasting the country round them

;
and

they obliged the chief of each clan to send his

son in to them as a hostage. The sons of Fitz-

Maurice of Kerry, having joined with the

Geraldines in the war, proceeded on a certain

night to Ardfert, and on the foUowing morn-

ing seized on the booty of the town. Captain
Haitson, the captain of the cavalry, rushed

suddenly upon theni without waiting for his

soldiers
;
but he was quickly encountered, and

in the first onset dismounted and despatched

by the sword. The sons of Fitz-Maurice

returned with their prey and encamped at the

town, despite of the soldiers Fitz-

Maurice took his sonswithhim from the town,
and both parties returned back to their woods

;

but tliey had scarcely gone, when Captain
Zoucli came to the country, on report of the

death of Captain Haitson
; and, when he did

not succeed in overtaking them about the

town, he hanged the young hostages who
were in tlie hands of his people. . . . Fitz-

Maurice suffered much above all others in

that war, for his people were exterminated and
his own buildings and dwellings were de-

stroyed ;
he had no security in taking refuge

in the hollows of trees, or of rocks, or of caves

of the earth, or in underwood
; for, in these

recesses, lie dreaded his enemies might find

him. Captain Zouch went to England in the

month of August in this year, having left

another captain in his place as governor over

the people of Munster. This captain took

with him all the soldiers that there were in

Ardfert to Cork, and from that time there was
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hot a company or half a company of soldiers

to overrun the country or harass the Geral-

clmes to the end of this year ! Captain Zouch
was killed in a confiict in England before he

could return to Ireland It is impos-
sible to relate or enumerate half, or one-third

of tlie desperate encounters, hard-contested

conflicts, and intrepid onsets that were carried

on by the Geraldines at that time, and it was
then it was said, that the lowing of a cow or

the voice of a ploughman was not heard from

Dunkeen (in Kerry) to Cashel of Munster."
In IGOO, the Castle here, then belonging to

Lord Kerry, was besieged by Sir Charles

Wihiiot. The wardens made a considerable

resistance for nine days, "havingburnt some
machines which the English had placed against
the walls to secure their miners. At length
Sir Charles, having got a small piece of can-

non, called a sacker, which he had borrowed
from the master of an English ship in order

to batter down the doors, the walls being too

strong for so small a piece to annoy, the

garrison, in sight of the ordnance, thought

proper to surrender. Sir Charles hanged the

Constable, but the rest of the men were

spared."
In this latter year (1600), John Crosbie,

theretofore prebendary of Dysert, was ad-

vanced to the See of Ardfert, at which time

his ekler brother, Patrick Crosbie, was seised

of lands hereabout. This Patrick had a

previous grant of very extensivepossessions in

the Queen's County (Leix), as a reward from
the Queen forhis services against the 0'More.
On this estate the original house of Ballyfin
was erected by the Bishop, who himself died

in 1621, and was buried in his own church

here. In 1612, King James granted to

Thomas Fitz-Maurice, Baron of Lixnawe,
(inter alia)

" the manor and Castle of Ardfert,
and all the lands in Ai-dfert called Farren-

william, with other townlands and tenements
all in the borough of Ardfert; Courts Leet and
Baron within the manor

;
also a market and

fair, with courts of pie-powder, and the iisual

tolls." In 1634, the right of Ardfert to send

representatives to Parliament was, as in the

case of some of the Irish boroughs, questioned,
but all objections were over-ruled, and it con-

tinued a Parliamentary Borough until the

Union.
In 1639, Colonel David Crosbie, second son

of the Bishop, was chosen Member of Parlia-

ment for Tralee
;
he was appointed Governor

of Kerry by Lord Inchiquin in 1648, and con-

tinued by CromwelFs commission in 1650.

This individual erected a residence at Ardfert,

as appears from his memorial to Cromwell in

1653, in which he set forth that the Irish had

burned his house here,
" the building of which

(it was completed in 1635) had cost him

£1000." In 1702, David Crosbie, grandson
of the Colonel, obtained two grants from the

Trustees of the Forfeited Estates of lands in

this vicinity, which had come to the Crown

by the attainders of Sir Patrick Trant and
Jolin Gould respectively ;

he also claimed
several estates for lives and remainders in tail

in the lands of Ardfert, Lockamore, &c., as

limited by family settlements on him and his

sons and daughters. He died in 1717, leaving
Sir Maurice Crosbie, his son and heir, then
one of the Representatives of Kerry in

Parliament. He it was who enlarged and
new-modelled the residence in 1720, and
in 1758 was created Baron Brandon. His
son and heir, William, was further advanced
in the Peerage, having been created Viscount
Crosbie in 1771, and Earl of Glandore in

1776, both of which latter titles became ex-

tinct on the death of his son, Earl John, in

1815, without issue
;
while Ardfert Abbey and

the other family estates passed to the issue of

his sister, Anne, who had married William
Talbot of Mount-Talbot, county Roscommon,
and who also died in 1815. The present pro-

prietor, William Talbot Crosbie, Esq., is her

grandson.

WORTLEY HALL, Yorkshire, in the West

Riding, six miles from Barnsley, and eight
from Shefiield

;
the seat of Lord Wharncliffe.

This is an ancient seat of the Wortleys, to

which family belonged Sir Thomas Wortley,

High Sheritf of the county in the sixth and
seventh year of King Henry VII.,

" a

man of great power and consequence in the

neighbourhood. From the pedigree of the

family he appears to have allied himself by
marriage with itwo of the most powerful
houses in the North of England

—the Fitz-

williams and Pilkingtons." A gallant soldier

was this good knight, and somewhat matri-

monially given, for he married three wives,

one of whom,—the Lady Pilkington,
—he

repudiated, when, by the archbishop's license,

she took the mantle and ring, which was

equivalent to a vow of celibacy. Nor was he

without a strong seasoning of the romantic in

liis disposition. At the somewhat prosaic age
of seventy he erected a lodge in Wharncliffe

Chase, with an inscription carved on the face

of the rock, to the purpose that—"
it was built

for his pleasure to hear the hart's bell."

Another of this name was no less celebrated

for his warlike qualities, with the addition of

being a scholar and a poet. He was a zealous

loyalist, and upon the breaking-out of the

great Civil War, fortified his house at Wortley,
and raised a troop of horse for the King's

service, with which he kept up a sort of guerilla

warfare, more to the enemy's annoyance than

to any real good it did the cause in which he

had embarked. The Parliamentarians, how-

ever, regarded him with a very evil eye, and

when he was made prisoner at Walton Hall,

near Wakefield, in 1644, not only were his
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estates sequestered, buthevvas kept for several

years prisoner in the Tower. He evidently
deserved kinder treatment at their hands, for

if an eneniy, he was a brave and an open one,
and had for years been celebrated for his

hospitality and benevolence. Taylor, the

water-poet, has left a grateful record of his

liberal courteousness in a visit he paid to

Wortley, and, though in his usual style of

rodomontade, it affords a very good idea of

Wortley and its neighbourhood ;
a pictorial

daub may yet present a good likeness, and

perhaps a better one than a painting which
in reality is of higher merit. " Froni Leeds I

went to Wakeficld, whcre, if the valiant Pinder
had been living, I would have playcd Don

Quixote'spart, andchallengedhini ;
but being

it was so happy that he was dead, I passed
the town in peace to Barnsley, and so to

Wortley, to Sir Francis Wortley's ancient

house. The entcrtainment which himselfe,
his good lady, and his most faire and hopefull

daughter, gave mee there, as I never did, or

can, deserve, so I never sliall be able to re-

quite. To talke of meat, drinke, money, and
free welcome for horse and man, it were but

a meer foolery for me tobegin, bccause then I

sliould run myselfe into a hibyrinth outofwhicli

I should hardly linde the way. Therefore, to

his worship my humble thanks remembered
and everlasting liappinesse wished, both to

him and all that is his. Yet I can not forbeare

to write a little of the further favour of this noble

knight. Upon the fourteenth of September
afternoon he took horse with mee, and liis

lady and daughter, in the coach, with some
other servants on liorseback

;
where three

miles we rode over rocks and cloud-kissing
niountains

;
one of them is so high, that, in a

cleere day, a man may from the top thcreof

see both the minsters or catbedrall chiu-clics,

Yorke and Lincolne, neere sixty niiles off us
;

and as it is to be supposed That wlicn the Devil

did look over Lincolne, as the proverb is, that he

stood upon that mountaine, or neer it. Sir

Fi'ancis broxight me to a U)dge, the place is

called Wharncliffe, where the keeper dwels,

who is his man, and keeps all this woody,

rocky, stony, vast wildernesse under him
;

for

there are many deer there, and the keeper
were an asse if he would want venison, having
so good a master.

" Close to thc said lodgc is a stone, in bur-

then at the least one hundred cart loads
;
the

top of it is foure squai-e (by nature) and about

twelve yards compasse. It hath tln-ce seats

in the forni of cliaires, made by art (as it were

in the front of the rockc), whcrein three j^cr-

sons may easily sit, and have a view and

goodly prospect over large woods, towns,

corn-fields, fniitfuU aiul plcasant pasturcs, vil-

leges, rivers, decre, ncat, shcep, and all things
needfid for the life of man, contaynedin thou-

eands of acres, and all (or the better part)

belonging to that noble kniglit's ancestors and
himself. Behinde the stone is a large in-

scription ingraven, where, in an old character,
is described the ancient memory of the Wort-

leys (the progenitors to Sir Francis, now

living), for sonie hundreds of yeares, who
were lords and owners of the said landes and

demaynes, which hee now holds as their right
heire. About a bow-shoot from thence, by
descent of many rungs of a ladder, liis wor-

ship brought mee to a cave or vault in a

rocke, wherein was a table with seats and
little cushions round, and in a hole in the

same rock was three barrels of nappy liquor ;

thither tlie keeper brought a good red deere-

pye, cold roast mutton, and an excellent

shooing-horn of hanged Martimas biefe "—
hung Martlemas beef—"which cheernoman

living would thinke such a place coidd afford
;

so aftcr some merry passages and rej^ast we
returned home."
The celebrated Lady Mary Wortley Mon-

tagu was wife of Edward Wortley Montagu,
Esq., and through their daughter, Mary,
Countess of Bute, the Wortley estates have
descended to their present owner, Lord
Wharncliffe.

Wortley Hall is an elegant building, and
well adapted for the convenience and accom-
modation of so hospitable a race. Of the

scenery around iio account is needed after the

graphic description of the water-poet, who

certainly viewed it under the most favourable

influences—the influence, namely, of "
nappy

liquor and good red deere-jiye."

LAMBTON HALL, in the co. of Durham—
formerly Harraton, or, yet more anciently,
Harvertune—the seat of the Earl of Durham.
No earlier owners of Lambton are on re-

cord than the ancient and honourable family
whicli still bears the local name, being the

only one in the county
—with the exception of

Lumley, Earl of Scarborough
—that continues

to retain the seat whence tliey derived their

local appellation. They were among the

first families of the Nortli that embraced the

reformed religion.
At Old Lambton offices only are now stand-

ing. Tlie house was dismantled in 1797,
wlien thc present iioble mansion was erected,
after a plan by Bonomi, on the site of Harra-
ton. The old edifice was a double building,
with flanking gable-ended wings, and the

grounds attached to it were laid out in par-
terres and terraces. It occupies a steep

eminence, immediately overhangiiigthe Wear,
bctween the towns of Durliam and Sunder-

land. The river having abandoned the level

country, through whicli it had flowed for

many miles, now winds romantically betwixt

the woodcd banks and imdulating grounds
that form the scencry of Lambton Park.

There are several fine pictures to be seen
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in tliis noble mansion, from amongst whicli

the following niay be selected for notice, sinco

a more extended catalogne would be altoge-
ther incompatible with our limits :

—Portrait

of a Priest, by Bassano
;
Portrait of Annibale

Caro, by Titian
;

Portrait of a Young Feinale,

by llaphael ;
A Landscape, by Salvator Rosa

;

Two Landscapes, by Domenichino
;
A Lady

dressing, by Giorgione ;
Two Landscapes, by

Bothe
;

Madonna and Infant Jesus, by
Baroccio; A Landscape, by Breughels, &c.,
besides which are several excellent pictures

by Glover and other eminent Englisli artists.

The parlc, including tlie plantations wliicli are

extensive, contains abouttwelve hundredacres,
and lias tliree liandsome lodges at the respec-
tive entrances, built by the younger Bonomi.

Tlie story of tlie Worm of Lambton Hall

has been told by many writers, but probably

by none so well as Surtees, who, with all liis

antiquarian propensities, liad a highly poetical

imagination. We cannot do better, tliere-

fore, tlian to give the story in liis own words :

" The heir of Lambton, fisliing, as was his

profane custom, in the Wear on a Sunday,
hooked a small worm, or eft, which he care-

lessly threw into a well, and tliought no more
of the adventure. The worm (at first neg-
lected) grew till it was too large for its first

habitation, and, issuing from tlie Worm Well,
betook itself to the Wear, where it usually lay
a part of the day coiled round a crag in the

middle of the water
;

it also frequented a

green mound near the well (the Worm Hill),
where it lapped itself nine times round,

leaving vermicular traces, of which grave
living witnesses depose that they have seen
the vestiges. It now became the terror

of the country, and amongst other enormi-

ties, levied a daily contribution of nine cows'

milk, which was always placed for it at the

green hill, and in default ofwhich it devoured
man and beast. Young Lambton had, it

seems, meanwhile totally repented him of his

former life and conversation, had bathed him-
self in a bath of holy water, taken the sign of

the Cross, and joined the Crusaders. On his

return home, he was exti-emely shocked at

witnessing the efiects of his youthful im-

prudences, and immediately undertook the

adventure. After several fierce combats, in

which the Crusader was foiled by his enemy's
power of self-union, he found it expedient to

add policy to courage, and not pei'haps jjos-

sessing much of the former, he went to con-

sult a witch, or wise woman. By her judicious
advice, he armed himself in a coat of mail

studded with razor-blades
;
and thus prepared,

placed himself on the crag in the river, and
awaited the monster's arrival. At the usual

time, the worm came to the rock and wound
himself with great fury round the armed

knight, who had the satisfaction to see his

enemy cut in pieces by his own cfforts, whilst

the stream washing away the severed parts,

prevented the possibility of reunion. There
is still a sequel to the story :

—The witch had

promised Lambton success only on one con-

dition,
—that he should slay the first living

thing which mct his sight after the victory.
To avoid the ])ossil)iIity of human slaughter,
Lambton had directed his father that as soou
as he heard liim sound three blasts on his buglc
in token of the achievement performed, lie

should release his favourite greyhound, which
would immediately fly to the sound of the

horn, and was destined to be the sacrifice.

On hearing his son's bugle, however, the old
chief was so overjoyed that he forgot the

injunction, and ran himself with open arms
to meet his son. Instead of committing a

parricide, the conqueror again repaired to his

adviser, who pronounced as the alternative of

disobeying the original instructions, that no
chief of the Lambtons should die in his bed
for seven, or (as some accounts say) for nine

generations
—a commutation which, to a mar-

tial spirit, had nothing probably very terrible,
and which was willingly complied with.

The Worm Hill stands not within the do-
main of Lambton, but on the north bank of the

Wear, in the estate of North Biddick, a mile
and a half it may be from old Lambton Hall.

The hill is a small artificial cone of common
earth and river gravel. The Worni Well lies

betwixt the Hill and the Wear. Half a

century ago the Worm Well was in repute as

a wishing-well, and was one of the scenes

dedicated to the usual festivities and super-
stitions of Midsummer-Eve

; acrookedpin may
sometimesbe still discovered sparkling amongst
the clear gravel at the bottom of its basiii.

The Lambton Woi'm belongs to a class of

household tales, the genuine appendages of

ancient families long occupying the same

ground and station
;
and perhaps no other

certain deduction can be drawn from such

legends excepting that the families to whicli

they relate are of ancient popular reputation,

against whose gentle condition " the memory
of man i"unneth not to the contrary." Some-

times, indeed, the tale relates to the founder

of the family, the true story of whose estab-

lishment being long forgotten, has thrown a

misty halo around his brow. Like the preux
chevalier of romance, the homo propositus of

the name goes forth to slay wolf, bear, or

wivern, and if on his return he does not marry
the king's daughter, he at least receives broad
lands and livings as his guerdon. To this

class belongs the Worm of Sockhurn, the

Brawn ofPollard's Dene (botli of which have
faulchion evidence), the Boar of Kentniere,
and that other Brawn of Brancepeth, whom
Roger de Fery slew treacherously in a pit-
fall at Cleves Cross. But the Lambtons were
a family of good and valorous repute long
before the date of their family legend (which
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only ascends to the fourteentli century), and it

does not appear that the hero of the tale

reaped anything from his adventure except
the honour of the achievement, and a very

singular curse on his descendants to the ninth

generation.
As to the matter-of-fact contained in these

legends, it is impossible to deny that, when a

great part of England lay in moor, morass,
and forest, wolves and bears may have been
much more troublesome neighbours than any-
thing of which we have a conception. As to

wolves, they were by no means exterminated by
King Edgar. The monks of Fors in Wensley-
dale, about 1180, hada dangerous grant from

Alan, Earl of Richmond, of the flesh of all

wild animals torn by wolves within their own
dale. King James I. and VI. sometimes
took the diversion of wolf-hunting in Scot-

land, in which kingdom the last wild wolf

was killed as late as 1G80
;
and in Ireland,

proclamations were issued against wolves in

Antrim in the reign of Anne. It is confessed

that it is much more difficult to account for

serpents of a magnitude to require the inter-

vention of a hero
;
and flying dragons are still

worse
;
the possible allegorical meaning is too

obvious to be detailed. The subject matter

of the exploit may be equally a Danish rover,
a domestic tyrant, or, as in the well-known
case of the Dragon of Wantley, a villainous

ovei-grown lawyer, endowed with all the

venom, maw, and speed of a flying eft, whom
the gallant Moor of Moor Hall ^^

slciv with

nothing at all
' '

but the aid of a good con-

science, and a fair young maid of sixteen " to

'noint him o'ernight, when he went to fight,

and to dress him in the morning."

SWANBOUENE, in the co. of Buckingham,
and in the Cottesloe Hundred, near Winslow,
the seat of the Right Honourable Sir Thomas
Francis Fremantle, Bart.

The name of this place has at different times

been variously spelt Sveneborne, Suenehorne,

Soene?ibern, and Suneberie, a looseness of

orthography which has opened an abundant
field for conjecture to the etymologists. By
some it has been imagined that the village

acquired its appellation from "
Suen, a man of

Asgar Stalre, or the Standard-Bearer, who
heUl in the Saxon times the manor, which after

the Conquest was bestowed upon Geoffi-ey de

Mannevilie." This may pass in the absence

of anything better, while the latter half of the

name—the bourne—indisputably has reference

to the bourne, or brook, at the foot of the hill

upon which the village is situated.

SMITHSTONE HOTJSE, parish of Torbolton,

Ayrshire; the seat of William Cooper, Esq.,
of Failford and Solsgirth, is a commodious

residence, situated in a rich and well-wooded

district, near the centre of the county, and in

the vicinity of the river Ayr, the banks of
which stream, in this part of its coin-se, are

remarkably picturesque, consisting of a suc-

cession of red sandstone rocks, surniounted by
copse woods of oak and birch. The house
was erected in 1786, by William Cooper,
Esq., the grandfather of the existing pro-
prietor, and has been enlarged and orna-
mented by the last and present possessors.

Tlie estate of Failford, on which this man-
sion is situated, was erected into a regality in

1712, by Charter, in favour of Sir Thomas
Wallace, of Craigie, Bart., conferring all the

powers and jurisdiction of the great Regality
of Darnley, of which it was formerly a part,
and containing a grant of " a free chapel and

Chancery," which is believed to be of veiy
unusual occurrence. Pi-evious to the act

abolisliing heritable jurisdictions in Scotland,
the privileges conferred by a Charter of Re-

gality were great.
On one of the farms of this estate there

were a number of ancient sepulchres, con-

sisting of oval-shaped mounds of various

sizes, covered with green turf, and regularly
built in the intei-ior with rough stones. Several
of these mounds have been opened at various

periods, and have been found to contain urns
of baked clay, ornamented with diagonal
stripes, and full of half-burned bones. The

place appears to have been the scene of some
ancient battle or skirmish.

At the little village of Failford, in a beauti-

ful situation, near the junction of the rivers

Fail and Ayr, a handsome range of alms-
houses was erected and endowed, a few years
ago, with funds left for that purpose by the
late Alexander Cooper, Esq.

GREYSTOKE CASTLE, in the county of

Cumberhmd, about five miles from Penrith,
the seat of Henry Howard, Esq.

According to the most received belief, the

barony of Greystoke was granted by Ranulph
de Meschines to one Lyolfe, or Lyulphe, and
confirmed to his son, Phorne, by Henry I.

Phorne assumed the name of Greystoke
from the estate, a name which had been

given to the latter, as being a place of graijs,

badgers, or brocks, as the animal is variously
designated in difterent coimties even at the

present day. In this family it continued
till the reign of Henry VII., when Eliza-

betli, daughter and heiress to Ralph, the last

Lord Graystock, married Thomas, Lord Dacre
of Gilshmd, with whose descendants it re-

mained till the time of Queen Elizabeth,
when Anne, eklest daughter and coheiress of

George, Lord Dacre, conveyed it to the

Howards by her marriage with Philip, Earl of

Arundel, eldest son of the Duke of Norfolk.

Although this brief sketch may give a

tolerable notion of the families possessing
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Greystoke, it will liardly be thought in-elevant

if we quote wliat the learned antiquary, Cam-

den, has said upon the subject. He tells us,—" And now Eden, ready to fall into the

estuary, receives two little rivcrs at the same

place, Peterill and Cande, which run parallel
from the south. Upon the Peterill is Grey-
stock, the castle of a family which has long
been famous

; deriving its original from one

Ralph Fitz Walter, of whose posterity, Wil-
liam de Greystock married Mary, daughter
and coheir of Roger de Morley, Lord Mor-

peth. He had a son, John, who, having no

issue, obtained license of King Edward I. to

make over his estate to his cousin, Ralph de

Granthorpe, son of William, whose posterity
for a long time flourished here in great
honour

;
but about the reign of King

Henry VH., that family expired, and the

estate came by marriage to the Barons of

Dacre
;
the heirs-general of the last of whom

were married to two sons of Thomas Howard,
Duke ofNorfolk.

" On the east-side of Allerdale, at the

mountains Carrock and Grisdale Fells, and

adjoining to the south-side of the Forest
of Inglewood, lies the barony of Greystock,
which contains all that part of the county
above the said forest, between the seignory of

Penrith and the manor of Castlerigg towards
Keswick. This barony, the Earl Ramdph
Meschines gave to one Lyolf, or Lyulphe ;

and King Henry L confirmed the same
to Phorne, the son of the said Lyolf, or

Lyulphe, whose posterity took the name of

the place, and were called De Greystock.
Their issue male continued Barons till King
Henry Vin.'s time, when, by a daughter,
named Elizabeth, the Lord Thomas Dacre,
to whom she was married, became Baron in

her right. It is holden of the king by
knight's service in capite, by homage and

cornage ; paying yearly four pounds at the

fairs of Carlisle, and suit at the county court

monthly, and to serve the king in person in

his wars against Scotland."
It woidd far exceed our limits to speak of

the various iUustrious characters that have at

dilFerentperiodsbelongedto theHoward faniily.

They were at one time zealous Yorkists
;

the Duke of Norfolk and his son, Lord

Surrey, both fought for Richard III., at the

battle of Bosworth Field, the Duke being
killed, and Surrey being taken prisoner by
Richmond, who, however, received him into

favour. His after career was one of con-

tinued prosperity. In the reign of Henry
VII., he was made Lord High Treasurer
of England, and a Knight of the Garter. In
the reign of Henry VIII. he routed the

Scotch at the memorable battle of Flodden-

Field, for which victory, besides other honours,
he received a grant of twenty-nine manors.
A beaiitiful and touching old ballad still re-

mains, to prove what a cruel and lasting
wound had been infiicted upon the whole
Scottish nation by this signal defeat of their

best and bi'avest.

"THE MOANS OF THE FOREST AFTER THE
BATTLE OF FLODDEN FIELD."

" I have heard (1) a lilting at the ewes' milking,
A' (3) the lasses lilting' (2) before the break of day;

But now there's a moaninf; in ilka (i) green loning (5)
Since the Flowers of the Forest are weeded away.

At bughts (6)
in the morning, nae blythe lads are

scornmg (7),
Our lasses are lonely, and dowie, and wae ;

Nae daffing, (8) nae gabbing, (9), but sigliing and
sobbing,

Ilka lass lifts (10) her leglin and hies her away.

In har'st at the sheering nae swankies (11) are jeering,
Our bandsters (12) are wrinkled, and lyard, (13) and

grey ;

At a fair, or a preaehing, (14) nae wooing, nae fleech-

ing, (15)
Since the Flowers of the Forest are weeded away.

At e'en in the gloming (16) nae youngsters are

roaming
'Bout stacks with the lasses at Boggles to play ; (17)

But ilka lass sits dreary, lamenting her deary,
Since the Flowers of the Forest are weeded away.

Dool (18) and wae fa' (19) the order, sent our lads to
the border

;

The English for once by a guile won the day ;

The Flowers of the Forest, that shone aye the foremost,
The piide of our land now lys (20) could in the clay.

M^e^II hae nae mair lilting at the ewes' milking,
Our women and bairns now sit dowie and wae ;

There's nought heard but moauing in ilka green loning,
Since the Flowers of the Forest are weeded away."

1.—That is, formerly, whilst the young men were
living.
2.—Singing cheerfuUy, in a brisk style, peculiar to the

Scotch.
3.—AU.
4.—Each.
5.—Lane ; a word still common in the North.
6.—Circular folds, where the ewes are niiLked.

7.—Bantering, jeering.
8.—Waggish sporting.
9.—Prating jestingly.
10.—Can, or milking pail.
11.—Swains.
12.—Bandsters, binders up of the sheaves.

13.—Hoary.
14.—A preaching in Scotland is in some respects like a

country fair.

15.—Flattering, fawning.
16.—Glinmiering, twilight.
17.— ''

Bogill, (or boyle) nbout ihe stacks," or simply,
Bogle, is a play of children, or young people, in which
one hunts several othcrs around the stacks of corn in a

barn-yard. The name has probably originated froni the
idea of the himtsman employed being a scarecrow or

hobgoblin to the rest.

18.—Doloer, sorrow.
19.—Evil betide.

20.—Lies.

Greystoke Castle is situated upon an emi-

nence, having a gradual ascent from the

north-east, by which is the common approach,
but to the east and south it stands on the

brink of a rock. Immediately beneath it, is a

small stream running into the Peterill, and

passing by the walls with some rapidity, while

in its course it falls down several artificial

cascades, that add greatly to the general

beauty of the scene. The upper sheet of

water is of some extent, and is made yet
more picturesque by its flowing about several

islands, and by the contiguity of a hanging
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wood, wliich covers the summit aiid decHvities

of a lofty eminence. A shiice delivers water
from this canal to a bath, placed in a retired

spot, the adjacent grounds being laid out in

flower-parterres, shrubberies, and grass-slopes.

Hence, again, the water of the entire river

falls about sixteen feet perpendicular, down

steps that break it into foam, when it is re-

ceived in a basin bordered with grass walks,
and having on the one side a hanging garden,

upon the other a shady grove. From this

tliere is a second fall into another reservoir,
with the like adjuncts of woods and gardens,
after which the water rushes over a natural

channel, and passes by an arch through the

fence of the pleasure-grounds. Wooden
bridges are thrown over the stream at proper
intervals, and the extensive plantations are

embellished with several ornamental buildinas,

erected as termmations to the prospects from
the road which conducts to the principal
entrance. The Park contains nearly a thousand
head of deer.

The ancient Castle, which was fortified,
and of which some broken towers and other

remains are still seen, was modernized l)y the
Hon. Henry Charles Howard, grandfather
of Charles, Duke of Norfolk, about the
middle of the seventeenth century. Since
that time Greystoke has been partly rebuilt

and altered in the style of Henry VHL, by
the present owner, from designs of A. Salvin,

Esq.
In this mansion is a vahiable collection of por-

traits, interesting as works of art, and as repre-

senting several of our most iUustrious historical

characters. Such for instance, as—Henry,
Earl of Arundel, when a boy ; by Vandyck—
John, Duke of Norfolk, who fell at Bosworth
Fiehl—Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, Lord High
Treasurer to Henry VHL—Erasmus, with
the following inscription :

—
"Hannes Ilolbenno mo fecit,
Johannie novie nie detlit,

Edvardus Suiry me possidet."

Mary, Queen of Scots, in the dress she wore
at the time of her execution, which a

manuscript in the British Museum thus de-
scribes— " The said 8th of Febreuary beinge
come, and the tyme and place appointed for

the execution as aforesaid
;
the said Quene of

Scots, beinge of stature tall, of boyde corpu-
lent, round-shouklered, her face fatt and brode,
double chenned, and hasle eyed, hir borrowed

heare, browne
;
hir attyre on hir head was on

this manner
;

she liad a dressing of lawne,
edged with a bone lace, a pomander chain with
an Agnus Dei abouther neck, a crucifix in liir

hand, a payer of beads at hir girdle, with a

goulden crosse at th' end of it; a vaile of
lawne fastened to hir cowle, with a bowed out

wyre, and edged round about with a bone lace
;

hir gowne of black satten prynted, with a

trayne, and long sleves to the ground, set
witli a range of buttons of jet, trimmed with

pearle and short sleves of black satten cut,
with a payer of sleves of purple velvett, hole
under them

;
hir kirtle hole of figured satten

bLick
;
hir petycote uper bodie, unlaced in the

back, of crymson satten
;
hir petycote scrites

(skirts) of crymson velvett, hir shoes of

Spanysh lether, with the rough side outward,
a payer of greene silk garters, hir netlier

stockings wosted coloured, water-set clocked
with silver, and next hir legg a payer of Jersey
hose, whit."

In addition to these and other poriraits, are
several highly vahiable pictures, as—"ANun
at the Grate," a very old piece, cap close like
a night-cap, and the veil hanging over the left
shoulder. A small picture, in embroidery,
representing the Crucifixion of our Saviour
between the two Thieves

;
this was the work of

Mary, Queen of Scots, given by her mother,
the Duchess of Guise, to a Coimtess of
Arundel, of which there is an account in the

handwriting of Henry Charles Howard, on
the back of the picture, &c., &c.

In addition to Greystoke Castle, Mr.
Howard possesses

THORNBURY CASTLE, in Gloucestersliire,
one of the most distinguished of those castel-
lated remains, which aimed at uniting tlie

convenience of a dwelling with the security
of a stronghold.

In Domesday Book we find it stated tliat

this manor was held by Brictric, the son
of Algar, a Saxon Thane, terii]). Edward
the Confessor. Unfortunately he gave
offence to Maud, the daughter of Baldwin,
Count of Flanders, previous to her marriage
with WilHam, Duke of Normandy, by refusing
to marry her himself, and in consequence,
upon the subjugation of EngLind by the Nor-
man, the Conqueror seized his property and
gave it, in revenge as it seemed, to the new
Queen. Her son, William Rufus, granted the
manor to Robert Fitz Hanion, (a descendant
of Duke Rollo,) whose fourth daughter and
coheiress—Mabel, or Sibilla—married Robert,
commonly called tlie Consul, a natiu-al son of

King Henry L, by Neste, a daughter of Rees
ap Tudor, Prince of South Wales.

It next passed by marriage to Ricliard de
Clare, Earl of Hertford, and in his family it

remained for four generations, when it devolved
in a similar way to the Staffords. The last

Earl of Stafford conveyed the castle and manor
of Tliornbiny to Edward Howard, Duke of

Norfolk, by whom they were settled in 1776,
on Henry Thomas Howard, second son of

Henry Howard of Glossop, in the county of

Derby. Finally they descended to his only
son, Henry Howard, Esq., the present pos-
sessor. It must be observed, howcver, that

although Edward, Duke of Norfolk, acquired
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this property hy purcliase, the lineal repre-
sentation of Edward, Duke of Buckinghani,
has vested in the present Baron StafFord.

Still, the present owner, Ilenry Howard, Esq.,
can clciini a descent froni tlie founder of the

Castle, Edward, Duke of Buckingham. By
his Grace the building of the Castie, now in

ruins, was commenced in the second year of

Henry VIII. 's reign, but he did not live to

complete his work, being executed for real or

supposed treason in 1521.

This castle was restored to his son in the

reign of Mary, but doubtless great dilapida-
tions had taken place in the interval. Le-

land, who saw it about twenty years after the

Duke's death, says
—" There was of auncient

tyme a maner-place, but of no gi-eat esti-

macyon, hard by the north syde of the Paroche

Churche, Edward, late Duke of Bukkyngham,
likynge the soyle aboute, and the site of the

Howse, pullyd downe a greate parte of the

olde House, and sette up magnificently in

good squared stone the southe syde of it, and

accomplyshyd the weste parte also withe a

right comely gate-howse tothefii-st soyle; and
so it standithe yet with a rofe forced for a tyme." This inscription on the fronte of the gate-
howse. ' This gate was begon in the yere of
our Lorde God, 1511. the 2 yere of the reigne
of Kynge Henry the viii., by me, Edward,
Duke of Bukyngliam, Erle of Hereforde,
Staforde, and Northampton.
"TheDuke's Worde.
" Doresenavant.
" The foundation of a very spacious base

courte was there began, and certeyne gates,
and towres in it, castelle-lyke. It is of a iiii

or V yardes highe, and so remaynithe a token
of a noble peace of worke purposid." There was a galery of tymbre in the

bake-syde of the house joining to tlie north
side of the parochc-churche.

"
Edward, Duke Bukkyngham, made a fayre

parke hard by the castle, and tooke nmche
faire ground in it very frutefull of corne, now
fayr launds for coursynge. The inhabitants
cursed the Duke for thes lands so incloysed." There cummithe an armelet of Severne,
ebbynge and flowyng into this parke. Duke
Edward had thought to have trenchyd there,
and to have browglit it up to the castle."

Rudder, in his History of Gloncestcrshire,
gives a very particular description of this

place from an old manuscript, which he con-

jectures to have been written about the time
of King James I.

"The house, or castle, of Thornbury is

standing, and being within two miles of the
river Seaverne, which runeth on the north

thereof, and is bounded and adjoyned unto
the church-yard of the parish church of Thorn-

bury on the south part; the park there, called
New Park, on the north and east part ;

and
one small parcel of ground called the Petties,
on the west part.

" At the first entry towards the said castle,
is a fair base court, containing by estimation
two and a half acres, compassed about with

buildings of stone for servants' lodging, to tlie

height of fourteen or fifteen feet, left unfinished
without timber or covering, set forth with
windows of freestone, some having bars of iron
in them, some none.
"At the entry into the castle, on the west

side of the same, are two gates, a large, and a

lesser, with a wyck gate. On the left hand
there is a porter's iodge, containing three

rooms, with a dungeon underneath tlie same
for a piace of imprisonment. Next adjoyning
imto the same is a fair room, cail'd the ' Duke'3

Wardroppe,' (dressing-room) with a cliimney
therein. Within the same is a fair room, or

iodging-chamber, with a ceiiar or vauit under-
neath the same. Over ali wiiich are four

iodging-cliambers witii ciiimneys." On the right hand 'of the said gates, are
two fair rooms cailed the Duchess s Wardroppe,
and over them are two fair chambers, cailed
tiie Steward's chambers, within all whicli is a
court quadrant paved with stone, containing
by estimation half an acre, encompassed with
the castie-buildings, and leading from the gates
aforesaid to the great haii, at the entry where-
of is a porch, and to the right iiand of a smail
room caiied the [sic orig.] On the left, or
north side of the said court, is one fair wet
larder, a dry iarder, a bake-house and boyiing-
house, with an entry ieading from aii the same
rooms of oflice to the great kitchen

;
over all

wiiich are chambers for ordinary iodging, and
over the same again is one iong room, caiied
tiie cock-ioft. Tiie great kitchen having two
fair fliies or chimneys, and one lesser chimney,
and witiiin the same Ivitchen is a privy-kitchen,
over wiiich is a iodging-chamber for cooks.

" Oa the back side of which iast-recited

building are certain decay'd buiidings, some-
times used for a bake-house and armery,*
with certain decayed lodgings over the same.
"From the great kitchen ieading to the

great hail is an entry, on the one side whereof
is a decay'd room caiied the sculiery, with a

iarge flue or chimney therein, and a pantry
to tlie same adjoyning. On the other side of
the entry are two oid decay'd rooms, hereto-
fore used for clerks, on the back side whereof
is a iittle court adjoining to the said kitchen,
and in the same is a fair weil, or pump, for

water, partiy decay'd ;
between wliich decay'd

ceilars, at the iower end of the said liali, is a

battery, over aii which recited rooms are four

diambers, caiied the Earl of Startbrd's iodg-
ings, partiy decay'd, with one room caii'd the
cierk's treasury thereunto adjoyning." From the iower end of the great hali is an

entry ieading to the chapel ;
at the corner of

the entry is a cellar. The upper part of the
*

I.e., the almerij, or almonri/, iiu offlce in which alms
wore (Ustril)uted to tlie poor. Armeru is a niere typo-
graphic.il Ijlimder.

U
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chapel is a fair room for people to stand in at

service time, and overthesame are two rooms,
or partitions, with each of them a chimnej',
where the Duke and Duchess used to sit and
hear service in the chapel ;

the body of the

chapel itself fair built, having twenty-two
settles, or wainscotes, about the same for

priests, clerks, and queristers ; the great hall

fair and large, with a hearth to make fire on
in the midst thereof.

"
Adjoyning to the upper end of the same

liall is one other room calFd the old hall, with

a chimney in the same. Next adjoyning to

the same is a fair cloyster, orwalk, paved with

brick paving, leading from tlie Duchess's lodg-

ing to the privy garden, which garden is four-

square, containing about the third part of one

acre, three squares whereof are compassed
about with a fair cloyster, or walk, pavedwith
brick paving, and the fourth sqviare bounded
with the principal parts of the castle, calPd

the new building, over all which last recited

cloyster is a fair large gallery, and out of the

same gallery goeth one other gallery leading
to the parish church of Thornbury aforesaid,
at the end whereof is a fair room with a chim-

ney, and a window into the said church, where
the Duke sometimes vised to hear service in the

same chm-ch. Near adjoyning vmto the said

large gallery are certain rooms and lodgings,
called the Earl of Bedford's* lodgings, con-

taining thirteen rooms, whereof six are below,
three of them having chmineys in them

;
and

seven above, whereof fovu" have chimneys
likewise. AU of which houses, buildings, and
rooms aforementioned are for tlie most part
built with freestone, and covered with slate

or tile.

" Tlie lower part of the principal building
of the castle is called the new building ;

at

tlie west end thereof is a fair tower, in which
lower building is contained one great cham-

ber, with a cliimney in the same, the ceiling
and thnber-work thereof decayed, being
propped vip with certain piecesof othertimber;
within tlie same is one other fair chamber
with a chimney tliercin, and within the same

again is one otlier fair lodging chamber with

a chimney thercin, called tlie Dvichess's

hulgings, with one little room or closet be-

tween the two last recited chambers
;
within

all which is one room, being the fovmdation
or lowermost part of tliesaid tower, called the

Duchcss's closet, with a cliinmey therein, from
the which said Duchess"s lodging leadeth a
fair gallery paved with brick, and a stayer at

tlu> end thereof ascending to the Duke's

hnlging, being over the same vised for a privy
* It seems difficult to accoimt foi- these apartments

tioiiii; callcd " Thc Kail of T^cdfonrs lo(lt,'in.ss." Jasper
Tiulor, tlic vmclc of Ilciiry Vll., b)' \vhom he was creatcd
IJidvC of l'cdford,iiiarricd(.'athcriiic, the widow of Ilciiry
Staftbrd, Diikc of r.iickiimhain, bchcadcd bv Richard
III., 1483. Juspcr dicd iii M1I.5, and from that tinie the
title was extiiict, niitil K.dward VI. created Sir John
RusscU Earl of Bedford, in 154'.).

way. From the upper end of the great hall

a stayer ascending up towards the great cham-

ber, at the top whereof aretwo lodging-rooms.

Leading from the stayers-head to the great
chamber is a fair room paved with brick, and
a chimney in the same, at the end whereof
doth meet a fair gallery leading from the

great chamber to the Earl of Bedford's lodg-

ing on the one side, and to the chapel on the

otlier side
;
the great chamber very fair, with

a chimney therein. Within the same is one

other fair chamber, called the dining cham-

ber, and a chimney therein hkewise
;
and

within that again is one other chamber, with

a chimney tlierein also, called the privy
chamber

;
and within the same again is one

other chamber or closet, called the Duke's

jewell-chamber. Next vmto the privy cham-

laer, on the inner part thereof, is a fair rovind

chamber, being the second story of the tower,
called the Dvike's bed-chamber (hke vmto the

same) being the third story of the tow^r, and
so vipwards to answer a like chamber over the

same, where the evedents do lye.* All which

last recited buildings, called the new build-

ings, are buikled fair with freestone, covered

with lead and [sic orig.]

"On the east side of the said castle, is one

other garden, containing by estimation three-

quarters of an acre, adjoining upon the Earl

of Bedford's lodging ;
at the west corner

whereof, is alittlevoid court of waste grovind.
On thenorth side of the castle, adjoyningupon
the chapel, is a little orchard, containing by
estimation half-an-acre, well set with trees of

divei-s kinds of fruits. AU which castle-

buildings, covirts, orchards, and gardens

aforesaid, are wali'd round about with a wall

of stone, part rviincd and decayed in divers

places thereof, containing in circviit and quan-

tity, by estimation, twelve acres of ground or

thereabouts. On the east side of the said

castle, adjoining to the utter side of the wall

tliereof, is one fair orchard quadrant, contain-

ing by estimation, four acres, paled abovit

well, and thick set with fruit-trees of divers

kinds of frviits."

This is a cvirious record, as preserving the

meinory of what must else have been speedily

forgotten ;
but since the time of the survey on

which it is founded, many important changes
have taken place ;

all the older parts of the

castle, comprising a great number of rooms,
have been whoHy destroyed, and nuich injury
has unfortunately been done to the ornamental

parts, only a fcw years ago.
The whole extent of the western front is

about two hundred and five feet, but it has

been left in a very incomplete state. _The
height of the southcrn tower was about sixty-

seven feet, wilh its battlements complete, and

* The uppermost chamber in a tower was commonly
choscn as a place of security for title-dccds, charters, and
other valuable documents.
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we may suppose that thenortherntowerwould
have corresjjonded, had it been linished. The
rest of the front, with the exception of a turret

on the south side of the gateway, rises only to

the height of twenty feet. The steward's

chanibers, southward of the entrance, are still

covered with the temporary roof mentioned by
Leland, and are kept in a habitable state.

In the south front, the larger windows

present examples of the best and most elabo-

rate style of tracery adapted to domestic
architecture. The bay-windows of the two
eastern roonis exliibit a studied dissimilarity
of ornament, a caprice highly characteristic of

the latest style of Gotliic arcliitecture. The

plan of the lower window has several angular
projections, whilst that of the upper one has
five circular compartments. The upper
window which gave light to the room, called in

the Survey, the great chamber, is profusely
studded on the inside witli the armorial badges
of the Duke's family. The bay windows in

the two central rooms correspond to those in

the elevation, but are narrower and less

elaboratein their plans, particularly the upper
one, which has a simple angular projection.
Tlie chimneys in the front are most elaborately
decorated. Those on the tower are of stone.

The douljle one on the right hand is of brick.

The single tunnel, ornamented with spiral

moiddings, had originally a cover which was

perforated at the sides for letting out the

smoke, aud finished at the top by a slender

pinnacle.
The western gateway now requires to be

noticed^ It has a postern-door on the north
side of the principal gates, but the arch
towards the inner court comprehends tlie

breadth of both. The groove for a portcullis
is sliown, but the portcullis and gates no longer
exist. The scroll over the gateway, which is

much defaced, beai-s this inscription, in the
black letter :

—
"

urfjns gatE. toas. bfgun. fn. tfjr. pert. nf. otnrr. iLurDr.
<5aliE. mrrrrcit. ttjc H. prre. of tljr. rrnnr. of . iADngr ?tKuri
\iie tilil. tp. mr. iSDtD. Sur. of liuttUDnoljar Srll. of

ItKrfotrr. Stafforlie. anae Nortljampto."

On one of the scrolls below is inscribed

Doresenavant. This—which is variously spelt

Dorhiavant, and Doresnavant, that is, Dores-
en-avant—is an old French word, signifying"
henceforward," or "

hereafter,"
—in allusion,

it is supposed, to the Duke's expectation of

one day possessing the crown of England.
Upon the whole, there are few reliques of

the olden times more worthy of a curious con-

sideration than Thornbury Castle.

CASTLETOWN, distinguished as Castle-
TowN-KiLDRouGHT

;
tlie scat of Thomas

Conolly, Esq., M.P.
;

is situated on the skirt

of the co. Kildare. The demesne lies low,
but its site is marked from a great distance by
a commanding obelisk, and by thc ancient

timber that is scattcred over it, while through
its whole extent it is bounded by the Liffey,
which here divides Kildare from Dublin.
The largest cedars in the kingdom embellish
its pleasure-grounds, while a noble avenue of

limes, a mile in length, leads from the village
of Celbridge to a mansion-house generally
regarded as one of the finest of our Grecian
edifices. The centre is three stories high,
with thirteen windows in their breadth, all

built of hewn stone and vmited by lonic

colonnades, of nine columns each, to two pa-
vilions, each of which is two stories high and
seven windows broad. The grand staircase has
brass balustrades, the apartments are exqui-
sitely finished, and several rooms enriched
with paintings, chiefly portraits. These splen-
did saloons and shady walks are all eloquent
of the brightest days of Irish independence.
"The house of Castletown (writes a tourist in

1780), the seat of Mr. Conolly, the grandest
Commoner in the kingdom, is fitted up in the
most elegant modern taste, and his mode of

living is in the highest style of hospitality.
He has a public news or coffee-room for the
common resort of his guests in boots

; where
he who goes away early, may breakfast

;
or

who comes in late, may dine
; or, if he who

would chuse to go to bed, may sup before the
rest of the family. This is almost princely."

In 1215, the patronage of the Church,
which had theretofore existed in Kildrought,
was given by Miles Purcel, for the health of
his soul and that of Beatrice, his wife, to the

Abbey of St. Thomas of Dublin, then an object
of peculiarly fashionable endowment, in de-
ference to Henry II. In the wars of Poitou,
in the time of Edward III., Robert de Clinton,

having taken prisoner a French bishop, sold
his rausom to the King for £1,000, four hun-
dred of which he was induced to release on
that monarch granting him the manors of
"
Kildrought

" and Kilmacridock, with the

apjjurtenances, in the county of Kildare, and
the manor of Lucan, and a certain mill, called

Loteriirs mill, with the appurtenances, in the

county of Dublin, which theretofore belonged
to Thomas de Rokeby,

"
runcle," late Justi-

ciary of Ireland
;
to hold to said Robert for his

life, saving Knights' Fees, and Advowsons of
Churches to said manors appertaining, and

saving the reversion to the Crown on said

Robert's death. These manors subsequently
vested in Maurice Fitz-Maurice, the fourth
Earl of Kildare, he having in the last year of
his life (1390) obtained a grant thereof in fee.

In 1404, a castle existed here in the seigniory
of the Earl of Kildare, but in 1419, fouryears
after the battle of Agincourt, Henry V. granted
to John Talbot, Knight, one of the most cele-
brated warriors in that chivalrous field, the
aforesaid three manors with their appurte-
nances in fee for ever. Although this grant,
however, professed to convey the perpetuity,
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in tliree years afterwards the right of the Earl

of Kildare thereto is recognised, on accoimt of
" the noble blood and extreme poverty

"
of

the lieir. A record of the Castle of Kildrought,
in 1431, will be fouud in the notice of '

Lyons.'
An unprhited Act of 1475, for repealing an

attainder of the Earl of Ormonde, thirteen

years previously, enables his lieir to enter on
liis estates,

" so that this statute be not pre-

judlcial to the Earl of Kildare, in respect to

any lands which ought to be his proper in-

heritance, viz.—the manors of Kildare, May-
nooth, and Carton, and the Coiu-ts of Carton,
Rathmora, Lucan, Kildrought, Arst, Geyshil,

OfFaley, and all other lands which are the

ancient inheritance of the said Earl of Kil-

dare."

In 1611, King James granted to Lord

Delvin, "a waste toft or site of a water-mill

in Kikh-ought, near St. Magha's well, with

one hundred feet on each side of said site,

witli the mill-park containing half an acre,
the weir, watercourse and soil, to hold for

ever as of the Castle of Duhiin in common
soccage." In five years after, the same mon-
arch granted to Walter Dongan, Esq. the manor
of Castletown-Kildrought, with the castle and
lands of Castletovvn; Kihnacridock, with a

castle, water-mill, pond, mill-stream, weir, the

Earl of Kildare'sfann in Kikh'ought, Ayhuer's
farm in same, a weir in the Rye water, near

Blakcston, &c., to hold in like manner of the

Castle of Dublin. Of all these latterpremises,
said WaUer died seized in 1626, leaving Jolin

Dongan of Castletown, Baronet, his son and

heir, then aged twenty-three, and married.

Amongst those attainted in 1642, were Ohver

Dongan, and Thomas Dongan, Junior, of

Castletown, and Edward Dongan, of Black-

wood, in the same county of Kildare. But
Sir John appears not to have been affected by
the forfeitures of this period ;

at least his son,

William, in 1669, bcing then Viscount Lime-

rick, obtained a frcsh grant of the lands of

Castletown-Kikh-ought, with various lands in

the county, which were thereby erccted into

the manors of Kiklrought and Clane, with
600 acrcs in each for a demesne, courts leet

and baron, fairs, markets, &c. Tliis indivi-

dual afterwards was ek^vatcd to the Earldom
of Limerick by Jamcs II., a distinction wliich,
with the services that mcrited it, marked him
for attainder, whereby the fee of all his pos-
sessions here, as well as in other parts of tliis

county, wcre confiscatcd to tlie Crown, who
granted the rcctoral titlics of CastkHown to tlie

trustees for tlie augmentation of small vicar-

ages, from whom thcy passed to augment thc

vicarge of this parish.
Tlic lands, &c., vested in the RiglitHonour-

able WilHam Conolly, who was Speaker of the
House of Commons of Ireland, in the time of
Qucen Aniu>, and who was on tcn different oc-

casions svvorn one of the Lords Justices of that

kingdom. From him they descended to his

grand-nephevv, the Right Honom-able Thomas

Conolly, in vvliose time Castletown dispensed
the profusion of hospitality spoken of at the

commencement of this notice, nor did it soon

decline. " The hurry of Castletown," writes

the unfortunate Lord Edvvard Fitz-Gerakl, in

1794, to his mother,
" what with balls, and

hunting, and sitting after dinner, took up all

my time. I long for the quiet of Frescati."

The patronymic of the present proprietor vvas

Pakenham, vvhicli his father relinquished for

Conolly, on succeeding to the estates of the

aforesaid Thomas (who was lils grand-uncle),
after the decease of his widow, Lady Louisa

Conolly, in 1821.

MONYMUSK, ScotLand, in the co. of Aber-
deen

;
the seat of Sir James Grant, Bart.

This seat is so called from the parish in

wliich it stands, and the latter is supposed to

have derived its name from two Gaelic vvords—
monaiigh, signifying "high" or "hilly,"

and mousich, importing
"
marshy ground."

The conjectiu'e appears to be justified by the

general nature of the place.
At a remote period this estate belonged to

a family who took their name from it—tlie

Monymusks of Monymusk. It next was

possessed for a century and a half by the

Forbeses of Pitshgo, and lastlj', since the year
1712, by the family of Sir Francis Grant,
Lord Cullen.

The buikling was erected in 1225, by the

wife of Sir Jolm Monymusk, while he was

fighting in Palestine against the Saracens. It

was nothing more than an ancient Scottisli

fortified tower; but the lady's neighboursvvere
nuich scandalizcd at her being so employed
during her husband"s absence, and remon-
strated with her upon the subject. By way
of answer to her unsolicited monitors, she

caused a stone tobe placed in the banqueting-
room, with this inscription

—" What they say,
let them say." The stone still remains there

to witness for the admonition and the retort.

Since the time of the foundress, it has been

enlarged by the addition of two wings, as well

as by various other improvements, though of

less consequence. It is pleasantly situated on
the south side of the river Don, vvhich flovvs

through the grounds for some miles, and falls

into the sea near Aberdeen. In the library
is an cxcellent collection of books, amounting
to about five thousand volumcs, and including
some old and valuable editions of the classics.

There are also many fine paintings in the

house, chiefly by the old masters, some of

which are of considerable value.

DALEHEAD HALL, in the co. of Cumber-
land

;
the seat of Thomas Leathes Stanger

Lcathes, Esq.
This property a^ one time belonged to the
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Ratcliffes, froni whom it passed to Francis

Dacre, Esq., by his marriage with the daughter
and heiress ol" Sir George Ratclitte. In the

nineteenth year of Queen Elizabeth, Adam
Leathes, Esq. obtained it by purcliase of

Francis Dacre, and with his descendants it

still remains.

The family of Leathes is derived from

De Brune, a knight who foUowed the for-

tunes of WiUiam the Conqueror into England,
and settling in Cumberhmd, became possessed
of the manor of Bowness and much of the

surrounding country, exfending to Leathes

aud Wigton. These Brunes, anciently a great

family, divided in process of time into several

branches, that adopted surnames from tlieir

respective habitations. The branch De la

Leathes took its appellation from the village

above-mentioned, whicli itself was so called

from the proviucial word leathy signifying
" abarn for corn."

The ohler part of the present house was

erected in the year 1G23
;
the more modern

portion was added by Thomas Stanger Leathes,

Esq., the father of the gentleman now owning
this estate. It is in the usual style of the old

Cumberland Halls, and is situated above the

lake, called Thirlinere, or Leathes Water, over

which it commands a noble view. The grounds
are laid out in the modern style, with a broad

terrace-walk before the house. Upon the

south they are bounded by a fine wood,

through which various paths are cut, connect-

ing them with the lake, a narrow irregular
sheet of water, about three miles in length,

skirting the immense base of Helvellyn, and

receiving a variety of torrents from the sides

of that moimtain.

RYSTON HALL, in the co. of Norfolk, about

a mile aud three-quarters from Downham
;
the

seat of Edward Roger Pratt, Esq.
This property at one time beionged to the

family of Gylour, and was purcliased of Walter

Gylour by William Pratt, Esq. The old house

was pulled down and rebuilt in 166G, by Sir

Roger Pratt, one of tlie Commissioners ap-

pointed by Charles to survey Old St. Pauls,
"and to set downe in writing tlie particulars
of what was fit to be don," upon which occa-

sion the Commissiouers could not agree among
themselves. This was on tlie twenty-seventh
of August ;

but on the third of August follow-

iug, while they disputed whether to pull down
the steeple altogether or only to repair it, the

great fire came and settled the matter for

them by burning the whole ecUfice to the

ground. In the simple but pathetic lan-

guage of Evelyn,
" London was, but is no

more."

Ryston Hall is in the style of the old French

chateau of the time of Louis XIV.; or rather,

it was in that style, for it has been consider-

ably modernized by the late Edward R. Pratt,

Esq. In the Mugna Britannta, we are told,
"
Ryston, or Ruston, lies a little north-west of

this town (West Dereham). Between this

place and West Dereliam, our chorographers

place Kefs Ouk ; or, as he called it, the Oak

of Reformution, where Coniers, the cliaplain
of the rebels, read prayers and preached, and
their court sat to administer justice and regu-
late disorders. Dr. Parker, Archbishop of

Canterbury, afterwards preached to tlie rebels

under this tree, and exhorted tliem to be quiet
and lay down tlieir arms

;
but it had almost

cost him his life."

WORKINGTON HALL, in the co. of Cumber-

land, and ward of Allerdale above Derwent,
about eiglit miles from Whitehaven

;
the seat

of Henry Curwen, Esq.
The manors of Workington (or, as Camden

writes it, Wirkington) and Lamphigh were

given by William de Lancaster, in excliange
for Middleton in Westmoreland, to Gospatric,
son of Orme, brother-in-law of Waldieve,
Lord of Allerdale. Tliomas, son of Gospatric,

having had a grant of the great lordship of

Culwen, his posterity assumed the name of

De Culwen. They became a family of great

consequence in the county, and eiglit out of

ten in successive desceut were knights of the

sliire. The name was first written Curwen by
Sir Christopher, in the reigu of King Henry
VI., and that orthograpliy lias been ever

since retained. Tliis ancient family became
extinct in the male line by tlie death of Henry
Curwen, Esq., in the year 1778, when his

daughter and only surviving child, Isabella,

conveyed the estate by marriage to her pater-
nal first-cousin, John Christian, Esq., of Une-

rigg Hall, who thereupon took the name of

Curwen in addition to his own. It is remark-

able of this lady, that she was the last and only

living cliikl, out of fifteen or more, all of

whom were either still-born, or died a few

minutes after their birth.

The old mansion was built in the reign of

William Rufus, by Patric de Culwen, son of

Thomas, son ofGospatrick, and was castellated

in 1379, pursuant to aroyaUicense granted by
King Richard II., to Sir Gilbert de Culwen.

Gough, in speaking of this place, describes it as

being
" a large quadrangular building, which

still bears luarks of great antiquity, notwith-

standing various alterations and improvements,
which Iiave been made during the last thirty

years. The walls are so remarkably thick,
that they were able a few years since, in

making some improvements, to excavate a

passage sufficiently wide lengthways through
one of the walls, leaving a proper thickness on
each side of the passage to answer every pm-
pose of strength."

This mansion, however, has been in a great
measure rebuilt, the oldest portion being the

gateway in tlie centre of the tower. It stauds
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upon a finely-wooded eminence, overlooking
the river Derwent, which, having washed the

skirts of the town of Workington, discharges
itself into the sea about a niile westward. The

prospect from this place is highly picturesque,

extending to the Solway and the opposite coast

of Scotland. Denton speaks of the whole

locality in glowing terms—"
I do not know,"

he says,
"
any one seat in all Britain so com-

modiously situated for beauty, plenty, and

pleasure as this is. The demesne breeds the

largest cattle and sheep in aU. the country.
The famous sahiion-fishery here is worth three

hundi'ed pounds per annum, tliree hundred of

those great fishes having been frequently
taken at a draught. They are likewise plen-

tifully stored here with very good sea-fish and
fowl

; and here is a large rabbit-warren,
wortli twenty pounds a year, besides what
serves the house, and a great dove-cot, stored

with a huge flight of pigeons ;
a salt-pan and

colUery worth twenty pounds per annum^
within the demesne."

It was precisely the same in Leland's time,
for he tells us,

" On the west side of Derwent
is a pretty creke, whereas shyppes come to,

where ys a prety litle fishertown called

Wyrkenton, and there is the chief house of

Sir Thomas Curwyn." Camden, quoting this

account, adds, "It subsists by the coal trade,

and has near one hundred vessels. The castle

is tlie seat of Henry Curwen, Esq. It has a

large demesne, and has always been remark-

able for fine cattle of all sorts. Here are salt-

pans and a good colliery ;
a large sahiion-

fishery, and much sea-fish."

It was within a very short distance of this

mansion, at the spot where the river Derwent

empties itself into the sea, that the unfortunate

Mary, Queen of Scotland, landed in 15G8,
after her escape from Locli-leven and subse-

quent defeat. At first she did not wish to be

known, but her real quahty being discovered,
she was liospitably received and entertained

at Workington Hall. Soon afterwards, as we
learn from the account—corrected, and in niost

places interlined by Secretary CeciFs own
hand—"

certeyn gentlemen of the country

hearying of the landyng of certeyn persons
out of Scotland, resorted to Wirkington, and

upon further understanding that she was the

Quene of Scotts, very dutifully brought her to

a town called Cockermouth, belonging to the

Erle of Northuml)erland
; by which the

Quene's Majesty was fyrst advertised of hir

arrivall, upon the fyrst knowledg thereof

gyven to hym by his oflicers, where she re-

niayned untill the Deputie of Carlisle had
assenibled the whole number of the gentlemen
of the country to conduct hir as honorably as

the nianner of the country would yield to the

castle of Carlisle."*

* Sec " Anderson's Collections."

The chamber in which Mary slept at

Workington Hall still retains the name of
the " Queen's Chamber."

KNOWLMERE MANOR, Yorkshire, v^ the

West Riding, near Accrington ;
the seat of

Jonathan Peel, Esq.
This handsome mansion was built in 1849,

by the present owner of the estate. It is in

the Tudor style of architecture, and situated

in Craven, upon the south bank of the river

Hodder, which flows through the estate, and
falls into the llibble at Mytton. The emi-
nences in the more immediate neighbourhood
of the house are covered with wood and

flovuishing plantations, while the bold wild
hills of the forest of Bowland form the distant

back-ground to the approach.

KINGSMUIK, in the co. of Fife
;
the ances-

tral residence of George Francis Hannay, Esq.
Tlie Hannays of Kingsmuir claim the repre-
sentatiou of the ancient family whose name

they bear
;
and that honour is assigped them

by the learned Nisbet, who infonns us that
" Mr. Robert Htmnay of Kingsmuir

" was the

head of tlie house in his time.

This Mr. Robert Hannay (who possessed

Kingsmuir in 1700) was an advocate of the

Scottish bar, and a person of considei"ation in

his day. He married Mary Livingstone,
widow of Colonel Borthwick

;
but left no issue,

whereupon tlie estate passed to his sister, Ann
Hannay. This lady (wlio was married to

Captain Erskine of Dun, but without issue)

bequeathed the property to her cousin, James

Hannay, son of Patrick Hannay, Esq. From
this gentleman it passed to his brother, Johu

Hannay, Esq., of Kingsmuir. He married
Miss Brown, and had George Hannay, Esq.
of Kingsmuir, who was an oflicer in the service

of the Crown in the United States. Adhering
faithfully to the loyal side when the " Inde-

pendence
"

controversy began, he was obliged
to fly the country. By his wife (Miss Hambly,
of Exeter) he left two sons—Peter Hannay,
Esq., R.N., who served as a lieutenant in the
" Defiance

"
at Trafalgar, and died without

issue; and George Francis Hannay, Esq., the

present possessor of the estate. Mr. Hannay
married Miss Cunningham, (whose grand-
father, Captain Cunningham, R.N., was a

claimant of the peerage of Glencairn,) andhas
a numerous family.
The estate of Kingsmuir was formerly part

of the property of the Scottish Crown. Mr.

Hannay has devoted his time, and with very
great success, to its iniprovement, and has

considerably increased its value, during his

tenure of it.

GLENDON HALL, Northamptonshire, in

Rothwell hundred, about three miles from
the town of Kettering, and sixteen from
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Northampton ;
the seat of Richard Booth,

Esq., now a niinor.

In the reign of Henry VIII. this property
belonged to William Lane, Esq., in whose

family it continued through various descend-
ants until the year 1758, when it was hought
by John Booth, Esq., of Glatton Hall, in

Huntingdonshire.
The immediate ancestor of this hranch of

the Booths, and father of the first purchaser of
Glendon Hall, was settled at Gilderstone,
near Leeds, in Yorkshire, and was descended
from a yoiuiger branch of the Booths of Dun-
ham Massey, who were of great repute through
a succession of many generations in Lanca-
shire and Cheshire, long before they arrived
at the rank of peerage as Earls of Warrington
and Lords Delamere, which last title remained
in the family till 1770.

Glendon Hall is built partly of stone and

partly of mere brick, the first-named portion
having an appearance of high antiquity. That
whicli is of brick was either added or rebuilt

by John Booth, E.sq., soon after his purchase
of the estate. It contains several good rooms
of fair dimensions, in which are paintings by
the best masters, with various portraits of the
Booth family and their connexions. The
listof the pictures ismuch too considerable to

be given here. To name a few only : A Boar
Hunt, a sketch by Rubens

;
Lucretia stabbing

herself, by Leonardo da Vinci
;
a Sleeping

Venus, by Luca Giordano
; Leda, by the

same
;

the Ascension, hy Annibal Caracci
;

a BacchanaHan Festival, in chiaro oscuro, by
Rubens

;
the Assumption of the Virgin, by

Albano
;

the Pool of Bethesda, by Tinto-

retto; a fidl-length Portrait of Catherine

Parr, Queen of Henry VIII., by Holbein
;

two Sea-pieces, by Vandervekle
; besides

others, by Breughel, Wouvermans, Zucchero,
Michael della Fratti, Lucatelli, Vandyck,
Schedone, Trevisani, CastigHone, &c., &c.

In the more ancient parts of the mansion,
there are a chapel and a gallery, the former

supposed to have been built by the Lane
family for the purposes of private devotion.
The park, in which the house stands, was

at one time of much greater extent. The
whole surface of it is diversified by undula-
tions that lend a pecuHar and pleasing cha-
racter to the general landscape, which else

niight be considered monotonous from the
absence of the grander features of rural

scenery.

PENTILLIE CASTLE, in the co. of Cornwal]
;

the seat of John TilUe Coryton, Esq.
This property at one time belonged to the

family of TilHe. Upon the death of Sir

James TiUie, he was succeeded by his nephew,
James Woolley, Esq., who took his name.
The only daughter of this gentleman's grand-
son conveyed the estate by marriage to the

late John Coryton, Esq., of Crockadon, de-
sccnded by a female Hue froni the Corytons
of Newton, and in tliis family it stiH remains.
The okl mansion upon this spot was erected

by Sir James TilHe, Knight, towards the close

of the seventeenth century. The body of
the buikHng was composed of brick, and
from it arose four square towers of fi-eestone,
one at each corner; in one of these was a
clock. The remains of the gardens and
shrubberies prove them to have been very
extensive, and indeed this fine seat was for a

long time far superior to all others upon the
banks of the Tamar. Mrs. TiHie, widow of
the last male heir of this house, lived here

through a long widowhood, but suftered the
mansion to faU considerably into decay, in

consequence of which her successor de-
moHshed the original pile, and erected a new
mansion upon a more ekgant and extended

scale, after a design by Wilkins. It occupies a
bold knoll, which rises ahnost perpendicularly
from the navigable waters of the Tamar.
The interior of this edifice ishiglily finished,

and the lobby contains one of the finest

painted windows in England. The figures,
which wei-e coHected froni aU parts of Europe,
but principaHy from Italy, are admirable, not
less in drawing than in colouring. In the

quadrangle is a pedestal supporting a fuH-

length statue of Sir James TiHie, with a roU in

his hand, and in the fashionable costume cf
Queen Anne's time.

The lands in the immediate vicinity of Pen-
tiHie Castle are hilly in the extreme, and the

, jjarts bordering upon the Tamar are covered
with fine okl woods, which are alternately
disposed in deep and extensive masses of

impenetrable shade, or in beautiful scattered

groups, adoniing the more exposed and ver-

dant eminences. At a short distance from
the north side of the house rises a natural
mount of aconicalshape, planted with firs and
other evergreens. At the top is a stone temple,
beneath the floor of which is a vauk, wherein
Sir James TiUie desired to be interred,"
there," as he said,

" to await the coming of
the general resurrection." This simple wish,
so Httle Hable, one woukl have thought, for

mahce or stupidity to pervert, has given rise

to a tale, which we mention only to note its

utter falsehood. Gilpin, we believe, was the
first to give it currency in print, tliough the
fable has since been repeated by others,

unable, or unwilling, to think for themselves.
It is thus that Gilpin tells his story :

—
"Mr. (Sir James

) Tilly, once the owner
of Pentilly House, was a celebrated atheist of
the last age. He was a man of wit, and had

by rote all the ribaldry and common-place
jests against religion and Scripture, which are
well suited to display pertness and folly, and
to imsettle a giddy mind, but are offensive to

men of sense, whatever their opinions may
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be, and are neither intended nor adapted to

investigate trutli. The hrilliance of jVIr.

Tillie's wit, however, led him a degree farther

tlian we often meet with in the annals of

prophaneness. In general, the witty atheist

is satisfied with entertaining his cotemporaries ;

but Mr. Tilly wished to have his sprightliness
known to posterity. With this view, in ridicide

of the resurrection, he ohliged his executors

to place his dead body, in his usual garb,
and in his elbow-chair, upon the top of a hill,

and to arrange, on a table before him, bottles,

glasses, pipes, and tobacco. In this situation

he ordered himself to be immured in a tower

of such dimensions as he prescribed ; where
he proposed, he said, patiently to wait the

event. All this was done, and the tower, still

enclosing its tenant, remains a monunient of

his impiety and prophaneness. The country-

people shudder as they go near it
;

'

Keligio i)avidos tei-i-ebat agrcstes
Dira loci ;

—
sylvam, saxumque tremebant.'

Where Gilpin picked up this idle fable, we
cannot pretend to say ;

but there is not a

word of truth in it, as he could scarccly have
missed finding, had he gone in the least out

of his way to inquire. The plain fact is, that

the body was laid in a coffin, and, as appears
from the whole tenor of his last will and testa-

ment, his character was the very opposite of

tliat which it is intended to fix upon him.
That he chose the site he did for his last

home, is not at all sur^irising, when it is con-

sidered he had enjoyed some of the happiest
moments of his life in the room above.
Atheism was never objected to the miller of

Worthing, because he desired to be buried on

High Dowu Hill, any more than to so many
others who have been troubled with similar

fancies.

In the August of 17.57, a di-eadful tlumder-
storm happened in the neighbourhood of this

mansion. Mr. Tillie and some of his servants

were seated at the time in a boat about half a

mile from the house, waiting for the coming
of tbe tide, in order to throw a net for catch-

ing salmon. Suddcnly a tremcndous peal of
thunder burst directly over their heads, and
on looking round in the moment of astonish-

ment, the grass in the adjacent lands seemed
to be in a general blaze. A ball of fire

passing near them, killed one man in the

boat, carried away part of Mr. Tillie"s hat,
and greatly injured him as wcll as several
others.

DOONASS HOUSE, Ireland, in thc co. of

LiiiuTick, lu-ar thc post-town of Clonlara; the
seat of Sir llugh Dilhm Massy, Bart.

This estate was bought by thc Vcry Rev.
Charles Massy, Dcan ofLimerick, from thethen

M;ir(pi(>ss of ThonH)nd, who dying at the time,
the sale was completed by his successor, the

Earl of Egremont. The house was built by
the first Sir Hugh Dillon Massy, about seventy

years ago, but it was considerably enlarged, in

1811, by the lateSir HughDillon Massy, uncle

to the present owner. It is a fine residence,
built in the style of an English villa, and
stands in the midst of a beautiful extensive

park. The gardens and pleasm"e-grounds,
which are laid out with much taste and judg-
ment, slope down to the banks of the river

Shannon, immediately above the Falls of

Doonass. At this spot the Shannon pours its

immense body of water with violence over

huge rocks and stones, forming a continued

cascade for some distance. Salmon of an
excellent kind abound in the river.

MIDDIETON PARK, co. Westmeath
;
the seat

of George Augustus Boyd, Esq., D.L. and J.P.
;

is situated about the centre of Ireland, ou the

western shore of Lough Ennell, or Belvedere

Lake, co. of Westmeath.
Tbis place formed a portion of the territory

of M'Geoghegans, a powerfulscpt in that dis-

trict, but was sold in the last century to John

Berry, Esq., in whose family it remained up
to 1841, when itwas added by purchase, by its

presentproprietor tohisestatesintheneighbour-
liood, as it appeared to offera more desirable site

on which to erect a suitable mansion than his

family residence on the eastern shore of the

lake, The fornier house was accordingly re-

moved, and the present one erected under the

superintendence of George Papworth, Esq.
It afFords a good example of the adaptatiou of

Greek arcliitecture to modern dwellings, and

contains, besides a good library, a small but
valuable coUection of paintings by the ancient

masters, selected by Robert, first Earl of

Belvedere, about the year 1750, from whom
thcy have descendcd through his motlier to

thcir prescnt proprietor.
A good view of the demesne, which con-

tains about 900 statute acres, with the lake

and the seats on its opposite shore, is obtained
from the garden front.

TREDEGAR HOUSE, Monmouthshire, on the

high-road between Newport and Cardiff, the

splendid estate and seat of Sir Charles Morgan,
Bart.

This property has long been possessed by the

Morgans, one of the oldest families in Wales,
whose name shines out brightly in the songs
of the native bards. " It is generally agreed,"

says a Welsh historian,
" that Cadivor the

Great, Lord of Dyfett, who died in 1084,
was their great ancestor. He married Elea-

nor, daughtcr of the Lord of Kilsaint, at which

place, called in Moamouthshire, tlie crad/c of
tlie Morgans, his son, Bledri, was settled.

This grandson, Ivor ap Bledri, was Lord of

St. Clare, in Caermarthenshire. Lewcllyn ap
Ivor, the fifth desccndant from Cadivor the

Great, espoused Angharad, daughter and
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heiress of Sir Morgan Meredith, Knight, of

Treclegar, from wliom the mansion and estate

were derived. He was the father of Morgan,
who inherited Tredegar ;

of Ivor the Gene-
rous

;
and of Philip, ancestor of the family of

Levvis, of St. Pierre.

The last heir male of the Morgans, dying
without issue, bequeathed Tredegar to his

sister Jane, wife of Sir Charles Gould, Bart.,

and, after her decease, to her husband, with

an entail upon their son, Charles Morgan,
Esq., of Ruperra.
Some writers have gone much farther, and

ti"aced this very ancient family to a much

higher source, niaking tliem descended from

Beli, one of the British; while others, more

moderate, have been contented with deriving
tliem from Caradoc, more familiarly known
as Caractacus. But a family so indisputably

ancient, and so distinguished in the songs of

the nationalbards, will gain little by attenipts to

dive into the depths of a past that is unfathom-

able by any length of line we can apply to it.

Tredegar House, which stands in a flat

part of the park, is a handsome and

spacious building, with a court in front, and
was erected in the reign of Charles II. It

stands near tbe site of the old family man-

sion, described by Leland in his Itinerary as

being "a very fair place of stone," some

portions of whicli still remain, but converted

into domestic offices. The new edifice is

built of red brick, the interior being divided

into many large and convenient «partments,
fitted up for the most part in an antique style.

Of these, not the least cvirious is one called the

Oak Room, froni its being floored and wain-

scotted with planks cut out of a single oak-

tree. It is forty-two feet in length, and

twenty-seven in breadth.

In this house is a large collection of pic-

tures, chiefly portraits ;
but in addition to them

are some valuable paintings by different

artists. Amongst the portraits is one of the

famous Sir John Maynard, sergeant-at-law,
and the intimate friend of Sir Charles Gould,

Bart., father of the present owner of the

estate. In this picture, which is a very fine

one, tlie sergeant appearsin his judicial robes.

The grounds attached to this house are laid

out with much taste, and varied with fine

plantations. The park, which is well stocked

with deer, is extensive, and abounds with oak,

beech, and Spanish chestnut. At the entrance

from the turnpike-road, on the right, is a neat

lodge, whence a short drive leads through
the midst of an extensive lawn to the man-

sion. The house and grounds are seen to

the most advantage from a bold eminence on

the left of the edifice, covered with a fine

grove ;
at the foot of the height a considerable

ornamental sheet of water extends as far as

the high road. To the right of the house are

the stables, built also of red brick, and at a

short distance, on the same side, are the

pleasure-grounds akeady mentioned,

COTHELSTONE HOUSE, in the co. of Somer-

set, seven miles nortli-west of Taunton
;
the

seat of Edward Jeffries Esdaile, Esq., a

magistrate for Somersetshire, and its Higli
Sheriif in 1S25.

Tliis house, which belongs to the lonic

order of architecture, is of modern date,

having been built by the present owner of the

property. It is constructed of white sand-

stone, from a quarry not long ago discovered

upon tlie estate, and well adapted for such

purposes. The princiiial, or south front, has

coupled pilasters, supporting a regular en-

tablature througliout, tlie centre being broken

by two columns, which with the mouldings,

capitals, cornice, &c., are taken from the

temple of Minerva Pohas at Athens.

Tlie ornaments of the interior are in har-

mony with the external character of tlie

building. The Hght to the staircase from tlie

roof is admitted by a circular horizontal win-

dow of stained glass, in a frame of cast

bronze, over which is a skylight. The whole,

though not very large
—

being only seventy-
four feet long, by sixty-eigbt feet wide—is

elegant and commodious.
In tlae dining-room are two or three valua-

ble paintings ;
the one by Gainsborough, five

feet nine inches by four feet, is said to be the

finest ever jiroduced from his pencil.
The ofRces are connected to the house by a

back wing, conoealed by plantations.
No seat throughout tlie county is more

admirably placed than this of Cothelstone.

To the south lies the vale of Taunton, backed

by the Browndown and Blackdown Hills,

from an opening in whiclr Halsdown by
Exeter is visible, at a distance of thirty miles.

An ancient round-tower, called Tlie Lodge,
and serving as a land-mark to ships in the

British Channel, aftbrds a most extensive

prospect ; upon a clear day, and with tlie

help of a good glass, the eye will take in no

less tlian fourteen counties. Hence the hne
of the Quantock Hills runs co the north-west

till it terminates at the ocean. This moun-
tainous range is chiefly covered with heath

and whortleberry. The black-cock is found

there in considerable numbers, and the eagle
has been occasionally seen in the same locality.

ALLESLEY PAEK, Warwickshire, two miles

north-west of Coventry ;
the seat of Edward

Vansittart Neale, Esq.
In early days this estate was vested in the

family of Hastings, vvho, according to tradi-

tion, had a castle here. Dugdale says :

"
Upon the brow of an hill, in the park here

at Alleslcy, do appear some ruins of building,

which, as the inhabitants say, were of a castle
;

but in record I cannot find that it was ever so

X
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termed." It re, liowevei', subjoined by Dug-
dale's editor, Dr. Thomas—" There still re-

mains a pier of an ancient castle, which
seems to have been double moated about; in

the innerinost moat was found by Neal a well,
steined about with stone iive foot deep, which

being cleansed proves an admirable spring,
and serves the house and offices. By the

side of the well there was a stone trough, with

five several holes, witli bits of leaden pipes in

them, which formerly conveyed the water
five several ways."
From the family of Hastings these lands

successively passed, by sale or otherwise, to

the Beauchamps, the Nevills, the Comptons,
and finally to Tlionias Hunt, sergeant-at-law,
whose widow, Martha, sold it to Henry Neale,

Esq., a branch of the family of the Neales of

Dean, in Bedfordshire.

Externally, the architecture of this house is

by no means remarkable
;
but within, it has

every accommodation of a modern mansion,
thus gaining in convenience what it may have
lost in outward appearance. The principal
front has a central compartment, slightly

projecting beyond the rest of the building.
In the upper series are apediment and vacant

tympanum.

COLGEAIN, co. Diunbarton
;

tlie seat of
Colin Campbell, Esq.
The estate of Colgrain, inchiding the lands

of CamisEskan and Kirkmichael Stirling, is

situate in the parish of Cardross, and co. of

Dumbarton, and stretches two miles along the
Frith of Clyde, andtwo miles and a half back-

wards, to the summit of the KiUter Hills. The
grounds are noted for beauty and variety,

consisting of gentle undulations, romantic

glens, ornamental plantations, natural copse
woods, and commanding the magnificent
scenery of the estuary of the Clyde, with the
mountains and lochs.

One of the most striking views of Loch-
lomond may be enjoyed from tlie summit of
the Kiliter.

The house is surrounded by an extensive

lawn, containing many fine old trees.

This estate was the ancient property and
seat of tlie Dennistouns of Dennistoun, and
was acquired by purchase in 183G, by its

present owner, who has since made a con-
siderable addition to tlie house, and also

greatly eiihanced the value of tlie estate by
agricultural improvements.

WALTON HALL, co. York, the seat of
Charles Waterton, Esq., was formerly an old
castellated mansion. The massive niined

gateway which now remains, bears marks of

great antiquity. A new wing was added
about IGSO, and a hundrcd years hitcr, the old

buikling was pulled down, and the present
Hall erected by Thomas Waterton, Esq.,
fathcr of thc present proprietor.

During the Civil War, Oliver Cromwell

brought a troop of men and attacked Walton
Hall. He remained six days before it, having
taken possession of the outbuildingsand stables,
which were on the other side of the lake.
Mrs. Waterton proved herself a heroine, and
while she was giving orders that the hugh
oaken doors should be closed and bolted,
Oliver with his own hand fired a musket-ball
at her, which is still to be seen imbedded in

the wood, and which has been carefidly pre-
served by succeeding generations. There was
a pathway leading to the village through an

adjoining wood. One of OIiver's men had
been observed by the besieged to pass up it,

with a keg on his shoulder, as though he were

going for a supply of ale. A swivel at the

top of the gateway was pointed so as to bear

exactly on the path, under the idea that the
soldier would return by the way he had gone.
He did so—^the swivel was fired, and the ball

broke the man's leg. The spot was marked
where the ball had entered the earth. There
it was found, nine inches deep, by the father
of the pi-esent proprietor, and it is now placed
in the Museum.

Oliver, disappointed at nothaving taken the

place, broke down the drawbridge, and retired,
after having fed his horses on the standing
corn. He took away all the live stock, carriage-
horses included. Mrs. Waterton, having an

engagement to dine at a neighbouring hall,
would not be disappointed. Having procured
a team of six oxen, she was enabled to keep
her engagement.

Walton was originally included in the
honour of Pontefract, which belonged to

Aluric, son of Richard Asherihold, a noble
Saxon Thane, who lived te^iip. St. Edward the
Confessor. He was succeeded by his son

Swein, who was deprived of his estates at the

Conquest. They passed to Ilbert de Laci, who
granted back to Swein a great part of them in

fee. Swein had a son, Adam, who founded
the Monastery of Monk Bretton. Adam Fitz-

Swein had two daughters and coheiresses,
between whom his large estates were divided.
Amabil was married to William de Nevill. They
had a daughterand heiress, Sarra, whom John
de Burgh married. Walton continued in the

Burgh family for several generations, till John
Waterton, second son of John Waterton, of

AVaterton, in the Isle of Axholme, married

Catherine, daughter and heiress of Thomas de

Burgh, and became possessed of Walton and
Cawthorne, _;«^e uxoris, in the year 1435.

Cawthorne was sold to the Wentworths, of

Bretton, circa 1600.

The present Hall, like the old one, is built on
an island, surroundcd by a sheet of water,

twenty-four acres in extent. From Oliver

Cromweirs time till 1813, it had been acces-

sible by a wooden bridge, but it is now
a])proached by a cast-iron one, consisting of a
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shigle arch of eighty feet span. On ascending
the great staircase, a noble coUection of

pictures by the old masters, meets the eye,
whilst birds of magnificent phunage, chiefly
from Tropical America, are arranged with

great etfect from the bottom to the top. On
this staircase stands a relic of great ancestral

estimation. It is the house-clock of Sir

Thomas More. This clock, and a portrait, by
Holbein, of the martyred Knight, came into

the family with Anne More, of Barnbro',

patei'nal grandmother of the present proprietor,
who is ninth in descent in a direct Hne from
Sir Thomas.

PEIfRHOS PAEK, South Wales, in the co.

ofAnglesey, near Holyhead; the seat of the

Hon. WiUiam Owen Stanley, late M.P. for

tlie county.
This estate was for a long time possessed by

the family of Owen, who were descended fi"om

one of the five sons of Hwfa ap Cyndellw,
lord of Llys LUfon, in the year 1157. Hwfa
was contemporary with Owen Gwynedd, one

of the niost celebrated Princes of Nortli

Wales, who more than once met and defeated

the Enghsh when under the personal com-
mand of King Henry IL He—Hwfa—
founded one of the fifteen royal tribes of

Wales, and his five sons inherited his princely

lands, extending from Aberffraw to Holyhead,
and including a large part of the island of

Anglesey.

Margaret, the daughter and lieiress of Hugh
Owen, Esq., of Penrhos, married in 1763, Sir

John Thomas Stanley, Bart., of Alderley,

Cheshire, and was mother of the late Lord

Stanley.
The house of Penrhos is an elegant modern-

built mansion, embosomed in a wood. Its prin-

cipal entrance faces the sea, of which it com-
mands an extensive prospect. About a quarter of

amile from the house is Penrhyn, acHtfproject-

ing into the sea, upon which was the residence

of the Owens for many centuries. Tlie coast

at times would appear to be very dangerous.

During the heavy gales in the January of

1802, the Dle-Liehe, a Dutch galhot bound
from Amsterdam to IreLand, and The Brothers
froni Liverpool, were wrecked iiear Penrhos,
when the unfortunate sutferers were hospitably
entertained here. The philanthropy of the

generous Lady Stanley on that occasion has

been duly recorded in verse by Llwdyd, who
tells us that here she

" Trod the dead beach in Charity's mild form,
And bade her Penrhos ope its doors to save ;

'Twas here aniid the raii-ing- of the storm,
That niany were saved from a watery grave."

NEWTON HOUSE, in the parish of Alves,
and co. of Elgin,

—
(or Moray, as it is fre-

quently called)
—the seat of George Alexander

Eortcath, Esq.

This property has belonged to the same

family fornearly a hundredyears.
Tlie original house was built by George

Forteath, Esq., grand-uncle of the present

owner, in the year 1793, and was in that style
of architecture which was commonly to be
found among the dwellings of the gentry during
the hist century.

Within tlie last three years, the present pro-

prietor has considerably enlarged and improved
the original structure, which may now lay claim

to the title of a first-class edifice. It is pic-

turesquely situated, within a mile of the great

North-road,—froni Loiidon to Inverness—from
which a fine view of it is obtained. It stands

in park-Iike grounds
—

gracefully fringed with

wood and thriving plantations
—laid out with

great taste. About a mile distant from the

house, and immediately in front of it, on the

summit of a high and conical-shaped Iiill,

(well-covered with wood,) called the " Knock
of Alves," is a tower, erected in 1827, by the

late Alexander Forteath, Esq., (father of tlie

present possessor of the property.) It is a

striking and conspicuous object, and com-
inands a very extensive and beautiful prospect—both of land and sea—extending over nine

counties. This property is situated in what is

termed (by way of distinction)
" the low part"

of the county
—a rich and fertile plain, about

five miles distant from the coast. The soil of

this district is for the most part a sandy-Ioam ;

in some places, sandy-gravel, and considerable

tracts are of very fertile clay, and the most

genial moidd.
•Botli agriculture and horticulture are here

prosecuted with much spirit, enterprise, and
success

;
the land, in general, yielding a

liigher rent than in the neighbouring counties.

The climate, too, is said to be very good, being
warmer and drier than in any other part of the

country ;
which circumstance, coupled with tlie

fact of its greatproduciiveness, has, doubtless,

obtained for this county the appeliation of the
"
Granary of Scotland."

BOMEKISTLE, Fifeshire, in the parish of

Daigety, five milcs from North Queensferry,
and close to the Frith of Forth

;
the seat of

the Right Honourable Francis Stuart, Earl

of Moray.
This mansion originally belonged to the

abbots of the neighbouring priory of St.

Colme—situated on Inch Colme,—who made
it their place of residence. It has, however,
received large additions at various periods,
and was completely modeniized by the late

Earl Moray, so that it now presents a plain

family residence with accommodations of

every description. At the same time, while it

has thus been rendered much more convenient,

it does not so well realize the idea of feudal

magnificenee as it did half a century ago, be-

fore the altcrations.
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The drawing-room is a noble apartment,

being about fifty feet long, and thirty feet in

height. It commands a splendid prospect of

the Frith, that large arm of the sea which

separates Fifeshire from the shores of the

Lothians, and which at all times is enhvened

by multitudes of passing vessels, while in

stonny weather it presents a scene as sublime

as it is beautiful. In the dining-room there

is a fine full-length portrait, by Vandyck, of

Charles I., with the Duke of Hamilton holding
his horse. Here too are portraits of the former

Earls of Moray, as well as of the noble con-

nexions of the family.
Donibristle Park is extensive, and covered

with a quantity of fine timber. The surface

of the ground is unduUiting andvaried, afford-

ing at difterent stations splendid views of the

Frith and surrounding country. At about

eight or nine miles, upon the opposite side of

the water, rises up the city of Edinburgh, in

all its romantic grandeur, the whiteness of

the newer portions contrasting with the dark

and antique character of the old, which is

generally darkened by a veil of smoke. Over
the lower buildings towers the venerable castle,

and forms a noble termination to the prospect
on the south-east; while the lofty ridge of the

Pentland Hills presents a fine background to

the rich shores of Mid-Lothian, which lie

more directly opposite to Donibristle. The

approach from the east gate at Aberdour is

about three miles in extent, part of itrunning

along a straight avenue of aged beech-trees,
and another part traversing an old garden at

Dalgety, that was formerly a seat of the

Tweeddale family. But, indeed, the whole

line of approach has its peculiar beauties—
the richly-wooded shores of the Fi-ith, the

park of Dahiieny, and the remoter domains
of Dundas and Hopetoun.

KINFAUNS, in the co. of Perth
;
the seat of

the llight Honourable Lord Gray, of Gray.
The estate of Kinfauns originally belonged

to the family of Charteris, who possessed il for

niany centuries. Tliey were descended from
a noble French family, of the name of Longue-
ville. Sir Thomas dc Longueville is said to have
been at the court of King Philip IV. at the

latter end of the thirteenth centiuy, and having
had a dispute with a nobleman there, killed

liim in the King's presence. He escaped from
France

; but, as he was refused pardon, he could

not venture to return. Having for someyears
carried on the trade of a pirate, he was en-

countered and made prisoner by Sir William
Wallace in 1301, wlio intcrceded for him, and

procured his pardon. He afterwards accom-

panied Wallace tb Scotland, was his brother-

in-arms, aided him in most of his valiant

exploits, and continucd to the last his faithful

adherent and friend. He was much distin-

guished by King Robert Bruce, who rewarded

his services by a royal grant of the estate of

Kinfauns in 1341. Sir Thomas de Longueville
assumed the name of Charteris, and was
founder of the family of Charteris of Kinfauns.

There were two families of Charteris in Scot-

land who disputed the chieftainship
—Kinfauns

and Amisfield. Both are now extinct in the

male Hne. The sword of Sir Thomas de

Longueville or Cliarteris, is still preserved at

Kinfauns by Lord Gray. It is of great size,

and made to be used with both hands. It

must now be about five hundred years old.

The family of Charteris were of high consider-

ation in the neighbourhood of Perth
;
and in

the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, the

Lairds of Kinfauns appear to have been very

frequently Provosts of that city. From 1465 to

1503, Andrew Charteris was Provost fifteen

times. John Charteris was Provost in 1507
and 1509. From 1521 to 1527, PatrickChar-
teris was five times Provost. In 1528, 1538,
and 1543, John Charteris was Provost.

From the family of Charteris, the estate of

Kinfauns passed to that of Blair, a branch of

the family of Blair of Balthayock. There
were two famiUes of Blair in Scotland who

disputed the right of chieftainship
—Blair of

Blair, and Bhiir of Balthayock. The question
was referred to King James VI., who decided

that the head of each family, who should be the

oldest man for the time being, ought to have
the precedence. Sir WilUam Blair was pro-

prietor of Kinfaims about the middle of the

seventeenth century. He had an only daughter
and heiress, who married the Hon. Alexander

Carnegie, younger son of David, Earl of

Northesk. He took the name of Blair. And
his descendant, Miss Blair, heiress of Kinfauns,
in 1741, married John, Lord Gray, of Gi-ay,
the grandfather of the present peei*, the pro-

prietor of this beautiful place.
The family of Gray were seated, for many

genei'ations, at Gray in the Carse of Gowrie.

But as Kinfauns was a more eligible residence,

it was preferred as their chief seat
;
and the

late Lord Gray expended large sums and dis-

played much good taste in its adornment.

The old Castle of Kinfauns was a buikling of

great age, and had been the abode of many
generations of Charteris and Blair. It was

removed by the late Lord Gray, who, in 1820,

commenced the present edifice on a most

strikingand beautiful situation. It commands
a fine view, and is situated amidst trees of the

most luxuriant growth, of which the great size

denotes the antiquity. The style of architec-

tiu-e is the castellated, of a simple and imposing

character, exceedingly well suited to its ele-

vated site, rising proudly above the river Tay,
and corresponding with the grandeur of the

surromiding scenery. The castle stands on a

raised terrace forty feet wide, with circular

bastions proiecting at the corners; the east

front extends 220 feet, and the south front
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128; the height of the flag-tower is 84 feet.

On entering from the coverecl carriage-way, a

vestibule lighted with stained glass, leads, by
a broad flight of steps, to the hall of entrance,

communicating with the gallery, 82 feet in

length, from which raost of the chief apartments
enter. The principal rooms occupy the east

and south fronts of the castle, commanding a

most delightful view of the noble river, and a

great extent of the surrounding fertile country.
The late Lord Gray was a man of taste

and erudition. He collected many rare and
curious objects, and beautiful woi-ks of art; so

that Kinfauns was no less attractive from the

interesting coUections which it contained, than
from its surrounding picturesque scenery and
the external grandeur of the building.

There is no family in the British peerage
which can boast of more widely-extended re-

nown than Gray. The branches which have
attained to splendid titles, and acquii"ed an

imperishable name in liistory, are ahnost in-

numerable. In every century of the English
annals, the Grays were great and powerful.

They boast of a much more ancient origin than

the house of Howard, and the iUustration of

their alliances has not been inferior. A dow-

ager and a maiden of their race, Elizabeth

and Jane, have filled the EngHsh throne.

The Dukes of SufFolk and Kent held the

highest place among the nobles of England.
The baronial branches are too numerous to

be here mentioned. And at this moment five

of the line are members of the peerage,
—the

Earls of Stamford, De Grey, and Grey ;
Vis-

countWalsingham, and Lord Gray, besides the

peerage of Grey de Ruthyn, possessed by the

Marchioness of Hastings, who is heiress-of-Hne

of the elder race of Earls of Kent. Lord

Gray, of Gray, is an undoubted branch of the

mighty EngHsh house. He traces his direct

descent from the great baronial family of

ChiUingham in Northumbei'land, the same
race from which Lord Grey of Wark, the Earl
of Tancarville, and Earl Grey are sprung.
There is no real distinction between the ortho-

graphy Grey and Gray. Gray is indeed the

ancient mode cf spefling the name. Li her

original correspondence, Lady Jane Grey speUs
her name Gray.

Sir Andrew Gray, a descendant of the

Barons of ChiHingham, was a faithful adherent

of King Robert Bruce, from whom, in 1314,
he obtained Large grants of estates in diff^erent

parts of Scotland. His descendant, Sir An-
drew Gray of Broxmouth, was, in 1437, created

a peer ofparHament. His descendant, Patrick,
seventh Lord Gray, was a very talented and
eminent man. He possessed a graceful person,
an insinuating address, boundless ambition,
and a restless, inti-iguing spirit.

On his return

from France, where he had been treated with

famiUar confidence by the Duke of Guise, he

paid assiduous court to King James VL and

obtained a great shai'e of his favour, and was
entrusted by him with the direction of the

most important aftairs. In 1584, he was sent

ambassador to England, and again, in 1586, in

order to intercede for Queen Mary. He was
banished from Scotland in 1587, and resided

many years in Italy. He died in 1G12.
His son Andrew, eighth Lord Gray, had

no surviving son. His daughter and heiress,

Anne, Mistress of Gray, caiTied the peerage
into a difterent family of the same name,—
Gray of Pittendrum. Sir WilHam Gray, de-

scended from an early branch of Lord Gray's
family, was the principal merchant in Scotland
of his time, and acquired great wealth. His
chief landed estate was Pittendrum. When
his eldest son, WiHiam, married the eldest

daughter of his chief, a cliarter of the peerage
was passed to him in 1640

; but, as duringhis
father-in-law's lifetime, he waskilled, in 1660,
in a duel, by the Earl of Southesk, he never

actually enjoyed the title. His son Patrick,
ninth Lord Gray, succeeded his maternal

grandfather in 1663. He had an only child,

Marjery, Mistress of Gray, who married her
father's cousin, John Gray, descended from
the Pittendrum family, but not from the direct

line of the Lords Gray. After this marriage,
there was a re-grant of the Gray peerage in

1707, of a very singular nature. Patrick,
ninth Lord Gray, agreed to the settlement of
the title on his cousin, John Gray, husband of
his deceased daughter, Marjery, And he

actually sat in parliament as Lord Gray,
though his wife (through whom, alone, he was
connected in the peerage) was dead, and his

father-in-law alive. His grandson, John,
twelfth Lord Gray, married the heiress of

Kinfauns, and was grandfather of the present
Lord. The representation of this very great
and distinguished family has thus been twice

transmitted through female descent to the

heir-of-line, the present Lord. The inter-

maiTiages of the Lords Gray have been with

Mortimer of Foulis
; Wemyssof Kyres; Forbes,

Lord Forbes
; Stewart, Earl of Athol

;
Mercer

of Aldie
; Ogilvie, Lord Ogilvie ; Ruthven,

Lord Ruthven
; Lyon, Lord Glamis

; Ogilvie,
Earl of Findlater

; Murray,Viscount Stormont
;

Stewart, Lord Blantyre ;
Blair of Kinfauns

;

Johnstone
;

Ainslie.

GEEYSBROOKE HALL, co. StafFord. This

ancient seat of the Grazebrook family, after

having gradually dwindled down from its

former size to a mere cottage, was finally de-

molished in the siunmer of 1852.

Situate in the pretty village of Shenstone,
which stands on a gentle eminence in the

midst of a rich undulating plain, it must have
formed an imposing object in days long gone
by, when it was first named Gresbroc Hall,
and the church near at hand was new.

It came into the possession of the family
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from whom its name was taken, in the reign
ofHenry III. But befoi-e this time the original
mansion had heen the residence of the De
Brays, and was probably erected shortly after

the Norman Conquest, towards the end of the

eleventh century. Huntbach makes the fol-

lowing minute of the deed of grant, showing
how it came to Robert de Grendon, and how
it passed from him to the Gresebrocs

;
the date

is 1250, or a few years later.
" The said Robert de Grendon by his deed

s. d. grants to Bartholomew de Gresebroc all

his house with messuage, &c.—which Domina
Alicia de Bray formerly hekl of him in Senes-

tan, as of her dower, &c., with housbote and

haybote in the woods of Senestan ultra Burnam.—Test. Sir Rob. Bagod. Rich. de Grendon.
John de Grendon. John de Estun. Ric. de
Thickebrom. Nic de Abrewas. Jo. del Wal.
Jo. Bagod. &c." (Quoted in Shaw'3 Staf-

fordshire.)
From the wording of this deed it would

appear to have been a large mansion. The

messuages, &c., referring probably to out-

houses, kitchens, stables, &c., as indeed the

high position of the De Bray family would lead

us to expect.
In the reign of Henry III. many halls of

the nobility were rebuilt. It is not recorded
that Bartholomew did so, but is highly probable
from the spirit of the times, architecture being
then much attended to, and houses before this

date having been generally composed wliolly of

wood. Some remains of the hall existing about
120 years ago, were of red stone, obtained
from ancient quarries about a mile distant.

Mansions of the nobiHty and greater gentry
at this period were usually built in the following
manner :

—Tlie house itself contained a large
hall open to the roof, in which meals were

taken, and which served as a justice-hall, and
also a sleeping room for guests in those primi-
tive days. At one end stood the buttery, and

cellar, opening from the hall, withwhich they
were on a level. Above these two was a bed-
room for the lord and his lady. Out-buildings
were quite separate, and the kitchen stood

nearest the road
;

so that it was necessary to

pass this and cross a yard or bailey to reach the

mansion itself. Surrounding all these at some
little distance was a strong wall, and generally
a moat.

It is impossible to trace the original form of
this mansion

; cottages having been built on
the site for many years. But what remained
in 1852, was evidently the kitchen rebuilt on
the same place as the old one. The materials
were brick and wood, and the probable date
1420 to 1500.

This stood about twenty yards back from the

road, a very (luaint-looking specimen of the

style ;
but had been much altered to make it

suitable for a farm-house. The wood-work
was curious although plain, and thc intcrior had

bare rafters
; and the large fire-plnce (eleven

feet across the hearth-stone) told of times when

hospitality was ponderoi/s. On to one end of

this, and running across, had beenjoineda
more modei-n part composed of old materials,
and consisting of brewhouse and parlour, with
rooms above, and a still more modern stable.

About a hundred yards east from the Hall,

were, till forty years ago, two pools, the re-

mains of the moat
;
but cottages and gardens

have so changed the surface of the groinid,
that it is now impossible to trace the exact
course it took in surrounding the house and

courtyards.

Sanders, writinghis
"
History of Shenstone"

in 17G9, saysthat the hall "
formerly was much

more considerable
;

"
thus it seems probable

that Greysbrooke Hall had fallen much into

decay, if not before, at least immediately after

it passed out of the faniilj', at the death of
Robert Graisbrooke, in 1727, when it went to

his nephew, Graisbrooke Cramp, Esq.,
—

(the
Grazebrooks of Audnam having been de-

scended from a second son some generations
before, although now the eldest branch.)
The estates in Shenstone and the neighbour-

ing parishes were very extensive, and were
sold to different individuals by Graisbrooke

Cramp, who left the neighbourlaood. Greys-
brooke Hall, with some lands, was purchased
by John Rawlins, Esq., of Lichfield, frora

whom it passed to his grand-daughter and her

husband, John Houghton, of Hintz, Esq., who
held it in 1769. Mr. Hewitt, a surgeon in

Liclifield, held it a short time ago, and he had
it from the Batkins, in which family it had
been for several generations ; probably it came
to them from a Houghton. The remains were

lately purchased by the Rev. Chancellor Law,
with lands attached, subject to thepaymentof
thirty shillings a year, left by Robert Grais-

brooke, for the schooling of fom- poor children

of Shenstone
;
and which, by the name of

" Graisbrooke's Charity," is to be paid yearly
for ever.

SPIXWORTH PARK, in the co. of Norfolk,
four miles from Norwich

;
the seat of Jolm

Longe, Esq., a magistrate and Deputy-Lieu-
tenant of the county, lineally descended from
Thomas Longe, Esq., of Ashwelthorpe, who
attended King Henry VII. at Nottingham in

1485.

In the time of the Conqueror these lands

were possessed by Roger of Poictiers, who was

succeeded, in the year 1199, by the Bardolf

family. We then find it passing successively,
in 1458, to John Skerning, Esq. ;

in 1474, to

William Catfield; in 1485, to Richard South-

well
;

in 1570, to the Peck family ;
and in

1693, to Francis Longe, Esq., Recorder of

Great Yarmouth. With his descendants it

has evcr sincc remained, the present possessor

liaving succeodcd in 1828 to the Spixworth
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estate upoii the deatli of Mrs. Catherine Longe,
relic of his cousin Francis Longe, Esq., who
diecl in 1812.

The house, which was erected in 1609, by
William Peck, Esq., is a red-brick buikling,
and presents a fine specinien of the Elizabethan

style of architecture. It is surrounded by
extensive gardens, and by a park of one hun-
dred and fifty acres, ornamented with some
fine timber.

The patronage of the Rectory belongs to the

possessor of the Spixworth estate, and the

living is now held by the Rev. George Howes,
a near connection of the Longe family, who
resides in the Parsonage, near the church.

FAITKLEGG, co. Waterford
;

the seat of
Nicholas Mahon Power, Esq., M.P.
Well inay Ryland, in his vahiable history of

Waterford, exclaim,
" The view from the hill

of Faithlegg is magnific.ent." It woukl cer-

tainly be difiicvdt to point out in Ireland a

spot from which a prospect so extensive, so

varied, and at the same time so pleasing, may
be obtained. Having reached a considerable

elevation, called the Minawn, in the neighbour-
hood of the Deer Park, the ardent admirer of

nature's beauties, or the antiquary seeking
to penetrate the misty veil drawn between him
and ages past, may feast his eyes upon a
scene which years will not efface from his

memory. Tlie open sea, far as the eye can

reach, now lashed to fury by the rising gale,
and madly tossing on its whitened waves the

trembkng bark, or cahnly bearing on its

peaceful breast the homeward sail of many a
fisher's cot.

Beneath yovu- feet the joyous meeting of the
sisters three :

—*

" The first the gentle Sure that maketh way
By sweet Clonmell, adorns rich Waterford.

The nest the stubborn Neiore, whose waters grey,
By fair Kilkenny and Kossponte-t board :

The third the goodly Barrow, which doth hoard
Great heaps of salmon in his dreary bosoni :

All which long simdered, do at last accord
To join in one, ere to the sea they come.
So flowing all from oue, all one a"t last become."t

Thelofty chains of distant hills, when bathed
in the ruddy glow of the summer sunset

;
the

wave-worn sides of rugged rocks, laved by the

passing stream
;
the heath-ckid mound

;
the

vmhevvn Cromlech
;

tlie solitary tower of the

chieftain
;
the more elaborate stronghokl of

later ages ; the cloistered abbey ;
the unroofed

church
;
the guarded fort

;
the populous city ;

the ruined town
;

the sheltered bay ;
the

landing-place of kings ;
the sunny mead

;
the

bending streams— each in their turn demand
attention, nor can they appeal in vain.

* The three flne rivers, the Suir, the Nore, and the

Barrow, all take their rise in the Sliebh-Bloom Mountains,
aiid receiving in their course the watcrs of seven other
minor streams, and passing through a large extent of

country, the Nore keeping the centre course, their

mingled waters make a noble appearance immediately
beneath the hills of Faithlegg.
+ New Ross.
t Fairy Queen, Book iv. Canto ii.

Arthur Young, in his tour through Ireland,
in the year 1776, visitedthis favoured spot, of

which he gives the foUowing description :
—

" Walked to Ballycanvan, the seat of Cor-

nelius Bolton, Esq. ;
rode with Mr. Bolton,

jun., to Faithlegg-hill, which coramands one

of the finest views I have seen in Ireland.

There is a rock on the top of a hill, which has

a very bold view on every side, down on a

great extent of country, much of which is grass
enclosures of a good verdure. This hill is the

centre of a circle of about ten miles diameter,

beyond which higher lands rise, which, after

spreading to a great extent, have on every side

a back-ground of mountain : in a southerly

direction, Mount Leinster, between Wexford
and Wicklow, twenty-six miles off, rises in

several heads * above the clouds. A little to

the right of this Slieve-Keiltha (i.e., the

woody movmtain) at a less distance, is a fine

object To the left, Tory-hill, only five miks,
in a regular form, varies the outline. To the

east there is the long movmtain, eighteen miles

distant, and several lesser Wexford hills. To
the south, the Bay of Tramore. To the west,

Monavallegh rises 21G0 feet above the levelof

the sea, eighteen miks off, being part of the

great range of the Cummeragh mountains
;

and to the north-west, Slieve-na-mann, at the

distance of twenty-fovn- miles : so that the out-

line is everywhere bold and distinct, thovxgh
distant. These circumstances would alone

form a great view,t but the water part of it,

which fiUs up the canvas, isin a much superior

style. The great river Suir takes a winding
covu'se from the city of Waterford through a

rich covmtry, hanging on the sides of hills to

its banks, and dividing into a double channel,
fornis the lesser island, both of which courses

yovi command distinctly ; vmited, it niakes a

bold reach under the hill on which you stand,

and there receives the noble tribute of the

united waters of the Barrow and the Nore, in

two great channels, which form the larger
island

; enlarged by such an accession of

water, it winds round the hill in a bending
course to the ocean. Twenty sail of ships-of-

passage gave animation to the scene; upon
the whole, the boldness of the mountain out-

line, the variety of the grounds, the vast extent

of river, with the declivity to it from the point
of view, altogether form sounrivalled a scene,

every object so commanding, that the general
want of wood is almost forgotten." Two years
after this account was written,

" I again," says
* Young evidently imagined that the three pinnacles

of Black-stairs Mountain, known as " the leaps of

Ossian's greyhound," formed a part of Mount Leinster,
in front of which it is seen.

+ Some idea may be formed of the grandeur of the

mountain sccnery in this view, from the following table

of heights taken from the late admirable Ordnance

Suiwey :

Feet.

Mount Leinster .... 2604

Monavallagh 2598

Slieve-na-mann .... 2362

BrandonHill 1696
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Young,
" visited tliis enclianting liill, and

walked to it day after day from Ballycanvan,
and with increasing pleasvire. Mr. Bolton,

jun., has, since I was there before, enclosed

forty acres on the top and steep slope to the

water, and begun to plant them. This will be

a prodigious addition, for the slope forming the

bold shore for a considei-able distance, and

having projections from which the wood will

all be seen in the gentle hoUows of the hill,

the effect will be amazingly fine. Walks and
a riding are tracing out, which will command
fresh beauties at every step. The spots from
which a variety of beautifui views are seen, are

numerous all the way from Ballycanvan to

Faithlegg ;
the whole, to the amount of 1200

acres, is the property of Mr. Bolton."

Numerous are the objects of interest which
add their charms to form one glorious whole.

Can-ying the eye along the rock-bound coast of

Wexford, a complete pictorial history of Ireland

is laid open to our view. A Martello tower
marks the boldheadland of Bagenbun,* faraed
as the first landing-place of the Anglo-
Normans in Ireland, where Robert Fitz-

Stephen, his thirty knights, his sixty men in

coats of mail, and his three hundred skilful

Welsh archers, ran tlieir ships ashore, and
here, according to the old couplet,

" Irclaud was lost antl won."

The Bay of Bannon,f beneath whose silent

sands lie entombed the remains of an ancient

city, known as " the Irish Herculaneum," and
where, upon a mass of masonry, still peering
its head above the ground, and believed to

be the chimney of the Tower Hall, two
members were wont to be returned, previous
to the Union, to protect the interests of the

submerged city in the Irish Parliament.
Fethard Castle, | still habitable, the ancient

see-house of the Bishops of Ferns, with its

graceful round-tower, and projecting battle-

ments. The lone Sallee Islands, where the

unfortunate rebel chiefs, Harvey of Bargy
Castle, and Colclough of Ballyteigne, lay con-
cealed until the 27lh of June, 1798. The fine

old tower of Hook, the guardian of the harbour,
built by Rose, daughter of Crume, king of

Denmark, to guide her chiklren to their

*
Accordin^ to Holinshed, the names of the two ships

in which the invadeis arrived, were the Banna and the
liocniie, and hcnce the nanie of hcadland.
t The Rev. K. Walsh, who visited this spot in 182G,

says,
" The impression that we were standing- over a once

populous city, which yet rcmains almost entire, with all
its busy inhabitants, it miglit bc, buried under our feet,
gave to its prcsent silence and solitude, an interest,
greatcr perhaps tlian is attiiched to any other remains in
the unitcd kintjdom."

t Kcstins af^ainst thc exterior wall of Fethard church,
which adjoins tlie castlc, is a larRC slab, crccted to the
memory of Alcxander Uevercux or De Ebroico, the hist
abbot of Dunbrody, who was consecratod Uishop of Ferns
in \.>^9, and dicd hcrc in \biiH. Ue is called by Grose, in
his Military Antiquities,

" a sacrilegious plunderer."

adopted home,* rearing its beacon-head one
hundred and thirty feet above the ocean dash-

ing at its base. The mouklering ruins of

Slade Castle, founded by the daring adven-

turer, Richard de Hay, in 1169. The old

grey tower of Houseland. Loftus (formerly
Redmonds) Hall, a seatof the noble family of

Ely, which came into their possession in 1 609,
and where is still preserved the imdoubted (?)

sword of the renowned Strongbow. The

frowning batteries of Duncannon Fort, with
its glacis, ravelin, and bastions, enlarged and

strengthened in 1588. James's Rock and

Kingsbay, the retreat of the flying monarch,
on the 3rd of June, after his defeat on the
banks of the Boyne. The high land of the

barony of Forth, with its remains of one-and-

tliirty Anglo-Norman castles, and eigliteen

churclies, telhng tales of bygone greatness and

decay. The sombre old tower of Buttermilk

Castle, on the river's brink. A toll-house

erected by the Bernardine monks, for the

double purpose of replenishing their coffers,
and curing their fish. The noble and sadly neg-
lected ruins"!' of Dunbrody Abbey, founded by
the pious Norman, Harvey de Montemarisco,
uncle to the Earl of Pembroke, about 1182,
and dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul. The
rugged rock of Carrickburn, frowning on the
atrocities committed in the barn of Sculla-

bogue,t where two hundred and twenty-one
unfortunate beings, male and female, young
and old, were slaughtered with savage fury
on the morning of the 5th of June, 1798.
The site of the rebel camp on Sliebh-Quilter,
and many other spots made memorable during
that eventful year. Sliebh-Grian,§ or the
Hill of the Sun, where the citizens of Water-
ford were wont to assemble and worship the

glorious orb of day. SHebh-na-mann, the
hill of fair women, the scene of Beauty's con-
test for the hand of the gigantic Fin-mac-
Coul. The lofty tower in the park at

Curraghmore, commemorative of the violent

death of the Lord Tyrone. Newark, the seat

of the late venerable Sir John Newport, Bart.,
the much respected Chancellor of the Exche-

*
If tradition speak truth, poor Rose erected her light-

house in vain, for her three sons, returning to Ireland,
and seeing the strangebeacon-hre at Ilooli, mistook their

bearings, and were lost, togethcr witli tlicir vessel.

t It is much to be lamented, that so little attention has
been paid to the preservation of the most interesting
ruins in Ireland. Lamentations are now raised, when
too late, that steps were not talicn, some years since,
when a very fcw pounds (!) would have saved the fall of
the fine west window of Dunbrod)-.

t On a lesser hill, beneath tlie rock of Carricliburn, is

now to be seen a far more pleasing object tlian the black-
ened remains of Scullabogue Harn, namely, a fac-simile
of Pompey's PiUar, built of fine granite, and rising to a

height of 95 feet, 4 inches
;
erected to commemorate the

services of General Browne Clayton, in the campaign
under Sir Ralph Abercrombie.

\ Tighe, in his "
Survey of Kilkenny," speaking of the

Druidical rcniains on Slieve-Grian, saj's tliat tlie words
" Belli Divose " are ilistinctly visible on (me of the large
stoncs, rcferring, as he takes it, to the names of Bel and
Dionusos, under which the sun was worshippcd in these
islands.
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quer ; the spire, more massive than gi-ace-

ful, of Christ Church Cathedral. pointing to

the site of the " Urbs infacta," founded by
Sitoracus the Dane, so far back as 853, and

where, in later years, Dermofs lovely chikl,
aniidst the reeking horrors of a newly-con-
quered city, became the bride of Pembroke's

crafty Earl
;
the fiag still waving over the

ivy-clad walls of the island castle, erected

some tjme in the sixteenth century ;
Mount

Druid, where the ancient priests of the mis-

tletoe and tlie oak long since performed their

mystic rites
;

the treacherous bay of Tra-

more, marked by lofty beacons, tlie scene of

the tragic end of two hundred and ninety-two
soldiers of the 59tli Regiment, together with

seventy-one women and children, who were

wrecked, in the Sea-horse transport, in the

memorable month of January, 1816
;

the

hill of Kilmacombe, crowned with its Crom-

lech, until witliin L^te years, a good specimen
of its kind, when the hand of man effected

the ruin which time had disdained to perform.
New Geneva, the site of the proposed settle-

ment of a Genevese colony in 1785; the

shamefully mutilated remains of Crook Castle,
once the property of the renowned Knights
Hospitallers of St. John

;
the landing-place

of the second Henry, on St. Luke's day,

1171, where the sudden appearance of awhite
hare was considered, bj'^ England's mighty
monarch, his five hundred knights, and four

thousand men-at-arms, as a blessed omen, and
imdoubted "s/fjnum vlciorice ;" the lovely

bays, sheltered by the fine headlands of

Credau and Knockaveelish
;
the fast disap-

pearing ruins of Passage Fort and Castle,

where Perkin Warbeck, although assisted by
the proud Desmond, and a force of two thou-

sand four hnndred men, unable, by fair means
or foul, to shake the loyalty of the men of

Waterford,* was forced to embark in haste,
and fly for Cork, hotly pursued by

" four

great ships at the citizens' charges;" the

same banics, which were five times honoured,
in days of yore, by the pressure of an English

sovereign's foot : in 1185, by John, andagain
in 1211, and by Richard the Second, in 1394
and 1399; Strongbow's bridge, where the

country people assert that lie slew his son,t
for neglecting to obey his orders, and have
the stream rendered passable for his troops,
on their march from Crook to Waterford

;

the old castle of Faithlegg or Fatlock, the

scene of a fiercc encounter for its possession,
in 1649; and the picturesque ruins of the little

church, surrounded by its venerable ash trees,

* The motto, at this time granted to the city, for her

imbendin.a- titlPlity to the crown, "Urbs intacta manet

"Waterforclia," has, of late years, been humorously
translated, in consequence of the apathy at tinies dis-

played in cleansing the public thoroughfares,
" The un-

swept citv."
t There is probably no more truth in this tradition,

thau in that which would make hinithe slayer of another

son, after the battle of Idrone.

the peaceful resting-place of niany generations
of the Bolton family. Near these ruins, and
at the foot of the hill on which we stand, is

situated the house, a plain but substantial

structure, well suited in size to the demesne.
The grounds fall gently to the river's brink,
and possess vast capabilities, butunfortimately
the present owner appears to think that, where
nature has been so lavish, it is imnecessary
for art to interfere

; and, consequently, little

aid, in the way of embellishment, is aftbrded.

The estate of Faithlegg was held for many
generations by the family of Aylward, now
represented by James Kearney Aylward,
Esq., of Shankill (county of Kilkenny), de-

scended from Richard Aylward, Esq., of

Faithlecke, who married Catharine, sister to

Sir Almare Gras. The arms of this family
are still to be seen sculptured over the door-

way of an old castle at Passage. In the year
1649, the estate changed hands, having been

granted, by Cromwell, to Captain William

Bolton, an ofticer of " the old army," andone
of those chosen by lot, at Whitehall, on Fri-

day, April 20th, in the same year, to "
go for

the service of Ireland."

Intheyear 1719, the possessor of Faithlegg
was the Captain's grandson, the Very Rev.

Hugh Bolton, Dean of Waterford, uncle to the

Right Rev. James Hawkins, Lord Bishop of

Raphoe, and to Sir William Hawkins, Ulster

King-at-Arms, grandson of William Hawkins,
Esq., Ulster King-at-Ai'ms, who maiTied.

Elizabeth, daughter of James Mutlow, Esq.,
of Woodstown House,* in the same Barony.
The estate reniained with this family until the

death of John Bolton, Esq., of Mount Bolton,

(fatherofLieut.Gen.SirRobertBolton,G.C.B.,

Aide-de-Camp to his Majesty George III.) in

1792. Since theii, until comparatively late

years, when Mr. Power, one of the County
Members, became its purchaser, it was in the

possession of Cornelius Bolton, Esq., M.P.,
the following tribute to whose memory is ex-

tractedfrom Ryland'sHistory of Waterford :
—

" There is a small village here called Bolton-

on-Checkpoint, formerly the Packet station,

and the scene of mucli generous but unpro-
fitable specvilation. Mr. Bolton established a

cotton manufactory here
;
but this, and many

other projected attempts of the same spirited

individual, were, unhappily for tlie country,
unsuccessful."

ASHBURNHAM PLACE, in the co. of Sus-

sex, about Ibur miles from Battle, the seat of

tlie Earl of Ashburnham.
The parisli froni whicli this mansion and

* Woodstcwn House, now the seat of the Right Hon.
Lord Carew, although much uearer to Faitlilegg than
many of the places above mentioned, is not seen from the
hillsj its situation bi ing in a hoUow, at thc foot of \\'oods-

town Bay. Mi.Mutlow married Elizabcth, relict of Roberc
Carew, Esq., Lord Carew's great-grandfather.
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the family of Ashburnham have both taken

their name, has been variously spelt Jsh-

hourneham, Essehiirnham, Eshurnham, Est-

hourneham. All these appellations have been

most probably derived from the little river

Ashbourne, or Essebourne, that is to say, the

Eastbourne, or East spring. Ashburnham
then signifies the Ham—that is, hamlet—on

the Ashbourn.
Fuller bears ample testimony to the high

antiquity of this family. In his usual quaint

language he tells us, "My poor and plain pen
is willing, though unable, to add any lustre to

this family of stupendous antiquity. The
chief of this name was high sherifi' of Sussex

and Surrey anno 1066, when William, Duke
of Normandy, invaded England, to whom
King Harauld wrote to assemble the Posse

Comitatuum, to make efFectuall resistance

against that foreigner. The original hereof, an

honourable heii--loome,—worth as much as the

owners thereof woukl vahie it at,-
—was lately

in the possession of this family ;
a family

wherein the eminency hath equalled the an-

tiquity tbereof, having been barons of England
in the reign of King Henry III."

The person alhided to by Fuller in the

above extract, was Bertram de Esburnham,
who is said, by some of oin* historians, to have
been killed at the battle of Hastings ;

others

affinn that he was beheaded by the Conqueror
for not resigning Dover Castle to him after

the death of Harold, by whom he had been
made governor of that important fortress.

According to the same account, his two sons,

PhiHp and Michael, were executed with their

father
;
but there is probably some error in

this, as it seems that William left the descen-

dants of the conquered governor, however
hostile to him, in the quiet possession of their

seat.

For about sixteen generations this estate

remained in the same family, when Sir John

Ashburnham, Knight
—who died in 1620,—

was compelled by the pressure of pecuniary
distress to sell his estate at Ashburnham to

Edward Broomfiekl and Thomas Overman,

Esqrs. Subsequently, it was bought by Wil-

liam Relfe, who died in 1637. It was, how-

ever, repurchased into the family of the

original possessors by Frances, daughter of

WiUiam Holland, who, having married John

Ashburnham, groom of the bed-chamber to

Charles I., sold her paternal property for that

purpose.
This gentleman "was a warm adherent of

Charles, and was one of the three chosen
friends who accompanied him in his escape
from Hampton Court into Hampshire. It

was by his advice that Charles opened a treaty
with Colonel Hammond, the governor of

Carisbrook Castle, which finally became the

King's prison ; but, tbough his advice proved
vmfortunate, it does not appear that the

slightest blame attached to his intentions.

Clarendon, who had every opportunity of

forming a coiTect opinion upon the subject,

says, both of him and of Sir John Berkeley," If I were obkgcd to deliver my own opinion
I should declare that neither of them were in

any degree corrupted in their loyaUy or affec-

tion to the King, or suborned to gratify any
persons with a disservice to their master.

They were both of them grcat opiniators, yet
irresokite, and easy to be shaken by anything
they had not thought of before

; but, as it

usually falls out in men of this kind of compo-
sition and talent, they were both disposed to

communicate more freely with, and conse-

quently to be advised by, new acquaintance
and men they had lately began to know, than
old friends and such whose judgments they
could not but esteem

;
who they had no mind

should go sharers with them in the merit of

any notable service which they thought them-
selves able to bring to pass." In otherwords,
they were guiky of no fauk but that of being
unfitted for the exigencies of a dekcate and

highly critical situation.

The residence of this family appears to have
been at Ashburnham Lodge in 1563. Tliis

was succeeded by a building that was in all

Hkekhood prior to the time of John Ashburn-
ham, whose wife redeemed the estate by
sacrificing her own paternal inheritance. The
present mansion is yet more modern, having
been erected from the designs and under the

superintendence of Dance, the architect
The principal front is divided into seven com-

partments, separated from each other by
hexagonal turret-formed buttresses, which,
being carried above the pile, supply the place
of pinnacles. Between the buttresses the in-

tervening spaces are occupied by handsome
labelled windows. A yet more striking fea-

ture is the grand portico ;
the three external

sides are open, with semicircular heads, and

project sufiiciently to aflford the accommoda-
tion of a shekered-way for carriages. A
flight of steps leads from the middle of the
terrace to the canal and to the park, the latter

of which is said to be no less than eight miles
in circumference, and is pleasingly diversified

with hill and dale. It contains some fine

timber, and is wek stocked with deer.

There is a vakiable coUection in this mansion

bjr some of the old masters, among wliom may
be distinguislied the names of Guido, Parmeg-
giano, MuriUo, Sidvator Rosa, Carlo Dolci,

Rubens, Rembrandt, Holbein, Ckude,
Vandyke, Andrea Saccbi, Canaletti, Van-
dervelde, &c.

KILCASCAN, IreLand, in tlie co. of Cork
;
the

seat of Wilkam Joseph 0'NeiU Daunt, Esq.
This estate was successively possessed by

the familes of Dashwood and Cox, after

which it passed, in 1712, to that of Daunt.
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The descent from the founder of Kilcasccin is

as foUows :
—William Damit married, in 1G97,

Rachael, daughter of Thomas KnoUes, Esq.,
of Killeigh)^ whose son, of the same name,
and also of Killeighy, was attainted, in 1G89,

by the Parliament of King James II. The
attainder wasreversed by King WilHam III.

;

and in 1684, Mr. Knolles's daughter, Eliza-

beth,marrying Wallis Warren, Esq., of Laragh,
00. Cork, became the ancestress of the present
Sir Augustus Warren, of Warrenscourt, Bart.

His daughter, Doi'othy, in 1G92, married

George Daunt, Esq., of Knockatour
;
and his

grand-daughter, Anne Knolles, in 170G, mai--

ried Henry Daunt, Esq., of Knocknamana.

Joseph Daunt—the son of William, above-

mentioned, by Miss Knolles—married in 1729,

Sarah, daughter of John Rashleigh, Esq., of

Cloncoose and Ballinadee. William Daunt,
the only son of this union, married, in 1775,
his cousin, Jane, daughter of Richard Gum-
bleton, Esq., of Castle Richard, in tlie county
of Waterford. Their eldest son, Joseph, in

180G, married Jane, daughter of the Rev.
Thomas Wilson, S.F.T.C.D., and Rector of

Ardstraw, in the county of Tyrone, by whom
he was father of the present William Joseph
0'Neill Daunt, Esq.

It may be noticed, as a somewhat singular
fact in this genealogy, that five ladies of the

Knolles family man-ied five husbands of the

family of Daunt, commencing with the year
1692, and going on through the subsequent
generations.

Tradition has recorded that William Daunt,
the founder of this house, had the inhospitable

peculiarity of denying a bed in his mansion to

everyone who did not happen to be a relation.

Now it so chanced that a wandering minstrel

of the day, by name Daniel M'Carthy, came
into the neighbourhood of Kilcascan, when,

according to his usual wont, he began to in-

quire the names and conditions of those who
owned the adjacent mansions preparatory to

paying them a visit. Gieat was the bard's

surprise when informed of the inhospitable
custom prevailing at Kilcascan

;
he had never

before heard of such a thing; but being a

good-humom-ed, as well as a quick-witted
fellow, instead of taking the afiair in dudgeon
and turning his back upon the house, he
resolved to sleep one night there in defiance

of its lord, and at the same time to read
him a useful lesson. The peasant to whom
he announced his intention, laughed to scorn

any such object, and ofiered the highest

wager in his power that the applicant would
be ejected from Kilcascan with very little

cereniony. This wager being accepted forth-

with, the minstrel, with all the modest assu-

rance of his tribe, rode at once to the house,
and having dismounted from his horse, gave it

to the charge of a groom, and familiarly in-

quired for kis cousin, Mr. Daunt. At this

magic
" sesame" the doors immediately flew

open, and although Mr. Daunt could not call

to mind any such kinsman, he yet took it

for granted that the relationship thus cooUy
asserted must somehow exist. Daniel therefore

enjoye*d the fuU benefit of his poetic license,

and was hospitably entertained. The next

morning an excellent breakfast stood ready
for him, and having partaken of this also to

his hearfs content, he was about to depart,
when his host, more from curiosity than from

any doubt of the fact, requested to be more

minutely informed of their relationship. To
this question the minstrel, with an arch smile,
made the following poetical reply in Gaelic :

—
" Mise fein do mcathaibh gaodlial;

Agus tusa feiu do sliocht na ngall ;

Ciaun da mliatar sin a-raon
;

Agus sin 6 mo giiaodhal riot a Uilliam Daunt."

In English thus :
—

" I am 01 the Gaelic race,
You are of the stranger's breed,
We are the sons of two good mothers ;

And there's our Idndred, William Uaunt."

The noticeable feature in this reply is the

Celtic rhymer's application of the term, sliocht

na ngall, or " the race of the stranger," to his

entertainer, whose family had at that time—
the reign of Queen Anne—been settled in

Ireland for no less than four generations.
The old house of Kilcascan was erected in

or about the year 1712, by William Daunt, a

younger son of Francis Daunt of Knockatour,
who was the third son of William Daunt of
Tracton Abbey. It has been succeeded by a
castellated edifice, which occupies a rising

ground upon the south side ofthe Bandon river,
and stands in a domain of about one hundred
and fifty acres. To the tourist coming from the

west it presents a bold and irregular elevation,

rising from a mass of thriving wood. The

groimds were formerly much better timbered
than at present, a large wood of ancient oaks
in the vicinity having been cut down in 1751 by
Mr. Joseph Daunt, and tlie land disforested.

In 1749, Samuel Daunt, Esq., of Knock-

nasillagh, nephew of the first William Daunt
of Kilcascan, was High Sheriff^of the county
Cork. The different branches of the faniily of

Daunt, now seated in that county, derive their

remote origin from the Daunts, Lords of the

manor of Owlpen, in Gloucestershire.

Some years ago small subterranean vaults, or

excavations, were discovered under the ground
now used as an orchard. These are supposed
to have been connected with a church and

cemetery, alleged by tradition to have existed

at the site of the present back entrance, but
of which no remains are any longer to be seen.

LTJMLEY CASTLE, in the co. of Durham
;

between the city of that name and Newcastle,
about a mile to the east of Chester-le-Street

;

the seat of the Earl of Scarborough.
This castle stands on a fine eminence,
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bounded upon the nortli by Lumley Beck, or

Brook, and rising gradually on tlie east and
west sides from the river Wear. The east

front, one hundred and seventy-five feet long,
is close upon the brow of a deep, well-wooded

ravine, a terrace only intervening between
the castle and the dell, through which the

Lumley Beck winds its way to the river just
mentioned. At one time this terrace was

guarded by a curtain-wall.

The whole building forms a complete quad-
rangle of bright yellow freestone, with an
area in the centre, having four uniform pro-

jecting towers, all the angles of which are

crowned with octangidar turrets that project
in like manner.
The chief entrance to the castle is at the

west front, by a double flight of steps, leading
to a broad and lofty platform, commanding a

splendid prospect. It occupies the entire

space between the towers—an extent ofninety-
four feet. The whole front is no less than one
hundred and seventy-five feet, Over the

gateway of the centre are two small escutch-

eons, the dexter charged with a fleur-de-lis,
and the sinister with a rose. From these de~

pend two long strings of armorial shields, nine
from the lily, and as many from the rose,

inckiding all the matches of the family from

Liulph to John, Lord LumJey. On the flank-

ing or projecting towers, upon each side of this

armorial gateway, are two tablets of black

marble, one inscribed with the family motto,
Murus cmeus conscientia sana ; the other in-

scription is effaced
; beneath, are two marble

fountains. The north front is obscured by
oftices. The south front is evidently moder-
nized though castellated, and is brought for-

ward ahnostparallel with the flanking towers
;

but towards the east, the castle retains its

ancient form unaltered. Three stages of

masomy rise above each other, their muUioned
windows heavily barred with iron, and a noble

gate-house projects from the centre of this

part of the building, guarded by overhanging
turrets and a machicolated gallery. Above the

gate are six shields with armorial bearings,
three and three, decply carved in stone with
their crests

;
the date of its alteration by Sir

Ralph Lumley was in the reign of llichard

IL, when he obtained license from the king
(in L389,) as well as from Bishop Skirlaw, to

repair his castle, build a wall with mortar and

stone, and embattle the former structure. It

would seem that the original fabric had been
ei'ected by Sir Robert Lumley in the time
of Edwavd L, and enlarged by his son, Sir

Marmaduke.
The inner court, or area, has received re-

pairs and alterations at very diflerent periods.
The great hall incasures ninety feet in length ;

it is ornamcnted with a music gallery, and ex-
hibits a striking picture of the old feudal times.

In it is a statue of the old possessor of

the castle, Liulph, bestriding his war-horse,
and armed cap-a-pie. Here also is a series

of imaginary porti-aits. Four niches in the
west wall contain marble busts of Henry VIIL,
Edward VI., ]\Iary, and Elizabeth

;
and in a

niche in the north wall appears the modern

family crest, « Pelican in Jier jneti/. Over the

fire-place are the arms of Lumley, quartering
Thornton, and impaling the blanch Hon of

Fitz-Alan, quartering Ckm, Makravers, and
Widville

; supporters
—

dexter, a parrot, sinis-

ter, a white horse (Fitzalan). Upon a tablet

under Liulph's statue, that rests on a pedestal

jjrojectingfrom the south waU, is a long string
of Latin verses, the great object of which is

to ring as many changes as possible on the

word niundiis—
" Theafrum mundus— specfafor, Deus.
Mundus abit, res nota quidem, res usque notanda ;

Nota tibi, mundi sit nota, mundus abit ;

Mundus abit, non mundus, id est hoec machina mundi,
Dico, sed mundi gloria mundus abit."—

And so on through fifteen couplets, all equally

unmeaning,
The great dining-room in the south-west

tower is elegantly stuccoed, and has a vauked
roof. It commands two different landscapes,
both akke beautiful, though of different charac-

ters—the adjacent meadows, the banks of the

Wear, and the canal formed by the curvatureof
the stream—ontheotherhand, the avenue pros-

pect, with Chester and the surroimding district.

BLAIIIQUHAN CASTLE, Ayrshire, thirteen

miles south of Ayr, and one mile from Straiton

village ;
the seat of Sir David Hunter Biair,

Bart.

In early days this property belonged to the

Kennedys of Blairquhan, a principal branch
of the family of Kennedy, Earls of Cassilis.

In the reign of Cliarles II., it was acquired by
the Whitefords, who, towards the end of the

last century, disposed of the estate to tlie

family of Ilunter Blair, maternaky descended
from the Earls of Cassilis above mentioned,
On the site of the present mansion, once

stood the okl castle of Blairquhan, a consider-

able part of which was built about the year
irjTO. The tower, cnWed McJFhirter's Towir,

appears to have been some centuries older. A
curious legend respecting one of this family, is

related by Robert Chambers, in his Picture of
Scotland,—two dekghtful vokunes, in which
amusement is blended with instruction, and
whicli can liardly fail of interesting every class

of readcrs. To give the tale in any words
but his own would be an injustice to ak parties,
and we therefore transcribe it kterally :

—
"
Reginald Macwhurter, the last of the old

race of the Macwhurters, of Blairquhan, had
two twin daughters ;

one of whoni was married

to Sir Ulrick Macwhurter, who had been long
in the service of the French King, and had beeu
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knighted by that prmce for some valorous
action. The other was joined in wedlock to a
son of Jolin, second Lord Kennedy, by his

second wife, Elizabeth Gordon, daughter of
the Earl of Huntly. Upon the death of okl

Macwhurter, these two gentlemen claimed the

barony of Blairquhan, each for himself, on

account, as both said, of his Lady being hrst-

born. As tliis circumstance coukl not by any
means be determined, a bloody feud would in
all

probability have ensued, had not the reki-

tionson each side prevailed upon them to submit
their claim to the King (James III.), who,
akhough very young, hadthe characterof being
a wise and a just prince. After much hesita-
tion and many a stipulation, they both agreed
to do so, and for that purpose proceeded to

Edhiburgh ;
but how to decide impartiaUy a

question where both parties seemed to have an

equal right, his Majesty was for some time at a
loss to know. At last,. he came to the resoki-
tion that one of them should walk and the
other ride from Edinburgh to Bkurqulian, and
he who coukl first kindle a fire in that castle
shoukl keep possession, not only of it, but kke-
wise of aU the land appertaining thereto

;
and

to make the chance equal, they were to draw
each a straw outof a stack, and he who should

piiU the longest was to ride. This feU to young
Kennedy, who was consequently considered by
many as having already gained the estate

;

but others, who knew Sir Uk-ick's great
strength and unbending disposition, were of a

contrary opinion." There beingnopubUcroad atthat timefrom

Edinburgh direct to Blairquhan, each took
the route which fancy pointed out as being the

straightest. Sir Uk-ick was attended by many
of tlie rekitions of young Kennedy on korse-

back, wko were deputed by tke King to see
him perform his journey in the manner
required. Young Kennedy was not accom-

panied by any person, as none woukl under-
take to ride so fast as he was Ukely to do

;
but

he was preceded by the monarch and a few
nobles who wished to be at Blairquhan before
either of the disputants for the estate shoukl

arrive, in order tliat tkey migkt act as stewards
of tke race. But just as tke King wasgoing to
cross tke water of Girvan, near Stratown,
from an eminence (from that circumstance

caUedtheKing'sHUl tothisday) he observed
a great smoke suddenly rise out of the kigkest
ckimney of tke Castle of Blairqukan, and being
certain it could not be Kennedy, as ke was at

tkat moment still a few yards in rear of tke

royal company, ke exclaimed,
' My kingdoni

to a bodle, tkat yon reikis raisedeither by the

deil, or his ain bairn, Uh-ick Macwhurter.'
"
Upon reaching the castle, they found to

their utter astonishment, that the Knight had

actuaUy arrived, and that the smoke which the

King had observed arose from a fire of dry
heather which he had made, as required, to

secure his rigkt to the barony
—and that he

had outrun aU the horsemen who left Edin-

burgh with the intention of accompanying him
to Blairquhan.

" After obtaining possession of this barony,
Sir Uk-ick, wko was naturaUy ofavery turbu-

lent disposition, became the terror of his

dependauts, troublesome to his neighbours,
and such a refractory subject, that his sove-

reign at last secretly thought of destroying
him. Butin order to give his conduct a colour

of justice, lie sent a company of armed men
to seize the turbulent baron, and to carry hini

to Edinburgli, there to stand his triak This

enterprise was intrusted to young Kennedy,
who had not been inactive in bringing about

this measure, tlian which nothing could have

happened more consonant to his feeUngs.
" After much ditiicuUy and personal danger,

by a stratagem, which our informant couldnot

describe, young Kennedy succeeded in getting
the stei'n Sir Ulrick into his custody ;

who

seeing, as was said, no cliance of escaping, put
an end to his existence. But it was more

generally believed tliat liis sudden death was

only the consequence of private instructions,
which Kennedy had received from the King to

that effect. This supposition was greatly

strengthened by his innnediately afterwards

receiving a royal grant of the barony of Blair-

quhan, in possession of which his descendant
continued till the reign of King Charles 11."

Some of the windows and mouldings of tke

old castle are stiU preserved in tke kitchen

court of the modern mansion, which was
finished in tlie year 1824, and stands upon
the banlcs of the Girvan. It presents a correct

specimen of tlie architecture that prevailed in

Henry VII.'s time, its general efFectbeing very

splendid and striking. At the entrance,

carriages drive under a very beautiful porch of

tlie Tudor style. From the entrance-hall

the visitor passes into a saloon, sixty feet

high, communicating with the principal stair-

case, all of which are richly decorated in the

style of the buUding, with ornamental out-

tracery and plaster-work. Tke principal

apartments are botk large and kandsome, and
the bed-rooms, as well as the other accommo-

dations, are of the most convenient description.
Tlie approach, which is entered by an elegant

bridge and lodge, has been conducted up the

river for two miles and a half, and winds

through rocks and well-wooded banks, till at

the distance of half a mile, the house suddenly
breaks upon the view, having the hills of

Craigengower andBennan in the background.

Upon nearing the castle, the roadpasses through
an old dark avenue of lofty lime-trees.

The grounds lie upon either side of the

river Girvan, which flows under the windows
of the principal apartments. They are well-

timbered, and laid out with much taste and

judgment.
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BIJCHANAN HOUSE, Stirlingshire, about

eighteen miles froni Glasgow ;
the seat of the

Duke of Montrose.
This estate fovmerly belonged to the

Anselans. Tiie founder of tliis family was a
native of Ireland, froni which country he
came over in the eleventh century, according
to the most received traditions. His descen-

dants for a time bore tlie name of McAslan,
a corruption of Anselan, and were chamber-
lains to the Earls of Lennox

; but, having at

an early period obtained a grant of part of

the lands of Buchanan, they took from it a

new family appellation. From this race

sprang George Buchanan, the scholar, poet,
and historian, and still more celebrated for
" Ane detection of the duinges of Marie
Queene of Scottes, touchand the murder of

her husband, and lier conspiracie, adulterie,
and pretensed man-iage with the Erle

Bothwell."

At the death of the last Buchanan of that

ilk, the estate was sold by his creditors, and

bought by the family of Graham, a name
of high antiquity, to which attach many
traditional and historical recollections.

According to one legend they are descended
from a Caledonian chief, who in the fifth

century broke down Agricola's wall, and gave
to the gap thus made liis own name of

Graham's Dlke. Hence, as we are told, the

Duke of Montrose is styled in the Gaelic,

Macgile Vearnac,—the son of the man wlio

made the breach—by way of pre-eminence,
he being chief of the Grahams, Witliout

dwelling upon this point, which, though it

may be true, it might be difficult to prove,
there can be no doubt of the Duke's descent

from Sir Patrick de Graham, who in the

battle of Dunbar, in the j^ear 1296, when the

Scotch were utterly routed by the English
under Earl Warrenne, and so many sought
their safety in Hight, "maintained his station,
and died witli lionovu', lamentedand applauded
by his enemies." The present Duke is the

twentietli in descent from tliis gallant warrior,
of whom the learned canon of Gisborough
Abbey says,

" Unus autem ex eis miles

strenuus, nomine Patricius de Graham, inter

sapientiores regni illius (juasi primus, et inter

potentiores nobilissimus, cum gloriam sute

laudis minuere noUet, faciem non avertit, sed
viriliter agens usque ad mortem, in fine

tandem corruit interfectus ibidem." The
military spirit of this hero has shone out no
less gloriously iu many of his descendants, as

witness the great Marquess of Montrose, who
flourished in the time of the Civil War

;
the

Viscount Dundee, who fell bravely but vainly
attempting to upliokl the broken fortunes of
James II.

; and, thougli last not least, the

galLant Lord Lynedoch, one of the heroes of
tlie Peninsula.

Buchanan llouse, which is seated at tlic

foot of the Grampians, has been considerably

enlarged of late years. Tlie front is grand
and uniform, and occupies nearly three

hundred feet in length. Many of the rooms
are large and handsome, with some very

interesting family portraits dispersed amongst
them. Yet large as the house is in reality,
its apparent size is greatly diminished to the

eye by the vicinity of the enormous mountains
that rise to the west of it.

Tlie surrounding scenery is magnificent in

the extreme, one of its principal objectsbeing
Loch Lomond, the most beautiful of all the

Scottisli lakes. Tlie extent of this noble piece
of water has been variously given by diff'erent

writers
;
but the probable account seems to

be that it is twenty-four miles long, and about
seven miles across at its gi'eatest breadth

;
its

outlet being into the river Leven, which meets
the tideway, after a course of three miles,

nearly a mile above its junction with the

Clyde. The shore of the lake is in some

places precipitous and abrupt, while in others

it is covered with copsewood, interspersed
with fields of corn and farm-houses. Forest

trees thrive well upon the banks, being
sheltered by the surrounding mountains and

finding no want of i-ain to support their

luxuriancy. In addition to the more ancient

gi'owth of timber, large and well-arranged

plantations have been made by the successive

owners of the estate.

In the foreground of the view is the river

Endrick, one of the principal feeders of the

lake. It runs through the fertile haughs of

the parish of Buchanan in beautiful windings,
and, when near the mansion, its banks are

embellished with extensive lawns, and the

land, which has been much improved by
the noble proprietor, is in a high state of

cultivation.

Embosomed in thc lake are several islands,

the principal of whicli belong to the Duke of

Montrose. Inchcaileoch, thatonce contained
a nunnery and the paiish church, is now
without house or inhabitant, and covered
with copse-wood. The word is Celtic, and

signifies the " Old Woman's Island," aname,
no doubt, connected with some local tradition,
of which the memory is now lost. Inch-

Murrin, the largest of the group
—

being two
miles long and one broad—is the Duke'sdeer-

park, and contains about two hundred head
of fallow-deer. In 1793 his Grace built a

new hunting seat, with offices, inhabited by
the forester and his family, who cultivate

some ground about the buildings. At the

west end of the island, upon a projecting

eminence, stand the ruins of a castle of the

ancient Earls of Lennox. The name of this

island, is also Celtic—the Island of St. Murrin—to which saint it was, no doubt, at one time

dedicated.

At the timc of the remarkable earthquake
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at Lisbon, in the year 1755, the water of

this lake was affected in a very surprising
manner

;
when the agitation subsided, a boat

was found on the dry land at a distance of

more than forty yards from its station on the

lake
;
and where the banks were low, the

country was overflowed to a considerable

extent.

The prospect from the house, as we have

already had occasion to observe, was for the

most part bounded by noble mountains. Of
these, the highest is Ben Lomond, which

belongs entirely to the Duke of Montrose. In

shape it is conical, the top of it is covered
with snow during a considerable portion of

the year, and ptarmigan, as well as white

hares, are by no means uncommon upon it.

The mountain-eagle is also occasionally seen

there.

Assisted by the \vater and the surrounding
landscape, this mountain fonns a beautiful

and magnificent object, equally interesting to

the poet and the painter. Tradition, too, may
be called in to heighten the romance of the

scene. It was here, and amongst the adjoin-

ing lands upon the eastern shore of the lake,
that Rob Roy often used to make his haimts,
and the vicinity is the site of many of his

wild exploits.

SOTTON HALL, in the co. of Derby; the
seat of Robert Arkwright, Esq.

Sutton Hall,_ from its considerable size,
architectural elegance, extensive and well-

wooded park, fine pleasure-grounds, and great
natural beauty, is one of the most attractive

seats in Derbyshire. It possesses an amenity
which the eye loves to dwell upon day after

day, and never tires of contemplating. Sutton
stands on a gentle eminence, commanding
the view of most picturesque scenery. It

fronts the lordly towers of Bolsover Castle,
on the distance of two miles

;
and on one

side, it looks to the magnificent pile of Hard-
wick, embowered in its ancient woods, while
on the other, it reaches over the rich and

undulating vale of Scarsdale. In all directions
the eye rests on a charming combination of

park, forest, and corn-field.

In the days of King Ethelred, the manor of
Sutton belonged to Burton Abbey, having
been given to that religious house by a noble

Saxon, Wulfrie Spott. At the tinie of the

Doomsday Survey, it belonged to Roger de
Poictou. In the year 1255, it was granted to

Peter De Hareston. The daughter and
heiress of the last of this family, Robert de

Hareston, brought it into the house of Grey.*
A coheiress of the Greys carried it into the

*Lucy de Hareston married, in the rei^ of Edward
II., Richard de Grey, son of William, younuer brother
of the ancestor of the Duke of Kent and the Earl of
Stamford. In thc reign of Hcnry IV., Alice Grey, the
heiress of this branch of the family, married Sir John
Leake.

family of Leakein thereign ofKing Henry IV.,
and in this family it remained for many cen-

tiu-ies. Leake was a very ancient race,

deriving its descent from Alan de Leca, who
was alive in 1141. The first who settled at

Sutton was William Leake, son of Sir John
Leake, of Gotham, in Nottinghamshire. The
Leakes were, until their elevation to the

peerage, a family of first-rate English country
gentry. In the days of Queen Elizabeth, Sir

Francis Leake, of Sutton, was brother-in-law
of Bess of Hardwick, having married one of
her sisters. He seems to have been on intimate
terms with her and her last husband, Lord

Shrewsbury ;
and several amusing letters,

addressed by him to the Earl, have been pre-
served. About the year 1600, Sutton appears
to have been considered a very magnificent
mansion, and even provoked the envy of the

imperious Bess
; not, indeed, as rivalling

Hardwick, but as rearing its head, as a stately
habitation, in her neighbourhood, where she

wished to be monarch of all she surveyed.
She therefore built Oldcotes, or Owlcotes,
on some property that she had within a very
short distance of it, either in emulation or in

derision, saying scornfully that she would
build a better house than Sutton for her owls !

Sutton Hall still stands, a very beautiful

house, but not a rival to Hardwick, as it is

much smaller, and the style is totally dis-

similar
;
as about a hundred and thirty years

ago it was partly rebuilt, and partly cased
round with a Grecian front of a very grand
and elegant appearance.

Sir Francis Leake, probably the son of
Bess's neighbour, was made a Baronet in

1611, and in 1624he wascreated a Peer, with
the title of Lord Deincourt, of Sutton. He
was a faithful and loyal subject of King
Charles I., and warmly espoused the Royal
cause during the Civil Wars. In 1643, he
fortified Sutton, which was besieged by
Colonel Gell, with 500 men and three pieces
of artillery. Lord Deincourt was called on to

surrender, but he scornfully refused, and for

some time he defended himself with the niost

obstinate gallantry. However, the house was
taken, the fortifications were demolished, and
Lord Deincourt and his brave men were made •

prisoners. Sutton was, subsequently, plun-
dered by the garrison of Bolsover Castle,
after that fortress had fallen into the hands
of the Roundheads. For his loyal services,

King Charles created this gallant man an

Earl, with the title of Scarsdale. His honours
were well merited and deservedly bestowed.
He had a good old pedigree, especially illus-

trated ty his proud descent from a branch of
the Greys ;

his ancient patrimony had been
increased by prudent accinnulation, and his

fidelity to the King was distinguished. It is

said that, after the murder of KingCharles L,
he caused his grave to be niade in Sutton

Church, and, by way of humiliation for the
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great national sin, he sat in it for an hour
each day, in mournful meditation.

His exertions in the Royal cause having ren-

dered him very obnoxious to the Parliament,
his estates were sequestered, and afterwards

sokl. They were, however, re-purchased at

the time by his son and successor. The
Countess of Scarsdale was of a race not un-

worthy of tlie honest loyalty of the Earl. A
Cary, sister to the great Falkland, she was
mother of sons in whom loyalty was an in-

herent principle; and several of whom lost

their lives fighting for the King.
The Earl died in 1655, and was buried in

Sutton Chiu"ch. Nicolas, the second Earl,
married a daughter of Rich, Earl of Warwick,
and liis grandson, Nicolas, fourth Earl, was
the last of his race. This nobleman was a

man of pleasure, and indulged in expensive
tastes. He built the present beautiful house
of Sutton, a structure in the Corinthian style
of Grecian architecture. The suite of public
rooms is very handsome, and there is a very
great deal of accommodation for guests. The
rooms are beautifully wainscotted, and some
of tliem are adorned with a profusion of

white and gilded stucco, in the best taste of

the time—viz., a hundred and thirty years
since. Lord Scarsdale seems to have been

very proud of his rank, as, in all directions,
his coronet is seen—in stone, stucco, and
wood. It is said that it was from his fond-

ness for this display of his peerage, that

Hogarth borrowedsome of hisideas in " Mar-

riage-a-la-mode," where theold peer is repre-
sented with his coi-onet depicted on his ci-utch,

and stained in his dog's skin. NicoLas, the

fourth Earl, died in 173(5. The family of

Leake became cxtinct, and his large estates

ivere sold in order to pay his debts.

Sutton was purchased by Godfrey Clarke,

Esq., who, by his wife, the heiress of an elder

line of the ancient family of Pole of Rad-

bourne, possessed a very lai'ge fortune. He
was in possession in 1740. His son, Godfrey
Clarke, was the intimate friend and associate

of Gibbon the liistorian
;
and the account of

the sudden death of the father, is given by
him in one of his published letters. Godfrey
Clarke, the yoimger, contested tlie county of

Derby at a great expense, with the then head
of the Harpur family ;

and thirty thousand

pounds is said to have been squandered in

the contest. He died in 178(J, when his

sistcr and heiress marricd an Irish gentleman
of the name of Price, who assumed that of

Clarke, and established himself at Sutton
Hall. On the death of Mr. aiul Mrs. Price

Chirke, a cousin, of the name of Kinnersley,
succeeded to the ])roperty for a few years ;

but on his death it ruverted to their daughter,
Miss Price CUu-ke, who, in 1805, married

Walter, eightcentli Earl, and Marquis of

Ormonde
;
but in the course of a short time

she died without issue. The Marquis died in

1820, and was succeeded by his brother

James, the late Marquis of Ormonde, who
sold tlie estate of Sutton to the late Richard

Arkwright, Esq., of Willersley Hall.

This gentleman was the only son of Sir

Richard Arkwright, to whom the commerce
of this country is so much indebted for his

ingenious inventions. By the industrious

application of his extraordinary mechanical
talent to the improvement of the cotton

manufacture, he realized a very large for-

tune, which, in the hands of his only son,
increased immensely, so that at his death he
was many-millioned. He thought proper to

refuse a peerage, during Mr. Pitt's adminis-

tration, when that minister oftered it to him,
On Mr. Arkwright's death, his enormous for-

tune was divided among his sons
; when

Sutton Hall fell to the share of his eldest son,
the present Robert Arkwright, Esq. This

gentleman has resided for many years at

Sutton Hall, which he has improved at very
great expense. The place liad been previously
deserted forupwards of a quarter of a century,
and was much out of repair. But under the

judicious eye of the present proprietor, the

house has been made tlie most comfortable one
in the comity ;

and this estate has been

greatly raised in value by a determined sys-
tem of progressive improvement. It is one
of the most compact properties in the county,
and it possesses a treasure of mineral wealth,
which is as yet scarcely developed.

Sutton Hall is surrounded by extensive

gardens, with formal grass walks
;
and from a

terrace which boundsthem, there is a charm-

ing view of Hardwick Hall and woods. The
ancient chm-ch stands close to the Halh In

fact, it may be said to be under the same roof
witli it. There is in it an interesting series of

hatchments of the Scarsdale family. And in

one of tlie windows there is a most beautiful

specimen of ancient painted glass, a portrait

representing one of the Leake family with his

arms emblazoned on his surcoat. It is quite
a gem.

There is a curious tradition of one of the

early Lords of Sutton having gone to the

Holy Land as a Palnier
;
and on his sudden

and unexpected return, finding his wife on
the point of marriage with another man ! The

legendsaysthat, at Acre, in Palestine, he was
seized with an irrepressible longing to return

home. Thinking earnestly of home, he fell

asleep, and awoke under the lintel of Sutton

Church ! Astonished at the festive air which

everything around him wore, he inquired the

reason
;
and on being informed of the pur-

poscd marriage of the lady of the Hall on

that very day, he craved an interview, and

revealed himself to the faithless fair one. But
this story is already told in the second

volume of this work, in the article on Bayons
Manor. An ancient painting on wood is

preserved there, which was found by Mr.
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Arkwriglit behind a wainscot at Sutton Hall,
and wliich vvas presented by him to tlie Riglit
Hon. Charles Tennyson d'Eyncourt. It is

singuhu'ly corroborative of the tradition just
alluded to

;
as it is the portrait of a knight

with liaggard, careworn look, and clad in

pilgrim's weeds. It probably represents a
former lord of this fair manor.

ROSSLYN CASTLE, in the co. of Mid-
Lothian

;
the seat of the Earl of Rosslyn.

This spot of singular romantic beauty and
historical interest combines equal attractions

for the lover of picturesque scenery, the ar-

chfpologist, and the student of ancient annals.

Rosslyn Castle is a splendid niin, which
crowns the rocky ridge of a lofty peninsula,

overhanging the steep and woody banks of

the beautiful river Esk
;

and it must in

ancient times have afforded a very strong
defence, being completely separated from the

adjacent land by a deep precipitous ravine,
over which has been thrown, in the olden

time, a noble stone bridge. The situation is

the most romantic of any in this part of Scot-

land, the castle standing on a steep crag,

rising abruptly from the bed of the liver, with

high banks, completely covered with thick

natural woods, The ruins are on a scale of

princely grandeur. Their origin is of un-
known antiquity ; probably dating from the

reign of King David I., when the St. Clairs,
a noble Norman race, first settled, as great
barons, in Scotland. The most ancient por-
tions of them cannot be later than the year
1100. But the most magnificent buildings in

the castle belong to a later period, viz., the
fifteenth century, when the mighty fabric was

completed by a high and potent lord, then
head of the house of St. Clair, William, third

Earl of Orkney, of that line. Attached to

the castle, and surrounded by its magnificent
ruins, stands an ancient mansion of the six-

teenth century, which was the residence of the
later faniily of St. Clair of Rosslyn, the younger
branch, to whom the ancient ancestral castle

fell as their heritage. This house was in-

habited by that family at the time of their ex-

tinction, about the middle of the last century.
Rosslyn Castle is notnow habitable, butad-

joiningtoitthereisabeautifulvilla, alsothepro-
perty of the Earl of Rosslyn, called Rosebank,
which as a residence, though it be on a small

scale, possesses the full advantage of the un-
common picturesque and romantic beauty of

Rosslyn Castle and Chapel. This sacred edi-

fice was also built by William St. Clair, third

Earl of Orkney, the completer of the castle.

It is a most beautiful structure, and crowns
the summit of a high adjacent hill. It was
founded by the Earl of Orkney for a provost
and six prebendaries. Its design, which is

extremely rich andfloi-id, is saidto have been
drawn at Rome, and it was not completed

until the end of the fifteenth century. Its

architecture is of the most elaborately orna-

mented and delicately beautiful kind, with

innumerable minute and finely executed carv-

ings. Of this florid and costly style it is

probably the most remarkable specimen in

Britain. The whole chapel, within and with-

out, is decorated with sculpture ;
the interior

is divided into a middle and two side-aisles by
seven columns on each side, supporting arches.

The roof, capitals, key-stones, and architraves

are overloaded with sculptured ornaments.
There is a curious monument of William St.

Clair, Lord of Rosslyn, a remote ancestor of

the founder, the Earl of Orkney. He ia

sculptm-ed in armour, with a greyhound at

his feet, to commemorate a stag-hunt, of

which the prize was the lands of Pentland.

At the front of the third and fourth pillars a

large flagstone covers the opening into the

vault, where the later Barons of Rosslyn,

sprung from a younger branch of the Eai-Is of

Orkney, were laid in armour, and the vault is

so dry that their bodies are said to have been
found entire after many yeai-s.

There is a curious superstition connected

with the Chapel of Rosslyn and the family of

St. Clair. It is said to be brilliantly illumin-

ated before the death of one of the race. To
this Sir Walter Scott alludes in his ballad of

Rosabelle—
" Seemed all on fire tliat chapel proiid

Where Rossljii chiefs uncoffined lie,

Each haron for a sable shroud
Sheathcd in his iron panoi)ly.

" Blazed battlement and summit high,
Blazed every rose- carvcd buttress fair ;

So still they blaze when fate is nigh
The lordly line of high St. Clair."

The last member of the family deposited in

Rosslyn Chapel was Lord Loughborough, the

eldest son of the present Earl of Rosslyn.
At the time of the completion of the build-

ings of Rosslyn Castle, the faniily of St. Clair

was in the very acme of its splendour. Its

head was reigning Earl of Orkney, under the

supremacy of the Norwegian crown, Earl of

Caithness and Stratherne, Lord of Rosslyn
and Nithsdale, Lord Warden of the three

Marches, Lord High Admiral, Lord High
Chamberlain, Lord High Chancellor, and
Lord Justice-General of Scotland. His niother

was grand-daughter of King Robert II.,

his wife was grand-daughter of King Robert

III., and his daughter, the Duchess of Albany,
was sister-in-law of King James III. He

kept princely state in Rosslyn Castle, and the

oflicers of his household, or rather, we niight

say, Court, were great barons,—Lord Dirle-

ten being his master of the household, Lord
Borthwick his cup-bearer, and Lord Fleming
his carver

;
and their subordinates were noble

knights, the Barons of Drumlanrig, Drum-

mefzear, and Calder. The pride of this great

potentate was too highly exalted for a sub-

z
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ject, and King James III. took pains to

humble it. When Orkney was annexed, as a

dependency of the Scottish crown, by his

marriage with the Danish Princess, IMargaret,
he forced Lord Orkney to resign this princely
fief for the large Dysart and Ravensheugh
estatcs in Fifeshire

;
and to exchange his lord-

ship of Nithsdale for the Earklom of Caith-

ness, to which, indeed, he had, at any rate,
a clear hereditary right. Thus the St. Clairs

were thrown from the pinnacle of their splen-
dour and power.

William, third Earl of Orkney, the builder
of the chapel, and finisher of the castle, was
the twelfth generation of the house of Rosslyn,
in a direct male line from the great Norman
Baron who had founded it in the reign of

King David I. He resigned his princely
Scandinavian Earldom, and his great Lord-

ship of Nithsdale, for the estates in Fifeshire

and the Earldom of Caithness. He had three

sons, among whom he very unequally divided
his vast possessions.* The eldest was disin-

herited, but, notwithstanding, was the acknow-

ledged head of the family, and ancestor of the
Lords Sinclair. The youngest became Earl
of Caithness. The second, Sir Oliver, in-

herited the great bulk of his father's posses-
sions, and was seated, in splendour, at the
castle of Rosslyn. He was the ancestor of
the more recent family of St. Clair of Rosslyn.

Sir Oliver, the first Baron of Rosslyn of the

cadet branch of the St. Clair family, died at

an advanced age, about the year 1510. His
descendants continued to exist for about

eight generations, in great honour, as Barons
of Rosslyn. Their alliances were with the
first houses in Scotland,-—Borthwick, Lord
Borthwick

; Crichton, Lord Crichton of San-

quhar ; Hume, Earl of Hume
;
Ker of Cess-

ford, ancestor to the Duke of Roxburgh ;

Edmondston of Edmondston
; Spottiswood,

Archbishop of St. Andrew's
; Sempill, Lord

Sempill of that Ilk. The hist Baron of Rosslyn,
oftheyoungerbranch, was WiUiam St.Clair, on
whose death, about the middle of the last cen-

tury, this most noble and distinguished family
became extinct in tlie male line. William St.

Clair had an uncle Thomas, a younger brother
of his father, who left several descendants
in the female line. One of his daughters
married Mr. Bower, of Kincakh-um, and her

great grandson has recently assumedthe name
of St. Chiir, on the pka of being the heir of
line of tho cadet branch of the St. Chiirs, later

Barons of Rosslyn. This gentkman has mar-
ried a PoHsh lady of high rank, the Countess

Kossakowsky.
On tlie extinction of the younger branch of

Rosslyn in the mak Hne, their ancient resi-

dence was bequeathed to the elder branch,

• The only son of his royally descended wife, dau!?hter
of "The DouKlas," Puko of Tourraine, and grand-
dauKhter of Kiug Kobcrt III.

the Lords Sinclair, who had been seated since

the death of their common ancestor, the last

Earl of Orkney, at Dysart and Ravensheugh,
in the county of Fife. The sons of the eighth
Lord Sinclair dying without issue, the peer-
age went, by a special remainder, to the

family of the present Lord Sinchair, viz., St.

Clair of Hermandston, a distinct race of the
same name, but in no way descended from
the Earls of Orkney and Lords of Rosslyn.
But, whik the titk thus diverted from the

original family, the estates of Dysart, Ravens-

heugh, and Rosslyn descended to the heir of
line of the Lords Sinclair, Coknel Paterson St.

Clair, only son of the Hon. Grizzel St. Clair,
eldest daughter of the eighth Lord, by her

husband, Mr. Paterson of Preston Hall, ekkst
son of the last Archbishop of Glasgow. He
died unmarried, when the representation of
the St. Clair family devolved upon his only
sister's grandson, Mr. Anstruther Thomson,
of Charkton, in the county of Fife, whik the
estates went, by a special entail, to Sir James
Erskine, Bart., of Alva, grandson of the Hon.
Catherine St. Clair, younger daughter of the

eighth Lord, and younger sister of the Hon.
Grizzel St. Clair, Mrs. Paterson, the heiress

of hne. The reason of this entail and desti-

nation, which thus separated the succession
to the estates from the representation of the

family, was a desire to keep the property as

much as possibk in the mak line
;

Sir James
Erskine of Alva being son of the son
of the younger sister, whik Mr. Anstruther

Thomson, though heir of Hne, was grandson
of the daughter of the eldest sister.

On succeeding his cdusin, Colonel Paterson
St, Clair, Sir James Erskine assumed the

name of St. Clair, as he was bound to do, in

order to inherit the family estates of his an-

cestors, thougli he was not their representative.
The Lord High Chancelkr Wedderburn,
Lord Loughborough, was his maternal uncle,
and when he was raised to the dignity of an

Earl, he obtained a remainder of the Earldom
in favour of his nephew, and Rosslyn was
sekcted as an appropriate titk, being that

which was most agreeabk to his heir. Sir

James St. Chair Erskine accordingly, on the
death of his distinguished unck, became
second Earl of Rosslyn. His son is the present
and third Earl, a nobkman who worthily in-

herits the best blood in Scothmd, being the

representative of a most distinguished branch
of the iUustrious house of Mar, and a descen-

dant of the not kss iHustrious house of Ross-

lyn and Orkney. Few possessions are more
to be dcsired than Rosslyn Castk and Chapel ;

for, though the landed property immediately
contiguous which is attached to them is very
Hmited, the site is one of the most picturesque
in Scotland, and repkte with the most excit-

ing interest of historical importance and

family tradition.
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MERSTHAM PLACE, in the co. of Surrey ;

the seat of Sir William George Hylton
Jollitfe, Bart., M.P.

Tiie nianor of Merstham was given, in the

year 1018, to the monks of Christchm-ch, Can-

terbury, by Ethelstan, or Athelstan, a younger
son of King Etheh-ed II. At the dissohition

of nionasteries, Henry VIII. gave it to Robert

Southwell, Esq., in exchange for the churclies

of Warnham in Sussex, and East Peckham in

Kent, bestowing the two latter upon the prior
and monks who had been previously ejected
from Merstham. Tlie despotic monarch,
howevei", did not leave tliem long in tlie quiet

enjoyment of his own gift, and they were
soon afterwards replaced by a dean and chap-
ter, to whom the site of the monastery was

granted by letters patent.
Merstliam was next purchased of a descen-

dant of Robei't Southwell by Thomas Copley,

Esq., whose son and heir, William, sold the

estate to Nicholas Jordan and John Middleton
in 1 603. Four years afterwards it was again

disposed of^ the purchaser being Jolin Hedge,
and eventually, after many changes and divi-

sions amongst different lieirs and heiresses,
the estates were purchased, in 1727, by Paul

Dominique, Esq., one of whose female de-

scendants settled it upon her husband, the

Rev. John Tattersall. Upon the deatli of

this gentlemarL, the estate, according to his

will, was put up for sale by the trustees in

1788, when it was purchased by WilHam
JolliiFe, Esq., M.P. for Petersfleld, in the

county of Hants.
The house, called Merstham Place, is situ-

ated at a little distance from the cliurch.

Though an irregular building, it is by no
means deilcient in picturesque effect upon an
external view, while witliin the rooms are well

aiTanged, and furnished with much taste and

elegance. The hall is striking, and connected

by a flight of stone steps witli the gallery,
which is built of tlie same material. Froni
tliis last are the entrances to tlie principal bed-

chambers, &c.
The grounds about the house are well laid

out, the soil being particularly adapted to tlie

growth of fruit. Indeed, the whole neigh-
bourhood has long been celebrated for its

apple orchards, and in the rectory-grounds is

one, of little more tlian two acres in extent,
that in a single year has yielded more than

eight hundred bushels of the finest apples.

SACKHEATH HALL, in the co. of Nor-

folk, about four miles and a half from Nor-

wich, and in the lumdred of Taverliam
;
the

seat of Captain Henry J. Stracey, grandson
of Sir Edward Stracey, the Ist Bart.

This Hall takes its name from tlie parish of

Racklieatli Magna, in wliicli it is situated.

At one time a small priory stood here, but no

traces of such a building are any longer

remaining.
After liaving been successively possessed by

the families of Racklieatli, Yelverton, and

Helme, it was sold by tlie latter, about the

year 1590, to Thomas Pettus, Esq., alderman
and mayor of Norwich in tliat year. The
last baronet of tliat name—Sir Horace Pettus—

dying without issue, the estate then passed
into the Dasliwood family, fi-om wliom it was

jjurcliased, not quite a hundred years since,

by tlie first Sir Edward Stracey.
Racklieatli Hall is a splendid mansion,

standing in the midst of an extensive and
well-wooded park. The date of the erection

of this building is not known with any degree
of certainty, but it was probably raised by
some family now extinct. At all events, it

bears no marks of being modern.

Captain Stracey's property lies in between:

twenty and thirty different parishes, and he
is lord of the manors of Rackheath, Salthouse,

Oxnead, Bruxton, &c.

The grounds attached to the mansion are

exceedingly beautiful, the soil partaking of

the general richness of the county, which is

generally acknowledged to be one of the most

fertile, as well as the best cultivated, through-
out all England.

WHITE WEBBS, in the co. of Middle-

sex, three miles north of Enfield, and upon
the borders of Hertfordshire ;

the seat of

Henry Wilkinson, Esq.
The house is seated on the sloping side of a

hill, encompassed upon the northern side by
a large wood, part of the old chase, which

was enclosed about fifty years ago, and then

bought by the father of Mr. Wilkinson. This

is said to be the spot on which the associates

of Guy Fawkes assembled on the night of the

5th of November, 1605, all in anxious expec-
tation of the blowing up of the two houses of

Parliament, a design which, we are told, was

equally meditated in the reign of Queen
Elizabeth.

The present mansion was built in 1791, by
Mr. Abraham Wilkinson, the first of that name
who came into possession of the estate, having

purchased it from the prior owner. The

whole property consists of two hundred and

fifty acres, one hundred of which is woodland,

being a portion of the old chase, or forest. This

last-named part is covered with oaks and

underwood, combining to form wolds, par-

terres, and glades, through which a brook

winds its way. The scene has been described,

and with some accuracy, by Ainsworth,

though, to heighten his romance, he has

thrown an air of desolation around, which

certainly does not belong to it in the present

day. It may, however, be worth quoting,

by way of contrast with the existing reality,

like Ilamlefs two picturcs :
—
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"
FoUowing their guide," says the novelist,

"
they reached, after a few minutes' brisk

walking, the borders of the forest, and took

their way along a patch of green sward that

skirted it. In some places their track was

impeded by gigantic thorns and brushwood,
while at others, avenues opened upon them,

afFording them peeps into the heart of the

wood. It was a beautiful sylvan scene. At

length they arrived at the head of a long
glade, at the further end of which a herd of

deer were seen. Pursuing the road, they

shortly afterwards arrived at a gate leading
to the house—a large building, erected pro-

bably at the beginning of Elizabeth's reign
—

and entering it, they passed under an avenue
of trees. On approaching the mansion, they
observed that many of the windows were

closed, and the whole appearance of the place
was melancholy and deserted. The garden
was overgrown with weeds, and the door
looked as if it was rarely opened."

It is cm-ious enough to see with what dif-

ferent eyes people will view the same spot, and,
even with facts essentially the same, how
various will be the colouring

—so various,

indeed, that we hardly seem to be looking on
a picture of the same scene. For instance, it

is thus that a popular landscape-gardener
describes White Webbs :

—
" A walk leads westward on the south side

of the wood, whence pleasant views of the

park are obtained, bounded in the distance by
a high and abrupt hill, crowned with Scotch

pines that ' dwell aloft amid the awful palaces of

nature.' The lofty situation, and their dark and

prominent features, attract the attention, and

give by their inassiveness a noble back-ground
and deep contrast to the other parts of this

rich woodland scene. Tlie gi-ounds ascend
from the valley in an amphitheatrical form,
and open up to valleys north and south,

through which the New River flows. On the

opposite hill are the well-wooded grounds and
seat of Mr. Bosanquet. Having proceeded
for some distance, we turned to the right

along the steep path on the skirts of the wood
;

the river was flowing at a short distance below

us, and the lawns, on the smooth, sloping
banks of the opposite grounds, were seen to

advantage. On a piece of lawn, between the

wood and the river, stands a very large crab-

tree, of fine form, with a thick mass of droop-
ing fohage, feathered to the ground. But we
must enter the wood to investigate its deep
but not gloomy shades. Having wormed our

way along winding pathways and steep banks,
a rustic seat oflered the solace of rest to the

weary. From this seat a view of Mr. Bosan-

quefs house and adjoining grounds is cut

through the trees
; hioking through this vista

a beautiful landscape picture is secn, set in a
framework of trees. Through this wood of

ninety-nine acres are winding pathways, lead-

ing to different scenes
;
in one part is a pond,

in another, a small open space
—an oasis in

the wilderness—and the whole is thickly
matted with an undergrowth of briars, ferns,

and patches of butchers' broom, hoUies, honey-
suckles, and ivy danghng from the forest

trees. It is an old oak wood, and still retains

traces of the forest scenery that once prevailed

throughout the whole extent of this part of

the country. We are told by Macaulay in

his History of England (vol 1. page 311),
that ' at Enfield, hardly out of the sight of

the smoke of the capital, was a region of five-

and-twenty miles in circumference, which con-

tained only three houses, and scarcely any
enclosed fields. Deer, as free as in an Ame-
rican forest, wandered there by thousands.'

" How solemn was the silence of this wood !

' Tlirona:s of insects in the shacle

Try their thin -wings, and dance in the wurm hean»

That waked them into life. Even the grcen trees

Partake the dcep contcntment, as they bend
To the soft n-inds ;

the sun from the blue sky
Looks in, and sheds a blessing on the scene.'

BinrANT.

" The surfiice of this large, thick wood, seen

from the opposite hill, is one of the noblest

objects in the comity."

RUSHTON HALL, in the co. of North-

ampton, about three miles north-east from

Kettering ; formerly the seat of the Lorda

Cullen (now extinct).
This property appears to have belonged

to the "Treshams in the reign of King Henry
VI., and to have been forfeited, not long
afterwards, to the Crown, in consequence of

the attainder of the first Sir Thomas Tres-

ham. He was beheaded at the commence-
ment of Edward IV, 's reign, but the estate

was subsequently restored to the family,
which attained the meridian of its greatness
under Queen Elizabeth. In the succeeding

reign, their star once again decHned
;

the

possessions of the family were confiscated

once more, and the head of it, being attiunted,

was confined, and died in the Tower. He
had been imphcated in the Gunpowder
Plot, and proved, though with no such inten-

tion upon his part, the cause of its timely

discovery ;
from his hand proceeded the

well-known letter addressed as an anonymous
warning to Lord Monteagle.
The manor and estates of Rushton next

passed into ihe hands of Sir Wilham Cock-

ayne, the descendant of a very ancient

family, who, during the reign of Henry I.

and for several centuries, were seated at

Ashborn Ilall, in Derbyshire.
Rushton Hall stands upon a gentle dech-

vity, sloping downwards to the river Lee.

It still retains its original form, or nearly so,
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presenting a pecuHar style, in which the

Gothic and Ronian architecture are blended,
but without exactly harmonizing. This

alone would serve to mark the date of its

erection, since it distinctly indicates the

period when the Roman style of buikling
was first introduced. If, however, this union

of forms, so incompatible in an architectural

point of view, be objected to, there is not

a little gained in picturesque effect by the

variety of form exhibited in the grotesque

decorations, and the numerous broken lines

of the building. Tlie impression thus pro-
duced is greatly increased by the beautiful

grey tints which time has given to the

moss-covered stone, so that, upon the whole,
it may be said

" To snatch a grace beyond the reach of art."

The earliest date upon the exterior of the

building is 1595, but in all probability the

foundations belong to a much anterior period.
From other datesupon the walls—1621, 1627,

1629, and 1630—tlie mansion would seem to

have been carried on by the Cockaynes, whose

armorial bearings are intermixed in different

parts with those of Sir Thomas Tresham,

generally considered as the original builder of

the edifice.

The principal front has a screen of the

Doric order, though not in strict conformity
with the Grecian rules. A new scale had
been invented by a Florentine architect, called

San Gallo, and this, at the time when Rushton

Hall was erected, had become the general
fashion of the day.

" The engaged cohmms
of the screen stand upon pedestals, and sup-

port an enriched entablature, over which is a

balustrade, surmounted by vases. In the

centre of the front is a grand arch of entrance,

between tlie two columns on each side of

which are niches containing statues of armed

knights. The arch is crowned by a reclining

figure of Plenty, with the cornucopise. Upon
the wings or extremities of the mansion, at

the ends of the screen, are very large oriel

windows, of two stories in height, showing
each twelve lights in front, and four on the

returns, surmounted by a curious open-work

parapet of elaborate workmanship. On each

of the fronts towards the court are three gable
terminations

;
these are plain, except the

centre, which rises over the principal doorway,
and Hke those upon the ends take the form of

the cyma; all of these, however, are embel-

lished with rich mouldings and obelisks, in

the manner of the ancient finials."

The great hall occupies the south side of

the court. It is a spacious room, lighted by
muUioned windows, and having a highly

ornamented roof that runs up to the entire

height of the edifice. The rafters rise with a

lofty pitch, connected about the centre of each

by tie-beams, and formed into an enormous
arch by compassed timbers, springing from
the walls. The Spandrils are fiUed with open
tracery, every member having an appropriate
enrichment, no less Hght than bold and im-

posing. At the bottom of the haU ia a Doric

screen of six engaged columns on pedestals,

having two arches of entrance from the par-
lour, kitchen, buttery, &c. Over the entab-

lature of the screen are statues of the Four
Cardinal Virtues, with the figure of Charity in

the centre. The Great GaUery, extending to

one hundred and twenty-five feet, occupies
the whole length of the north wing. It is

paneUed with oak, and contains a pedigree of

the Cockaynes, somewhat defaced by the

inroads of time, but stiU higlily curious and

interesting.
One room bears the name of the Dukes

Chamher, fi-om a tradition of its having been
inhabited by the Duke of Monmoutli when he
was concealed at Rushton, by Elizabeth,

(daughter of Sir Francis Trentham), the second

Viscountess CuUen, and one of tlie beauties

of the Court of Charles II. But the niost

curious, as weU as the most ancient part of

the building, is a small oratory leading from
the great staircase, containing a representa-

tion, in basso reUevo, of the Crucifixion, com-

posed of numerous characters, with a Latin

inscription in gold characters.

A peculiar interest attaches to that portion
of the grounds caUed the Wilderness. It is

there that Dryden is said to have composed
his poem of " The Hindand Panther ;" and it

perhaps acquires a yet deeper significance
irom the fact that the alcove, built amongst
its thickets, commands a distaut view of

Nasehy Field. The circumstance is tlius

recorded upon a tablet in the alcove by Dr.

Bennett, late Bishop of Cloyne :
—

*' Where yon bhie fleld scaree meets our straining eyes,
A fatal name for England—Naseby hes."

It was in a svunmer-house at Newton—•

belonging to another branch of the Tresham

family
—that the framers of the gunpowder

plot used to concoct their plans.

SAND, in Sidbury, Devon. The okl family
residence of Sand, being rather dilapidated
and reduced to a farm-house, the family have

principally resided at Clisthydon, which estate,

together with the advowson, came to them by
a marriage with a co-heiress of Reynell, who
had it f)-om the Peryam family. Sand gave a

name to a faniily who resided there at a very

early period, A part of the property passed
into the famUy of Tremayle, who bore the

unique charge it is believed, as a kind of play

upon their name,
"
Arg. between a fesse,

three tramals gu." From this family, in 1561,

Sand passed to a branch of the Huyshes, of
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Doniford, in Somersetshire, and was shortly
after sold to James Huyshe, of London, in

whose posterity it now continues. The house

appears to liave been built in tlie early part
of the 16th centuiy, and received additions at

the close. The arms of the family are, Arg.
upon a bend sa. three roches of the field.

The following is a minute history of the
descent of tlie property :

—
At one time Sande, or Sonde, was divided

into two distinct properties, respectively called,

Higheror Over Sand, and Lower or Nether
Sand ; each of wliich would seem to have

given a name to its owner. It is only the first,

however, that is noticed by the old historians

of the county.
In the earUer part of the sixteenth century,

Higher Sand was possessed by Florence

(Tremayle) the widow of Nicholas Ashley.
Slie was the grand-daughter and heiress of the

Judge, Sir Thomas Tremayle, and was heir

general of a family called Ue Sande, the in-

heritance coming to her through difFerent

heiresses of Farway, Trivet, and Waltham.
Florence, in conjunction with her son, Robert

Ashley, sold Over Sand, in the year 1561, to

Henry Huyshe, Esq., who descended from a

younger branch of the Huyshes of Litd

Hugshe and Doniford, in Somersetshire.
The history oi Nether or Lower Sand may

be ti-aced with equal certainty. In the
middle of the sixteenth century, it belonged to

Richard Rowe and Osmond Garrett, the re-

presentatives of two co-heiresses of John Wal-
rond, of Parke, in the parish of Willand, who
inherited it through heiresses of Holbein and

Pyle, in all likelihood from iEIanus de Sand.
Certain it is, Jilanus possessed land here in

1284, forin that yearhe soldafield to Deoda-
tus de Sand. This portion was bought by
Henry Huyshe a twelvemonth previous to

his acquisition of the other part, and at his

decease he left it to his eldest son, Thomas,
while he bequeathed Higher Sand to a

younger son, named Anthony. The whole
was disposed of by the two brothers to their

cousin, James Huyshe, of London, third
son of John Huyshe, of Doniford. James is

noticed by the historian Stowe, as having no
less than nine-and-twenty children born to

him by his two wives, a family equalled in

number by none except that of the celebrated

Highland chieftain, who, indeed, would not
countin " the lasses," they went for nothing.
The present mansion of Sand was erected

by Rowland Huyshe, the eldest surviving son
of the gentleman just mentioned. By the
date upon the painted glass of the windows,
the building niust have been completed before
the year 1594; but since the death of James
Huyshe, in 1724, it has been occupied by the
farmers of the estate, the family residence

being, as we have alrcady stated, at Clisthy-
don, in the same county.

HEATON-PAEK, Lancashire
;
the seat of the

Earl of Wilton
;
is in the parish of Prestwich,

and about fourmiles from Manchester.
The hall is a handsome modern stmcture of

stone, erected by Wyatt, with columns of the

lonic order, and a circidar projection in the

centre, surmounted by a spacious dome.
The park is well wooded andextensive, being
five miles in circumference, and at the en-

trance is an elegant Doric lodge. At some
distance from the house, on a bold eminence,
stands a circular temple, commanding ex-

tensive views in the four adjoining counties of

Chester, Derby, StafFord, and York.
A family bearing the local name was

originally seated here
; and, by the Testa de

Nevill, we find that Adam de Heton held
lands here, under Adam de Prestwych, temp.

Henry III. Subsequently the estate belonged
to the Langleys, from whom it passed by the

marriage of Margaret, daughter and co-heiress

of Sir Robeit Langley, to Richard Holland,
of Denton. The descendant of this alliance,
Edward HoUand, Esq., of Heaton and

Denton, died, leaving a sister and sole

heiress, Elizabeth, who married Sir John

Egerton, third Baronet of Oulton, whose great-

grandson, Sir Thomas Grey Egerton, was
created Baron Greyde Wilton, in 1784. His

daughter and eventual heiress, Eleanor, mar-
ried Robert Earl Grosvenor, and Lord Grey
de Wilton obtained the Earldom of Wilton in

1801, with special remainder to bis grandson^
Thomas, second son of his said daughter,
Eleanor. The Earl died in 1814, when the

ancient Baronetcy passed to John Egerton,

Esq., of Oulton, whose grandson is the present
Sir Philip de Malpas Grey Egerton, Bart.

;

while the Earldom of Wilton, with the Heaton

estate, descended, according to the limitation

and settlement, to the present proprietor.

WHITEHILL, in Mid-Lothian, the seat of

R. B. Wardlaw Ramsay, Esq.
This magnificent seat has been recently

built by the present proprietor, on the site of

the old family mansion of the Baronets of

Whitehill, to whom he is heir. The house is

situated in the midst of a small park, laid out

in wood and pleasure-grovmds, from some

points of which fine views of the Pentland

Hills are commanded. The architecture of

Whitehill is in the style of a Scottish manor-
house of the reign of King James I., or rather

it may be said to combine the beauties of the

Elizabethan house, the house of the times of

James I., and the ancient Scottish chateau.

It is indeed a noble mansion, with beautiful

bay windows, turrets, and gable ends. In

front there is an architectural terraced flower-

garden of great extent. The entrance-hall

is very fine
;
but the most striking feature of

tlie house is the great corridor, together with

the grand staircase, which ascends from it.
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This Is lighted by a noble window, filled with

the heraklic blazon of the faniily. The dining-

rooni, drawing-room, and library are in a

scale of corresponding magnificence. The
estate of Whitehill contains very vahiable and
extensive colUeries : and Mr. Wardlaw Ram-

say also possesses considerable landed and
mineral property in the county of Clackman-
nan.

Whitehill belonged, for many generations,
to a family of Ramsay, who were Baronets of

Nova Scotia. From them it passed, by
marriage, into the Fifeshire family of Balfour

of Balbirnie, and it became the inheritance

of a younger son. This gentleman left it to

the son of his sister, the late Mr. WardLaw,
tha representative of a younger branch of the

very ancient family of Wardlaw, Baronet of

Pitreavie. Mr. Wardlaw, on succeeding to

the estate of Whitehill, assumed the surname
of Ramsay. He married Lady Anne Lindsay,

daughter of Alexander, sixth Earl of Bal-

carres, and sister to the Earl of Crawford
and Balcarres. His eldest surviving son is

the present Mr. Wardlaw Ramsay, who
married Lady Louisa Hay, daughter to the

present Marquess of Tweeddale, and sister to

the Duchess of Wellington, by whom he has

issue. Among the many splendid houses

which the last twenty years have seen erected

by the Scottish nobihty and gentry, there is

none finer than WhitehilL Lideed, in the

pecuhar richness and beauty of its bay.win-
dows it maj' be said to surpass them alL The

park and pleasure-grounds, which are of

limited extent, do not correspond with the

magnificence of the mansion and the beauty
of the terraced gardens ;

but this is a fault

which is common to many recently built

gentlemen's seats in the richer agricultural
counties of Scotland, where land is of very
great value.

TILLICOULTRY, in the co. of CLickman-
nan

;
the seat of R. B. Wardlaw Ramsay, Esq.

Mr. Wardlaw Ramsay has just added
to his property in the county of Clack-

mannan, by the purchase of the picturesque
seat of TiUicoultry at the foot of the Ochil

Hills, within two miles of Alva, the beautiful

residence of Mr. Johnstone, described in VoL
L of this work. TiUicouUry House is buiU
in a glen at the foot of the mountain, and
has not the advantage of the fine views

which abound in its neighbourhood. Very
near the house stands the thriving and in-

creasing manufacturing viUage of TiUicouUry,
with numerous miUs erected along the rocky
sides of the Ochils, and moved by the clear

streams which issue from the mountain clefts

and ravines. This estate at one time be-

longed to Mr. Wardlaw Ramsay's father,

and was sold by him twenty years ago.

TiUicouUry anciently belonged to the

family of ColviUe, having been granted by
King James IIL to Robert ColvUle, steward

to his queen, Margaret of Denmark, and it

continued in his family some generations. A
remarkable story is told of a ColviUe of

Cleish, to whom TiUicouUry belonged. One

day a stranger of eminence arrived at TiUi-

couUry on a visit, to whom the Knight of

Cleish wished to show every possible honour.

It would seem that his larder was not so weU
stocked as he could have wished with the

deUcacies of the season. He had no Lunb to

regale his guest. However, he seems to have

been thoroughly acquainted with the cele-

brated parable of the ewe lamb with which

Nathan confounded King David. But his

knowledge of Scripture was turned to a bad

purpose, for he immediately sent his servants

to a neighbouring hermitage, where a holy
recluse made his abode in a cleft of the

Ochils. This good man had divei-ted his

sohtude by rearing and fondUng a pet lamb,
which the ruthless retainers of the Knight of

Cleish seized, in spite of the hermifs remon-

strances, and dragged down to the TiUicouUry

kitchen, where it was soon spitted and roasted

for the traveUer's benefit. The outraged
hermit vented his feeUngs in a curse, accord-

ing to the terms of which, the estate of his

unjust oppressor should, even to the end of

time, go, Uke a roUing stone, from one pro-

prietor to another, without descending in the

same family. The Knight of Cleish, it is

said, soon came to a premature end, dying
jn consequence of a fall from the steps at

his own haU-door. The estate speedily passed

away from his descendants, and was possessed

by diff^erent famiUes in succession.

About the end of the 17th century, it be-

longed to Sir Robert Stewart, second son of

Sir James Stewart, Bart., of Bute, who was

appointed a lord of session in 1701, with

the title of TiUicoidtry. He was suc-

ceeded by his son, Sir Robert Stewart, Bart.,

of TiUicouUry, who died in 1767. In this

instance, at any rate, the hermit was a false

prophet.
However, his curse seems to have operated

strangely of lateyears. During the present cen-

tury no estate in Scotland has so often changed
hands. Within about 30 years, it has had

nine different proprietors, by purchase,
—Mr.

Bruce, Mr. Glasford,Mr. Downie, Mr. Erskine,

Mr. Wardlaw Ramsay, Mr. Stirling, of the

family of Kippendavie, Mr. James Anstruther,
cousin and brother-in-law of Sir Wyndham
Carmichael Anstruther, Mr. PhiUp Anstruther,
his eldest brother, and lastly, Mr. Wardlaw

Ramsay. Let us hope that it now may descend

in a line of iminterrupted succession to the

remote posterity of the present proprietor, and

that the spell of the hermifs curse may at

length be broken.
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DINGESTOW-COTJRT, co. Monmouth; the

seat of Sainiiel Kichard Bosanquct, Esq.
This estate lias been successively possessed by

the famiUes of Jones, Duberly, and Bosanquet.
The house, called Dingestow-Court, is sup-

posed to have been erected, in the reign of

James I., by Sir Philip Jones, upon the site

of an older mansion. An ancient nianuscript
thus describes the former condition of the

grounds, and of the building, which belongs
to the Tudor style of architecture :

—" Fish-

ponds three or four, a malt-mill, and a vvheat-

mill on the great pool, which is fed by two

brooks, the one coming from Ragland. The
fish in this pond at the drawing by the soul-

diers
"

(of Sir Thomas Fairfax's arniy, then

engaged in the seige of Ragland Castle,)
" vahied at fifty pounds; lime-stone on the

grounds of Mr. Jones, and a quarry of excel-

lent stone for window stanchions, of which
the bow-windows in the parlour are made

;

three pair of stairs, two in turrets, the third in

the middest
;
a fair court before the gate,

which enters the house, walks raised, and set

with elmeS; to walk upon ;
and at the entrance

of this green court a fair gate."

Subsequent alterations have left but little

of the original mansion remaining, so far as

regards its external appearance, except the

stone archway and tovver, by which the coui-t

of entrance is approached. Internally, there

is the okl hall, with its Large open fire-place,
and the broad open staircase with worm balus-

trades. The entrance-front is of a plain,
modern character. 'J"he garden-front, which
is the one presenting itself to the mail-road, has
been recently built by the present proprietor,
after the model of Franks, near Farningham,
in Kent, astatelymansion of redbrick, erected

by the Bathursts in the reign of Queen
Elizabeth. The elevation and architectural

details of Franks formed the basis of Mr.

Cottingham's design, with which he comjieted
for the New Houses of Parliament. This
front is built of the light grey stone of the

country, and presents an exceedingly fine

specimen of modern Tudor architecture. The
view too from here is beautiful in the extreme.
From tlie terrace before the windows the

ground descends steeply to the lake that

crosses the whole landscape, and again be-

yond the water rises in a broad open slope,
its brilliant verdure contrasting finely with
the dai-k foliage of the oaks and other trees

around. This home-view is bounded by an
extensive amphithcatre of steep woods

;

behind rise the still higher elevations of

Trelleck and Craig-y-Dorth, or the ]^oaf-hill.

The vievv which the house presents from the
road for more than half-a-mile, is exceedingly
imposing.
The family of Jones being zealous in

the cause of Charles I., this estate, which
was then in their possession, was condemncd

to be sold by the triumphant Parliament in

1652, The ordinance, however, as happened
in so many similar cases, was not carried into

effect, though it does not appear by what in-

terest, or by what chance, John Jones, the

son of Sir Pliilip, escaped the intended con-

fiscation of his property.
The old Castle of Dingestow, near the

Court, was built by Ranulph de Poer, in the

reign of King Hcnry II., but was taken and
razed by the Welsh in the year 1164, at which
time Ranulph de Poer was slain in its defence.

It was afterwards restored, and again taken
in 1233, by Prince Llwellyn and Richard

Marshal, Earl of Pembroke, who seem to

have dealt vvith it as roughly as the preceding

conquerors. Lastly, as we have already seen,
the unlucky fortresswasstormedby the Round-
heads under Fairfax, as if some fatality at-

tended its doomed walls, that were never to

hold out, whatever enemy might assault them.

WOTTON-HOUSE, in the co. of SiUTey ;
the

seat of William John Evelyn, Esq.
In the Domesday Book, this manor is

called Odeton, or Wodeton, in modern ortho-

graphy Woodetown, a corruption which has

led some etymologists into the notion of its

having received tlie name from the woody
character of the district, But the import of the

appellation must be sought in its ancient and
not in its modern orthography ;

we shall then

find that it means nothing more than Odm's
or Wodens town, a town that is dedicated to

the God of War, just as Friday-street sig-
nifies a street dedicated to the Goddess Friga.
Of all the Will-o'-the-wisps, that are con-

stantly leading ingenious minds astray, this

etymology is the worst !

In the year 1514, this manor was possessed

by David Owen, a natural son of Owen
Tudor, who married Katherine de Valois, the

widow of Henry V, In 1579 it was sold by
his descendant, Henry Owen, Esq,, to John

Evelyn, Esq,, of Long Ditton, in whose

family it still remains,

Wotton-house was, according to the most

probable accoimts, erected in the reign of

Queen Elizabeth, It is an irregular pile,

built of brick, and isthus described by Evelyn
in his celebrated Dianj :

—
"
Wotton, the mansion-house of my

father, (nowmy elderbrother's,) is situated in

the most southern part of the shire, and

though in a valley, yet upon part of Lyth
(Leith) Hill, one of the most eminent in

England, from the prodigious prospect to be

seen from its summit, The house large and

ancient, suitable to hospitable times, and so

sweetly environed with those delicious and

venerable woods, as in the judgment of

strangers as well as Englishmen, it may be

conipared to one of the most pleasant seats

in the nation, and most tempting for a
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great person and a wanton purse to ren-

der it conspicuous. It has rising grounds,
meadows, woods, and water in abundance. I

will say nothing of the ayre, because the pre-
eminence is universally given to Surrey, the

soil being dry and sandy ;
but I should speake

niuch of the gardens, fountains, and groves,
that adorn it, were they not as generally
known to be amongst the most natural, and
(until this later and universal hixury of the

whole nation, since abounding in such ex-

penses,) the most magnificent that England
afforded, and which indeed gave one of the
first examples of that elegancy since so much
in vogue, and follow'd in the managing of
their waters, and other ornaments of that

nature."

Although *^he house, as we have ah-eady
observed, was built early inQueen Elizabeth's

reign, yet it has been considerably changed
from its original state by the additions and

iniprovements made from time to time by
vai-ious members of the Evelyn family. Thus,
aboul the commencement of the last century,
Sir John Evelyn

—grandson of Sylva Evelyn—erected the present library upon the north

side,- and the widow of his grandson again,
Sir Frederick, built the drawing-room in the
south front, and the east wing was rebuilt

by Mr. George Evelyn in 1828. But in all

these alterations, as well as in the original

structure, comfort and convenience have been
more studied by the designers than architec-

tural regularity.

Everything in and about this picturesque
spot serves to remind the visitor of the Evelyn
so familiar to us by his Diary. In the draw-

ing room is a fine portrait of him, by
Sir Godfrey Kneller

;
in the library is pre-

served his collection ofbooks, much augmented
by his successive descendants

;
and in the

grounds yet remain the trees planted by his

own hand, or under his direction, with the

fish-pond and island, and other creations of
his taste and fancy. "Resolving," he saj^s,"

to possess myselfe in some quiet, if it might
be in a time of so great jealousy, I built by my
brother's permission a study, madeafish-pond,
an island, and some other solitudes and re-

tirements at Wotton, which gave the first oc-

casion of improving them to those water-works
and gardens whichafterwardssucceeded them,

I went with my brother, Evelyn, to

Wotton (1652) to give him what directions I

was able about his garden, which he was now
desirous to put into some forme

;
but for

which he was to remove a mountaine over-

growne with huge trees and thicket, with a

moate within ten yards of the house. This

my brother immediately attempted, and that

without greate cost, for more than an hundred

yards south, by digging downe the mountaine
and flinging it into a rapid streame, it not

onely carried away the sand, &c., but filled

up the moate, and leveled that noble area,
where now the garden and fountain is."

In another place he tells us a curious fact,
which has also been noticed by other writers :

" Where goodly oals grew, and were cut
down by my grandfather almost a hundred

years since, are now altogether heech
;
and

where my brother has extirpated the beech,
there rises birch. Under the beech spring up
innumerable hoUies, which, growing thick
and close together in one of the woods next
the meadow, is a viretum all the year long,
and a very beautiful sight when the leaves of
the taller trees are fallen."

Near the house is a conservatory, well
stored with exotics as well as with the natural

productions of the country. Here, too, are

the pleasure-grounds and flower gardens,
with a fountain, a handsome temple or colon-

nade, and a lofty mount cut into terraces.

Through the park flows a rivulet which takes
its rise nearly a mile off in the high grounds
of Abinger parish ;

it is intersected at dif-

ferent parts by dams and formed into small
basins of water, one of which is crossed by a

bridge. In addition to the thick woods, some

single trees may be seen here of remarkable
size and beauty, though the estate appears to

have suffered severely in the frightful hm-ri-

cane of 1703, which lasted two whole days—
the 26th and 27th of November. Evelyn
thus records this calamity in his Sylva :—

" Methinks that I still hear^—sure I am
that I feel—the dismal gi-oans of our forests,
when that dreadful hurricane, happening on
the 26th of November, 1703, subverted so

many thousands of goodly oaks, prostrating
the ti"ees, lying them in ghastly postures, like

whole regiments fallen in battle by the sword
of the conqueror, and crushing all that grew
beneath them. Myself had above two thou-

sand blown down
;
several of which, torn up

by their fall, raised mounds of earth near

twenty feet high, with great stones entangled
among the roots and rubbish, and this almost
within sight of my dwelling ;

—now no more
Wotton [Wood-town], stripped and naked,
almost ashamed to own its name."
And again he speaks of this tempest in his

Diary :
—

" The effects of the hurricane and tempest
of wind, rain, and lightning thro' all the

nation, especially London, were very dismal.

Many houses demolished and people killed.

As to my own losses, the subversion of woods
and timber, both ornamental and valuable,

through my whole estate, and about my
house, the woods crowning the garden mount,
and growing along the park-meadow, the

damage to my own dwelling, farms, and out-

houses, is almost tragical, not to be parallerd
with anytliing happening in our age. I am
not able to describe it, but submit to the plea-
sure of Almighty God."

A A
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TEEWAETEEKICK, in the co. of Cormvall,
about two miles from the village of Ruan

Lamjhorne, and in the himdred of Poivder,
the seat (jiire uxoris*) of Gordon William

Francis Gregor, Esq., a magistrate and

Deputy-Lieutenant of the county, and its High
Sheritfin 1829.

This estate at a very early period belonged
to a family called Trewarthenick, whose
heiress conveyed it, hy marriage, to Treiago,
of Fentongollan. In the reign of Queen Mary,
we find it possessed by Wilham Weyte, and at

ayetlater pei-iod by Richard Reynell, whomost

prohahly obtained it in marriage with Mary,
daughter and co-heiress of John Penham, of

the city of Exeter. It was transferred by that

lady, during her widowhood, to Thomas Ceely,
of Lyme Regis, and sold again by one of his

family, in the year 1640, to John Gregor, Esq.
This mansion was first erected in 1686, by

John Gregor, grandson of the piirchaser of

the estate, at which time it consisted only of

that part which now forms the centre. It was

two stories high, with seven windows in the

front; the three centre ones projected; the

roof that was steep had a pediment and three

centre windows. The two wings were added

by the present owner in 1834, and inbuilding

them, the roof has altogether been so much
lowered as to give a Grecian character to the

whole frontage. In conjunction with its

offices, it extends to a considerable depth.
The site of this mansion is well chosen,

being in the midst of a fine lawn, and upon
elevated ground. It aboimds with fine groves,
and commands several rich prospects, interest-

ing from their variety of outline, and

picturesque from the diversity of wood, mead,
and water, which enter into the composition.

FORT EOEEET, co. Cork, was built in 1788,

by Robert Longfield Conner, third son of

Roger Conner, Esq., of Connorville.

The founder, Mr. R. L. Conner, was a

strenuous supporter of " the Protestant in-

terest," and was in constant correspondence
with the Government of the day, as to the local

modes to be adopted for suppressing disturb-

ance, and overawing the disattected. His zeal

was noisy and active, and the authorities of

Dubhn Castle entrusted him with a good deal

of power. He was never guilty of underrating
his personal importance, or the extent of his

possessions. He accompanied one of his poli-
tical commimications to the Government with

a map, in which the domain of Fort Robert

occupieda disproportionate share of the barony
in which it is situated, leaving, in fact, but a

small margin for everybody else's estate. In
fvont of the house, Mr. Conner wrote,

" This
isthe finest station in the barony for cannon,"

*
Loveday-Sarah, only daughter of Francis Glanville,

Esq., of Catelifrcnch, by Lovcday-Sarah, his •wife,

daughter and co-heii of VVilliam Masterman, Esq.

giving emphasis to the assertion by an oath !

This hint, however, was not taken, and the

esplanade has remained ever since undefended

by a battery. His martial spirit found exer-

cise in the command of the Balhneen Yeo-

manry Corps, of whom he was Captain. He
continued for many years the accredited

informant of Government concerning local

poUtical affairs. On his death, about 1820,

Fort Robert became the property of his three

daughters, co-heiresses. It was subsequently

occupied by the well-known Feargus 0'Con-

nor, during whose occupancy, the halls which

had witnessed a hundred Orange orgies, rang
with echoes of a very dissimilar character.

It was here that Feargus planned his raid upon
the representation of the county Cork, in 1832,

in which he raUied round him the support of

the Catholic priests and peasantry to an ex-

tent that probably astonished himself as much
as anybody else. Feargus is the founder's

nephew, being fourth son of his brother Roger
0'Connor, formerly of Connorville.

Fort Robert is approached by an avenue

nearly a mile in length, that ascends by easy

gradations to the eminence on which the house

is situated. It is a large, square mansion of

handsome proportions, but having been for

many years unoccupied by any member of the

family, it bears painful marks of decay.

MANCHE, co. Cork
;

the seat of Daniel

Conner, Esq.
The estate of Manche has been for con-

siderably more than a century in the possession
of Mr. Conner's family, but the mansion was
built not further back than 1824, by Daniel

Conner, Esq. Mr. Conner is the represen-
tative of the Connorville family. Manche

adjoins the western side of the Connorville

domain. Some members of the race have

written their names " 0'Connor ;" others call

themselves "Conner."
Mr. Conner descends, in the fifth generation,

from Daniel Conner, Esq., of Bandonbridge ;

whose son, WiUiam, married in 1721, Anne,

daughter of Roger Bernard, Esq., of Palace

Anne, county Cork (of the Earl of Bandon's

family). The fourth son of that marriage,

Roger Conner, married Anne Longfield, sister

of the Right Hon. Viscount LongueviUe, and

by her had (with other issue) Daniel, born

1754, who married a daughter of the Rev.

Arthur Hyde, by whom he was father of the

present Daniel Conner, Esq., of Manche.
Daniel Conner, of Bandonbridge, inherited

estates from liis progenitors, and increased his

patrimony by hu'ge purchases of confiscated

lands, in 1698 and 1703. He was ancestor,

through his third son, George, of the present

feniily of Conner, of BaUybricken, co. Cork
;

he was also ancestor of the Conners, of Down-

daniel, and of MyshaUs, same county. He was

progenitor of the present Lord Lisle
;

his son
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George, of Ballybricken, being father of Mary
Anne Conner, wlio in 1778 married the llight

Hon. John Lysaght, second Lord Lisle, of

Moimt North, county Cork. He was ancestor

of the Daunts, of Kilcascan
;

his daughter,
Mrs. Elizabeth Gumbleton, of Castle Rich-

ard,* co. Waterford, being mother of Jane,
who married, in 1775, William Daunt, Esq.,

grandfather of the present representative. He
was also progenitor of General Thomas, late

M.P. for Kinsale
;
his daughter, Mary, having

married -—- Thomas, Esq., of Everton, county
Carlow, from whom the General is descended.

Manche House is a large, handsome, and

cominodious mansion. The situation is ex-

tremely pictui-esque, in a well-wooded domain
on the north bank of the Bandon river. A
large extent of level and fertile land contrasts

happily with an abrupt hill, covered with oak

wood, which, for nearly a mile, runs parallel
with the public road from Dummanway to

Bandon. The former town lies about four

Irish miles to the west of the domain.

MIDDLETON HALL, in the co. of Carmar-

then, near the pleasant viUage of Llan

Arthney, the seat of Edward Abadam, Esq.,
a descendant of the ancient baronial house

of Abadam. The estate was purchased in the

year 1824, by the late Edward Hamlin Adams,

Esq., M.P. for Carmarthenshire, whose son

and heir, the present owner, has resumed the

ancient surname of his ancestors, Abadam.
Middleton Hall, situated in a park of

more than six hundred acres, is one of the

most splendid mansions in South Wales. It

is a modern structure, having been built

about sixty yeai-s ago for Sir William Paxton,

by the celebrated architect, Mr. Cockerell.

It stands on a gentle elevation in the midst of

a pleasant valley, which branches oft" to the

westward from the Tywi or Towey, and forms

the only opening of that kind in the chain of

hills on this side of the i"iver between Llan-
deilo and the sea. The scenery around is

beautiful in the extreme, and, although this is

a minor consideration, the house is most desi-

rably placed with respect to the public roads,

being within a mile and a half of each of the

two great communications between Milford
Haven and London.
The grounds attached to the hall are well

wooded. At the northern extremity of the

park, on an eminence that immediately over-

looks the Vale of Towey, and commanding a

prospect of great extent, is a tower erected to

the memory of the immortal Nelson, to whom
England was so mainly indebted for her very
existence as an independent nation during the

height of Napoleon's power.
" The exterior

* Otherwise Ballygarron Castle. Through his daughter,
Elizabeth, who married, in 1743, Richard Giunbleton,
Esq., of Castle Richard, Mr. Conner was ancestor of the
Gumbletons of Castle-Richard, Curriglass, Castleview,
Fort Williani, and Marston.

form of this building is triangvdar to the

height of two storeys, where the walls termi-

nate in an embattled parapet, and at each of

the angles is a circular tower, forming the

interior into a hexagon. These towers are

continued several feet above the first parapet.
The upper story is hexagonal both within and

without, and rises majestically from the trian-

gular part of the structure, communicating a

picturesque eftect to the whole. On the

groimd-fioor are three spacious arches, one in

each front, whicli admit the passage of car-

riages. The next storey is a lofty and sump-
tuous banqueting-room, and the upper story
is taken up by a large apartment, designed
for a prospect-room, whence the surrounding

country may be viewed in every direction to

the greatest advantage. Upon the summit of

the building is a flat roof, which is also acces-

sible to visitors. The upper apai'tment con-

tains some appropriate devices, allusions to

the great naval hero in honour of whom the

tower was erected. One of the windows,

composed entirely of painted glass, contains

in the centre pane a portrait of Nelson
;
an-

other pane underneath exhibits the cockpit
scene, presenting him in his last moments

;

and another above comprises the emblematical

representation of his ascent to immortality."
In digging for the foundations of this noble

pile, designed by Mr. Cockerell, the workmen
discovered the fragment of some wai-like

instrument—probably a spear or javelin
—

about nine inches long, and made of a mixed
metal containing a lai-ge proportion of copper
or brass. To judge from the state in which
this weapon was found, it must have been
buried there for centuries.

There is at Middleton Hall a very fine col-

lection of pictures, some by Holbein, Lely,
and Kneller.

BOOKHAM GEOVE, Surrey, at a short dis-

tance from Great Bookham Church; the seat

of Viscount Downe.
Bookham Grove was originally a cottage,

which, about the middle of the last century,
was fitted up as a shooting-box, by General
Thomas Howard, who derived it from the

Effinghani family. His son, Sir George
Howard, K.B., disposed of it to Admiral
Brodrick, who, finding it too small and incon-
venient for a regular dwelling-house, pulled it

down, and built a new niansion, surrounding it

with a handsome plantation. His death took

place in the year 1 769, and it was subsequently
bought by Sir Alexander Grant, upon whose
decease it was again sold, the purchaser being a
Mr. Dalbiac. In 1775, this gentleman parted
with the house and grounds to John Dawnay,
fourth Viscount Downe, and with his family
they have since remained, he having died in

1780, after which event his widow resided
here till her own death in 1812.
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This estate is not large, consisting only of

about eighty-five acres, with a lawn in front
;

General Howard having procured, in his day,
the removal of the highroad, which ran close

before the original cottage. It is not without

some interesting scenery in the neighbour-
hood

;
and in another part of the parish,

Roman coins have been found.

KILLUA CASTLE, co. of Westmeath
;

the

seat of Sir Benjamin James Chapman, Bart.,

who represented this county in Parliament

from 1820 till 1841.

At one time, this property belonged to the

Nugents, but it was forfeited by that family
in 1641, and passed to the Chapmans. The

mansion, which was biult in 1780, by Sir

Benjamin Chapman, stands upon the site of

what was once a preceptory of the Knights

Templars. In 1820, considei-able adchtions

and improvements wei-e made to the original

building. It is surrounded by a fine park,
studded with old trees, and further ornamented

by a beautiful sheet of water. The pleasure-

grounds are extensive, and well laid out, the

most having been made of the natui-al advan-

tages of the landscape.
In the house is a good collection of pictures

by the old masters.

BATTLE ABBEY, in the co. of Sussex, about

seven miles from Hastings ;
the seat of Lady

Webster.
Battle Abbey, with reference to the event of

which it is the memorial, is perhaps the most

important seat in the whole island. Upon the

night before the battle which laid the Saxon

power in the dust, and gave to the Duke
William the crown of England, he vowed to

found a monastery in lionour of St. Martin, if

he obtained the victory. Faithful to his com-

pact, he no sooner was firmly seated on his

new throne, than he built this abbey, and, as

some have said, on the precise spot where the

mangled body of King Harold was first dis-

covered. So, at least, says William of

Malmesbury. Robert of Gloucester rhymes
to the same effect :

—
"
Kyng Wyllam bythoghtc hym eke of thc vole («) that
was vcrlore, (b)

And aslowe (c) eke throu hym in batoyle bynoie ; (d)
There as («) the baytoyle was an abbey he let rere (/)
Of Seyn MortjTi, vor hcr {g) soules that ther aslowe

were ;

And the monckes wel y nou feffede (h) wythoute fayle,
That ys ycleped in Enselonde, abbey of the batoyle!"

(o) Vole—Anplo-Saxon :
—

People.

\b)

--
Verlore—Anglo-Saxon :

—Losl.

(c) Aslowe, i.c,
" slain."

(d) Bynore, i.e.,
" before." The meaning of the two

lines wiil then be, "Kinp William bethoughthim also of
the folk that were lost and slain also througli him (by his

means), in battlc previously." This line is somewhat
incorrectly givcn by Horsfield.

(e) Tlier as, i.e.,
" where."

(/) Let rere—an Anglo-Saxon idiom—" caused to be
raised." Let has here its original German meaning.

(g) Her, i.e.,
" thcir."

(A) Feffede,i.e., "endowed-"

From this it would seeni that William built

the abbey, rather as an expiation for past

offences, than as a means of propitiating the

saint beforehand, according to the authorities

we had previously given. It was begun in

1067, but not completed at the time of the

Conqueror's death
;
nor did the intended nvuu-

ber of monks ever occupy its walls, aithough
it was sufficiently advanced before that time

to allow of the appointing an abbot, and the

estabhshing there anumber of the holy brother-

hood. These were brought from the Bene-

dictine abbey of Marmontier, in Normandy,
Robert Blankard being chosen the first abbot.

Biit the honour proved an imfortunate one for

him upon whom it had been conferred. He
came over to England to visit his intended

abbey ; and, being satisfied by the fair prospect
before him, returned to Normandy, to make
the necessary arrangements, which, being

completed, he was on his way back again to

Engiand, when he accidentally perished in

the waves.

The immunities and prerogatives granted
to this monastery by William were no less im-

portant than those enjoyed by the monks of

Christ Church, Canterbury. Not only was it

exempt from episcopal jurisdiction, but it had
the exchisive right of inquest on all murders
committed upon the abbey-lands ;

as also

treasure-trove, free warren, and the peculiar

right of sanctuary. To crown all, a privilege
was conceded to the abbots of pardoning any
condemned criminal they should casually pass
or meet going to execution, and the abbey
was one of the mitred ones, a distinction which

gave to its head the honour of a seat in Par-

liament. Here, also, was deposited what has

since been known by the name of the " RoU
of Battle Abbey," containing a list of the

Norman genti-y who came into England with

the Conqueror.
" This table," says Browne

Willis,
" continued till the dissolution, and

was seen by our amiable antiquary, Leland,
who hatli given us the contents of it in the

first tome of his Collectmiea." The original
roll was lost at the dissokition of monasteries,

and, if we may believe Dugdale, the copies
of it still extant ai-e veiy incon-ect. These

falsities, as he calls them, consist in attribut-

ing the derivation of many from the French
who were not at all of that extraction, but

merely English ;

"
as, by their surnames

taken from several places in this realme, is

most evident. But such hath been the sub-

tility of some monks of old, finding it accept-
able imto most to be reputed descendants

of those who were companions with Duke
William in thatmemorable expedition, whereby
he became conqueror of this reahne, that to

gratify tliem (but not without their own ad-

vantage), they inserted their names into that

ancient catalogue."
In addition to all the marks of his munifi-
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cence already recordecl, King William offered

at the altar of Battle Abbey tlie sword he had
wielded at the bloody day of Hastings, and
the royal robe worn by him at his corona-

tion. Biitnow, after the lapse of four hundred
and seventy-one years

—
during which time

thirty-two abbots had presided over this estab-

lishment—came the dissolution of monasteries,
when this site is said by Grose to have been

granted by the King to one Gihnei-,
" who

lirst pulled down many of the buildings, and

disposed of the materials, and afterwards sold

the lands to Sir Anthony Browne." Collins,

however, asserts that,
" on the 16th August,

30th Henry VIII., he (Sir Anthony) had a

grant of the house and site of the monastery
of Battle, in com. Sussex, to him, his heirs and

assigns for ever;" and this seems by far the

more probable account. His son converted a

part of tlie ruined abbey into a mansion, and
his descendants continued to reside there until

the commencement of the seventeenth cen-

tury, at which time Anthony Browne, Viscount

Montague, disposed of the property to Sir

Thomas VVebster, Bart. In the family of this

last-named gentleman it still remains.

The abbey stands vipon a plain, at one time

called Heathland, or, as some write it, Heath-

jield, a nanie well agreeing with the uature of

the soil. When in its complete state, it formed
a square, three sides of which are now partly

occupied by its i-uins. A large square Gothic

building, embattled at the top, with a hand-
some octagon tower at each coi-ner, consti-

tutes the grand entrance, which faces the

principal entrance of the town, and is adorned
with a series of arches and neat pilasters.
This gateway, with the adjoining buildings, is

supposed by some to be a part of the originaJ

edifice, while others assign its erection to the

middle of the fifteenth centmy. That side of

the square, which is now occupied by the

dwelling-house, has, of course, undergone the

greatest alteration, to adapt it to tlie neces-

sities of a modern habitation. Tlie remaining
side—namely, that opposite to the gateway—
consists of two low parallel walls, tliat at one
time supported a suite of chambers, and ter-

minated in handsome turrets; originally, it

formed part of another gate. On the outside

of tlie house are yet seen nine arches, now
filled up, tlie only remains of the old abbey
church, and in all probability belonging to

the inside of a cloister. Tlie other ruins con-

sist of a great hall, or refectory, contiguous to

the churcli
;
but by far the most interesting

portion of the existing remains is a detached

building, now converted into a barn, with

twelve windov/s on one side and six upon the

other. It is eminently beautiful, though its

dimensions—one hundred and six feet by
thirty-five

—may not be quite proportional.
The original purpose of this superb room
seems to have been to entertain the whole

country when the monks gave a general feast

to their tenants. Beneath tlie hall, which is

raised by a flight of steps, are crypts of free-

stone, divided by elegant colunms and spring-

ing arches. Tliis curious vaulted chamber,

evidently the oldest part of tlie present abbey-
remains, is now converted into a stable. The
whole is in a good style of Gothic, probably
belonging to the time of King Stephen, or of

Henry II., with the exception of a heavy
roof, which is of modern oi-igin.

In that part of the building now used as a

hall, may be seen Wilkin's celebrated his-

torical picture of the Battle of Hastings. It

measures thirty-one feet six inches in width,
and seventeen feet six inches in length. The

picture is taken at that point of tlie battle

when William, not knowing the cause of the

confusion in tlie hostile ranks—which, in fact,.

was the fall of Harold—but, seeing them in

disorder, charges them at the head of his

principal knights and followers. Upon the

whole, it is a work that does infinite credit to

modern art, whicli has received but Httle

encouragement amongst us in the department
of historical painting.
The park has, in a great measure, been

stripped of tlie noble trees that once orna-
mented it, a circumstance greatly to be re-

gretted. What is worse, few landed pro-
prietors seem to recoUect the excellent advice

given by the dying Dumbiedykes to his son—"
Jock, when ye hae naething else to do,,

ye may be aye sticking in a tree
;

it will be

growmg, Jock, when ye are sleeping."

KINGSWOOD WAEIIEN, in the co. of

Surrey ;
the seat of Thomas Alcock, Esq.,-

M.P. for the eastern division of the county.
In the reign of Henry II., this manor was

granted by the monarch to the Prior of
Merton

;
but after the dissolution of the

priory, in 1538, it reverted to the Crown
; and,

in 1563, Queen Eiizabeth granted botli tlie

land and tlie liouse to William Lord Howard,
of Eftingham, Lord Chamberlain of the Royal
household, the Lady Margaret, his wife, and
their heirs male

;
in the failure of whom, we

find this estate possessed, for a very short

time, by Sir John Haydon. Next, we find it

in the possession of Sir Thomas Bludworth,
Knight, Alderman of London, with whose

family it remained till 1701, when it became
the property of Thomas Harris, gent., of

Banstead, from whom it passed to his nephew,
John Hughes, in 1746. In 1791, it was sold
to William Jolliife, Esq., and latterly, it was

purchased by Thomas Alcock, Esq., its pre-
sent owner, and the chief landed proprietor
in this liberty.

This mansion is a large embattled building,
in the castellated style, and presents a some-
what imposing appearance. It possesses

every appropiiate requisite for a gentleman's
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residence, with pleasant gi-ounds, and a neat

conservatory. A well was simk a few years

ago, upon the premises,
—the only one in

Kingswood. It is three hundred feet deep,
cut entirely through a bed of chalk, and gene-
rally containing about a hundred feet of

water.

CA.ERIDEN, Linlithgowshire, in the parish
of the same name

;
the seat of Capt. James

Hope, R.N., a magistrate and Deputy-Lieu-
tenant for the county.
The mansion itself has nothingaboutitsuffi-

ciently remarkable to demand description, but
the surrounding locality lias many points of

interest. In a house, close upon the shore,
which now serves as a sort of lodge to the

property, was born the famous Colonel Gar-

diner, who fell, in 1745, at the battle of Pres-

ton Pans. " The Christian hero," as Dr.

Doddridge styles him, had been exceedingly
gay, if not dissipated, in the earlier part of

his life, but had afterwards become famous
for a piety that ahnost bordered upon fanati-

cism. The bishop tells an anecdote of him

which, as few readers are likely to wade

through his biography, brief as it is, may be
worth repeating :

—
" While Captain Gardiner was at London,

in one of the journeys lie made upon this

occasion,* he, with that frankness which was
natural to him, and which in those days was
not always under the most prudent restraint,

ventured to predict from what he knew
of the bad state of the King's health, that

he would not live six weeks. This was
made known by some spies who were at St.

James's, and came to be repeated at the court

of Versailles
;

for he received letters from
some friends at Paris, advising him not to re-

turn thither unless he could reconcile himself
to a lodging in the Bastile. But he was soon
freed from that apprehension ; for, if I mistake

not, before half that time was accomphshcd
Louis XIV. died

;
and it was generally thought

his death was hastened by a very accidental

circumstance, which had some reference to

the Captain's prophecy. For, the last time he
€ver dined in public, which was a very little

while after the report of it had been made
there, he happened to discover our British

Envoy among the spectators. Tlie penetration
of this illustrious person was too great, and
his attachment to the intcrest of his Royal
master too well known, not to render him very
disagreeable to that crafty and tyrannical
prince, whom God had so long suffered to be
the disgrace of monarchy and the scourge of

Em-ope. He at first appeared very languid,
as indeed he was

;
but on casting his eyes upon

the Earl of Stair, lie affected to appear before
him in a much better state of health than he

* IIc was scnt over from Paris bv tlie Karl of Stair,
•with whom he was then rcsicliug-.

really was
; and, therefore, as if he had been

awakened of a sudden from some deep reverie,

immediately put himself into an erect posture,
called up a laboured vivacity into his coun-

tenance, and eat much more heartily than was

by any means advisable, repeating it two or

three times to a nobleman,—I think the Duke
of Bourbon, then in waiting,

— ' Methinks I

eat very well for a man who is to die so soon.'

But this inroad upon that regularity of living
which he liad for some time observed, agreed
so ill with him that he never recovered from
this meal, but died in less than a fortnight,
This gave occasion for some humorous people
to say, that old Louis after all was killed by a

Briton. But if this story be true, which I

think there can be no cause to doubt, as the

Colonel (from whom I often heard it) though
absent, could scarce be misinformed, it might
more properly be said that he fell by his own

vanity ;
in which view I thought it so re-

markable as not to be unworthy of a place in

these memoirs."

KIRKDALE HOTJSE, in the Stewartry of

Kirkcudbright, N.B.
;

the family mansion
of William Rainsford Hannay, Esq. Tliis

gentleman represents the Kirkdale branch of

the Hannays of Galloway, one of the most
ancient families in Scotland, and which has

been of distinction in Galloway from the

earliest period.
When Edward I. enjoyed a temporary

triumph by force and fraud over the kingdom
of Scotland—and so many of the aristocracy
submittedand swore fealty tohim

—thei-ecame

up as Wigtonshire Lindholders, in 1290, two

gentlemen, Gilbert de Hanneth, and Gilbert

de Anneth, who are recognised by antiquaries,

(Chulmers's Caledonia, vol. 3, 389,) as the

ancestors of this race. That they were not

native Galwegians is evident enough ;
for the

only places from which the name could be

taken, were parishes in England ;
and the

prefix of " de" which also assumed the form
of "

a," continued in use by the family down
to the time of Charles I. But, without going
into the question of the first assumption of

what was clearly a Teutonic name—there is no
doubt that at this early date, when the Baliols,

(and perhaps the Vetereponts), and the

Toskertons, hekl possessions in Galloway
—the

De Hanneths or De Hannayes were of great

consequence. At an early period, a whole

district of Wigtonshire
—the Machers—was

called Machers-Hannay from their possessions
there. The ruins of their castle and its site

still display vestiges of the ancient importance
of the house in the parish of Sorbie.

The A'Hannays, or Hannays,* of Sorbie,

were the chiefs of the family for many ages.

* In 1424, John de Ilanna got a free pass to Scotland

in the slup he conunantlcd, from the Euglish kiug.—Rutuli Scotia:, vol. ii.
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About 1500, Hannay of Soibie married a

daughter of Sir A. Stewart, of Garlies, the

ancestor of the Earls of Galloway. In 1581,
Jolin A'Hannay sat for Wigton, in James
VI. 's parliament; and, among the notable wits

and soldiers of the next age, was Patrick

Hannay, the poet
—a grandson of Donald

Hannay, of Borbie. This gentleman served

with Sir Andrew Gray, in Bohemia, in the

cause of the fair Elizabeth Stewart, the

Elector's Queen. In 1622, he published a

collected edition of his poems. A sonnet

addressed to him by a cotemporary, gives a

curious picture of the quaint and high-flown,
but genial and warm-liearted, tone of the

panegyrists of the day. It serves also to ilhis-

trate our remarks about the position of the

family :
—

" TO MASTER PATEICK HANNAY.

"
Hannay, thy name be^vTays well wliere thou'st spnmg,

And that that honoured nairie thou dost not wrong,
As if from Sorbie's stock no brancli could sprout,
But should with ripenina: time bear golden fruit.

Thy ancestors were ever worthy found,
Else Galdus' g^rave had graced no Hannay's ground.
Thy father's father, Donald, well was known
To the English by his sword, but thou art shown
By pen—times changing—Hannays are
Active in acts of worth—be't peace or war—
Go on in virtue, future times shall tcll,

None but a Haimay could have done so well !"*

Patrick Hannay is believed to have held an

appointment in the Court of Anne of Den-

mark, James VI. 's Queen. He prefixed a

portrait of himself (with his arms) to his

poems ;
and the volume, which is a great

rarity, fetches high prices.
In 1039-40, Patrick Hannay (probably the

Laird of Sorbie,) sat in tlie famous Scotch

Parliament which signed the solemn League
and Covenant

;
and was appointed a Colonel

of horse when the troubles began. Other
membei's of the family were in positions of

importance about that time. Sir Patrick

Hannay was " Director of the Chancellaire"
in Ireland, and diedin 1629. James Hannay
was Minister of the Abbey Church of Holy-
rood

;
and lettersexist, in MS., from Charles L,

tlianking this gentleman for his zeal in repair-

ing the Abbey Church at his own expense.
But the position of the faniily is best testified

to by the fact that in 1630, Sir Robert

Hannay, of Mochrum, was created a Baronet
of Nova Scotia—a title last borne by the

Hannays of Kirkdale, as we sliall see

presently.
In 1612, John Hannay of Sorbie was

served heir to his father, Alexander Hannay,
of Sorbie, and succeeded to a fine estate

which had been added to by Cluu"ch land at

the time ofthe Reformation. Beforethe close

of the century, the estates of Sorbie passed

* History of Galloway, vol. i.
"
Galdus," an old tradi-

tionary king, was said to have been buried on the Kirk-
dale estate.

into the Stcwart family
—and now form a

valuable portion of the possessions of the Earls

of Galloway.
The Hannays were zealous Presbyterians ;

and in 1662, Hannay of "
Grennan," appears

in the list of those fined for nonconformity.
Andrew Hanna was taken prisoner (as an

ensign) at the battle of Dunbar. Grennan, in

Wigtonshire, (in which county
—the original

settlement of the family,
—there are now, we

believe, nolandholders of the name,) remained

in the possession of a junior branch of the

Hannays down to our own time. It was sold

by the widow of the late able and amiable Dr.

Alexander Hannay, of Glasgow
—the seventh

in direct descent from Hugh Hannay, of

Grennan—who succeeded to it in 1612.

Cadets of this branch still exist among the

landed gentry. Of these are the Hannays of

Russco, in the Stewartry : also, Capt. Hannay,
of Ballylough, in Antrim, and his brother

John Hannay, of Lincluden, in the Stewartry—
grand-children of Robert Hannay, Esq., of

Glasgow, (by Miss Maxwell, of Balmangan,
a direct descendant of the famous Lord

Herries, of Queen Mary's time)
—whose father

John Hannay, (marriedin 1710 toMiss Janet

Dickson), derived from a second marriage in

Charles II. 's reign, of one of the Grennan

family, with a lady of the house of Mac-
Culloch.

The first of the Hannays of Kirkdale, (who
now demand our special attention,) was Alex-
ander A'Hannay of Kirkdale, who acquired
the estate in 1532. He was an vmcle of
Patrick Hannay, of Sorbie. His son John

A'Hannay, of Kirkdale, left a son, Patrick

Hannay. This gentleman was killed in a
feud at the "Cruives of Cree," in 1611, ap-

parently by one of the Kennedys of Blair-

quhan. He left, by his wife, Miss McKie of

Larg, a son,

Patrick A'Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale. He
married Miss Agnes Dunbar, of Baldoon, and
had

William Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale, who
man-ied Miss Elizabeth Gordon, of Castra-

mount—a branch of Lord Kenmure's family,
His son,

Samuel Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale, mar-
ried a Miss McKie, of Larg. In 1704 he was
a Commissioner of Supply, with other landed
men. His son,

William Hannay, Esq., of Kirkdale, mar-
ried Margaret, daughter of the Rev. Patrick

Johnston, of Girthon
;
and had

Sir Samuel Hannay, of Kirkdale and Mo-
chrum, who in 1783, was served and returned
"
consanguineous" of Sir Robert Hannay, of

Mochrum, whose baronetcy he accordingly
obtained. His brother, Colonel Alexander

Hannay, deserves a memoir as one of the
ablest and most distinguished men that his

ancient family ever produced .
— Alexander
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Hannay entered the King's service about the

middle of the last century, and was all

through the German campaigns, (including
the battleof Minden,) luider the Marqviis of

Granby. When the peace came he was a

Lieutenant, and, supported by a splendid tes-

timonial from his Commander-in-chief, he
oftered his servicesto the East India Companyc
They gave him a Captaincy, and he was
wrecVed in the Bay of Bengal, with the com-

pany under his command
; suftering great

hardships thus, at the outset of his Indian
career. In a few years, however, he rose to

be Adjutant-General of the Army of India;
and Warren Hastings's periodfoundhim com-

manding the forces of the Nabob of Oiide.

Posterity has not allowed the great and

gloomy impeachment which darkened Hast-

ings's name for a time, to hide the glory of
his genius, or the greatness of the empire he
attained for England ;

and Colonel Hannay
will not be judged in our day by the voices of
the Whig pamphleteers of tliat period.

Hastings admired cordially Hannay's talents

and character, and there is only one voice

among the witnesses on the same subject.
Colonel Hannay displayed hei-oic courage and

great abilities, during a difiicult and dan-

gerous career, and under circumstances,
where you cannotjudge of a man's actions

by the standard of ordinary life at home, in

an old country. He died in India. To re-

vert to his brother,
Sir Samuel Hannay, of Kirkdale and

Mochrum : he married Miss Meade, a daughter
of Dr. Meade, and was succeeded in the

baronetcy by his son,
Sir Samuel Hannay, Bart. This gentleman,

who held an office in the Court of the Emperor
of Austria, died at Vienna, in 1841, unmarried,
when the baronetcy became dormant.

William Ptainsford Hannay, Esq.,thepresent
possessor, (son of Captain Rainsford, of the

Guards, by Miss Hannay, sister of the late

baronet,) succeded to the estate in 1850, on
the death of Miss Mary Hastings Hannay, of

Kirkdale, daughter of Ramsay Hannay, Esq.,
of Kirkdale, brother of the first baronet of
the Kirkdale line. Mr. Rainsford Hannay
man-iedMaria, widow of Robert Steuart, Esq.,
M.P., of Alderston. co. Haddington, and

daughter of Lt.-Col. Samuel Dah-ymple, C.B.,
descended from the noble family of Stair,

Kirkdale-House is a beautiful and stately

building of polished granite, in the parish of

Kirkmabreck, lying to the left of the traveller's

road westward, before he comes to ihe town
of Gatehouse. The house stands fair and

high on an eminence, surrounded by trees,
which cover tlie valley. The site affords

beautiful views, particularly by moonlight.

NEWBY WISKE, in the North Riding of the
co. of York ; the seat of William Rutson, Esq.

This estate at one time belonged to the

Reveleys, from whom it descended to the

Mitfords. From this family it was purchased
in 1829, by the present owner.
The mansion of Newby Wiske was built

originally by William Reveley, Esq., but
considerable additions have been made to it

by the gentleman now in possession of the

estate. The building is in the Grecian style
of architecture, sufticiently picturesque, as

well as convenient
;

but with nothing par-

ticularly worthy of note attached to it, except
that it was the birth-piace of Sir Hugh
Smithson, who was created Duke of North-
umberland.

WALLOP HOTJSE, Hampshire, near Stock-

bridge ;
the seat of the Reverend Walter Blunt,

a magistrate for the county of Hants.
The old house, vvhich formerly stood here,

was puUed down, and the present mansion

erected, in 1838. It is of the early English
style of architectiu-e, a style which is always
picturesque, and well suited to the general
character of the landscape.

CARRIGMORE, co. Cork, the property of
the Earl of Norbury, who acquiredit in 1853,
under the Lncumbered Estates Court. This
mansion was built in 1842, by James Lysaght,

Esq., who purchased it, vmder the Court of

Chancery, from the celebrated General Arthur
Condorcet 0'Connor, the exiled Irish patriot.
Whilst the seatwaspossessed by the 0'Connor

family, it was called Connorville, and their

family mansion was erected about the year
1727, by William Conner, Esq., who lived

there in a style of splendid hospitality. He
was member in the Irish Parliament for the

borough of Bandon, in 1765.
A good deal of celebrity, or at least noto-

riety, has attached to difterent members of

the Conner, or 0'Connor family. During a

great portion of the last century, they kept
open house for the squirearchy of the country,
and enjoyed the sort of popularity which in

general attaches to the lords of a profuse and

hospitable board. They did eccentric things,
too, that got them talked about. Of Roger
Conner, the son of William Conner, who built

Connorville House, the following incident is

told :
—At a Coi-k assize, while the judge was

presiding in court, jMr. Conner walked across

the table in front of the bench, to gain access

to a gentleman with whom he wished to con-

verse. The judge, to whom he was personally
unknown, lectured him sharply for this gross
breach of dccorum. In the course of the

afternoon, the judge was astonishedat receiv-

ing a note from Mr. Conner, requiring him
to fight or apologise. Tlie bearer of the note

was Lord Longueville, Mr. Conner's brother-

in-law. The judge selected the pacific alter-

native, and expressed his contrition at having
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reprimanded Mr. Conner, in a mode -wliicli we
must presmne was satisfactory to tlie vvounded

honour of that gentleman.
Two of Mr. Conner's sons—Roger and

Arthur—adopted tlie surname of 0'Connor.
Their father, when speaking one day of family

aftairs, told his chihh-en that their ancestors

were 0'Connors from Kerry. The change of

tiame occurred from the following circum-

stance ;
—A band of Cromweirs soldiers snr-

pi-ised the 0'(^onnor of that day in his honse,

and, impaHng liim on a spit, roasted hini ahve
at liis own kitchen fire. His widow escaped
to Bandon, then a great Protestant strong-

hohl, taking with herher infant son Cornehus.

Horror-stricken at the crime of the Cromwel-
lian soldiers, she conceived, in her panic, that

the only mode of eftectually protectingherself
and the child from the violence of their party,
was to train up the boy a Protestant, and
estabUsh for him Protestant connexions. She
musteitherhavebeen previously a Protestant,
or else have then conformed

; for, in those

days, she could not otherwise have resided in

Bandon. She took a small house in Gallows-

hill street
;
and as her son Cornehus grew up,

he imbibed the religious and pohtical princi-

ples of the place. In ordcr to eff'ace from
Cornehus the perilous mark of a Milesian

origin, which was looked on as closely con-

nected with "
Popery," his careful mother

di-opped the prefix
" O "

from his name, whicli

she further angUcised into Conner.

On hearing thisnarrative, Roger and Arthur

Conner declared they would resume the

original patronymic of tlieir family. Tlience-

forth they, accordingly, called themselves

0'Connor. But their three elder brethren,
Daniel (born in 17.31), WilUam, and Robert

(the founder of Fort Robert), were content to

be Conners, despite the thvilling reminiscence

of their roasted progenitor.

Roger 0"Connor resided at Connorville, in

179S. We copy the following statement from

a book entitled " Ireland and her Agitators :"

"Roger," says the writer,
"
employed his

mihtary skill in fortifying Connorville to

sustain an attack from the King's troops. He
planned atrap for them, also, of whicli I had
a detailed description from a gentleman who
was personally cognizant of the device.

""There were two fronts to Connorville

House. From tlie front that faced the pubHc
road the hall-door steps were removed

;
and

the windows of the basement story on tliat side

of tlre house were strongly built up. No
hostile entry could have been eft"ected on tliat

front.
" The other front opened on a large court-

yard, nearly surrounded with high buihhngs.
From the eastcrn side of tliis courtyard ran a

broad, straight avenue, about six hundrcd

yards in length, between two very lofty walls,

overgrown Avith ivy of extraordinary luxiu'i-

ance. At the extremity of this avenue,
farthest from the house, was a high and
massive iron gate. Tlie whole length of llie

avenue was commanded by cannon, which
were placed in a shed in the courtyard, and

managed by French artillerymen.
" The massive gate at tlie eastern end of

the avenue was left constantly open, to invite

tlie entrance of His Majesty's troops, in the

event of a hostile descent upon Connorville.

Tliere were men alwaya stationed perdu in

the huge ivy bushes at the top of tbe piers,
to lock the gates the instant the mihtary force

should have passed tlirough. Tlie soldiers

wouhl tlius be caught in a complete trap ;

hemmed in by the lofty walls that flanked tlie

avenue, their retreat cut ofF by the iron gate
beliind them, and their position fully raked

by tlie cannon in the courtyard.
" The sclieme was feasible enough, but it

uever was reahzed.* The sohhery made the

expected descent, they entered tlie avenue
and courtyard ; but, whether tlie artillerymen
had deserted their post, or had forgotten to

blow the enemy to pieces, or whether Roger
relented fi-om his original design, certain it is,

that the red-coats scoured the premises with-

out molestation ; and Roger surveved them
from the friendly shade of a holly tree, in

wliich he was ensconced, on a rocky cminence
that overlooked the courtyard from the north.

He escaped on that occasion. His capture
didnot occur for some months afterwards."—
Ireland aiid lier Agifafors, pp. 122-124.

It would be unpardonable, in a notice of

Connorville, to omit a brief mention of Arthur

0'Connor, fiftli and youngest son of Ptogcr
Conner and Anue Longfield. His i-evohi-

tionary poHtics are matter of public history,
and he found what lie deemed their jvistifica-
tion in tlie oppressive measures of the Govern-
ment. Of lus purity of purpose there cannot
be a doubt. " Of liis perfect disinterested-

ness," observes the writer justquoted,
" there

is conclusive proof, in the fact that lie de-

Hberately forfeited the splendid inheritance of

his maternal uncle, Lord Longuevihe, wlio

was childless, and who would have made liim

his lieir, if his poHtics liad been similar to liis

own." Arthur was the intimate personal
friend, and poHtical associate, of the unfor-

tunate Lord Edward Fitzgerald. He died in

his French exile, in 1852, at the advanced age
of eighty-six, liaving attained the rank of

General in the French army.
George Wood, Esq., of BaUymoney, is be-

lieved, on the authority of oral tradition, to

have been the owner of the estate (whicli was

* \Ve liave heard it statcd by persons assiiming- to be
competent judg-esof the facts, tbat Koger 0'Connor nevi r
ditl bring cannon or French artillerymen to Connorviiie.
But it is perfeoUy unquestionable, tliat he talked of doing
so, and that, \\hetlier so iar executed or not, the scheme
detailed by tlic author we have quoted, waa actually
devised by 0'Lounor.

B B



18G SEATS OF GREAT BRITAIN.

tlien called Balh-prevane), in the seventeenth

century. Wood sold it to Daniel Conner,

Esq., who was the son of Cornelius Conner,
of Bandon. Daniel Conner gave it to his

son, William, who married, in October, 1721,

Aune, daughter of Roger Bernard, Esq., of

Palace Anne.
Th.e present house is a plain, neat, comfort-

al)Ie villa. The old house of Connorville,

wliich no longer exisf, was an edifice of con-

siderable extent, and of much more imposing

appearance than its modern successor.

There has seldom been a more complete

metamorphose than that which Mr. Lysaght
efFected in tlie appearance of ConnorviUe.

The offices attached to tlie okl mansion stood

partly on a hill, and were of such extent as

to present the idea of a village. The okl

house was very spacious, and the front next

the public road was ornamented witli cut-

stone dressings. Some forty years ago, the

domain (which inchides more than three lum-

dred acres of highly diversified surface) was

remarkable for the quantity of large beech

trees it contained. House, offices, and woods

have vanislied. The woods were felled long
before Mr. Lysaght purchased the place. He
planted extensively, and the oak coppice on

the rocky hill, calkd the "
Carrigmore

Wood," together with the recent plantations,
are already beginning to impart an appear-
ance of furnish to the domain.

TTJNSTALL HALL, Shropsliire, near Market

Drayton ;
tlie seat of Peter Brougliton, Esq.

This manor was a part of the estatc belong-

ing to the Abbey of Shrewsbury, prior to the

dissokition of nionasteries. Whcn Henry
VIII. confiscated tlie eccksiastical property
to his own use, these lands were bouglit of

the Crown by Sir Rowland Hill, Knight,
Lord Mayor «f London, who again partcd
with them to Wilkam Church, of Namptwich.
Subsequently, Ekanor, youngest daughter
and co-heiress of WilHam Cluirch, conveyed
this estato, by marriage, to Peter Brougliton,

Esq., of Lowdham, in the county of Notting-

ham, grandfather of tlie present owner. The

gentkman who thus obtained the property,
in right of his wife, was grandson to Peter

Broughton, also of Lowdliaui, youngcr brother

of Sir Bryan Broughton, Bart., of Broughton
Hall, Stafibrdshire, raised to that dignity by
Charles II., in 16G0.

This mansion was built in 1732, upon the

site of an older house, by William Churcli,

Esq., who servcd the office of High SherifF

for the county of Salop, in 1715. It is a

brick buikling, with stone casings, in tlie old

Itakan styk> of architcctm-e. The hall cxtcnds

to the second story, and has a galkry running
across it, very similar to that at Marlborough
House.

PYT HOUSE, Wikshire ;
the seat of the late

John Benett, Esq., who represented the county
for many ycars.

Tliis is a handsome modern mansion, in the

Grecian style of architecture, exhibiting
much taste and elegance, and forming a very

pleasingobject amidst the snrrounding scenery.
Attached to it is a chapel, of the same cha-

racter. In digging the foundations of this

house, a cliest of letters was discovered, of no
kss interest to the antiquarian than the his-

torian, being oriffinal documents addressed to

tlie ancestor of tlie present owner, in his capa-
city of Pinvate Secretary to Prince Rupert.
The neiglibourhood of Pyt House, as in-

deed may be said of most parts of this county,

presents some ciu'ious vestiges of olden times,

of which kttle more can be said than that

they are old, it being impossible, with cer-

tainty, torefer them toany particular era. In

a field, at no great distance from the house, is a

smak earthen work, whicli, from its size and
low situation, as well as from tlie construction

of its ramparts, some snppose to have been
the site of an old Saxon or Norman castle ;

others, again, believe tliat it marks the place
of some Roman or British edifice. Appear-
ances, however, seem most to favour the first

of these conjectures.

MYNDE PAEK, in the co. of Hereford
;

tlie

property of Thomas George Symons, Esq.
This estate formerly belonged to the family

of Pye, from which it came about a lumdred

years ago to that of Symons, and with the

latter it has remained ever since. Tlie man-
sion was probably erected by Sir Walter

Pye, two centuries back. It contains a

fine hall, of noble proportions, and is other-

wise both convenient and picturesque. Nearly
half a mile from it, but forming part of the

estate, is the old house at Saddleboro.

HAELINGTON HOTJSE, Bedfordshire, about
five miles and a half from Anipthill ;

the seat

of George Pearse, Esq., a magistrate and

Deputy-Lieutenant for Bedfordsliire. He also

served the ofkce of Higli Sheriff for the county,
in 1832.

This estate was for several centm-ies pos-
sessed by the Wyngates, from whom the wife

of the present owner is dcscended. Accord-

ing to a family tradition, Charles II. was con-

cealed here, at the time when his fortunes

were at a low ebb, and there was kttk a])pa-
rent chance of the Restoration, that, not long
afterwards, took placc. His breakfast-cup is

still preserved in the family, as a memorial of

the event
; also, an onyx ring, witli thc liead

of Charlcs I. cut upon it, whicli is said to be

a good likeness, and reported to liave bcen

presented by him to one of tlie AVyngates,
tutor to Queen Kenrietta.
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The house is ancient, with gabled front,

and is encircled by a wall.

MILBOURNE HALL, in the co. of Northum-

berhmd
;
the seat of the late Ralph Bates, Esq.,

whose family, iu the reign of Queeu EUza-

beth, resided upon another part of the Mil-

bourne estate. Thence they, for a time, removed
to Holywell, or Haliwel, where are still to be

seen the remains of the okl mansion, now

occupied by some of Mr. Bates's tenants.

The new house, the present residence of

the family, was erected in 1810, by llalph

Bates, Esq. The architect employed upon
this occasion was Mr. Patterson, of Edin-

burgh, who had previously built Coilsfleld

House, for the Earl of Eglinton, a seat

fainous from haviug been cominemorated by
Burns, in his song of "

Highland Mary,"
under the title of the Castle of Montgomerie.
The heroine's name was Mary, and, though

only a servant in the establishment, she was

the ohject of one of his warmest attachments.

Borrowing from himself, the architect took

Coilsfield House, but on a reduced scale, as

his model, when building the mansion at Mil-

bourne. The rooms are what raay be called

fancy-shaped, being ovals, octagons, cir-

cular, &c.

CHICKSANDS PRIORY, Bedfordshire, about

a mile from Sheiford
;

tlie seat of Sir George
Robert Osborn, Bart.

Chicksands, in olden times, was the site of

a Priory, founded about the year 1150, by
Pain de Beauchamp, and lloisia, his wife,

relictofGeoffrey de Mandeville, the founder of

Walden Abbey, for nuns and canons of the

order of St. Gilbert, of Sempringham. So

passionately was the Countess Roisia attached

to her new establishment, that she would fain

have persuaded her son by lier first husband,

Geoffrey de Mandeville, Earl of Essex, to

transfer his patronage and benefactions from

his fatlier's monastery at AValden to the

Priory of Cliicksands. The Earl having an

equal venei-ation for Walden, or, it may be,

more respect for his father's memory, turned

a deaf ear to these suggestions. He died,

however, and the goodlady now hit upon a sin-

gular expedient to obtain, tlirough the means
of the dead, what she had been unable to

obtain from the Uving. Being then witli her

nuns at Chicksands, she despatclied a body of

armed men to intercept her son's corpse, on

its way to Walden for interment, in tlie liope
tliat where tlie body was buried, there, as a

natural consequence, would flow the bene-

factions of his surviving friends and kindred.

By some means, (how it is not known,) this

warlike purpose came to the ears of the

knights who were to form tlie dead man's

body-guard ; whereupon, they increased the

numbersof their array, and, with drawn swords,

conducted the object of contention to its des-

tined abode at Waklen. It must, however,
have been some consolation to the lady's
troubled spirit, when she had " shufiied ofi^this

mortal coil," that she herself was duly laid in

the chapter-house of lier darling Chicksands.

In 1538, this Priory, with so many others,

was dissolved
; and, in the foUowing year, it

was granted by King Hemy VIII. to Robert

Snow, though it does not appear upon what
consideration. Of his family it was after-

wards purchased by Peter Osborn, Esq., with

whose descendants it still remains.

Some alteratious have, of course, taken

place in the original building ; but, in all such

cases, the original stylelias been carefuUy pre-
served

; indeed, tliere are few instances in Eng-
land where so mucli of an ancient monastery
remains entire, and in use, as a modern habita-

tion. Tlie south and east fronts were either

rebuilt or altered by Ware, the architect,

about the middle of the last century. Two
sides of the cloister are nearly entire. General

Sir George Osborn fitted up the windows
with ancient stained glass, and deposited in

the cloisters various antiquities
—two of them

being old tombs that were dug up near the

Priory. The rest of these reliques have no
other connection with the place than what is

derived from their being, Hke the cloisters,

the memorials of a time gone by. In one of

the walls is placed the tomb of an Abbot of

Pipwell, brought from the site of that

monaster}^, in Northamptonshire. A part of

the building, now used as a chapel, and some

adjoining ofiices, have stone roofs, vaulted

and groined. The quadrangle within the

cloister is sixty-four feet long, and in width

fifty-one feet six inches.

Sir George Osborn also built a bed-cham-

ber, in imitation of the chapter-house at Peter-

borough. In this room is a state-bed which

belonged to King James I., as appears from

the initials I. A., with the crown. If we may
credit the tradition, this is the bed on which

the Pretender was born, and, becoming a per-

quisite of the Cliamberlain, it was by him

given to the Osborns.

In Chicksands House are several vakiable

portraits of the Osborn family, many of whom
were eminent in their day. Amongst these

are—Peter Osborn, Privy-Purse to Edward

VI., and one of the Commissioners for Ecclesi-

astical Affairs, in the reign of Queen Eliza-

beth
;
Francis Osborn, a younger son of Sir

John Osborn, Knight, the authov of " Advice
to a Son," and "

Essays on Queen Eliza-

beth, King James, the King of Sweden,
Machiavel, Luther," &c. Thougli but little

known to the generality of modern readers,
the value of his woi"ks niay, in sonie measure,
be estimated from the fact of their having
gone through seven editions

; or, at all events,
it must be received as a voucher for tlieir
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one-time popularity. We may also mention,

amongst these family pictuves, that of Colonel

Henry Osborn, killecl at the battle of Naseby ;

and of Henry Osborn, a distinguished naval

officer, who died in 1771, Vice-Admii-al of

Great Britain. But the most interesting

paintings to a stranger are—a fine whole

lengtli of Edward VI., by Holbein, and a

valuable portrait of Oliver Cromwell, by Sir

Peter Lely. The great Protector is shown

here, such as he has always been described,
and such as we may easily imagine him to

have been, with his strong, coai'se features,

and his broad forehead, gnai-led like some
fine old oak—" a face one would not like to

say no to." There, too, are all the rough-
ness and warts, which, we are told, Oliver in-

sisted with the artist were, on no account, to

be omitted. This likeness was taken after he
liad becorae Protector, and is said to have
been a present to Sir John Danvers, one of

those who sat in judgment upon Charles I.,

and whose daughter married Sir Peter Osborn,
father of the first baronet of that name.

EOETHWICK CASTLE, in the co. of Edin-

burgh ;
the property of John Borthwick,

Esq., of Crookston, a magistrate and Deputy-
Lieutenant for the county of Edinburgh.
No part of this castle has been inhabited

for upwards of a century ;
but it is a noble

pile, even in its decay and desolation, and too

many reminiscences of the olden time cling
to it for even the ruins to be passed over with-

out notice. We begin, as usual, by saying a

few words upon its earlier possessors.
In most cases, we have seen land giving a

territorial name to its owners, when those

owners could be ti'aced back to a very remote

period. Such was not the case with Borth-

wick. Instead of bestowing an appellation

upon its ancient possessors, it received one
from them; thougli, in fairness, it must be

mentioned, that tliere is an old parish called

Borthwich, and also a river of the like name
in Selkirkshire

; still, as Sir Walter Scott well

observes, "individuals so called
"—that is,

Borthwick—" settled in Berwickshire, and

elsewhere, before Sir William Borthwick, the

most distinguislied of the family, obtained
from Robert, Duke of Albany, Governor of

Scotland, a charter of the Barony of Borth-

wick, in Selkirkshire, formerly belonging to

Robert Scott. In this uncertainty, tradition

has taken the liberty of deducing the family
from a supposed Andreas, Lord of Burtuk,
in Livonia, wlio is said to have accompanied
Qucen Mavgaret from Hungary to Scotland,
in the year 1057."
The Sir Willinm just mcntioned appears to

have been created Lord Borthwick previous
to 1430. He was one of those men of birth,
uho sat as an assize upon the Duke of

Lennox and Alcxandor, sons of the Duke of

Albany, when these unfortunate Princes were

condemned and executed at Stirling.
The second Lord Borthwick was also dis-

tinguished in the chronicles of his day ; but,

as the unroUing of such ancient records would

aftbrd little amusement to a modern reader,

we shall leave them under the accumidated

dust of ages, and borrow rather from the

Provincial Antiquities the following whimsical

and characteristic incident of those early
times. It took place in Borthwick Castle, in

the year 1547.
" In consequence of a process betwixt

Master George Hay de Minzeane and the

Lord Borthwick, letters of excommunication
had passed against the latter, on account of

the contumacy of certain witnesses. William

Longlands, an apparitor, or macer (bacidarius)
of the See of St. Andrew's, presented these

letters to the curate of the church of Borth-

wick, requiring him to publish the same at

the service of High Mass. It seems that

the inhabitants of the castle were at this time

engaged in the favourite sport of enacting tlie

Abbot of Unreason, a species oi high jinlcs, in

which a mimic prelate was elected, who, like

the Lord of Misrule, in England, turned all

sort of lawful authority, and particularly the

Church ritual, into ridicule. This frolicsome

person, with his retinue, notwithstanding the

sacredness of the apparitor's character, entered

the church, seized upon the Primate's officer

without hesitation, and, dragging him to the

mill-dam on the south side of the Castle, com-

pelled him to leap into the water. Not con-

tented with this partial immersion, the Abbot
of Unreason pronounced that Mr. William

Longlands was not yet suiticiently bathed,

and, therefore, caused his assistants to lay
him on his back in the stream, and duck him
in tlie most satisfactory and pevfect manner.

The unfortunate apparitor was then con-

ducted back to the church, where, for his

refreshment after his bath, the letters of ex-

communication were torn to pieces, and

steeped in a bowl of wine—the mock Abbot

being probably of opinion that a tough parch-
ment was but dry eating. Longlands was

compelled to eat the letters, and swallow the

wine, and dismissed by the Abbot of Unvea-

son with the comfovtable assurance, that if

any more such lettevs should avvive, duving
the continuance of his ofiice,

'

they should a'

gang the same gait,' i.e., go the same voad."

There is nothing new under the sun. A
scene of precisely the same kind occurs in

the old play of Slr John Oldcastle, where

Ilarpool, the servant of Lord Cobham, com-

pels a sumner of the Bishop of Rochester

to eat his citation :
—

"
Harp.

—
Sirra, dost not thou know that the

Lord Cobhain is a brave lord, that

keeps good becfe and beere in his house,
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and every day feedes a Imndrcd poore

people at's gate, and keepes a hundred
tidl fellowes ?

Stim.—Whafs that to my processe ?

Harp.—Marry, this, sir
;

is this processe

parchment ?

Siim.—Yes, marry.
Harp.—And this seale, wax 1

Sum.—It is so.

Harp.—If this be parchment, and this wax,
eat you this parchment and wax, or I

will make parchment of your skin, and
beate your braines into wax. Sirrha

Sumner, dispatch, devovu"e, sirra
;

de-

voure.

Sum.—I am my Lord Rochester's sumner
;

I come to do my office, and thou shalt

answer it.

Harp.—Sirra, no rayling ;
but betake you

to your teeth
;
thou shalt eat no worse

than thou bringst with thee
;

thou

bringst it for my Lord, and wilt thou

bring my Lord v/orse then thou wilt

eate thyselfe?
Sum.—Sir, I brought it not my Lord to

eate.

Harp.
—O, do you sir mee now ? alPs one
for that; Fle make you eate it for

bringing it.

Sum.—I can not eate it.

Harp.—Can you not?—s'blood, Fle beate

you till you have a stomacke.

^lieatfs lihn.~\

Sum.—O hold, hold, good Mr. Servmgman ;

I will eate it.

Harp.
—Be champing, be chawing, sir, or

I'le chaw you, you rogue. Tough wax
is the purest of the hony.*

Sum.—O Lord, sir
; oh, oh ! [//e eates.^

Harp.
—Feede, feede ;

'tis wholesome, rogue,
wholesome. Cannot you, like an hon-
est sumner, walke with the Divell,

your brother, to fetch in your bay-
liiFe's rents, but you must come to a
nobleman's house with processe ? If

thy seal were as broad as the lead that

covers Rochester chmxh, thou shoiddst

eate it.

Sum.—O, I am almost choaked, I am almost
choaked.

Harp.—Who's within there ? Will you shame

my Lorde ? Is there no beere in the

house ? Butler, I say. \_Enter Butler.^
But.—Heere, heere.

Harp.
—Give him beere. There—tough old

sheepskin's but dry meate.f

\_He drhiks.^
* The old copy reads,

"— you rogue, the purest of the hony.
Harp.—Tough wax is the purest hony.
Sum.—O Lord, sir ! oh, oh !

Harp.—Feed, feede, ka."
"We have ventured to diffor from Sir Walter Scott in

our amendment of tliis corruiition.
t The old quarto of 1600 reads :

—" Therc tough ohl

sheepslvins, bare dry nieate." Sir Walter t^cott omits
the "iAere."

drinke to thee.

Sum.—O, sir, let me go no further; Tle eate

my word.

Harp.—Yea, marry, sir
;

I meane you shall

eat more than your owne word, for Tle

make you eate all the words in the

processe. Why, you drab-monger, can

not the secrets of all the wenches in a

shire serve your tm-ne, but you must

conie hither with a citation, witli a

p—? rie cite you. A cup of sacke

for the Suniner.

But.—Here, sir
;
here.

Harp.—Here, slave
;

I

Sum.—I thanke you, sir.

Harp.
—Now, if thou finds thy stomack well,

because thou shalt see my Lord keeps
meate in's house, if thou wiltgo in, thou

shalt have a peece of beefe to thy break-

fast.

Sum.—No
;

I am very well, good Mr. Serv-

ingman, I thank you ; very well, sir.

Harp.
—I am glad on't

;
then be walking

towards Rochester, to keepe youre sto-

macke warme. And, Suniner, if I do
know you disturbe a good wenche
within this diocesse, if I do not make
thee eate her petticoate, if there were

foure yardes of Kentish cloth in't, I am
a villaine."

Other instances of a similar nature might
be quoted

—
•'
But, where examples are well chosen,
One is as valid as a dozen."

John, the fifth Lord Borthwick, notwith-

standing he countenanced the Abbot of Un-
reason in his license, was, according to general

belief, a Roman Catholic, and beyond ques-
tion was a zealous adherent of Queen Mary,
who, in her progresses through the kingdom,

paid frequent visits to his baronial castle.

Upon one occasion, she was besieged here by
her rebellious nobles, when she managed to

escape "in men's clothes, booted and spurred,"
and fled to Dunbar, where her minion, Both-

well, had already found a place of refuge.
The great-grandson of this nobleman, and

the eighth Lord of the family, who flourished

in the time of Charles I., was noless zealously
attached to the Stewarts. Yet he was not

what the English Pui-itans styled
" a malig-

woM^," but adhered to the Scottish Parliament,
and his name occurs in the Committee of

Estates, 1649, and again in the March of the

same important year. Like all the other

strong places in the neighbourhood, Borthwick
Castle was now garrisoned for the King, and
held out so resolutely against the English, that

Cromwell, becoming highly exasperated, sent

the following characteristic summons, dated

from Edinburgh, ISth November, 1G50, and
endorsed—" For the Governor of Borthwick

Castle, these":—
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"
Sir,
—I thought fit to send this trumpett

to you, to let you know that if you please to

walk away with your company, and deliver

the house to such as I shall send to receive it,

you shall have libertie to caiTy ofF your arms

and goods, and such other necessaries as you
have. YoLi harboured such parties in your
house as have basely and inhumanly murdered
our men

;
if you necessitate me to bend my

cannon against you, you must expect what I

doubt you will not be pleased with. I expect

your present answer, and rest,
" Your Servant,

" O. Cromwell."

There was no mistaking such a hint, espe-

cially when coming from such a man as Crom-
well

;
but the governor, supposed to have been

Lord Borthwick himself, continued to hold

out notwithstanding. OHver was as good as

his word; he did begin
" to bend his cannon

against the castle,
" when the defenders found

it necessary to surrender, but not till part of

the freestone facing of the eastern side of the

building was destroyed by the fire.

The direct male line of this house termin-

ated with the ninth Lord, when the succession

reverted to the descendants of Alexander, the

second son of the third Lord Borthwick, who
fell at the battle of Flodden. The last person
of this line claiming the titles and honours of

Lord Borthwick—and whose claim was ad-

mitted—was Heniy, usually called the tenth

Lord Borthwick. He obtained tlie title in

1750, and voted at all elections of the Peers

from 1734 ;
but liis right was afterwards dis-

allowed, and the dispute as to the title still

remains unsettled—
" Adhuc sub judice lis est,"

and so it seems likely to continue for a long
tirae yet to come.

Amongst the collateral branches of this

family were several distinguislied characters.

Sir Walter Scott mentions one, Robert Borth-

wick, as being eminent for his skill both in

founding and using artillery, at a time when
to be skilful in either art conferred distinction,

from the rarity of such knowledge. He was
Master of Artillery to James IV., and

amongst other pieces cast the beautiful train

of guns called the Seven Sisters. Theybecame
a prize to the English conquerors on the fatal

day of Flodden.

The same author tells us also of another

Borthwick,
" remarkable for using upon his

death-bed the saying which is proverbially
termed David liortliwiclc s Testament. He
was bred an advocate, and acquired many
large estates, which he put into his son, Sir

James Borthwick's possession during his own
life. The young heir proved a prodigal, and

spent alh Ballencriefi', the last estate which

remaincd, was sold while the old lawyer was

dying. He heard the evil news, and only
replied,

' What can I say ? I bequeath every
man to the devil that begets a fool and does

not make a fool of him.'
"

Upon the death of the ninth Lord Borth-

wick, in 1672, the castle and barony became
the property of John Dundas of Harvistone,

nephew to the deceased, and grandson of Sir

James Dundas, of the distinguished family of

Ai-nistoun. It afterwards devolved, by pur-
chase, to the Dali-ymples of Cousland, and
from them to the Mitclielsons of Middleton,
and from them again, also by sale, to Johu

Borthwick, Esq., of Crookstone. Thus this

estate has once more passed into a branch of

the ancient family from which the ruins

originally derived their name.
Borthwick Castle rises out of the centre of

a small but fertile valley, watered by a stream.

called the Gore, which, flowing to the north-

eastward, joins the Esk at Kirkhill. The

spectator of the scene is thus led to believe it

the same brook with that on which Crichton

Castle stands, about two miles off", and wliich

has a south-eastevly course. It was erected

by Sir William de Borthwick, the building

having been commenced in the month of June,-

1430, and has the form of a double tower, or

donjon, seventy-four feet in lengtli, sixty-eight
feet in breadth, and in height ninety feet froni.

the area to the battlements. Tlie proportions
of tlie whole ai-e beautiful, oflTering one of the

best specimens of mediaeval architecture, and
the masonry is excellent. The walls are of

hewn stone, both within and without, thirteen

feet thick towards the fovmdation, but gra-

dually contracting, till at the top they are no
more than six feet. They stand on a knoll,
flowed about by the small river ah-eady men-

tioned, and surrounded by an outer com't,.

that occupies the wliole brow of the hill, and
is fortified by a strong outward wall, having
flanking towers at each angle. The entrance

from the outer court to the donjon seems to

have been by a ramp, or perron of stone,
raised to the height of the first story, and
thus communicating with the gate of the

tower by a drawbridge. "This," says Sir

Walter Scott, "is a common means of interior

defence, where there was no inner moat, and

may be seen atNewarkCastle, in Selkirkshire,
and other buildings of the fifteenth century.
The reader wil! best conceive the nature of

the perron, or ramp, by comparing it to a

great horse-block, which resembles it in eveiy

thing except size
;

the top of this erection

being on a level with the thi-eshold of tlie

gate, the exterior end of the drawbridge rested

on it when lowered, and, when raised, left a

vacancy of twelve or fom"teen feet betwixt the

gate and perron, of ten or twelve feet in depth,
aud in lcngth corresponding to the length of

the drawbridge. Above the gateway is thc

figure of a bishop, whom we sliould pro-
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nounce to be Saint Andrew, could we see any
vestige of his saltiei" ov cross." But the per-

ron, above described, is now in ruins.

Besides the sunk story, the buikling consists

of two large halls, the one above the other
;

the lower of which is described by Nisbet, as

being
" so Lirge and high in the roof that a

man on horseback might turn a spear in it

with all the ease imaginable." The i-oofhas

been painted with such devices as occur in

old illuminations, over one part of which is

still legible in Gothic characters,
" Y^ Temple

of Honor."

Here, also, ai"e two fliglits of bed-rooms,
that occupy two projecting portions of the

edifice, as seen from the west. But there is

one small room in the castle that has a pe-
culiar interest attached to it, and which goes
by the name of the Queens Chamber. It

bears marks of having been hung with

tapestry, and it can hardly be doubted that

this was the chamber occupied by Mary, in

her visits to the Lord of Borthwick
;

its small

size confirming the conjecture, for most of

the rooms appropriated to her use on such
occasions were diuiinutive. Here, too, we

may observe, that in the generality of the old

Scotch castles was a room of this kind, called

the '^

Lady's Bouwr."

WAEDLEY HALL, Lancashire, stands in the

parish of Eccles, in the vicinity of Man-
chester.

This estate was anciently the property of
tlie Worsleys, who held great possessions in

this neighbourhood. In the reign of Henry
IV., Margaret, daughter and coheiress of Jor-
dan de Workesley, Lord of Wardley, married
Thurstan de Tyldesley, and thenceforward the

Tyldesleys made Wardley their abode. On
tlie eve of the civil wars, the estate passed to

Roger Downes, Esq., whose son, Jolni, mar-
ried Penelope, daughter of Sir Cecil Traffbrd,
of Traftbrd.

Sir Cecil, who was a zealous Protestant,
used his endeavours to convert Mr. Downes
to the Reformed faith, but the result of the

attempt was that he himself became a convert
to the Church of Rome, to which communion
the Traffords have since belonged. The issue
of the marriage of John Downes and Petielope
TrafTord, was Roger, only son, and an only
daughter, Penelope, who married Richard,
Earl Rivers. Roger Downes, in the hcentious

spirit of the age, abandoned himself to a pro-
fligate coiu-se of Ufe, and eventually brought
upon himself an untimely death. Being in

London, he vowed in a drunken froHc to his

companions, that he would kill the first man
he met; when sallying forth, he ran his

sword through a poor tailor. Shortly after

this, being engaged in a fray at Epsom Wells,
a watchman made a stroke at him with his

bill, which severed his head from his body.

and thus tenninated his mischievous career,

in June, 1676. The head was enclosed in a

box, and sent to his sister, wholived at Ward-

ley Hall, and was kept at Wardley long after,

and many superstitious notions were enter-

tained respecting it.* Roger Downes dying
without issue, the estate passed to his sister,

wliose only daughter and heiress, Elizabeth,
married James Barry, Earl of Bariymore.
The property was eventually alienated to the

Egertons, and now belongs to the Earl of

Ellesmere.

Wardley Hall is a venerable pile of the age of

Edward VI., situated in the midst of a small

woody glade, and was originally surrounded

by a moat, except on the eastern side. The
edifice is of a quadrangular form, consisting of

ornamented wood and plaster frames inter-

lined with bricks, and entered by a covered

archway, opening into a court-yard in the

centre. The chinmeys are clustered. In the

hall is a coat of arms in a frame, belonging to

the Downes'—a stag couchant : and the crest,

a stag's liead. Tlie room has an ornamented
wainscot and fluted roof of oak. The stairs

have an air of noble antiquity about them,
which has been somewhat diminished by the

daubings of a modern painter.
Like too many of the manor-liouses of the

same age in Lancashire, Wardley Hall is

now in a dihipidated condition, and a portion
is occupied as a farm-house.

LILLESHALL HALL, Shropshire ;
the seat of

the Duke of Sutherland
;
lies about three miles

South-west of Newport.
Thisestate anciently belongedtotheChvuTh.

About 1145, Richard de Beaumeys, Dean of

St. Alkmond's, Shrewsbury, surrendered it up,
Avith the consent of Pope Eugenius and King
Stephen, to canons reguhir of the order of St.

Augustine, who, in the woods here, built an

abbey to the honour of the Virgin. In 34th

Henry III., the abbot had leave to assart, or

grub up, twenty-tliree acres in the woods of
Lilleshall

;
and in the 7th Edward I., to make

an assart of the wood near Watling Street, in

the forest of Wombridge. By the 2nd Edward
I., the abbot had leave to make a park. The
benefactions to this abbey were very mune-
rous and liberal, yet the abbots were wont to

complain that, from the proximity of the
house to the Watling Street, their income was
too scanty for the entertainnient of the nume-
rous passengers that troubled that road.

The abbey was dissolved by 31st Henry
VIII., the revenue being returned at

£229 3s. Id.
;
and in 3.5th of the same reign,

the manor and appurtenant estates were

granted to James Leveson. In tliis family

* Mr. Roby, in his vcry ingenious ancl interesting" Traclitions of Lancashire," has •wrought this ineident
into a pathetic story, under the title of "The Skull
House."
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Lilleshall remained till the seventeenth cen-

tiiry, when Frances, daughter and coheiress of

Sir John Leveson, married Sir Thomas Gower,
Bart., from whom the present noble proprietor

directly descends.

The remains of the abbey are very pictu-

resque, situated in a sequestered spot, partly
surrounded withwood. Itisof Anglo-Norman
architecture, and the boundary walls of the

precinct may be traced to a considerable dis-

tauce beyond the riiins of the church, which
are extensive. The buikling was cruciform,
and had probably two towers, one at the east

and the other at the west end
;
some of the

tracery of the large east window remains.

The western doorway is a deeply-recessed
arcli, and the southern entrance is highly
enriched. The stalls of the choir were, at the

dissohition, removed to the Collegiate Church
at Wolverhampton, where part of them now
remain.

Lilleshall Hall is a spacious edifice, in the

Tudor style of architecture, and was erected

by the Duke, when Earl Gower, from designs

by Sir Jeffery AVyattvill. It stands on a

commanding eminence, within sight of the

ruins of the abbey, and is partly surrouiided by
terraces, from which flights of steps descend
to the gardens.
The Lilleshall estate is one of the most

important and vahiable of his Grace's large

possessions, containing, as it does, vast seams
of coal and lime, which, for many years, have
been worked to advantage ;

and the products
of the various works are conveyed by

" the

Marquess's canal," as it is termed, to supply
the wants of the neighboming districts.

STANMER PAEK, in the co. of Sussex,
about midway between Lewes and Brighton ;

the seat of the Earl of Chichester.

Tliis was, in olden time, possessed by the

Michelbornes, from whom it was pnrchased
by Peter Gott, Esq., a receiver-general of the

county of Sussex. At his death, by his own

hand, the manor and estate were seized under
an extent from the Crown, when they were

bought by Henry Pelham, Esq., who, about

1724, pulled down Kennards, the ancient

abode of the Chaloners, in the parish of South

Malling, and built the present mansion with

part of the materials. It is a plain stone

structure, approached by a road that sweeps
round a handsome lawn, and forming, with

the wings, three sides of a square. The prin-

cipal front, which faces the east, projects a

little m the centre, and is terminated with a

pedhnent. It stands about a mile from the

Lodgcs, in the centre of a Un-ge park, sur-

roimded by open downs, to which its ricli

foUage and imdulating surface form a most

agreeable conti-ast. Upon these downs feed

large flocks of sheep, whose wool is thought

to make a near approach to the celebrated

Merino.

The gardens and shrubberies lie to the

west of the house. Like the park, they were

chiefly formed by the late Earl of Chichester
;

and, though the trees are as yet for the most

part young, they give a goodly promise for

the future.

DITCHINGHAM HALL, in the co. of Nor-

folk, about two niiles from Bungay ;
the seat

of John Longueville Bedingfekl, Esq.
This estate has been in the possession of

the Bedingfelds between three and four

hundred years. They first obtained it by a

marriage with the daughter and heiress of the

family of Bosard, the earlier possessors of the

property.
It is doubtful at what precise time the okl

Hall was built. The present mansion was
erected in the year 1710, by John Bedingfekl,

LL.D., a distingiushed scholar in his day. It

is a substantial square-built house of red

brick, possessing every comfort, but of that

indefinite style of architectiu-e, to which it

might be difficult to assign any proper or

satisfactory name. The situation of it is well

chosen, being upon a gentle rise, in the midst

of some delightful scenery. About the man-
sion sweeps a fine lake, that covers above nine

acres of gromid, and further on is a park

chiefly of fine old oaks, and upwards of a

hundred and fifty acres in extent. The

kitchen-garden is cultivated with the greatest

care, and abounds in every production to be

expected from a ricli soil and genial climate.

Through it runs a small stream, equally useful

and ornamentaL

PITCHFORD, co. Salop ;
the seat of the

late Earl of Liverpool ;
is about seven miles

from Shrewsbury, and lies on theroadleading
from Condover to Acton Burnell. The place
derives its name fi-om its natural characteris-

tics; the village being entered on the north

side by a ford, near to which is a remarkable

well, to the sm-face of which bitumenous

matter is continually rising.

The De Pitchfords were anciently seated

here, and a very curious oaken figm-e in the

cliurch commemorates one of the family,
wlio was a Crusader. In the fifteenth century,
the estate passed to the Ottleys, a younger
branch of Oteley, of Oteley, ncar EUesmere.

The Ottleys maintained a respectable position
in the county for many generations ;

but the

kist male-heir devisedthe property to the Hon.

Charlcs Cecil Cope Jenkinson, who thereupon
made Pitchford his residcnce. Mr. Jcnkinson

succeeded to the Earklom of Liverpool on the

demise of his elder brother, ia 182S, and died

without male issue, in 1852, when the estate
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n ow vests in one of liis daughters and co-

li ciress.

Pitchford Hall, standing near the church,
is a very interesting specimen of domestic

architecture, before the decay of forests in-

duced a general use of stone and brick. The
house is framed wholly with timber, springing
into a variety of forms for its support, the in-

terstices being lilled with plaster. It is ex-

ceedingly picturesque in appearance, and is

surrounded with pleasure-grounds, which are

well wooded, and through which the Pitchford

brook flows. It is probable, from the style
of the building, that it was erected by William

Ottley, who was SherifFof Shropshire in 1499
and 1513.

Pitchford Hall was honoured with the pre-
sence of Royalty in October, 1832, when her

Majesty, then Princess Victoria, with her

Royal Highness the Duchess of Kent, were
tlie guests of the Earl of Liverpool for several

days.

WYCOLLER, co. Lancaster. This veneral)le

mansion stands in the parish of Whalley, and

presents a very interesting specimen of the

ancient manor-house. It is remarkable for an

ancient and spacious open circular fire-place,
at the end of the hall, detached from the wall,

in the fashion of the houses of the time of

Henry VI., and having stone benches all

round it.

Iu 22nd Henry VII., Pius Hartley possessed
and occupied Wycoller, which afterwards

passed, by marriage with the heiress of the

Cunliffesof Hollins, butformerly of Billington.
This family is said to have been amongst the

first Saxons who settled in the north of

England, and the name imports a grant for

life. In llth Edward II., Adam de Cunliffe

was one of the jui'y in the extent of the Barony
of Manchester.

The estate of Cunlifte-hill, in Billington,
was mortgaged in the reign of Henry VIII.,
to an ancestor of Sir Thomas Walmesly, and

by foreclosure, in the reign of Elizabeth, was
lost to the Cunliffes. Thus dispossessed, they
settled at HoUins, which having acquired by
marriage, they retained until the Protectorate,
when it was sequestered, and the house plun-
dered, in consequence of what was called the

apostacy and opposition of John Cunlifte to

the Government of the Commonwealth. Being
compelled to quit HoUins, he removed to

WycoUer. Nicholas Cunliffe, a subsequent

possessor, dying withoutissue, his sister Eliza-

beth married Samuel Scarsgill, of Shefiield,

by whom she had a daughter, Sarah, mavried

to Mr. Owen of the same place. The son of

this marriage, Henry Owen, assinned the

name and arms of Cunlifte, on succeeding to

Wycoller, and died hi 1819, when the estate

passed to his heirs, now in possession.
The foUowing piece of domestic history,

descriptive of primitive manners, occurs in a

family MS. of the Cunliffes :
—

" At Wycoller Hall, the family usually kept

open house the twelve days at Christmas.

Their entertainment was, a large hall of

curious ashlar work, a long table, plenty of

furmenty like new milk, in a morning, made
of husked wheat; boiled and roasted beef,

with a fat goose, and a pudding, vvith plenty of

good beer for dinner. A round-about fire-

place, siu'rounded with stone benches, where
the young folks sat and cracked nuts, and di-

verted themselves
; and, in this manner, the

sons and daughters got matching without

going much from home."

TATTON, co. Chester
;

the seat of Wilbra-

ham Egerton, Esq., justice of the peace and

Deputy-Lieutenant, Sherift' of the county in

1808, and sometime one of its representatives
in Parliament. Tatton lies about two miles

north from Knutsford.

Anciently, the manor belonged to the Tat-

tons, and was held, partly under the Barony
of Halton, and partly under the Priory of

St. John of .Jerusalem. From the Tattons it

passed, by an heiress, to Sir Richard Massey,
about the year 1286. Joan, daughter and
heiress of Sir Geoftrey Massey, brought the

estate to William Stanley, Esq., son and heir

of Sir William Stanley, of Holt
;

this Williani

Stanley left an only child, Jane, who married

Sir Richard Brereton, and died in 1.570.

Richard Brereton, grandson of Sir Richard,

having no issue, settled it on his brother-in-

law, Sir Thomas Egerton, Lord Chancellor of

England, from whom descended the Earls and
Dukes of Bridgewater. John, second Earl,

gave Tatton to his third son, the Hon. Thonias

Egerton, and from him the property regularly
descendedto Samuel Egerton, Esq., who died

in 1780, having settled the estates on his sistcr,

Hester, wife of William Tatton, Esq., of

Withenshaw.
The son of this marriage, William Tatton,

Esq., assumed the surname of Egerton. and

dymg inl806, was succeeded at Withenshaw

by his younger son, Thomas William Tatton,

Esq., while the Tatton estate devolved on the

elder, the present Wilbraham Egerton, Esq.
The Hall at Tatton is a spacious modern

mansion of stone, erected at tlie commence-
ment of the present century, after designs by
Mr. Sanuiel Wyatt. The park, which is very

pleasantly situated, is one of the most exten-

sive in the county, comprising about two
thousand acres.

DEUMBANAGHER, Ireland, in the co. of

Armagh ;
the seat of Colonel Maxwell Close.

The manor of Drund^anagher was at one
time possessed by the family of Moore. From
them it passed, by purchase, to the gentleman
now owning it, wlio had previously resided

c c
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at Elm Pcark, a seat which had belonged of

old to his family. The fovmer house having
been destroyed by fire, Colonei Close, in 1830,
erected a new niansion, npon a more extended

scale, from a plan by Mr. Playfair, architect,

of Edinbingh. This is in the modern orna-

mented Italian style, and is bnilt of the free-

stone tliat is so plentifiilly found in Ireland,

and which to the eye is somuchmorepleasing
and picturesque than any brick structure.

The grounds are Liid out with much taste,

witli terraces and ornamental plantations.

They form a striking feature in a neighbour-
hood which is not without its interesting

prospects.
Near this place, five miles north of Newry,

the Englisli army, in the reign of Ehzabeth,

occupied a position for some months, when

opposed by the rebel forces under Tyrone ;

and the village of Poyntz Pass is remarkable

for liaving been the scene of a gallant attack

made by a Captain Poyntz in forcing a strong

pass against the enemy. A tract of land in

Armagli was granted to him by Roj^al Patent,
named Acton, from his family Seat in England.

PALACE ANNE, near Bandon, in the co. of

Cork
;
the seat of Arthur Beamish Bei"nard,

Esq., a justice of the peace, and Captain-
Commandant of the East Carbery Yeomanry.

This family has produced several members
of note in their day, who filled ofiices of more
or less importance. Being of the Protestant

persuasion, they, of course, belonged to the

dominant party during tlie eighteenth century ;

yet, to their honovu- be it said, they appear to

have had none of those bitter religious feelings

which disgraced so many of their party. Nor
was toleration with them a passive principle.
It assumed the active form of j^rotection to

the persecutcd, at a time when to do so,

inferred no little personal danger to him who

opposed hiniself to the severity of the lavvs.

In proof of this, a story is told liow a Roman
Catholic Priest, wlio had become obnoxiousto

tlie riding powers, sought and foimd a refuge
at Palace Anne. His place of conceahnent

was behind the oak wainscot in the dining-

room, where he eftectually baffled the vigilauce
of his persecutors.
The mansion of Palace Anne was erected

in 1714, by Roger Bernard, Esq., brother of

Francis Bernard, a judge of tlie Common
Pleas, and ancestor to the Earl of Bandon.
It is built of brick, with free-stone quoins, and
is a very stately edifice, in the Dutch style of

architecture. The whole consists of a centre

and two wings ;
the centre rising into three

ornamented gables, and the wings of a lower

elevation, preserving tlie same architectural

character. Amongsttlieroomsisone called tlie

Bullock's Ilall, considered amongst tlie

notabilities of the ])lace. Over the fire-place
is carvcd in oak the fac-simile of tlie head of

an enormous bullock, which was killed for

the feast wherewitli the founder of tlie man-
sion celebrated his house-warming.

In front of the mansion extends a long tract,

from whicli tliere is an easy descent to a large
formal shrubbery laid out in the Dutch taste.

The demesne comprises about two hundred and

sixteen acres, and abounds in well-grown
timber. In the rear of the house stand some

very magnificent old yew ti-ees.

NARFCRD HALL, in the co. of Norfolk; the

seat of Andrew Fountaine, Esq.
Tlie family of Fountaine was originally of

Salle, in tliis coimty, and took the surname of

De Fonte, or Fontibus, from the springs or

fountains near which they resided. In 1690,

they purchased the estate of Narford, where
tlie present mansion was erected by Sir

Andrew P'ountaine, who flourished in tlie reign
of Queen Anne. His name has been handed
down to us as the friend of Pope, Swift, and
the most distinguished characters of his day.
Swiffs "Diary," abounds with noticesofhim,
all showing that the closest intimacy subsisted

bctween them, thougli his great excellence as

a connoisseur and an antiquary, one woukl

have thought, was the last thing the eccentric

Dean would have been likely to appreciate.
He had, howevrr, the additional recommenda-
tion of being a ijoon companion, and we have

sundry jottings down in the journal how he

and Swift enjoyed themselves in taverns, with

the after grumblings of the latter at the expense.
The library contains a noble collection of

books, and some of them exceedingly rare,

such as would have been a feast for Dr.

Dibdin, of bibliopolical memory.
Still more interesting to some tastes will

be the collection of fine old china, several

pieces of wliich were painted by Rafiaele.

Among them are two very large cisterns, re-

markiible for sliape and execution, and each

measuring three feet by eighteen inclies.

The pictures to be seen here are so niune-

rous, that they would lequire a catalogue to

themselves. Some are vahiable as works of

art
;
others are perhaps even more interesting

as portraits of men of eminence. The cha-

racter of the works may, perhaps, be esti-

matcd from the names of the painters :
—

Salvator Rosa, Spagnoletto, Paul Veronese,
Carlo Dolce, llembrandt, Canaletti, "\^'onver-

manns, Vandervehle, Andiea del Sarto, Pelle-

grini, Vandyck, Albert Durer, Poussin, &c.

Among the portriiits we find the likenesses of

Titian^ Rubens, Cornelius Jansen, Edmund
Waller (the poet), Ben Jonson, William

Shakspeare, Sanuiel Butler, Charles Cottou,

the grcat Marquess of Montrose, Admiral

Bhike, Prince Rupert, Marsliiil Turenne,
Cnistavus Adolphus, Queen Elizabetli (when a

princess), James I., Charles I. and Chiirles II.,

King William, Sir Henry Spehnan, Dr. Rad-
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cliffe. Dr. Wallls, Edward Pococke, Humphrey
Prideaux, &c., &c.

PARR, co. Jjancaster. A short distance to

the east of St. Helen's, stands the venerable

manorial residence of Parr Hall
;
the seat of

the Parrs for many generations.
Parr is a manor and township in the parish

of Prescot. The place is not noticed in

Domesday, whence we may conchide that it

was at that period a waste, and was probably
inchided in the Manor of Knowsley, to which,
in later times, it was subject. It certainly

gave name to a family as early as the time
of Henry III., as the name of Henry de
Parr occurs in a deed, without date, of that

monarch's reign. Another Henry de Parr

wasHvingl2thEdwardII. (1318). The head
of the family in the middle of the fourteenth

century, Sir John de Parre, married Matilda,

daughter of Sir Ricliard de Leyborne, and
was father of Sir William de Parre, who
married, iu 1383, EUzabeth de Ros, grand-
daughter and heiress of Sir Thomas de Ros,
Baron of Kendal, and from this alliance

spi-ang the great house of Parr of Kendal.
Fourth in descent from Sir WiUiam de Pari-e,
was Sir Thomas Pai-re, of Kendal, Master of
the Wards and Comptroller to Henry VIII.,
who died in the ninth of that monarch's

reign, and, by inquisition of liis lands in Lan-

cashire, was found to have hehl messuages,
lands, woods, and rents, in Parre, Wigan,
and Sutton, with the nianor of Thurnham.
His son William inherited the estates, and
was eventually created Marquess of North-

ampton. Siding with Lady Jane Grey, he
was attainted, and his lionours and possessions
forfeited

; but, on the accession of Elizabeth,
he was restored to both. He died without
issue in 1571, when his honours became ex-

tinct, and his estates apparently reverted to

the Crown, since they were afterwards the

subject of litigation, to which the Crown was
a party. Though the Parrs of Kendal thus

continued their connection with this phice
to the time of their extinction, the manor
had been for some time in possession of a

coUateral branch; the first inquisition relating
to whom is that of Bryan Parre, Esq., in

1528, whereby he was foand to have held tlie

manor of Parre, with messuages and appiu'-

tenances, of Edward, Earl of Derby, at tlie

tenth part of a knight's fee, and 7s. 3d. rent
;

Thomas Parre, his son and heir, being then
of the age of twelve years.* About this time,
Matthew Standyslie, deputy-escheator of the

*By/n?.p.m.taken23rdHenry VIII. (1.531) JohnParre
Esq., was found to liave held lands, messuages, woods,
an(l tenements, in Parre and Lathom, by knight servicr,
under Edward, Earl of Derby ;

Grace Parre, his daughter
and heiress, being then of the age of three years. This
Grace married Henry Eccleston, Esq., and her name,
togethor with that of hcr hiviband, occurs among' thc

litigants respccting the family property.

county, claimed for the Crov/n the wardship
of Thomas Parre, and of a messuage called

Parre Hall, in opposition to the claim of Sir

Richard Bolde and Thomas Gerard. Thomas
Parre maintained his rights as Lord of the

Manor, by prosecuting Bryan Arosmythe .uid

others, for obstructing the high-road from
Parre Hall to Parre Wood, in 1549. He
married Margaret, daughter of Sir William

Leyhand, of Morley, and by her, who, after

his death, mai-ried John Byrom, Esq., of

Byrom, had a numerous family. He died in

1559, and was succeeded by liis son, then

aged nineteen, WiUiam Parre, Esq. This

proprietor appears, by the Duchy records, to

have had considerable disputes with his step-

fathei', John Byrom, and others, respecting
the family property, which seem to have
ended in the Byroms obtaining a principal

part of that ancient inheritance. WiUiam
Parr wedded Katherine, daugliter of Thomas
Eccleston, Esq., of Eccleston, and was suc-

ceeded by his eldest son, Bryan Parr, who
married Alice Twiss, and had, with three

daughters
—Mary, Katherine, and Elizabeth—a son, Henry Parr, Uving at Parr in 1621,

then of the age of twenty years.
The manor had before this time passed to

the Byroms, and in 12th James I., (1614)

Henry Byrom, son of the above-mentioned
John Byrom, died, seized of the Manors of

Parr and Byrom. With the Byroms it con-

tinued a few years longer, but was again
alienated; and the lands being divided, are

now shared by various proprietors. Parr

Hall, with considerable adjacent land, passed
to the Orrell family, and is now vested in the

co-heiresses of the late Charles Orrell, Esq.,
of Blackbrook House, who also claim the

Lordshipof PaiT; butnomanorial courtis Iield.

The Hall is now tenanted by Mr. Morgan.
Besides Parr Hall, there is also in the

township another ancient mansion, formerly
called

LAGHOOGE, hut now LEAFOG; once the pro-

perty and the residence of some members of
the Parr family. In 1592, we find Thomas
Norris claiming, in right of John Dudley, by
grant from the Crown, "the capital messuage
called Laghooge, in Parre, with lands and
wastes." The claim was resisted by Roger
Wood, William Parr, and John Gerard, in

right of WiUiam, Marquess of Northamptou
(then deceased). This estate was the siibject
of further litigation in 1600 and 1601, when
Thurstan Parr, elde.st son of John Parr,

deceased, was plaintiff, and Thomas Foxe,
John Standyche, and Thomas Parr, defen-

dants—but the roll of pleadings does not
exhibit the result.

THE HYDE, in the co. of Bedford, near
St. Alban's; the seat of L. Ames, Esq.
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Tliis estnte has been successively possessed

by tlie families of Bettesworth, Hibbert, and
Anies.

The House is a plain square building, with

M'ings and a connecting centre. There is

nothing particularly anibitious in the style of

its arcliitecture, but it is convenient, and

sufficiently hirge for the accommodation of a

family. It is not known by whom it was

built, or at what period.
The pleasure-grounds, which are extensive,

wei-e laid out by Gilpin.

BOSKENNA, in the co. of Comwall, and

parish of St. Burian, about four niiles and
a-half from Penzance

;
the seat of Thomas

Paynter, Esq.

According to the family tradition, which,
of course, is the one to be most relied upon,
this estate formerly belonged to theKeigwins,
to whom tlie Paynters were related. Some

county historians, however, give the original

possession of this estate to the Carthews, of

whom, they say, it was purchased in the reign
of Charles II., by one of the Paynters.

They tell us, moreover, that the hist seller of
the property became the huntsman of a pack
of hounds that had at one time been his own

;

another page
—if it were true—in the singular

history of the decadence of rich or illustrious

houses.

Boskenna is the most eligible mansion in

the parish of St. Burian. The older portions
of it belong to a very remote date ; even the
more modern parts were built so far back as

two centuries ago, and by a distant ancestor
of the present owncr. It is composed of

square bloeks of granite, giving the idea of
inuch strongth and solidity. The grounds
going down from the House to the sea are

extremely beautifiil, while the phmtations
around the biulding afford a shelter from
tlie winds, whicli, at times, bhjw upon this

part of the coast with considerable violence.

ALTON MANOR, Derbyshire, about two
miles south from the ancient town of Wirks-

worth, and not far from the extremity ofthe

mining district
;

the seat of James Mihres,

Esq.
In tlie reign of Henry III., William

de Ferrars, Earl of Derby, conveyed the
manor of Alton to Richard Byron, whose

descendant, Sir Nichohis Byron, died seized
of it in 1503. It was afterwards held suc-

cessively by the Bhickwalls and tlie Iretons.

Aboutthe year 1663, or thereabouts, Henry
MeHor l)ought it of John Ireton, but the
brother and heir of the new purchaser, Robcrt
Mellor, sohl it to the Honourable Anchetil

(irey. In 1747, Georgc Grey, Earl of Stam-
ford, sohl it to Dr., afterwards Sir Edward,
Wihiiot, grandfather of Sjr Ri.hert Wilmot,
Bart., whosc dcsccndant, Sir Edward Sacli-

everell Wilmot, Bart., disposed of the estate

in 1S45 to Peter Walthall, Esq., whose

daughter and heiress marrying James Mihies,

Esq., brought to him this estate. The man-
sion at Alton was commenced in 1845, and

completed in the foUowing year. It is in

the EHzabethan style of architecture, after a

design by Scott and Moffatt of London, and
forms a pleasing and interesting object amidst

the surroimding scenery. The grounds are

laid out with much taste, commanding exten-

sive views of the most fertile part of the

country, which, in general, is more charac-

terized by bokhiess and even ruggedness.
A writer in the seventeenth century has

left us a curious account of the then manners
of the people, which, as it applies to all parts
of Derbyshire, cannot be considered out of

place, when treating of this particular locality.
" The common sort of people, outof genuine

reverence, not forcedby fere or institution, doe

observe those of larger fortunes, courteous

and readie to showe the waies and helpe a

passinger, you may say they are hizie and
idle in a better sense for except the grooves

"

(i.e. the pits)
"

they have not whereon to

set themselves on worke, for all theire har-

vest and sede tyme is finished in six weeks :

the rest of their tyme they spend in fothering

yr cattle, mending their stone inclosures,

and in sports.
" The countrie women here are chaste and

sober, very diligent in their huswifery ; they
hate idleness, love and obey their husbands,

only in some of the great townes, many
seeming sanctificators use to foUow the Pres-

byterian gang, and upon a lecture-day putt
on theire best rayment, and hereby take

occasion to goe a gossipping. Your merry
wives of Bentley will sometymes look in yr

ghass, chirpe a cupp merrily, yet not inde-

cently. In tlie Peake, they are much given to

dance after the bagpipes : ahuost every towne
hath a bagpipe in it.

" Their exercise for the most part, is the

Gi/mnopoiditi, or naked boy, an ohl recreation

among the Greeks
;
with this in foote-races,

you shall have in a winter's day, the earth

crusted over with ice, two agonist,* stark

naked rimn a foote-race for 2 or 3 miles, with

many hundred spectators, and the betts very
smalL

"
They love their cards. Tiie miners at

Cliristmas tyme will carry tenn or twenti

pounds about them, game freely, returne

liome againe, all the year after good hus-

bands.
" For diet, the gentrie after the southern

mode, have two state mcales a day, with a

bitt in ye buttery to a morning draft, but

your peasants exceed the Greeks, who had

A OiTck word agotiislfs, a conleiUion for thc

prizi' in public j,Mnics. It is uscil by .Miltou, who hcucc
cuUs his Samjison Aijonisles.
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four meals a day, for the moorlanders add
three more

; ye bitt in the morning ;
the

anders meate
;
and the genders meate

;
and

so niake up seaven
;
and for certaine ye great

housekeeper doth allow his people, especially
in summer-time, so many commessotions.
"Thecommon inhabitants doe prefere oates

for delight and strength above any other

graine ;
for hereyou may findyw.? nignuii tlie

Lacedoemonian pottage, to be a good dish,
if you bring a Lacedoemonian stomacli. It

is observed that they have for the most part,
fair, long, broad teeth, which is caused by
the mastication of their oat bread."

LEIGHTON HALL, Lancasliire, about nine
miles from tlie provincial capital ;

the seat of
Richard Gillow, Esq.

This property at one time was held by Adam
de Avrauclies, of Leighton, who dying without
heirs male, his daugliter, Ellen, conveyed
Leigliton Hall and other estates, by marriage,
to Adam de Redman of Yealand. This was in

1273, tlie lirstyear of tlie reign of Edward L
Tlieir son died without leaving any oftspring ;

and, of his two sisters, co-lieiresses, one
was mai-ried to Adam Yealand, Lord of

Leigliton, in her right, and the otlier to Roger
Croft, of Dalton. Li 1428, we find Leighton
passing, by descent, to Nicholas Croft of

Dalton, whose son, John, died without niale

issue, leaving tvvo daughters. One of these co-

heiresses married Geoffrey Middleton, whose

family were of Middleton Hall, in Kirkby
Lonsdale, Westmorland. Their eventual
heiress marrying Somerford Oldfield, Esq.,
the estate, in consequence, devolved to him.
From his family it passed, by marriage, to

Albert Hodgson, Esq. ;
and again, in like

nianuer, a.d. 1737, it became the property
of Ralph Standish, Esq., of Standish and
Borwick, by one of whose family it was sold to

Richard Worswick, Esq. ;
and by him again

tlie estate was disposed of to the father of the

gentleman now possessing it.

Leighton Hall is built of white limestone,
and belongs to the Gothic style of architecture,
Part of the building is of very ancient, though
uncertain date. The present front was erected

by the late Richard Gillow, Esq., in 1825.

BARBAVILLA HOUSE, Collins Town, in the
co. of Westmeath

;
the seat of William Barlow

Smythe, Esq., a magistrate and Deputy-
Lieutenant of the county, and its High SherifF

in 1832.

From time immemorial, this estate has been

possessed by the same family. The house was
built in the year 1730, by William Smythe,
son ofWilliam, Bishop of Kilmore and Ardagh,
who named it Barbavilla, after his wife, Bar-
bara. This lady was a daughter of Sir G.

Ligoldsl)y, a cousin tn Oliver Cromwell, and
sister to Lieutenant-Geiieral Ingoldsby, Mas-

ter of the Ordnance, and Lord-Chief-Justice
of Ireland in the reign of Queen Anne. It is

in the ordinary style of English architecture

that prevailed in the last century, and which
seems to set all classification at defiance.

Tiie front of it presents a length of about

ninety feet, and the ofiices are convenient, as

well as extensive. The gardens are well

planted. The pleasure-grounds are not less

worthy of note, for a fine old yew-tree walk, and
for a noble Spanish chesnut, which has hardly
got its equal in Westmeath or the surround-

ing counties. Formei-Iy, the grounds were
laid out in the Dutch school of gardening, but
modern taste has removed this blot upon the

beauty of a very interesting locality, and it

may now be styled, like the good knights of
old—" sans reproche."

Mr. Smythe, of Barbavilla, has many MSS.
papers of Mr. Robert Nelson, 1G70—1712;
and a curiously-engraved silver cup and stand,

given him by his father-in-law, the Earl of

Berkeley, which is mentioned in Mr. NeIson's

will, as left to Mrs. Bonnell, daughter of Sir

Albert Conyngham, widow of Mr. Bonnell,
Accountant-General of Ireland, in the reign
of Queen Anne, who left it as an heir-Ioom in

Mr. Smythe's family. He has also many
letters of herself and her relations, including
Speaker Conolly, the Leslies, of Glasslough,
and the author of the theological works,
Charlie Leslie, for some time Secretary to the

Chevalier, or Old Pretender; many papers
connected with whom, and some signed by
him as " James R.," are among them, as also

pictures of himself and sons. Robert Nelson
was a Turkey merchant, and was connected
with the Ingoldsby family.

There is also at Barbavilla a very good Sir

P. Lely, of Sir John Povey, Lord-Chief-
Justice of Ireland, 1676-9, the father-in-Iaw

of Wra. Smythe, Bishop of Kilmore and

Ardagh.

CLOVERLEY, in Calverhall township, in

the co. of Salop, parish of Prees, six miles

from Whitchurch, and five and a half from
Market Drayton ;

the seat of John Whitehall

Dod, Esq., M.P. for North Shropshire.
The Cloverley property first canie into the

family of Dod by a marriage with Agnes de

Cloverley, daughter and heiress of Roger de

Cloverley, who liad possessed it from an early

period, and taken his name from the estate.

The liusband of this lady, Hugo Dod, was

living in the fourteenth year of Henry IV. 's

reign.
The date of the house that formerly stood

here is unknown, or by whom it was first

erected. This ancient pile, however, was

puUed down about the year 1790, at which

time, or near upon it, the present mansion
was built by Jolm Dod, Esq., father of the

geiitleman now owning the estate. It is
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placed about 300 yards ofF from the site of
the old dweUing, which was environed by a

moat, still quite perfect, but now having about
it the kitchen-garden. The modern edifice is

cased with stone, a great improvement, in an
architectural point of view, upon the brick

walls so common even in some of the hand-
somest of our country mansions. In front, it

has a handsome Doric portico.

CONDOVER, co. Salop ;
the seat of Edward

William Smythe Owen, Esq. ;
is about five

miles south of Shrewsbury.
This manor was originally held of the king,

by the service of finding two foot-soldiers to

fight against the Welsh, for the defence of the

marches. The Lovells, Barons of Acton

Burnell, long held the estate, which was

eventually obtained by purchase, by Thomas
Owen, Esq., afterwards a Judge of the Court
of Common Pleas, in the reign of Queen
Elizabeth. Thomas Owen, Esq., his great-

grandson, dying unmarried in 1731, devised
the estate to his sister, Letitia Owen, and the

property eventually descended to her grand-
daughter, the wife of Nicholas Smythe, Esq., of

Nibley, in Gloucestershire. The only son of
this man-iage, Nicholas Owen Smythe Owen,
Esq., died without issue in 1804, having
devised his estates to his nephew, Edward
William Smythe Pemberton, who, in conse-

quence, assumed the surname of Owen, andis
the present proprietor.

Condover Hall is a noble mansion of dark
red stone, in the Elizabethan style, and was
.built by Thomas Owen, Judge of the Common
Pleas (before mentioned), who died in 1598.
It presents an imposing efiect from the arch-

way, erected by the present proprietor, by
wliich it is approached at the south end of the

village. The hbrary and some other principal
rooms look to the opposite side of the house,
which commands a view of the park, which
Is well wooded, and watered by the Condover

brook, a stream pi-overbial for the excellence

of its trout fishing.
The hall contains a fine collection of family

and other pictures ; and, in the parish church,
which immediately adjoins the demesne, are

several handsome monuments to the Owen
family, among which should be especially
noted one to Roger Owen, Esq., who died in

1717, by lloubiliac.

HUNTEOYDE, co. Lancaster
;
the seat of Le

Gendre Nicholas Stai-kie, Esq. ;
stands in the

parish of Wlialley, about five miles east of

Burnley. Tlie Hall is partly ancient, being of

the date of 1576 ;
but large additions were

made in 1777,by the grandfather of the present
possessor, when the appearance of the whole
was modernized. The front now presents a

simple but elegant elevation in tlie Grecian

style, having in the centre a semi-hexagonal

projection, in which is the entrance. There
are extensive outbuildings and otfices, and the

whole edifice is decorated with embattled

parapets. The liouse contains many vahiable
works of art

;
tlie paintings are choice, and the

sculptures very fine. The situation of Hunt-

royde is beautiful and romantic, the mansion

being surrounded by extensive Lawns in front,
and thick woods at the back. This estate an-

ciently belonged to the family of Symondstone,
and was acquired by the Starkies in the
fifteenth century, when William Starkie, of

Barnton, in Cheshire, married Elizabeth,

daughterand heiress of Jolin Symondstone, of

Symondstone. Of tliis alliance, the present
proprietor is the lineal descendant and repre-
sentative.

Mr. Starkie also possesses

KEMPNALL HALL, in theparishof Worsley.
Tliis is a venerable and interesting mansion of

brick, wood, and plaster, adorned by two gates,
but novv—like so many of the ancient Lan-
caslure mansions—in a state of dilapidation.
The estate of Kempnall

—
-anciently called

Kempnough—was originally possessed by a

family bearing the local name, from whom it

passed, by an heiress, in the person of Margery
Kempnough, who married Roger, younger son
of Geotfrey Worseley, of Worseley. The
heiress of the Worseleys

—EUen, daughter of
Richard Worseley

—married Richard Parr, a

younger son of PaiT, of Parr
;
whose son,

OHver Parr, married Emma, daughter and
heir of William Tutgill, of Cleworth, in the

parish of Leigh. From this alliance proceeded—-fifth in descent—-John Parr, Esq., of Kemp-
nough and Cleworth, who, by his wife, Mar-

garet, daughter of Thomas Massey, of Why-
deswyk, left an only daughter and heiress,

Anne, who married, first, Thurstan Barton
;

and, secondly, in 1578, Nicholas Starkie, Esq.,
of Huntroyd, who thus acquired the estates of

Kempnall and Cleworth.

Mr. Starkie subsequently took up his abode
at Cleworth Hall, the result of which proceed-
ing was a series of marvellous events, which
\ve cannot forbear relating, so far as our limits

will allow. The facts are recorded by the

Rev. John Darrell, himself a principal actor in

the scene.

According to his statement, Mr. Starkie

was residing in Clewortb in 1594, having then
tvvo cliiklren, John and Anne, of the respec-
tive ages of ten and nine years. These

children, according to our authority, became

possessed of an evil spirit, and John Hartlay,
a reputed conjurer, was apphed to, to give
them relief, which he eftected by various

charms, and the use of a magic circle, wliich

lie drew near Mr. Starkie's seat at Huntrojde.
Hartlay was conjurer enough to discover the

difference between Mr. Starkie's table and his

own, and he contrived to fix himself as a con-



SEATS OF GREAT DRITAIN. 199

stant inmate in his benefactor's family for two
or three years. Being considered so essential to

their peace, he advancedin his demands till Mr.
Starkie demurred, and a separation took place ;

but not till five other persons, inmates of Mr.
Starkie's family, had become possessed, through
the agency of Hartlay ;

" and it was judged
in the house, that wliomsoever he kissed, on
them he breathedthe devil."

According to the narrative, all the seven

demoniacs sent forth strange and supernatural
voices and loud shoutings. In this extremity,
Dr. Dee, the Warden of Manchester, was

applied to, and he advised that they should

call in the aid of certain godly preachers, and

trywhat couldbedone byfastingand praying.
Some remission of violence followed

;
but the

evil spirits soon returned, and Mr. Starkie's

house became a perfect bedlam. The young
Starkies were fierce as madmen

;
the Miss

HoUands, Mr. Stai-kie's wards, were also

troubled; and Margaret Byrom, of Salford,
who was on a visit at Clewortli, partook of

the general malady.
The preachers being called in, according to

Dr. Dee's suggestion, tbey examined the

demoniacs, and proceeded to give them

spiritual advice
;
but the productions of the

Bible only provoked scofis and blasphemies.
At last, all the afflicted persons being collected

in a parlour, were laid on couches, and Mr.

More, and Mr. Dickens, with Mi*. Darrell, and
about thirty other persons, spent a long time

with them in prayer and fasting, and hearing
the Word of God. Eventually, the demoniacs
were relieved

;
the demons passing from them

with violence, causing the blood to flow from
their mouths and noses. Two or three days
afterwards, the unclean spirits returned, and
would have re-entered, but they were resisted.

When they found that they could not succeed,

they threw some of tlieir former victims down,
and deprived others of the use of their limbs

;

but the victory was finally obtained by the

preachers, and all the devils banished from the

household. In this state of confusion Mr.
Starkie's house bad been kept for upwards of

two years ; but, meanwliile, Hartlay, after

undergoing an examination before two magis-
trates, was committed to Lancaster Castle,
where he was convicted of witchcraft, and
sentenced to be executed. On the scafFold,

he declared his innocence, but to no purpose,
the executioner did his duty, and the criminal

was siispended, AVhile in this situation, the

rope broke, when lie confessed his guilt ;
and

being again tied up, died, the victim of his

own impostures, and of the infatuation of the

age in whicli he lived.

Some light is tlu-own upon these mysterious
transactions, by

" A Discourse concerning the

possession and dispossesiiion of seven persons
in one family in Lancashire,

"
written by

George More, one of the preachcrs engaged

in exorcising the legion, This discoiirse con-

firms Mr. DarrelPs narrative, but adds that

Mr. Starkie having married an inheritrix,

of whose kindred some were Papists ; these,

partly for religion, and partly because the

estate descended not to heirs male, prayed
for the perishing of her issue, and that foiu*

sons pined away in a strange manner
;

but

that Mrs. Starkie, learning the circimistance,

estated her lands on her husband and ///«heirs,

faiUng issue of her own body, after wliich a

son and daughter were born, who prospered
Avell till they arrived at the age of ten or

twelve years.
Cleworth Hall, the scene of this marvellous

aifair, was standing at the commencement of

the present century, when it was a respectable
timber building, with bay windows and gables ;

but it was all taken down about thirty years

ago. The estate of Cleworth, together with

that of Kempnall, has descended, vvith Hunt-

royde, to the present Le Gendre Nicholas

Starkie, Esq.

KENDAL CASTLE, Westmorhand. The

Barony of Kendal was confeiTed by William

the Conqueror on Ivo Tailboys, wlio accom-

panied him to England from tlie province of

Anjou. This feudal dignity was one of great
vahie and importance, investing tlie owner
with territorial possessions of a very extensive

description, as well as various rights, royalties,
and privileges, appin-tenant thereto. Fourtli

in descent from Ivo was William, surnamed
De Lancaster, from the circumstance, as Dug-
dale supposes, of his being Governor of Lan-
caster Castle

;
and from hini descended the

eminent family of Lancaster, Barons of Ken-
dal. Through failure of heirs male, the

representation of this baronial house passed

successively to the families of Brus and Ros,

and, from the same cause, the Barony became
divided into three portions, or fees, as they
were termed

;
of which " the Riclnnond Fee

"

passed to the Lindesays, and, at a later

period,
" the Lumley Fee

" came to the

Thvvenges ;
while the remaining portion,

which included the castle and demesne, and
was styled "the Marquess Fee," descended to

the Ros's. Robert de Ros, Lord Ros of

Werke, married Margaret, daughter and co-

heiress of Peter de Brus, of Kendal, and his

great-grandson, John de Ros, left an only

daughter, Elizabeth, heiress of the faniily,

who mai-ried, in 1383, Sir William de Parre,

Knight, of Parrc, co. Lancaster, who thus

became of Kendal. His representative in the

fourthdegree was SirThomasParre, of Kendal,
who married Maud, daughter and co-heiress

of Sir Thomas Greene, of Greene's Norton,
co. Northampton, by vvhom he had one

son, William, and tvvo daughters, viz., Anne,
who married William Herbert, Earl of Pem-
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broke, and Katherine, who became the last

wife of Henry VIII.*
The son, William Parr, succeeded to the

estates, and was successively created Baron
Parr of Kendal, Earl of Essex, and Marquess
of Northampton. He was attainted for siding
with Lady Jane Grey, in her abortive attempt
to obtain the throne, andhishonoursforfeited;
but, being high in favour with Elizabeth, was

eventuall)' restored to those, as well as to his

great possessions.
The Marquess, thougli thrice married, died

without issue in 1571, and his estates were
then seized for the Crown. His widow, Helena,
had the "

Marquess Fee
"
assigned to her for

dower
; but, soon after the year 1572, Queen

Elizabeth gave her other lands instead, and
issued a commission to inquire into all the

manors and lands late assigned for the jointure
of Lady Helen, Marchioness of Northampton. f

In 1581, the Queen granted to Ambrose,
Earl of Warwick, the castle and park of

Kendal, to be holden in socage, as if her
manor of East Greenwich. In the reign of

Charles II., they belonged to Sir Francis

Anderton, of Lostock; whose descendant,
Francis Anderton, sold them to John

Higgins, Esq., whose brother devised them
to his sons-in-law, Sir Thomas Gatehouse,
and Dr. James Musgrave, to be sold

;
which

was done in 1705, to Thomas Hohue and
James Dowker, Esquires, of Kendal, and to

Benjamin Hall, Gent., of Newton, near Cart-

mell. The premises have also againchanged
hands at a more recent period.

Kendal Castle stands at a short distance

from the town, on the east side of the river

Ken, upon a hill composed of rounded stones,

embedded in a black sandy cement
;
and is

supposed to have been built at a very early

period, by the Barons of Kendal, on the site

of a Roman fort. Its situation, in the midst

of the valley, is both strong and beaiitiful.

Old Leland's description of this pLice is given
with his characteristic brevity :

—" About lialf

a mile ofF, on the east side of the town, is, on
a hill, a park, longing to young Mr. Par,
the chiefest of that name, and there is a place
as it were a castle." The castle became

dihapidated before it passed from the Parrs
;

and the deer were killed, and the park and
the demesne lands thrown together in 1566.

* Katherine Pai-r was born at Kendal Castle, and died

at Svideley Castle, county of Gloucester, -wliere slie was
interred. For some intcrcstinj? dctails respectins^ her
latter days, as wcU as the discovery of her phice of

Kcpulturc, see Vistlation of Seais,
—

first series.

+ The jury under this commission, amona: other things,
found that thc tcnants of this Barony,

" from the ag-e of

IG to GO, liad ahvays becn accustomcd, and so still owe to

he, at all timcs in thcir most dcfensible array for thc

wars, ready to serve tlicir princc, on horscback and on
foot, at the wcst border of Kngland, forancnt Seotland,
on their own proper eost and eluirgcs, being warncd
thereto by beacon, firc, post, or proclamation ; and there
so to continue during the loid wardcn's pleasure."

A survey made in 1572 describes it thus :
—

"The Castle of Kendal is situate on the knowl
of a hill within the park there, and on the east

side of the town of Kendal, with a fair and
beautifiJ prospect, both of wood, pasture, and

running water. The out walls embattled forty
foot square ;

and within the same no buikling
left, saving only on the north side is situate

the front of the gatehouse, the liall, with an
ascent of stairs to the same, with a buttery
and pantry at the end thereof; one great

chamber, and two or three lesser chambers,
and rooms of ease adjoining the same

; being
all in decay, both in glass and slate, and in all

other reparations needful. Under thehall are

two or tliree small rooms of cellars. On the south

is situate a dove-cote in good repair, The

yearly rent of the demesne, and one-fourth

part of the toll of Kendal, £64 14s." The

present appearance of the Castle is that of a

pile of ruins. The walls are circular, guarded
by three towers and a keep ;

twoof the towers

are round, and one of them is tolerably perfect.
The buikling has been surrounded by a decp
fosse

;
the entrance over the ditch is on the

west, but the gateway is quite ruined. Part

of the keep remains on the north side of the

gate, in whicli the " small rooms of cellars
"

may still be seen. In the doors and windows,
and a few corners, a dark red free-stone has

been used, but the mass of the buikling is

very i-udely put togetlier with lime and un-

hewn bkie primeval rock, brought from the

neighbouring hills.

FELTON HALL, in the co. of Northumber-

land, between eight and nine miles from

Ahiwick; the seat of Thomas Riddell, Esq ,

a justice of the peace, and High Sheritf in

1836.

Fekon was one of the dependant numors
of the barony of Mitford, and was successively

possessed by the Bertrams, Pembrokes, Atlu)ls,

Percys, Scropes, and Syles, and afterwards by
the Widdringtons. From the last-named

owner, this estate passed, by marriage, to

the family of Riddell, in which it still re-

mains.

It was here that the Barons of Northumber-
land—Lord Eustace being one—did homage
to Alexander, King of Scotland. To chastise

their revolt, King John levied a great army,

and, in the year 1216, reduced Felton, and

many other places in the neighbourhood,
to ashes.

Felton Hall stands in an old and extensive

park, upon the west side of the village of that

name, by which runs the river Coquet. The

scenes around are beautifid and romantic in

the extreme
;

fine rocks and hanging woods

form the margin of the river, that winds alimg

through a rich and highly-cultivated
tract of

countrv.
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WELBECK ABBEY, in tlie co. of Notting-
hani; the se;it ot" thc Dnke of PovtLand.

Welbeck was an ahhey for Premonstra-
teusian Canons

;
situated in the parish of

Cnckney ;
commenced in the reign of King

Stephen, 1153, and completed in the reign of

King Henry II., by Thomas Fitz Richard le

Flemangh, from whose heirs and descendants
John Hotham, Bishop of Ely, in 1329, pnr-
chased the whole manor of Cuckney, witli the

lands and advowsons of this Ahbey. The
manor of Cuckney he settled upon the Abhey
of Welbeck, while the lands and advowsons of
the Ahbey lie annexed to the See oi Ely ;

so

that the Bishops of Ely were, ever after,
the patrons of this house, which, in 1512, was
made the chief Abbey of the Premonstrateu-
sian Orderin England.

It may be proper to state that this was an
order of canons who lived according to the
rule of St. Augnstine, as reformed by St.

Norbert, who set up tlais regnhition, in 1120,
at Premonstratum, or Premonstre, in the

diocese of Laon, in the province of Picardy.
Tlie canons of this order were, from their

dress, called white canons, as they wore a
white cassoc, vvith a rochet over it, a long
white cloak, and white caps. They were in-

troduced into England soon after 1140, and
their earliest settlement was at Newhouse, in

Leicestershire. They were often visited by
their Superiors at Premonstre, who raised

great pecuniary contributions out of them,
until they were restrained from so doing by an
act of the last Parliament of Edward I., in

1307. The foreign heads were still permitted
to govern their monks, and to exercise the

discipUne of tlieir order
; they were only pre-

vented from carrying money out of the

country. There were thirty-five liouses of this

order in Enghand, all of which yiekled obedi-

ence to the Abbot of Premonstre, until 1512,

when, as already mentioned, the Superiority
of all the houses, in England and Wales,
was given, by a BuU of Pope Julius II.,
confirmed by Henry VIII., to the Abbot
of Welbeck. We have not a regular list of
the Superiors, but we give the following frag-

mentary notice of tliem :
—The first Abbot of

this house was Berengarius, inllG9; Adam,
in 1193

;
Jolm de Dugmanton, in 1309

;
John

de Castrefield, 1310; William de Kendel,
1310; John de Nottingham, 1322; William
de Aslakeden, 1335

;
John Spalding, 1341

;

John Wirsop, 1349; Hugh de Langley,
1360; George de Gamelton, 13G9; WiUiam
de Stavley, 1389

;
John Greene, 1468

;
Wil-

liam Burton, 1472; Thomas Wilkinson, 1503;
John Maxey, Bishop of Elphin, was Com-
mendator of Welbeck, 1520. In the twenty-
sixth year of King Henry VIII., the gross
amount of the revenues of the Abl^ey were
£298 4s. 8d., and the net income £249 6s. 3d.

The arms of the Abbey were, gules on three

lozenges in fesse argent, as many roses

gules.
After the spohation and desecration of the

Abbey, the site was granted by King Henry
VIIJ. to Richard Whalley. It afterwards

formed a portion of the ample patrimony of

Sir Charles Cavendish, third son of Sir William

Cavendish, Cardinal Wolsey's gentleman
usher, and his wife, Elizabeth Hardwick.

Fewpersons, now-a-days, think much of the

former destination of Abbeys, or anything at

all of the rights of their former possessors. We
will not venture to enter here upon the ques-
tion, whether the State has, or has not, a

right to disjjose, as it pleases, of the property
of its citizens and subjects. Nor will we touch

upon the religious controversy between the

Churches of England and Rome. Thus we
will avoid an inquiry as to whether the con-

fiscation of the estates and wealth of thig

church, at the Reformation, was or was not

justifiable by law
;
or whether, on the whole,

the country at large was benefited by the

change which the Reformation produced. On
the latter point, the Roman Catholic and the

Protestant are entitled, respectively, to enter-

tain opposite opinions. Yet, it may be a fair

subject for discussion whether the change in the

religion of the country was necessarily accom-

panied by so violent a change in the destina-

tion of so large a portion of the real property
of the nation. Under a Protestant Church,

might not the wealth of the monastic estab-

lishments have been expended, as formerly,
in maintaining religion, and distributing alms ?

The Reformationleft a Church to be supported,

youth to be educated, and poor to be fed. AII
these great objects were, more or less, fulfilled,

in spite of their abuses, by the immense wealth
of the monasteries. Were they ever equally ful-

filled when that wealth became the hereditary

property of laymen ? It is, therefore, an im-

portant, and not unnatural question, Was the

nation at large
—the great mass of the people

of England, benefited by the lands of the

abbey, or the priory, and the riches which the

monastic houses had accumulated, becoming
the private property of a race of wealthy lords

and squires ? These are questions which the

community at large are disposed, in this

utilitarian age, to put, when they, not unna-

turally, grumble at the frequent calls made

upon their purses for poor-rates, and church-

rates, and donations to church extension

societies, and additional curate societies. And
the answer to them is not very easy. Might
not the estates and riches of the wealthy
religious endowments of England have been
better bestowed, at the Reformation, upon
objects of public ntility, than upon the aggran-
disement or creation of wealthy private
families? In the one case, the community at

large would have been gainers. In the other,

they are gainei"s only indirectly, through the

D D
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medium of an aristocracy, like that of Eng-
land

; which, to its praise he it spoken, is never

immindfiil of its duties, or hackward in good
works.

To return from this digression to Welbeck

Abbey. The Ahbots made way for the Caven-

dishes, a new race, who, however, soon took

a high place among the great nobility of Eng-
land. And it must be admitted that they
have always borne themselves nobly and

gallantly, as if they had sprung from the

heroes of Hastings and the barons of Run-

nymede, instead ofmounting, through a gentle-
man usher to an old jvidge, as their patri-
arch.

There never existed a finer specimen of the

high aristocratic old Enghsh nobleman, than

the gentleman usher's grandson, Sir William

Cavendish, who Avas raised, qiiite as much in

consequence of his own merit as of adventi-

tious circumstances, to the highest rank in

the Enghsh Peerage, as Duke of Newcastle.

After the tmnults of civil war, in which he
acted so noble and loyal a part, were over,
and after the weariness of exile, in which he
sufFered so many privations, had been out-

lived, this great nobleman spent the latter

years of his life in his favourite retreats of

Welbeck, Bolsover, and Bothal, where he
devoted himself toliterary amusements, eques-
trian exercises, and the active management
of his immense estates, which war and

sequestrations had dilapidated. He divided

his magnificent stud between Welbeck and

Bolsover, in both of which seats he constructed

fine riding-houses, which still exist. Numerous

engravings of both places are to be foimd in

his work on the maneyc, which is considered

by the few who know anything of the matter,
to be a very admirable system of horseman-

ship. But the great horse of the equestrian
Duke is as much exploded as the monastic

observances of his predecessor the Abbot.
This junior hne of the Cavendishes soon

failed of male heirs. Henry, the second

Duke, was succeeded by his daughter Mar-

garet ;
his only son, Lord Ogle, liaving died

ahnost inunediately after his marriage with the

splendid heiress of all the Percys, Baroness

Percy, Lucy, Bryan, Poynings, Fitz Payne,
and Latimer. Lady Margaret Cavendish
carried her great heritage to HoUis, Earl of

Clare, created Duke of Newcastle
;
and their

only daughter, Lady Hcnrietta Cavendish

Holhs, transmitted it, by a runaway marriage,
to the second Earl of Oxford. The Duke of

Newcastle alienated as much property as he
could from Lady Oxford, and be([ueathed it,

with the title according to its new patent, to

his nephew Pelham, from whom it went to

his nephew CHnton, Earl of Lincoln, the

ancestor of thc present Duke of Newcastle.

Lady Oxford, the heiress of line of the

Cavendish and Hollis families, had an only

daughter and heiress, who brought the great

heritage of Welbeck, Bolsover, and Bothal,

to the Duke of Portland.

The Bentincks are an ancient family of

Dutch nobility. A branch of theirrace hokls

a high position among the chief nobles of

Westphalia. William, Baron de Bentinck,

was, in 1732, created a Count of the Empire,

by the Emperor Charles VI. Kniephausen is

the name of the principal territory of the

family. It is situated on the shore of the

German Ocean, and holds a very singular

position as regards the German confedei"ation.

It is, in some measure, still an independent
state, though of very limited extent

;
its circuit

being one square mile ( equal to five square

English miles) ,
with three thousand inhabitants.

Count Bentinck, Lord of Kniephausen, can

scarcely be said to belong either to the class

of reigning or of mediatized princes. He was
a reigning Count, and he has not been

thoroughly mediatized. It has been jestingly

said, that he was so small that he was for-

gotten, when the other petty sovereigns
were mediatized, and thus he still exists. 'l'he

race of Dutch Bentincks was a collateral

branch of this German house, and were

Seigneurs of Diepenham in Overyssel. Henry
de Bentinck, Seigneur de Diepenham, had a

son William, who was the faithful servant

and confidential friend of WiUiam Prince of

Orange : when he became King of Great

Britain as William III., he created Ben-

tinck Earl of PortLand, in 1689. His son

Henry was created Duke of Portland, in

171G, and his son WilUam, secondDuke, mar-

ried the wealthy heiress of the younger
line of the Cavendishes, Lady Margaret Caven-

dish Harley, who was no less respected for

her sterling worth, refined taste, and great

accomphshments, than for her high rank and

ample fortune. She held a distinguished po-
sition in the hterary circles of the last century,
and was embued with a genuine taste and
love of learning. She was the purchaser of

the celebrated Barberini Vase, which, in our

own day, has had so awful a smash, and so

sui-prising a resurrection.

The son of this Duke and Duchess was
the Statesman and Prime ]\Iinister, and their

grandson is William Henry, the present
Duke of Portland. This nobleman has de-

voted a very long life to the improvement of

his immense estates, and in accomphshing this

object, he has madeliimselfthe mostpractically
useful landowner in England. Avoiding pubUc
and political life, he luis spent his time entircly

among his people, identifying himself with

them, knowing their wants, and endeavouring,
in most instances succesfully, to supply them.

He deserves the proud and honourable name
of the "farmer's friend." He fully knows
the value of his huid, and nicely calculates

its return
; and, as a practical farmer, he
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bestows much care, pains, and scientific skill

on his large estates; which, uncler his able

nianagement, have been marvellously im-

proved. His water meadows, at Clipstone, a
farm within a few miles of Welbeck, in the
midst of Sherwood Forest, are the pride and
admiration of the neighbourhood, and attract

agricultural visitors from all parts of this, as

well as of foreign, countries. He has added

immensely to his estates, by his marriage with
Miss Scott, eldest daugliter and heiress of
General Scott, of an ancient Fifeshire family,
who had acquired a very large fortune, tlie

greater part of which descended to the
Duchess of Portland.

Welbeck Abbey possesses the perfection of
woodland beauty. It is the finest specimen
of a magnificent park in the centre of Eng-
land. Nothing can be more tlioroughly s^-lvan
than this noble domain, spreading out to an
immense extent, with undulating slopes,
covered with thick woods, and adorned with

gigantic trees. The mansion, whicli is part of
the ancient Abbey, is very irregular, having
been altered and enlarged at different

periods, though much of the old monastic

buihhng remains. The chapel is spacious,
but without ornament, and is not fitted up in

good taste. The house is ample and com-
modious, but plain and unpretending. The
paintings are curious, particularly the family
portraits of different generations, many of
them having been painted by the most dis-

tinguished masters in their respective eras.

The stables were commenced in 1G23, by
the equestrian Duke of Newcastle, and bave
received such improvements and additions as

to be considered the best in the kingdom.
The riding-house is a noble and spacious
building.
The Abbey is situated on the margin of a

large lake, which is surrounded by an extensive

wood, containing some of thefinest forest ti-ees

in England. The park is eight miles in cir-

cumference, and contains many oaks of extra-

ordinary age and dimensions. The largest of
these is the " Greendale oak," which is of
incalculable antiquity. It measures in cir-

cumference thirty-three feet, and its branches
are said to have covered a space not less tlian

seven hundred square yards ;
but it has been,

during many years, in a state of decay,
retaining now only one branch, while the

venerable trunk is clasped with iron, capped
with lead, and suppoi-ted on props. In

1724, a cai-riage way, ten feet high, and six

feet three inches wide, was arched out in

the stem of this immense tree. The tree

called the "Duke's walking-stick," is another
of these sylvan cvuiosities—111 feet 6 inches

high, and containing 440 solid feet of timber.

The two " Porters
"

stand at one of the park
entrances, and are each one hundred feet

high. P'rom the reraarkable tree called the

" Seven Sisters," spring seven stems, ninety
feet high.
The lake is a fine sheet of water, upwards of

a mile in length, and it lias a beautiful aspect,
amidst the majestic foliage of the surrounding
wood. Its banks form a bold, varied line,

beneath some elevated promontories, shaded
with the noble old oaks, and with thriving
modern plantations, opening to numerous pic-

turesque views. At the end of the lake

furthest from the Abbey, the Duke has lately
constructed a bridge, at very great expense,
which is entirely for picturesque effect, and
not for use. Attached to the Abbey, there are

good kitchen and fruit-gardens, with great
extent of hot-houses. There is also some orna-

mental shrubbeiy.
But the unique beauty of Welbeck consists

in its magnificent forest scenery ;
and the

extent and diversified surface of the park. It

is the most strikingly grand of the four Duke-

ries, as they are called
;

far siupassing

Thoresby, Ckuuber, or Worksop. The splen-
did forest scenery belonging to the Duke of

Portland is not confined to Welbeck park.
Some miles ofF, the forest of Birklands extends

over a great tract of country, abounding with

magnificent trees, and diversified with scenery
of uncommon beauty. In short, Welbeck
and the forests wliich belong to it, form, alto-

gether, the first woodland domain in England,
and may be taken as a most favourable spe-
cimen of the seat of a great British nobleman
and landowner,

ABERAMAN, South Wales, in the co. of

Glamorgan ;
the seat of Crawshay Bailey,

Esq., M.P. for Monmouthshire.
This property was, at one time, possessed

by the family of the Mathews, who also owned
tlie entire parish. It passed subsequently to

Anthony Bacon, Esq., and, finally, to the

family of the gentleman now hokling it.

The buikUng is in the Italian style of archi-

tecture, and is situated in a pleasant and pic-

turesque part of the country.

PENDAEVES, in the co. of Cornwall,
three miles north-east of Clowance, and two
miles soutli-west of Camborne town

;
the seat

of the ancient family of Pendarves. The late

Edward William Wynne Pendarves, Esq.,
was long Member of Parliament for the county.
His patronymic was Stackhouse, but he as-

sumed the additional surname of Wynne, by
sign manual, dated 4th January, 1815; and,
on the 28th of February, in the same year,
that of Pendarves in place of Stackhouse.

Pendarves is a beautiful edifice of freestone,
with two handsome fronts, opening upon an
extensive paddock. The mansion, grounds, and

gardens occupy what was once abarren waste,
strewed all over with huge blocks of moor-

stonc, and ahuost utterly destitute of vegeta-
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tion. At the foot of the eminence on which
thehouse stands, is awide artificial lake, over-

looked by the southern front, and siirrounded

by walks and evergreens. The rooms within

are numerous and handsome, and contain

many valuable paintings, besides a mineral

cabinet, and a collection of birds well pre-
served. There vvas, also, at one time, a fos-

silary, the loss of which draws down a strain

of indignant lamentation from the county
historian, Gilbert. "Adjoining," he says,
" the eastern side of the house, is a neat

shrubbery, through which is carried a walk,

opening iuto a once-beautiful grotto, or fos-

silary, the roof of wliich, even in its present

dilapidated state, appears to represent a fir-

mament of twinkling stars. These brilliant

gems, which lined the wliole of the interior,
were collected by Mrs. Percival from the

neighbouring mines
; and, when we consider

that this grotto is still the grandest ornament

belonging to Pendarves, it is truly surprising
that it should be also the most ruinous. The

building has been robbed of many of its most
vahiable ornaments, the door-way broken

down, and the interior filled with hnnber."
The cultivated aspect of these grounds is

still further heightened by contrast with the

wild and dreary heath tliat meets the eye in

the southern distance, in the midst of which
stands a solitary cromlech, consisting of three

upright stones, with a fourth upon the top of

them. The house commands some very ex-

tensive views over tlie western part of the

country.

FLESK CASTLE, Irehmd, in the co. of

Kerry, about a mile and a half from Kil-

larney ;
the seat of John Coltmann, Esq.

Flesk Castle was originally erected on the

site of two ancient forts, one of which was

Danish, while the other, which stood farther

to the west, has been referred to the time when
Cromwell invaded Ireland. Ofthelatter, the

only ti-ace now remaining is the ditch that

served as a defence to the western rampart.
The present mansion is a modern building,

upon the same site, and crowning the top of
a beautiful sloping hill

;
whence it commands

one of the most magnificcnt, as well as most

varied, prospects in the whole of the Uuited

Kingdom. The house is constructed of hewn
stone, tlie greater part of which was brought
from a distance of two miles, and presents a
somewhat imposing exterior. Internally, it

combines all that is required by the modern
notions of comfort and convcnience. The
hall is entered by a pointed doorway, under a

large midlioned window, while at the sidcs it

is lighted by two other windows of tlie same

description. In length, this part of the house
is thirty feet

;
in breadth, twenty-five ;

in

height, thirty. The ceiling is groined, and
round three sides of it runs a gallery that

serves to communicate with different roonis on
the first floor.

Having passed through tliis hall, an ante-

room leads to the octagon saloon, beyond
wliich are the small and grcat drawing-rooms,

terminating in tlie dinner-parlour. These five

rooms communicate successively witli each
otlier

;
their decoi'ations harmonize with the

general character of the edifice
; and, from tlie

windows of all these apartments, as well as from
those of the library and study

—which occupy
the north wing—the prospect is eminently
beautiful. Tlie principal objects of the land-

scape are the Fox Mountain, with its cascade
;

the peninsula of Mucruss Abbey, with its

creeks and inlets
;
the ruins of Ross Castle,

celebrated for its defence against the repub-
licans under Ludlow

; and, lastly, tlie wind-

ings of the Flesk, from which the Castle takes

its name. This river rises in the mountainous
district of Glen Flesk, and is here crossed by
a bridge of three-and-twenty arches.

The west front commands an extensive view
of the northern, or Lower Killarney Lakes,
dotted with many islets, and shadowed over

by a chain of lofty mountains, that rise

abruptlj^ from the water.

The carriage-approacli winds in a gradual
ascent up the hill, sheltered, and well nigli
hidden from view, by the oaks, larches, and
beech-wood that on all sides clotlie the decli-

vity. West and north of the Castle, the

groimds slope downwards to these woods
;

while, on the east, they expand into wide lawns,
dotted with trees, now scattered, and novv

again chistering into phintations. Upon the

western front is a hike, and it opens on a

grand terrace, with embattled walls. Its

north-west angle is flanked by a ruined tower,
wliile in front it is defended by a dry ditch.

On the south this fa^ade is terminated by the

great octagon tower; and joined to it rises a

smaller tower of the like form. Between
these and the main buihling, but a little in

the rear, is the White Tower, whicli is rectan-

guhir. Tlie battlements are in the style of the

old Irish castles.

The principal object in the entrance-front

is the Round Tower, rising to the height of

sevcnty-five feet. Witliin it a spiral staircase,

twelve feet wide, affbrds an easy access to the

various floors and leaden roofs of the buihling.
The latter are perfectly flat, and command an
ahiiost unhmited view, in every direction, of a

glorious hnulscape, the details of which have
been ah-eady given.

WARE PARK, in the co. of Herts, about

two miles and a half from Hertford
;
the seat

of Thomas Ilope Byde, Esq.
The manor of Ware has, in its time, passed

into the possession of various distinguished
families—now, by marriage ; now, by sale

;

and now, bv attainder—till, in the time of
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Qiieen Elizabeth, we find it in the hands of

the Countess of Huntingdon, who sold it to

Thomas Fanshawe, Esq. His son, Sir Henry
Fanshawe, Knight, appears to have been a
chai-acter of sonie eminence in his day. Lady
Fanshawe, in lier MS. Memoirs, as quoted by
Clutterbuck, says,

" He was the favourite

of Prince Henry ;
and had the Prince lived

to be king, had been Secretary of State,
as he would often tell liim. Mr. Camden
speaks mucli in tlie praise (as you niay see) of
Sir Henry Fanshawe's garden of Ware Park,
none excelling it in flowers, physick-lierbs,
and fruit

;
in wliich things he did greatly

delight. Also, lie was a great lover of music,
and kept many gentlemen wlio were perfectly
well qualified both in tliat, and the Italian

tongue, in whicli lie spent some time. He
likewise kept several horses of menage, and
rode them liimself, which lie delighted in

;

and tlae Prince would say none did it better.

He had great honour and generosity in liis

nature. His retinu.e was great, and that

made him stretcli liis estate, which was near,
if not full, four thousand pounds a year ; yet,
when lie died, lie left no debt upon his estate.

He was as liandsome and fine a gentleman as

England then liad, a most excellent liusband,

father, friend, andservantto his prince."
Tlie son and heir of tlie preceding gentle-

man, Sir Thomas Fansliawe, distinguislied
himself throughout the great Civil War by
his firm adlierence to tlie cause of Cliarles I.

He figures also in history after the Restoration,
and died in 1655.

In the year 1668, this estate passed by sale

from the Fanshawes to Sir Thonias Byde,
Knight, second son and lieir of Jolin Byde,
citizen and alderman of London

;
since when

it has continued witli liis descendants up to

the present hour.

The ancient manor-house of the Wottons
was pulled down by Thomas Byde, Esq., witli

tlie chapel and long gallery. In its phice he
erected a modern mansion upon tlie acclivity
of a hill, commanding tlie meadows that lie

between Ware and Hertford. The park and

grounds are much diversified, their pleasant-
ness being considerably enhanced by tlie

neiglibourliood of the rivers Lea and Rib.
In the meadows opposite the park, on tlie

soutli-east, are the springs of Chadwell, tlie

source of tlie New River. Tliese are concen-
trated in a small pool or basin, surrounded

by a liglit railing, from which tlre stream

slowly issues in its course towards London,
and is swelled at a little distance by a cut

from tlie river Lea
;
a circumstance tlius re-

corded by Scott, in his poem of Amwell :
—

Old Lea meanwliilG,
Beneatli liis mossy grot, o'erhung with boughs
Of poplar quiv'ring in the brceze, surveys,
Witli eye indignant, his diniinished tide,
That laves yon ancient priory's wall, and shows
Inits elear niirror Ware's inverted rock."

At the time when this manor was possessed

by Sir Henry Fanshawe, the flowei--gardens
would seem to have been the object of his

peculiar attention. Sir Henry Wotton speaks

rapturously of tliem in his Elements of Archi-

tccturc, observing,
"
Though other countreys

have more benefite of sunne than wee, and

tliereby more properly tyed to contemplate
this delight ; yet I have seene in our owne a

delicate and diligent curiositie, surely without

parallel among foreigne nations
; namely, in

the garden of Sir Henry Fanshawe, at his seat

in Ware Parke, where I well remember hee

did so precisely examine the thictures, and
seasons oi\\\^flowres, tliat in their setting, the

inwardest of those which were to come up at

tlie same time, shouldbe always a little darker

outmost, and so serve them for a kind of

gentle shadotv, like a piece, not of nature,
butofArte."

ALRESFORD HALL, in the co. of Essex,
about six miles from Colchester, and fifty-four

from London
;

the seat of William W^arwick

Hawkins, Esq., M.P.
This place takes its name from the parish

wherein it stands, which itself is so called from

two Anglo-Saxon words, Alr, or Aler, an
"

alder-tree," and Ford,
'* a ford," the whole

signifying i\\eford of alders, or aklersford. In

ancient records, the name is variously written,

Allesford, Alresford, and Elesford.

In the Saxon times, the lands of this district

belonged to Edward, Edwald, and Algar. At
tlre survey, they were possessed by Eustace,
Eai-1 of Boulogne ;

his under-tenant, Hato,

holding what had belonged to Edward, the

Bishop of London holding Edwald's part ;

and Richard Fitzgislebert, the part that had
before belonged to Algar, who, was, however,

pei"mitted to hold it under him,
—a rare

instance of such allowance after the Norman

Conquest.
We find the manor, to which Alresford Hall

belongs, successively held,
—in 1211, by

Geofirey de Fercles
;
for some timebefore 1270,

by Lucyde Apleford ; previously to 1311, by
Andrew de Thunderderle ;

and subsequently

by many different owners, till it came into the

hands of the family of de Coggeshall. From
them it passed, by default of male heirs, to

John Dorewai-d, Esq., of Bocking, who had
married Blanch, the eldest daughter of Sir

William de Coggeshall. In 1495, John
Doreward dying without issue, his estates

were divided amongst the daughters of his

sister, Elizabeth Fotheringay, when this manor
fell to the eldest, Margaret, who was married

to Nicholas Beaupre. In 1556, it passed to a

distant relative ofthe family, Edward Thin-sby,
who dying in 1558, left Mary, wife of Richard

Barwick, and Anne Wright, his two daughters,
his co-heiresses. But, at the time of her death



206 SEATS OF GREAT BRITAIN.

in 158G, Mary Barwick possessed this manor,
and left her son, Thonias Barwick, her heir.

In 1611, we find this manor hehl by Wm.
Tabor, Doctor of the Civil Law, whose only

daughterandheiressconveyed it, by marriage,
to John Browne, Esq. By him it was sold to

John Hawkins, Esq., of Braintree, who leftthe

estate by will, bearing date 1633, to his son

John Hawkins, Esq., whose only daughter and

heiress, Christian, married Sir John Dawes,
Bart., of Lyons Boking, Essex. By Sir Jolm,
the property was divided and sold, partly to

Benjamin Field, Esq., of London. Eventually
the principal portions of the estate and manor
were re-purchased and leased by the late

William Hawkins, Esq., of Colchester.

Ah-esford Hall stands at a sliort distance,

south-east, from the church. The river Itchen

runs through the parish.

MAEESFIELD PARK, in the co. of Sussex
;

the seat of Sir John VilHers Shelley, Bart.,
M.P.

This was formerly the residence of John
Newnham, Esq., whose daughter, Wilhehnina,
was married to Sir John Shelley, the 5th Bart.

Upon the death of Mr. Newnham, Sir John
succeeded to tlie estate, and immediately began
to enlarge and remodel the old house, which is

supposed to have been in King John's reign a

hunting-box of Ashdown Forest. His addi-

tions are equal in extent to the whole of the

original buildings, a hbrary of sixty feet in

length being amongst the most important of his

improvements. The style of its architecture

is EHzabethan, with a massive and antique air

that well accords with our notions of theolden
times. Its front has a soutli-western aspect,
and overlooks a richly-wooded country,
bounded by the chain of the South Downs,
whose finely-rounded siunmits are seen to

mucli advantage from this part of the Weald.
The family of Slielley is of high antiquity,

and contained many distinguished characters.

In the reigns of Mary and Elizabeth, we find

one of them English Grand Prior of the Order
of St. John of Jerusalem. Another of the

name, but less fortunate, joined Northumber-
land in his attempt to rescue the Scottish

Queen Mary from the hands of Elizabeth,
and shared in the disastrous consequences.

ASHTON COURT, in the co. of Somerset,
about three miles irom the city of Bristol

;
the

seat of the Smythe family.
In the reign of Henry VII., Sir John Choke,

the then owner of this property, sold the manor
of Long Ashton, and the advowson of the

chantry attached to it, to Sir Giles Daubeney,
Knight, whose son, Henry Daubeney, Earl of

Bridgewater, disposed of it in 1541,—towards
the end of Henry VIII. 's reign

—to Sir

Thomas Arundel, Knight. By this last-

named possessor, both the manor and advow-

son of the chantry of Long Ashton werc

finally sold in 1545, to John Smythe, Esq.,
with whose descendants the property still re-

mains. Originally, the Smythes were seated
at Aylburton, near Lidney, in the county of
Gloucester.

The mansion of Ashton Court is a fine old

structure, founded in the first instance by the

family ofLyons, who resided there, and whose
arms and devices may still be seen in the

building. It was, however, much improved
and modernized in 1634, by Inigo Jones, who
erected the front of the house, and intended
to have made it ojie uniform and regular edi-

fice. The length of this front is 143 feet,

situated on the south-east front of Ashton

Down, and commanding a noble prospect.
Below, it consists of three rooms, the western
one of which is a noble apartment, 93 feet

long, and 20 wide, containing several

family and other portraits. The back part of
the house still retains its original form, and is

very ancient. The court, leading to the park,
westward, is called the Castle Court, from its

having been embattled, and still retaining an
old gateway, similar to those adopted in

baronial mansions. In the second court are

some of the oflices, its entrance from without

being under a low doorway, between two

lofty turrets, one of which contains a bell and
clock. The stable and corresponding ofRces

in the front court are of ancient date, and
contrast in a pecuhar, yet picturesque, man-
ner with the finished elegance of the front,
and the quiet beauty of the svurrounding lawn.

DOLWILYM, in the parish of Llanclydwen,
00. Carmarthen. The old seat of the Protheroe

family, which was rather a curious specimen
of the domestic architecture, probably of tlie

16th century, was pidled down when the

present mansion, the seat of Wm. Protheroe,

Esq., was built. The possessors, of the name
of Protheroe, have taken the name in com-

pliance with the will of the late Evan Pro-

theroe, the last of the famUy, who resided

here. This race appears to have become

possessed of Dolwilym in the beginning of

the 17th century, when Rhydderch John

ap Rees married Agnes Lloyd, daughter of
David Lloyd ap Gruftydd Philip ap John of

Llanglydwen, gent. The Protheroes descend
from Cadivor, the great Lord of Blancuch,
who died in 1809. Their arms are—arg. a
lion rampt. guardant sa.

HENBLAS, in the co. of Anglesey, and

parish of Llangristiolus, about three miles

and a half from Llangcfni, and two from the

Bodorgan station
;

tlie seat of Charles Henry
Evans, Esq. At an early period, this estate

belonged to the Lloyds, a family not a little

illustrious in British chronicle. David Lloyd,
who was lineally descended from Roderick
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the Great, King of Wales and Man, a.d. 873,

married, in the sixteenth centviry, Catherine

Owen of Penmynydd, of which house, Owen
Tudor, great grandfather of Henry VII.,
was a younger son. He was succeeded in

the possession of Henhlas by his son, WiUiam,
who dying without male issue, his daughter
and heiress conveyed Henhlas, hy marriage,
to Dr. Robert Morgan, Bishop of Bangor,
Here, too, was born the celebrated Dr. W.
Lloyd, afterwards Bishop of St. Asaph,
one of the seven mitred prelates whom
King James II. committed to the Tower
for petitioning against his " Declaration of

Indulgence." Macaulay describes him as

being "a pious, honest, and learnedman;"
and Bishop Burnet, no incompetent judge in

such matters, pronounces him to have been
" one of t\ye greatest divines of the day."

Bishop Wilkins, too, used to say of him, that
" he had the most learning in ready cash of

any one he ever knew, for he was a walking
concordance of the Bible."

The name of Henblas itself vouches for

the antiquity of this mansion, without any
other documents

;
Hen-Blas signifying in

Welsh,
" the Old Place." The appearance

of even the present house would justify the

appellation. From a date over the doorway,
it would seem partially to have been rebuilt

as far back as the year 1625, or Httle more
than two centuries ago ;

but there are portions

evidently of a still more ancient date. It

stands, however, upon the site of an older

buihling, of which it may probably retain

many of the characteristics. In point of ar-

chitectm-e, as we now understand the term,
it does not deserve much notice

;
but it is

picturesque from age, and from the scenery
in which it is placed, having not a little of

that pecuhar interest which so often attaches

to structures of the ohlen times.

Mr. Evans is also the possessor of

TREFEILEIl, in the co. of Anglesey, and

parish of Tref-Draeth. The house was built

in the sixteenth century, and is an excellent

and convenient gentleman's residence, that

harmonizes well with the surrounding land-

scape. It was the early seat of the family,
before they acquired Hen-Blas by inter-

marrying with the Morgans, as already stated,

and PLASGWYN by an intermarriage with the

Rowlands. The learned author of " Mona

Antiqua," himself the grandson of Henry
Rowlands, D.D., Bishop of Bangor, was the

great-grandfather of the last respected and
benevolent possessor of that name, the Rev.

Henry Rowlands. Plasgwyn was lately re-

stored in the manor-house style of buikhng.
Much taste is disphiyed in its elevation and

arrangements, and it appears to be well pro-
vided with all the requisites for modern con-

venience. The grounds are well laid out, and

the paddock abounds in fine timber, with

noble views of Snowdon and Llanberris, as

well as the Snowdonian range of mountains.

CHADACRE HALL, in the co. of Suffolk
;

the seat of the Misses HaUifax.
This property at one time belonged to the

Plampins, and subsequently to the family of

the Fiskes. The present mansion is a new
structure, built near the site of the old house
inhabited by tlie Plampins. It has no claim

to be particularly noticed for extent or archi-

tecture, but it is neat and commodiovis, and
the country around is not without many scenes

of picturesque interest.

BALLYCLOUGH, in the co. of Cork
;

the

seat of James Barry, Esq., (McAdam,) who,
in 1841, filled the oftice of High SherifF of
this county.

This seat and estate appear to have come to

the family of Barry McAdam, of Lisnegar, ou
the marriage of Redmond Barry, in 1606, to

his second wife, Jane, daughter of Sir Nicholas

Purdon, Knight. The descendants, however,
of the Purdons stUI retain Ballyclough, near

Mallow, which was forfeited by the Barrys
(McRobinson).
The old house upon this estate was burnt

down long since, during the absence of the

family in France. Some years afterwards, a
new mansion was erected, at no great distance

from the site of the former one, by Major-
General Henry Green Barry. The present

building, which has somewhat of an ancient

appearance, faces south by east, with windows
to the ground, and opening into a garden.

Beyond this again is an undulating and well-

wooded lawn, with other grounds of some

extent, the ilex and lesser kinds of evergreens

growing here most luxuriantly. Through
the valley flows a small but picturesque stream,
and at no very great distauce is a chalybeate
spring, which was at one time in high repute,

though it is now neglected, and allowed to be
ovei'flown by a neighbouring brook.

QUEENSBEIIIIY VILLA, Richmond, Surrey ;

the seat of Sir John B. Dundas, Bart.

About this spot, and near the Royal palace,

Henry VII. erected, in 1499, a convent for

Observant Friars. It was, however, suppressed
in 1534, sharing the fate of other like estab-

lishments thatthe arbitrary fiat of Henry VIII,

consigned to destruction.

George, the third Earl of Cholmondeley, in

1708, obtained a lease of that portion of the
old Palace which faces the green, When
Viscount Malpas, he married Mary, daughter
of Sir Robert Walpole (afterwards first Earl of

Orford), and in the reign of Queen Anne,
he built the villa that formerly stood here near
the river, a building in the corrupt style of
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that period. The property was afterwards

leased to William Gardincr, Esq., from whom
it passed to the late Duke of Queeiisberry,

(William Douglas, fourth Duke) ;
and he,

dying in 1810, bequeathed the house and

premises to the Marchioness of Hertford.

The mansion, however, retained the nanie

acquired from his temporary possession of the

estate.

Upon the expiry of the lease, in 1831, Sir

William Dundas, Bart., obtained this property
from the Commissioners of Woods and Forests,
in exchange for certain lands—copyhold and
freehold—situated near tlie Kew and Mortlake
roads. At the same time, to equalize the

exchange, he gave somewhat more than

eighteen hundred pounds, in addition to the

lands just mentioned.
Sir William—who was the son of Sir David

Dundas, Sergeant-Surgeon to George III.—
having thus become master of tlie estate, set

about the erection of a new villain 1832, upon
a more elevated spot of ground, and farther

back from the river. It was in the Italian

style of architecture, but the grounds were in

part laid out after the old French fashion, with

teri-ace above terrace, clipped box liedges, and
walls with termini, and partly accordingto the

reformed English taste in gardening, which
allows the picturesque and natural to prevail
over the formal and artificial.

HOLMWOOD HOUSE, situated two miles from
the town of Dorking, in Surrey ;

late the

residence of Francis Seymour Larpent, Esq.,

Judge-Advocate-General to the Forces in

the Peninsula of Spain, under the late Duke
of Wellington.

This manorial residence, belonging, for life,

to Mrs. Larpent, the widow of F. S. Larpent,

Esq., is now the property of the Baron de

Hochepied Larpent. It is situated in the most
beautiful and picturesque part of the county of

Surrey, adjacent to Leith Hill and Hohiisdale,
amidst the extensive woods of the Duke of

Noi'folk, which reach as far as the Castle at

Arundel. Hohnwood House, enlarged and
rebuilt by Mrs. Larpent, was formerly a

warder's lodge, belonging to the Earls of

Arundel, whose extensive property in Surrey
and Sussex has been in their possession from
the period of the Norman Conquest.
Though now within an easy distance of the

metropolis, the Hobiisdale was considered so

remote, from its extensive woods and fastnesses,

that it might be considered impervious to

luunan footsteps. Hence the old adage, re-

corded on a rude stone—•

" TMs is Holmsdalc—never conquered, never shall."

Time and the progress of civilization, however,
have rendered the Hohnwood within easy dis-

tance of London
;
and the taste and spirit of

Mrs. Larpent, whilst preserving the ancient

form and character of the warder's lodge or

hunting-seat of the Earls of Arundel ofby-gone

ages, has contrived to unite the recollections

and reminiscences of distant and feudal ages
with all the conveniencies and agremens of

modern times.

A park-like common, of eight hundred acres,

suiTounds the mansion. A church on tlie hill

above, built and endowed by the exertions of

Mrs. Larpent, forms a pleasing object, while

the picturesque hills of Surrey on one side,

and the dense woods of the Duke of Norfolk

on the other, add a character of grandeur and

subUmity to the scene. Raih-oads to London,

Portsmoutli, Brighton, and Reading, swiftly

convey the traveller in all directions.

TKEWHITT HOUSE, in the parish of Roth-

bury, in tlie co. of Northumberland; the family
seat of Wm. Lynn Smart, Esq., is situate in

the centre of the estate, surrounded by planta-

tions, and commands an extensive view of

the Simonside, Harbottle, and Cheviot ranges.

ASHTON HALL, Lancashire, about three

miles south of tlie county capital ;
the seat

of the late Duke of Hamilton.

This estate was at one time possessed by
the Lawrences. The last male heir of this

line was Sir Robert Lawrence, Knight, wliose

co-heiress, Sibel, married Thomas Hesketli,

Esq., of Rufford. At length it passed to the

Hamilton family, by the marriage of James,
Earl of Arran, afterwards Duke of Hamilton,
with EHzabeth, daughter and sole heiress of

Digby, Lord Gerard, of Bromley. This Earl

of Arran was much distinguished during the

reigns of Charles II. andjames II., with both of

wliom he was in high favour, having many
offices conferred upon him, of profit as well

as honoin-. Amongst other proofs of Royal
favour, he was created Lord Lieutenant in

171G, Custos Rotulorum, and Ranger of the

Royal Forests, for the county of Lancaster.

In the same year he was made Admiral of the

Sea Coasts, and, subsequently, was sworn of

the privy council of Queen Anne. In the

year following, he was raised to the EngHsh
Peerage, by the title of the Duke of Brandon,
in the county of Suffolk. He did not, how-

ever, long enjoy this accumulation of honours
;

for in 1713, he foughthis celebratcd duel with

Lord Mohun, and was killed either by his

adversary, or by his adversary's second. Tlie

matter still scems to remain in doubt, although
the jury gave in a vcrdict of manshiughter

only' against General Macartney, the supposed
murderer.
The mansion, at Ashton, has many of the

characteristics of an ancient baronial castle.
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The towers are embattled, tho hall spacious,
and the fine old walls awake a tliousand asso-

ciations of the past in tlie niind of the

beholder. The site, too, is eminently favour-

able to this genei-al eftect. The buikling
stands in a fine park, through which winds a

small rivulet, that, after having formed a nar-

row bay at the western side of the grounds,
at length falls into the estuary of the Lune.

The park not only abounds in fine timber, but

is beautifully diversified with hill and vale,

some of its eminences commanding very grand
and extensive views across the river Lime, to

Morecombe Bay, the Irish sea, and other ob-

jects of more or less interest. To the east is

some very fine sylvan and park scenery. To
the south-west, and north-west, several grand
and interesting prospects present themselves,
of sea, river, headlands, and distant moun-
tains.

In the lapse of time, many improvements
have been made upon the original building ;

this has particularly been the case when oc-

cupied by its hist possessor,
—but all such

changes have been etFected with strict regard
to the ancient character of the edlfice, so that

to the eye it appears but little altered.

Many fine portraits, and other paintings,
are to be seen here, and some of them by the

old mastei-s. To name only a few of those

most worthy notice,
— Clelia escaping from the

Roman camp, by Raphael ;
a Head, by Rem-

brandt
;
a Boar-hunt, by Snyders ;

a large

Landscape, tvith figures, by Berghem ;
several

smallpictures, by Teniers
; Original Cartoons,

designed by Leonardo da Vinci for his picture
ofthe " Last Supper;" and family-portraits,

by Gainsborough, and others.

SOUTHWICK PARK, Hampshire ;
the seat

of Thomas Thistlethwayte, Esq.
There was, in early days, a priory of Black

Canons, much celebrated in chronicle, from

having been the scene of the marriage of

Henry VI. with Margaret of Anjou ;
the

original site of this institution was at Porches-

ter, in a buihling erected by Henry I., in

1133, from which place the conventual body
was removed to Southwick. At the dissohi-

tion of monasteries, these domains were

grantedby Henry VIII. toJohn White, Esq.,
and his wife Catherine, from whom they de-

scended by the female line to Cokniel Norton,
a distinguished officer upon the side of Par-

liament in the great civil war. Tlie last heir

male of this house, his grandson, Richard,
had the same devotion to the Republican
cause, but showed it in a much more ques-
tionable fsishion. Forgetting all the ties of

kindred, he bequeathed Southwick, as well as

all the rest of his extensive property, to the

Parliament of CTi-eat Britain, in trust, for the

use of "the poor, hungry, thirsty, naked,

strangers, sick, wounded, and prisoners, to

the end of the world." This will, however,
was set aside, upon thc plea of liis i.isanit}',

and the property, as in rcason it slioukl have

done, fell into the luuids of his relative, Francis

Thistlethwayte, Esq.
An old house used to stand here, in whicli

two kings had, at different times, becn entcr-

tained, and under very diiferent circumstances,—
namely, King Cliarles I., when lie was

accompanied by the Duke of Buckingham,
jnst before the assassination of the Latter by
Fekon

;
and also George I. It was a hu'ge

building of some antiquity, witli two wings
that terminated in gable ends, and em.battled.

This building, however, was pulled dowu in

1813, and a new house erected upon a differ-

ent site, in a more modern style. The view
from it is extensive, and presents an infinite

variety of objects ; Portsmouth, with its nohle

harbour, Spitliead, the Isle of VVight, tlie

British Channel, with nudtitudes of ships

sailing to and fro in all directions, &c., &c.

Tlie park attached to tlie mansion abounds
with game of every description. Through the

pleasure grounds winds a gentle stream, ad-

ding not a little to the p,eneral interest and

beauty of tlie home kandscape.

MOEETON CORBET, co. Salop, the ancient

seat of the Corbets, is situated in the parish of

the same name, and about eight miles nortli of

Siu-ewsbury.
This estate was originally possessed by tlie

family of Turet. Among tlie vcry few Saxon

gentry who retained any property in Slirop-

shii-e, after the Conquest, was one named
Turokl, or Turet. In the reign of Edward
tlie Conqueror he had hekl extensive estate.<3

in the coimty, and at the time of Domesday,
he was recorded to liave possessed, under Earl

Roger, thirteen manors, among tliem More-

ton, called aftervvards
" MoretonTuret." In

the reign of Plenry III. the estate came to

tlie Corbets, by the marriage of Sir Ricliard

Corbet, with Joan, daugliter and heiress of

Bartholomew Turet, of Moreton Turet, from
wliich time to the present Moreton has con-

tinued in tlie Corbet family, and for several

centuries has been distinguished by the name
of "Moreton Corbet."

The existing mansion was commenced by
Sir Richard Corbet, wlio dicd in 1600, and
was succeeded hy his brother, Vinccnt Corbc t,

who proceeded with the structure began by
his brother.

Mr. Corbetappears to have hcen, in conmion
with many of the most influental gentry of
his time, a favourer of the Puiitans

;
and when,

about the beginning of the reign of James I.,

the laws began to increase in severity against
that persecuted denomination, he extended
his protection towards an agcd neighbour of

tliat persuasion. At lengtli tlie niinistcrs of

Justice became so urgent in thcir pursuit,
E E
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that Mr. Corbct found himself under the ne-

cessity of witlidrawing the covuitenance he
had hitherto afibrded the okl nian, and leav-

ing him to the rigour of the law. The Puritan,

pei-liaps not the most equitable jvidge in the

case, considered himself hardly used by Mr.

Corbet, and, requesting an interview witli tliat

gentleman, previously to his being carried

away to be imprisoned in the castle of Shrews-

bury, instead of expressing any gratitude for

the patronage he had hitlierto aftbrded, re-

proached him with bitterness for a compliance
with the hiw, which it does not appear he had
the power of avoiding. Pointing to the walls

of the new mansion, on which the workmen
were then busily employed, he assumed the

tone and language of a prophet, exclaiming," Boast not thyself in thy wealth, or in the

stately mansion from which thou fondly

hopest so much satisfaction
;

it shall never be

inhabited, neither shall it be dwelt in from

generation to generation, but wild beasts of

tlie desert shall be there, and thy house shall

be full of doleful creatures." Perhaps when
our prophet surveyed the great extent of the

projected edifice, it might seem not very vm-

likely that Mr. Corbet would ultimately incvu-

the censvu-e of having neglected to sit down
first and covmt the cost.

Wliether the castle was ever completed
according to the proposed design is not clearly
ascertained

;
certain it is, however, that it was

garrisoned for the Parliament in 1644, and
sustained considerable damagein consequence.
It has not since that period been inhabited by
the family, but now presents a pile ofrviins,
which are by far the most pictvu-esque in this

part of the country. The walls are for the

most part standing
—

showing the extent and

style of the building
—but theroof is fallen in.

The ruins are preserved witli exemplary care

by the present worthy proprietor, Sir Andrew
Vincent Corbet, Bart., wlio resides at Acton

Reynold, about two miles distant.

PYE NEST, in the co. of York, (West

Riding), near Halifax
;

the seat of Henry
Edwards, Esq., a Justice of the Peace, and

Dcputy-Lievitenant for the West Riding, and
late Member of Parliament for Halifax.

This estate at one time belonged to the

Lees', of Willow Hall (near Halifax, in the

same county), and seems tohavebeenin tlieir

hands for a considerable period. From them
it at length passed to the Edwards', one of

whom acquired it by marriage with the

daughter and heiress of that family.
Tlie present mansion was built about a

century ago, by John Edwards, Escj., who
liad originally been seated in Warwickshire,
but who left tbat county for Yorkshire, in the

year 1749. He was the grandfather of the

gentleman now owning thcestate. Thc liouse

belongs to the Italian style of architecture,

and consists of a central building, with exten-

sive wings attachcd to it on either side. The
entire front is more than seventy-three yards
in length, the depth of the building from
north to south being no less than one hvmdred
and forty feet, an extent which gives to the

whole a fine and imposing appearance. There
is little attempt at ornament, the arcliitect

seeming to have trusted chiefly for his effects

to form and size.

Tlie park adjoins the house, and inchides

witliin a ring fence an area of one hundred
and thirty acres.

HALSNEAD PARK, Prescot, Lancashire
;
the

seat of Richard WiUis, Esq.
This property has been successively held

by the families of Pemberton and Tarbock,
now extinct

;
nor is it known by whom the

hovise was first built, thovigh the time of its

erection seems to be sutiiciently ascertained

by a date-stone, in one part of it, inscribed

1620.

Tlie north front was repaired and altered

from the Elizabetlian style in 1727; and a

large addition was made to tlie old house, with

a front of tlie Doric order, in 1790. This

handsome seat stands in the centre of a walled

park of considerable extent, and abounding
in fine timber.

GAINES HALL, Rutlandshire, in the parish
of Great Staughton ;

the seat of James Du-

berly, Esq.
This estate took its name from Baron En-

gaine, a family that came into Enghmd at the

time of the Norman Conquest, and which of

covn-se was enriclied at tlie expense of the

former Saxon possessors, as they themselves

had previously grown great by driving out

tlie aboriginal occupiers of the land—
«'Wcbut tcach

Bloody instructions, whicli, being- taiisht, return
To plasue the invcntor. This even-handed justice
Coninicnds the inKretUcnts of our poisou'd chalice

To our own lips."

After the Engaines this property was held

by the Broughtons, who remained in posses-
sion of it more than three hundred years. Then
it passed in succession to the Marchioness of

Winchester—to Sir Giles Wrougliton
—to Sir

Oliver Cromwell, otherwise Williams—to Sir

Tliomas Lake, by purchase in 1607—to the

Beverleys for three generations
—to H. Svuu-

nier, Esq.
—to General Handasyde and his

family for three generations
—and finally, in

1797, to James Duberly, Esq., with whose

family it still remains.

It is not known at what precise time the

old hovise was built; but it nuist have been

very ancient. In 1797 this venerable fabric

was cut in two by James Duberly, Esq.,

and the front rebuilt in tlie modeni style of



^





SEATS OF OUEAT BUITAIN. 211

architecture. It now presents the a])pearance
of a coinfortahle dwelling, well adapted to the

demands of life in tlie present day.

KIRKLEES, co. York; seat of Sir George
Annytage, Bart.

Kirklees Ahhey, situated in the woods be-

tween Halifax and Wakefield, in the deanery
of Pontefract, and archdeaconry of the West

Riding, was a Cistercian Nunnery, founded

in lionour of the Virgin Mary and St. James,

by Reynerus, a Fleming, ttniip. Henry II.,

and is celebrated as having been the final

resting-place of " bold Robin Hood."

" And tliere they buricd bold llobm Hood,
Near to the fair Kirkleys."

That famous outlaw, either from necessity or

choice, retired witla a chosen band to tlie

woods and forests, with whicli, especially in

the northern parts of the kingdom, immense
tracts were at that period covered. Of tliese

he cliiefiy fre^pxented Barnsdale, in York-

shire, and " merrie Slierwood," near Notting-
liam :

" The merry pranks he play'd, would ask an asre to toll,

And the adveutures strange that Kobin Hood beiWll."

At last, broken down by the infirmities of

age, and suffering from severe illness, he

applied for relief to his kinswoman, the

Prioress of Kirklees, celebrated for her skill

in medicine
;

but his confidence was mis-

placed. The holy lady opened a vein, and

treacherously allowed Robin Hood to bleed

to death. This event occurred 18th Novem-
ber, 1247, in the thirty-first year of the reign
of Henry III., and about the eighty-seventh
of the outIaw's age. He was buried vmder
some trees, at a short distance from Kirklees

Abbey, where a stone, supposed to cover his

grave, is still shown.
The founder of the Nunnery, Reynerus

Flandrensis, granted a charter, with the sanc-
tion of William, Earl of Warren, his superior
lord

;
and Henry III., not very long after,

gave a general confirmation of the endow-

ments, which appear to have been so small,
that Kirklees is not even mentioned in the
Taxation of Pope Nicholas IV. Shortly after

the dissolution of the jMonasteries, the site was

granted to John Tasbiu-gh, and Nicholas

Savill, and, in the reign of Elizabeth, passed
by purchase, from Robert Pilkington into the

possession of the family of Armytage, by the

representative of which, Sir George Army-
tage, Bart., it is still enjoyed.

STATFOLD HALL, in the co. of StafFord,

about two miles and a half from Tamworth,
and two miles from Thorpe Constantine

; tlic

seat of Stanley Pipe Wolferstan, Esq.
Sir Simon Degges, as quoted by Shaw,

tells us, Statfold, or Stotfold, is a place
famous for keeping of horses

;
which circuni-

stance, it is likely, gave name to this place,
for Stat, or Stade, signifies

"
littus," or " the

shore of a river, which does not answer this

situation." Awkwardly as this is expressed,
it in all likelihood conveys the truth.

At an early period Statfold was possessed

by the Stanleys, into which family one of the

Wolferstons married, and thus in all pro-

bability acquired the estate. There are, how-

ever, some difficult points in the transmission

of the property, upon which Shaw has ex-

pended nuich labour and acuteness, but with-

out arriving at any positive results. AU we
know for certain is, that the Wolferstons

have long been its possessors ;
for so the

name was originally spelt, till Francis VVoIfer-

ston, the friend of the antiquary and historian,

Dr. Plot, chose to alter it into Wolfers/aw,
"from a conceit of deriving the last syllable
from the Saxon language, to which origin he

might indeed have traced the two first,

Wolferston seeming clearly to be JVaIp7ier's-

town." He was also a poet and a barrister,

but more eminent in the latter capacity than

in tlie former, and, as his evil stars would have

it, sundry of his love-Ietters have remained
to testify against him. The wisest of men
have never failed to record their folly, wheu

they have taken to the writing of amatory

epistles ;
and certainly the worthy Francis,

whatever might be his talents as a lawyer,
forms no exception to the rule.

The mansion-house of Statfold was erected

most probably in the year 1.571, for connected

with it is a large stone dove-cot, over a door

of which is embossed, in characters of an
unusual size,

" Anno D'ni 1571." To the

house was added an octagon turret by the

Francis Wolferstan just mentioned, in or

about the year 1G66.

The grounds are well laid out, and hy no

means deficient in timber. "The more dis-

tant views," says Shaw, "are very agreeable ;

and though the place may be said to be in

the midst of a comparative fiat, between the

Peak and Wever northward, the hills of Can-
nock chase westward, the Leckhay in Wor-
cestershire south-west, and Charnwood Forest

in Leicestershire north-east, all of whicli

eininences rise here more or less above the

horizon; yet it so happens, through the

waving of the outline, &c., that not less than

about thirty-eight churches or chapels may
be distinguished at certain times and certain

hours of the day, from tlie above-mentioned

turret : fourteen in this county, two in Derby-
shire, nine in Leicestershire, eleven or twelve

in Warwickshire, and one in Worcestershire."

OSTERLEY PARK, in the co. of Middlesex
;

the seat of the Earl of Jersey.
In ld08, Osterley was bequeathed by thc
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then possessor, Hugh Denys, Esq., to the

prior and convent of Sheen, subject, however,
to certain conditions. Subsequently, and
under the like burthens, it was conveyed to

the Abbess and convent of Sion. Upon the

supprcssion of Monastei-ies, Osterley was

j^ranted by the king to Henry, Marquess of

Exeter, and reverting to the Crown upon his

attainder, it was given in 1557 to Augustus
Thaier. Between this period and 1570, it

came into the possession of Sir Thomas

Gresham; for it appears by the grant of

Heston, in that year, that Osterley was

ah-eady in his hands, and that the park had
tlien been lately enclosed. Having been thus

luiited, the manors have since passed through
the same hands.

Having enclosed the park at Osterley, Sir

Tliomas began to rebuild the manor-house
;

Init it was not completed until 1577. Norden
describes it as "a faire and stately buikling of

bricke It standeth in a parke by him also

impaled, well wooded, and garnished, with

manie faire ponds, which afForded not only
fish and fowle, as swanes, and other water-

fowle, but also great iise for milles, as paper-
milles, oyle-milles, and corne-milles, all of

whicii arenow decayed, a corne-mill excepted.
In the same parke was a very faire heronrie,
for tlie increase and preservation whereof
simdrie aUurements were devised and set up,
fallen all to ruine."

In 1578, Queen EHzabeth visited Osterley,
when she was magnificently entertained by
tlie wealthy

" mercliant-adventin-er of Lon-

don," who seems, from the anecdote related by
Fuller, to have been as shrewd a courtier as

he was a trader. " Her Majesty having given
it as her opinion, that tlie court before the

housc wouUl look better divided with a wall,

Sir Thonuis Gresham, in tlie night, sent for

workmen to London, who so speedily and

silently performed tlieir work, that before

morning the wall was finished, to the great

surprise of the Queen aud her com-tiers, one

of whom, however, observed that it was no
wonder tliat he who could build a change
sliould so soon change a buihling."* Another

wit, alludiiig to the difierences whicli were
known to prevail in the Gresham family, re-

niarked, that "
any house is more easily

divided than united."

We next find Sir Edward Coke living here.

Next, Geoi-ge, Earl of Desmond, wlio married

oue of the co-heiresses to the estate, made

Osterley his residence for several years. A
singular anecdote is told of tliis ccmple, and one

which is not likely to be soon repeated in tlie

annals of married life, husbands being mucli

more inclined to run away frvm their wives.

*
T.ysons, froni -nhnni tliis is tnknn, vcfeis to rullpr^s

"Worthlos," utiiicT tlu' liciul of MidiUfso; ; bul it upitlicr

occurs thcrc nor umlcr >'orfolli, tlie birth-iilacc ol Sir

Tliouias.

than to run away tvith them. Itoccurs in the

Letters and Despatches of Thomas Earl of

Strafforde, the writer being a Mr. Gerrard,
wlm tlius tells the anecdote to the Lord Deputy
(Lord Wentworth)—
"
Young Desmond, who married one of the

co-heiresses of Sir Miles Stanhope, came one

morning to York House, where liis wife liad

lived with the Ducliess during his two years'
absence beyond the seas, and hm-ried her

away, half undressed, much against her will,

into a coach, and so carried her away into

Leicestershire. At Brickhel he lodged, whcre

she, in the night, put herself into milk-maid's

cloaths, and had likely to have made her

escape, but was discovered. Mad Christian,
whom yotir lordship knovvs, said that my Lord
of Desmond was the first that ever she heard

of, that ran away with his own wife. Long
were they not away, btit tip they come again,

agreed, and jointly petition the king. In the

first place, he, tliat his Majesty would please
to mediate for him to the Dtichess of Bucking-
ham for lier pardon, having uncivilly and in a

barbarous fasliion, taken his wife otit of her

house. Then both humbly entreated his

Majesty, that they might both have tlieir

forttnte to live on, which is her lands, fifteen

htiudred potmds a year, which my Lord Den-

bigh and his lady kept from them, and wotild

allow tliem scarce five litmch-ed pound to live

on. Tliis, I hear, the king hath yielded unto,
for she was the king's ward."
The adventttre above narrated, occurred in

1635. Fotir years afterwards, she and the

Earl came to reside at Osterley, whcre she

bore him a ntimerous family. Upon their

quitting it, the hotise was inhabitcd by Sir

AVilliam Waller, the Parhamentary General,
till his deatli in 1668.

The next possessor of Osterley upon record,
was Dr. Barton, a great projector, but more
known as having ptibhshed a treatise (1696)
on the "

expediency of coining the itew

money Hgliter." This pamphlet was in

answer to one tipon tlic opposite side of tlie

qtiestion by the celebrated Locke. By him
the estate was mortgaged to Sir Thomas

Child, an opulent citizen, and stibseqtiently

passed to the Earl of Jersey, by his mar-

riage with the grand-datightcr of Robert

Chikl, Esq.
The greater portion of tlie okl strticturo

was ptiUed down by Francis Child, Esq.,
abotit the year 1760, when he rebuilt the

mansion as it now appears. In form, it is a

quadrangle, enck)sing a central arca, or cotirt.

The whole pile is one hundred and forty feet

in lengtli from east to west, and one hundred

and seventeen feet from north to south. At
eacli corner of the ancient buikling there

used to staiul a square turret, and these are

still preserved, but were cascd a few years

ago. Indecd, llic grouud phm of the okl
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building has been, in a great measuve, fol-

lowecl througliout the present edifice.

The niaterial of the buikling, with the ex-

ception of the portico and balustrade, is brick,

which may somewhat take from the imposing
etfect it would otherwise produce. Upon the

east, or principal front, where was fornierly
the square com-t, divided to please Elizabeth,

there is now a grand portico, composed of

twelve lonic cohnnns, that snpport an angular

pediment, the tympanum of which, together
with the rooiing of the portico, is richly orna-

mented. The entrance is by a noble flight of

steps, and the buikling finishes attop, in every

division, with a stone bakistrade.

The interior of this mansion was finished

under the direction of Robert Chikl, Esq., who
succeeded to the property iipon the death of

his brother Francis, in 1763. The principal

apartments are large, and well proportioned.
The great entrance-hall is adorned with stucco

work, and tlie staircase is embeUished with a

painting by llubens, representing the apotheo-
isis of William III., Prince of Orange. This

was brought from HoUand by Sir Francis

Chikl.

The gallery is 150 feet long, and contains

many vahiable pictures by the old masters.

Aniongst these we find the names of Rubens,

Vandyck, and Sir Peter Lely. A portrait of

Vandyck, by himself, is particularly worthy
of notice.

Thc Hbrary is fitted up with mucli taste, the

ceiling being ornamented with stucco, while

paintings are introduced in pannels upon the

sides and ends of the room. The nvmierous

and vakiable coUection of books is arranged
in cases, highly carved and ornamented.

The park comprises about 350 acres, nearly
in the centre of which stands the mansion. Two
broad sheets of water, and a quantity of fine

timber, relieve the otherwise flat and duU
character of the country, as seen beyond these

secluded limits. The gardens are extensive,
and at one time contained a menagerie, in

which were many rare and valuable birds.

FORT WILLIAM, co. Waterford, was built

in 1836, by tlie present proprietor, John Bowen
Gumbleton, Esq. Tlie mansion, which is en-

tirely constructed of cut freestone, was designed
in the gabled style of the Ekzabethan era, by
tlie kite Messrs. Paine of Cork.

The domain of Fort WiUiam originaUy
formed part of that of BaUygarron, otherwise

Castle Richard
; which, during the last century

and the earker part of the present, was the

principal residence of the Gumbleton family.
It is situated on the banks of the far-famed

Blackwater, which is here a broad, clear, and

brimming stream, enkvened with the frequent

passage of boats. Between sixty and seventy

years ago, a handsomc residcnce was erectcd

on the domain by WiUiani Gunibk'ton, Esq.,

uncle of the present proprietor, by whom it

was demokshed when the present house was

built. The site of the former edifice is marked

by a sundiaL There are many fine okl trees

here, principaUy beech
;
a waU leading to the

river is shaded by two venerable ranks of aged
beech trees, and the grounds are in general
weU wooded.

Mr. J. B. Gunibleton was Higk Skeriff of

tke comity Waterford in 1845.

Tke present keir male and senior repre-
sentative of the Gumbleton famUy, is Richard

John MaxweU Gumbkton, Esq.

GLENCAIilN ABBEY, formerly Castle Rich-

ard, co. Waterford, is the seat of Gervase

Parker Bushe, Esq., late Major in the army.
Its original name was BaUygarron. It for-

merly inckided the adjoining domain of Fort

Wilkam, and is stUl very extensive. The old

castle of BaUygarron was inhabited during the

eighteenth century, and the commencement of

the present, by the family of Gumbleton,
otherwise Gomeldon, a race of Kentish origin,

settled in Ii-eland from the time of Charks 11.

The castle was thrown down, and an edifice iii

the abbey style was begun by Richard Ed-

ward Gumbkton, between thirty and forty

years since. That gentleman died, in 1819,
when on his travels, in the island of Scio, in

the Archipelago, having bequeathed his estates

to his brother-in law, the late Henry Amyas
Bushe, Esq., of Kilfane, co. Kilkenny, uterine

nephew of the Riglit Hon. Henry Grattan.

Mr. Bushe completed the "Abbey," whick

contains some very handsome apartments.
Much of the ancient timber has, from time to

time, been feUed
;
but there stiU remains a

large number of stately ash, beech, and oak

trees.

The descent of the seat to the present owner
is as foUows :

—Richard Gumbkton, Esq., of

BaUygarron Castk, High SherifF of the co. of

Waterford in 1732, married, in 1704, Anne,

daughter of WaUis Warren, Esq., of Laragh,
ancestor of Sir Augustus Warren, of Warrens-

court, Bart. The son of this marriage, Rich-

ard Gumbleton, Esq., changed the name of

tlie place to Castle Richard. He married, in

1743, Ekzabetk, sister of WiUiam Conner,

Esq., of ConnorviUe, co. Cork. By tkis kidy
he had five sons, of whoni the eldest, Richard,
inherited Castle Richard

;
a portion of which

domain was given to the second son, WiUiain,
a barrister-at-kaw, and by him named Fort

Wilkam. Rickard Gumbieton, Esq.,married,
in 1776, a daugkter of HamiUon 0'Hara,
Esq., by wkom ke liad one son, Richard Ed-

ward, and three daughters ; Lavinia, wife of

Henry Amyas Bushe, Esq. ; Rebecca, wife of

Admiral Sir Tristram Ricketts, Bart., of Thc

Ehns, ClieUcnham ;
and Frances, who dicd

unmarried. Mr. H. A. Bushe becamc, as we
kave stated, the proprietor of Castle Richard,
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in 1819, under the wlll of his brother-in-law,
Mr. Ricliard Edvvard Gunibleton, who had
clianged the name of the seat to Glencairn
Abbey. He was succeeded at his decease by
his son, Major Gervase Parker Bushe. The
late Mr. Bushe was High SherifF of the county
Waterford in 1S2G; and the same office has
been filled by the present proprietor of Glen-
cairn.

STEATHFIELDSAYE, Hampshire, about
three miles and a half from Silchester

; the
seat of the Duke of Wellington.

Tliis estate anciently belonged to the family
of Say, by whose heiress it was conveyed in

marriage to Sir Nicholas Dabridgecourt, Knt.,
wlio was Sherifi"of Hampshire in tlie thirteenth

year of the reign of Richard II. In this

family it remained until tlie time of Cliarles I,,
when it was bought by Sir William Pitt, one
of whose descendants vvas raised to the peerage
in 177G, by the title of Lord Rivers. Strath,
more generally written and pronounced Strat,
by the English, alvvays implies a valley, or
level land, between tvvo hills, with a "river

running tlu-ough it. The word is likely to
have some affinity with the Anglo-Saxon,
Straet, though its meaning is so much more
extended. It is, however, generally considered
to be Ccltic

; and, perhaps, it is hardly neces-

sary to add that the final, Saij, is neither more
nor less than the name of the family of Say,
its possessors at an early period.

Strathlieldsaye House stands in an extensive,
well-timbered park, but upon rather a low site,
with the Loddon vvinding through it, and
dividing it into unequal parts, while here and
there the river expands into ornamental sheets
of vvater. The estate is in the extreme north
of the covmty, and extends for about a mile

along the margin of the larger patch of Wilts,
which here lies between the counties of Berks
and Hants. In breadth, upon an average, the

grounds extend a milc, while tlie length, from
north to south, is about a mile and a half.
On the eastern side, the scene is somewhat
diversified by the park-grounds rising up into

gentle eminences.
But Strathfieldsaye derives its chief claim

to notice from having been the residence of
the late Duke of Wellington

—the final con-

queror of Napoleon—to whom it was presented
by the nation for his brilliant military services.

Yet, according to the Duke's
()])enly avowed

estimate of the property, it could scarcely have
becn worth having.

"
It vvould have ruined,

"

hc used to say,
"
any man but myself."

OTTEESHAW PARK, in the co. of Surrcy,
between one and two miles south from Botley ;

the seat of Richard Crawshay, Esq.
In the monastic days, Ottershaw Park

extended into the two parishes of Chertsey

and Chobham, In 1540, we find it possessed
by John Bannister, a baron of the Exchequer,
and in the reign of Charles II., it had passed
into the Iiands of a yeoman-family called

Roake, one of whom conveyed the estate to
Lau Porter, the elder, of Woking, whose
daughter, Margaret, he had married in 1684.

By the last-named ovvner, it was sold to
Thomas Woodford, Esq., of Threadneedle
Street, London, whose son having inherited
the property by his bequest, disposed of it

to Thomas Sewell, Esq., a barrister of emi-
nence, who was aftervvards knighted and
created Master of the RoIIs. "HIs heir,
Thomas Bailey Heath Sewell, sold Ottershavv
to Edmund Boehm, Esq., upon whose failure
in business it was put up to auction in 1819,
Avhen the park vvas described as consisting of
"four hundred and thirty acres stocked vvith

deer, with
extensivepleasure-grounds, kitchen

and flower-gardens, sheets of water, and
plantations." Afterwards the estate passed
into the hands of Sir George Wood ;

but his

son, on coming into the property, sold that

part of the estate whereon the house stands,
to Richard Crawshay, Esq.

In 1761, Thomas Sevvell, the barrister,

already mentioned, pulled down the old

hoiise, and erected the present mansion upon
the higher ground. It is in the Italian style
of architecture. The entrance portico stands

upon the north side of the building, sup-
ported by Doric columns, with adouble flight
of steps leading upwards to the hall. The
library is forty feet long, and has at each
end ascreen of columns belonging to the
lonic order. It communicates vvith the

drawing-room, an elegant octagonal apartment
that measures tvventy-six feet and a-half at
either side, and has a circular dome for

ceiling. Along the south front stretches a
sort of balcony, or slated terrace, forming
part of a veranda, trellised with iron-work.
This terrace is also supported with iron
columns and cantalivers. Connected with it

are a green-house and conservatory, each of
which is about fifty-two feetin length, twenty-
four in width, and in height eighteen. The
kitclien and other otfices are placed
north of the house, and at a short distance
from it, but in a totally ditterent style of

architecture, forming a small Gothic pile,
like a monastery surmounted by a tower of
three stages. If, hovvever, this structure
does not harmonize with the rest of the

building, it is at least picturesque and fanciful,
while from the tovver inay be had an excellent
view of the adjoininglandscape, which isnot
the least interesting part of Surrey.
The surface of the park is beautifully

varied, and it contains much noble timber.
One of the lakes extends over more than
four acres, the strcam, which passes through,
it flowing castward to Durnford mills. An
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avenue of firs, neavly a mile in leiigth, leads

to the house, the ])ark on the Chertsey side

being entered by iron-gates, ornamented with

figured tablets in bas-reUef. On either side

of thenl are lodges handsomely faced with

stone, that were erected by Mr. Boehm.

LINLEY WOOD, co. StafFord; the seat of

James Stamford Caldwell, Esq., M.A. (Cam-
bridge), a Barrister-at-Law, inherited from
his father, James Caldwell, Esq., a Deputy-
Lieutenant and Magistrate for the county
of Staflfbrd, and for many years Recorder of

the Borough of Newcastle-under-Lyne.
The House is situated in the parish of

Audley, about six miles from Newcastle,
Staftbrdshire. It stands on an eminence,
embosomed in trees, and commands a very
fine and extensive view, over the Vale of

Cheshire, of the Peckforton Hills, and Beeston

Castle, and behind tliem ranges of Welsh
mountains—Dinas Bran (above Llangollen),
Moel Vamma, &c., and the summit of Snow-
don is distinctly seen in favourable weather
with the naked eye.

In the house are a few very good pictures

by Sir Peter Lely, Kneller, Vandyck, Jan-

sens, Mireveldt, &c.

THORNBUEY PARK, co. of Gloucester
;
seat

of Major Newman.
The view we give of this mansion (fully

described in our first series) is the front one,
and commands the distant objects of the

Gothic tower of Thornbury church, and one
of the towers of the castle adjoining.
The north-east view goes considerably

beyond Gloucester in the distance North ; it

has the Herefordshire and Monmouthshire
hills to the north, or north-west, and com-
mands a fine view of the woods of " East-

wood,
"

(Lord LiverpooVs) and also those far

more distant ones of " Hill
"

Court, the seat

of the late Sir H. Jenner Fust. The two
last-mentioned houses are two and four miles

from Major Newman's mansion.

COWLEY HOTJSE, in the coimty of Surrey,
and town of Chertsey ;

the seat of the Rev.
John Crosby Clark.

This estate first came into the faniily of the

present owner by purchase, having been bought

by his father, Richard Clark, Esq., who was
Lord Mayor of London in 1784-1785, and sub-

sequently Chamberlain of that city for many
years. Originally it was called the Porch

House, a name given to it from its having a

large outer porch, over which were rooms

projecting into the road, much to the incon-

venience of the passers-by. At a later period
it came into the possession of the poet Cowley,

and hence it acquired its modern appellation.
In front, undcr the window, was affixed a

phun tablet, upon which was inscribed the

Latin epitaph written by Cowley upon him-

self at the time of his residing here :
—

EpiTAPnnjM Vivi Auctoris.

nie, O viator, sub lare parvulo,
Couleius hic cst conditus, hic jacet ;

Defunctus liumani laboris

Sorte, supcrvacusque vita.

N^on indecora paiiperie nitcns.

Et non inerti nobilis otio

Vanoquc dilectis popello
Divitiis animosus hostis.

Possis ut illum dicere mortuum ;

En terra jam nunc quantula sulticit !

Exempta sit curis, viator,
Terra sit illa levis, pricare.

Hic sparge floros, sparge breves rosas,
ls'am vita gaudet mortua floribus

;

Hcrbifque odoratiscorona
Vatis adhuc cinerem caleiitem.

The last verse, in particular, is exceedingly
beautiful, but it defies translation. Even
Addison has failed in the attempt to do it

justice ;
and the version given by Brayley,

while it takes equal liberties with the original,
can hardly be said to possess the spirit of his

predecessor. There is, however, no disgrace
in failing, where success is an impossibility.
The porch in question was removed by Mr.

Clark soon after he had bought the estate.

At the same time, he placed the foUowing
words upon the exterior of the room in which
the poet had breathed his last :

—
" The Porch of this house, -which projected ten feet into

thehigh-way, -was talvcn down in the year 1786, forthe

safety and accommodation of the public.
"Here the last accents flowed from Cowley's tongue."

Cowley Hfiuse, which lias nothing very re-

markable in its appearance, stands in a street

called Guildford Street, facing a small piece
of water that runs through a grating from the

opposite grounds.

CASTLE EDEN, co. Durham
;

the seat of

Ilowland Burdon, Esq.
The manor of Castle Eden is twice men-

tioned, under the name of Joden or Yoden, be-

fore the Conquest, and was, soon after that

great event, the lordship and seat of Robert

de Brus. By charter, sans date, attested by
William de St. Barbara, Bishop of Durham,
Brus granted the Chapel ofEden to the Monks
of St. Cuthbert, with all tithes and parochial

dues,
"
excepting that when I, or my wife, or

my heirs, shall abide at Eden, my own chap-
lain shall sing mass in my own Chapel in my
Castle, and shall receive all the ofterings made

bymyself, my family, and my guests, hearing
mass." From this charter, the origin of the

Parochial Church of Eden may be fairly

deduced, and probably the name of Castle-

Eden from the manorial residence.
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At a niuch lator pcriod, Eustacc dc Eden
and William de Thorp occur <is hinded pro-

prietors in Castle Eden, and seven charters of

tlie latter to the Church of Durham, are re-

corded, which afFord to the antiquarian inves-

tipator an interesting description of a district

still wild and romantic, six centuries ago ;

—
the castle (of which the certain site cannot
now be traced, but which doubtless stood near
to the hill, the cliapel, and the Uike) towering
above dark ancient woods

;
the chapel ahnost

hid on t]\e edge of its little dene
;
and a few

huts huddled together for protection round
the mansion of their feudal lord

;
the dene and

the moor useless, except for the purpose of

firing, or of supplying thatch and timber for

the miserable cottages of the peasantry ;
and

the extent of moss and moor, wood, lake,
and waste, broken only by partial patches of

cidtivation. "
If," continues Surtees,

"
tlie

reader woukl people the scene, he has only to

conceive the feudal lord in chase of the stag,
with his train of half-naked serfs

;
or the

monks of Durham, with tlieir black hoods and

scapularies, wandering under cliffs, overslia-

dowed by giantyews, which
' cast anchor in the

rock,' or pealing their anthems in deep glens
amidst the noise of woods and waterfidls."

Tlie daughter and heiress of William de

Tliurp, the grandson of the granter of the

Charters, to which we have just referred,
married Adam de Seton, and was mother of

Ivo de Seton, who gave the whole manor of

Castle Eden to the Prior and Convent of

Guisborough,
" Manerium de Casteleden

quod est de feode Roberti de Brus." Thus,
tiiis lordship became church property, and
so continued till the dissohition of tlie monas-

teries, when Edward VI., in consideration of

£1,343 3s. 4d., granted the lands of Castle

Eden to Simon Welbury and Christopher
Moreland. The former seems eventually to

have enjoyed tlie whole manor, and by his

grandson, John Welbury, it was sold in 1614
to Sir Robert Carey, Kniglit, afterwards

created Earl of Monmouth. His Lordsliip,
the kinsman and especial favourite of Queen
Elizabeth, diedin 1G39, andwas succeeded by
his son Henry, second Earl, who died without

male issue in 16G1, when his honours expired.
His manor of Castle Eden became, not long
after, the property of Sir William Bromley,
K.B., of Bagington, and was sold by hisgreat

grandson, William Throckmorton Bromley,

Esq., in 1758, to Rowland Burdon, Esq., the

descendant of an ancient family settled at

Stockton-on-Tees, temp. Edward IV. "Mr.
Burdon," says the same local historian,

(Surtees,)
" found the estate, after a century

and a lialf of non-rcsident proprietors, waste

and muMiclosed, thc chapel in ruins, and not a

vestige reinaining of the mansion-house. Hc
encloscd aud improved the land, re-built the

church from the ground, and erected a man-

sion, not less remai"kable for the beanty of its

situation, than for the simple elegance of its

structure."

HOMME HOTJSE, Much-Marcle, co. Here-
ford

;
the seat of William Money-Kyrle, Esq.,

High Sheriffin 1853.

The manor of Much-Marcle, Great Marcle,
or Mai-cle Magna, was part of the barony of

the Lacies at the time of the Domesday
Survey ; afterwards, fallen to the Crown, it

was granted by Edward I. to Edmund Mor-

timer, and liis descendants inherited it till tlie

time of the last Roger Mortimer, Earl of

March, who demised it to the Walwayns.
Having, at a subsequent period, reverted to

the Crown, it was purchased in the reign of

Quecn Elizabeth, with the park royalties, &c.,

by William Smith, Esq., of the Middle

Temple, and re-sokl by him soon after to

Thomas Kyrle, Esq., whose descendants be-

came Baronets, and are now represented by
William Money-Kyrle, Esq.
Amongstthe various branches of this family

we find many remarkable characters. Pope's
" Man of Ross" is of the number. Another
was a distinguished oflicer under Cromwell,

holding the commission of captain of troopers,
a tolerably sure sign of his mihtary talents,

though, luiUickily for his reputation, his deeds

have been chiefly chronicled by liis enemies.
In tlie narrative of the plundering of Master
Swift's house at Goodrich, he is styled a strong-
hearted rebel. This Swift was the grandfather
of the celebrated Dean, who has told us the

stoiy ofhis ancestor's sufferings, and certainly
with no vvisli to diminisli either his merits, or

the misdoings of the enemy.
" This Thomas,"

says Swift,
" was distinguished by his cou-

rage, as well as his loyalty to King Charles I.,

and the sufferings he underwent for that

prince, more than any person of his condition

in England. Some liistorians of these times

relate several particulavs of what he acted, and
what hardships he underwent for the person
and cause of tliat blessed martyred prince.
He was phnidered by the Roundhcads six-and-

thirty times, some say above fifty. He en-

gaged his small estate, and gathcred all the

money he could gct, quilted it in his waist-

coat, got off to a town held for the King,
where, being asked by the governor, who knew
him well,

' what he could do for his Majesty ?'

Mr. Swift rcplied, 'he woidd give the King his

coat,' and stripping it off, presented it to the

governor, who, observing it to be worth little,

Mr. Swift said,
' Then take my waistcoat.'

He bid the governor weigh it in his hand, who

ordering it to be ripped, found it lined with

three hundred broad pieces of gold, which, as

it proved a seasonable relief, must be allowed

an extraordinary supply from a private clergy-
man with ten childrcn, of a small estate, so

often plundered."
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The conseqiience of all tliis supei-abundant
zeal was his beconiing particularly odious to the

Roundheads and Captain Kyrle. That officer

was near his house vvith a squadron of horse,
and made no scruple of exacting heavy con-

tributions from Mrs. Swift, who remained
behind in charge of her husband's property.
To return from this digression.
Homme House wasbuilt byThomas Kyrle,

Esq., at the end of Queen Elizabeth's reign.
The most noticeable feature in it is the old

drawing-room, with its wainscoting of carved
oak. Over the fire-place is a handsome coat
of arms, representing the arms of the first

baronet, Sir John Kyrle (1627), impaling
those of Scudamore, whose daughter and
heiress he married.

The architectural style of this mansion was

originally Elizabethan, with an old round
tower

;
it is now a brick building, and faced

with stone. Fi-om the terrace is a fine view of
the Malvern hills, that loom out nobly in the

distance, while the interveninglandscape isby
no means deficient in picturesque beauty.

CONINGSBURGH, co. York. Few of " the

Castles of England," can be traced to so

remote a period as Coningsburgh. Authentic
evidence can-ies the historical inquii-er to

Saxon times, and by the shadowy light of
tradition he may ascend even to the period
of the early Britons. A mound near the
castle is still pointed out as the tomb of

Hengist, the Saxon chief, who is recorded

by JefFery of Monmouth, to have been defeated
imder tlie walls of the fortress, by Aurelius

Ambrosius, King of Britain, and to have suf-

fered decapitation. Leaving, however, the
dubious ways of tradition, we find, from the
Norman Survey, that at the time of the Con-

quest, Coningsburgh was the head of a very
extensive fee, and that this fee, consolidated
in Saxon times, had belonged, under the

peaceful rule of the Confessor, to Earl Harold,
who subsequently ascended the throne, and
eventually fell at Hastings. By the Con-
queror, it was granted entire to Wilham de

Warren, husband of his daughter Gundred,
and in their descendants it remained, with one

slight interval, until the reign of Edward III.
We will not here enter on the history of the
illustrious house of Warren

;
suffice it to say,

that it was one of the most powerful, in peace
and in war, of the many that overawed the

kingly authority of the early Plantagenets.
At the decease, in 1347, of John de Warren,
eighth Earl of Surrey, without legitimate issue,

Coningsburgh fell to the Crown, and, within

seven-and-thirty days after, was settled on
Edmund of Langley, a younger son of the

King, Edward III. This prince, whom Har-

dyng describes as more addicted "tohimte,
and also to hawkeyng," than to the duties of
"thecouncell and the parlyament," held in

peculiar esteem his Yorkshire demesne, affbrd-

ing, as it did, unrivalled opportunities for

enjoying the sports of the field. He spent
there no small portion of his time, and his

name, consequently, appears less frequently
than those of his brothers in the public aflfairs

of the reigns of Edward and Richard. By his

father he was created Earl of Cambridge, and

by his nephew, the second Richard, advanced
to the Dukedom of York. He married one
of the two daughters and co-heirs of Peter the

Cruel, King of Castile and Leon, and brought
his Spanish bride to Coningsburgh, where she

constantly resided, and where she gave birth

to her second son, Richard, who, according
to the fashion of the Plantagenets, was sur-

named " of Coningsburgh," from tlie place of
his nativity. This prince married the Lady
Anne Mortimer, daughter of Roger, Earl of

March, and, great-grand-daughter of Lionel,
Duke of Clarence, and thus brought to the

House of York the claim to the Crown, which

originated the Wars of the Roses. This alli-

ance with the discontented family ofMortimer,

may have probably estranged the Earl of

Cambridge from his allegiance, and have led

him into the conspiracy which cost him his

life
;

he was beheaded in 1415, leaving his

widow (Maud Clifford, a lady whom he had

espoused after the death of his first wife,
Anne Mortimer) in possession of Conings-

burgh. The Countess of Carabridge, in her

long widowhood, for she lived till 1446,
resided much in Yorkshire, and had many
transactions with the families around. At her

decease, her step-son, Richard Plantagenet,
Duke of York, succeeded to the great estates

of his father, and not long after asserted his

right to the diadem of England. The contest

that ensued is too well known to need more
than a passing word : at the battle of Wake-
field, fought within a short distance of the

Castle of Coningsburgh, Richard, Duke of

York, met his death, leaving his son, Edward,
Earl of March, the inheritor of his claim and
his spirit. The next year occurred the great
battle of Towton, in which the White Rose

triumphed, and the Earl ascended the throne

as Edward IV. The Lords of Coningsburgh
thus became Kings of England, and so con-

tinued until the castle and demesne lands were

granted, by patent, by Queen EHzabeth, to

her kinsman, Henry Cary, Lord Hunsdon. In
the interval, however, this princely residence

was almost utterly deserted
;
and the gradual

decay of the buildings which formed the resi-

dence of the Warrens, and the early princes
of the housQlfof York, may be dated from this

era. With the Carys, Coningsburgh remained
for about a century. Their eventual heiress,

Lady Mary Cary, only child of John Cary,
Lord Hunsdon and Earl of Dover, married

William Ileveningham, Esq., of Hevening-
ham, in Sussex, one of King Charles's judges,

F F
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and died immensely rich in 169G, when her

propei'ty descended to lier grand-daughter and

heiress, Cary Newton, who wedded Edward

Coke, Esq., of Holkham, in Norfolk, and had
three sons and two daughters. The eldest of

the former was Thomas Coke, created Earl of

Leicester, in 1744
;
and the second, Edward

Coke, Esq., of Longford, co. Derby, who suc-

ceeded to Coningsburgh, and died in the prime of

life, A.D. 1733. In pursuance of thedirections

contained in his will, his Yoi-kshire estates

were sold in 1737, and became the property
of Thomas, fourth Duke of Leeds, one of

whose principal seats, Kiveton, formed an

ancient member of the Soke of Coningsburgh.
Sir Walter Scott, in his exquisite romance of

Ivanhoe, has thrown the halo of his genius
over this celebrated fortress :

" There are,"

says the Poet of the North,
" few more beau-

tifiil or striking scenes in England, than are

presented by the vicinity of this ancient for-

tress. The soft and gentle river Don sweeps

through an amphitheatre, in which cultivation

is richly blended with woodland, and on a

mount, ascending from the river, well defended

by walls and ditches, rises this ancient edifice,

which, as its Saxon name implies, was, pre-
vious to the Conquest, a royal residence of the

Kings of England. The outer walls have pro-

bably been added by the Normans, but the

inner keep bears token of very great antiquity.
It is situated on a mount, at one angle of the

inner court, and forms a complete circle of

perhaps twenty-five feet in diameter. The
Avall is of immense thickness, and is propped
or defended by six huge external buttresses,

which project from the circle and rise up
against the sides of the tower, as if to

strengthen or to support it. These massive

buttresses are hollowed out towards the top,
and terminate in a sort of turrets, communi-

cating witli the interior of the keep itself. The
distant appearance of this huge building, with

these singular accompaniments, is as inte-

resting to the lovers of the picturesque, as the

interior of the castle is to the eager antiquary,
whose imagination it carries back to the days
of the Heptarchy. A burrow in the vicinity
of the castle is pointed out as the tomb of the

memorable Hengist : and various monuments
of great antiquity and curiosity are shown in

the neighbouring churchyard."

DEEPDENE, near Dorking, in the co. of

Surrey ;
tlie seat of Henry Thomas Hope,

Esq., a magistrate for Gloucestershire and

Snrrey, and Litcly Member of Parliament for

tl>e city of Gloucester.

This place has evidently derived its name
from the Anglo-Saxon

—
deop-dene

—a deep
hollow, which name applies with strict signili-

cance to the more ancient part of the estate.

For some centuries Deepdene formed a part
of an extensive pvoperty belonging to the

Howards, and as such it is mentioned both by
Aubrey and by Evelyn. The former observes,
in his usual quaint langiiage,

" Near this place

(Dorking) the Honourable Charles Howard,
of Norfolk, hath very ingeniously contrived a

long Hope— i.e., according to Virgil, Deditc-
tus VaUts—in the most pleasant and delightful
solitude for house, gardens, orchards, boscages,
&c., that I have seen in England. Itdeserves
a poem, and was a subject worthy of Mr.

Cowley's muse. The true name of this Hope
*

is Dibdeji, quasi Deep Dene.
" Mr. Howard hath cast this Hope into the

form of a theatre, on the sides whereof he hath
made several narrow walks like the seats of
a theatre, one above another, above six in

ninnber, done with a plough, which are bor-

dered with thyme, and some cherry-trees,

myrtles, &c. There was a greatmany orange-
trees and syringas, which were then in flower.

In this garden are twenty-one sorts of thyme.
The pit, as I may call

it,
is stored full of rare

flowers, and choice plants. He hath there

two pretty lads, his gardeners, who wonder-

fully delight in their occiipation, and this

lovely solitude, and do enjoy themselves so

innocently in that pleasant corner, as if they
were out of this troublesome world, and seem
to live as in the state of innocency.

" In the hill on the left hand, being sandy
ground, is a cave digged, thirty-six paces long,
four broad, and five yards high ;

and at about
two-thirds of tlie hill (where the crook, or

bowing, is), he hath dug another subterranean

walk or passage, to be pierced through the

hill
; through which, as through a tube, you

have the vista over all the south part of Surrey
and Sussex to the sea. The south side of this

hill is converted into a vineyard of many acres

of ground, which faceth the south and south-

west. The vaulthig, or upper part, of those

caves are not made semi-circular, but para-
bolical, which is the strongest figure for bear-

ing, and which sandy ground naturally falls

into, and then stands. And thus we may see

that the conies (by instinct of nature) make
their holes so. Here are caves for beer, &c.

" On the west side of this garden is a little

building, which is (as I remember) divided

into a laboratory, and a neat oratory, by Mr.
Howard. Above the hill, on this west side,

is a thicket of black chen-y-trees, with those

walks, and the ground abounds with straw-

berries. The house was not made for gran-
deur, but retirement—a noble hermitage

—
neat, elegant, and suitable to the modesty and
solitude of the proprietor, a Christian jjhilo-

sopher, who, in this iron age, lives up to that

of the primitive times. Here Mr. Newman
(his steward) gave me a very civil entertain-

* " A Hope," says the author of A Picturesqiic Pro-
mfnade round Dorking,

"
is thc side of a liill, or low

ground undcr hills."
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ment, according to his master's order
; where

the pleasure of the garden, &c., were so ravish-

ing tliat I can never expect any enjoyment
beyond it but the kingdom of heaven. It is

an agreeable surprise here to the stranger that

neither house nor garden can be discovered

till you come just to it, as if it squatted down
to hide itself.

" Here are no ornaments of statuary or

carver
;
but the beauty of the design and

topiary speaks for itself, and needs no addition

out of the quarries. In sliort, it is an epi-
tome of Paradise, and the Garden of Eden
seems well imitated here."

The passage through the hill, mentioned by
Aubrey, in his pleasant gossip, was never com-

pleted, owing to an accident. The labourers

employed upon it had carried on their mines
from both ends to a considerable way, the

intention being that they should meet in the

centre. Before, however, they could accom-

plish their task, the earth, for want of proper

support, fell in at one side, and the design was
then abandoned. Luckily for the miners, they
had gone away to breakfast.

It was in this quiet retreat, for which his

taste had done so much, that Mr. Charles

Howard spent many happy years of his life,

employed in the cahn pursuits of philosophy
and science. Chemistry was above all his

favourite occupation,
" for the more commo-

dious prosecution of which he erected labora-

tories
;
and in subterraneous grots, formed for

that purpose, had furnaces of difterent kinds,
the flues of which, in some places, are yet to

beseen." He died in 1714, and wasburied in

the church at Dorking. Long afterwards, in

1792, the following tribute to his memory,
written by Lady BmTell, was inscribed upon a

tablet, which was placed against a wall forming

part of the laboratory in the original garden.
" This votive tablet is inscribed to the me-

mory of the Honom-able Charles Howard, vvho

built an oratory and laboratory on this spot.
He died at the Deepdene, 1714.

"If worth, if learning shonld with fame be crowned,
If to supcrior talents fame be diie—

Let Howard's virtue consccrate the ground
Where once the fairest flowers of science grew.

Within tliis calm retreat th' illustrious sage
Was wont his grateful orisons to pay ;

Here he perused the legendary page,
Here gave to Chemistry the fleeting day.

Cold to ambition, far from Courts removed,
Thout;h qualitied to fill the statesnian's part,

He studied Nature in the paths he loved,
Peace in his thoughts, and virtue in his heart.

Soft may the breeze sigh through the ivy boughs
'Ihat "shade this humble record of his worth ;

Here may the robiu undisturbed repose,
And fragrant flowers adorn the hallowed earth."

The second son of this philosopher even-

tually inherited Deepdene upon the decease of

his brother without issue, and succeeded also

to all the honours of his family by the death

of Edward, ninth Duke of Norfolk, in 1777.

He had much the same tastes and habits as

his father, and, delighted with the quiet secki-

sion of the Deepdene, pulled down the old

house, and erected the present handsome man-
sion upon its site.

In 1791, the son and heir of this last-

named possessor sold the estate to Sir Charles

Burrell, Bart.
; upon the death of whose

widow, in 1808, it was again disposed of, and
this time to Thomas Hope, Esq., the nephew
of an opulent Amsterdam banker, but yet
more generally known by his writings, and

jDrincipally by the beautiful romance of Anas-
tasius. The Hopes, of Amsterdam, descended
from a younger son of Sir Thomas Hope, of

Kerse, who was second son of Sir John Hope,
of Hopetoun.
The ground-plot of this mansion isirregular.

The south-eastern front, which was built by
the present owner a few years ago, belongs
to the Italian style of architecture

;
but the

principal part was erected by Mr. Thomas

Hope, at a period considerably anterior.

The house contains many rooms, beautifully
decorated, but of which the decorations, not-

withstanding, form the least attractive por-
tion

;
for here are to be seen in profusion,

books, paintings, sculptures, and engravings.
The mere catalogue of them, without any
attempt at description, would occupy several

pages, and still leave the curiosity of the

reader unsatisfied.

The Deepdene estate has been greatly

enlarged by the annexation of the Chart
Park and Betchworth properties. It is now
nearly twelve miles in circumference, and
embraces a great diversity of surface, forming
the most beautiful and vai'ied landscapes.
The dale, or dene, from which the estate

derives its appellation, begins on the north-

east side of the mansion, and is, united with
the amphitheatrical ascent that leads to the

teiTace above, a hundred aud eighty yards in

length, skirted by a double line of beeches.
The path, in its central part, runs through a

flower-garden, and thence across the lawn to

several flights of steps, at the top of w-hich is

a Doric temple. Upon the pediment of this

building is inscribed, Fratri Ojjfvmo, H.P.H. ;

and on either side of it is a seat, commanding
a picturesque and extensive prospect.

Chart Park, which we have mentioned as

now being annexed to the estate, contains

many noble trees, of difterent kinds, and of
unusual dimensions. Betchworth also presents
some exceedingly fine specimens, amongst
which the chestnut-trees deserve more par-

ticularly to be noticed. But we must refer

those who wish to become more minutely
acquainted with this part of Surrey, to "A
Picturesque Promenade round Dorking," by
John Timbs, second Edition. In this charming
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work, scene after scene passes before the very
eyes of the reader, so vivid and picturesque
are the details, ahnost as present to the sight
as they would be in one of StanfieWs moving
dioranias.

FLINTHAM HALL, in tlie co. of Notts,
about six niiles and a half from the town of

Newark
;
the seat of Thomas B. Thoroton

Hildyard, Esq.
This manor was held in the latter end of

the reign of Henry III., and the beginning
of Edward I., by Sir John de Hose, or

Hussey. In the time of Queen Elizabeth,
we find the family seated at Flintham Hall,
which was afterwards possessed by Hacker
and Woodhouse, from whom it came to the

family of Disney. At a still later period it

was the property of the Thorotons, to which

family belongs the historian of the county.
The present mansion is a modern building,

erected on the site of an older house, that

had belonged to the Husseys since the reign
of Edward III. It stands on the road from

Bingham to Newark, and is a very handsome
edifice.

FOX HILLS, in the co. of Surrey ;
the seat

of John Ivatt Briscoe, Esq.
This mansion is a modern building, erected

by the present owner of the estate. It is in

the Elizabethan style of architecture, con-

stracted of SufFolk bricks and Bath stone.

Over the principal entrance is cut oiit upon
the stone, in Old English characters,

" Peace
be to this house."

Tlie grounds are laid out with much taste,

but are perhaps capable of yet farther im-

provement, under the hands of a man of

inventive genius. The views around are

pleasing and extensive, though, like the rest

of Surrey, they present nothing grand or

imposing.

FOXDENTON HALL, co. Palatine of Lan-
caster

;
the seat of the Iladclyffes. How

the very name of that historic fiimily carries

us back to far distant tinies, and a period
antecedent to the Norman Conqucst !

Radclytfe Tower was long the seat of their

ancestors, from whom descended a stock
of right hiyal, gallant, and gifted scions, well

worthy of their Saxon sires. It is a name
which rcllects more renown on its ancestral

titles of Fitzwalter, Sussex, and Derwentwater,
than ever title added honour to a name

;
while

the pi-oud, yet siniple motto,
"
Caen, Cressie,

Cahiis," tells how the bold and chivah-ous

ancestor of the owners of Foxdenton fouglit
for his sovcreign, and acquired undying fame
on thosctlu-ee stricken fiekls !

On tlie eastern side of tlie Irwell, not far

distant from Bury in Lancashire, rises a bokl

clifF of red rock, opposite to a village of de-

cidedly Saxon origin, which from thence was
called Red or Radclyffe ;

and this parish,

doubtless, before it was possessed by the

Earls of Chester, gave its name to the family
of which we are speaking.

Indeed, from a very remote period, we can
trace the Radclyffes as resident in the Pa-
latinate of Lancaster, and tndy it were difficidt

to point out a family more distingiushed. An
unbroken male descent frorti a period nearly
coeval with, if not previous to the Conquest ;

their intermarriages with some of the noblest

families of Britain
;
their deeds of valour on

the battle-field
;
their wisdom in the council

chamber, sufficiently attest their antiquity
and importance ;

whilst the mere record of

their dignities, proves the high rank they en-

joyed. The house of Radclyffe produced
fourteen Earls^ one Viscount, five Barons,
seven Knightsofthe Gartei', one Lord-Deputy
of Ireland, two Ambassadors, several Ban-
nerets and Knights of the Bath, along with

many Privy Councillors, Warriors and States-

men. The foundations of the extraordinary
greatness of this family were laid by Sir

Richard de Radclyfte, of Radclyffe Tower.
He was seneschal and minister of the royal
forests of Blackburnshire, and accompanied
King Edward I. to his wars and victories in

Scotland
;

and m the thirty-second year
of that prince's reign (a.d. 1302), obtained
from his royal master the grant of a charter

of free warren and free chase in all his de-

mesne lands of Radclyffe, Ordshall, &c. Of
his sons by his first wife, who was a daughter
of Boteler, Baron of Warrington, Sir John

Radclyffe, the younger, was progenitor of the

Radclyffes, of Foxdenton
;

while the elder,
Sir William, usually styled

" the great Wil-

liam," ofCuIceth and Edg\vorth,andafterwards
of Radclyffe Tower, by his marriage with

Margaret de Culceth, was ancestor of the

RadcIyfFes, Barons of Fitzwalter, and Earls of

Sussex.

Sir John RadcIyfFe, Knight of Ordshall, or

Odershall, whom we have mentioned above,
married the Lady Joan Holland, sister of

Thomas, Earl of Kent, and was Member of

Parliament for the county of Lancaster in

the fourteenth year of Edward III., under
whom he served in the French wars, and

distinguished himself particularly at Caen,
Cressie, and Calais, from which circumstance
and period, this family have since borne those

three nanies astheirhereditary motto. He left

an only son, Richard Radclyfte, callcd "/e

puigne," who, in the fourth year of Richard
II. (1381), was drowned in the Rosendale ;

he held for upwards of twenty years the

same important oftice which his grandfather
had previously fillcd—the stewardship of

Blackburnshire ; and by his inarriage with

Matilda, only child of Legh of Booths, in
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Chesliire, acqviired the estates, and quartered
the arms of that family, He was succeeded

by his only son, Sir John, who married into

the ancient and Knightly family of TrafFord

of TrafFord, and died in 1421. The great-

grandson of this Sir John, by his union with

Elizabeth, daughter and co-heiress of John

RadclyfFe, Esq., of Catherton and Foxdenton;

brought the latter estates for the jirst time

into this branch of the family.
Our allotted limits compel us to pass

without particular notice Sir John Radclyife,

Knight, Alexander RadclyfFe, Esq., and
William RadclyfFe,Esq., the successive owners
of Ordshall. Sir Alexander, grandson and
successor of the last mentioned William, who
died May 15th, 1498, served the ofHce of

High SherifFfor the county Palatine, in 1547,

and, at his decease in the following year, left,

by his wife Alice, daughter of Sir John Booth,
of Barton, county Lancashire, along with
other issue, a son and heir, Sir William Rad-

clyfFe, of Ordshall, Knight, on whom, and
the heirs male of his body, were settled the

Fitzwalter estates, on failure of divers re-

mainders, mentioned in thewill ofhisrelative,

Henry RadclyfFe, second Earl of Sussex, who
died in 1556.

Sir William, by his first marriage with

Margaret, daughter of Sir Edmond TrafFord,
of TrafFord, left tlrree sons

;
the eldest died

without issue, only a few weeks before his

father
;
and the youngest, by his vniion with

tlie heiress of Foxdenton, brought that estate

for the second time into the direct line of suc-

cession. The second son, Sir John RadclyfFe,
ofOrdshall, Knight, succeeded his father, and
married Anne, only daughter and heiress of

Thomas Ashawe, of Hall on the Hill, in Higli
Charnock, Lancashire

;
he had five sons, all of

whom died on the battle-field, bravely fight-

ing for their sovereign ;
the eldest, Sir Alex-

ander, as well as his next brother, William,
both fell in the wars in Ireland, unmarried,
the elder in 1599, the second in 1598, at

Blackwater, fighting against Hugh, Earl of

Tyrone : while the fourth and fifth sons, Ed-
mund and Thomas, were both killed in battle

in French Flanders, in 1599. The represen-
tation of this ancient family, and the succes-

sion to the estates, thus devolved upon the
third brother, Sir John RadclyfFe, whose

sister, Margaret RadclytFe, was favourite Maid
ofHonourto Queen Elizabeth. She died at

Richmond, on the lOth of November, 1599,
of grief for the loss of her brothers, and was,

by the Queen's command, buried as a lady,
in St. Margarefs, Westminster, on the 22nd
of the same nionth. Her father died at Ord-

shall, and was interred with his ancestors in

the choir of the collegiate, now the cathe-

dral, cluu-ch of Manchester, on the llth of

February, 1589.

His third son, Sir John RadclyfFe, who, on

the decease of his eldest brother, succeeded

to the representation of the family at the age
of eighteen, married Alice, eldest daugliter of

of Sir John Byron, Kt,, of Newstead Abbey,
Notts

;
and following the gallant example of

his family, he fell in the attack on the Isle of

Rhee, oft" the coast of France, on the 29th of

October, 1627, and was succeeded by his only
son, Sir Alexander RadclyfFe, of Ordshall,

Knightof the Bath, direct ancestor of the pre-
sent Robert Radclyfte, Esq., of Foxdenton
HaU.
Turn we now to the descendants of the

" Great William" of Culceth, eldest son of

Sir Richard de RadclifFe, of RadclyfFe Tower.
In the year 1420, being the seventh Henry
V., we find his great-grandson, Sir John Rad-

clyfte, Kt., Govei"nor of Acquitaine, and in

the first year of Henry VI., Seneschal of the

same duchy ;
in the fourth year of the same

reign, he hadagrant ofthe wardship ofRalph
Neville, Earl of Westmoreland and Lord of

Middleham, and seven years afterwards, all

the revenues of the crown issuing out of the

counties of Carnarvon and Merioneth, and the

Lordships of Chirk and Chirkland, were as-

signed to him to liquidate an arrear of service

money amounting to £7,929, an enormous
sum in those days. The eminent soldier,
who was a Knight Banneret, and Knight of

the Garter, married Elizabeth, only daughter
and heiress of Walter Fitzwalter, last Baron
of Fitzwalter of that family, and was suc-

ceeded by his son, Sir John RadclyfFe, who,
in the first year of Henry VII., being then
Steward of the king's household, was sum-
moned to Parliament as Baron Fitzwalter, in

right of.-his mother. He was subsequently
appointed Chief Justice of all the forests be-

yond the Trent, and at the Coronation of

Elizabeth of York, l^ing Henry's consort,
was associated with Jaspar Tudor, Duke of

Bedford, to perform the duties of High Stew-
ard of England ;

but subsequently, engaging
in the war on behalf of Perkin Warbeck, he
sufFered attainder and death at Calais, when
the Barony of Fitzwalter became forfeited.

But his son, Robert RadclyfFe, a great
favourite of Henry VII., was restored in blood
and honours, by Act of Parliament, in the
first yearof Henry VIII., and becamesecond
Baron Fitzwalter of the RadclyfFe family ;

four

years after he accompanied the King in liis

great expedition to Tournay ;
and ten years

subsequently commanded the van of the army
sent into France under the Earl of Suri-ey;
for these eminent services, he was created,

July 18, 1525, ViscountFitzwalter, by letters

patent ;
in 1529, his lordship, along with other

peers, subscribed the articles against Cardinal

Wolsey ;
after which he was made a Knight of

the Garter, and on the 28th December, in the
same year, was elevated to the Earldom of
Sussex : the foUowing year we find his name
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among the peers wlio signed the remonstrance
to Pope Clement VII., about the King's
divorce from Catherine of Arragon ;

and in

1532 he attended Henry into France, after

which he was constituted l^ord High Cham-
berlain of England, onthe attainder ofThomas

Croniwell, Earl of Essex. In addition to all

the honours we have recorded, his Lordship
was a considerable participator in the spolia-
tion of the church. He maiTied first, the

Lady EHzabeth, daughter of Henry, Duke of

Buckingham ; secondly, Lady Margaret Stan-

ley, daughter of Thomas, Earl of Derby ;
and

thirdly, Mary, daughter of Sir John Arundel,
of Lanherne, in Cornwall.

The Earl died in 1542, and was succeeded

by his eklest son, Sir Henry Radclyffe, K.B.,
who commanded 1,G00 demi-lances in the

expedition into Scotland, in the first year of

Edward VI., and narrowly escaped with his

life. He was one of the first who, on the

death of that monarch, declared for his sister

Mary, and was in consequence, soon after

her accession, appointed by that Queen,
Warden and Chief Justice of all the

royal forests south of the Trent, and was also

made a Knight of the Garter. His Lordship
married first, tlie Lady Ehzabeth Howard,
daughter of Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, and

secondly, Anne, daughter of Sir Philip Cal-

thorpe, Kt., from whom he was subsequently
divorced. At his death, Feb. 17th, 1556,
the Earldom and other honours devolved on

his eldest son, Sir Thomas RadclyfTe. This

eminent nobleman, during the lifetime of his

father, was sent ambassador by Queen Mary
to the Emperor Charles V., to treat of the

marriage between herself and Prince Philip,
his eldest son, afterwards King of Spain ;

and
he subsequently proceeded to the Prince him-

self, at the Court of Spain, to obtain a ratifi-

cation of the treaty. In the second year of

PhiHp and Mary, Sir Thomas Radclyffe was

appointed Lord-Deputy of Ireland, and soon

after his father's decease, succeeded him as

Chief Justice of the royal forests south of the

Trent. A few years afterwards, we find the

Earl a Knight of the Garter, and Captain of

the Pensioners; on the accession of Elizabeth,
he was continued in the government of Ire-

land, and in the third year of her reign,
elevated to the rank of Lord-Lieutenant of

that kingdom. Six years afterwards, he had
the honour of bearing the order of the Garter

to the Emperor MaximiUan, and was sub-

sequently employed in negotiating a matri-

nionial alUance between his royal mistress and
the Archduke Charles of Austria. In the

twelftli year of Elizabeth, he was Lord Presi-

dent of the North, and upon an incursion of

the Scots, invaded Scotland, and laid several

of their towns and castles in ashes. He sat

subsequently on the trial of tlie Dukc of Nor-

folk, and was a commissioner to treat of a

marriage between the Duke of Anjou and
Queen Elizabeth, iu the 24th year of her

reign. His Lordship married first, EHzabeth

Wriothesley, daughter of Thomas, Earl of

Southampton ;
and secondly, Frances, daugh-

ter of Sir WiUiam, and sister of Sir Henry
Sydney, Kt., and died at his house, Ber-

mondsey, in Southwark, June, 1583. He
was buried at Boreham

;
and as he had no

issue to survive him, the honours devolved
on his brother, Henry Radclyffe, fifth Lord

Fitzwalter, and fourth Earl of Sussex, a

Knight of the Garter, Captain and Governor
of Portsmouth. He married Honora, daughter
of Anthony Pound, Esq., of Hants; and dying
April lOth, 1593, was succeeded by his only
child, Robert Radclyffe, sixth Lord Fitz-

walter, and fifth Earl of Sussex. This noble-

man was with the Earl of Essex in the attack

on and sacking of the city of Cadiz, in the

39th year of Elizabeth. His Lordsliip, who
was installed a Knight of the Garter in 1621,
married fii"st, Bridget, daughter of Sir Charles

Morrison, Kt., of Cashiobiu-y Park, Hertford-

shire, and had by her two sons and two

daughters, all of wliom, with their issue, died

in his Hfetime. The Earl espoused secondly,
Frances, daughter of Hercules Mewtas, Esq.,
of West Ham, in Essex, widow of Robert

Shute, of Hockington, co. Cambridge, Esq.
Tlie Countess of Sussex died ISth Nov., 1627,
and the Earl, who was buried at Boreham,
in 1629.

The iHustrious house of Radclyffe was
further ennobled in the person of Sir Francis

Ratclyffe, a scion of the same ancient family,
who (a.d. 1687) was by patent created Baron
of Tynedale, Viscoimt Ratclyffe and Langley,
and Earl of Derwentwater

;
but this branch

having adliered to the cause of the Stuart

dynasty, tlie title became forfeited.

Foxdenton is a noble and lofty edifice, of

the 16th century, fronting northerly, with two

wings overlooking a beautiful lawn, deriving
its name from a den of foxes, and bestowed
as the dowry of Margaret Chadderton, on
her marriage with Jolin Radclyfie, son of

De Radclyffe (2nd Henry II.) From this

couple the ample demesne of Foxdenton de-

scended through twelve generations of the

ilkistriously connected Radclyffes, to Sir

WiHiam Radclyffe, Kt., who wastaken prisoner

by the ParHamentary forces, at the battle of

Marston Moor, Jidy 2nd, 1644; but safely
conducted to Foxdenton, under tlie counte-

nance of General Fairfax, as a letter yet in

existence clearly proves. He died about

1649, beloved by both parties, after having
been a Colonel and Captain in the Royal
army in 1642 and 1645. The present possessor
of Foxdenton is Robert Radclyfl'e, Esq., the

fifthin descentfromtheabove Sir WiUiam, who
has issue sons and daughters. The interior of

tliis mansion is adorned by many vakiable
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family and other pictiires, among which are

several portraits of the royal house of Stuart.

It is at present in excellent repair, and is

situated in the township of Chadderton, and

parish of Prestwich, on a gentle eminence,
two miles north-west of Oldham.

HAM HOUSE, co. Surrey ;
the splendid seat

of the noble family of Dysart, Close to the

river Thames, about a mile from Richmond—
that lovely, sunny spot, so correctly named
"
Slieen," or " the beautiful," by our Saxon

forefathers—stands Ham House, a fine and
curious specimen of the domestic architecture

of the time of James I. It was built in

1610, by Sir Thomas Vavasor, but under-

went considerable alterations in the time of

Charles II., when it was completely furnished

by the Duke and Duchess of Lauderdale.*

Here, too, was born tlieir grandson, John,
Duke of Argyll, equally celebrated as a

soldier and a statesirian. The stranger who
has never visited this seat, will easily form
an idea of its internal magnificence when he
is told that even the bellows and brushes in

some of the rooms, are made of solid silver,

or of solid filigree. The gardens, from all

appearance, have been little altered since they
were first formed, bearing all the marks of

those times when the grand object was to

supersede nature by art, or to make her look

as little like herself as possible. Terrace

above terrace slopes down to the river, en-

closed by walls tliat are ornamented with
a series of busts, continued to the principal

fagade ;
in front is a colossal statue of Father

Thames, and all the walks are distinguished

by a perfect symmetry, that it must be ovvned

is tame and monotonous. Sir Walter Scott,
in an Essay on Landscape Gardening, has

defended this artificial style with an elo-

quence and glow of fancy that may convince

any one so long as he is under the influence

of tlris arch-magician, who had the wonderful

power of imparting his own brilliance to the

least imaginative theme
;
but once close the

book, and the spell being broken, formal

walks, fraternal clumps of trees, and alleys
made to match eacli other, will no longer be

preferred to the simple and the natural,
which characterise modern gardening, even

though we should at times run a Uttle wild in

the pursuit of nature.

Long avenues of majestic ehns, and groves
of dark firs, give a peculiar character to Ham
House; from ahnost every distant point of

view, the mansion seems embosomed in

foliage, and on a closer inspection has an
air of solemn, venerable grandeur. The

* Elizabeth, Duchess of Lauderdale, was eklest daughter
of William Murray, tirst Karl of Dysart, and became, at

her father's death, a Countess in her own right. She
married, nrst, Sir Lionel Tollemaohe, Bart., of Hel-

mingham, SuffolkjWhodjed in l(i69
;
and secondly, John,

Earl of Lauderdale, raised subsequently to a Dukedom.

building is constructed of red brick, and
has two fronts

; interiorly the apartments are

very handsome, some lined with tapestry, and

remaining well-nigh as they were left by the

Countess of Dysai-t (afterwards Duchess of

Lauderdale) temp. Charles II. The en-

trance hall is paved with black and white

marble, and surrounded by an open gallery.

Adjoining is a small chapel, wherein still

remains a folio prayer-book, the gift of

Charles II. There are besides, the Queen's
audience chamber, the tapestry room, the

china closet, the Duchess of Lauderdale's

apartment, &c., all highly ornamented with

pictures, by eminent masters, and many
family and historical portraits by Vandyke
and Lely. But the most attractive portion
of this fine mansion is the curious old library,
termed by Dibdin " a wonderful book-para-
dise," superlatively rich in Caxtons and
otlier early black-letter productions of the

English press, as well as in private docu-
ments and original letters, full of information
as to the political transactions of the period of

Charles and James.

PIXTON PAEK, near Dulverton, co. Somer-
set

;
the seat of the Earl of Carnarvon.

Somersetshire is not vmknown in story, and,
till within late years, the remoteness of its

geographical position caused both the county
and its inhabitants to retain much of what
was primitive in scenery, in dialect, and in

manners. In this county the glorious banner
of the Cross was first planted, and the piety of
holier times is here found in frequent and

. melancholy contrast with the destructive in-

tolerance of religious fanaticism, Many
beautifid and interesting ruins attest this—•

Glastonbury, the Palace at WcUs, the Abbey
of Cleve, &c., &c. The wild excitement of
the people, and the eager avarice of a capri-
cious tyrant, involved in a blind and fatal

destruction edifices and institutions which

might have been purged of any existing follies

or misdeeds, and, by a judicious reformation
and reconstruction, have been saved for the

public weal, and remained to this day
memorials of the enlightened benevolence of
om- ancestors, and the respectful gratitude of
their posterity. Passing by, however, these

considerations, and themany striking historical

events connected with Somersetshire, from the
concealment of Alfred in the Isle of Axholme,
to the battle of Sedgemoor, we will confine
this article to a short description of one of
those ancient homes which may be well sard
to bear out Falstaff s speech to Justice Shallow," Youhave here a goodly dwelling and arich."
The estate of Pixton and its dependant manors
were formerly parcel of the extensive domains
of the Acland family, now so worthily repre-
sented by the respectable and highly respected
Baronet of Kellerton, Sir Thomas Dyke
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Acland. The second Earl of Carnarvon, of

the illustrious lineage of Herbert, married, in

1796, Elizabeth Kitty, daughter and sole

heiress of Colonel John Dyke Acland, eldest

son of Sir Thomas Acland, Bart., but the

Colonel dying before his fatlier, the title, with
the Kellerton estates, devolved on the present
Baronet, and the Pixton portion became the

inheritance of the Countess of Carnarvon, and
is now in the possession of her grandson, tlie

present Earl. This beautiful and interesting pro-

perty possesses so many charms, retains sucli old

associations, there is so much of salubrity and
exhilaration about its healthy uplands and its

echoing vales, that the attachment of every
member of the family to this spot is not to be
wondered at, and it was in this lovely retreat

that the late noble proprietor spent a portion
ofhistime every year, in that cahn and placid
retirement so congenial to minds imbued with
the love of nature, and anxious for literary
ease and leisiu"e. Part of tlie old gabled
mansion was pulled down by the second Earl,
and the plain and imadorned structure which
took its place, standingboldly out on an abrupt
eminence commanding the valley of the Barle,
and sheltered and surrounded by deep woods
of ancient oak, is, particularly as you approach
it from the south-east, at once striking and

picturesque. The road from Tiverton to Dul-
verton passes through the domain, and after

rounding the base of Ellersdown, it enters a
beautiful and spreading vale, now winding
through dark recesses of ancestral groves, now
emerging on the steep banks of the Barle,

which, in a wild and rapid torrent, pours its

giant might over ledges of opposing rock,

foaming and roaring in its course.

The general aspect of this district is hilly ;

the eminences are rounded, seldom presenting

any romantic formations, in the distant outlines
;

many are cultivated to the very summit,
whereas some, particularly as you approach
the wilds of Exmoor, present tracts of heath-
land as far as the eye can reacli. Tlie park of

Pixton is of a peculiar character, wild, steep,
and undulating. As seen from the mansion,

nothing can be more picturesque. To the left

is a rising bank, studded with beeches and

groves of fir
;

in frant, the groimd falls into a

romantic glen, the favourite resort of herds of
fallow deer, which, reposing in tliis slieltered

spot, shew their " forked heads
"

above the

luxuriant fern, or graze in groups along the

sunny glades. This is a lovely spot, refresliing
to the eye to gaze upon. The ancient thorn,
the fantastic oak, the leafy chesnut, aid with

their charms this forest scene, and constitute

a foreground oftener described than witnessed.

From this glen, the ground, again rising east-

ward, loses itself in a grove of majestic oaks
;

while to the right, and far below, is the lovely
vale of the Barle, with its verdant meads, its

murmuring waters, and its hanging woods.

It is an unusual peculiarity of this fine

property, that it is intersected and watered by
no less than three rivers of soiue magnitude,
the Exe, the Barle, and the Haddeo, each

flowing through its own valley, and each pos-

sessing its peculiar attractions and character-

istics. The Exe, rising in the neiglibouring
forest of Exmoor, flows through a delicious and
well-cultivated vale, washing in its course the

now scanty and ivied ruins of an ancient

priory,* about two miles above Pixton, till

suddenly arriving at Exbridge, to the south, it

pursues its course, by Tiverton and Exeter, to

the sea. Tlie Barle, rising in the same direc-

tion, is, as we before stated, a swift and restless

stream, forcing its way through narrow valleys,
amid opposing rocks, till, after passing the

town of Dulverton, it unites its waters with the

Exe, at the point whei*e it quits the Pixton
domain. Among the bleak hills wliere this

river takes its rise, is tlie remote parish of

Hawkridge, the road to which is a mere
mountain path, but leading through a succession

of fine and varied scenery, such as, once seen,
can never be forgotten, Perhaps one of the

wildest and most pictvu'esque spots in this

county is to be found in this district, at the

point where the rapid Danesbrook, pouring its

waters from the distant moors, unites with the

Barle. An isolated eminence, standing boldly

apart from the precipitous hills arovmd, and
covered with wood to its very summit, here

parts the streams till they join at its eastern

base, and then, in one long and beautiful reacli,

pursue their way tlirough i-ocks and overhang-

ing woods till they approach the old tower of

Dulverton Clmrch, rising from its grassy slope
above the surrounding buildings.

But the Haddeo, or, as the inhabitants term

it, the Haddon Yeo,t is the glory of the Pix-

ton domain. From its source to its junction
with the Exe, it rarely, if ever, leaves the pro-

perty, and the varied scenes of tranquil

beauty and almost savage wildness tlu-ough
which it passes, are far beyond our bounds to

describe. Tlie road from the little hamlet of

Berry, skirts
" the extremest verge of the

swift brook," sometimes hemmed in by thick

copses of primoeval oak, sometimes opening
out in view of the wild heathery summits of

Haddon
;
and it presents, during its wliole

course, to the admiring traveller, scenes of

beauty and interest certainly not surpassed in

this, or even in the adjoining coimty. This

district is the resort of the few herds of red-

deer that yet survive the modern law of ex-

tinction. These last tenants of the ancient free

warren and free chase, of once " merrie

Englande," are seen occasionally at early

* A gi-eat portion of tlic ruins of this monastic house

wcre removed by a neighbouiinp: pvoprietor, and used to

build a simimer-house on the liill ahovc.

t Yeo is doubtlcss a conuption of the word eau ;
shew-

ing Norman occupation.
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morning, or dewy eve, to wend theiv way
slowly and cautiously down the steep sides of
this nan-ow vale to quencli tlieir thirst, and
bathe their dappled skins "in tlie swift

brook that brawls along the wood." Here,
under the sliade of "

melanclioly bouglis,"

they drink and lave their panting sides, and,
as if conscious that tlieir liours are numbered,
and their kingdom all but lost, they are

startled at tlie least sound, and hastily seek
the covert of those tangled brakes, which ere

long are probably destined to destruction for

tlae purposes of wliat we suspect may in tlie

end prove but a profitless cultivation. The
care with wliicli these interesting rem-
nants of a former age are preserved and
cherished by the noble owner, is alike cre-

ditable to his principles and his taste. But

legislation will soon do its work, and all that
still remains of the scenery and manners of

sports of other days, will soon be swept away
before tlie utilitarian notions of tlie present
age. This was the country of wonderful ex-

ploits in flood and field, when the hardy pro-
prietors of these dales turned out to hunt the
deer

;
and niany a tale of niarvellous feats

still lingers round tlie Christmas hearth, and
cheers the long evenings in the moorland
farm. Fresh inclosures, however, are rapidly
driving the deer to their wildest and remotest

haunts, and like the aborigines of other lands,

they will soon only live in rural tradition,

The staghounds were, if we are correctly in-

formed, for many years a kind of heii--Ioom at

Pixton, and the bold Aclands were ever fore-

most in promoting the sport, and protecting
the game. The branching antlers of many a
noble buck now grace the hall, and to each of
these there is probably some wild traditicm

attached, which ere long will sound incredible
to degenerate ears. IIow far the annihilation
of these hardy sports, and of the kindly feel-

ings thus promoted between the lords of the
soil and their tenants and dependants, will

result in a better social system, we doubt. We
view with sorrow, not unmingled with anxiety,
the mighty changes wliich are taking place
in the various relations of social life

;
and we

feel how much all the manlier, confiding, and
more generous qualities of the English cha-
racter are yielding to the spirit of an all-per-

vading selfishness, and Ihe love of money.
Lovely Pixton ! long may thy heathy hills

and woodland slopes, thy grassy vales and

teeming brooks, retain the character of bye-
gone days

—
long may thy hardy peasantry

revere their lord, and find in Iiim, as hereto-

fore, their benefactor and their friend—may
the simple habits and primitive feelings of thy
people know no change but what a moi-e

confiding faith, more rural knowledge, may
confer.

SUTTON PLACE, in the co. of Surrey, about

three miles from Guildford
;
the seat of the

Weston family.
The manor of Sutton was granted by

Henry VIII., in 1521, to Sir Richard Weston,

Knight, who, afew yeai"s afterwards, built the

present mansion
; which, however, through

time and other accidents, has undergone
some important changes. Queen Elizabeth
was entertained here in 1591, when on her

way to Chichester, in a gallery upwards of
a hundred and forty feet in length, twenty in

width, andin heightfourteen. Soon after her

departure that side of the building took fire,

either from the excessive quantity of fiiel

used, or from the neglect of the servants,
and it was internally destroyed. In this

state it lay till about 1721, when John
Weston rebuilt the outer wall of the south-

east side, which had in part fallen down, and

eventually restored the interior.

Francis Weston,—the son of Sir Richard,
above mentioned—a gentleman of the king's

privy chamber, in the time of Henry VIII.,
was one of those who suffered death for an

alleged criminal intercourse with Anne
Boleyne. Still, however, as we have just
seen, the estate remained in tlie family, and
with them continued until the year 1721,
when Mrs. Melior Mary Weston devised the

estate to John Webbe, Esq., of Sarnsfield

Court, in the county of Hereford, on con-
dition that he should assume the arms and
surname ofWeston. Before, however, quitting
this part of our account, mention should be
made of the agricultural improvements by
Sir Richard Weston. To him we owe the

introduction of the first clover gi'ass "out of

Brabant or Flanders," and also of turnips,
and saintfoin. At the same time " he

brought over the contrivance of locks,

turnpikes, and tumbling hayes for rivers. He
began the making of the New River in 1G50,
or 1G51. He Iiv'd not to finish it, dying in

1G53, in his climacterical year, G3."

Aubrey's New Riveris the new channel of

the Wey, it was under Sir Richard's direction

that the plan for rendering this river navi-

gable from the Thames to Guildford was
carried into effect. The firtnbling bayes are

nothing more than a kind of rude but strong
dam, placed across the bed of a river and
continued down the stream obliquely to a
considerable distance. They are constructed
of stones loosely piled together.
The house at Sutton is in a great measure

formed of red bricks, so far as regards the

general body of the edifice
;
the oi'namental

portions are also of brick, but made from
a finer clay, that when baked assumes a light
ochre colour, which niay be compared to

the tint of the Caen stone. Some of the
bricks are much larger than the others, and

brought by the action of tlie fire in tlie

kiln to an unusual degree of hardness.

G G
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The whole is thus described by Aubrey, in

his day :
—

" This place is a noble seat, built of brick,
and has a stately gate-hovise, with a very

high tower, bearing a turret at each angle.
It is a square court : the windows are made
of bak'd earth, of whitish yellow colour,
like Flanders brieks. The mouldings within

the house are adorned with pendants of fruits

and flowers
;
the coynes of the walls are also

of the same brick, where is R. AV. and the

figure of a tun, as a rebus of his nanie. This
baked white clay is as perfect as when it was
first set up.

' '

This description, however, scarcel}'^ conveys
a sufficient idea of the house, and as the gos-

sipping spirit of Aubrey seems for once to

have deserted him, it may be as well to piece
out his meagre account with a few more
details.

The middle entrance is sided by lofty

square-headed windows, and by half octagon
buttress turrets ; the latter, which are entirely
cased with enriched brickwork, towering high
above the roof. The doorwayhas thepointed
form, and is ornamented with quatrefoils in

the spandrils ; just above it is a compartment
with a double row of square panels, each of

which displays in basso-relievo a genius

having a rosary and wings. The fronts of
all the parapets are divided into small

compartments, variously ornamented with

quatrefoils, lozenges, and other fitting deco-
rations. A double plat-band completes the

middle of these divisions
;
that is surmounted

by a battlement. The windows are each

separated by a transom into two ranges of

trefoil-headed lights, of vvhieh there are four

in the larger windows, and three in eveiy
other compartment.
The most remarkable featin-e of the in-

terior is the stained glass supposed to have
been brought from the former manor-house.
These ancient reliques are inserted in the

windows of the great hall, a noble room

occupying the entire centre of the house,
and being about fifty-one feet long, twenty-
five feet broad, and thirty-one feet high.
Some of them exhibit ancient armorial

bearings ; othei-s, again, present devices ofa
more fantastic character. Amongst the

latter may be nientioned, A Negro jAayhig on
a lute ; A Vlllage Festival at sheep-shearing
time ; A goose playing on the hagpipes ; A
IVoman holding an infant swathed in cross

bandages ; and, A Clown crossing a hrooJc.

This strange figure is dressed as a fool, in a

yellow coat, and a cap and hood with asses'

ears, to which alsobellsand a cock's comb are

appended ;
undcr his belt are five goslings

hcld by the neck, and in his hand is grasped
two otliers. It might jJuzzle us to explain
the mystery of these hieroglyphics, but

hickily a writer in the Gentleman's Magazine,

(1834) has played the part of --Edipus, and

solved the riddle. "This design," he says,
"

is evidently copied from the rare old book,

George Withers' Emhlems,* published in

1635. The jest is that the clown being sent

by his mistress to fetch home some gosHngs,
a river being in the way, he tucked the

birds under his girdle,
—by whichmeans they

were strangled
—lest they should be drowned,

The tale is thus moralized by Withers :
—

' Xhe best good turnes that fooles can do us,

Proove disadvantages unto us !'

Tlie picture on the book is encircled by the

l^ditmvaoi\o,Stidtornm adjutamenta nocumenta.

Underneath the clown are the words 'iVe

meTgentur,' and over his shoulder is in-

scribed "
(-/«ws n«rr.'" which perhaps may be

Englished Shallow Fool.\ The following are

the verses annexed :
—

" A fool sent fortli to fetch the goslings home,
"WTien they untoa river'» hrinli -were come,

(Through "which their passagelay) conceiv'd a feare,

Hisdame'sbestbroodmighthavebeendro-wnedtherej
Which to avoid, he thus did sho-w his wit,
And his good naturc in preventing it ;

He underneath his girdle thrusts their heads,
And then the coxcomb through the water -«'ades.

Here learnc that -n-hen a foole his helpe inteiids,

He rather doth a niischeife than befriends."

The family of Weston of Sutton have

alwajs been characterised for their ad-

herence to the Roman Catholic faith, and

to this day the south-east gallery at Sutton

is used as a Roman Catholic Chapel. The

approach to it is by a large staircase
;
but

the wide and lofty windows, which once gave

light to it, have been stopped up, and the famiiy

* "A collection of emblems, ancient and modern,
quicliened -with metrical illustratious, both moral and

diviue, disposed into lotteries, that instruction and good
counsell niay be furtbered by an honest and pleasant re-

creation ; by George|Withers. London, printed for Gris-

mond, and are to be sold at the sign of the Gunne, Ivie-

lane, 1635." Theemblems were foreign plates, andtheir

history is thus given by Withers :—" Thcse emblems,
graven in copper, by Crispinus Passocus, (with a motto
in Greelie, Latin, or Italiau, round about every figure,
and with two lines of verses in one of the same languages

(pharaphrasing these mottos), came to my hands almost
twentie years past. The verses -were so meane, that they
were afterw;iriis cut otf from the plates, and the

collector of the said emblems (whether he were
the versilier or the graver) was neither so well

advised iii tbe choice of tliem, nor so exact iu observing
the true proprieties belonging to evcry figure as liee

might have been. Yet the workmanship being judged
very good for the most part, and the rcst excusable, some
of liiy friends wcre so much delighted in the giaver's art,

and those illustrations I had made upon snme few of

tbem, they requested me to moralize the rcst, which I

condiscended uiito ; and thcy had bcen brought to viewe

mauy years agoe, but that the copper prints (whicli are

now gotteu) could not be procured out of Hollaud upon
reasonable couditions." The lollcnj, of whieh Withers

speaks, was drawn by turniug a sort of index, aflBxed to

the worli, round, witbout looking atit; to whatevernum-
ber indicatiiig the cmblem the index pointed, that em-
blem was thc player's lot

;
he tuvncd to it, read, aud ap-

plicd the moral to" himsclf as he might.
t Certainly uot. Claus is neithor more nor less than

Nicholas, or Nick—Nick Fool—just as we say, Jack
PUDDINe.
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portraits upon the walls are fast going to

decaj'. Even the chapel has an air of gloom,
its mullioned windows being darkened by
the ivy that grows around and overshadows
them. The altar, over which is a small gilt
crucifix, is of white marble

;
and in the

lumber-room behind stands a bell of no
great size, with this inscription round the

edge :
—
Pierre : Bavde : M' a faicte, A.D. 1530.

The park and grounds attached to Sutton

comprise a circuit of nearly three miles. The
latter are, for the greater part, let out for the

purposes of farming, tlie soil being fertile and
well adapted to the agriculturist. Near
the southern extremity of the estate is one of
the tumhlhu) haijes mentioned by Aubrey, and
which still retains this singular denomination.
After heavy and continued rain, the river
becomes almost magnificent, its waters

dashing and foaming along over its irregular
bed, and forming something between a cascade
and a cataract. At such times the low
meadows in the neighbourhood are completely
overflowed.

GRAYTHWAITE HALL, in the co. of Lan-
caster

;
the seat of John Dalrymple Sandys.

Graythwaite Hall is sometimes called

Graijthwaite High, to distinguish it from
Graijthwaite Low, which, in the reign of

Henry VIII., was the abode of the Sawreys.
In the olden time it was a fortified stronghold,
having a moat and two towers as a protection
against the Scotch marauders, who are said to
have often extended their forays into this

sequestered spot ; though, from its situation, it

might well have been supposed exempt from
such visitations. With the recurrence of more
peaceful days these warlike defences have been
removed, according as the taste of the successive
proprietors led them to extend the prospect
without, or make alterations for the sake of
convenience within. It now presents the
appearance of a handsome stone-built edifice
in the Elizabethan style of architecture, flanked
on the east by a tower, and having its front

wings connected to the centre by an arcade.
The site of it is in the midst of extensive

pleasiu-e-grounds, sloping downwards to the
park, which itself is environed by luxuriant
woods. In addition to these natural advan-
tages, it is at no great distance from the
beautiful lake of Windermere

; and of late

years it was considerably improved by the
late proprietor, who expended much money
in enlarging the previous accommodations,
and adapting it to modern tastes and modern
habits. It is novv, beyond question, the

principal abode in Scatterthwayte. About
eight years since, in making the altcrations

above alluded to, the family arms were found
covered by plaster on the outside wall of one
of the rooms that were then being pulled
down. They proved to be in as perfect a
state as when first cut, and bore the date,
1178. Being considered a curiosity, they have
since been placed in the south wing of the
mansion.

This Hall has never been out of the family
of the Sandys, from the time of their first

coming into its possession ;
and they settled in

Furness in the time of Henry VI. Towards
the end of that king's reign, William Sandys
married Margaret, cousin and heiress of
Thomas Rawlinson, Abbot of Furness, and
was great-grandfather of Edwyn Sandys,
Archbishop of York, ancestor of Lord Sandys,
of Ombersly, in Worcestershire. From this

ancient stock the present possessor of Gray-
thwaite derives his origin.

KIRKHAM ABBEY, Yorkshire, in the East

Riding of Yorkshire, about five miles and a
half from New Malton

;
the property ofEdward

Taylor, Esq.
The name of this place is derived from two

Anglo-Saxon words, Kirk and Ham—the
latter signifying house, home, or properti/, and
thus denoting its appropriation to the church.

In 1121, a priory of Austin Canons was
founded here by Walter Espec, and Adeline,
his wife, in honour of the Holy Trinity. A
tragic legend, with less of the marvellous than
we usually find in monkish stories, attaches to
the foundation. It runs as follows :

—
By his wife, Adeline, Sir Walter Espec had

an only son, called, after himself, Walter, and
who had a singular passion for riding the
swiftest and most spirited horses. One day,
when galloping towards Frithby, near Kirk-

ham, his horse fell near a stone cross, and he
was killed upon tlie spot. The bereaved
father, who had now no heir to his estate,

sought for consolation in religion, and, under
the heavy pressure of his affliction, was easily
persuaded by his uncle, William, then rector
of Garton, to found a monastery at Kirkham.
This newestablishmenthe endowed with seven
churches, the profits of which, together with
the rents and other possessions in Yorkshii-e
and Northumberland, amounted to eleven
hundred marks.
At the dissolution of monasteries, the pru-

dence of tlie monks surrendered the property
they had no longer the power to withhold

;

and about six years afterwards, it was granted
by the king, Henry VIII., to Henry Knyvet
and Ann, his wife, though it does not appear
upon what consideration.

Kirkham Priory stands in a delightful vale,
on the easternbank of theDerwent

;
or rather,

we should say that it once stood here, for it

is now nothing more than a splendid ruin.
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Tlie principal part tliat yet remains, is the

gateway, a beautiful specimen of ancient

architecture, and apparently belonging to the

reign of Edward I. The archway is pointed,
and covered with a large pediment, which is

crocheted, and terminates in a finial. In the

upper portion are two windows, each having
two lights, with trefoil heads and ornamental

tracery in the sweep. Each window, and the

spaces between, have crocheted pediments,
and in the spandrills are four shields of arms.
The finish of this mansion was quatrefoil

panelling, which, however, has sufTered miich
from neglect and time. Between the win-
dows are two niches with statues, and a

i-epresentation of the Creator. Adjoining are
two shields of arms, one having three

Catherine-wheels, the other three Chaplets;
over all, four bars. On each side of the
entrance arch is a canopied niche, one having
a mutilated representation of St. George and
the Dragon, the other a solitary figure ; above
each are two shields of arms, a bend and
three water-bougets, and the three last re-

peated, and a cross flory. One of the but-

tresses, which formerly adorned this gate, still

remains, and has an elegant pierced pinnacle,
crocheted. A large portion of the cloisters is

also still extant, as well as a lesser fragment
of the church—a small part of the chancel
wall. A noble Gothic tower, beautifully
covered with ivy, kept its ground till the year
1784, when it was blown down in a gale of
wind. To the southward may yet be seen
the ruins of the cellars.

TAPLOW HOUSE, near Maidenhead, Bucks
;

now in the occupation of Joseph Sandars,
Esq., was first built in 1751, but has since

been re-constructed, and added to, by Pascoe

Grenfell, Esq., and the Marquessof Thomond.
It is a building of the Composite order, and
stands on a beautiful hiwn, sloping to the

south, and decorated with a fine group of trees,

amongst which is a "
Tulip tree," eighty feet

liigh, and twelve in circumference.

CRAIGEND CASTLE, co. Stirling; the stately
seatofJames Buchanan; Esq., of Blair Vadock,
and Ardenconnall.
The castle, built in 1820, by thelate James

Smith, of Craigend, is beautifully situated in

the near neighbourhood of Mugdock
Castle, a fine picturesque ruin, a strong-
hold in the feudal times of the jMarquesses
of Montrose. James Smith's ancestors

acquiredpart of the Landsof Craigend inl629,

during the minoi-ity of the first Marquess. Near
the castle is a picturesque wooded avenue,
calledthe Gallan Knowe, where, in the olden

time, thehouse of Graham, as feudal barons,
sustaincd tlic majesty of the law. The

grounds about Craigend Castle are finely un-

dulated, interspersed with plantations, old

woods, and water. The architectureis Norman.

LUSCOMBE HOXJSE, Devonshire, about one
mile west from Davvlish Church

;
the seat of

Mrs. Hoare.
This house was built by the late Charles

Hoare, Esq., after designs by Nash, the com-
mencement of the work having been made in

the year 1800. The external appearance of
the buikiing, with its battlements, porch, and
muUioned windows, is extremely picturesque
and pleasing. The grounds about the man-
sion present an agreeable succession of liill

and dale. At a short distance westward rises

the steep acclivity of Haldon, while to the
east is seen the tower of Dawlish Church, and
beyond it roll the waters of the English
Channel.
The southern part of Devonshire is

remarkable for the genial mildness of its

atmosphere, a circumstance which influenced
Mr. Hoare in the choice of the locality.

SHANKILL CASTLE, co. Kilkenny; the seat
of James Kearney Aylward, Esq.

This mansion (a place of considerable an-

tiquity) was renovated and improved by
Nicholas Aylward, Esq., father of the present
proprietor. It is a large, square, castellated

building, and presents an imposing and pic-

turesque front to the road, as seen through
the ancient gateway, now disused, terminating
a straight avenue of noble ash trees. There
are two modern approaches leading to the

house, through an extensive park, in the rear of
which are the pleasure-grounds and fisli-ponds.

Tlu-ough this demesne the " Boreen a

Muck," orpig'sroad, may betraced. According
to tradition, tliere was a certain quadruped
known as the " Black pig of Kildare," which

ravaged the country, spreading desolation and
deatli wherever he went

;
to stop the inroad

of this foi-midable animal, the country people
built a dyke, the " Boreen a Muck," which ex-
tends ahnost across the whole island, from the
river Barrow to the Bog of Allen, thus cutting
ofFhis approach to the Castle, and preventing
his further progress south. Whether this

monster was ultimately destroyed by some
adventurous knight, or was permitted to die a
natural death, history sayeth not. It is be-
lieved by many, that having found the dyke
impracticable, hc rashly attempted to cross
the Bay of AUen, where he perished. This

appears probable, from a huge tusk having
been lately dug up there.

SNELSTON HALL, in the co. of Derby,
three miles from Ashbourn

;
the seat of John

Harrison, Esq., who is also lord of the manor.
This is a splendid mansion, niodern as to
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the date of its consti-uction, but so closely

imitating the charactev of the olden times, that

it w^ants nothing but mantling ivy about its

walls, and the mellowing tints of age, to make
it pass for the work of other days. Tlie style
of its architecture is the florid Gotliic, with

the usual accompaniment of towers and tur-

rets. The site of the building is very happily
chosen. It stands upon a gentle eminence,
below which, at a short distance, flows a piece
of water, that gives back its shadowy outlines

as from a niirror.

The interior fuUy answers to the expec-
tations raised by the first view of this stately

edifice, if, indeed, it does not go beyondthem.
The principal rooms are fitted up with

oaken furniture, carved and massive, accord-

ing to the ancient fashion, which is so rigidly
adhered to, even in the minutest details, as to

completely exclude any idea of a modern
mansion. The efFect produced by this is very

singular, but hardly to be described, since it

must vary in a great degree according to the

peculiar habits and tone of mind of the spec-
tator. Tliis revival of the past is still more

sensibly felt in ascending the grand staircase,

upon which, as is generaUy the case in the old

baronial halls, the architect has exhausted all

the resources of his art. If it imposes upon
the imagination by its size and gloomy gran-
deur, it pleases no less by its fanciful and
elaborate workmanship, so delicate and highly
finislied tliat it niight ahnost seem to have
been produced by the chisel of a fairy. Even
the ottices, lodges, and farm buildings have
received the same care, and are impressed
with the same character, so as to be in ad-

mirable keeping with the house itself.

The grounds attached to this mansion are

extensive, and have a park-like appearance,
no expense having been spared in their for-

mation. Here, however, the hand of time
alone can complete the work so well com-
menced

;
in the meanwhile a multitude of

thriving trees, and of various kinds, disposed
singly, or in clusters, have already begun to

give a goodly promise for the future.

CARNTYNE, in the co. of Lanark
;
the seat

of the Rev. John Hamilton Gray.
The lands of Carntyne, or, as they were

anciently spelt, Carnetheyne, in the imme-
diate vicinity of Glasgow, belonged, from the

earliest times, to the chmxh, and formed a

portion of the immense estate which supported
the bishops, and afterwards archbishops, of

Glasgow. Frequent mention is made of them
in the chartidary of the bishopric of Glasgow.

Tliey have been in the possession of abranch
of the ancient family of Gi-ay for nearly three

centuries. Gray, of Carntyne, is an early
cadet of Lord Ciray's family, and has

been seated in the immediate neighbourhood

of Glasgow for upwards of three hundred

years. Their original possession in that

vicinity was the estate of Tolcross, which they
sold to the family of Corbett, with whom,
about two centuries later, they intermarried.

When tliey sold Tolcross, they purchased the

church lands of Carnetheyne or Carntyne.
They afterwards bought the estate of Dahnar-

nock, on the banks of the Clyde, close to

Glasgow ;
and that became, during several

generations, the designation of the family.
We will quote a notice concerning this

family from a curious work, entitled " Memo-
randa of Glasgow in the olden time":—

" Besides Dahnarnock, the family of Gray
had several other considerable properties near

Glasgow, viz., Carntyne, which still belongs
to the family ;

and Newlands and Kenny Hill,
which were sold at the same time with Dal-

marnock, in 1784. This branch ofthe family
of Gray are now probably the oldest landed

proprietors in the neighbourhood of Glasgow,
having possessed estates there for about three

hundred years. Their successive generations
intermarried witli families well known in the

annals of Glasgow ; among othei"s, with Hut-

chinson, the munificent founders of the hos-

pital which bears their name
;
Anderson of

Dowhill, several generations of which family
held the oflice of Lord Provost, during the
1 7th century, and to the zeal of one of whom,
during his chief-magistracy in that early time,
the cathedral is said mainly to owe its preser-
vation from the fury of religious fanaticism

;

Colquhoun, of Kenmure, a branch of the

baronets of Luss
; Gibson, of Hillhead, a

family which produced the most eminent nier-

chants of their time in Scotland, and gave Lord
Provosts to the city during the 17th century;
Hamilton, of Newton, cadets of the baronets

of Silvertonhill
; Corbett, ofTolcross, the repre-

sentatives of Porterfield, of Duchal, &c., &c.
" John Gray succeeded his brother Archi-

bald, as Laird of Carntyne, in 1628; and

subsequently, he acquired the lands of Dal-
marnock. He was a zealous Covenanter, and
his name is held in honour, as having often

afforded the shelter of his roof, at Carntyne,
to the persecuted ministers. He it was who
first began to work coal at Carntyne, wliich

is one of the oldest coUieries in the west of

Scotland, and has contributed largely, dui-ing
two hundred and twenty-five years, to supply
the city of Glasgow with fuel. It is still

carried on on a large scale. An ancient thorn
tree lately grew on one of the farms at Cai-n-

tyne, under which, according to tradition,
when tlre pLague raged in Glasgow, in 1651,
a large copper pot stood, in wliich the money
that was brought from the city, for the pur-
chase of coal, was boiled, in order to be dis-

infected. Another John Gray, of Dahnar-
nock and Carntyne, was of difterent principles
from those of his covenanting grandfather,
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having prepared to join the army of the Pre-

tender, in 1715. He was, however, prevented
from executing his purpose hy the prudent
foresight of his wife, Elizabeth Hamilton, a
descendant of the baronets of Silvertonhill,
who informed against him

;
in consequence

of which he was imprisoned, and never

actually appeared in arms. Some fine Andrea
Ferrara swords, which he had got on that

occasion, are still preserved in the family.
"From the year 1628, or 1629, until the

present time, coal-working has been carried

on vigorously at Carntyne. The early im-

portance of this colliery is shown by an
ancient proverb, which was once prevalent in

Glasgow,
—'As deep as Carntyne Heugh.'

This depth, however, was very near the sur-

face, as compared with the present workings.
Nearly a century ago, the largest and most

powerful engine as yet seen in the west of

Scotland, was erected by James Gray, of Dal-
marnock and Carntyne, the son and successor
of the above-mentioned John."

Dahnarnock, on the banks of the Clyde,
was formerly the residence of the Grays, of

Carntyne ;
who afterwards lived at Newlands, a

mansion built on their adjoining estate. But, in

the year 1784, John Gray, whohad succeeded
afew years previously to the family estates, sold

Dahnarnock, Newlands, andKennyhill, retain-

ing only the oi-iginal property of Carntyne,
with its vahiable collieries. In this, he was suc-

ceeded by his son, the late Mr. Gray, of Carn-

tyne, a man of rare worth and benevolence,
and for half a century an active magistrate
and Dejjuty-Lieutenant of Lanarkshire. In

1823, he became representative of Hamilton,
of Newton, a cadet of the Ducal house. He
died, universally respected and lamented, in

1833, and was succeeded by his only son,
the Rev. John Hamilton Gray, of Carntyne,
Deputy-Lieutenant of Lanarkshire.
The estates which were sold in 1784, by Mr.

Hamilton Gray's grandfather, are situated

even more in the immediate vicinity of

Glasgow than Carntyne. They are, indeed,
almost in the very suburbs of the city, and

are, consequently, of extreme value
;
a value

every year increasing. Dalmarnock was sold
to Mr. Buchanan, of Ardoch, and has since

passed through the hands of several proprie-
tors. Newlands was sold to Mr. Hozier, and
is still the property of his grandson, the pre-
sent Mr. Hozier, of Newlands.

Among the families with whom that of

Gray of Carntyne has intermarried, we may
mention, Hutchinson of Lambhill; Colquhoun
of Kenmure, a branch of Luss

;
Anderson of

Dowhill
;
Gibson of Hillhead

;
Hamilton of

Newton, a branch of the Ducal family, twice
over

; Corbctt of Tolcross, representative of
Porterfiekl of Duchal

; Chapman, including
Pollock of PoIIock, Bart., and Boyd of Pink-
hill

; Hamilton of Torrance; Dundas of Dud-

dingstoun ; Johnstone of Alva, a cadet of the
Baronets of Westerhall.

In the passage quoted from the " Memoranda
of Glasgow in the Olden Time," it has been
nientioned that several of the families into

which that of Gray intermarried, such as

Anderson ofDowhill, and Gibson of Hillhead,
were among the most distinguished in the
annals of commerce in Scotland, and Iiad

often given Lord Provosts to the city of

Glasgow, from 1600 to 1700. We have also,
at the same time, seen that many of their

alliances were with the most ancient families

of tlie county aristocracy. This remai-k serves
as a practical illustration of the description of
the state of society in Glasgow, and the West
of Scotland, upwards of a century ago, written

by the able pen of Lockhart, in " Peter's

Letters," Vol. III. :—
" A few generations back, Glasgow was

entirely a place of merchandise, and not at

all connected with manufactures. In those

ancient days, the principal merchants, who
had everything their own way in the town,
were frequently persons of most respectable
birth and education

;
often younger sons of

good gentlemen's families
;
and all of them

accustomed to live on terms of familiarity or

equality with the noblesse of the neighbouring
counties. The introduction of manufactures
has had the effect of causing this primitive

aristocracy to be invaded in their privileges

by a mighty swarm of niere novi homhies,

persons sprung from every variety of mean
blood, who have, now, by the strength of

numbers and of purses, almost succeeded in

pushing the relics of the old school from their

seats of dignity."
Inan essay on the progress of Glasgow, pre-

fixed to "Select Views "
of that city and its

environs, there is thefoUowing curious account
of these civic patricians, which almost reminds
us of the habits of the exclusive Magnificoes
ofVenice, on the Broglio :

—" The Vii-ginian
merchants held the other burgesses in great

contempt, and seemed to have lorded it over
them with something of an iron hand. To
such a degree did this mercantile aristocracy

carry their pride and haughty demeanour,
that, while they, arrayed in great white wigs
and wide scarletmantles, walked on thepave-
ment at the cross, no trader, however respec

-

table, or person of inferior rank, durst ven-

ture to approach them. If any of this class

was desirous of speaking to one of these

proud merchants, he had patiently to wait

till he caught the great man's eye, and was

granted an audience."

Thus, it is not surprising that the samc
families should be allied to these mercantile

aristocrats, and to the coimty families of

purer blood, such as Hamilton of Newton
and Silvertonhill, Colquhoun of Kenmure, or

Pollock of Pollock, and Boyd of Pinkhill.
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We have ventm'ed to give the above quota-

tions, as being, in themselves, not devoid of

interest
; tending, as they do, to illustrate the

progress of society, by passages of local

history : and as, moreover, being appropriate,
in treating of a property a portion of vvhich

is situated within the royalty of the city, and
which has belonged to the same family for

a greater number of generations than any
other estate in the immediate vicinity of

Glasgow. The house of Carntyne has not

been inhahited by the family for many years.
It is situated in the midst of extensive shrub-

beries, and is surroimded by collieries and

viUages, which are a continuation of the suburbs
of the city of Glasgow.

It is remarkable that although coal has been
worked at Carntyne for 225 years, it is still

one of the principal coUieries in the West of

Scotland.

We shall conclude this notice by quoting an
account of Carntyne, from the work of

M. A. Blanqui, an eminent French liomiiic de

lettreS) who travelled in Scotland thirty

years ago, in 1823, as tutor to a young
French nobleman, who brought lettei-s of in-

troduction to the h\te Mr. Gray. The work
is entitled "Voyage d'un Francais en

Angleterre et en Eccose." Many pages
are devoted to the description of their

reception at Carntyne. We only give one
or two sentences : "A deux milles, environ,
de distance de Glasgow, surla route d'Ardrie,
nous avons apercu un bois de clienes, d'ormes,
et d'arbres vents, isole dans un plaine legere-
ment inclinee au sud

;
et apres une foule de

tours et de detours, un chateau irregulier, avec
une ferme et des jardins, s'est dessine sur la

pelouse qui est devant nous
;

c'est Carntyne.
La porte s'ouvre

;
un veillard d'une haute

stature, aux yeux bleus, aUx cheveux blancs,
a l'air noble, melancolique et doux, nous
demandeavec bienveillance qui nous sommes,
et apres avoir lu les lettres qui nous recom-

mandaient, 'Messieurs,' ditil,
'

soyezchezvous.'
A ces mots, il nous tende la main, nous intro-

duit dans son cabinet, dont il nous fit proprie-
taires. Nous nons regardions attendris et

confus de cette naive et simple hospitahte qui
semble craindre les ceremonies et Thesitation,
et se derober a Fembarras d'un remerciement.
Nous etions restes seules daus son cabinet.

Des qu'on est proprietaire, on vent jouir, et

avant quelques heures, j'avais parcourue la

bibliotheque. Ma surprise fut agr^able en
retrouvant tous nos grands auteurs Fran^ais,
et a cote d'eux, toutes les grandes notabilites

litteraires anciennes, eti-angeres et modernes.
Des vieux sabres Ecossais, des portraits de

famille, des oiseaux de proie empailles, com-

posaient le reste de rameublement. Le jardin
attenant au cabinet nous appartient egalement,
&c., &c., &c." The gratitude of this accom-

plished Frenchman has dwelt longer upon the

details of this place than we may venture to

inflict upon our readers. However, we con-
ceived that the impression made upon a

foreigner, by his reception in an old Scottish

country gentleman's house, might not be
without interest.

HALL PLACE, in the co. of Kent, and parish
of Leigh (or Lyghe), two miles and a half
from Penshurst, and four from Tonbridge ;

the beautiful seat of Thomas Farmer Bailv,

Esq.
^

This was at one time a part of a district

called HoUendcn, but in the reign of King
Henry VIII. it was conveyed to William
Waller, to whom the poet Waller was dis-

tantly related. From that time it acquired
the name of HallPlace ; and Anne, the widow
of Richard Waller, having a second time mar-
ried, it came, in her right, to her husband,
Stephen Towse, Gent. Not long afterwards
it passed to Crittenden, in which name it con-
tinued to the reign of King Charles II., when
it was alienated to the family of Harrison.
In 1717, it was disposed of to Burgess, whose
widow married James Harbroe, Esq., and
after his death sold the estate in 1821 to

Farmer Baily, Esq., the father of the present
owner.

Hall Place was, in its original form, an
Elizabethan structure, but the additions made
since belong to the Gothic style of architec-

ture. It is a very handsome building of brick
and stone, three storeys high, the late additions

consisting of a banqueting-hall and a chapel.
The former is sixty-five feet long, and pro-

portionately wide, with a groined oak roof

forty feet in height. The chapel is intended
for the Roman Catholic service.

The Park and lands connected with the

mansion comprise from one hundred and

sixty to one hundred and seventy acres.

ASHHILL TO"WERS, in the co. of Limerick,
near Kilmallock

;
the seatof Eyre Evans, Esq.,

who served the office of High SherilF for the

county, in 1810.

Ashhill Towers is situated close to Kil-

mallock, part of the demesne-wall being com-
mon also to the town. Hence it is connected
with all the stirring events relating to Kil-

mallock, in the civil wars that at various times

have desolated Ireland. It was at Ashhill

that the celebrated Sir Eyre Coote was born,
in the old mansion, now taken down. He
was the fourth son of the Rev. Chidley Coote,
of Ashhill, by Jane Evans, sister of George,
first Lord Carbery, and great-aunt of Eyre
Evans, Esq., the present possessor of the

estate, who purchased it from the Coote family
in 1792.

The mansion at Ashhill was first built in

1781, but it was enlarged and received a new
front in 1830.
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HOTHFIELD PLACE, in the co. of Kent,
about three niiles and a half from Ashford

;

the seat of Sir Richard Tufton, Bart.

According to Hasted, this nianor derives its

name from the hothe, or heath, abounding in

it; a derivation tbat seems probable enough,
though not perbaps altogetber satisfactory.

This manor would seem to have remained
in tbe descendants of Fulbert de Dover down
to the time of Richard Dover, who dying
without issue in tbe reign of King Edward I.,

his sister, who bad taken for a second husband
the Earl of Athol, became bis heir. Her son,

John, Earl of Athol, having been attainted of

treason, this inberitance, amongst others, was
confiscated by the crown, in wbose possession
it remained till Edward II. granted it to

Bartbolomew de Badlesmere. He, however,
highly as he had been favoured by the

monarch, in an evil hour for himself joined
the party of the discontented barons, and

having otherwise offended the Queen at Leeds

Castle, bis lands were seized, and bimself
executed. Thereupon tbe King granted Hoth-
field to David de Strathbolgie, son of the John,
Earl of Atbol, before mentioned, but only for

his life
;
so that when be died, it once more

reverted to the crown, and was tben granted
to Giles de Badlesmere, tbus coming again to

the family wbich had first lost it by forfeiture.

He died without issue, leaving his four sisters

his co-heirs, and tbe property being divided

amongst them, Hothfield devolved to Mar-
garet, the wife of William, Lord Roos of
Hamlake. It was lost to this family, as to

the previous ones, by forfeiture, tbe descen-
dants of Lord Roos baving sided with tbe
Lancasterians against Edward IV. Soon after-

wards the crown granted this estate for Ufe to

Sir John Fogge, of Repton, Kniglit, who was

Comptroller of the Royal Household, and one
of the Privy Council. Henry VIII. bestowed
it, towards tbe close of his reign, upon Jobn
Tufton, of Northiam, in Sussex, who was
Sheriff" for the county, and entertained Queen
Elizabeth here in one of her royal progresses.
His descendants gradually rose to high emi-
nence and bonour in the State, till in tbe

reign of Charles II., Sir Nichohis Tufton was
created Lord Tufton, Baron of Tufton, and
shortly aftervvards Earl of the Isle of Thanet.
The present mansion of Hotbfield is a

square edifice of stone, and stands upon the
site of a yet older house, near the edge of tlie

heatli, to wbich it owes its name. The south-
east side of the grounds are skirted by tbat
branch of the Stour wliicb rises at Westwell.

Tliey are also watcred by a rivuU^t that flows
from the north, and passes through tliem.

MILSTED MANOR-HOUSE, Kent. Tbe
manor of Milstcd witb the Manor-House, is

the property and the seat of Lieut.-Col. Sir

John Maxwell Tylden, Knight, who succeeded
his fatber, Richard Tylden, Esq., in 1832.
The Manor-bouse was built in the time of

Edwai-d III., by Sir Thomas Hoggesbaw,
Knight ;

it is constructed with large upright
beams of oak, placcd two feet apart, the

interstices being filled up with wattles,
covered with clay mixed with chopped straw.

The upper story projected two and a balf feet

beyond tbe lower, but tbe whole front has
been made flush, by bricking up tbe under

space some years since, and then covering
the wbole witb stucco. These repairs, though
they added to the strengtb of tbe buikling,

destroyed a good deal of its picturesqueness.
The front has two large gables at each end,
and a smaller one over a porcb. It is a

good specimen of tbe domestic architecture of
tbe period. From the porch one enters a

large ball, whence several roonis of low pitch
are approached

—the whole is remarkably
warm and dry. It is situated very close to the

Cburcb, in a pleasure-garden, screened from
the east and north-east winds by bigh walls, and
from the north andnorth-west by some very fine

old trees
; through which the Church, built on

slightly elevated ground, looks very picturesque.
On tlie south side ofthe pleasure-garden, stands

a row of remarkably fine fir trees, their boles

covered with luxuriant ivy, giving them the

appearance of vast green cobimns. Many
fine evergreens adorn the grounds, making the

garden appear cheerful, even in winter.

The manor came into the possession of the

Tylden family by purchase, in the early part
of the reign of Cbarles I.; and they have
continued to reside here ever since.

Tbere are several good paintings, and

many ancient and modern portraits ; amongst
them, one of Sir Henry Wootton, beautifuUy
painted on pannel, at Rome, in 1600. He
was tbe friend and companion of William

Tyklen, of Tylden's PLace, in Marden, and
of the Court Lodge, in Womeshill, whose son

Richard purchased the manor of Milsted,
and made it his residence.

BROWSHOLME HALL, Yorkshire, in the

Wcst Riding, five milcs from CHtberoe, and
twelve from Blackburn

;
the seat of Thomas

Goulbourn Parker, Esq.
For several generations tbe Parlcers con-

tinued to be bow-bearers of the Forcst of Bow-

land, and they still preserve the stirrup, or iron

ring, througb whicb tbe dogs kept in the

Forest were obliged to pass ; unless, indeed,
whcn they appertained to noblcmen. In very

early days they were seated at Ove;--Brows-

holme, but, subsequently, Cbarles Blount, Earl

of Devonsbire,
" sold toTbomas Parker, Esq.,

of Over-Browsbobnc, all that messuage, tene-

ment, and one pasturc, within tbe Forest of

Bowland, called Nether Browsholme, wliich
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premises were late parcel of the Ducliy of

Lancaster."

During: tlie great civil war, we fincl Thoraas

Parker appointed
"
captarae ot a compame oi

foote, of the trayned bands of StainclifFe and

Ewcross, under the regiment of Ambrose Pud-

say, Esq., whei-eof the sayd Ambrose Pudsay
is coUonell." His zeal was rewarded, as too

often happened in those days, by the plunder
of his relative's house, both by friends and

foes, of all which, a minute account was drawn

up at the tirae, and is still preserved. Edward
Parker had also the misfortune of being raade

prisoner, and carried to Bradford, when he

had to pay £200 before he could regain his

freedom. In proof of this indiscriminate sys-
tem of piUage, we may give two letters of

protection, the one frora a notorious seques-

trator, the other from a gallant Royalist.
" For the Cols. and Lieut.-Cols. within Cra-

ven, these.
" Noble Gentlemen,—I could desire to move

you in the behalfe of Mr. Edward Parker, of

Broosome, that j^ou would be pleased to take

notice of his house, and give order to the ofh-

cers and souldiers of yourregiments, that they

phrader not, nor violently take avvay any his

goods, without your privities; for truly the

proness of souldiers, sometimes, to corait some

insolencies, w'out comand from their supiors,
is the cause of my writing at this tirae

; hoping
hereby, through your care, to prevent a future

evill, in all thankfuhiess I shall acknowledge
(besides the great obhgation you putt on Mr.

Parker) myselfe to bee,

Your much obliged,
RlCHARD ShUTTLEWORTH."

"These are to intreat all officers and soul-

diers of the Scottish armie, and to require all

officers and soukliers of the English armie

under my comaund, that tliey forbeare to

take or trouble the p'son of Edward Parker, of

Browshohne, Esq., or to pkuider his goods, or

anv other hurt or damao;e to doe unto him in

his estate.

Tho. Tyldesley."
In 1601 the old raansion of Over Brows-

hohne, the ancient residence of the faraily,

which stood nearer to the Roraan road from

Ribchester, was pulled down, and the family
removed to tlie present house, situated upon
an eniinence in the Forest of Bowland. " At
this time," says Whittaker,

" Mr. T. Parker

new-fronted the house in the style of that day,

introducing in the doorway the three orders

of architecture, and laid out the grounds wliich

were situated near the brook, and much warmer
and more shekered than Over-Browshokne, in

the formal fashion of the times. In front was
a bowUng-green, enclosed by a high waU and
iron gates, over which was the Latin inscrip-
tion—Nerno honc entrat porfam, qui violat

cequum. The house then consisted of one

centre and two wings, in the form of a half H.

The doorway, which is ornamented with pil-

ku-s of the three orders of architecture, is

not in the centre, but has three windows on

one side, and two only on the other
;
this space

was in one room, it was caUed the hall, and

was, in extent, sixty-eight feet long, twenty-
three wide, and twelve high. The roof of this

hall is a reuiarkable instance of the good
beams and timbers they at that time used in

their fioors and ceiUngs. There were two

large fire-places, and some plain, massy oaken

tables, the reUques of old EngUsh hospitakty.
The principal staircase went out of this haU,
and was curiously carved in oak. The west wing
contained the principal drawing-roora, which

was thirty feet long by twenty-two feetwide,
and fifteen high (now used as the drawing-
roora) ;

the principal bed-room, the staircase

and the chapel, at the top of aU. The east

wing contained tlie oikces. On the second

fioor is a roora caUed the oak drawing-room,

being most richly carved in oak wainscot.

There were a great many lodging-rooms, and
the kbrary was at the top of the east wing,
containino: a large coUection of curious and
rare works in the early ages ;

a veiy scarce

and fine Missal
;
The Life of St. Edmund, the

founder of Bury St. Edmund's, in SufFolk,

richly illurainated witli portraits, and views

of the Chapel at Bury (tliis was written iii

the fifteenth century) ;
the four first works

of Caxton, in high preservation and exceUent

condition, wliich wei-e sold, a.d. 1810, for IGO

guineas; Earl Spencer, Mr. T. GrenvUIe,
and Mr. J. Towneley, being tlie purchasers.
There is also a very vakiable coUection of

manuscripts relating to the pedigrees of fami-

lies in the counties of York and Lancaster,
written and arranged by Mr. Robert Parker,
of Carlton Hall, 1619

;
also many curious

letters and documents from the Parliamentary
Generals in the RebeUion of 1645; a large
coUection of coins and medals, witli the
" seal for approbation of ministers," in Crom-
weU's time. On the marriage of the late

Edward Parker, Esq., (a.d. 1750,) witli Bar-

bara, second daughter of Sir WiUiam Fle-

ming, Bart., of RydaU HaU, in the county
of Westraorland, the gateway, high waUs,
&c., were removed, aU but the steps and

straight walk up to tlie house. Mr. John

Parker, father of the said Edward Parker,

Esq., built the stables, whicli were directly
in front of the liouse, and near to the old

steps. The approach from Lancaster and
the west came by the stable-yard, and at

some distance from the house. Tliere were
tlien some very fine oaks on the road-side,
which afterwards made tlie floor of the

grand jury-room at Lancaster. Mr. Edvvard
Parker took froni the haU tlie present kbrary,
and made it his dining-room. It is wain-

scoted with very fine old oak wood, froiu

Park-head, near WhaUey, now in the posses-
H H
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sion of James Taylor, Esq., who presented it

to the present owner of Browsholme, a.d.

1809. The chimney-piece is most richly

carved, and has the arms of the Townleys of

Hapton-Tower in the centre, to wliom it

originally helonged. In tlie year 1752, the

west wing became so ruinous as not to be

habitable, and was afterwards used merely as

as place for lumber. In the window of the

drawing-room were ten panesof paintedglass,

containing the ditierent armorial bearings of

the families connected with the Parkers. In

the room above this was found the skull,

which must liave been used in the chapel, as

the family were Catholics to the reign of Eliza-

beth, In the attic chambers were two very
curious bedsteads, entirely of oak

;
the testers,

posts, &c., riclily carved. In the oak draw-

ing-room was a large chest containing coins,

medals, and niany pieces of armour, and a

buff-leather jacket, worn by one of the family
in the Rebellion of 1645."

Intheyear 1804,ThomasListerParker,Esq.,
gi-andson of Edward Parker, Esq. (aetatis suss

24), removed the stables from the front of the

house, the steps also, and straight walks, &c.,
and levelled the bowHng-green as it now is.

The staircase and some of the back apart-
ments and offices were altered, and the hall

was ornamented with the armour and other

curious things found in the house. The win-

dows containing the stained glass, before

alluded to, were put in the hall, and others

made similar to them. The different quarter-

ings of the families allied to Browsliolme were

hung on the walls.

In the year 1805, the west wing was pidled

down, and rebuilt with the same materials,

and on tlie same space, as to the exterior
;
but

within, a new drawing-room, thirty-six feet

by twenty-four, and sixteen high ;
an ante-

room to the back, leading to the dining-room ;

two bed-rooms and dressing-rooms over these.

In the year 180G, the lodge was begun and

finished
;
the arch came from Ingleton Hall in

the county of York, as also did the font
;
the

arms over the door, from Waddington Hall
;

the image of a saint from Whalley Abbey.
The approach was then made from Bashall

Moor, on the east side of the house, and a

new approach from the west by the garden.
Tlie pool of water that liad been commenced
in 1803, was finished in 1807, whenfour acres

of Bashall Moor, adjoining the water, were

])lanted ;
and to these were added thirty acres

more in the year 1813.

These improvements were carried out under

the superintendence of Sir Jeffry Wyattville.
The curiositics, coins, tapestry, and anti-

quities to be seen within tliis house are far

too numerous for description. The pictures

comprise several works of the pld masters,

portraits of the times of Charles I. and II.,

and some excellent paintings by Northcote,

in addition to many family portraits. Among
these last is one of the ancestor of the branch
of the Parkers, settled by him at Alkincoats,
an old mansion, near Cohie, the residence of
his lineal descendant, Edward Parker, Esq.,
father of Thomas Goulburne Parker, Esq.,
the present possessor of Browshohne Hall. It

would seem, too, that many interesting letters

and MSS. of various kinds are also preserved at

Browshohne. In particular, there is
" A Col-

lcction of Letters, &c., written in the reigns
of Charles I. and II., and James II., &c."
These the indefatigable Wliitaker has tran-

scribed and published in his elaborate account
of Browsliohne, to which we refer the reader

as being well worthy of his attention. As

they are too long for oiu- pm-pose, we shall

content om-selves witli giving a specimen of

local poetry, discovered among the papers at

Browshohne :
—

" A Balade of Maktage.
" In yonder wode * there is a clene,+

Whei- 1 myselfe was late reposjnig',
Wher blosomes in ther piime have bene,
And flowers faire ther colors losjTig ;

A love of mj^ie I chaunced to meete,
Wch causid me too longe to tarye,

And then of hym 1 did entrete
To tel me -when he thought to marye.

It thou wilt not my secrete tel,

Ne bruite abrode in Whalley parish,
And swere to Itepe my counsel wel,

I will declare mye daye of marriage.

When Somer's heate wyl drie noe mjTe,
And Wynter's rain noe longer patter ;

Wlicn leade wyl mclt witliouten fjTe,
And bearc brades doe nede no water ;

AVhen Downham stones with dyamond ringes,
And cockles be with perles compared ;

Whcn ^olde is made of gray goose quilles ;

Then wyl mie love and I bee maryed.

When buck's harte in Hoder lies,

And graylings on the fells are bredyng ;

Wien muscles grow on everie tree,

And swannes on everie rock are fedjTig ;

Whcn mountains are by men removyd,
And Kibble back to Horton caryed,

Or Pcndle Hill grows silk above,
Tlien wyl mie love and I bee mai-j-ed.

When moore or mosse doe saffron yelde,
And beck and sike ren downe with honie,

Wlicn sugar growes in cvcry lielde,

And clerkes wyl take no bribe of monie ;

When men in Bowlande dyeth here,
Aud at Jerusalem bee hurycd ;

Or wl\en tlie Sunne dothe ryse at noone,
Then wyl mie love and I bee maryed.

Now farewcl, frende, yf it he soe,

And tliys tliy once expected wedyng ;

For ncither I, nor none of niy liinn

Wyl ev'r nede to loke for hidynge.
1 swerc and vow, yf this bee trowe,
And thou of such an evyl carryage,

Yf I slioulde l}'ve ten thousande ycre,
I'd nev'r more expecte thie maryage."

At one time there was a fine herd of deer

in Bowhuid, but in 1805 this last vestige of

feudal superiority was destroyed.

Wood. + A valley.
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HOPPESFOED HALL, in the co. of War-

wick, aiul parish of Withibrook
;

the pro-

perty of Tlioinas x\rnold, Esq.
In the tinie of the Nonnan Conqueror

this manor belonged to Geoffrey Wirce, and
afterwards canie into the possession of the

Mowbrays, one of whom gave a portion of

it to the monks of Kirby, or Coombe Abbey.
At a later period we tind it in the hands

of Sir Edward Belknap, Knight, who sold it to

Richard Wright, Esq., from whose family it

passed to that of the present owner.

This Hall is supposed to have been built

by tlie Monks of Coombe Abbey. It stood

in a square, now marked out by ehn trees,

in the midst of a plot of ground containing
about eighteen acres. Dugdale, in his day,

speaks of it as being
" no better than a

depopulated place, there being no more left

of the manour-house than the bare skeleton

thereof, not habitable, and two mean cot-

tages."

SKIPTON CASTLE, Yorkshire, one of the

seats of Sir Richard Tufton, Bart.

At the time of the Norman Conquest, this

district formed a part of the lands belonging
to Earl Edwin, one of the Saxon Thanes. It

was afterwards granted by WilHam the Con-

queror to one of his followers, Robert de

Romille, or Romeli, who built the Castle
;

and from that time the village of Skipton,

rising in importance, hecame a town, though
it never had a municipal government, nor was

represented in Parliament.

At a later period, this barony passed by
marriage into the Albemarle family ;

but by
the artifices of a bold and ofRcious priest, it

was obtained from its rightfid owner, and
vested in the Ci-own. By Edward II. it was
bestowed on Piers de Gaveston, who, becom-

ing obnoxious to the rebellious barons, was

captured by them and beheaded. In 1311,
another alienation transferred it to a family,

who, with the exception of a single attainder,
held it uninterruptedly for five hundred years.
The grant was made by Edward II., to

Robert, Lord ClitFord, a name written in

bloody characters in the pages of Shakspeare,
when his descendants so long and so fiercely

upheld the liouse of Lancaster. One of these,

the hero of the poet's drama, had obtained a

sort of fame that borders closely upon infamy,

being, as Leyland tells us,
" for slaughter of

the men at Wakefield, called the boucher."

The estates, which became forfeited by the

success of the Yorkists, were once more
restored by Henry VII. to Henry Lord Clif-

ford in 1486. He was surnamed the Shepherd,*
from having been brought up as a peasant

amongst the fells of Cumberland, to secure

* TheHfeof "
tlie Shepherd Lovd," forms one of the

most romantic episodes in the annals of family history.
See Anecdutes of the Aristocracy.

him from his enemies. Conscious of the

defects resulting from this mode of life, which

he had led till his twenty-fifth year, he

mingled little with the world, but spent his

time in the solitary pursuits of alchemy and

astronomy. In his sixtieth year, however,
he was appointed to a command in the

English army that met, and so declsively

routed, tlie Scots at Flodden.

In default of male heirs, this property

passed to Lady Anne Clifford, (daughter and
heiress of George, Earl of Cumberland) who

married, first, Richard, Earl of Dorset, and

secondly, Philip, Earl of Pembroke.* Upon
her death, the Lady Margaret Sackville, her

first daughter and co-heir, succeeded to the

estate. This lady had previously married John

Tnfton, Earl of Thanet.

Skipton Castle, as we have a little before

observed, was originally built by Robert de

Romille, one of the followers of the Norman

Conqueror ;
so at least it is asserted by the

profound antiquary, Camden, wlio, though
lie gives no authority for the fact, may yet be
relied upon, as he never makes assertions

without having sufficient groimds for them.
" Of the original building," says Whitaker,
"

little, I think, remains besides the western

doorway of the inner castle
;
but as that con-

sists of a treble semicircular arch supported

upon square piers, it can scarcely be assigned
to a later period. The rest of RomiIle's work,
besides a bailey and lodgings about it, must
liave consisted, according to the imiform

style of castles in that period, of a square
tower with perpendicular buttresses of little

projection at the angles, and of single round-

headed lights in the walls. Every vestige,

however, of such an edifice has perished,
with the single exception mentioned above

;

and the oldest part of Skipton Castle, now

remaining, consists of seven round-towers,

partly in the sides, and partly in the angles
of the building, connected by rectilinear

apartments, which form an irregular, quad-
rangular court within. The walls are from
twelve to nine feet thick

; yet when the

Castle was slighted by ordinance of Parlia-

ment in the last century, tliey were demolished
in some places, as appears, half-way ;

and in

others, almost wliolly to the foundation.

This part was the work of Robert de Clitford,
in the beginning of Edward II. 's time

;
for

according to his descendant, Lady Pembroke,

* Anne Clifford, Countess of Dorset and Pemhroke, was
one of the most excellent and remarkable women of her
time. Her celebrated reply to Sir Joseph Williamson

Secretary to King Charles II., who had written todictate
to liei a member for Appleby, Horace Walpole adduces

among his proofs of the superiority of women iu epis-

tolary oorrespoudence :
—

" I have been bulUed hy an usurper, nef^leeted by a

Court, but I will not be dictated to by a subject. Your
mansl"ian't stand."
The Countess's spirit was only equalled by her bene-

volence and charity.
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' he was the chief bviilder of the niost strong

parts of Skipton Castle, which had been
out of repair and ruinous from tlie Al-

bemarles' time.' But tlie eastern part, a

single range of buildings at least sixty yards

long, termiuated by an octagon tower. is

known to have been built by the iirst Earl of

Cumberland, in the short space of four or

five months, for the reception of the '

Lady
Eleanor Brandon's grace,' who married his

son, in the twenty-seventli year of that reign,
This part, which was meant for state ratlier

than defence, was not slighted (demohshed)
witli the main part of the castle, and
remains nearly in its original condition, as

the wainscot, carved with fluted panels,
and even some of the original furniture, serve

to prove. Tlie upper windows, only, appear
to liave been altered by the Coimtess of

Pembroke. The '

Lady Eleanor's grace
'

appears to have been receivedby tlie family
—

who, no doubt, were proud of such an
alliance—with the honours of royalty ;

and
a long gallery was then considered as a

necessary appendage to every princely
residence.

"

Skipton Castle, as much from the wai-like

character of its owners, as from its own*im-

portance, hasbeen tliesubject of divers sieges.
In the early feuds between the rival houses
of York and Lancaster, it escaped without

damage ;
but in the Pilgrimage of Grace,

the rabble, headed by some men of military

skill, besieged here ihe first Earl of Cumber-

land; and from his letters to Henry VIIL, it

would seem that " the insurgents entered his

house, tore his evidences in pieces, and rifled

his treasures, wherewith he shoidd have
assisted the king's higlmess." Nor was tliis

result at all surprising ;
for as the Castle,

however strong by art, is yet in military

plirase overcrowed by two adjoining heights,
it could hardly be expected to hold out long
against an army which was well supplied with

battering cannon, and had before taken York
and Pontefract Castles.

In tlie time of the great Civil War, Skipton
Castle was handled yet more rouglily by the

Parliamentarians under Lambert, Poyntz, and
Rossiter

;
men who, in tlieir own phrase,

seldom did the work of the Lord negli-

gently, and who, in tliis case, were furthermore
irritated by having been kept before the

walls for three years by the stubbornness of

the besieged. Upon the surrender, at last,

of the garrison, an order was issued by the

Parhament for the demolition of the refrac-

tory fortrcss
;
an order which was only par-

tially carried into eftect. Whitaker, Vv^ho had
access to the Memoirs of the Countess of

Pembroke, and who had besides studied the
remains with much attention, has given us

the following hicid accoxmt of the transaction.

Biit, as connected with his story, and indeed

as essential to its understanding, we nuist

flrst observe, tliat over the modern entrance

to the Castle is the following inscription :
—

Tnis SicirTos Castle was repatred by
THE Labt Anne Clifford, Cocntess Dow-
AGEit OF Pembuoke, Uokset, ajjd Montgo-
merie, Bauoness Cliffokd, Westmorland,
AND VeSEIE, LaDTE OF TIIE HONOUR OF SkIF-

TON IN Craven, and Sheriffesse dt ikhe-

RITANCE OF THE COUNTTE OF WeSTMORLAND,
IN THE TEARE8 1657 AND 1658, AFTER THIS

MAINB PART OF ITT HAD LATNE RIJINOUS EVER
SINCE DeCEMBER, 1648, AND THE JaNUART
FOLLOWINGE, WHEN ITT "WAS THEN PULLED
DOVNE AND DEMOLISHED, ALMOST TO THE

FOUNDATION, BT THE COMMAND OF THE PaR-
LIAMENT, THEN SITTING AT WeSTM1NSTE1{,
BECAUSE ITT HAD EIN A GARRISON IN THE THEN
CIVIL WARRES IN EnGLAND.

ISAIAH, CHAP. LVIII. God's NAME BE
PRAISED.

Upon this inscription by tlie Countess,

Dr. Whitaker observes, by the words, maitie

•part, in this inscription, we are to under-

stand the old castle only, as distinct from

the gallery. Mr. Gray inferred too much
from this inscription, when he informed his

correspondent that " this was one of our

good Countess's buildings, but upon old

foundations."

And may we not be allowed to suspect
that the good lady expressed herself too

strongly with regard to the total demolition

even of this part of the Castle, in order to

magnify her own achievement in restoring
it ? However this may be, I will endeavour

to state the fact with accuracy, partly from

appearances, and partly from her own me-
moirs.

First, thcn, the west end, and that only,
had been demolislied nearly to the founda-

tions
;

for here the great breach was made

by a battery planted on a neighbouring
eminence.

Next—with respect to the demolition by
order of Parliament—the whole of this part of

the Castle was unroofed, the lead and wood

sokl, and the upper part of the walls pulled

down, in some places about one-third of their

height, when the workinen evidently desisted

from weariness. Tliis may be proved by
examining the rounders within, (for witliout

it is difiicidt to discover the line whicli sepa-
rates the old and new masonry.) Here the

upper part of tlie wall is little more tlian half

the original thickness
;
and some of the apart-

ments within the rounders have a sort of plat-

form, occasioned by the separation, about half

way between the floor and roof. Lady Pem-
broke informs us that she came to Skipton,

July ISth, 1649—Le., a few months after the

slig-iiting of the Castle—stayed ten days in the

town, and on the 28th removed to Barden.

On the 13th of February foUowing, she caine
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to Skipton again,- wliere she remained for the

greater part of twelve months, holding courts,

causing boundaries to be ridden, and niaking

repairs. During this time she inhabited the

gallery and adjoining apartments, which had

never been slighted. The great Octagon
Room was her bed-chamber.

But the " old castle
"

itself lay in ruins till

about October, 1655, when she set about

removing the rubbish, which had hun there

ever since 1648. The 25th of March follow-

ing she began to repair the building
;^
and by

Michaehnas thirteen apartments were hnished
;

seven of them upper rooms, in one of which

herself was born, and her uncle, Earl Francis,

died. Had the demoHtion been complete,
this could not have heen said with propriety.

The walls, at least, of the room, must in part
have remained to identify it.

" In the Baily wall on the south, are the

remains of a large rounder
;
and the gateway

itself, which opens into the town, near the

east end of the church, has four strong and

bulky round-towers, which appear to have

been beaten down about half-way to the

foundation in the seventeenth century, and

repaired by the good Countess, Over the

arch, however, are the arms of Henry, Lord

CHffbrd, with the cypher, H. C, and date

1629 beneath. The pierced battlement has

on one side, in large characters,

Georgii Meritum Marmore Perennius,

and on the other, the ancient motto of the

family, Desormais."

Since the time of the Countess, and from the

year 1808 to 181 8, this ancient edifice has

undergone several other repairs. It is now an

occasional residence of the Tufton family, but

yet retains a portion of its ancient grand and

imposing aspect.

PARTON, in the co. of Kirkcudbright, about

two miles from the town of Castle Douglas ;

the seat of Miss Glendonwyn of that Ilk.

Of this very ancient and distinguished

family, Sir Walter Scott gives the foUowing
brief account in a note to the romance of
" The Abbot:"—"

Glendonwyn was a house

of ancient descent and superior consequence,

inchiding pei'sons who fought at Bannockburn
and Otterburn, and closely connected by
aliiance and friendship with the great Earls

of Douglas."
The lineage of this race is deduced by

Douglas in his "Baronage," from Sir Adam
Glendonwyn of Glendonwyn, in the time of

King Alexander III. The existing ftimily

are directly sprung from King Robert III.
;

their ancestor, Sir Simon Glendoning of that

ilk, having married Lady Mary Douglas,

daughter of Archibald, foiirth Earl of Douglas,

by his wife, the Lady Margaret Stewart,

daughter of Robert III., king of Scotland.

The son of this marriage, Sir Simon Glen-

doning of that ilk, married the Lady Eliza-

beth Lindsay, daughter of Alexander, Earl
of Crawford. In 1449, this Sir Simon was
one of the guarantees of a treaty of peace
with England, together with the Earls of

Douglas, Angus, Ross, Murray, Crawford,
&c. He was of Parton in 1458, and perhaps
yet earlier; but a charter dated in that year,
and conffrming the barony to him, is still

extant. From him descended in the eleventh

generation, the late William Glendonwyn,
Esq., of Parton, who died in 1809; leaving
issue by his wife (Agnes Gordon, of Crogo,)
three daughters; viz.—1, Mary Lucy Eliza-

beth Agnes, married to Sir James Gordon,
Bart., of Letterfourie in Banftsliire ;* 2,

Xaveria, unmarried, by family arrangements
the present proprietrix of Parton

;
and 3,

Ismene Magdalene, wife of William Scott,
of Whimpson, in Hampshire, (brother of Jane

Ehzabeth, Countess of Oxford,) by whom she

has issue William-Glendonwyn, a major in

the 91st regiment; Frederick James, and
Cliarles Glendonwyn, at present residing in

Edinburgh. This very ancient family has at

all times been characterized by its adherence
to the Roman Catholic religion

— anadherence
from which it never swerved, even at the

periods of the bitterest persecution.
The house of Parton derives its name from

the parish wherein it stands, and which is sup-
posed to mean in the Gaelic, thc hUl-top, a
name that well describes the locality. Although
there is no hill here of great height, except
Mochrum, Fell, towards the north of the

parish, yet the whole surface of the district

is elevated and uneven. It also supplies peat
in great abundance, and this is the fuel most
in use among the poorer classes.

The present mansion of Parton, built

about sixty years ago by the father of the

present proprietrix, the late William Glen-

donwyn of tliat ilk, is of modern architecture,
not of any particular style ;

a light-looking,
handsome building, possessing a peculiarly

elegant staircase. In it also remains the

identical two-handed sword used by the Sir

Simon Glendonwyn who fell at Otterburn,
and who carried the standard of Scotland
there. It is situated amongst the most beau-
tiful scenery in the south of Scotland, sui--

rounded by fine old timber, and in near view
of tlie lovely river Dee, where it stretches to

a inile's breadth, not far from the public
road that leads from Castle Douglas to New-
galloway, about six miles from each, on steeply

undulating grounds formerly named "
Fairies,

or Fairy knowes." The ancient residence

and Baronial Chapel were on a much more

*
Latl}' Gordon d. in 1845, leaving issue, tlie prcsent

Sir Williain Gordon, Bait., of Lctterfourie
;

Robcrt ;

Helen ; Mary, -wife of Mr. Serjeant Shee, M.P., ancl

Alexandrina-Jane.
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elevated situation-

enchanting and extensive view
- - - "

ri'^

on a hill, connnanding an
'

of the river

and neighbourhood. This hill still goes by
the name of "

tlie Chapel Brae," and the site

of the sacred edifice is yet indicated by some

decayed hawthorn trees, planted in the form
of a cross.

About a mi!e and a half from Parton House,
there runs into the Dee the stream of Spear-
ford, which derivesits name from the place of

its junction with the Dee having been once
the scene of a conflict, the traditionary
account of which is graphically given in the

following ballad :
—

LouD rung the Slogan, the clansmen to g-ather,
It rous'd the uun deei- in the wood of Glenlee

;

Gleain'd the light axe and bi'oad-sword on the heather,
l'iom davksome Loch-Uoon to the holms of ihe Dee :

Wild froin his native glen,
Rush'd the bold spearman tlien,

Rude as the storms oij his mountains that blow ;

Ban[h'oI and pennant stream,
Bright on the morning beam,

Darken'd Loch-Ken in his valley below.

Proudly paraded the hardy Glenkensmen—
Their broad tartans wav'd in the winds of the hill :

Gordon's loud heumont cheers on his bold clansmen
;

The turrets of Kenmore resound to the peal ;

Swiftly MacuIIooh came,
Maitland and all his train,

Stout Craigengillan, and haughty Knockgray ;

Keunedy's bowmen true,
Muster'd on Lowran's brow—•

Wood-shaded Dee ne'er beheld such array.

Flash'd the broad battle-axe clear on the river,
The shouts of tlie war men were heard from afar

;

Loudwas the banner-cry—" Gordon for ever !

"

" Lord Gordon of Kenmore, and young Lochinvar :"

Dark as the winter cloud,

Sweeps o'er the SoIway's flood,
Scour they the valley, and forage the plain ;

H amlet aud village burn,
Widow and maiden mourn,

Fed were their hands in the blood of the slain.

Rough was their raid, o'er the lowland extending,
" Arouse tliee, Glendonwyn," his w-aiden did cry," Fierce from themoor arc the Gordons descending,
" Drunu-ash aiid Glenlaggan blazc red to the sky :"

Smiling, the chicftain said,
" Gordon shall rue his raid—

" Keen are the lanees of Orr and the Dee ;
" Wide spread the war alarm,
" Telford and Herries warm,

"
Livingston, Duchray, and hardy Macghie."

Yeird the war-blast, o'er green hill and valley,
Tlie troopers of Dee sprung to arms at the souud,—
Helmet and lance in the sun glitter'd gaily,
And swift o'er the lee did the war-charger Ijound :

Louder the bu{,de sung,
Hauberk and buckler rung,—

Battle-brands glanc'd on the banks of the Orr
;

Forcmost the chicftain strode,

Waving their falchions broad,

Briskly o'er dale and doon onward they bore.

Doe's sablestream, inhisvale gcntly flowing,
Was hiuden by hazel and poplar so gay ;

Red on the holms was the wcstern sun glowing,
The grey rock on I^owran side mirror'd his ray :

Clansmen your plunder leave,
See how thc banners wave,

Broad o'er Glenlochar they float on the sky,
Dalesmcn in jack and spcar,
Kank'd ou tlie plain appcar,

Kenmorc, beware thee, Glendonwyn is nigh;

Dark on the lee wcre thc dalesmen advancing,
Glendonwyn, in frout, brandish'd high his broadsword;
Hardy Macghie, -with his troopcrs came prancing,
And ftcrcc was the fray at thc strcam of Spearford.

Loud yeird the SI(igan's blast,
Broad sword on buckler clash'd,

Spear and Iigh*--axe clove the helraets of steol ;

Hissing the arrows fly,
War-steed and rider clie,

"Gordon for ever !" resounds o'er the field !

Mark ye yon chief, like the wild wolf of Lowran,
That tears the young kid on the banks of Lojh-Ken 1

'Tis Lord Lochinvar,—see his foes fall befove him—
The blood of the dalesraen runs red on the plain :

Briskly Glendonwjm then
Caird to his merry men,

On rush'd the sons of the Dee and the Orr ;

Lances in shivers flew,
Hattle blades keen they drew,—

Thick was the stream with the darK purple gore !

Long was the bloody field fiercely disputed,
Till brave Lochinvar fell,— by numbers laid low ;

Loudly Glendonwyu the victory shotiied,
As towards his mountains retir'd the foe,

Sullen the evening star

SoowPd on the field of war,—
Dying groans murinur'd on Uee's sable wave :

Still as the water-sprite
Howls thio' the gloom of night,

Hov'ring are seen the pale forms of the brave.

HEPBTJRN, in the co. of Diirham, two miles

to the west of Jarrow, and one mile south of
the Tyne ;

the seat of Ciithbert Ellison, Esq.,
who for sonie time represented Newcastle-

upon-Tyne in Parliament.

In 1532, tliis manor was conveyed by Ralph
Grey, the then owner of it, to the family of

Baxter, from whom it passed to Richard

Hodshon, alderman, of Newcastle.

The family of the Hodshons were zealous

Roman Catholics, a circumstance which seems
to have occasioned much jealousy to tlie Pro-

testant burghers of Newcastle, who were any-
thing btit free from the fanatical spirit of tlieir

time. We are tokl by Sir Ralph Sadler, dur-

ing the rebellion of tlie Earls in 1569—" Of

Sonday last the Protestants and Papests withyn
Newcastell made a fray ;

but Mr. Hodshon, a
rank Papest, ys put forth of the town, and the

matter payssetled, praised be God."
The grandson of the citizen, thus uncere-

moniously ejected from tlie town, strengthened
his connections with the old interest by marry-
ing Frances Ingleby, grand-danghter of the

attainted Earl of Westmorland. He also

appears to have been considered as a very

dangerous opponent by all good Protestants,
and Bisliop Neile expresses apprehension of

his proceedings to the Lords in Council, in

his Declaration itpon Letters and Exami-
nationsfrom Newcastle.

Wonderful to state, the Mayor of Durham
had better nerves than the Bishop, or else stood

much in need of what, in after times, used to

be jocosely called Pro/estoH^ spectacles. He
could by no means find any particular danger
in the proceedings of Sir Robert Hodshon,
and delivers his mind accordingly to his em-

ployers. In a letter to Mr. Smyth, 19th Nov.,
1625, he writes :

— "
Understanding my Lord

of Durham desires to be satistied concerning
thc (lanyer of Sir liobert Ho(/son's and Mrs.
Lawson's houses, and of the intercourse with

each otlicr by boats on the river
;
these are to

inform his Lo'pp that I, and the aldermen my
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iDrethren, liearing of snch rcports, macle en-

qiiiry, and conld iinde noe niatter tliereof bnt

idle reports, other than their keeping of boats

for crossmg the river."

To judge from all accounts, it would seem

as if treason and rebellion were inherent in the

very walls of this unlucky mansion. Surtees

drily observes,
" Hebborne continuedto throw

out plots and conspiracies after it had become
tbe property of a sober Protestant family, in-

timately connected with the corpoi-ation of

Newcastle. In 1656, a mad design was en-

tertained by Clavering, and Adam Shep-
liardson, to contrive a way from the cole-pitts

about two miles from the castle, under ground,
into the Castle of Tinmouth, for to reheve the

enemy with provisions if need required; and

for that purpose there Avas great store laid in,

and to be laid in at Hebburn house, and

eiglity firelocks, and a great number of stilet-

toes laid into Fellon House."
The Hodshon family, in its chief branch,

terminated in an heiress, married to Francis

Carr, of Cocken
;
and the estate of Hepburn

passed by purchase, about the year 1650, to

the ancient family of EUison, in whose posses-
sion it still continues.

The old mansion was no doubt built with

some view to defence, for it trenches on the

castle like the border-towers. A part of this

ancient structure still remains upon the west.

The rest, however, was nearly rebuilt about

the year 1790, and presents the appearance of

a large, handsome house, in a i-eguLir style of

architecture. The masonry is of the High-
Heworth fire-stone.

The grounds have been much improved of

late years by extensive plantations, and by
diverting the Newcastle road to the north of

the mansion.

CASTLEFEEKE, the noble seat of the Right
Hon. Lord Carbery, is situated on the south-

western coast of the co. of Cork, about fovu*

miles from the ancient cathedral town, or

city, of Rosscarbery. The domain is very

large, extending over many hundred acres of

highly diversified grounds, beautifully planted

by the Late Lady Carbery, whose skill in

arboriculture was severely tested by the pre-
valent winds from the Atlantic, which blow
here with great violence for a considerable

part of the year. Yet, by unceasing perse-

verance, and by a judicious selection of the

trees best calculated to resist the fnry of the

storms, her hidyship has clothed with hixuriant

foHage the bold eminences along the coast

which principally form the domain. The
mansion stands on a height, commanding a

magnificent prospect. The windows overlook

a grassy declivity, beyond which are swelling

woods, from whose centre rises the tall pin-
nacled tower of the Protestant Church of

CastleFi-eke. Farther still is the blue ocean,

expanding into the distant horizon. The old

nanie of the place was Rathbarry ;
and Rath-

barry-House, once the abode of Lord Car-

bery's ancestors, still stands in a sheltered

part of the grounds, entirely shrouded by tlie

surrounding trees. The gardens and shrub-

beries are arranged with great taste, and are

beautifully kept. The late Lord Carbery,
uncle of the present Lord, died a few years
since at a patriarchal age. In early Ufe he

had been rather liberal in politics, and had
once been intimate with the 0'Connors, of

Connerville. He was member for Baltimore,

(being then Sir John Freke) at the period of

the Union
; against which measure he re-

corded his vote in the Irish House of Com-
mons. In his will, he enjoins his successor

to reside at CastleFreke for at least six

months in each year, under, we beUeve, a

penalty of forfeiture. He also restrains his

successor, under the same penalty, from marry-

ing a Cathohc
;
and provides for the pre-

servation of the family pew in Rosscarbery
Cathedral. He married the Lady Catherine

Gore, daughter of the 2nd Earl of Arran.

One of her ladyship's sisters, the Lady Cecilia,

was successively married to Sir George

Buggin, Knt., and to his Royal Highness
the Duke of Sussex

;
in consideration of

which last alliance, she was created Duchess

of Inverness by her Majesty Queen Victoria.

In the house of CastleFreke are several

family paintings. One of theni, dating from

some part of the last century, represents a

Mrs. Wilson, an interesting and dehcate look-

ing woman, respecting whom the following
wild story is tokt. Her husband was absent

on mihtary duty in Flanders, and she had

long vainly watched successive posts for some
news of his career. One night, after she had
retired to bed, her maid, who occupied an

adjoining closet, was startled at hearing a

scream from her mistress's apartment. On

entering it, she found Mrs. Wilson much

excited, and gazing with intense earnestness

at some object, invisible to the maid. A
funeral procession seemed slowly to sweep

past the tbot of the bed. The craped mourners

and the phimed carriages appeared to

emerge, in interminable numbers, from one of

the walls of the room, and to vanish through
the opposite walL At length came the hearse

with its huge nodding phunes ;
and on it Lay

a cofiin without a lid
;
a sable pall was thrown

over the coffin, leaving the gha.stly face of the

corpse exposed.
"
Oh, my hnsband ! my

husband!" shrieked the lady, as the well

known features, scarred with wounds received

in battle, met her eye. The phantom-hearse

passed on at the same slow pace, and vanished,
like the rest of the spectral train, through the

wall. Mrs. Wilson took a note of the day
and hour at which she saw this appalling

phantasm ;
and she subsequently learned that
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at that exact moment, her hushand fell in an

action in Flanders.

KODBOURITE, near Mahnesbury, Wiltshire
;

the seat of the family of Richard Hungerford
PoUen, Esq., nephew of Sir John Walter

PoUen, Bart., of Redenham.
At one period, this estate belonged to the

Hungerfords, of Farley Castle, in the same

county. The last lineal descendant of this

family, having married Mary, daughter of

John PoUen, Esq., of Andovei', and dying
without issue, this estate passed, under her

will, to the late Richard PoUen, Esq., second
son of Sir Richard PoUen, Bart.

In 1820, the old mansion-house was pulled

down, and the present edifice erected. It

belongs to the modern style of architecture,
but was enlarged and improved by Richard

Pollen, Esq.

CASTLE BERNARD, King's County, near the

post-town of Kinnitty ;
the seat of Captain

Thomas Bernard, eldest son and heir of the

late Thomas Bernard, Esq., who sat in Par-

liament for many years as Member for the

King's County.
This property has been in the possession of

the family of Bernard for upwards of two

centuries, without interruption.
The grounds are very beautiful and exten-

sive, being richly ornamented witli wood.
The whole is siu-rounded with the most

picturesque mountain scenery, amidst which
the river Brusna takes its source, and forms a

very handsome feature in the landscape.

THE MOTE, in the co. of Kent, about a

mile eastward from the town of Maidstone
;

the seat of the Earl of Romney.
In the reign of Henry III., The Mote

formed part of the possessions of the noted

family of Leyborne, upon whose extinction

it became the property of John de Shofford.

It afterwards passed tlirougli the hands of
the Dittons, Burghersli, and Woodville, or

Widville, who in succession made it their

residence. This last-named family was at

one time of great account. Richard de

Widville, K.G., Earl Rivers, and Lord of

the Isle of Wight, was father to Elizabeth,
the Queen of Edward IV. " When this good
man," says Philipott, in his Villare Can-

tlanuin,
" for so he was noted to be, was

miserably massacred by Robert Ridisdale,

captain of the levvd people of Northampton-
shire, who took him at Edgcot-field, and
struck off his head at Northampton (their
will beiiig their Uxw, and mischief minister to

their wild designs), all his seven sons, who
survived him, died witliout issue

;
and then

Sir Thomas Wyatt, grandfather to Sir Henry
Wyatt, afterwards his successor in tlie posses-
sion of it, became owner of tliis place Sir

Thomas, a Prity Councillor to Henry VIII.,
was a man of unbroken, though a calamitous

virtue
; wlio, tliinking it a less shame to forfeit

his estate than to debauch his conscience,
stuck close to that sacramental covenant, by
wliich lie and the rest of the Council liad

obliged tliemselves to tlie king, to preserve,
as mucli as in them lay, his two daughters,

Mary and Elizabeth, from confederating with

any foreign alliance, and so engaged in that

design which overset him and his patrimony
into ruin."

Upon tlre attainder of Sir Thomas, Queen
Mary granted it for a term of years to her

kinsman, Arclibisliop Cardinal Pole
;
but

having again become vested in the Crown,
it was eventually granted out, by Queen
Elizabeth

;
and afterwards passed through

several families, by descent and piuxhase, to

the Tuftons, in the early part of the reign of

King Charles I.

Sir John Tufton, Bart., dying in the year
1685, bequeathed this estate to his neice,
Tufton Wray, who not long afterwards dis-

posed of it to Sir John Marsham, Bart., of

Whornes Place, in Cookstone. In this family
it still remains, Sir Robert Marsham, 5th Bart.,

having been created a peer by the title of

Baron Romney, in June, 1724; and his

grandson a Viscount and Earl in June, 1801.

The old mansion was originally castellated,

and surrounded by a moat, from which

probably it derived its name
; though at the

same time it should be observed that this

appellation is common in various parts of

Kent. It was a venerable but rambling
structure in the lower part of the park, and
was taken down rather more than fifty years

ago, a little before which time the owner had
erected a new and more splendid mansion.

This last building stands upon a knoU, com-

manding some fine and picturesque views,

although by some it has been objected to

as having too much the air of a civic villa.

However this may be, and it is difficult to

decide upon such points of taste, the principal

apartments are elegantly and even superbly

fittedup, without any apparent sparing ofex-

pense. Here also are some good paintings,
as well as some interesting portraits of the

family and its connections.

The park, attached to this mansion, is

extensive, andaboundsin fine timber, amongst
which the old oaksare conspicuous. A broad

sheet of water, or lake, has been made in

front of the house, with a handsome bridge
aci-oss it, forming a pleasing feature in the

landscape.

COCKEEMOTJTH CASTLE, in the co. of Cum-

berland, and in Allerdale Ward, above Der-

went, about twenty-five miles from Carlisle
;

the property of General Wyndham.
This Castle has taken its name froui the
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neighbouring mavket-town of Cockermouth.

The latter was so called from its situation at

the mouth of the river Cocker, which runs

through the town, dividing it into two equal

parts,
" save only that the church, market-

place, and castle stood all on the east side

thereof, more upon an ascent, where, under
the west side of the castle-wall, the river Der-
went receives the Cocker, and thex'e they make
one stream."

The Castle is the baronial residence of the

Lords of Allerdale, and stands upon a site that

was at one time a Roman, and at another a

Saxon station. Some suppose it to have been
built soon after the Conquest, by William de

IMeschines, who possessed this part of Cum-
berland by the grace of Ranulph de Meschines.
Others have attributed its erection to Waldeof,
first Lord of Allerdale below Derwent, and
son of Gospatric. This powerful noble had

previously resided at a place in the same

county, called Papcastle, about two miles be-

low Cockermouth, upon the opposite bank of
the river Derwent. This ancient seat he is

traditionally said to have demolished, that he

might make use of the materials in constructing
his new habitation. After him the estate was

successively possessed by the Lucys, Multons,

Umphrevilles, Percys, and Nevilles, whose
arms may yet be seen over the tower gateway.

Subsequently it passed into the hands of the

Earl of Egremont, and is now the property of

General Wyndham.
Cockermouth Castle appears to have been

a strong fortress of considerable extent, which

occiipies the summit of an artificial mount,
raised upon a precipice above the Derwent,
near its confluence with the Cocker. It was
of a square form, and protected by squai"e

towers, the circuit of the wall measuring
ahnost six hundred yards, The entrance was
defeiided by a drawbi-idge, a deep ditch, and
a tower gateway. Burn, who wrote some-
whatless than eighty years ago, says,

" Of the

Castle, no part is habitable but the gate-house,
and two rooms on each floor, where the old

stable stood adjoining thereto; and the Court-

house at the east angle of the Castle wall,
where the Christmas sessions was also held till

the new hall was built. The Castle-yard hath
a bowling-green enclosed in it, which is all

the land that did belong to it.
' '

This account, howevei", is somewhat meagre,
and will give but a faint idea of these fine old

ruins, that are still very perfect, and unite

both the Saxon and Norman style of archi-

tectiu'e. Britton is somewhat niore minute
in his description. He tells us,

" Within the

entrance is an open area, about thirty-five

yards square, which communicates with an
interior court, round which the principal

buildings have been situated. To the north-

west are the remains of a square tower, which

appears to have been the most ancient part of

the fortress. Beneath it is a cell, or chamber,
thirty feet square, which is entered from the

inner area by a descent of twelve steps, and

lighted by one small grated window. The
vault is formed of groined arches, intersecting
each other, and supported by an octagonal
piUar in the centre, whieh is perforated to

contain a lead pipe, for the conveyance of
water into the cell. On each side the gate-
way, between the outward and inner courts,
is a deep dungeon, suificiently capacious to

contain forty persons ;
both are vaulted at the

top, and have only a small opening, for the

purpose of lowering down the unhappy
wretches, Avhose fate occasioned their confine-

ment in these dire prisons. On the outside
of each is a narrow slit, or aperture, having a

descending slope, through which provisions
were conveyed to the miserable inmates."
The park lies to the north-east side of the

castle, rising with a gradual ascent eastward,
above a mile, to the top of Hay Fell, and

bending with a similar descent nortliwards, to-

wards the Derwent. It was long ago disparked,
and the herbage sold to Sir Thomas Wharton,
but it has since been united, by purchase, to

the family estate.

In the time of the Great Civil War, Cocker-
mouth Castle was garrisoned for the King, its

commanding situation making it a place of

importance. But, notwithstanding its natural
and artificial strength, it was reduced by the

Parliamentary forces, in 1648, burnt, or

otherwise dismantled.

CSOXDEN ABBEY, in the co. of Staffbrd,
above five miles and a half from Uttoxeter,
the property of Gervase Wood, Esq.
The abbey which gives its name to this

residence, was once very extensive, though
presenting but a mass of venerable rviins. It

owes its origin to Bertram de Verdon, who,
in 1 1 76, gave the Cistercian monks, of Aulney,
in Normandy, a piece of ground at Chotes, or

Chotene, to build a monastery of their order.
In three years afterwards, this was removed
to Croxden, where all the family of Verdon
were subsequently buried, Here also, ac-

cording to tradition, was preserved the heart
of King John, while his body rested at Wor-
cester, and his bowels at Croston, in Leicester-
shire.

The remains of the abbey lie in a valley,
and close to them runs a small rivulet, the

fragments consisting of the principal entrance
at the west end, with a portion of the cloister

and transept. The windows are lancet-shaped,
and the capitals of the pillars foliated, the
whole style of architecture exactly agreeing
with the recorded date of the foundation of
the abbey.

It is not known to whom this property
belonged before the Woods, who have now
occupied it between two and three hundred

I I
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years, and are tlie oldest family in the parish
of Croxden. Singularly enough, all the pos-

sesors, of the Wood faniily, with two excep-
tions only, have borne the Christian name of

Gervase, which thus seems to have been well

nigh as hereditary as the estate itself.

The old house hei'e was pulled down about a

hundred years since, and the present building
erected in its place. It may now be described

as a good old-fashioned farm-house, having
been considerably altered and improved, and
at no small expense, by its present owner.

In the garden of one of the farm-houses is

still preserved a stone cross, about three feet

in length, ending in foliage at the points, and

having a crucifix rudely sculptured on one

side, while on the other is a figure of the

Virgin, now scarcely distinguishable. It was
found near the east end of the church, and

though the sculpture is in most places ahnost

obliterated, yet traces of gilding were here

and there observable at the time when it was
first discovered. The permanency of this kind

of stone gilding is truly wonderful.

BSOCEHALL, in the co. of Northampton ;

the seat of Thomas Reeve Thornton, Esq.,
who is a magistrate, and Deputy-Lieutenaut
of the county, and served the office of High
SherifFfor Northamptonshire in 1798.

The ancient orthography of this manor was

Brock/iole, or, if we go yet farther back—to

Domesday Book, we shall find it written

Brocole. It is in all likehhood compounded
of the Saxon, broc, and hol,

" a hole or

hollow." This, however, still leaves con-

siderable room for doubt and conjecture, as

the Anglo-Saxon lexicographers give us

vai-ious interpretations of the word hroc, any
one of which may seem to ajiply to this

locality. It signifies, they say, "a brook,"
"a hillock," and " a badger," besides having
some other meanings, totally inappHcable as

a manorial designation
—" an inferior sort of

horse," "afiiiction,"
" a loose dress," &c.

In the reign of Richard II., 1394-5, Sir

Warine Lucien made a settlement of the

manors and advowsons of Brockhole, and of

Buckhorn Weston, in Dorsetshire, to the use

of himself for life
;
remainder to Katherine

Spriggy, for life, and the reversion in trust to

be sokl, and, after payment of his debts, the

surplus to be pkiced at the disposal of the

said Katherine or her executors. Of this

Katherine, or of her trustees, the reversion

was bought by Sir Robert Tyrwhitt, who by
dced, in 1409-10, deniised them to her for

hfe.

l''or nearly two centuries the estate con-

tinued in the family of Sir Robert, who was

successively a Justice of the Courts of Com-
mon Pleas and King's Bench. At length, in

t!ic reign of Queen Elizabeth, 1582, William

Tyrwhitt, of Kcttkby, in Lincohishire, Esq.,

by indenture of bargain and sale conveyed it

to Laurence Eyton, gent., and Edward Eyton,
his son and heir apparent, on fee. It was,

however, sold by the Eytons to Thomas Thorn-

ton, Esq., originally settled at Newnham,
whose family, upon the acqvusition of Brock-

hole, were induced by its superior situation to

abandon their former place of residence.

Lieut.-General WiUiam Thornton, J\I.P. for

Woodstock in 1812, was of a younger branch

of the Thorntons of Brockhall.

Tlie Manor House, which is contiguous to

the south side of the church-yard, occupies
an elevated site, flanked by plantations, and
conmiands a pleasingly diversified view across

the valley. It is a handsome and convenient

mansion, built of Hurleston stone, three stories

high, with south-east and south-west fronts.

Tradition says it was originally buik by the

Eytons, but it has been much ahered and

improved by the present owner. The south-

east front retains the ancient windows, with

stone mullions and transoms. In the hall is

an exquisite portrait, by an unknown artist,

not less deserving of notice for its delicacy of

execution and chasteness of colouring, than

for its being traditionally appropriated to

Robert Catesby, the projector
—if all that is

said be true—of the Gunpowder Plot, in

1G05. The picture is precisely what we
should suppose such a man to have been.

He stands in a characteristic attitude of care-

less defiance, with features that seem to indi-

cate a most undaunted spirit.

DOGMERSFIELD, Hampshire, near Winch-
fiekl

;
the seat of Sir Henry Paulet St. John

Mikhnay, Bart.

The Archbishop of Canterbury had a Palace

at Dogmersfield, as early as the twelfth cen-

tury ;
and here Jocelyn Fitz Jocelyn, who

was transLated from the sea of Bath and

Wells, ni 1190, died in the following year.
Some foundations of considerable extent, sup-

posed to belong to the old palace, were dis-

covered a few years ago at no great distance

from the present mansion.

The house at Dogmersfield is a spacious
edifice in the midst of a noble and well-

wooded park, commanding on the south

and east some distant views of the open

country, independently of the beautiful pros-

pects nearer home. It has two fronts, and
contains several handsome apartments of good
size, decorated with paintings of the Italian,

Venetian, and Flemish schools. From

amongst them we may select " Twelve Views
of Venice and its neighbourhood," by Ca-

naletti;"
" Rembrandt's Mistress," and an

"Okl Man's Hcad," by Rembrandt
;
"a

small, but highly finished Landscnpe, by
Ckiude Lorraine;

" BacchanaHans," by
Titian;

" Castle and Figures," by Cuyp ;
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"
Light Laiidscape and Figures," by Berg-

ham; "Landscape and Figures," by Both
;

"
Bacchanalians,

"
by N. Poussin

;

" Bel-

shazzar's Feast," by Old Franks
; "James

the First," a full length, by Rubens
;

" Land-

scape andFigures," by A. VandeVelde;
" Sea-

piece with Figures," by W. VandeVelde;
"
Erasmus," by Holbein

;

" Headof Rubens,"
a copy by Vandyke ;

" D. Teniers, and
Teniers' VVife and Child," by Teniers

;

"
Villiers, Duke of Buckingham," by Jansen

;

&c., &c.

In the library is a collection of books, said

to amount to more than tive thousand volumes.

The selection of topographical works is ex-

ceedingly choice and valuable.

The park presents a great diversity of

ground, having been of late years embel-

lished with several handsome plantations, in

addition to its woods of very ancient growth.
Its extent is about seven hundred acres

;
and

immediately adjoining it spreads a large

common, grown over with oak-trees and

hollies, and in many parts presenting a sin-

gular resemblance to the New Forest. Near
the house is a handsome piece of water that

covers about forty acres.

The shrubbery and pleasure-grounds were

laid out by Emes. Great care has been

bestowed upon the cultivation of ash-

tiniber, and with singular success. The man-
ner of tlie planting is thus described by
Britton. " The ash plants, when put into the

ground, are of three years' growtli from the

seed
;
the land, so planted, is then allotted

in proportion of about half an acre to difterent

poor families in the neighbourhood, who are

sufiered for three years to cvdtivate potatoes

among tliem at certain intervals
;

at the ex-

piration of whicli time, the ash-plants are

generally risen to tlie lieight of six or nine

feet. A certain number of the most pro-

mising are tlien left for timber, cut down for

stools, whicli from the contiguity of the hop-
piantations become extremely profitable."

COMBERMEKE ABBEY, Cheshire, on the

borders of the county, and about three miles

from Wliitcliurcli in Shropsliire ;
tlie seat of

General Viscount Combermere, G.C.B.,
D.C.L., Constable of the Tower, so eminently
distinguislied as a Military Commander.

Tliis was originally an abbey of Benedictine

monks, founded by Hugli de Malbank in the

year 1133, and dedicated to the Virgin Mary
and St. Michael. Upon the dissokition of

monasteries, (1542,) by Henry VIII., it was

granted by him to George Cotton, of Cotton
or Coton, co. Salop, Esquire of tlie body
to tlie monarch, vice-cliamberlain to Prince

Edward, and a member of the Privy
Council. Tlie family tlien quitted tlieir resi-

dence in Shropshire, where they had been
located before the Norman Conquest, and

settled at Combermere. It has even been

supposed that they took their name from the

village of Cotton in tliat county, a conjecture
that is far from being improbable. Sir Robert

Cotton, who had been kniglited by Cliarles II.

at tlie Restoration, was created a baronet in

1677
;
and from him the present noble owner

is descended.

This seat stands in the midst of a large park,

upon tlie banks of a lake or mere, from wliich

it has derived its name. It occupies the site

of tlie old monastery, some portions of which
are yet remaining, thougli mucli altered. Tlie

refectory, wliicli lias been turned into a library,
was in its original state sixty feet long, and

twenty-eiglit feet high, but was contracted to

its present dimensions by Sir George Cotton,
in 1533, when he converted it into a library.
Tlie old oak roof may still be seen above the

ceihng, which, like the wainscot, is profusely
embellished witli tlie ornaments in use about
the time of tlie monastic dissohition. Upon
the walls are the quarterings of the Cotton

family, from the reign of King John, as also tlie

arms of tlie Salusburys, of Llewenny, of wliom
Lord Combermere is the actual representative.
Tlie ancient character of these remains has in

a great measure been hidden, or altered, by
modern imitations of the pointed Gothic style
of architecture.

In the library is a valuable collection of the

best authors, witli many portraits of the

Cottons. In the breakfast-room is a portrait
of tlie great Duke of Wellington ;

—
and,

scarcely less worthy of notice—here also are

two remarkably fine paintings, one represent-

ing the " Interior of a Spanisli Church," the

other being a " View of Venice."

The mere, upon the banks of which stands

the mansion, is exceedingly beautiful and

romantic. Altliougli of no great width, it is

deep, and extends about a mile and three-

quartei-s in length ;
and from tlie circuitous

form of its shores, that are picturesquely
skirted with woods, it assumes in some parts
tlie appearance of a river. It abounds with

fisli of various kinds.

In a conspicuous part of the park is the

WelUngton Oak, so called from having been

planted by the conqueror of Waterloo, when

upon a visit here to tlie old companion of liis

victories:—j^re perennius.

VEN HOUSE, Somersetshii'e, a quarter of a

mile from the town of Milborne Port, which
is situated at the bottom of a hill, adjoining
the river Ivel, upon tlie highroad from Yeovil

to Shaftesbury.
This seat is the property of Sir William

Coles Medlycott, Bart., whose family came

originally from Shropshire.
The boundaries of the manor—or reputed

manor—of Ven are not exactly definable in

the present day, It having been formed out of
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difFerent estates, and at different periods. At
one time it belonged to Sir Thomas Travell,

knight, who, about the year 1708, sold it to

James Medlycott, Esq., who soon afterwards

becanie one of the representatives of the

borough. In 1834, Sir WiUiam Coles Medly-
cott contracted to purchase from the Marquess
of Anglesea all his lands and tithes in Mil-

borne Port, but died before the sale was com-

pleted. It was, however, carried into effect

in 1835; and now, with a few inconsiderable

exceptions, the Medlycott family owns the

entire parish, as well as the rectory and
advowson of the church.

Ven House was erected, in the early part
of the reign of George I., by Thomas Medly-
cott, Esq., who at one time was a representa-
tive for Milborne Port. It is a large square

biulding of red brick, in the style of Inigo

Jones, with freestone pilasters, cornice, and

balustrade, on the principal front towards the

east. It stands upon a lawn, surrounded by
a grove of ancient ehns, that have a remark-

ably venerable and picturesque appearance.
The entrance-hall and staircase are spacious,
and occupy the centre of the edifice. They
are ornamented with rich carvings in oak, and
have some good paintings hung upon the

walls. Two wings have since been added to

the original building by the present owner.

These alterations took phace so recently as

1830, under the direction of Decimus Burton,
architect

;
and the whole now presents the

appearance of a very large and handsome

buikling of the Grreco-ItaUan character.

ABBOTSFOKD, Roxburghshire, near Mel-

rose, the seat of James Kobert Hope, Esq.,

Q.C., D.C.L., who married Miss Lockhart, a

grand-daughter of Sir Walter Scott.

This spot owes its celebrity so entirely to

Sir Walter Scott, that weshall probably better

satisfy our readers by speaking of it as it was
in his time, than by dwelUng upon any of the

subsequent changes that may have taken

place there.

The poefs lease of Ashesteil had been for

some time out, and he had grown impatient of

sitting a tenant at will under a heavy rent,

and being subject to " all the inconvenience of

one when in the house of anotlier." At this

juncture the adjoining farm of Abbotsford, tlie

property of an old friend, Dr. Robert Doiiglas,
niinister of Galashiels, chanced to be in the

market, and Scott immediately resolved upon
its purchase. The ground was then nearly
destitute of all embellishment, for the most
done by tlie Doctor, wlio never made it liis

residence, was to ])hint a long, narrow stripe of

fir trees, so Uttle to Scotfs taste, that he used
to Uken it to a bhick hair-comb. It took a

direction from the homestead towards the

spot caUed Turn-again,
—the cause of tliis

appeUation wiU be explained presently ;
but

it can scarcely now be ti-aced amidst the mass
of trees, to which it has left the name of the
Doctor's Reddmg-hame. Beyond this, the
farm had Uttle to recommend it as it then

appeared. The whole comprised a hough, or
rich mead, running by the river's side, with

something less than a hundred acres of undu-

lating land behind, but aU in a desolate state
;

badly enclosed, undrained, and generaUy
covered with native heath. The farm-house
was in exceUent keepinsj with the attached

grounds, being smaU and of a very humble
aspect. Upon one side was a kail-yard, upon
tlie other a storing-barn, that owed its erection
to the Doctor, andin front was a pond, covered
with duck-weed, from which distinguishing
feature the place was caUed by the people of
the neighbourhood, Clarty hole. But this

spot, of so impromising an appearance to

others, had a pecuUar interest for Sir WaUer.
First, tliere was his beloved Tweed, spark-
Ung as it roUed along over a bed of the
whitest pebbies, unless when at times it

deepened into a dai"k pool, overshadowed by
alders and birches, the sole surviving represen-
tatives of the primitive forest. Next, there
was the old Roman road, leading from the
EUdon hiUs to Abbotsford, just above the
Tweed's confluence with itstribvitary, the Gala.

Then, was there not the ancient abbey of

Meh-ose, presenting itself to view from many
points in the immediate vicinity ? And lastly,
if he looked across the river, would not his

eyes rest upon the Catrail, the favourite

subject of so many letters ? If any other

inducements were requisite to account for his

attachment to this barren spot, they might be
found in his own early recoUections, and in

the old legends connected with it. He had
often been heard to teU how, in his boyhood,
his father and he were traveUing together from
Selkirk to Meh-ose, when suddenly the old

man stopped tlie carriage at the foot of a hiU,

exclaiming,
" We must get out here, WaUer,

there is something to be seen in your own

way." With this, lie led him to a spot marked

by a rude stone, upon tlie edge of a decUvity,
about half-a-mUe above the Tweed at Abbots-

ford,
—the spot.

" WTiere gallant Cessford's lifc-blood clear

lieaked oii durk Elliot's border-spear,"

at the battle of Meh-ose, fovight in the year
1526, between the Earls of Angus and Home,
with the two chiefs of the race of I\err on the

one side, and Bucclevich with his clan upon
the other. This is a svibject that Scott after-

wards frequently aUuded to in his poems, as

indeed it forms a memorable event in Scottish

liistory, having been the cause of a deadly
feud betwixt the Scotts and Kerrs, whicli raged
for many years upon the Borders, and was not

reconciled tiU 1596. The names of several
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places between Melrose and Abbotsford—such

as Sldrmish Field, Charge Law, and Turn

^gain—still serve to form so many lasting

records of this bloody day. The last-named

site in particular deserves notice, as having
been the spot where Buccleuch's retainer put
an end to the pursuit of the victors by the

death-wound given to Kerr of Cessford, ances-

tor of the Dukes of Roxburgh. Sir Walter

had now in his own domains the scene of

the last great clan-battle fought upon the

Borders.

We have seen how Abbotsford was at first

little better than a rude farm-house, surrounded

by a barren waste, with scarcely a tree to hide

its nakedness. But the wand of the enchanter

changed all this in an incredibly short space
of time. Plantations grew up on all sides,

disposed with taste and judgment, so as to

produce the most picturesque effects. Then

by degrees the farm-house assumed the dignity
of a mansion

;
room was added to room, a

rare hbrary was formed, where before it might
have been difficult to find a single vohune

;

Gothic ornaments and stained glass began to

abound, and a beautiful hall was fitted up,
where Sir Walter took care to have the armo-

rial beai-ings of his ancestors blazoned in due

order upon the compartments of its roof. We
may add—though nothing of the kind can add
to the interest of a house inhabited by the

great poet and romancer—that there was no
lack of ilhistrious as well as titled visitors to

Abbotsford, their numbers being sometimes

more than was consistent with the comfort of

the celebi-ated owner. But, alas! "omnia fert

setas
' '—or rather tempus in this case

;
Abbots-

ford has gone out of the name, though not out

of the family, of him whose taste created it, as

his genius has rendered it ilkxstrious.

CASTLE COMBE, Wiltshire; the seat of

George Poulett Scrope, Esq.
The earhest authentic notice we have of

this manor is in Domesday Book, where it is

stated that the king holds Cumhe. How long
it continued to be a royal domain after the

Norman Conquest is uncertain
;

but in the

reign of King Stephen, it was held by Reginald,
Earl of Cornwall, natural son to Henry the

Second, and by him it was granted to his son-

in-law, Walter de Dunstonville, who, if we

may beheve the author of Magna Britannia,
built a castle at Combe, and gave occasion for

its appellation. This structure would seem to

have occupied the summit of a hill to the north

of the town, and there may still be seen enough
remains of its defensive entrenchments to in-

dicate its origina] strength and importance. It

was probably destroyed before the fifteenth

century, as Wilham of Worcester,, who hved
at that time, places it amongst the " Castella

Dinata," the ruined castles of Wiltshire.

From the Dunstonvilles this property passed

to Sir Robert de Montfort, by his marriage
with Petronilla, the heiress of their family.
His son ahenated Castle Combe for Ufe to

John de la Mere, and reversionally in fee to

Bartholomew, Lord Badlesmere. From his

immediate descendants, who died without male

issue, it again passed by the marriage of the

heiress to Sir John Tiptoft, Knight, who died

leaving no son, but three daughters. 'Jhese,

being young athisdecease, were givenin ward-

ship to Sir Richard Scrope, Knight, Lord

Scrope, of Bolton, in Yorkshire, who maiTied

the two eldest to two of his sons, and the

youngest to Phihp le Despenser. On their

coming of age, the estates of their father, Sir

Richard, were divided among them by agree-
ment under an indenture, when Stephen
le Scrope obtained Combe Castle

;
he was

the Uneal ancestor of the late Wilham Scrope,

Esq., of Castlecombe, whose daughter and

heiress, Emma, m. in 1821, George Poulett

Thomson, Esq., who has assumed thesurname
and arms of Scrope. It thus appears that the

Scropes have held this property nearly four

hundred and fifty years, the indenture, above
alhided to, bearing date 1315.

The present manor-house is situated in the

valley, close to the Boa river. Many of the

hiUs, by which it is surrounded, are covered

with hangings, and upon some are fine old oaks,
with immense walnut trees. The most con-

spicuous eminence seen from the windows of

the house is that upon which the castle stood.

The ancient boundaries of the park have been
of late years re-estabhshed, and the whole has

since been kept in excellent repair.

BEKRY HILL, Nottinghamshire, near Mans-
field

;
the seat of Sir Edward Samuel Walker,

Knight, a magistrate for Notts, and also for

Cheshire. In 1819, he was Mayor of the city
of Chester.

Sir Samuel is the grandson of the cele-

brated founder of the iron-works of Rother-

ham, in the West Riding of Yorkshire. Tliese

foundries were noted for the casting of cannon
for Goverinnent of the largest caUbre, as well

as for other works of great magnitude.
The iron bridges of Sunderland, Yarm,
Staines, and that at Southwark, over the

river Thames, were cast in the foundries of

Samuel Walker.
The House at Berry Hill, though large and

picturesque, can scarcely be said to belong to

any pecuUar style of architecture, being in that

which, for want of a more definite name, is

usuaUy termed the old EngUsh. It rises one

story above the ground-floor, with long and

proportionably narrow windows, thatgive it an
ancient aspect.

In the neighbourhood of Mansfield are some
curious excavations, in which several famiUes

of the poorer order have taken up their abodes.
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WHirWORTH PAEK, in the co. of Durham,
about flve niiles and a quarter from Bishop-
Auckland; the seat of Robert Duncombe
Shafto, Esq.
At the tiine of the BoldonBook, Whitworth

was possessed by Thonias de Acle, or Acley,
whose descendants probably assumed the local

name; for in the year 1335, Alexander de
Whitworth died, seized of the rill.

The manor is mentioned no more until it

occurs in the possession of the Nevills, who in
all likeHhood acquired it by purchasp. With
that family it remained till the attainder of

Charles, Earl of WestmorLand, after the
northern rebelHon in 1569, when it escheated
to the Crown, from whom it was bought by
Watson, a former tenant of the estate iinder
the attainted EarL His grand-daughter niar-
ried WiUiam Baxter, and he thus coming into

possession of the estate, afterwards aHenated
it to Mark Shafto, Esq., in 1652. Other
portions of this property, thathad been vested

by Crown-grant or subs*equent sale, in Trotter
and Adamson, were also purchased by Mark
Shafto, Esq., or by his son Sir Robert,
ancestor of the present owner.
The family of Shafto may be distinctly

traced up to a very remote period. Song and
tradition aHke show in what esteem the Lords
of Shafto were held on the Border, in those

good old times when the strong ann and the
stout heart were esteemed the chief of the
cardinal virtues. At the " Raid of Redswire"
in 1575, when the Scottisli and EngHsh War-
dens quarreHed at a meeting on the Border,
one of the English war-cries was " A Schafton
and a Fenwick." The Scots had the good
fortune upon this occasion to gain the day,
many of the EngHsh being wounded, or made
prisoners

—
" Young Henry Scliafton, he is hui-t,
A soukUer shot him with a bow."

Sir Walter Scott—whose tales and anecdotes
never weary, though a hundred tinies re-

peated
—has given the foHowing notice of tliis

celebrated raid. We shall only premise that
the Red-suire, or Red^swire, lies along the

range of the Carter-hills, near the Carter-har,
the site of which is in Roxburghshire.

" Swire"
is explained by Jamieson to mean, a hollotv

decUnation of a mountain or hill, near the
summit :

—
"The skirmish of the Reid-swire happened

iipon the seventh of Jime, 1575, at one of the

meetings held by the Wardens of the Marches
for arrangements necessary upon the Border.
Sir John Carmichacl, ancestor of the Earl of

Hyndford, was the Scottish warden, and Sir
John Forster held that office on the EngHsh
JVIiddle March. In the course of the day,
whicli was emph)yed as usual in redressing
wrongs, a biH, or indictment, at the instance
of a Scottish complainer, was fouled—i.e.,

found a true bill—against one Farnstein, a
notorious English freebooter. Forster alleged
that he had fled from justice ; Carmichael,

considering this as a pretext to avoid making
compensation for the felony, bade him '

play
fair,' to which the haughty EngHsh warden
retorted by some 'injurious expressions re-

specting CarmichaeLs family, and gave other

open signs of resentment. His retinue, chiefly
men of Redesdale and Tynedale, the most
ferocious of the EngHsh Borderers, glad of

any pretext for a quarrel, discharged a flight
of arrows among the Scots. A warm conflict

ensued, in which Carmichael being beat down
and made prisoner, success seemed at first to

incline to tlie English side, till the Tynedale
men, throwing themselves too greedily upon
the phmder, fell into disorder

;
and a body of

Jedburgh citizens arriving at that instant, the
skirmish terminated in a complete victory on
the part of the Scots."

"Young Henry Schafton," however, had
no great reason to compLain, beyond the mere
shame of belonging to the defeated side

;
for

he, with the other iJrisoners, being sent to the
then Regent, Morton, he only detained them
at Dalkeith for some days tiH the heat of tlieir

resentment was abated, and then dismissed
them with great expressions of regard.
The house of Whitworth, which stands

near the river Wear, was ahnost entirely rebuilt

a few years ago upon the old site. Some time
afterwards the last remaining portion was also

pulled down, and a handsome library added
towards the west. By this akeration, some

pleasing home-grounds were opened out, par-

ticularly a small wooded ravine which skirts

the western side of the Chapel Park. East-

ward, the view extends over the vale of
Wear

;
on the south, the prospect is bounded

by the soft upLand sh)pes of tlie park, and the

high grounds towards Merrington. To the

south and east stretches a noble deer-park
sprinkled with Hixinaant oaks.

The Hbrary contains a vakiable coHection
of Italian Hterature, which was left to the

family by Mr. AVynne. Here also are several

family portraits, besides other paintings of

merit
; particuLarly a hattle-piece by the ekler

Wyke ;
and a fine head, in a Spanish hat

and feather, bare neck, and dark dress, said

to be by Rubens.

NOEBUIIY PAEK, in the co. of Surrey ; the
seat of Thomas Grissell, Esq., F.S.A.

Norhury, a corruption of A^or^/(-bury,
derives its name from its being situated upon
the northern side of the parish of Mickleham.
Without tracing the possession of this estate

into the darkness of the very early periods, it

niay be enough to observe, that it has been

successively held by the famiHes of Shirley,

Wymeldon, Stydolf, Chapman, Lock, Robin-

son, Maitland, and SperHng, till at length it
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has found its way into the hands of the

pi-esent owner.

At the time Mr. Lock purchased this house,
then standing on a low situation near the

river Mole, which fiows along the boundary
of tlie park, tlie greater part of it was decayed
and ruined. He tlierefore pulled down no

sniall portion, reserving the nortli end for his

farm, and, upon a liill that commanded an

extensive and delightful prospect, proceeded
to erect a handsome mansion. Subsequently,
when in tlie possession of Mr. Maitland, it

was re-stuccoed. Since then, a wing has

been added at the west end of tlie buiiding.

Upon the southern front is an angular projec-

tion, that reaches uj) to the roof.

Internally, the principal feature is the painted
walls of tlie saloon or drawing-room, the com-
bined work of four artists ; Cipriani liaving

painted tlie figures, Gilpin tlie cattle, Pastorini

the ceiling, and Barrett the remainder. Tliese

frescos had become somewliat injured by time,
but have lately been restored by Mr. E. J.

Parris, tlie painter of tlie large panorama in

the London Colosseum. It should also be

obsei'ved that tlie saloon wliicli contains them
is nine-and-twenty feet long, by tlu-ee-and-

twenty feet in breadth. A ghized doorway
opens from it to the lavvn and pleasure-

grounds, first laid out and planted by Mr.

Sperling, who also formedanew carriage-road,
which from its winding up the heights, instead

of taking a straight direction, made the ascent

to the house much easier than it had been be-

fore his time. Since then another winding
road has been constructed, and new prospects
adniitted towards the nortli-east by the re-

moval of the upper portion of a large chalk

hill, which had previously bounded the view
in that direction. In addition to this, two
other improvements have been made, which
contribute greatly to the general beauty of

the place. On the Mickleham side, the water

was formerly crossed by a bridge ;
this has

been removed, and a neat bridge of brick,
with three arches, has been substituted in its

place. A new lodge also has been erected at

the entrance to the park from Leatherhead.
The particular charm of Norbury is in the

grounds, which are extensive and beautiful in

the extreme. Mr. Timbs, in his highly interest-

ing
" Promenade round Dorking," is quite en-

thusiastic in describing the park and its vicinity.

Placing himself on the Norbury Hills, he says :

" The vale is fiUed up with the rough and woody
tract of Holmesdale, teeming with all the his-

toric reminiscences of olden times, and all the

natural and artificial beauties of modern days.
Here the eye roves over a succession of

retired hamlets, extensive parks, fields, and
well-wooded pleasure grounds, and the town
of Dorking and its neighbourhood, thickly
studded vvith handsome seats and villas; the

whole extending from thence to Mickleham,

and forming a scene of unparalleled richness

and grandeur.
"

I stood musing on the fascinating scene,

which successively awakened in my mind the

liveliest associations of rural industry and

happiness. In him, who wisely appreciates
the sweets of a country life, the most delight-
ful and impressive ideas are excited by the

contemplation of so glorious a scene; and
even the masterpieces of a Claude, a Poussin,
or a Barrett, sink into comparative insigni-

ficance, when compared with the charms of a

richly-cultivated landscape. Fields, hills,

villas, spiry villages, and farm-houses crowd
on the view, and warm and fill the soul in a
manner which art, w '"11 her skill, in vain

attempts to rival. Contrast i.nd combination
succeed each other with inconceivable rapidity,
and the eye lingers on the several objects,
whilst the descriptive power of the pen is lost

in their exhaustless variety.
"
Descending from the lawn, through full-

grown beech woods, numerous walks intersect

the dell, and while we traverse them, the pro-

spect beneath occasionally bursts on the eye.
The remains of a decayed green-house, some
old rustic seats, and a few traces of trodden-

down parterres, displayed evident marks of

woful neglect, indicating that this spot had

formerly been a favourite resort.
"

I found the dell possessed several retired

haunts, whicli made me still more concerned
for their wild and neglected state. A small

green wicket opened to a narrow walk of sin-

gular beauty, overhung with trees, which,

uniting at the
'

top, formed an arch of thick

foliage. I rambled through these cool re-

treats, amusing myself with exploring their

several windings, and enjoying the uninter-

rupted tranquillity of their shady nooks.
" In that hospitable mansion, and the

delightful rides and walks of Norbury Park,

royalty has often found a happy asylum,
when the malignity of party-spirit and private

pique made irreparable inroads on conjugal
and domestic comfort."

It should be remembered that Mr. Timbs
wrote his account in 1823, since when, much
of which he complains has been remedied.
A new edition of his valuable and entertain-

ing work would be a very valuable contri-

bution to topographical literatm"e.

HORKESLEY PARK, co. Essex
;
the seat of

Edward-John-Francis Kelso, Esq., of Kelso-

land, late a Captain in the 72nd Highlanders,

representative of the very ancient Scottish

house of Kelso of Kelsoland. The mansion
is modem, standing on the side of a hill, with

fine oaks around it. The park is on the north

side, the garden on the soiith.

Horkesley Park was called Neyland Park
before the separation of the two parishes. It

was formerly included in the possessions of the
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noble house- of Scrope, and afterwards be-

longed to the Danbys and the Westons, from
whom it passed to the family of Gibbs.

In 1604, John Carill had a grant fromKing
James L, of the manorsof Horkesley, Boxted,
and Stondon. Soon afterwards the estate

being purchased by the Baynings, originally of

the adjoining parish of Nayland, Sir Paul

Bayning honoured the place by taking from
it the title of his barony, which was desig-
nated,

" of Horkesley."
When Horkesley was first separated from

the great manor of Nayland there is no cer-

tain account, for our memoirs of this are not
so early as those of Little Horkesley. But it

was granted with the manor of Nayland,
about the year 1256, in fee to John deBui-gh,
senior, who had also free warren here

;
it

occurs next in the possession of the Scropes of

Masham, for Geoffrey le Scrope, who died
in 1340, held the manor of Neyland, on the

confines of Essex and Suffolk, of the Lady of

Clavering, of her manor of Cawston, near

Norwich, in socage. Henry was his son and
heir

;
he died, possessed of this estate, 31st

July, 1391, in which he does not appear to

have been succeeded by his son, Stephen, nor
his grandson Henry, but by Henry's brother,
Sir John.

This Sir John le Scrope, of Masham, held
the estate, at the time of his decease, 15th

November, 1455, of Alice, Duchess of Suftblk,

by the service of one rose per annum.

Elizabeth, his widow, was possessed of the

same at thetime of her death, in 1466.

Thomas le Scrope, their son and heir, born
in 1431, succeeded her. He died in 1475,
and was succeeded by his son, Thomas

;
who

left, at his decease, 23rd April, 1494, an only
daughter and heiress, Alice Scrope, aged 12

years. His widow, Ehzabeth, daughter of

John Neville, Marquess ofMontacute, enjoyed

this manor of Hockley, or Horkley, as it is

called in the record, till her death, 3rd Sept.,

1515, having been married again, to Sir

Henry Wentworth. Her heiresses were
tlien said to be Mary Mortimer and Lucy
Browne, widows, her sisters, and Anne
Fortescue, wife of Adrian Fortescue, and John

Huddleston, were also her cousins and heirs.

So tliat her daughter, who had been married
to Henry Lord Scrope of Bolton, does not

appear to have inherited, or at least, seenis to

have enjoyed this estate only during her life.

Thomas Lord Sci-ope, who diedabout 1492,had
three brothers—Henry and Ralpli, who were
both summoned to Parliament, but who died

wilhout issue, and Geoffrey,in holy orders; also

three sisters, Alice, married to Thomas Strang-

ways, Esq., Mary or Margery, to Sir Christo-

pher Danby, and Elizabeth, to Thomas Fitz

Randolph. The latter had issue, John, wlio

left no children, and Elizabeth, wife of

Nicholas Shelley ; Dorothy, wife of Launcelot

Eshe, Esq. ; Agnes, wife of Marmaduke

Wyvill, Esq., and Alice, of Ralph Deanslield.

Upon the partition of the estates, Sir Thomas

Danby, in right of his grandmother, Mary,
had the manor of Nayland and Horkesley
Park. He enfeoffed with the same Edmund
Rookwood, Esq., who sokl it to Jerome

Weston, Esq., andhis grandson, Jerome, Earl

of Portland, sokl it in 1639, to Wilham Gibbs,

Esq., then of London, but originally of

Worcestershire. He was father of Samuel

Gibbs, Esq., who died 8th Oct., 1692, having
a son, Samuel, father of Samuel Gibbs, who
had an only son, Captain Samuel Gibbs, of

the 18th Regiment of Dragoons.
After the Gibbs', Horkesley came into the

Rowley family, of whom it was bought about

the year 1820, by P. Harrokl, who sold it,

in 1841, to E. J. F. Kelso, Esq., the present

proprietor.
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A TISITATION

OF THE

SEATS AND ARMS OF THE NOBLEMEN AND GENTLEMEN

OP

GEEAT BEITAIX AKD lEELAND.

B R O W N E,

Of Salperton, co. Gloucester, a very ancient

Norman family
—

originally Le Briin—fomided

in England by one of the companions in arms

of the Conqueror, and novv represented by
Thomas Beale Browne, Esq., who is also

heir general of the Beales of Temple Guiting,
co, Gloucester, in whom the estate of Temple
Guiting, as can be proved by deeds, was vested

so far back as the reign of King Stephen.

JoHN Browne, Esq., of—Mart, daughter and heiress

Salperton, co. Gloucester,
descended from the Nor-

Le Brun.man,

of JoHN Beale, Esq., of

Temple Guiting, co. GIou-

cester, 'whose ancestorswei-e
there seated, temp. King

Stephen.

John Browne, Esq., of Sal-=Martha Susanna, daughter

perton, High Sheriff of of the Rev.^ George Pettat,

Gloucestersliire, 1801. Bector of Stonehouse.

Thomas Beale BROWNE,= Mary Eliza, second daugh-
Esq., only survivmg son, 1 ter of George James Suli-

J.P., born 6th Novembei, van, Esq.
1810; m. 12th Aug., 1840.

John, born 12th May, 1841.

.4rms.—Quarterly, Ist and 4th, or. on a fesse gu. three

chess rooks, arg. in chief, three martlets of the seoond, for

Browne.
2n(l and 3rd, sa., on a chev. between three griffins

heads erased or. three estoiles gu., for Beale.

Crcsts.—\.s,t, for Browne. An eagle displayed, charged
on the breast with a Ieopard's face. 2nd, for Bealb. A
unicorn's head, erased arg., semee of estoiles gu.
Mutto.—Sperat in Deo.

The present Thomas Beale Browne, Esq.,
IMPALES the arms of Sulivan, ui right of his

wife, Mary Eliza, second daughter of George
James Sulivan, Esq., of Wilmington,

" the

0'Sulivan More " descended from OHol

Ollum, King of Munster.

H A M B R O.

Charles Joachim Hambro, of Roehamp-
ton, in the parish of Putney, co. Surrey, and

of the city of London. Baron Hambro is

only son and heir of Joseph Hambro, of

Copenhagen, in the kingdom of Denmark, and

of Upper Portland-place, co. Middlesex, some

time Aulic Councillor tothe King of Denmark,

and a Knight of the Order of Dannebrog, by
Marianne his wife, eldest daughter of W. L.

Von Halle, of Copenhagen, banker.

Arms.—Azure a cheveron hetween three annulets in

chief, and a lion passant in base or,

CVei/.—A falcon belled and wings elevated or., seme of

annulets, and resting the dexter claw on a crescent azure.

Motlo.—Va. Deo.

B
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JONES-PARRY, OF MADRYN.
The present Thomas Love Duncombe

Jones-Parry, Esq., ofMadryn, co.Carnarvon,
son and heir of the late Lieut.-General Sir

Love Parry Jones-Parry, K.H., of Madryn,
and grandson of Thomas Parry Jones, Esq.,
of Llwynon, co. Denhigh, by Margaret, his

wife, daughter and co-heir of Love Parry
Esq., of Penarth, co. Carnarvon, by Sidney
his wife, heiress of Madryn, daughter and eo-

heir of Robert Lewis, Esq., of Llysdulas, co.

Anglesey, descends, in the' direct male line,

from the renowned Tudor Trevor, Lord of

Hereford, Founder of the Tribe of the
Marches, and bears a shield of fifty-eight

quarterings (see Plate IX.) derived from
heiresses of Wylde, of Bersham

;
Parry of

Rhydolion; Hughes, of Cefnllanfair
; Wynne,

of Wernfawr
; Madryn, of Madryn ; Wynne,

ofPenarth; Corbet, ofYnysymaengwyn ;
and

Lewis, of Llysdulas, of all of which ancient

Welsh farailies, Mr. Jones-Parry, of Mad-

ryn, is a representative. For full details, see

Burke's Landed Gentry. The descentof the

quarterings is shown by the annexed tabular

pedigree :
—

JoHN JoNES, Esq.,=
of Lhvynon, co.

Denbigh, 1576, the
lineat male de-
scendant ol' Tudor
"i REVOR, Lord of

Hereford, founder
of Ihe Tribe of
THE Marches.

Doro-
thie,
dau.ef
Edw.
Pule-

ston,

Esq.

Htjgh
HuGHES, Esq.
of Cefnllan-

fair, co. Car-

narvon, de-
scended from
Llowarch

Howlbwrch.

Roger Jones, Esq.,
of Llwynon, 1604.

Margaret, dau.
and heir of

HughHughes,
Esq., of Cefn-

llanfair.

Kandolph Jones,

Esq., of Llwynon.

'Ellen, dau.
and sole heir

of JoHN
WYNNE,Esq.
ofWcrnfawr,
by .M argaret,
his wife,dau.
and co-heir
of Thomas
MadrjTi.

Geoffeey
PARRY,Esq.,
of Khydo-

lion, co. Car-
narvon.

I

Love Parry,=Ellen, dau,

Eoger Jones, Esq.,
of Llwynon.

Esq., of Wern-
fawr, co. Car-

narvon, High
Sheriff, 1685.

and heir of
HlGH

WYNNE,Esq.
of Penarth.

A
I

Jolin Jones, Esq.,
of Llwynon, aged

15, 1657.

John Jones, Esq.,
of Llwynon.

Love Parry,
Esq.,ofRhydo-
lion, Wern-

fawr, CefnUan-
fair, .and Pe-
narth, High
Sherifl; 1722.

John Jones, Esq.,-
of Llwynon.

Kathe-
rine,
dau. of
Love
Parry,
Esq.

Love Parry,
Ksq., of

Penarth,
High tshe-

ritf, 1762.

=Rachel, dau.
and co-heir
Of VlNCENT
CoRBkT,Esq.
of Ynysy.
maengwyn,
co. Mei-i-

oneth.

SlDNEY
Lewis, heir-
ess of Ma-
dryn, dau.
and co-heir-
ess (with her
sister Aiary,
wife of Rev.
Ed. Hughes)
of Robert

Lewis, Esq.,
of Llysdulas.

I
I

Thomas Parry Jones, Esq.,=Margaret Parry, heiress of
of Llwjnion, who assumed,
hy Royal Licence, the name

of Parry.

Madryn, daugliter and co-
heir of Love Parry, Esq., of
Penarth and Madryn; mar-
ried 9th Fehruary, 1780.

I

Sir LoveParryJonesParry,= lst. Sophia,=2nd. Eliza-
K.H., Lieut.-General, of

Madryn, Penarth, Cefnllan-

fair, Wernfawr, and Rhy-
dolion, co. Carnarvon.

eldest son, horn 1781
; died

1852.

only dau. of
Robert Ste-

phenson.
Esq., of Bin-

fteld, Berks.

beth, only
dau.of Thos.

Caldecot,

Esq.,of Hol-
ton, co. Lin-
coln

; m . in
1826.

1. Eliza Maria, m. T. T. Thomas Sarah Eliza-
Knyfton, Esq., of Uphell Love Dun- beth Mar-
Lodge, co. Somerset

;
and co.mbeJo.nes garet.

d. s. p., 1838. Parry, Esq.
2. Madelina KUen now of Ma-

Georgina. dijTi.
3. Mary Gertrude, m. the
Rev. W. Crawley, M.A.

^fOTs.—Quarterly, Ist and 4th, arg. a fesse between
three lozenges, sa. for Parry. 2nd and 3rd quarterly,
Ist and 4th, lirm. a lion rampant sa. for Jones. 2nd and
3rd, per fess erm. and ermine, a lion lampant arg. for
TUDOK TrEVOR

; With FIFTY-SEVEN auARTERINCS.
Cres/i.— Ist, three battle-axes erect ppr. 2nd, out of

a chapeau gu., turned up erm., a demi-lion rampant or.

3rd, a stag trippant. 4th, a horse's head and neck, erased
arg.

Afottoes.- Over the battle-axes,
" Heb Dduw heb

Ddym Duw a Dygon." Over the stag,
" Nil Desperan-

dum." Under the arms,
" Gofal Dyn Duw Ai Gwerid."

—Anglice, Aid youi-self, and God wrll aid you.

TO D,

Of Dry Grange, co. Roxburgh, as borne by
Thomas Tod, Esq., of that place.

Arms—Arg. a fesse gu. between three foxes' heads,
couped gu.

Crest— A fox.

ilfo/<o—Oportet vivere.

MONTGOMERIE,

Of Lainshaw and Brigend, co. Ayr, a branch
of the ennobled House of Eghnton.
The heir male of this family emigrated to

America, aiid isnow rejiresented by William

Montgomerie, Esq., of Philadelphia.
—See

full pedigree, page 36.
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Arms. Quarterly, I. and IV., Az. three fleurs-de-lis or., for Montgomerie ; 2ncl and 3rd, gu. three annulets or.,

gemmed az., for 1',glinton ; II., az. three stars arg,, for Mure of Skeldon; III. quarterly Ist and 4th, az. a bend
betwecn six cross crosslcts fitchee or., for Mar ; 2nd and 3rd, gu. frctty or., for Lyle.

Cresf. A female iigure ppr. anciently attired az., holding in the dexler hand an anchor or., and in the sinister, the
•head of a savage, couped as the flrst.

Motlo. Gardez bien.

Irnrs, nriginallii nf Cnlrlirstrr, CDiintij

fesrx, u\ 5uli3ri]iiriitlii iif Instnn, llrni

Among the niany ancient English families

which emigrated to tlie New World, few can

exhihit so clear and unbroken a chain of

descent from the patriarch in the mother

comitry, as that of which we are about to treat.

The early ancestry of most of our old houses
is involved in doubt, but the researches of the

antiqtiary and the genealogist
—so actively

prosecuted of late years
—have tended ma-

terially to coUect together the scattered frag-
ments of family history, and to throw light on
the obscurity of remote ages. In this respect
the Sears' have been peculiarly fortunate :

their origin, their settlement in the County
of Essex, their sufferings for the sake of

religion, and their conseqtient migration to

New England, are all clearly ascertained facts

proved by the most authentic evidence. The
name in its onward course has undergone
variotts changes, as was always the case in

those ages when there was no fixed mode of

writing, and orthography depended in a great
measure upon the ear and the fancy. In the

present instance we find the patronymic spelt

variously Sarre, Serre, Syer, Sayre, Sayer,
and Sears, but the original name was Scearstan.

Under that appellation, the family first appears
on English record.

The royal nuptials of Ethelred with his

second Queen Elgiva, daughter of Richard of

Normandy, were solemnized in 1002, and great
was the magnificence of the ceremoniaL Many
Norman courtiers came in the train of the

Princess, and otliers, led by the adventurous

spirit of the age. Of these, several,
—and the

ancestor of the Sears' amongst the rest,
—

per-

manently established themselves in England,
where for nearly half-a-century they had to

encounter difficulties and vicissitudes, tmtil the

issue of the great conflict at Hastings trans-

ferred the country to the Norman rule.

Sears first occurs amongst the knights and

liegemen at Scearstan, in Wessex, where

Edmtmd, the son of Etheh-ed, encountered

Canute, King of Denmark, and achieved a

signal victory. This memorable battle is

celebrated by the English annaHsts. It lasted

two whole days; Cantite retreated towards

London, and, after a fruitless attempt on the

metropolis, and a disastrous engagement
at Brentford, succeeded in reaching Oxford,
where he was again attacked by Edmund, and

totally overthrownc Early in the 13th

century the family of Sayers or Sears are

found located in the vicinity of Colchester,

Essex, possessed of considerable estates
;
William

and John Sayer, at Birch and Copford, and
Matthew Sayer, at Aldham, on lands after-

wards held by the Bourchiers, with whom, as

will be presently seen, they became connected.

In 134S William Sayer was seated at Copford,
and left at his decease, in 1350, a son, John
Sayer, of Copford, fatlier of another John
Sayer, of Copford, whose son, Richard
Sayer—of Copford, died in 1367, having
bequeathed to his son John the family pro-

perty in Copford, Aldham, Great Teye,
Lexden, Colcliester, &c, William Sayer,

grandson of this last named John, held, in

1471, the important office of Chatelain or

Lieutenant of the Tower of London, and had,
under charge, but not under custody, Henry
VI., then a prisoner, with an allowance for

ten guards, from the 1 1 th May to the day of

the unfortunate King's death and burial.

For a long succession of years tlie Sayers
may be traced as holding the highest offices

in the Corporation of Colchester, and retaining
most extensive influence, as may be inferred

from the frequent mention of them in the

town records. Abotit the close of the fif-

teenth century, John Sayer held the office of

Aklerman of Colchester, a dignity at that

time of great importance attached to cities,

somewhat similar and next in rank to the

still more ancient title of Ealdorman, at-

tached to luanors, btit exempted from mili-

tary service. An honour of this kind vouches
for the wealth and character of the individual

bearing it, as well as for the esteem he enjoyed
of his fellow-citizens. John Sayer died in

1509, and was buried in St. Peter's Chtn'ch

under the south aisle, a mural brass recording,
in old EngHsh letters, his name and honotirs.

By Ehzabeth, his wife, who died in 1530, he
had three sons, John, Robert, and George.
The eldest,
JoHN Sayer, Esq., of Colchester, died

in 1563, and was buried near his father,
with a similar brass memorial. He left two

sons, viz. :
—

I. Richard, his heir.

II. George, who obtained possession of the

family inheritance in consequence of

the flight of his elder brother to Hol-
land. He died in 1577, and was buried
with his ancestors in St. Peter's Church,
Colchester. A beautiful niarble monu-

ment, erected to his memory in the

south aisle of the chancel, bears a qttaint

epitaph. His descendant and eventual
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heiress, Esther Sayer, m. Sir John
Marsham.

The elder son,
RicHARD Sayers, Esq., born in Colchester

A.D. 1508, m. Anne Bourchier, dau. ofEdmund

Knyvet, Esq., of Ashwellthorpe, co. Norfolk,

by Jane Bourchier, his wife, dau. and heir

of John, second Lord Berners, which Edmund
Knyvet was second son of Sir Edmund Kny-
vet, ofBuckenham Castle, representative of the

ancient and distinguished family of Knyvet.
It was during the time of this Richard Sayers

tliat religious animosities and religious persecu-
tions, excited by the violence of Henry VIII.
and other concurrent causes, attained their

height. Unfortunately for his worldly peace
and prosperity, Ricliard Sayers became a warm
and zealous partisan on the side opposed to

his own relatives, as well as to the existing

Government, and found it prudent to escape
with liis wife, and other refugees, to Holl uid,
where he settled at Amsterdam. This was in

the year 1537. His brother George, in con-

sequence, secured for himself possession of the

patrimonial inlieritance.

Richard Sayers died at Amsterdam in 1540,

leaving an only son,
JoHN BouRCHiER Sears, bom in 1538,who

became, at the death of his grandfather, John

Sayer of Colchester, heir to the family estates

in Essex
;
but tlie same ditHculties that forced

his fatlier to quit England still existed in full

force, and he was excluded from the succes-

sion. Nor do we find that the youthful heir

made any efFort to regain his ancestral rights.
Of a bold and adventurous disposition, he pre-
ferred to seek renown for himself by his own
exertions, and accompanied his father-in-law,
Sir John Hawkins, in several of his voyages.
He remaiued, consequently, a banislied man,
and died in Holland, leaving, by Elizabeth

Hawkins, his wife, four sons, John, Henry,
William, and Richard. Of these, the eldest,
JoHN BouRCHiER Sears, bom at Amster-

dam in 1561, married Marie L., daughter
of Phihppe Van Egmonde, of that city, and

acquired with her a large fortune, princi-

pally in money. With this lie was enabled
to purchase property in England, adjoining
the lands which lie hoped soon to recover as

his lawful patrimony. Amongst the estates

tlnis bought, were Bourchier and Little Ford-
ham Manors, both of which liad, in former

times, belonged to his ancestors. But his

return to Enghmd was resisted by those who
were deeply interested in keeping at a distance
so formidable a claimant to many of their

broad acres. Strenuous and energetic were
thc effbrts John Bourchier Sears made to re-

move the obstacles which intervcned to keep
him in exUe

;
but all to no purpose. His

opponents were inexorably hostile, and even
threatened him with a prosecution, as a par-
ticipator in the Gunpowder Plot, if he ven-

tvu-ed to set foot in England. The attain-

der, it must be remembered, which hung over
his grandfather, had never been removed,
and still impended over the family at the time
of liis death in 1 629. By Marie Van Egmonde,
his wife, John Bourchier Sears left issue,

RiCHARD, John, Marie, and Jane; the three
latter returned to England, and settled in

Kent. The eldest son,
RicHARD Sears, Founder of the Ame-

RicAN LiNE, worn out by his parents' want
of success in their endeavom-s to recover
their Enghsh possessions, determined, at his

father's death, to quit Europe for ever. He
accordingly took passage, with a party of

Puritans, for New England, in America, and
hmded at Plymouth on the eighth day of May,
1630. That he metwith the usual vicissitudes

that tried the patience and the courage of all

the early settlers, can hardly be doubted
;
but

he remained firm to his purpose, made him-
self a hoine in his new country, and shortly
after his ai-rival married Dorothy Thacher. In
1643 he removed to Yarmouth, and in 1G62
we find him elected to the Colony Court of

Plymouth—an undeniable proof of the station

which he held in this new society. He died in

1676, leaving behind him three sons, Knyvet,
Paul, and Sylas, tlie two youngest of whom
resided in Yarmouth, where they filled im-

portant ofiices.

Knyvet Sears, the eldest son, unhke his

father, had a strong faith that the family
lands in England might yet be recovered.
He was in the glow of youth, had experienced
none of the proverbial delays and quibbles
of Enghsh law, and accordingly set out for

the old country, fuU of hope, and fi.irnished

with such deeds and documents as seemed, to

him at least, to place his claiin beyond ques-
tion. He was kindly received by some of
his relations, but was not successful in the

object of his visit. Yet tliis failure could not
svibdue his hopes or liis spirits. He made a
second voyage, in 1686, but in the same year,
and before he had time to bring forward the

proofs in his possession, he died at the resi-

dence of his relative Catherine (subsequently
Baroness Berners), daughter of Sir John Kny-
vet, and wife of John Harris, Esq. The evi-

dences that he had brought with him were
never afterwards recovered.

Froin a document filed in the Chapter
House, Westminster Abbey, it appears that

tlie contested manors were transferred about
this time by a legal fiction to Sir John Mars-

ham, only son of Sir John Marsham, and

Esther, daughter of George Sayer, a descen-

dant of the George Sayer who died in 1577.
This Esther assumed to be sole heir upon the

failiire of the male line in England, and the

high position which the American branch of
the family was entitled to hold here through
the Bourchiers and Knyvets, as well as the

Sears, was abandoned for ever.
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Previous to liis visit to England, Knyvet
Sears married Elizabeth Dymoke, by whom
he had two sons (who were adopted by their

uncle, Paul Sears, viz.:—
I. Daniel, his heir.

II. Richard, who died in 1718 ;
his issue is

extinct.

The elder son,

Daniel Sears, born in 1682, purchased
a large tract of land, formerly called Monna-

mort, but now angUcized into the simple name
of Chatham. By his wife, Sarah Hawes, he

left three sons,

I. Daniel, his heir.

II. Richard. "» The hereditary misfortunes

III. David. J oftheirEnglishancestryseem
tohave attended these twoscionsof the

ancient family of Sears. They both

served as oflScers in the army of Jaines

II., and both perished at the battle

of Culloden.

The eldestson,
Daniel Sears, born in 1712, inherited his

father's estates. He married Fear Freeman,
and had three sons, viz :

—
I. RicHARD, a Senator of Massachusetts,

m. Hetty Marshall, and had three

sons, Richard, Daniel, and Marshall,
who all died s. p.

II. David, of whose line we treat.

III. Daniel, died s.p.
The second son,

David Sears, born in 1752, removed to

Boston in 1770, and purchased of General

Knox, Secretary of War, in connection

with other parties, a large estate in Maine,

lying in Penobscot River, being a remain-

der and a part of the original grant from

the Earl of Warwick to Beauchamp and

Leverett, known as " the Waldo Patent,"
and confirmed by the Legislature of Massa-

chusetts. The Indian Chief, Madocowando,

Sagamore and Prince of Penobscot, granted
and surrendered his sovereignty and title in

1694. The territory Avas originally thirty

miles square, and included all the islands in

Penobscot Bay. The present property lies

principally in the towns of Searsmont, Knox,

Prospect, and Searsport, including Brigadier's

Island, in the Bay. David Sears married

Ann, daughter of John Still Winthrop, Esq.,
of New London, in Connecticut, fifth in

descent from John Winthrop, First Governor

of Massachusetts and Founder of Boston, and

left at his decease an only son,

The Hon. David Sears, a senator of

Massachusetts, born in 1787, who married

Miriam Clarke, daughter of the Honourable

Jonathan Mason, a Senator of Massachusetts,

and representative in the Congi-ess of the

United States, and has had issue :
—

I. David, d. young.
II. Anna Powell Mason, »t.William Amory,

and has issue.

III. Harriet Elizabeth Dickeson, m. G.

Gasper Crowninshield, and has issue.

IV. Cordelia Mason, d. unm.
V. EUen, m. Gonzalve G. d'HauteviUe,

and has issue.

VI. David, m. EmUy E. Hoyt, and has

issue.

VII. Frederick Richard, m. Marian Shaw,
and has issue.

VIII. Winthrop, d. young.
IX. Grace Winthrop, ?«. WiUiam C. Rives,

Jun., and has issue.

X. Knyvet, Winthrop.

Arms. Quarterly of four, viz :
—

I. Sears. Gules, a chev. arg., between thvee eaglets, ppr.
on a ehief ermine, an escallop between two mullets,

gules.
II. BouEciTiER. Argent, a cross engrailed gules, be-

tween four water bougets, sable.

III. Van Egmonde. Ur. four chevronels, gules.

IV. Sears.
Cresl. An eagle (lisplayed, wings inverted, ppr.
Motto. Honor et tides.

PIDCOCK.
PiDCOCK, originally of Derbyshire, and after-

wards of StafFordshire and Worcestershire.

The family of Pidcock settled at an early period
in Derbyshire. Its surname is derived from the

armorialbearings of thefamily "aPied-Cock."
Towards the end of the I7th century,
William Pidcock removedinto StafTordshire,

and married Elizabeth Henzey, daughter of

Thomas Henzey, Esq., of Amblecotej in the

co. of StafFord.

The Henzey famUy is of German origin, and

was called Hentzell. Some of them, at a very
remote period, settled in Lorraine, in Nor-

mandy, and were there called Henzell. Their

arnis are in the Duke of Lorraine's gallery,

annealed in glass.
Towards the end of the 16th century they

were driven from France, together with many
other Protestant fainUies of distinction, in a

religious persecution, and took refuge in Eng-
land.

Annanias Henzell settled in the vicinity of

Stourbridge, Worcestershire, and was one of

the first to introduce into England the broad

or window-glass manufacture. From an

inscription subjoined to his coat-arms, it

appears that he was born in 1570 A.D.,
" tout

pre la village de Darnell en la Pays de

Lorraine." He had three sons :
—Joshua,

born in 1600
; PaiU, born in 1610

;
Anna-

nias, born in 1615. The descendants, of the

eldest son, Joshua, only will be noticed here.

Joshua Henzey (for the name thus early

appears to have been anglicized) married

Joan Brettell. They lived at Amblecote, and
were buried at Old Swinford,—Joshua on the

14th AprU, 1660, his wife Joan on 19th Feb-

ruary, 1671 : havinghad two sons, Thomas and
Edward.
Thomas Henzey, to whom only reference

is iiow made, was born in 1640. He lived at
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Amblecote, ancl mamed Frances Croker,

daughter of William Croker, Esq., ofSandford,

Oxon, andby her had 14 children, viz.—Sarah,

born, 1668; Dorothy, 1670
; Joshua, 1772;

John, 1674; Elizabeth, 1675 ; Edward, 1676;

Mary, 1678 ; Frances, 1679; Sarah, 1682

Bridgett, 1683
; Rawleigh, 1685

; Benjamin,
1686 ; William, 1688

;
and Annanias, 1690.

Thomas Henzey died at Coulbourn Brook,
3rdof May, 1712, and wasburied at Old Swin-

ford. His daughter Elizabeth, towhomonly
reference need now be made, marriedWiLLi am

PiDCocK, Esq., ofAshbourne, Derbyshire; and

by him had issue,
—Frances, Thomas, Mary,

William, Elizabeth, Ann Dorothy, Sarah, and
John. This last named, John Pidcock, born

29th January, 1717, was left sole heir and
executor by his uncle, Joshua Henzey, Esq.
who married, first Elizabeth,

—widow of Paul

Henzey, Esq., and afterwards Bridgett Thomp-
son, but left no issue. The said John Pidcock
of the Platts, co. Stafford, a magistrate for

the counties of Stafford and Worcester, married

Mary Honeyborne, only daughter and heiress

of Robert Honeyborne, Esq., by Ann his first

wife, who was the only daughter, and residuary

legatee of Thomas Hammond and Thomas

Honeyborne, Esqrs., and died 8th Nov., 1791,

(his wife died 28th Sept., 1807,) having had
12 children :

—
I. Elizabeth, born 18th March, 1745 ;

died

25th April, 1835, unmarried.

II. Ann, born 19th August, 1747; 6ied.tmm.

IstFebruary, 1840.

III. Thomas, born llth, May, 1749; died

21st October, 1813, unmarried. He was
a Major 17th Light Dragoons.

IV. Robert, born 4th March, 1750; died

young.
V. Mary, born 3rd February, 1752 ;

married Francis Homfray, Esq., of The

Hyde, by whom she had several children.

VI. Sarah, born 13 May, 1754; married

Jeston Homfray, Esq., of Broadwaters,

by whoni she had several children.

VII. JoHN, born Ist March, 1756 ;
of

whom presently.
VIII. Jane, born 13th March, 1758; mar-

ried Rev. W. Jones, Curate of Lydney,
Gloucestershire, by whom she had one

son, William.

IX. William, born 27th April, 1760; died

21st February, 1761.

X. Robert, bom 9th March, 1762 ; died21st

December, 1799. He was in the army.
XI. Dorothy, born Ist July, 1765; died

young.
XII. Henzey, born 24th October, 1768

married Henry Roberts, Esq., of Stour-

bridge, Worcestorshire, and Drybridge
House, Monniouth

; by whom she had
several chikken.

The third son,
JoHN PiDcocK, Esq., for many years a

magistrate for Worcestershire, and a Deputy
Lieutenantfortheco.ofStafford, marriedEliza-

beth, daughter of George HoUington Barkcr,

Esq., of Birmingham and Coleshill, and by
her (who died Ist February,1834) had issue:—

i. JoHN HENZEY,of Devonport Street, Hyde
Park, and Bellevue, co.Worcester, present
head of the family, born 30th September,
1787, married Jemima, daughter of

Thomas 01iver,Esq.,of Devonshire Pluce,

London, and Leyton, Essex.

II. George, born 9th November, 1788 ;

married Giacomina Maria Joshephina
Manerin, a Venetian lady.

III. Anna Maria, born 8th October, 1790;
married James Mason, Esq., of Bii-ming-
ham and Malvern

; by whom she had
several children.

IV. Elizabeth, born 29th July, 1792
;

niarried Captain Thomas Battersbee,

Royal Engineers.
v. Emma, born 29th Januaiy, 1794;

married Edward Addenbrooke Adden-

broke, Esq. ; by whom she has several

children.

VI. Thomas, born 5th February, 1795
;
died

13th February, 1812.

VII. Mary Anne, born 26th Sept., 1796;
married Rev. David Wheeler, of Wor-
cester.

VIII. Louisa, born 17th Feb., 1798
;
mar-

ried Henry Addenbrooke, Esq., of the

Field House, Worcestershire, by whoin
she has two daughters.

IX. Caroline, born 26th February, 1800;
married John Unett, Esq ,

of Incknield

House, Warwickshii-e ; by whom she had
several children. She died llth Septem-
ber, 1847.

X. Henrietta, born 4th May, 1801
;
mar-

ried Thomas Smith, Esq., of Alcester. She
died without issue 27th June, 1840.

XI. Robert, born llth June, 1802; died

16th January, 1812.

XII. Jane, born 27th August, 1803
;
mar-

ried Rev. J. Fawcett Beddy, of Mon-
mouth

;
no issue.

XIII. Henry, born 24th September, 1804
;

went out to India as a writer on the

Bengal establishment inl824, and retired

from the service of the East India

Company, in 1852. Diu-ing the kist

seven years of his service he held the

important ofHce of Commissioner of

Revenue and Police of the Bareilly
Division. He married, 7th January,

1841, Mary Ann, daughter of Joshua

Bacon, Esq., Middlesex, and had two

chikh-en :
—

Mary Elizabeth, born 16th Dec, 1841;

died 30th July, 1843.

Bessie, born 25th October, 1843 ; died

a few liours after birth .

His wife, Mary Ann, died 4th Dec, 1845
;
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he married, secoiidly, lOth June, 1847,

Augiista Bramley, daughter of Colonel

Fraser, Bengal Light Cavahy and Aide-

de-canip to the Marquess of Hastings, and

by her has issue :
—

Henry Henzey Fraser, born Ist Feh.,
1849.

Charles Alexander, born 27th August,
1850.

XIV. Frances, born 26th July, 1807; died

unmarried, 7th March, 18.32.

XV. Charles, born 9th July, 1809; married

Susannah, daughter of the Rev. Richard

Foley, Rector of Huntley, Gloucester-

shire, by whom he has issue :
—

1. Charles Foley, born 26th Nov., 1837.

2. Henrietta Susannah, born 18th June,
1840.

3. Mary EHzabeth, born 21st Dec, 1841.

4. John Henzell, born 22nd Dec, 1843.

5. Frances Anna, born 16th Feb., 1846.

6. Georgina Maria, born 3rd Feb., 1848.

7. Henry Wal\vyn,born llthMarch,1850.

John Pidcock, Esq., (boni IstMarch,

1756,) died 9th Aug., 1834; his eldest

surviving son is the present John Henzey
PiDcocK, Esq.jOfDevonport-Street, Hyde
Park, and Belle Vue, co. Worcester.

Arms—Per pale sable and giiles, a cock per fesse or.

and arg., between tliree acorns of the third.

Crest—-A bar shot ppr., thereon a gyphon segreant
sable holdinpr within its claws a grenade fired, also ppr.
Motto—Seigneur je te prie garde ma vie.

STURGIS.

The ancient family of Sturgis
— whose

name, originally written de Turgis, is local

and derived from the viUage of Turgis
—

was for a long series of generations seated in

the county of Northampton, where WilHam
de Turgis held lands of Edward I. The
name seems to have undergone its orthographic

change some time in the fifteenth century. So

early as the beginning of the sixteenth cen-

tury the family had settled at CHpston, in the

same county, in which place and the neigh-

bom-ing villages they were possessed of con-

siderable estates.

Roger Sturgis of Clipston, co,==Alice.
Northampton. Will dated Nov.

10, 1530.

Richard Sturgis_
of Clipston. I

Robert Sturgis. Francis Sturgis. EUen, m.—RauUen.
,

- Agnes, m.—Hall.

RogerSturgisof Clipston.= Agnes.Wm dated Sept. 4, 1579.

John Sturgis. =
I

I I I I I

Five chUdren, Uv-

ing in 1579.

Thomas Sturgis of Stanion,
co. Northampton.

Robert Sturgis of Faxton, co. Northampton.=
WiUdatedAprU 9, 1610;proved Sept, 19, 1611.

Buried at Faxton, 2nd Jan., 1611.

First wife.

John Sturgis.

_PliUUp Sturgis, of Hannington, co. North-^AnneLewes, secondwife,

ampton. WiU dated 26 May, 1618; proved 1 m. at Hannington, 1607.

July2, 1618. Buried at Hannington, June 18, |

She was buried at Han-
1618.

I nington, Nov. 13, 1612.

Edward Sturgis, emi-^

grated to New England
about the year 1635, and

settled in Sandwich.

: Alice. Robert. EUzabeth. Ahce, bap. 17 Anne, bap. 29 WUliam, bap.

Jan., 1608, Sept., 1609. Oct. 10, 1611.

AUce, bap. 23 Dec, Mary, bap.
1619. 2 Oct., 1621.

2nd wife, Mary,=Edward Sturgis, bap. lO^Elizabeth, flrst Rebecca, bap. 17

widow of Zacha- April, 1624, went to New l wife, d. UFeb., Feb., 1626-7.

riah Rider. England with his father, 1691-2.

andsettledatYarmoutb. |

A
C
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Elizabeth, b. 20 Joscph, 6. 6 Echvard Sturgis,_ , dau. of Samucl Sturgis, Thomas Sturgis,_Abigail.
April, 1647. April, 1630. d. 1678. Captain John d. 1674. of Yarmouth, d.

|

Gorham. 1708.

Thomas Stnrgis, of Barnstable, 6._Martha, dau. of Rev. John Russell. Several other children.
14tk April, 1680. 1 She d. 17 June, 1774.

Martha, 6. Elizabeth, b. Thomas Sturgis,.
1718. 1721. of Barnstable,

b. 1722.

Elizabeth, Rebccca,d. Jonathan, AbiKaO, b. Hannah,
6. 1725. 1727. 6. 1730. 1732. 1735.

Martha.
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Rector of Llanddoget in Denbighshire, and
of Aughi-im in the diocese of Clonfert in

Ireland, where he died in 17G7, having mar-
ried Margaret, daughter of Edward Hughes
of Keidiog, and sister of John Hughes, Esq.,
of Plas-draw, by whom he left issue :

—
1, HuGH,hisheir, (afterwards of Llainwen).
2, Edward, in Holy Orders, and three

daughters.
HuGH HuGHES, Esq., the eldest son, suc-

ceeded his father, and in 1758, married Mary,
daughter and heiress of Rice Roberts, Gent.,
of Llainwen, co. Denbigh, by Anne, eldest

daughter of Jonathan Parry of Llangollen-
fechan, Esq.

Mr. Hughes of Llainwen was succeeded by
his eldest son—
JoHN HuGHES, Esq., born in 17G3, who

married, 30th April, 1795, Maiy, eldest

daughter and coheiress of John Matthews of

Willington in Hanmer, co. Flint, Gent., by
Mary his wife, daughter of John Maddox,
Gent., of Preeshenlle, co. Salop, which Mary,
afterwards, upon the death without issue of

her brother, Thomas Maddox, succeeded to

her father's estate in Shropshire. By Mary,
his wife, Mr. Hughes left at his decease, 12th

April, 1830, a son and two daughters, viz. :
—

Thomas, now of Ystrad, born 7th Decem-

ber, 1799—married 20th November, 1827,

Margaret, only daugliter of Robert Williams,

Esq., late of the city of Chester, and of Pen-

tremawr, co. Denbigh, andhas a son, Hugh
RoBERT, born 17th January, 1835, and three

daughters—Sarah-Mary, Martha-Elizabeth,
and Selina-Margaret.

Mary Ann.

Margaret, married April, 1833, to Robert

Read, Esq., who died in March, 184G, leaving
three daughters.
Mr. Hughes died 12th April, 1830, and

was succeeded by his only son, the present
Thomas Hughes, Esq.

Arms. Ist, or. threc lions couchant sa. ; 2nd, erm. a
lion rampant sa. ; 3rd, sa. on a bend arg-. betw. two
cottises erm. a rose gu. ; 4th, az. three lions rampajit
or. and on a chief ar. three cross crosslets sa. ; 5tli, ar.

on a fess g^u. betw. twd cottises wavy sa. three crescents

or. ; Cth, ar. a chcvron betw. three towers sa. flaming
with fire.

Crests. Ist, a lion couchant sa. ; 2nd, a lion's paw
holding a cross crosslet sa.

PEABODY.

The name Paybody first appears in English
records about the time of Henry VIIL, in

Leicestershire. In that, and the adjoining
co. of Northampton, different branches of the

family seated themselves, and in the year 1635,
Francis Paybody, then aged 21, after taking
the oath of allegiance and supremacy to the

Church of England, embarked on board the

ship Planter, Captain Trarice, at Gravesend,

and sailed for New England. His first place
of residence in the New World was Hampton,
where he filled several oflices of trust. In

the year 1657, he removed to Topsfield, and
there fixed his permanent home. He was an

extensive landliolder, an officer in the Essex

regiment, and the principal man of tlie town.

He died I9th Feb., 1698, aged 84.

Francis Paybody=Mary, dau. of Keginald Foster,
b. 1G14, d. 1G9S. of Ipswich, in New England.

Capt. John Peabody,_Hannah Anch-ews, Joseph. William. Isaac. Sarah.

ofBoxford, b. 1642. marricd23rdNov.,
llepresentativetotlio 1605, </. 4th Dec,
General Court, died 1702.

1720. 1

Hrpsi- Lydia.
bah.

Mary.
lluth.

Dan-.aris.

Samuel.
Jaeob.
Ilannah.
Nathaniel.

John,
rf.young.

Thomas,
d. young.

Mary. Lydia. David Peabody.
of Boxford

;
an

officer in thc
Essex llegi-

ment, b. 12th

July, 1678; d.

Ist April, 1726.

Sarah, dau.
of Zachcus

Goidd, she
d. 2<)th Sep-
tember,1756.

Eliza-
beth.

Nathau. Hannah. lluth. Moses,
d. young

Thos. Hannah. Sarah. Mercy. John. Dcborah. Rcbecca. Susan-
nah.

Mary. David ,

Peabody,
of Andovcr
aiidllaver-

hill, b. 4th
Oct. 1724,
d. IGthAug.

1774.

Mary Gaines,
of Ipswich,

d. 1803.

Mary.

A
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Lucy. David.id. Saran. Mary. Judith. Thomas Pea-__Judith Dodge, Deborah. Abigail. John. Josiah Gaines.

body, ofDan.

vers, b. 7th

Sept., 1762,
d. 13th May,

1811.

ofRowley. She
d. atLockport,
N. Y., 22nd
June, 1830.

David. Actisah

SpofFord.

Georsje Peabody,
of London.

I I

Judith Dodge. Thomas. Jeremiah
Dodge.

Mary Gaines. Sophronia
Phelps.

Armi. Per fesse nebuly gu. and az. in chief two suns Crest.

and in base a garb, or. Motto.
An eagle reguardant ppr.
Murus aeneus conscientia sana.

S T O R Y,

Of Bingfield, Raleigh Lodge, Errington and

Lockington Lodge, Ireland : About the year

1690, Joseph Story and his brother sold

their property at Bingfield, near Hexham in

Northumberland, and settled in the neigh-
bovirhood of Clogher, co. Tyrone, where the

brother built a pretty residence called Carick,
still possessed by his descendants. Joseph

Story, who was a clergyman, and Rector of

Kilskeery, and Magheracross, in the diocese of

Clogher, purchased an estate in the county of

Tyrone, on which Raleigh Lodge, and Erring-

ton, were built. He became Chaplain to the

Irish House of Commons, and, on the recom-

mendation of the House, was consecrated

Bishop ofKillaloe, and thence translated to the

see of Kihnore. His Lordship bought further

property in the co. of Cavan, and on this

estate his only son, the Venerable Archdeacon

Joseph Story, erected a good mansion and

planted ahandsomedemesne aroundit, calling

it Bingfield, after the patrimony cf his father

in Northumberland. Here his descendant,

Joseph Story, Esq., now of Bingfield, resides.

The Tyrone property was inherited by the

Archdeacon's younger son, the Rev. Edward

Story, who built the mansion of Errington
—

now occupied by his representative, Colonel
RoBERT Story, of the Royal Artillery, who
succeeded to the Raleigh estate at the decease
of his brother, Samuel Story, Esq. James
Hamilton Story, Esq., LL.D., of Lock-

ington Lodge, near Belturbet, co. Cavan, a

magistrate for the Counties of Cavan and

Tyrone, and High SherifF of the former co. in

1822, is brother of Colonel Robert Story of

Errington and Raleigh Lodge.

Arms—Per fesse arg. and gu., a pale counterchanged
thrcc storks of the last.

CreU—A stork with a viper in its mouth, ppr.
ilfoito—Fabula sed vera,

—" A story, but a true oue."

D Y K E S,

Of DovENBY Hall, co. Cumberland, an

ancient family said to be settled at Dykes-
field in that shire, prior to the Conquest.
The name " Del Dyke, or Dykes,"issupposed

to be derived from " The Roman Wall," on
the line of which Dykesfield (considered to

be the site of a station,) is situated.

William del Dykes, living temp. Edward II.=Agnes, heiress of Sir Hugh Waverton,
fourth in desccnt from William del Dykes of Waverton.

(bearing the name of William.)

William del Dykes son and successor. Agnes=J. de Onnby.

WiUiiam del Dykes=Jane, heiress of Sir H. Dystyngton, of Dystyngton.

William del Dykes living <(:»ip._Katherine Thwaites, of Thwaites.
Hen. IV. I

A daughter, niarried
to Nicholas Irton, of

Irton.

R. Brisco=:Isabel.

I

A

I

William dcl Dykcs, M.P.
for Cumbcrland, icmp.

Ilenry VI.

Elizabeth, dau., and in her issue heir, of

William Leigh, of Isel, M.P., grandson of

Sir William Leigh, Kt., by Margarct, his

wifc, dau. and hciress of William de Mul-

ton, of Isel, desccnded from heiresses of

Worvillc, Eiigaj-ne, Estrivcrs, De
Meschines, and Vaux.
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I

/iUiaWilliam del Dykes—Christiana, dau. and coheir of Sir Richard
Salkeld, of Corby, a descendant and repre-

sentative of Vaux of Tryerniain.

Thomas Dykes, Esq.= Isabel, dau. and heiress of John
I Pennington, of Muncaster.

Rd. Orfeur.=Jane. Leonard Dykes, Esq.=Anne Layton of Dalemaiiu

Thomas Dykes, Esq., escheator of_Jane, dau. of Lancelot Lancaster

Westmoreland, temp. Elizabeth. of Sockbridge, derived from
John de Tailboys, brother of

Fulk, Earl of Anjou, and Elewa,
dau. of Ethelred, Iving of England.

Anne, heiress of Radcliffe_Leonard Dykes, Esq., Sheriff of_Margaret Fretcheville, niece of

of Cockerton, Ist. wife. co. Cumberland 9th Charles I. Lord Fretcheville of Staveley,
2nd wife.

Ist. Joyce, niece of=

Lord Fretcheville,
of Staveley.

= Thomas Dykes, Esq.,=2nd. Jane De la

eldest son, a distin- Vale, daughter
guished* cavalier, temp. and heiress of

Charles I. R. De la Vale.

Elizabeth.=Lawson Irton, Esq.,

Leonard Dykes, Esq., his heir,_Grace Salkeld, daughter of John Salkeld, of Threapland, a branch of

twice sheiifl' of Cumberland.
J

the faniily of Whitehall and Corby, descended from the co-heiress

I
of Sir Richard Hudleston, K.B.

Fretcheville Dykes, Esq., honourably mentioned by Camden,=Jane, eldest sister, and in her issue heir

with his brother Osward, as a learned antiquary. |

of Sir Gilfrid Lawson of Brayton.

J. Ballantine, of=Jane.
Crookdale.

Leonard Dykes, Esq., married=Susanna, dau. and only surviving issue

about 1728. of the Rev. Thomas Capstack of New-
burn, co. Northumberland.

Fretcheviile Dykes, Esq._Mary, dau. of JohnBrougham,+ Jane, dau. and heiress_Lawson Dykes, Esq.^
of Warthole, eldest son. Esq., of Cockermouth, sister and

heir of P. Lamplugh, Esq., of

Dovenby.

of Jdhn Ballantine,

Esq., of Crookdule.
yoimger son, assmned
on his marriage the
additional surname,
James of Ballantuie.

Mary Dykes, only child, inherited the=JosEPH Dykes Ballantine, Esq.,
estates of her uncle, Peter Lamplugh
(formerlyBrougham),Esq.,of Dovenby:
and isthe iiresent Mrs. Maey Ballan-
TiNE Dykes, of Dovenby HaU, head of

the family.

of Dovenby HaU—jure uxoris—
assunied on his marriage the addi-

tional surname of Dykes, SherifF

of Cmuberland, 1807, d. 1830.

1, Mary m. Ist,inl828, JohnMarshall, Jun.,

Esq., of Headingley, Leeds, by whom she
had issue, Janet-Mary, Katherine-Anne,
Reginald-Dykes, Herbert-John,
Julian : she m. 2nd, P. 0'Callaghan, late

llth Hussars, by whom she had an only
cliild, Desmond Dykes TjTite.

2, Jane-Christiana m. in 1833 to Major
Thomas DonneUy, E.I.C.S., and has an oniy

child, Johu FretcheviUe Dykes.
3, EUen m. in 1848, James Walker, Esq., of

Dalry House, Edinburgh, and has issue

William-FretcheviUe and Mary-EUen.
4, Frances. 5, Susan.

1, Fretcheville Lawson Ballantine Dykes, Esq., of_Miss Gunson, eldest surviving dau. and coheir

IngweU, near Whitehaven, m. in 1844. 1 of Joseph Gunson, Esq., of IngweU.

2, Joseph, M.A. ate Fellow Queen's CoUege,
Oxford, now Rector of Headley, Hants.

3, Lamplugh Brougham, Barrister-at-Law,
and Fellow of Peter House, Cambridge.

4, Thomas, died an infant.

5, Lawson-Peter, in Holy Orders, FeUow of

Queen's CoUege, Oxford.

6, Leonard John, deceased.

7, JamesAViUiam,CoUectorof Salem,E.I.C.S.

1, Mary-Frances.
4, Eveline-Joyce.

2, Adeliza.

5, Ida IsabeL
3 FretcheviUe-Brougham, only son.

* From his unfUnching loyaltv originated the motto.

•i Mr. Brougham was grandson of John, sixth son of Ihomas Brougham of Scales, aud Maiy Fleming. See Burke'«

Peerage, "Brougham."
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Arms. Quarterly, Ist and 4th, or., three cinquefoils sa.

for Dykes—2ud iind 3rd— arjj., onaerossazurebetween
four mullets of the sanie, a sword ppr., pommelled and
hiltcd or. for Ballantine, quarteringthecoats of Waver-
ton, Dyst^-ngton, Leigh of Isel, Multon, Morville, En-

gajTie,

"

Estrivers, Mescliines, Vaux
;
Salkeld of Corby;

Vaux of Tryermain ; Pennington ;
Preston

; Lancaster
;

Radclitfc ;
Freschville ;

Musard ;
Nuthill

; Beaufoy ;

Lawson of Brayton ; Brougham ; Lamplugh ; Barwise ;

Preston; Kirkbride; Luey; Musgrave; Stapleton ; Vipont.

Mr. Fretche^ille Lawson Ballantino Dykes also
bears an escutcheon of pretence for Gunson, of Ingwell.

Viz.,—or., tlirce bars engrailed sa. thercon six plates,
arg. 3, 2, and 1. On a chief az. a eannon uf the field.

Crests. A lobster vert for Dykes. A griftln couped
for Ballantine.

Motfoes. Prius frangitu-r quam iiectitui- for Dykes.
Nec cito nec tarde for Ballantine.

T O K E R,

Of the Oaks, Ospringe, Kent. This is an
ancient and esteemed family, settled for ages
in the co. of Kent, and long possessed of

considerable landed property. Hasted sup-

poses, with much probability, that Thomas

Tokyns, who held lands in the parisli of

Ospringe so far back as the reign of Ed-
WARD II., was an ancestor of the Tokers, of

the Oaks.* Their representative at the middle
of the 17th century, was John Toker, Esq.,
of the parish of St. Mary Bredin, near the

city of Canterbury, who was buriedthere 16tli

November, 1672, leaving by Elizabeth, his

wife, who survived until 25th August, 1693,
three sons, viz.:—

i. JoHN, of Langport, Canterbury, baptized
at St. Mary Bredin, Ist January, 1635-6,
whose will, dated 17th October, 1699,
was pi-oved 19th June, 1702. ByMaryhis
wife, who died in 1721, he had issue :

—
1. JoHN ToKER, Esq., of the borough of

Langport, some time a Lieutenant in

the Princess Anne'sRegimentofHorse,
baptizedat St. Paurs,near Canterbury,
12th July, 1668. Died 7th October,
1736, and buried in the family vault

at St. Paul's aforesaid.

2. Stephen, some time a Lieutenant in

General Seymour's Regiment, baptized
at St. PauVs aforesaid, 2nd July, 1671 ;

died in France, Ist August, 1712.

3. Hougham, baptized 13th September,
1676, buried in the family vault.

4. William, of Barton, in the borough of

Langport, baptized 24th August, 1677,
buried in the family vault at St. PauFs,

Canterbury, 17th Feb., 1716-17.

5. Richard, baptized 24th March, 1678-9.

6. Charles, baptized lOth December,
1680,

1. Elizabeth, baptized at St. Paid's, 6th

January, 1669.

II. Stephen, of whose descendants we are

about to treat.

III. William, baptized at St. Mary Bredin, 8th

March, 1645.

The second son,
Stephen Toker, Esq., of Stuppington

Manor, in the parish of St. Mary Bredin, bap-
tized there 5th August, 1641, married (licence
dated 27th May, 1671) Mary Mount, of St.

* Many valuable family documcnts were destroycd in
the great fire of London, in 1666.

Mary Bredin, widow, and died in September,
1719, leaving a daughter, Mary, and a son—
JoHN Toker, Esq., baptized at St. Mary

Bredin, 29th September, 1672, executor of
his father's will in 1719. He died in 1728,
and was buried in the family vault at St.

Mary Bredin, 26th September, 1728, leaving
issue—
I. STEPHEN,baptized2nd January, 1699-1 700,

buried 30th July, 1719.

II. JoHN, baptized 16th December, 1701,
died before 1771.

III. WiLLiAM, baptized 19th March, 1705-6,

living in 1719.

IV. Edward, of whom presently.
V. RicHARD, of Mall House, Feversham,

Kent, baptized 4th July, 171 1. Buried 2nd

January, 1786. He married, but died s. p.
His will dated 31st August, 1784; was

proved 2nd January, 1786.

I. Mary, baptized 2nd December, 1703.

The fourtli son,

Edward Toker, Esq., of Ospringe, co.

Kent, baptized at St. Mary Bredin, 25th

January, 1708-9, married Margaret Ford, a

lady of family and fortune, of Sussex, and by
her (who died in 1772) had issue—
I. Edward, of Stuppington Manor, a magis-

trate for Kent, and some time chairman of

Quarter Sessions
;
died s. p., and was buried

in the family vault in St. Mary Bredin, 28th

October, 1796.

II. JoHN, who died in infancy.
III. JoHN, ofwhom we treat.

I. Mary, died an infant.

Edward Toker, Sen., was buried at St. Mary
Bredin. His will, dated 25th April, 1771,
was proved in the Archdeacon's Court at

Canterbury, 2nd December, 1779.

His youngest son,

JoHN Toker, Esq., of the Oaks, in the

parish of Ospringe, Kent, marriedMary, sister

and coheir of Thomas Buck, Esq., Barrister-

at-Law, and daughter of Thomas Buck, Eso.,
of Feversham, by Susanna, his second wife,

sister of Edward Chapman, Esq., of HalFs

Place, Harbledown, near Canterbury, who
died* there in 1675, and daughter of James

Chapman, Esq., Barrister-at-Law, whose wife

was Grace Negus, of St. Neofs. The family
of Chapman, now extinct in the male line,

* The rooks are statcd to have left the rookcry at

Hairs Place, the hour after his death.
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hiit represented in tlie female by the Tokers,
became seated at Flemmings, alias Bowers,—
an ancient mansion and manor in the parish
ot" Molash, Kent—tempore James I., vvhen

Henry Chapnaan purchased the joroperty from
Sir Thomas Moyle.

In tlie chancel of the church at Slolasli, is a

large slab-stone with four ringlets, on whicli

are engi-aved in large capitals, these words :
—

"
^ulbid Cijapinainnorum."

By Mary Buck, his wife (who died 3rd

March, 1814, aged 59, and was buried in

Ospringe Church), John Toker had issue :

I. Edward ToKER, Esq., of theOakSjOspringe,
and of Mall House, Feversham, Kent, mar-
ried Clarissa, eldest daughter of Philip

Champion de Crespigny, Esq., M.P. for

Akleburgh, Suftolk, King's Proctor, brother
of Sir CUvude Champion de Crespigny,
Bart., and by her, who died ,'3rd December,
1 83G, and was buried in the fiimily vault at

Ospringe, he had eight children, all

baptized at Feversham, viz.:—
1. Philip Champion Toker, born 21st

November, 1802, one of the Proctors
of the Arches Court of Canterbury,
and a Commissioner of Lieutenancy of
London

;
manied 17th Sejjtember,

1830, EHza Jeannette, only child of
Arthur Branthwayt, Esq., Captain
2nd Dragoon Guards, and has issue—
Edward John, born 21 st February,
1833; Arthur Branthwayt, born 17th

July, 1834
;
Alliston Champion, born

lOth December, 1843; Eliza Cla-
rissa Emilia, Grace Trent, Constance

Phipps, Annette Chatry de la Fosse, and

Philippa Champion Orme.
2. RicHARD Edward Toker, baptized

at Feversham, in March, 1807, mar-
ried Mary Elizabeth Thomson, and

having assumed, by Royal licence, in

1851, the surname and arms of Thom-
son, in compliance with the will of
Sarah Thomson, is the present Ricn-
ARD Edward Thomson, Esq., ofKen-
field, Kent. The Thomsons came

originally from Sandwich, and pur-
cliased Kenfield, iewi/J. Queen Eliza-

beth.

3. Charles Brooke Toker, died unmarried,
at the Oaks, 4th September, 1832,aged
22, in consequence of a fall from his

horse.

4. Claude Buck Toker, born 6th Dec,
1811, drowned in Lake Sturgeon,

Upper Canada, 1841.

5. George John Toker, born 27th Sept.,

1817; married, 9th November, 1840,

Elizabeth, daughter of Commander
Rubidge, R.N., and died in Upper
Canada, in 1842.

1. Clarissa Mary Josephine, now of Mall

House, Fevershain, under her father's

will.

2. Georgiana Maria, died unmarried,
25 th July, 1821.

3. ThomasinaFanny,married lOtli June,

1816, to John Bridges Kenrick, Esq.
Edward Toker, Esq., of thc Oak», died

25th April, 1849, aged 71, and was bmied in

the family vaidt in Ospringe Church.

II. Thomas Richard, Captain R.N., bap-
tized at Ospringe, 12th Aug., 1780; died

in London 27th June, 1846. This gallant
and highly-distinguished otticer, still well

remembered for his eminent professional

services, his noble and generous spirit, and
his untiring benevolence, commenced
his honourable career in July, 1794, on
board the Veneruhle, 74, and was shortly
afterwards transferred to the Jlcmene fri-

gate, which ship was attached to the Expe-
dition under Rear-Admiral Sir Hugh C.

Christian and Major-General Sir Ralph
Abercrombie, when they experienced the

terrific gales of wind on their passage to

the West Indies in 1795 and 1796. In

1798, Mr.Toker joinedtheZ)('/'?iCf, 74, and
was ]VIaster's Mate in her at the Battle of

the Nile, when she sustained for three

hours the galling fire of the Peitple Souverain,
which ship had upwards of 300 of her crew

killed and wounded; the Defence then

veered cable to abreast the Franklin (the
French Admirars ship), which surrendered

to her, having lost her main and mizen

masts, and nearly half her crew. In 1799

]\Ir. Toker was removed to the Foudroyant,
and afterwards to the Fanguard, and was
attached to the Brigade of Seamen under

Captain Hood, at the storming of the castle

of St. Elmo, at Naples. In Feb., 1801, he

was promoted to the rank of Lieulenant, and

amioinied to the FrinceW/lHa7ti. He succes-

sively servedin the Windsor Casfle,Fisgard,

Naiad, and t\\eLeopard, under Lord Nelson

at tlie attack on the French Flotilla oft'Bou-

logne in 1803
;
and in September, 1804, he

wasappointed to the Colossus, of which ship
he was First Lieut. in the ever memorable
Battle of Trafalgar, onthe 21stof Oct., 1805 :

the Colossus being the sixth ship in the

Division led by Vice-Admiral CoUingwood,
reached the enemy's liiie at ahout one p.m.,

just at the time the Commander-in-Chief,
in the Ficfori/, closed with the Redouhtahle,
and received a galling and raking firefrom

three line-of-battle ships of equal force to

Iierself, two of which struck their colours

to her, and the third was annihilated in

ten minutes, with the loss of 160 killed

and Avounded ! The Colossus subsequently
was warraly cngaged by the Freiich

Swiftsure, and the Spanish BaJiama, 80
;

about three p.m. the latter, in consequence
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of the Swiftsiire dropping astern, became
the immediate object of attention, but

on the mainmast falling over the side,

ihe Spanish ship showed an English

jack, to denote that she had surrendered.

The Swiftsure again endeavoured to get
her broadside to rake the Colossus, but the

latter wearing more quickly, poured in her

starboard broadside, double-shotted, which

brought down the French ship's mizenmast,
and ahnost at the same moment her totter-

ing maiumast wasknocked away by the fire

of another antagonist.
As the Colossus hauled up to take posses-

sion of her two prizes, her wounded mizen-
mast fell over the larboard quarter. Her
loss amounted to 40 killed, and 160
wounded

; among the hxtter was Captain
Mon-is, afterwards Sir James Morris,

severely. Lieutenant Toker, for his share

in this glorious and decisive action, was
made Commander; and in March, 1808,
was givcn the command of the Zehra, in

which ship lie was in attendance on Sir

John Moore's expedition from Gottenburg
to Vimiera Bay. Subsequently he received

special charge of a victualling-ship, of 400

tons, crippled in the Cliannel, and had in-

trusted to him forty-six transports, (with the

French General, Baron de Grain d"Orge on

board) being the third and last division of

the Cintra Convention from Lisbon. On
paying his respects to the First Lord of the

Admiralty onhis return, he was toldhe was
known at the Admiralty, and the following

year he was appointed to the command of

the Cruizer
;

in which vessel he captured,
on the 8th of May, the French cutter Tilsit,

of 18 guns, and 130 men, after a close

action of 15 minutes. On the same day,
with great perseveiMiice and activity, he
succeeded in re-capturing the Experi-
ment^ of 700 tons, off the heel of Dantzic.

He also took, on the olst of the same

month, the Danish brigantine, Chiistian-

lyurgli, of Ifi guns, and 120 men, off Born-

liohn, of wliich ishnid he was governor for

a short time in 1809, with a line-of-battle-

ship ship's company for its protection. The
Cruizer suifered severely in several gun-boat

engagements, when in cliarge of convoys
through tlie Cattcgat and Great Belt, and at

diiferent times assisted in destroying seven
of tlie enemy'sgun-boats. Whilst this ves-

sel was attacking the Fort of Earthohn in the

EastSea, Capt. Toker had a narrow escape, a

shot froni the battery having cut one of the

hamniocks in two, and knocked his hat off

his head. The men, seeing he was vmhurt,
ran aft, and gave him three cheers, and im-

mediately retui-ned to their guns. During
the five years Captain Toker was in com-

mand of the Cruizer, he was engagecl
with the enemy between seventy and eighty
times.

\n Decembei", 1813, Commander Toker
was raised to post rank, and in March, 1 815,

appointed to the Tartarus, thirty guns,
While commanding that ship, with the ffag
of Sir Pulteney Malcohn on board, he was
selected to quell the serious disturbances

among 45,000 to 50,000 seamen at Sunder-

land and Shields. Eight men-of-war were

placed iinder his command, and his broad

pendant displayed in the Tartarus. The
Seamen's processions weremade threetimes
a-week in 2,000 boats with twelvemen in

each. Captain Toker's judicious conduct
on that occasion, and the temper and
moderation he evinced in settling the

distm-hances, were sohighly commendable
as to draw forth the approbation of the

Prince Kegent, which was conveyed to him
in the following letter :

—
"
Admiralty OfBce, OctoT»r 28th, 1815.

"
Sin,—I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners

of the Admiralty to acquaint you that they have veceived
his Royal Highness the Prince Kegenfs commands,
slgnified by the secretary of State, to convej' to you his

Koyal Higlmess's entire approbation of the exemplary
coiiduct of yoursclf and the Otficers, seamen and marines,
serving under your orders in the river TjTie, during the
late disturbances at Shields and its vicinity, and espe-
cially of your and their zealous and effective aid in sup-
port of the civil povrer in re-establishing its authority in
the harbour of Shields, and in restoriag the fi-ee naviga-
tiou of the river.

" I am, Sir, &c.,
Signed "John Bakkow."

It was generally supposed at the time that

a patent of Baronetcy wouldhave been con-

ferred on Captain Toker for this important
service. Captain Toker next commanded
the Perseus ; in February, 1817, he was

appointed to the Tamar, and in that

vessel introduced, at his own expense, the

use of the "
sHding dead-hghts," which

were in consequence ordered by the Lords
of tlie Admiralty to be generally adopted
in all single-decked ships.

III. RicnARD ToKEn, Captain in the Army,
baptized at Ospringe, January, 1782,

accompanied the Expedition to Ferrol, and

eventually died at Antigua of yellow-fever
in 1805.

IV. JoiiN BucK ToKER, Esq., R.N., born flth

July, 1795, now of the Oaks, Ospringe,

Kent, entered the naval service of his

country in 1811, and served througli the

French war.

I. Martha, died unmarried 20th January, 1 837,

and was buried in the family vault in

Ospringe Church.

II. Susanna, married Thomas Smith, Com-
mander R.N., aiid died 3rd January, l83(i.

III. Margaret Grace, unmarried.
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Arms. Quarterly, Ist and 4th, vert., on a bend engr. arg. with phiin cottiscs or., three hearts gule-s, for Toker ;

2nd, arg. on a beiid az. cottised wavy ,sa. three mullets or., for Bvck ; 3rd, per chev. arg. and gu. a crescent

countorchansjed, for Chapman.
Crcst. A heart ifu. encircled by a ducal coronct arg. between two branchcs of palm ppr.
Alollii. rrovidentia tutunien.

Pedigree of Chapman.

Edward Chapman, Esq., of Bowers, in Molash, co. Kent, son of

Henry Chapmau, Esq.^of Bowers, in Molash.

Edward Chap-
man, Esq.,
Barrister-at-

Eaw, d.

28 Dec, 1743,
unmarried.

Thomas Chap-
man, Esq.,
Groom of tlie

King's Cham-
ber, d. in 1734,
buried at St.

Bride's.

Ilcnry
Chap-
man,

d. un-
married,
1701.

Martha, baptized
20 March, 1087,
buried at Mohish,
in the family

vault.

.Samuel
'

Buck,
Esq.,of
Sturry
Court.

Ist, Grace, _ James Chap-—2nd, Mary,
dau. of— Negus,
Esq., of

St. Neofs,
Hunting-

don,rf. 1750j
buried at

Molash.

Rebocca_
d. s. p.

_Edward Amy, d.

l rane, unmar-
Esq. ried.

man, Esq.,
baptized at

Molash,
l Aug., 1092.

d. 1750.

dau. of
Thomas
Fletcher,
m. in 1724.

1. Martha, d.

aged 80, 18:34.

2. Susan, d.

unmarried,
aged 71, 1825.

4. Gracc, d.

unmarried,
1755.

All buried in

family vault,
at Feversham.

Thomas Buck,
Esq., baptized
28 Sept., 1709,
at Sturry, only
child ;

buried
in Feversham

Vault.

- Susannah,
dau.ofJames
Chapman,
Esq., of

Bowers,
Ist wife, d.

1761.

-John Thurs-
ton, Esq.,
Isthusband,
d. aged 32,

in 1745.

l.Elizabeth,
d. unmarried
2. Effield, m.

"William

DjTie, Esq.,
in 1758.

3. Mart, dau.
and co-heir of
Thomas Buck,
Esq.; rf. 3March,
1814, aged 59

;

her children

eventually in-
herited the Buck
estates, which
were consider-

JOHN
TOKEK,
Esq., of

theOalis,
d.9Aug.,
1817.

both
buried in

family
vault,

able. -A-Ospringe.

Thomas Buck,
Esq., of Caius

College, ( am-
bridge, Barris-

ter-at-Law,
one of tlie Jury
on Despard, d.

unmarried
1801

;
buried in

thefamilyvault
at Feversham.

Edward .

Chapman,
Esq., of

Hall'sPlace,
Harble-

down,Kent,
d. there,

1765.

Elizabeth, m. John
Thomson, Esq., of

Chartliam Deanery,
and cUcd in 1828,

aged 86, both buried
in the family vault

at l'i^tham ;
their

griiudson, John
Buck Thomson,

Esq., is heir to the

Kenfield Estate.

Jane, dau.
of the Rev.

Anthony
Dennis, of

Leybome.

James Chapman,
Esq., of Caius

College, Cam-
bridge, and of

Newmarket, Suf-

folk, d. in 1797,

aged 37, unmar-
ried.

WORRALL, oR WYRRALL,

Formerly of Bicknor, and now of Clifton, co.

(iloucester, a family of great antiquity, of

which was Matthew Wyrrall, who served as

High Sheriff of Gloucestershire in 1259. His
descendant John-Wyrrall, whodied33 Edward
III.,wasdirectancestor of JenkynWyrrall,who
married Margaret Machen, of St. Briavels, and
died 7 Edward IV. : he was buried in the

churchyard of Newland, under a raisedtomb,

upon which is the figure of a nian in fuU

proportion, with a horn hanging at his right
side, and a falchion at his left, his feet resting
on his faithful dog. His son John Wyrrall
married the daughter of Price, and was father

of William Wyrrall, Esq., who married Anne,
daughter andheir of John Ashhurst, and had a

son and successor, John Wyrrall, Esq.,
whose wife was Isabel, daughter and heir of

Robert Milton. Their son and heir, William,
was father of William Wyrrall, who mar-
ried Maud, daughter of Thomas Baynham,
of Clowerhall, and died tejnp. Henry VIII.,

andwas succeeded byher son, George Wyr-
RALL, Esq., who married Bridget, daughter of

George Wintour, of Churcham, and was father

of WiLLiAM Wyrrall, Esq., who married

Catherine, daughter of Michael Chadwell of

Chipping Norton, co. Oxford, and had a son,

George WYRRALL,Esq., wliose wifc, Maiy, was

only daughter of Dennis Compton. Their son,

WiLLiAM WYRRALL,Esq.,married AnneKyrle,
and was father of Jeptha Wyrral, who mar-
ried Martha, daiighter of Thomas Pury, Esq.,
of Taunton, and had a son and successor,
George W yrral, Esq., whopossessed a good
house and estate in the parish of Bicknor, co.

Gloucester, at the beginning of the 18th cen-

tury. Of this family were Joshua Worrel,
Esq., Sheriff of Gloucester in 1709; and
Samuel W^orrel, Sheriff in 1723 and 1730,
and Mayor in 1740. Samuers son, Samuel
Worrall, Esq., who settled at Clifton, mar-
ried Miss Vaughan, andlefttwo sons, Samuel
and George : tlie elder, Samuel Worrall,

D
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Esq., of Clifton, married Elizabeth Leehmere,

great-niece of Lord Lechmere, and daughter
of Richard Lechmere, Esq., of Boston, Massa-

chussets, andlefttwo sons, Samuel Worrall,

Esq., of Clifton, county Gloucester, who is

unmarried
;
and Colonel Henry Lechmere

WoRRALL, of the Bengal Cavahy, who resides

atClifton, and is married to Catherine Barron,
widow of Lieutenant Bruce, E.LC.S., and

daughter of William Spottiswoode, Esq., of

Glenfernate, co. Perthshire. By hcr he has four

daughters, of whom the eldest, Catherine

Henrietta, married 28th November, 1850,
Simeon Henry Stuart Esq., eldest son of Sir

Simeon H. Stuart, Bart. The Worralls of

Clifton are the only remaining branch of the

AVyrrals of Gloucestershire,
—the alteration in

the spelling of the name occurred three hun-
dred years ago.

Arms.—Gu. a cliev. or. between three cross crosslets

arg'., in chief, a lion passant of the tliird.

Crest.—A lion's gamb erect gu. holding a cross crosslet
fitchee arg.

Mntto.—Propositi tenax.

COULTHART.
CoULTHAUT OF CoULTHART AND CoLLYN :

a family of the highest antiquity in the south

of Scotland, which traces its pedigree from

CouLTHARTus, a Romau lieutenant, and
which is now represented by John Ross

Coulthart, Esq., of Ashton-under-Lyne, co.

Lancaster, only son of the late William

Coulthart, Esq., of Conlthart, co. Wigtown,

and of Collyn, co. Dumfries, chief of the

name, by Helen, his wife, second dau. of

the late John Ross, Esq., of Dalton, co. Dum-
fries, a scion of the ennobled house of Boss
of Halkhead, and collaterally related, through
that family, to the Boyles, Earls of Glasgow.
(See

" Ross of Dalton," in this volume, and
the title

"
Glasgow" in Burke's Peerage.)

Coulthartus VI. living at the Eestoration of King Malcolm III., A.D. 1059.

Alfred, laird or lord of the barony of Coulthart, -within

Galloway, retumed from a pilgrimage to the Holy Sepul-
chre at Rome in 1065.

Theobald, accompanied his brother Alfred to Rome on
the death of their father, Coulthartus VI.

Godofredus, present_Maud, dau. of Stephen
at Scoon when Edgar de Maulia.

was crowned.

Eeginaldus distinguished himself at the
Battle of Lothian, in 1107.

Alexander, a monk of
Dundiennan.

Sir Eadulphus de Coulthart, the first laird_Ada, dau. of Walter de

on record that used the territorial designa- Montgomery.
tion as a surname.

Amelick fouglit at North-
allerton.

Margaret.
Judith.

Sir Peter de Coulthart, a contributor to the.

relief of the Christians in Jerusalem.
Helen, dau. of Sir Richard

de Crawford.
Walter m. a dau. of Wil-

liam de Bethune.
Michael and
Hcnry killed

at the siege
of Acon.

William de Corlthart had a grant of the lands of Barlochtry,_Mary, dau. of Patrick
co. Wigtown, from AUan, Lord of GaUoway. de Kiddell.

Roger m. Margaret, dau. of
Bosewell of Balmutto, by
whom he had Hugo and

Arthur.

Sir Roger de Coulthart, Knighted by Alexander II. soon_Isabclla, dau. of Walter
aftcr the Haddington tournament, A.D. 1240. Stewart, hercditary High

Steward of Scotland.

Walter who assisted the
Earl of Buchan in cap-
turmg Gillespy Ross the

Outlaw.

Alexander de Coulthart commanded a_Helen, dau. of the de Roberton, co, Lanark.
battalion at the battle of Largs, 15th

August, 12G3.

I I I

Allan.
Willinm.
Robcrt.

I I I

Matilda.
Janet.
Martha.

John de Coulthart, a very lcavned man,
d. unm. A.I). 1313.

Wiliiam d. in_Matilda, dau. of Ednnindstone
1307.

I
of Edmundstone.

Alexander d. in

1278.

T , ,
I I '

I I

Jolm de ('oulthart received a grant of the barony of WTiit-_Elizabeth, dau. of William St. Clair, Richard.
horn, from Kobert the Bruce, and d. subsciiuently to 134G. joined her husband in a charter. Petpr.

Maud.
Helen.
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A
I

I
I i

Robertand Henry, both William de Coulthart had a new_Elizabeth, dau. of Alexander James, who acquircd
killed at the battle of grant of the barony of Coulthart.
Neville's Cross, unm. in

1346.

de Durrisdeer. lands in the shire of

Stirling.

Andi-ew dc Coulthart obtained a Charter of the lands of_Margaret, dau. of William
Lai'gmore from Robert II., and d. in 1384. 1 Baird of Camnethan.

Robert m. Elizabeth

Napier.

Gilbert de Coulthart, laird of Coulthart and Largmore,_Mariot, dau. of Andrew Blaokadder, of Blackadder, and niece
d. at Dantzick, in 1391. 1 of Sir Patrick Blackadder, of TuUiallan.

Sir Roger de Coulthart, Knight, Lord of the Barony of_Margery, dau. and co-heiress of Sir

Coulthart, co. Wigtown, and of Largmore, in the

Stewartry of Kirkcudbright, chief of the name, kiUed
at the siege of Roxburgh Castle, 17th Sept., 1460.

John the Ross, of Renfrew, Knight,
and maternally co-heiress of Mack-
nyghte, of Macknyghte, and Glen-

donjii, of Glendonyn. (See these

pedigrees.)

Andi-ew, to whom,
and his mother,
Mariot, Robertlll.

granted a charter
of lands within the

Barony of Coult-
hart.

Sir Roger de Coulthart, Knight, served heir to the-_Ann, dau.andco-heiressof SirRichard
lands of Coidthart and Largmore, in 1461, and to those
of Renfrew, Macknyghte, and GlendonjTi, on the

death oi' his mother in 1474.

Carmichael, of Carsepherne, co. Ayr.
(See that pedigree.)

Gilbert. James.

Margery, »n. James
Mackintosh, ofLin-

lithgow.

Richard de Coulthart, killed at Flodden, 9th Sept. I513._-Matilda, dau. of Walter, an Admiral
David Betoun, of the Fleet.

of Creech.

Henry, ofCraven,
co. York.

Cuthbert Coulthart, of Coulthart, lord of the Barony of_Lady Elizabeth Hay, eldest dau. of George, sixth Earl of

Coulthart, chief of the name
;
killed at the battle of

Solway Moss in 1342, leaving an only son.
ErroU, who m. secondly, William, Lord Keith. (See the tille

"Lrroll," in Burke's "Peerage and Baronetage.")

John Coulthart, of Coulthart and Largmore, Esq._Helen, dau. and eventually co-heiress of John Forbes, of Pits-

I

cottie, co. AjT. (See that pedigree.)

, of Couithathart and Largmore, Esq., a-_Mary, dau. and co-heiress of Mackenzie, of RogerWilliam Coulthart,

party to deeds in 1621, having the armorlal ensigns of

Coulthart, Ross, Macknyghte, and GlendonjTi, sus-

pended at the bottom. He d. 20th Feb., 1653.

Craig Hall, in the district of Kyle, on the Cuthbert.
south-west coast of Scotland. (See that Christian.

pedigree.) Helen.
Matilda.

Agnes.

John Coulthart, of Coulthart and Largmore, Esq., rf.-^Janet, dau. of James Douglas, of Dee House, d. Richard
llth Sept. 1690. 1692. Mary.

Janet.

Richard Coulthart, Esq., of Coulthart and Largmore,_Jean, dau. and heiress ofWiUiam Gordon, of Robert.
m. in 1698, af. in 1717.. Sorbie, co. Wigtown. (See that pedigree.) William.

Grizel.

Margaret.

James Coulthart, of Coulthart and Largmore, Esq., 6._GrizeI, dau. of Mc Turk, Esq., of the Glenkens, co. Kirk-
in 1702, m. in 1734, and d. 8th May, 1785. 1 cudbright, d. 14th January, 1765.

WilUam Coulthart, of Coulthart and Largmore, after-_Janet, dau. of John Mc Naught, Esq., of Mill- Andrew.
wards of Colh-n, co. Dumfries, Esq., b. in 1739, m. in

1766, and d. 15th Feb., 1807,
town, co. Kirkcudbright. John.

WiUiam Coulthart, Esq., of Coulthart and CoUyn, b. in_HeIen, dau. of John Boss, Esq., of Dalton, co. Dumfries, a
1774, m. in 1801, and d. 7th Oct., 1847. coUateral desccndant of the Lords Ross of Halkhead. (See

Ross, of Dalton.)

John Ross Coulthart, of Coulthart, co. Wigtown ; Margaret, only dau., m. in 1833,_James Macguffle, Esq.,
CoUjfn, co. Dumfries ; and Croft House, Ashton-under- and has issue.

|

of Crossmichael, co.

Lyne, co. Lancaster, Esq. | Kirkcudbright.

.J r?n«.—XJUARTERLY OF ElOHT :
—

1.—Ar. a fesse between two colts in chief, and oue in
base, courant, sa., for Coulthart of Coulfhart ; in

allusion to thrce horses that the Coultharts were
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anciently bound to furnish the Sovereigns of Scotland

in time of war for the barony of Coulihart, in the co.

of Wigtowi.
n.—Ar. a chev. chequy, of three tracks, sa. and or. be-

tween three -water-bougets, of the second, for Ross, of

Reti/rew.

III.—Sa. an inescutcheon, chequy, ar. and or. between
three lions' heads, erascd, of the secoud, for j\Iack-

nyghte, oi Miickmjyhte.

rv.—Quarterly, ar. and sa., a cross parted per cross, in-

grailed, counterchanged, for Glendonyn, of Gleridonyii.

Y.—Ar. a bend cotised, potentee, sa., charged iivith a

tilting-spearofthe tirst,for Carniiehael, of Canepherne.

VI.—Erm. a chev. chequy, ar. and sa., between three
boars' heads, couped of the last, muzzled gu., within a
bordure nebulee, of the second, for Forbes, of Pitscuttie.

VII.—Quarterly, first and fourth, az. a stag's head

cabossed, or. ; second and third, ar., three human legs,

armed ppr., united in the centre at the upper part of
the thigh, triangularly fiexed, garnished and spurred,
of tlie second

;
in surtout, an escutcheon erm., charged

with a stag's head cabossed, sa., within a bordure,
palettee, of tho third, for Mackenzie, of Craiyhatl.

VIII.—j;rm. a fesse, sa., charged with a spear, ar., the

point to the dextcr side, between three boars' heads
ercct, and erased, of the second, for Gordon, oi Sorbie.

Supportcrs.—On the dexter, a war-horse, ar., com-
pletely armed for the field, ppr., garnished, or.

;
on the

sinister, a stag of the second, attired, and dueallv gorged,
of the third

; being a rebus on the name COULT (or
Colt)-IIART.

Crest.—A war-horse's head and neck, coupedar., armed
and bridled, ppr., garnished or.

Mottii.—Virtute non verbis
;
in allusion to the horses

in the arms.

HAMILTON,

Of Barns, representative of Raploch.
This is the head of one of the most distin-

guished and widely-spread branches of the

house of Hamilton.
Sir John Haniilton, Lord of Cadzow, the

grandfather of the first Peer, had a younger
son,

Thomas, of Darngaber, who, by Helen,

daughter of Sir Henry Douglas, of Loch-

leven, had two sons—James, ancestor of this

family, and Thomas, ancestor of the house
of ToRRANCE, represented by Hamilton of

Westburn.
James Hamilton had a charter of the

lands of Raploch, in 1440, from his cousin,
the first Lord Hamilton.

His son, WiLLiAM Hamilton, of Raploch,
had by a daughter of the ancient family of

Baillie, of Lamington, a son,
James Hamilton, of Raploch, who, by

Isabel, daughter of Vere, of Blackwood, had
several sons :

—
I. James, the eldest, married the heiress of

the Montalts, of Stanehouse. His line ap-

pears to have become extinct in the middle
of the seventeenth century.

II. Thomas, wlio succeeded to Raploch, and
died without issue.

III. Archibald, also succeeded to Raploch,
and died without male issue. From his

illegitimate son is sprung the Earl of Clan-

brassil, in Ireland.

IV. Gavin, of whom hereafter.

v. JoHN, of Neilsland, ancestor to Lord Bel-

haven, of the elder line
; Hamilton, of

Wishaw, Lord Belhaven, of the younger
line

; Hamilton, Bart., of Rosehall
;
and

various other famihes.

Gavin Hamilton succeedcd to Raploch.
He was Commendator of Kilwinninj;, and co-

adjutor to the Archbishop of St. Andrew's.
He was aperson of great pohtical importance.
Though a churchman, lieembraced the Refor-

mation, and marrieda daughter of Hamilton,
of Broomhill. His son,

Gavin Hamilton, of Raploch, had—to-

gether with two daughters, married to Lord
Ross and Lord Somerville—two sons :

1, Gavin, of Rtiploch, whose line failed

about the beginning of the eighteenth

century ;

2 Claud, of Barns, who carried on the

line of the family.
Claud Hamilton had a cliarter of the

barony of Barnes inl575. By a daughter of

Knox of Ranfurleigli, he had a son—
Robert Hamilton, of Barns and Coch-

nocli, whose son,
Claud Hamilton, of Barns, was a great

sufferer for religion during the persecutions of

Charles II. and James II. He waslong Member
of Parliament for the county of Dumbarton.
In 1G70, he married Anne, daughter of Sir

Walter Steuart, of Allanton, by Margaret,
sister of the iirst Lord Belliaven, and had a

daughter, Margaret, wife of Archibald Hamil-

ton, of Westburn, (ancestress to Mr. Hamilton

Dimdas, Admiral Sir Cliarles Napier, and
the Rev. Jolin HamiUon Gray,) and a son,
James Hamilton, of Barns. He married

Grizzel, sister of Sir John Maxwell, Bart.,
of Poloc, and was fatherof

JoHN Hamilton, of Barns, who had
issue, a daugliter, Guizzel, wife of John
Hamilton Dundas, of Westburn and Dud-

dingston, and two sons, James and Claud, a

Major in tlie army, whose son Claud, is now
heir male of the family.

James Hamilton, of Barns, married Elea-

nor, daughter of John Dun, of Tennoch-

side, by whom he had a son,
James Hamilton, of Barns, who had no

issue by his wife, Margaret, daughter ofHugh
MacLean, of Coll

;
and several daughters, of

whom the eldest surviving,

Gkace, is now heiress of the estates of
Barns and Cochnoch, and representative of
this very ancient family.

Arms—Gules, a human heart, or. between three

cinque foils pierced ermine.
Crest—A human.heart gules, charged with a cinque foil

pierced erraine.

jtfo^o—fidelis in adversis.
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FLETCHER,

Of Lawneswood House, co. StafFord. Thomas
WiLLiAM Fletcher, Esq., M.A., F.R.S.,

F.S.A., F.G.S., a Deputy-Lieutenant for the

co. of Worcester, and Captain of the Ist Regi-
ment of King's Own Staftbrdshire Militia,

bears a quartered coat, Fletcher and Keelinge,
and impales the arms of Rvissell and Best

quarterly, in right of his wife, Jane Maria,

daughter of James Russell, Esq., of Bescot

Hall, co. Stafford, and of Endwood Court, in

that county ;
and Sarah, his wife, eldest daugh-

ter and co-heir of the Rev. John Best, M.A.,
Fellow of Worcester CoUege, Oxford, Sub-

dean and Prebendary of Wolverhampton,
Vicar of Sedgley, and Incumbent of Bilston,

co. Stafford.

^rmjT.— Quarterly Ist and 4th, arpent a cross en-

grailed sable, between four pellets, each charged with a

jjheon or., on a canton azure a ducal crown or. 2nd and
3rd, Gules between two lions rampant or. a bend en-

grailed of the 2nd, charged witli three scaling-laddcrs of
the field. Impaling, quarterly Ist and 4th, argent a fesse

daucettee ermincs, between tliree crosses crosslet fitchfee

in chief, and two in base, sable for Russell. 2nd and 3rd,

Argent on a chevi-on gules, between two martlets in chief

sable, and a booli closed in base, ppr., three pheons or.

Crests.—Ist, a horse's head erased argent, gorged with
a ducal crown azure. 2nd, on a chapeau gu., a scaling-
ladder or.

Motto.—Sub cruce salus.

F O R D,

Of Ellell Hall, co. Lancaster, Morecambe ^rm.—Per fesseor. anderm. aUon rampant, az.

Lodge, and Enfield Old Park, co. Middlesex
; raSpantr"^

""'''' ^''''^ "''''''^'''" ' '""''^"'' ^ '^'"^•^°''

descended from Hamo del Fforde, of Fforde

Green, co. Stafford.*

Hamo del Fforde, of Fforde Grene.

John, son of Hamo del Fforde (10 Edward II.)

Richard del Fforde (4 Richard II.)

William Fforde de Norton {22 Henry VI.) called also William atte Forde.

JohnFforde (10 Henry VII.)

Hugh Fforde (23 Henry VII.)

Richard Fforde (died before 23 Hem-y VII.)

Hugh Fforde (5 Henry VIII.)

WiUiam Fforde (18 Henry VIII.)

HughFforde, of Fforde (1538-1564.)

^illiaHugh Fforde d. s. p.^Alicia. William Fforde, of Fforde=.Uice, dau. of R. Harblutt, of
the Lloyde, mar. covenant,
15G4 ; married 1569.

Hugh Fforde=;Margery, dau. of M. Dickenson, of Fooker (1604.)

William Fforde=Ellin, dau. of James Rowley (1631.)

• " Norton Court, ye same being held before John
Bruerton, Steward of the same, on Thursday after the
Feast of the Holy Trinity, anno R. R. Henrioi Sec. di

post co'quest Angrse XIIII". To this Court came
Hugh Forde, and again returned into the hands of Lord
Audley one messuage and xxviii. acres of land, in Norton
Fforde Greae, to the use of Ann, his wife, and the said

Hugh Forde and the longer liver, and their heirs legally
issuing, to whom the said Lord Audley grants seizon ;

the said Hugh Forde, and Ann, and the longer liver, and
their heirs legally issuing, paying to the said Lord, the
ancient rent and usage, and giving to the said Lord, a
fine of three shillings and fourpence, and were truly
made aud adnutted tenants."
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Michael Jolmson,_Sai-ah Ford.

ofLichfield. 1

Hugh Fforde, F.llin, dau. of John Mellor,
I of Alsop, in the Dale (1683.)

Samuel Johnson,
LL.D., b. Sept.

iSth, 1709.

Nathaniel. Josiah Fforde, of the Heath__Aiine.

Uouse, and of Fforde Grene,
b. 1694.

Andrew Ford, third son,
froni whom the Fords, of

Abbey Field, co. Chester.

JohnFord, d. s.p.

Isaac Ford_Elizabeth, dau. of T. H. Rawlin-
6. 1728. I son, of Lancaster.

Rev. William Forde, of Eccles-

hall, Clcrlc, had issue William,

Hugh, Andrew, James, and
Thomas.

Anne Ford-_Eobert Barclay, Ist. Mary, dau. of Jolm_Johu Ford, of Lancaster_2nd. (1800) Mary,
of Clapham and Chorley, of Red Hazles.

Lombard-street.

and of Morecambe
Lodge, d. May, 1833.

eld. dau. of John
Lawson, of High-

field.

Abram Kawlinson,
b. April 10, 1813 ;

d. s. p. March 5,

1849, of Ellell

HaU.

Elizabeth, 3rd dau. of J. Lawson^John Ford, of EUell Hall,

Robert, b. William ForcL-Louisa Ross.

Jan. 5, 1816, of EUeU HaU,
d. s. p. July 6. 17 Dec,

28, 1848. 1816.

Marv Elizabeth,

6.17July,1814,7n.
Francis Walker,
of Southgate,

Esq.

Sarah Walker, m. Chas.

Wallier, of New
Lauarli, Esq.

EUzabeth Sarah,
b. 18 June, 1803.

Hutton Rawlinson,
b. 28 Dec, 1804.

Charles Dilworth,
b. 8 Aug., 1806.

Robert Lawson,
b. 8. Feb., 1809,

m.Hannah, dau.
of T. B. Pease.

Edward, of^Elizabeth HiU
Enfield Old
Park, Mid-
dlesex, b. 1

Dec, 1813.

Winchester, only
child of the Rer.
T. W. Lewis.

John Walker, 6.

12 Sept., 1838.
Mary Elizabeth,
b. 30Aug., 1839.

Charles Winchester,
6. 4 Nov., 1840.

Alfred Lawson, b.

18 Nov., 1843.

Edward Hugh, b. Aug. 30,

1847, d. Sept. 24, 1849.

HARWOOD HARWOOD,
As borne by Henry HARvt^ooD Harwood,
of the Micldle Temple, and of Cromarty
House, Porchester Terrace, Hyde Park,

Esq., Barrister-at-Law, only siirviving child

of the late Rev. Henry Penny, M.A., of

Kensington, Middlesex, and of Chessing-
ton Hall, near Leatherhead, Surrey, by
Sarah, his wife, only child and heir of the

late John Harwood, Esq.
Mr. Harwood Harwood assumed, by Royal

licence, in March, 1853, the surname and
arms of Harwood, in lieu of those of his

father's family, for reasons set forth and
declared in Her Majesty's warrant for the

purpose.
The name of Harwood is of Saxon origin,

and was anciently spelt Herward, Horwode,
and Whorwood. According to Domesdaij,
Hereward had lands in the coimties of Jjin-

coln and Warwick, previous to the Conquest.

He was son of Leofric, Earl of Mercia, and
Lord of Brune, in Lincolnshire, and was
chosen by the prelates and nobihty who
retired to the Isle of Ely after the Conqueror's
invasion, to be the General of their forces.

In the Saxon period he was styled
" the

mirror of knighthood," and Ingulphus dwells

minutely on the incidents of his life. Hume,
in speaking of the Conqueror's subjugation of

the Isle of Ely, says
"
Hereward, alone, forced

his way, sword in hand, through the enemy ;

and still continued his hostilities by sea,

against the Normans, till at last, William,
charmed by his bravery, received him into

favour, and restored him to his estate." In

the time of Edward I., in the " Normina
Nobilium Equitumque, &c., &c., de North-

folk," Sir Robert Herward is mentioned as

bearing the following arms :
—" d'azure a une

fesse gabonne de goules, et de vert iii. hewtes
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d'argent." This family continued in the

county of Lincoln foi* many centuries. In

1634, Fuller says of Sir Edward Harwood,
that " his hirth was gentle, and from a root

fit to engraft his future education and ex-

cellency." Sir Edward was one of the four

standing Colonels in the Low Countries, in

the long war in support of theKing of Bohemia,
and was killed at the siege of Mastricht,
in 1632

;
and in the visitation of London,

in 1634, his brother, George Harwood, is

recorded as bearing the same arms as were
borne by the above Sir Robert Herward.
Families of this line were subsequently
settled in the counties of Stafford and Ox-

ford, spelling their names Horwode, Whor-

wood, and Harwood
;
and bore for their arms,

arg. a chevron between three stags' heads

cabossed, gules, and were of Compton, Sand-

well, and Stourton Castle, in the former

county, and of Holton in the hitter. For the

subsequent pedigree of this ancient family,

see a fuU and detailed account in Burke's
" Landed Gentry."

jirms—Arg. on a chev. between three stags' heads

cabossecl, gu., as niany eagles displaj'ed or. An Escut-

CHEON OF Pretence, arg. achev. engr. between three

griffins segreant e:u.

Cresf.—A stag's head cabossed gu. holding ui its mouta
an oak bough, ppr., acorned or. bet^Yeen the attires, a

bugle horn stringed.
'Motto.—SuaxiteT.

DE DUFFELD, DUFFELD, or DUFFIELD,

Of Ripon and Coverdale, co.York. This family
is of great antiquity in the county of York.

The name itself is local, and derived from the

township of Duffield, about ten miles from the

city of York. We trace the existence of this

family so early as the reign of King Edward II.,

when Ricliard De Dutfeld was baihff of York,

having served that honourable office in tlie

year 1315. One of the family was at this

period an ecclesiastic, since we find that

Nicholas De DufFeld was instituted to the

Rectory of Bolton Percy, Yorkshire, in 1327,

having in that year succeeded Robert de

Byngham, who held that preferment for about

four years. In 1348, Thomas De DufFeld

discharged the duties of BailifF of York, and

in 1375, RobertDe Duffeld held the sameoffice.

In the church of St. Saviour's, York, was the

foUowing inscription in black letters, which

doubtless referred to the last-named person :
—

©ratc pro antina EotiErtt J9e Dufftlti tt prn anlma

JiKicnff, uioris cjus.

It is easy to account for not being able now to

discoverthe epitaph,wltenitis stated, thatsome

years ago, several pews were erected in St. Sa-

viour's Church, at which time the pulpit was

carried back nearer to the altar-rails. A memo-
randiun-book kept by the sexton has the foUow-

ing entry
" Gentn. Ditffield iinder the pidpit."

In the lltli year of the reign of Henry IV.,

1410, Ralph Duffeld or Duffield died seizedof

the manorofSkelton,nearYork, as parcel ofthe

manorof Raskelf, and ofland in GaltresForest,

called Cortburn, and of other property in York-

shire. Richard Duffeld died3 HenryV., seized

of an estate in York. Among the probationes
getatis 1415, is one of Thomas Duffeld, son

and heir of Richard DufFeld. Thomas Duf-

felddiedlGHenryVL, 1430,seized of Skelton

as parcel of the manor of Raskelf. Elizabeth

Duffeld, widowof Thomas DufFeld, died 17

Henry VI. Cardinal Kemp, Archbishop of

York, seems to have patronised the family,

since Wilham DufFeld, who held stalls in the

collegiate churches of Beverley and Southwell

was, on the 3rd of May, 1433, coUated to the

Prebend of Wystowe in the church of York,
and in 1434 wasadmitted to the Archdeaconry
of Cleveland, vacant at the time by the

death of William Pelleson. Archdeacon
DufFeld is mentioned in the " White Book "

in possession of the Chapter of Southwell,
for the support of the fabric of which church

he was a benefactor. In 1452, the Archdeacon

died, and his will was proved llth of March
in that year. He gave his soul to God

Almighty, St. Mary and AU Saints, and his

body to be bnried in the Cathedral Church of

York, before the altar, where they celebrate

the Mass of St. Mary. He bequeathed to

John DufFeld,
"
Esquire," his brother, £20

towards his sustentation, and to his kinsmen,
William and John Dufteld, £10 each. The
DufFelds enjoyed great privileges connected

with the Forest of Galtres above referred to,

since certain rights were confirmed to them

by one of the English sovereigns. In speak-
of the rights established to one of the family,
it is stated "

et quod possit in eadem foresta

venari et capere vulpes, lepores, &c. cum

alijs amplis libertatibus qua; concess' fuerunt

per Stephim Regem cuidam Johni Larderario

imacum ministro suo de Lardario ut ad eadem

pertin' tenend' de Regein capite." Anciently,
a toU was levied, for which guides were sup-

plied to conduct persons and their cattle

through the Forest of Galtres and defend

them from wild beasts and robbers. Galtres

Forest extended from York to Aldboro',
about six miles fvom Ripon, in the neighbour-
hood of which city ihe Duff'eld family con-

tinued to possess property. Entries relating
to tliem are to be found in the oldest re-

gister-books belonging to Ripon Cathedral.

The name is spelt in various ways in the

difFerent register-books
—Duffeld, DufFeilde,

DufFyelde, and Duffield. Members of the

family are described as inhabitants de Grant-
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ley, de Muncton, and de Wynxley, within the

parish of Ripon. One of the Dnffields of

Grantley is registered in the Herald's Visita-

tion of the co. of York made in 1666, as

having niai'ried Mary, daiighter of James

Favell, of Keireby, in the parish of Kirhy
Overblows. Mary Duffield's brother was
steward to Algernon Percy, Earl of Northum-

berland, and secretary toOliver, LordGrandi-

son, and Mary Duffield's sister Margaret is

stated to have heen " wife of Speare of

Harbinger to the Prince of Leigne." In
a record, marked Anns A, page 51, now re-

maining in the Ulster Office of Arms, the

right to the ancient arms of the faniily was

duly entered asbelonging to Thomas Duffield

of Ripon,who was baptized28th ofNovember,
1714. He was grandson of Francis Duffield,
of Ripon Park, whose great grandfather, Tris-

tram Duffield, was buried in the Parish

Church of Kirkby Malzeard, near Ripon.
Thomas Duffield mentioned above, married

Mary, one of the coheiresses of INIatthew

Dawson, of Ilton—her sister, Beatrice, hav-

ing married on the ISth of May, 1730, at

Kirkby Malzeard, Richard Duffield, brother

of the said Thomas. This Thomas Duffield

died 22nd of April, 1782, and was buried

at Ripon, leaving issue an only son, Richard

Duffield, who married Anne, only surviving

daughter of Matthew Dawson of Carlton in

Coverdale. Upon the death of her only bro-

ther, Roger Dawson, in 1795, without issue,

Anne Duffield became representative of the

Carlton branch of the ancient family of Daw-
son, which, according to a pedigree officially
attested by one of the Heralds, was, duringthe

reign of William the Conqueror, seated at

Greystock in Cumberland. Thisofficial pedi-

gree proves the Dawsons to have intermarried

with the Nevills, Scropes, Greys of Northum-

berlaud, Talboys, Lawsons, Dacres, &c., and
states that Bertram Dawson, the grandfather
of Sir Roger Dawson, accompanied Edward
the Black Prince to France. By Anne Daw-
son, who wasmarriedatCoverham on thelSth
of June, 1775, Richard Duffield left two

sons, Richard Duffield, and Matthew Daw-
son Duffield, of Carlton in the Parish of

Coverham, co. of York—the latter of which
has issue, Roger Dawson Duffield and a daugh-
ter. Roger Dawson Duffield has issue two

daughters and one son, Roger Dawson De
Coverdale Dawson Duffield.
yjrms.—I. Sa., a chev. ar. between thi-ee doves of the

last, beaked and membered gu. for Duffield. II. Quar-
terly Ist and 4th, az., a chev. erm. between three anows
or., feathered and barbed ar., on a chief of the last three
daws sa. beaked and membered gu., a canton also gu.
charged with a muUet of the third for Dawson. 2nd a' d
3rd, erm. on a canton az. a stag lodged or.* the more
modern coat for Dawson. III. Az. a chev. erm. bctwcen
threearrows or., feathered and barbed, arg., on achief of
the Uist three daws, sa., beaked and membered gu. a
canton also gu. charg-ed with a mullet of the third. IV.
Ar. three calves passant sa. for Metcalfe. V. Ar. on a
bend az., three dolphins or., each charged with an annulet
of the second, for Fawcett. XI. As first.

Crcsis.— I. A dove, in its beak an olive branch all ppr.
for DuFFiELD. II. An eagle's head erased ar., beakedor.

gorfred with a ducal coronet ppr. for Dawson.
Motto.— ! sto seniper fidells.

* Gilbert Dawson, of Azerley, in the parish of Kirkby
Malzcard, near liipon, a yoimger brother of Roger
Dawson, of Coverdale, and gi"andson of Sir Roger Daw-
son, appears from the Visitation marked C 13, folio 200,
now remaining in the College of Arms, London, to have
adopted for liis arms, erm. on a canton az., a stag lodged
or.

;
but each coat having been duly assigned to the

family by the hcraUUc authorities, has been used by both
the Coverdale and Azerley branches.

HAMILTON OF WESTBURN,

Representative of ToiTance. This family, in

common with that of Raploch, is descended
from Sir John Hamilton, fourth Lord of Cad-

zow, grandfather of the iirst Lord Hamilton,

Hisyounger son, Thomas, of Damgaber, by
a daughter of Douglas, of Loch-Leven, had
two sons, James, ancestor of Raploch, and

Thomas, who marricdtheheiressofTorrance,
ofTorrance, by whom he acquired that estate.

His son, John Hamilton of Torrance, who
was alive in 1475, had a son,

James Ilamilton of Torrance. He married
a daughter of the ancient house of Makewell,
and had issue,

James Hamilton of Torrance, who, about

1540, married Christian, daughter of Stewart

ofMinto, ancestor to Lord Blantyre.
His son, Robert, had a son,

Matthew Haiuilton of Torrance, who, by a

daughter of Muirhead of Lacho])e, had a son,

James, who carried on the line of Torrance,
now extinct : and,

Archibald, the ancestorof this family, which

now represents that of Torrance,
Archibald's son, AndrewHamilton, waspro-

prietor of the estate at Westburn in 1604-—he

was alive in 1618.

His son, Gabriel Hamilton, of Westburn,
lived during the protectorate of Cromwell, and

the reign of Charles II., by whom he was

severely persecuted on account of religion,

and was fined a thousand pounds. He mar-

ried Margaret, daughter of Sir Robert Cun-

ningham, by a daughter of Hamilton, of

Udston. By her he had Gabriel, his successor,

Archibald, who succeeded his brother, and

Elizabeth,wifc of James Hamilton,of Newton,

by whom she had a daughter, Elizabeth, wife of

John Gray of Dalmarnock and Carntync, and

great-grandmother of the Rev. John Hamil-

ton Gray of Carntyne.
Archibald llamilton of Westburn, married

firstadaughterofHayofCraignetlian,by
whom

he had no issue, and secondly, Margaret,
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claugliter of Claud Il.iiiiilton of Barns, bv
Aune, daughter of Sir Walter Stewart, of

Allantou, and niece to Lord Belhaven. lie died
befoi-e 1773, and was succeeded by his son,

Gabriel Hamilton, of Westburn. He mar-
ried Agnes Dundas, lieiress of Duddingston,
daughter of George Dundas of Duddingston,
by Magdalen Lindsay Crawfurd, grand-
daughter of John, 17th Earl of Crawford, Earl
of Lindsay, sister of Viscount Garnock, and
niece to the Duke of Hamilton. By her he
had numerous issue, of whom only three left

descendants; viz., 1, John, his heir; 2, Chris-

tiana, wife of the Honorabk^ Charles Napier, of
Merchiston Hall, by whom she had Admiral Sir

Charles Napier, Count Cape St. Vincent, and
General T. E. Napier ;

and 3, Mary Anne, wife

of Robert Gray of Carntyne, by whom she had
tlie Rev. John Hamilton Gray, of Carntyne.
The son,
John Hamilton Dundas, of Westburn and

Diiddingston, was heir to his paternal and ma-
ternal estates. He was Vice-Lieutenant of
West-Lothian. Hemarried Grizzel, daughter
of John Hamilton, of Barns, by whom, with
other issue, he had his successor,

Gabriel Hamilton Dundas, of Duddingston
and Westburn. He married Isabella, daughter
of James Dennistoun, of Colgraine, by whom
he had issue.

Ariii.i.—Gules, thrco cinquefoils pierced ermine, within
a bonlci potciit, aiid counter poteut ermiue aud gules.

Crcsi.—A dexter liund holdiug a spear.
Mutto.—Kt arma et virtus.

ASHBY MADDOCK,
Of Naseby, co. Northampton, and Green-

tiekls, co. Salop. The present George Ashby
Maddock, Esq., of Naseby and Greenfields,
an ofiicer in the llth Hussars, represents the
senior liue of the very ancient family of Asliby,
which can be authentically tracedfrom Ricn-
ARD DE AsuBY, lord of the manors of South
Croxton and Quenby, co. Leicester, a.d. 1297.
This eminent house preserved for centuries a
male succession, and ranked amongst the first

in the county of Leicester.

RouERT AsuBY, Esq., grandson of Williani

Ashby, Esq., of Quenby, living in 14S9, suc-
ceeded in 1536 to the family estates, at the
decease of his cousin, Anne Ashby, of Quenby,
wife of George Skevington, of Skevington. He
m. Barbara, daughter of George Ashby, Esq.,
of Loseby, co. Leicester, and sister of Edward
Ashby, Esq., of Loseby, whose son, WiUiam
Ashby, Qtieen Elizabeth's ambassador to

James VI., died s.p. in Scotland, in 1589,
and whose datigliter, Elizabeth, wife of Wil-
liam Naunton, Esq., of Aklerton Hall, Suf-

folk, was mother of Robert Naunton, of Leth-

eringham Priory, Secretary of State 1618-20,
whose datighter and heiress, Penelope, was
Countess of Pembroke.

By Barbara, his wife, Robert Ashby left at
his decease, 24th Aug., 1557, four daughters
and one son, viz. :

—
George Ashby, Esq., of Quenby and

Loseby, High SherifF of Leicestershire in

1601, who m. Mary, daughter of Andrew
Gedney, Esq., of Eiulerby, and left, with other

issue, a son and heir,
George Ashby, Esq., of Quenby, who

erected, in 1636, tlie present mansion-house,
and sold the lordship of Loseby to Mr. Pa-
ramore. He m. EHzabeth, daughter of

George Bennet, Esq., of London, and of

Welby, co. Lincoln, and died in 1653,

leaving issue,

George, hls heir.

John, of London, merchant, who married

Elizabeth, daughter of Alderman Sir

Benjamin Thorowgood, and had a son,

John, of Carolina.

WilHam, a Turkey merchant, father of

William, of Thorpe Sachevile, who d.

abotit 1768, leaving isstie.

Elizabeth, m. to Richard Inge, Esq., of

Thorpe Constantine.

Anne, m. to Robert Cotton, Esq., of London.

Mabel, m. to Sir John Onebye.
The eklest son,
George Ashby, Esq., of Qtienbj^, h. 29th

of Jtily, 1629, served as High Sherilf of Lei-

cestershire 18 and 19 Charles II. He 7n.

24th June, 1652, Mary, daughter and heir

of Euseby Shtikbrugh, Esq., of Naseby, co.

Northampton, and by her (who m. secondly
George Hewett, Esq., of Rotlierby, and died

15th Ajiril, 1721, aged 93) had isstie—
I. George, his heir.

II. Shtilvbrugli, whose grandson, Shukbrtigh
Ashby, Esq., F.R.S., M.P. for Leicester,
m. Elizabeth, daughter and heir of Richard

Hinde, Esq., and d. in 1792, leaving two

daughters, his co-heiresses, viz., Mary-EHza-
beth, m. to William Latham, Esq., F.R.S.,

F.S.A., of Ekham
;
and Dorotliea, vi. to Sir

Thomas Htissey Apreece, Bart.

III. Euseby, Fellow of Trinity College, d.s.p.
I. Mary, m. to John Ekins, Esq., of Ritshden.

II. Ehzabeth, m. to Sir Natlian Wrighte, the

Lord Keeper.
III. Liicy, died young.
IV. Margaret, m. to William Boothby, Esq.,

of Marston.

George Ashby, Sen., died 29th May, 1672,
and was succeeded by his eldest son,
George Ashby, Esq., of Quenby, b. 16th

July, 1656, M.P. for Lcicestershire in 1695
aud 1707, and High SherifFin 1688-9, This

E
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gentleman, nsually styled
" honest George

Ashby, the Planter," IVom his attaclnnent to

that pleashig pursuit, became acquainted with

Mr. Evelyn, vv-ho paid him a visit at Quenby.
Nine fine cedars of Lebanon were planted by
him, probably from a cone brought over by
his imcle, William Ashby, wlio was a Turkey
merchant : they long graced the demesne at

Quenby. He married, 7tli November, 1G82,

Hannah, danghter and co-heir of Major Ed-
ward Waring, of Humphreston, High SherifF

of Shropsliire in 1657, and M.P. for Bridge-
north in 1658, by Elizabeth, his wife, daugh-
ter of John Ashe, Esq., of Freshford, co.

Somerset, and had, with other children, who
died s.p.,

I. JoHN, of whom presently.
II. Edmund, father of the Rev. George
Ashby, President of St. John's College,

Cambridge.
III. Waring, who succeeded to Quenby, and

served as High Sheriff of Leicestersliire

in 1733. By Elizabeth Cumberland, his

wife, sister of the Bishop of Dromore, he
left at his decease in 1770, one son,

George, of Hazlebeech Hall, near Naseby,
who sold Quenby to Shukbrugh Asliby,

Esq., and died s.p. in 1802, having
bequeathed the Naseby estate to his

cousin, Hannah Maria, the wife of John

Maddock, Esq.
I. Elizabeth, who ;«. 17th Feb., 1706, John

Freeman, Esq., of Wellingborough, andhad
two daugliters, viz., Elizabeth, wife of

Pudsey Jesson, Esq., of Langley, co. War-
wick

;
and Hannah, who m. William Asli,

Esq., of Paston, near Peterborough, and
was mother of three daughters ; Hannah,
m. to WilHam Jesson, Esq., of Sutton Cold-

iield
; Elizabeth, wife of Edmnnd Ashby,

Esq., of tlie Lynches ;
and INIary, wife of

the Rev. Richard Biss Riland, Rector of

Sutton Coldfield.

II. Mary, m. to Henry Hall, of London.
III. Hannah, m. to George Cheselden, M.D.
IV. Anne, m. to Robert Norton, of Leicester.

The eldest son,
JoHN AsHBY, Esq., of the Lynches, near

Shrewsbury (his mothers jointure), born

27th November, 1687, died 20th July, 1756,

leaving, by Hannah, his wife, two sons and
one daughter, viz.,

1. JoiiN, of the Lynches, h. 9th May, 1722,
one of the esquires to Lord Clive, on his

instalhition as a Kniglit of tlie Bath. He
m. Jane Wingfield, relict of Anthony Kin-

nersley, Esq., of Leighton, but died $.p.,
29tli Jannary, 1779.

II. Edmund, of whom we treat.

I. Hannah, h. 14th August, 1723, m. to

Charles Stamford, Esq., of Wellingborough.
The second son, (but the only one to leave

issue,)
Edmund Ashby, Esq., of the Lynches, 7n.

Elizabeth Ash, his cousin, daughter of

William Ash, Esq., of Paston, near Peter-

borough, and by her, (who m. secondly
^milian Holbech, Esq.,) he left at his

decease, 20th November, 1785, two daughters,
his co-heiresses, (in whom vested the represen-
tation of the ancient house of Ashby of

Quenby,) viz. :

I. Elizabeth Freeman Ashby", who m. in

1784, Robert Hale, Esq., and had four

danghters, Elizabeth, Lucia, Jane, and
Frances. Of these the third married Capt.
Whitfield, 18th regiment, and had issue,

Major Henry Whitfield, of the 2nd West
India regiment, and Robert Philpote Whit-

field, who died unmarried, June 23rd, 1842,

aged 31 years.
II. Hannah Maria Ashby, m. 9th January,

1787, John Maddock, Esq., of Shrewsbury,
son of John Maddock, also of Shrewsbury,

by Elizabeth, his wife, and grandson of

John Maddock, of Shrewsbury, who was
son of Thomas Maddock, of Chester.

The second daughter and co-heiress,
Hannah Maria Ashby, wife of Joiin

Maddock, Esq., of Shrewsbury, died 25tli

November 1830, leaving a son and lieir,

The Rev. George Ashby Maddock, of

Greenfields, Shrewsbury, and of Naseby, co.

Northampton, who vi. July 22, 1833, Anne,
daughter of Mr. George Procter, of Carron

Cottage, Argyllshire, and diedin 1836, leaving
an only child, the present
Georof Ashby Maddock, Esq., of Naseby,

co. Northampton, and of Greenfields, co.

Salop, born 3rd June, 1834, now an ofRcer

in the llth Hussars, representative of the

Ashbys of Qlienby and Naseby.

Arms—Quarterly Ist, pei pale az. and gu., two llons

passant in pale ov. for Maddock. 2nd, or., tlu'ee boars'
iicads sa. a cliief indented of tlie last, for Jenks. 3rd,
az. a chev : erm. betwecn thrce lcoi)ards' faces, or. for
AsuBY. 4th, sa. a chev., enfrr. bctween thrce muUcts
arg. for SnuKBUUGn. 5th, sa. a chev., between three

pcwits' hcads, crascd arjr., for AVaring. 6th, Ash arg.
two chcvronels, and in chief as many crescents, sa.

Crests— Ist, a demi-lion rampant, holding a sword
crect for Maddock. 2nd, on a mural crown aig., a

lcopavd's hcad, or., for Asnuy.
Moito—Be just and fear not.

M'CUMMING.

lllCHARD IIeNRY JoHN BeAUMONT McCuM-
MiNc, Esq., Major in the army, and Seignior
of (jiande Vallee des Monts, in Lower

Canada, is only son of the late John McCum-
ming, Esq,, Captain 31st Regiment, by
Charlotte his wifc, eldest daughter and co-
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heiress of John Beaumont, Esq., of Whitley

Hall, co. York, and grandson of Bryce Cuni-

niing, Esq., who was born at Maybole, co.

Ayr, and who first assumed the prefix of Mac.
This Bryce McCumming (the son of a gentle-
man ruined by his Jacobin principles) having
left his home, to join as a vohmteer in the

Low Countries, the army under Prhice Fer-

dinand of Brunswick, obtained a commission

in the 31st, or Hvmtingdonshire Regiment of

Foot, and became afterwards Captain in the

5th West India Regiment. He was taken

prisoner when Acting Quartermaster-General
at St. Vincent, in the Carib war, and released

from a dungeon by his son, John, at Lucia, on

the reduction of that island by Sir Ralph Aber-

crombie. Captain Bryce McCumming married

Mary Lindesay, natural daughter of the cele-

brated John, Earl of Crawford and Lindesay,

by a lady of royal bu-th, and died at IMon-

treal, Lower Canada, 15th June, 1S05, aged
67, having had by her (who died the preced-

ing year), to survive infancy, two sons and

two daughters.

James, h. 9th Sept., 1763, Lieut. 29th

Regiment, m. Mary Ann Desonier, a

Canadian lady, descended from the

French noblesse, and d. 5th Feb., 1831,

leaving six daughters, but no male issue.

JoHN, of whom presently.

Margaret, m. to Lieut.-Coh Fearon, 31 st

Reghnent, Acting Quartermaster-General
in the West Indies, and d. 9th Dec,
1841, leaving issue.

Jane, d. unman-ied, 5th June, 1840.

Captain Bryce McCumming, became Pro-

prietor and Seignior of Grande Vallee des

Monts, in Lower Canada.

His second son,

JoHN McCuMMiNo, Esq., Seignior of

Grande Vall^e des Montes, b. at Pensacola,
30th July, 1767, Capt. in the 31st Regiment ;

served at the reduction of the West Indies, in

1796 ;
in Holland, in 1799 ;

and at Ferrol and

Gibraltar. He m. Charlotte, eldest daughter
and co-heiress of John Beaumont, Esq., of

Whitley Hall, co. York, the representative of

the ancient and eminent family of Beaumont,
of Whitley Beaumont, and d. at Farnham,
co. Surrey, llth Aug., 1835, havinghadby her

(who d. 16th Aug., 1815), one son, Richaud
Henry John Beaumont, and three daughters,

viz., 1, Charlotte Beaumont, ?h. toMajor-Gen.
John Spink, K.H.

; 2, Mary Ann, w?. Kemick

Bacon, Esq., of Spencer Lodge, Rochampton,
second son of the late Charles Bacon, Esq., of

Moore Park, Sun-ey, and has issue, a daughter,

Emily Beaumont Bacon, b. 20th Sept., 1836,
and a son, Kenrick Verulam Bacon, b. 22nd

March, 1838; and 3, Sarah EHzabeth, d.

young, in 1815. The only son, the present

Major RicHARD Henry John Beaumont
McCuMMiNG, b. Ist May, 1804, m. Elizabeth

Marianne, eldest daughter of John Kirsopp,

Esq., of Broonihaugh and Pahnstruther,

Northumberland, and has issue—
Richard Henry Beaumont, b. 12th Dec,

1841.

Alexander Spink, b. 24th June, 1843.

Lindesay Beaumont, b. 8th June, 1 848.

Charlotte Julia.

EUzabeth Beaumont.

Arms.— Xt.. three garbs or. quartcring Beaumont, of

Whitley BeaT.imont.

Crebt.—A mailed arm, holding a scimitar.

Motto .
—Courage.

FETHERSTON,

Of Hopton Coiu-t, co. Worcester. This branch
of the ancient family of Fetherstonhaugh, of

Fetherstonhaugh Castle, and of Barhaugh,
co. Northumberland, has continued in direct

male descent to the present time, and still

possesses by inheritance Windy Hall, a small

estate in Kirkhaugh.
Helias de Fetherstonhale gave to the

church and friars of Hexham, lands in his free

fee of Featherstonhalght, in consideration of

their taking him and his heir into their

fraternity, in the time of King John. Richard
de Marisco, Archdeacon of Northumberland,
ft-om 1212 to 1217, when he became Bishop
of Durham, was witness to the deed.

Thomas de Fetherstonhalme, about40th

Henry III., hekl of the Barony of Nicholas

de Bolteby, in Tindale, the manor of Fether-

stonhalgh, in soccage, and by half a mark
;

and in 1244, and 1277, acquired property in

Wyden. He also gave lands witliin the

territory of Fetherstonhalgh to the church of

St. Andrew, in Hexham. He was BaiUfF of

Tindale, and Seneschal of the Barony of

Langley, and died before 1312, leaving

Mariota, his wife (who was living in 1336,
and who entailed Fetherstonhaugh on her

eldest son, Thomas, with remainder to her

other sons in succession) five sons :

Thomas, his heir.

Alexander, ofwhom presently, as inheritor

of Fetherstonhaugh.
Peter, had Fetherstonhaugh for life, after

his brother Alexander's death.

William and Richard.

The eldest son,
Thomas de Fetherstonhaulgh, of Fether-

stonhaugh, in 1272, took the inquest after

the death of Thomas, Lord Lucy, Baron of

Langley ;
and in 1309, with his son Thomas,

was inquisitor at Haydon Bridge, of the deatJi

of Thomas, Lord Lucy, second Baron of
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Lmigley. In 1327, he aiid his son, and

others, were conservators to a truce between

England and Scotland, made in that year.
He was made by the King, Keeper of the

Peel of Haworth, and for his good services

received the ciistody of the manor of Werlc,
in Tyndale, and other marks of favom-. His

son,

Thomas, was joined with his father in the

inquest on Lord Lucy, in 1309
;
and

Thomas de Fetherstonhaugh, jun., re-

leased to the Prior of Hexham, and his

successor, all the lands they had by the

gift of his ancestors. He left a widow,

Margaret, living in 1374, who held lands

in the manor of Fetherstonhalgh for her
life.

Thomas de Fetherstonhalgh's brother,
Alexander de Fetherstonhalgh, suc-

ceeded to the estates under the entail of their

mother, Mariota. He died about 13G5; for,

by an inquest taken tliat year, he held the

Ville of Fetherstonhaugh of the manor of

Langley, by homage, and the service of two

shiUings and sevenpence. He left thi-ee sons :

Thomas, his heir, who held the manor of

Fetherstonhaugh by homage and fealty,
as appears by an inquest (after his death),
held in 1308.

Alexander, of whom presently.

Francis, in remainder with his brothers, in

his father's entail of lands in Wyden and

Redepeth.
The second son, and eventual inheritor,
Alexander de Fetherstonhaugh, upon

whom, his wife, and their heirs, the manor of

Fetherstonhaugh was settled in 1374, had, by
Isabeha, his wife, two sons : Alexander, his

heir, and Ralph. The former,
Alexander FETHERSTONnAUGu, of Fethcr-

stonhaugh, was hving IStli January, 1461,
when he entered into the contract of his son's

marriage. By Armitruda, his wife, who was

living his widow in 1464, and who m. 2ndly
John Brandaley, he had two sons : Nicholas,
his heir, and Alexander.
The elder son,
NicHOLAs Fetherstonhaugh, of Fether-

stonhaugh, »«. (contract dated 18th January,
1461,) Malde, daughter of Sir Richard Sal-

kelde, of Corkby, Cumberland, and by her
had issue,

Alexander, his heir.

Richard, D.I)., Chaplain and manager for

Quecn Catharine of Arragon, in her
di vorce. Refusing to siibsci'ibe to the king's

supremacy, he suffered death, 30th July,
1540.

Rowland.

Anne, m. to Ralph Brooke.
The eldest son,
Alexander Fetherstonhaugh, Esq., of

Fetherstonhaugh, m. (dispensation to marry,
datedOth December, 1501,) Anne, daughter of

John Crakenthorpc, of Crakenthorpe, co.

Westmoreland
;
and by her had numerous

issue. His will bears date 31 st July, 1544.

His children were,

Albany, his heir.

Thomas, of the gentlemen of the ]\Iiddle

Marches, in 1550.

John.

Nicholas.

Ellen, m. to Robcrt Thirlwall, of Thirlwall.

Elizabeth, m. to George Goldsbrough, of

Goldsbrough,
Dorothy, m. to Thomas Blenkinsop, of

Blenkinsop.
Winnifred, wife of Richard Carnaby.
Beatrix, wife of Hugh Crawhawe.

Jane, wife of George Blenkinsop of Bellis-

ter.

The eldest son,
Albany Fetherstonhaugh, Esq., of Fe-

therstonhaugh, High Sheriff of Northumber-

land, in 1560, m. Lucy, daughter of Edmund
Dudley, Esq., and sister of Richard Dudley,
Esq., of Yanwath, co. Westmorcland, (con-
tract dated Ist July, 1543,) and by her had
issue :

Alexander, his heir.

Henry, m. Dorothy, daughter of Thonias

Wyberg, Esq., of Clifton, co. Westmore-

land, andwas ancestor of the Fetherston-

haughs, of Kirkoswold.
Nicholas.

Anne.

Jane, wife of George Bellister, of Bellister.

The eldest son and heir,

Alexander Fetherstonhaugh, Esq., of

Fetherstonhaugh, served as High Sheriff of

Northumberland in 1590. He m. Anne,
daughter of Sir Richard Lowther, of Lowther,
Lord Warden of the West Marches, temj}.

Elizabeth, and by her had three sons :

I. Albany, of Fetherstonhaugh Castle,

upwards of21 years old at the taking of the

inquest after his father's death, in 1596.

He had special livery of the lands of his

inheritance. He »«, Frances, daughter
of John Barwise, Esq., of Ilekirk, Cimi-

berland, and was father of Albany
Fetherstonhaugh, of Fetherstonhaugh
Castle, Esq., who was 12 years old at the

Visitation of 1615.

II. George, ancestor of theline we treat of,

III. Christopher, in holy orders, Rector of

Bentham, co. York
;
was fathcr of Alexan-

der, also in holy orders, Rector of Wolverton,
Bucks, and Prebendary of Colwick, in Lich-

ficld Cathedral
; aged 60 in 1678.

Mr. Alexander Fetherstonhaugh died 3rd

July, 3Sth Elizabeth, 1596. His second son,

George Fetiierstoniiaugii, was father of

Albany Fetherstonhaugh, Esq., who was
Lord of Barhaugh in 1632, in which he was
succeeded by his son,

Alexander Fetherstoniiaugh, Esq.,
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Lord of Carhaugh, wlio m. a daughter of

Ilarry Ste])lienson, Esq., of Knaresdale, and
died in 1691, leaving issue :

Albany, his heir; Thomas Henry William

Richard, Alexander, and Anne.
The eldest son,
Albany FETHERSTONHAUGn, Esq., Lord of

Barhaugh, m. Anne, daughter of R. Whitfield,

Esq., of Kirkhaugh, and died in 1734, leaving,
with other issue, a son and heir,

AlexanderFetherstonhaugh, Esq., Lord
of Barhaugh, vvho m. first, Dorothy, daughter
of — Gill, Esq., and by her had issue :

Albany, who married Frances Wallis, and
died in 1813, leaving his manors and
estates to the chiklren ofhis two daughters.

Henry Alexander, d. young.
John.
Elizabeth.

Mr.Featherstonhaughm.,secondly,Hannah,
relict of R. Wallace, Esq., of Whitelaw, and

by her had

Alexander, who, by settlement from his

father, had the estate of Windy Hall, in

which he was succeeded by his brother

Richard.
Robert and Thomas, both d. young.

RiCHARD, of whom presently.

Dorothy, d. young.
Hannah.
Mr. Fetherstonhaugh d. in 1776. Ilis

j'oungest son,
RicHARD Fetherstonhaugh, Esq., suc-

ceeded to his brother Alexander's estate. He
m. Mary, daughter of J. Stephenson, Esq.,
and died in 1821, having had issue :•

I. Alexander Stephenson, now of Hopton
Covu*t, b. at Alston, near Barhaugh, 23rd

January, 1798
;
succeeded his father in tlie

estate of Windy Hall, in Barhaugh, in

1821
; ?w., Ist May, 1823, Emma, daughter

of WiJliam Kimber, Esq., of North Cerney,
co. Gloucester.

II. Thomas.
III. Joseph.
IV. John, d. young.
I. Maria.

II. Hannah, d. young.

Arms—Gu., a chevron botween three ostrich feathers,

argt.

Crest—An antelope'shead gu., crowned and armedor.,
charged on the necli with an ostrich feathcr and an
annulet of the last.

Motto—Ne vile velis.

WOODYEARE,

Of Crookhill, co. York, a family of Kentish

origin, derivedfrom Richard Woodyeare,D.D.,
of Cowley, county of Kent, prebendary
of Rochester, son of William Woodyeare of

Cowling, and grandson of Edward Woodyeare,
of Cowling, whose will is dated 1583—and
now represented by the Rev. John Fountain
Woodyeare Woodyeare, of Crookhill,
eldest son and heir, by Frances, his wife,

youngest of the three daughters and co-heirs

of John Woodyeare, Esq., of Crookhill, J.P.
and D.L., (son of William Woodyeare, Esq.,
of Crookhill, by Catherine his wife, sister and
co-heir of Wiliiam Revel, Esq., of Ogston)

of Fountain John Elwin, Esq. (grandson of

PeterElwin, Esq., of Boston, county Norfolk),
who assumed, in 1812, on tlie death of his

father-in-law, the surname and arms of

Woodyeare, only, instead of those of

Elwin.— (See Burke's Landed Gentry.)

Arms.—Sa. semee-de-lis, or., three leopards' faces two
and one argt., quartering, IIevel.

Crest—A demi griphon segreant regardant, wings in-

verted sa., bealved, membered, and seme-de-lis, or.

These arms, &c., were allowed by the Visitation of

Kent in 1663, to George Woodycare, and cxemplified
to the present Rev. J. F. W. Woodyeare, by thc College
of Arms, llth December, 1845, in pursuance of the mar-

riage settlement of his father and mother.

TATCHELL-BULLEN,

Of Marshwood, in the co. of Dorset. John
Tatchell Tatchell, Esq., of Marshwood,
now resident at Sydling House, in the parish
of St. Nicholas, Dorset

;
a Justice of the

Peace for that shire, eldcst son and heir of

William Fitzherbert Bullen, Esq., late of

Stoke Abbott, in the same county, was autho-

rised, by Royal License, to take the name of

BuUen, after that of Tatchell, and the arms of

Bullen quarterly with those of Tatchell.

Arms—Qna.rtevly Ist and 4th
;
Ermine on a cheveron

azure between three bulls' heads, erased, sable two swords
ppr. pomels and hilts or., tlie points saltierways, encircled

by a wreath of laurel gold, foi' Bulcen. 2nd and 3rd,
azure a cross nebuly or., in tlie first and fourth quarters
a lion rampant, and in the second and third a cross patee
argt ,

for Tatchell.
Crest ofBuLLEN.—Outofanaval crown or., the sails

argcnt., a buirs head of the flrst, cburgcd on the neck
with an anchor sable, betwecn two wings azure.

Crest of Tatohell.—A mount vert. thereon, in front
of an oak trec fi'uctcd proper, a bow and arrow in
saltire or., surmounted by a lion'8 face gules.
Motlo.—A rege et victoria.
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RO BERTS.

This family is of Welsh descent, and prior
to its removal into Shropshire was settled

in the neighhom-hood of Welshpool, Mont-

gomeryshire.
It appears from MSS. pedigrees of Welsh

famihes, in tlie British Museum, and in

private collections, as well as from " The

Display of Herauklry in the counties of North

Wales, by John Davies, of Llan Selin, Den-

bighshire. Printed at Salop, 1716," that the

Vaughans of Llwydiarth, the Vaughans of

Rhandir and Caorgai ;
John Vaughan, of

Myvod ; Lloyds, of Ffinnant, of Dolobran,
and Aberbechain

; Davies, ofDuffi-yns ; Jones,
of Penjarth ; Gruffiths, of Brechcheie, and

Roberts, of Hob, or Hope, near Welshpool,
all descended from Celynyn, of Llwydiarth,
in Powys Baron, and according to the Heraldic
Visitation of Wales, by Lewis Dwn, voL 1.,

p. 294, confirmed by other authorities, Celynin
was sixth in descent from Aleth, Lord of

Dyvet, who was living in the eleventh

centm-y.

Mr. Roberts's immediate ancestor, Reece

Roberts, removed to the neighbourhood of

Slucwsbury, where his son, John Roberts, was
born in 1710

;
his son, John Roberts, boi-n in

1741, was of Abberley, co. Worcester, and
died in 1811, leaving issue by his wife, Hanna
Lea, John, of Ombersley, co. Worcester;
Josiah, of Camberwell, co. Surrey ;

and

Richard, of Seedley, co. Lancaster, with

daughters.

^j-OTs—Ermines, a goat passant argent, homed and
unguled, and between three annulets or., Crest, on a
mount vert., a holly tree, ppr., in front thereof, a goat
statant, argent armed and unguled or., gorgcd with
a collar gemel sahle, and in the mouth a sprig of holly,
also i)pr. On the escutcheon of pretence are the Arms of
Swetscldne—Per pale, tlie dexter side per fess gules
and argent, a lion rampant, crowned, and the tail curled,
the upper half or., the lower part natural

;
the sinister

side of the shieUl is argent, a river flowing hcndwise

wavy, ppr. The Crest, borne with these arms on the

ordinary helmet of nobility issuing out of a coronet, two
eagle's wings erect.

Motto. Ewch \mia.en—AngUce, Go forward.

lohn Roberts, of-^Ann, dau. of ,Iohn Josiah Roberts, of Camber-_Mary, dau. of Richard Koberts,=Elizabeth,
Ombersley, co.

Worcester, Esq.,
b. 1771, d. 1852.

Parsons, of Wilde-

cote, co. Stafford
well, co. Surrey, Esq.,

6. 1773, d. 18i6, a Commis-
sioner for the Colonization

of South Australia.

John Cadlic

Davy, of

Fordton, co.

Devon.

of Seedley, co.

Lancaster, Esq.,
b. 177G, d. 1849.

dau. of

T. Kutt, of
London.

1. Mary Pitt, b. 1797.=
2. Ann, 6. 1801.
3. Henry, b. 1803

;
in

holv orders.
4. Caroline, b. 1805.

5. George, 6. 1807 ; in=

holy orders, late

Vicar of Monmouth,
now Incumbcnt of
St. John's, Chelten-

ham.

AVilliam B. Best, of Blake-
brook House, co. Worces-
ter, Esq., J. P., whose
eldest son,JohnBest, Esq.,
was M.P. for Kiddermin-

stcr, 1852.

=Henrietta, dau. of David
Mushet, of Colford, co.

Gloucester, Esq., and
has issue :—Agnes

Elconora, b. 1839 ; George
Blakemore Bayfield,

b. 1847.

1.
*
Charles, 6. 1802,=

of St. John's Wood
Park, co. Middle-

sex.
2. J Henry, b. 1803,=

of Connaught-sq.,
co. Middlesex.

3. Frederick, b. 1S04,:
of The Woodlands,

co. Gloucester.
4. Mary, b. 1800.

5. Elizibeth Davv, b.

1808, d. 1853.

=Maria, dau. of James
Gay, of Champion Hill,

Surrej-, and Gimming-
ham, Norfolk, Esq.

^Catherine, dau. and co-

heiress of Demetrius de

Swetschine, a Russian
noblc, of the province

of Tula.

=Susan, dau. of Thomas
Child, of Streatham,

co. Surrey, Esq.

l.Harrlet, 6. 1808.

2.John, of Pres-

tolee, co. Lan-
castcr, b. 1809.

3. Josiah, of Shars-

ton, Cheshire,
b. 1812.

4. Maria Joanna,
711. J. Muir, Esq.

of Glasgow.
5. EdwardMorrell,

b. 1815.

6. Eliza, m. Cle-

mentWilks, Esq.
7. WilUam Lea, b.

1818.

8. Richard, b. 1820.

9. Sarah Bethia, b.

1822.

10. Alfred, b. 1827.

U.Helen, b. 1829.

(D.avy.) Dcscended through the Medland branch from William de la Wey, a Norman, who at the Conquest settled

in the north of Devon, and was the common ancestor of the Davies, of Creedy Park ; Da-\ies, of Cannonteign, and
Davys, of Sandford, and of Mcdland, co. of Devon.

(Swetschine.) In the general archives of the arms of all tho nobility of the Russian Empire, published in 1797, with
theauthority of the Empcror, it is statcd that "the Family of A'tt'e/.veAirae descend from a man of the namc ofDoll,
who coming from Gcrmany, cntercd the town of Pskow, and after lia^ing been baptized, reccived the name of Basill,
and had cstatcs givcn to liim ; he afterwards servcd the Grand Dukc Alexandcr of Tver, as a Boyar. Tliis Basill had
a great-grandson who was callcd Anth-ew, son of Constantine Swetcha, whose descendants, the Swctschlne, have scrvcd
the llussian throne as war chiefs, in the Imperial Houschold, as Bovars, and in several other important oSices, and
havc been endowed by the Emperors with estates

; the whole of which may be proved by rcference to the common
archives of the Swetschines."

* Charles Robcrts has issue by Maria, dau. of James Gay :—Anna Maria, b. 4th Sept., 1834 ;
Emma Frances,

llth Nov., 1830 ; Charles Gay, llth Aug., 1838
; Louisa Jeunings, 3rd Nov., 1839 ; Mary Davy, 2nd Aug., 1841 ;

Clara

Susannah, Ifith Fcb., 1843; Frederick Albert, 23rd May, 1848.
t Hcnry Hoberts has issue, by Cathcrine, dau. of Demetrius de Swetschine :—Olivia Maria Pauline, 6. 31st May,

1848
; Lydia Anastasia Davy, b. 12th June, 1851.
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W A L L A C E,

Of Philadelphia, United States, a scion of the

ancient Scottish hoiise of Wallace, of

Ellerslie, of whicli was the renowned patriot,

Sir WiLLiAM Wallace. This fainily, since

the death s.p. of Cliarles Wallace, Esq., the

representative of his grandfatlier, Archibald

Wallace, Esq., in the beginning of the present

century, has been immediately represented,
it is believed, in America only.
The Rev. John Wallace, h. 1674, after

officiating in his sacred charge, in tlie parish
of Urmiimelier, vipon the Tweed, for twenty-

eight years, from May lOth, 1705, died

June 3, 1733, and, witli his wife, of whom
presently, is buried beside the ancient church
in which he so long ministered. A monu-
ment upon its walls still does lionour to the

memory of himself, his wife, and son. He
m. March 5th, 1705, asis proved by theparish

register of Urumnielier,*
"
Christian, lawful

daughter to the deceased William Murray, of

Cardon," who, as is proved by the writs and
title-deeds of Cardon, now owned by Sir John

Murray Naesmyth, of Uawick, in Peebles,

Bart., to whose ancestor it passed from the

Murrays, was son and heir to Adam MuiTay,
Laird of Cardon, in 1G57. This Adam, the

first of the Murrays, of Cardon, was a younger
son of William Murray, of Stanhope, and

llomanno, (See Uugdale's
"
Baronage of

Scotland," Edin. 1798, p. 108); and through
this family, which is descended immediately
from that of MuiTay, of Fallaliill and Philip-

haugh, the descendants of this lady (who d.

November 21st, 1755, retat 79) may trace, by
incontestible proofs, their lineage through tlie

Earls of Bothwell and Morton, and tlirough
James I. of Scotland, to Robert Bruce, and

by anotherline, through the Earls of Somerset,
to theJRoyal family of Plantagenet, of England.
(See Burke's "

Royal Uescents.") The issue

of the Rev. John Wallace, by this lady,
were—

I. Christian, baptized February 9th, 1707;
m. Alexander Stevenson, of Smithfield,

Esq., and had issue :
—

Christian, d. unmarried.

Agnes, d. unmarried.

Alexander, afterwards Sheriif of the

county of Tweeddale.

» ExTRACTS.—" Feb. 16th, 1706.— Mr. John "Wallace,
minister at Drummellier, and Chi-istian Murray, lawfull

ilaughter to ye deceased William Murray, of Cardon, now
in the north west parish, Edi". gave up yr. names to be

proclaimed in order to marriage. March 5th, they were
married." "January 7th, 1718.—Mr. Jolm Wallace,
minister att Drummelzier, had a son baptized by Mr.
Thomas Simson, minister at Broughton, called John."
" Nov. 21, 1751.—Christian Murray, relict of the deceased
Eev. Mr. John Wallace, late minister of the gospcl in

Urummelzior,agentlewoman, aged 79 years, was buried."

Inscriptwn on Tombstone a;/ainst i/ie Church.—" Hcre
Ly the Reverend Mr. JohnWailace, Minister of the Gospel
ut Drummelzier, who died 3rd June, 1733, aged 59 ; and
chi istian Murray, his spousc, who died, November 21,

1755, aged 79 years."

II. William, baptized May 2, 1708.

Having entei-ed into holy orders, this

gentleman, on his father's deatli, suc-

ceeded to his sacred ministrations, and,
after a faithful discharge of their high
duties during a term of fifty-three years,

making eighty-one years, in whicli tlie

father and son were in the ministry of

this parish, d. unmarried, July llth,

1786. A cenotaph inscription thus com-
memorates his virtues :

—
Vir Venerab.

Dom. Oul. Wallace,

Evangelii Miuister in Vico Drummellier.

Insignis tam comitate tam dignitate morum.
Coimnunis infimis

At cum summis facile versari potuit.
Non specie sed vero Religionis cultu eminebat.

Rebus gregis sui, et ad prsesentem et ad futuram
Vitam pertinentibus juxta consulebat.

Benevolentia sincera

Non tantum amicos notosque
Sed genus humanum amplectebatur.

Literarum imprimis amans, aUis auctor fuit

Ut ea studia colcrcnt, qua; sibi tantum solatii

Voluptatisque praebebant.
Si opes animo liberali pares fuissent, alter Maecenas

extitisset ;

Multi enim testari possunt
Liberalitatem ejus majorem fiiisse

Quam res ferre posse viderentur,

Perstitit indefessus benefaciendo ad usque finem vitas

utilissimoe

Cum tamen diu morbo gravi vesaretur, quem mira
Patientia ac fortitudine pertulit.

H unc amici notique diu desiderabunt.

Quoniam autem ad nos redire nequeat
Suppliciter speremus, seduloque nitamur

IJt ad lecimi illum beatum veniamus
Quo eum pervenisse haudquaqum duhitanduni est,

Diem obiit supremum
V Idus Julias anno salutis mdcclxxxvi.

jEtatis anno lsxviii.

iii. Helen, baptized July 9, 1710, d. uii-

married.

IV. Archibald, baptized March 13, 1712, d.

unmarried.

V. Andrew, baptized August 21, 1713.

VI. Agnes, baptized February 27th, 1715,
d. July 15, 1784.

VII. JoHN, the progenitor of the American

family, of whom we treat.

The youngest cliild,

JoHN Wallace of Hope Farm, in Somerset

county, New Jersey, America, Esq., baptized

January 7th, 1708, by Mr. Thomas Simson,
minister at Brougliton, was the first of this

family who went to the New World. He
sailed for the British Plantations in America,

February 20, 1742, arrived in New Port,
Rhode Island, and, witli his fellow-country-
man and friend, Thomas Moffat, M.U., was a

member of that Society, by which " the Red-
wood Library" in this place was afterwards

formed. Subsequently he went to Philadelphia,

where, in 1748, his name is found as one of four

managers of the first City Assembly ; aiid, in

1749, as a founder of the St. Aiidrew's Society,
of the State of Pennsylvania ;

as a signer,
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iii October, 17(35, of the cclebrated " Non-
L'importation-Resolutiones;

"
and as a Mem-

^^}'
—from 1755, when he was associated in

this body with his father-in-law, till the sus-

pension of the city charter in 1776—of the
Common Council of Philadelphia. The war
of this country with her American colonies

breaking out at this date, he refired to his seat
of Hope Fann, upon the Raritan, at which
place tlie ilkistrious Commander-in-chief of the
American forces, wlio was his guest, had for
some time his head-quarters. He d. there

Sept. 26, 1783. This gentleman ?n. Mary,
onlydaughterof JoshuaMaddox, Esq., (one of
His Majesty's Justices, duringaterm of more
tlian twenty years, for the province of Penn-
sylvania, a warden of Christ Church, Phila-

delphia, in 1731-32-33
;
one of the founders

and an original trustee of the University of

Pennsylvania ;
a Member, from 1739 till 1759,

of the Common Council of Pliiladelphia, who
m. Mary, dau. of John Rothero, of West New
Jersey, and d. April 18, 1754). By this lady
(who d. Jan. 21, 1784), Mr. Wallace had
issue,

I. Joshua-Maddox, of whom presently.
II. William, b. 1783, who retained his

paternal seat on the Raritan, and was
High SherifF of the county of Somerset,
in New Jersey, d. Sept. 26, 1 796.

III. Agnes.
The eldest son,

The HoNouRABLE JosHUA Maddox Wal-
LACE, of EUerslie, in Somerset county, and
Burlington, in New Jersey, Esq., b. at

Philadelphia, Oct. 4, 1752
; graduated at the

University of Pennsylvania, Nov. 17, 1767;
and was appointed, Aug. 31, 1784, by the
Council and General Assembly of New Jersey,
a Judge of the Pleas and Justice of the Peace
of that state; in 1787, he was a member of
the convention which ratified, in behalf of the
State of New Jersey, tlie Constitution of the
United States of America

;
in 1795, he was

adinitted an honorary Member of the St.
Andrew's Society of Pennsylvania ;

and was
a representative in 1786, 1795, 1808, 1811,
181 1, and 1817, from the State of New Jersey
to the General Convcntion of the Protestant

Episcopal Church (the Church of England)
in the United States of America

;
he d. May

17, 1819, and is buried in the grounds of St.

Mary's Church at Burlington, where a monu-
ment is thus inscribed :

—

JosnuA

In memory

Maddox Wallace,
Boi-n October -ith, 1752,
Dicii May 17th, 181i).

A man of cinineiit picty,
Uisintcrcsted Bencvolcnco,

And activo nsefulucss.
A scliolar, and a promotcr of lcarning ;

Brou.dit ui) in tlio hosom of tlic ( liurch,
.^nil attaclicil to hcr principlos,

He was ever active in her gcrrice :

Frequently in her councils
;

And, for many ycars, a Warden
of this Congregation.

ITe?rt.,Aug. 4, 1773, Tace, daughter of Coloncl
AVilliam Bradford, of the Continental Army
of 1776, and by this lady (who surviving him,
d. Feb. 29, 1829) had issue :—

I. Joshua-Maddox, b. Sept, 4, 1776, d.

Jan. 7, 1821, m. in 1805, Rebecca,
daughter of William McIIvaine, of Bur-

lington, in New Jersey, M.D., by which
lady he left issue—
1. Mary Coxe, b. May 5, 1807; d. Feb.

11, 1826, mm.
2. Elizabeth.

3. Joshua-Maddox, b. Jan. 13, 1815, d.

Nov. 10, 1851; ?«. June 7, 1847, Alice

Lee, daughter of William Shippen, of

Farley, M.U., and left issue :
—

William-McIlvaine, b. Aiig. 28,
1848, the present representative at
law of the family.

Shippen, b. Feb. 20, 1850.

Mary Coxe, b. Oct. 25, 1851.
4. William Bradford, b. May 4, 1817, d.

iDun. Nov. 9, 1811.

5. Ellerslie, b. June 15, 1819, m. April
13, 1847, Susan, daughter of Bartho-
lomew Wistar, of Philadelphia, Esq.,
by which lady Iie has issue :

—
Ellerslie, b. Oct. 22. 1849.

u. JoiiN Bradford, of wliom more parti-

cularly.
I. Mary Maddox, d. unm., 19th Oct., 1843.
II. RachelBudd, d. imm., lOthMarch, 1848.
III. Elizabeth.

IV. Susan Bradford.
The second son,

JoHN Bradford Wallace, of Philadel-

phia, Burlington, and Meadville, Esq., an
eminent barrister of Pennsylvania, and an
extensive landholder in the north aiul west of
that state. He assumed the naine of Bradford

(having been baptized with the name of his

grandfather and great-grandfather, John,) in

honoiir of his maternal unclc, the Hon. Wil-
liam Bradford, Esq., one of the most pure
and illustrioiis characters of his time, At-

torney-General of the United States, under
the Presidency of Washington. Under the

peculiar and immediate care of this eminent

lawyer, Mr. Wallace received his professional

training. An inscription by his wife upon a
massive monument of marble, in the grounds
of St. Peter's parish church, at Philadelphia,
records her sense of his exalted character,
and supplies a record of necessary dates :

—
IN THE VAULT UNDEENEATH LIE THE REMAINS OP

JOHN BRADFORD WALLACE,
BoKN AT ElLEUSLIE, IIIS FATHEk's FAUM, SoMERStT

CouNTY, Nbw Jeiisey, August 17x11, 177H. DltD IN

THI3 Cnv, Januaey 7ih, 1837.
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Long a Vestryman and Warden of the United Churches,
of which this Parish was formerly one.

His understanding was comprehensive, vigorous, aud

steady ;

Its ohjects high and useful :

Trained after early models,
Its discipline was strict, its irivestigations patient, its

judgments true.

His education was eminently regular and liberal,

And fitted him for distinguished attainments in the Law,
Inthe raost digrufied ranks of which he was acknowledged

to stand.

HlS POLITICAL PrINCIPLES
Were derived from the honourable and great namcs

^Vhose patriotism settled, and then first achninistered

this Government.
From these he never swerved ;

And labouring to sustain their purity and aims,
Would have averted that decline in their athninistration,

Wliich, unable to prevent, he had yet the misfortune
to see.

An HeUEDITAUY CHtlRCHMAN,
He understood his whole duty ;

and he practised it :

A faithful counsellor, a considerate parishioner, a con-
stant worshipper.

Led by the providence of God to a remote part of the

Dioccse,
He bore Her venerable liturgy thither, and the Chmxh

of his forefathers

Rose on streams then first responsive to Her majestic
anthems.

An exalted humanity pervaded his nature :

No mean or sordid temper mingled with it.

Discerning and delicate, yet active, open and sincere,
The loveliness of liis moral dispositions

Was invigorated by contrariety of manly energy,
And his instinctive generosity ennobled

By permanent principles and settled convictions of duty.

As HUSBAND AND FaTHER,
In liis home he was the centre and safeguard of

happiness.
Of commanding stature, and elevated mien ; manners

gracious and refined.

His deatli was as favoured as his life :

Without pain or sickness,
In the calm of peaceful slumber and the silence of night,

His Spirit was taken to the Paradise of the Just.

He m., April 2nd, 1805, Susan, daughter of

Barnabas Binney, M.D., a surgeon in the

American anny of 1776, and one of those

distingiiished characters, whoin
" cantonment

on Hudson's river, in the year 1783," at the

close of their long and memorable war, and

before the separation of that army, made the

original institution of "The Order of the

CiNciNATi." By this lady (who, suryiving
him some years, died at her country residence

at Burlington, in New Jersey, July 8th,

1849,) he had issue,

I. Susan-Bradford, d. 18th April, 1842; m.

Jane 16th, 1841, Charles Macalaster.

II. WiLLiAM Bradford, b. October 29th,

1809; d. April28th, 1812.

III. Mary Binney, d. May 13, 1852 ;
m. Nov.

21 st, 1837, John Sims Riddle, by whom
she had issue,

John-Wallace, h. November 3rd, 1838.

James, b. December I8th, 1840.

Susan Bradford WaUace, b. September 20th,

1844; d. May 3rd, 1852.

IV. Marshall, b. September 16th, 1812; d.

September 30th, 1813.

v. John-William, h. February I7th, 1815.

VI. Horace-Binney, b. February 27th, 1817,

a distinguished member of the Bar of Phila-

delphia, and an able writer on the law.

This amiable and accomplished gentleman
died, deeply lamented, on the 16th Decem-

ber, 1852, at the early age of thirty-five.

VII, Elizabeth, d. August 23rd, 1824.

Arms—Gn. a lion rampant, arg., within a bordure

gohonated of the last and az.

Crest—A demi-Iion rampant.
Motto—Vvo Patria.

S Y M O N S,

Of Mynde Park, co. Hereford
;
now repre-

sented by Thomas George Symons, Esq.,
of that place, ,J.P., ehler son and heir of the

late Thomas Hampton Symons, Esq., of the

Mynde Park, and grandson of Thomas Ray-
mond, Esq., who inherited the estate in 1796,

on the death of his kinsman, s. p., Sir Richard

(Peers) Symonds, Bart., of Mynde Park, and

assumed the surname of Symonds in lieu of

Raymond.
The estate of Mynde Park was purchased

about 1740, by Richard Symons, citizen of

London, whose only surviving daughter,
Anna Sophia, married Richard Peers, citizen

of London, and was mother of Richard Peers,

Esq., who inherited the Mynde estates, and

assumed the surname of Symons. He was

created a Baronet in 1774, but died unmarried

in 1796, when the estate devolved on the

grandson of Ann, youngest sister of Richard

Symons, the purchaser of Mynde Park, viz.,

Thomas Raymond, Esq., who thereupon as-

sumed the surname of Symons. He was grand-

father, as above stated, of the present pro-

prietor, Thomas George Symons, Esq., who
bears on his family shiekl, an escutcheon of

pretence quarterly, for Symons, Tolson, &c.,

in right of his wife, Mary Louisa, only child

and heiress of Captain Richard Harcourt

Symons, by Jane Dinnes, his wife, only child

and heiress of Richard Henry Tolson, Esq.,
of Woodland Lodge, co. Somerset. (See
Burke's Landed Gentry.)

Arms—Per fesse az. and erminois, a pale counter-

changed, three trefoils slippcd, two and one, an es-

cutcheon of pretence of six quarterings for Symous,
Tolson, &c., &c.

Crest—On a mount vert. an ermine passant, per pale
erm. and erminois, holding in the mouth a tretoil,

sUpped as in the arms.
Motto—Nil Admirari.
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HAMILTON, OF NEWTON.

The Hamiltons, of Silverton Hill and of

Newton, are the nearest branch to the Ducal
head of the house of Hamilton, next to the

great family of Ahercorn. Their immediate

ancestor was Alexander, nextbrother to James,
first Lord Hamilton, so created in 1445, and
husband to the Princess Mary, of Scotland.

Alexander Hamilton was possessed of the

estate of Silverton Hill, and his son,

James, acquired that of Newton, by
marriage with a daughter of the house of

Douglas.
His descendant, Sir Andrew Hamilton, was

a faithful adherent ofQueen Mary. He died

in 1592.

His son, Sir Robert, greatly added to his

estate, by marriage with the daughter and
sole heiress of Sir William BaiUie, of Provan,
Lord President of the (Jourt of Session. He
had several chiklren.

His eldest son, Edward Hamilton, was
father of the first Baronet of Silverton Hill,

and from him the present Sir Frederick

Hamilton, Bart., of Silverton Hill, is lineally
descended.
A younger son, James, is the ancestor

of this branch of the family.
His son, James Hamilton, was seated at

Newton, in 1672. He was twice married.

By his first wife, Elizabeth, daughter of

Gabriel Hamilton, of Westburn, by Margaret,

daughter of Sir Robert Cuninghame, of

Gilbertfield, he had a daughter, EHzabeth,
wife of John Gray, of Dahnarnock, of whom
hereafter. By his second wife, Margaret,

daughter of Robert Montgomery, of Macbie

Hill, by a daughter of Lockhart, of Lee, he
had a son,
Thomas Hamilton, of Newton, who m. a

daughter of Cleland, of Cleland, by whom he
had a son,
James Hamilton, of Newton, m., first,

Anabella, daughter of Sir Robert Pollock,

Bart., of Pollock, by Anabella, daughter of

Walter Stewart, of Pardevan. By her he had

ason, James. He m., secondly, a daugliter of

Buchanan, of Ross and Drummakill, by whom
he had a son, who died young.
James Hamilton, of Newton, was succeeded

by his son, James.
But as he died vmmarried, his aunt, Eliza-

beth, became heiress of Newton. By her

husband, William Gray, of Wellhouse, she

had two daughters,
EHzabeth, wife of her mother's cousin,

James Gray, of Dahnarnock, who died without

issue
;

And Janet Hamilton, who succeeded her

mother in the estate of Newton, She married
Colonel Richard Montgomery, cousin of Sir

George Montgomery, Bart., of Macbie Hill,

and Sir James Montgomery, Bart., of Stan-

hope, and by him she had a son and daughter
who died before her.

Mrs. Montgomery died in 1823, and was
succeeded in the representation of this branch
of the house of Hamilton, by her second

cousin, Robert Gray, of Carntyne, grandson
of her grand-aunt, Ehzabeth, daughter of

James Hamilton, of Newton.
She was born 1688, and m. John Gray,

of Dalmarnock and Carntyne. By him
she had a numerous family. James; John

;

Gabriel, of Eastfield, who had a son, Jolni

Gray, of Eastfield; Andrew, who had two
sons and two daughters, of whom one, EHza-

beth, survives
; EHzabeth, wife of John Spens,

of Stonelaw, by whom she had a son, General
John Spens, of Stonelaw; AnabeHa, wife of

Henry Woddrop, of Westthorn
; Rebecca, wife

of WilHam Ross, heir male of the Lords Ross
;

Jane, wife of Thomas Buchanan, of Ardoch.
John Gray was succeeded by his eklest

son, James Gray, of Dahiiarnock and Carn-

tyne, who m., first, his cousin, EHzabeth,

daughter of EHzabeth HamiUon, of Newton,
and, secondly, Jane, daughter of Jolm

Coi-bett, of ToUcross, grand-daughter of Por-

terfield, of Porterfield, and niece to the Earl

of Kibnarnock.

Having no issue, he was succeeded by his

next brother, John Gray, of Dalmarnock and

Carntyne. He married Isabella Chapman,
only daughter and heiress of John Chapman,
Commissary of Glasgow, by Jean, daughter
of Thomas PoHock, of Balgray, a cadet of

PoHock, Bart., of PoUock, and maternaHy
descendedfromBoyd, of Trochrig, Aichbishop
of Glasgow, a cadet of Lord Boyd. Besides

other chikh'en, who died young or unmarried,
John Gray had a son, Robert, and a daughter,

Helen, wife of WiUiam Woddrop, of Dahnar-
nock.

In 1784, John Gray sold his principal es-

tates of Dahnarnock, Newlands, Kennyhill,
&c., and was succeeded in Carntyne by his son,

Robert Gray, of Carntyne, since 1823 re-

presentative of the HamiUons of Newton.
He married Mary Anne, daughter of Gabriel

Hamilton, of Westburn, and Agnes Dundas,
heiress of Duddingston, grand-daughter of the

Earl of Crawford and Lindsay, and grand-
neice of the Duke of HamiUon.

Robert Gray was succeeded in 1833 by his

only son, John HamiUon Gray, of Carntyne,

Deputy-Lieutenant of Lanarkshire, Vicar of

Bolsover, in the county of Derby. In 1829,
he m. Elizabeth CaroHne, eklest daugh-
ter of James Raymond Johnstone, of Alva,

by Mary, sister of Sir Montague Chohneley,
Bart., of Easton

; by whom he has an only
child, CaroHne Maria Agnes Robina, m.,
in 1852, to John Anstruther Thomson, of

Charleton, in the county of Fife.
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Descents of Rev. John Hamilton Gray, froni different branches of the Hamilton family :
—

Sir John de Hamilton, fourth Lord of Cadzow.

Sir James Hamiltou, fifth Lord of Cadzow. Thomas Hamilton of Daruffaber.

Sir James Haniilton, eldest

son, sixth Lord of Cadzow,
first Lord Hamilton, 1445,
m. Princess Mary of Scot-

land, dau. ot Janies II.

Alesander Hamilton of

Silvertonhill, second son.

Thomas Hamilton of

Torrance, secoud son.

James Hamilton of Uap-
loch, 1440, eldest son.

James Hamilton of Sil-

vertonhill and Newton.

James Hamilton, first Earl
of Arran. John Hamilton of Silver-

tonhill and Newton.

John Hamilton of Tor-

rance, alive 1475.

James Hamilton of

Torrance.

William Hamilton of

Raploch .

James Hamilton, second
Earl of Arran, Duke of

Chatelherault, Regent of
Scotland.

James Hamilton of

Eaploch.

John Hamilton, Marqiiis of

Hamilton, Duke of Chatel-
herault.

James Hamilton, second

Marquis of Hamilton, Duke
of Chatelherault.

Andrew Hanulton younger of
SilvertonhillandNewton,

Alexander flamilton of

Goslington.

James Hamilton of

Torrance, m. in 1540.

Robert Hamilton of Tor-
rance.

Sir Andrew Hamilton of

Goslington, d. 1592.

Gavin Hamilton of Rap-
loch, commendator of Kil-

wiiming, d. 1571.

Gavin Hamilton of

Kaploch.

Matthew Hamilton of
Torrauce.

Sir Robert Hamilton of

Goslington.

Claud Hamilton of Barns,
1575, d. 1632.

Archibald Hamilton

Lady Margaret Hamilton,
wifeofJohn Lindsay, seven-
teenth Earl of Crawford,
and first Earl of Lindsay.

Robert Hamilton of Barns,
d. 1677.

James HamUton.

rickLirHon. PatrickLindsayCraw-
ford of Kiibirney.

Magdalen Lindsay Craw-
ford, wife of George Dun-

das of Duddiugstou.

Agnes Dundas, heiress of

Duddiugston.

Andrew Hamilton of

Westburn, 1618.

Claud Hamilton of Barns.

Gabriel Hamilton of

Westburn.

James Hamilton of_Elizabeth Hamil- Archibald HamiIton=Margaret HamiU
Newton, 1672.

j
ton. of Westburn.

j

ton.

Elizabeth Hamilton, wife of John Gray,
of Dalmaruock aud Carntyne.

Gabriel Hamilton of Westburn.

John Gray of Dalmarnock aud Carntyne.

Mary Anne, dau. of Gabriel Hamilton of Westburn, and = Robert Gray of Carntyne, representative of the family
Agnes Dundas, heiress of Duddingstou. 1 of Hamilton of Newton.

Reverend John Hamilton Gray of CarntjTie, Deputy
Lieuteuant of Lanarkshire, &c. &c." &c.

Arms.—Gules, three cinque foils, pierced ermine,
within a border ermine,acrescentsurmountedby a mullet

argent, for difierence.

Crest.—An oak-tree transfixed by a hand-saw, issuing
from a ducal coronet proper.

Motlo.—Through.

Arms of Gkay.—Gules, a lion rampant between three

cinque foils, pierced argent, within a border, engrailed
argent.

Crest.—An anchor cabled, stuck fast in the sea proper.
Motto,—Fast.

P E L H A M,

Of Crowhurst, co. Sussex
;
and Cound, co.

Salop.
The surname of Pelham was assumed from

a lordship in Herefordshire, where anciently

stood a castle, the owner of which, in 1265,
was amerced in the then very large sum of

forty pounds, for a contempt in not coming
to an inquest to be taken concerning a tres-
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pass of the Mlnt. This lordship of Pelham
is recorded to be part of the possessions of

Walter de Pelham, in the '21st of Edward

I., and it is beheved that his ancestors held it

prior to the Conquest. Froni the earliest

period it is certain that the family enjoyed

very high consideration
;
and its members

have, in difFerent reigns, distinguished them-
selves as warriors and statesmen. The Pel-

hams of Crowhurst and Cound were a younger
branch of the Pelhams of Laughton and Stan-

mer, ancestors of the Earls of Chichester.

The last direct male heir, John Cressett Pel-

HAM, Esq., of Crowhurst and Cound, M.P.,
died 2mm. in 1838, when his estates were

equally divided between his two sisters
;
the

Shropshire property being assigned to the

elder, Frances, wife of the Rev. George
Augustus Thursby ;

and the Sussex, to the

younger, Anne, wife of Thomas Papillon,

Esq., of Acrise, Kent. Mrs. Thursby's son,
the present possessor, took, by Royal licence,
in 1852, the additional surname of Pelham,
and is now the Rev. Henry Thursby Pel-

ham, of Cound.

Sir Thomas Pclham of_Mary, clau. of Sir Tlio-

Laughton, M.P. for

Sussex, created a Bart.

22May,I611, d. 2Dec.,
1624.

mas Walsingham, elder
brother of Sir Francis.

Sir Thomas Pelham, second_ Margaret, James Hux-
Bart., M.P. for Sussex, d.

in 1654 (ancestor, by his
flrst wife, of the Eaiis of

Chichester.)

dau. of Sir ley, Esq., of
II. Vane, Darnford,
third -wile. Oxu.

Sir Nicholas _Jane, dau. Elizabeth, _Kobert Crcs-
Pelham of Cot-
tisfield Place,
SuRsex, M.P.,
d. 1739, aged

90.

and co- dau. and co- settof Upton
heiress of heiress of
of James
Huxley,
Esq.

James IIux-

ley, Esq.

Cressett,and
Cound, co.

Salop.

a'
1
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Jolm Montgomerie, ofLain-
sliaw. u. s.p.

Sir Neil Montgomerie, of =Jean, only dau. and eventual

Lainshaw, a.d. 1538.
|
heirof Jolin, 4thLordLyle.

Christian, Lady Luss.

Elizaheth, m. Humeof Fast-

castle. Helen, m. Maxwell
of Newark.

Sir Neil Montgomerie of Laiashaw, served heir=Elizaheth, eldest dau. of Cunninghame of Aiket.

to his mother in 1575
;
had a preeept of Clare

Constat by Alexander, Earl of liglinton, of tlie

lands of Lainshaw, dated ISth Marh, 1616.

Neil Montgomerie of

Laiushaw, d. circa

1635.

:Mariota, dau. of Sir

Wm. Mure of Kow-
allan.

James Montgomerie,
Miiiister of Dunlop,
d. at Lainshaw, 1613.

William Montgomerie,„Jean Montgomerie.
Ist of Brigend, co. Ayr,

Neil Montgomerie of= Margaretta Lockhart.
Lainshaw.

John Montgomerie of Brigend, son and heir ;=

m. in 1626.

John Montgomerie of=Helen, dau. of Sir Ludo-

Lainshaw, d. s.p. in vick Houstouu.
1654.

=Elizabeth, dau. of

Thomas Baxter.

Hew Montgomerie of=Katherine, second dau. of Sir William Scott,

BrigendjSon and heir ;

m. in 1653.

of Clerkington, one of the Senators of the Col-

lege of Justice, temp. Charles I., by Katherine

Morison, his first wife. Sir William Scott, a

scion of Buccleuch, was eldest son of Laurence
Scottof Clerkington, Clerk tothe Privy Council.

and one of the Principal Clerks of Session.

William Montgomerie, sonand=Isabella Bumett, dau. of Ro-
heir of Hew of Brigend ;

went 1 bert Burnett of Lethentie ;

to America, and settled iu East
|
one of the proprietors of East

Jersey, 1720.
| Jersey, married, SthJanuary,

1684.

James Montgomerie, second=Margaret.
son.

I. Rohert Mont-=Sarah Stacey. TO. 2. W^illiam Montgo-=Margaret
gomerie of

Eglinton, near

Allentown, N ew
Jersey.

in New Jersey, merie, b. at Ayr 7th

Feb., 1693; d. in
America in 1771

;

wiU dated 24th

Nov., 1769.

Paschal.
James.
Alexr.

1. George, d.

Brazil.

2. Francis.

1. Margaret, m.
to Kobert Max-
well of Arkland,
2. Mary, m. U>

James Wilson,
R.N. and other

issue.

James Montgomerie, d, vitd =Esther Wood, m.
patris in 1760. in 1746.

WiUiam Montgomerie, Esq.,=Mary, sister of Colonel Jonathan

son andheir, m. 15th January Khea of New Jersey, d. in 1832,

1778, d. in 1815. at Trenton.

1. Robert
"

Montgo- 2. John,
merie, of the co. of ?«. Mary
Monmouth, in New Dale.

Jersey, left no male
issue.

3. William,
married, and
had issue,

Harvey and
Joseph.

4. James. =

WlLlIAM
MONTGOMERIE
Esq., of the
United States,
b. at Upper

Freehold, New
I Jersey, 7 Dec,

William, 1778.
Col. U. S. Army.

=Marie Pulche- Robert = Miss Jane John,

AUSTIN MONT-
gosJeiiie, Esq.,of

Philadelphia,
m. Isabel
Bowen of

Jamaica; no issue.

ist wife,=James,
Eliza D.D.,

Teackle.

2nd wife,

Mary H.
White.

Joun.- _ Miss
Phillips
of Phila-

delphia.

John. James. William. Thomas. John ; Henry,
and other issue.

rie,dau.of Jean

Baptiste Piver,
one of the

Procureurs du
Roi under

Louis XVI. in

St. Domingo.

Rhea
Montgo-
merie,6.
5 Feb.,
1786.

M'Cutchon,de- *. 14

scended mater- Feb.,

nally from the 1788,
Butlers of Or- unmar-

monde. ried.

Samuel Hugh,
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Wiiliam
Henrv, b. in

Jan.", 1816.

Richard, b.

inDec.,1817.

_ Elizabeth,
dau. of the
Hon. Horace
Binney, of

Philadelpliia.

William,
h. \n

Warch,
1H45.

Archibald-

Roger b.

in Paris,
30th May,

1847.

Aug-ustus, *.

1823 ; m. in

1850, Mar-
garet, dau. of
Mr. Joseph
Kernochan,
of New
Yorl£.

T

Mary. Alice. Bertha.

Alfred,
b. in
1826.

Matilda, m.
in 1842,

Count Leon
de Bethune.

Euphrosine Augustine,
TO. 20 Sept., 1853, to
Count Olivier de la

Rochefoucauld, second
son of the Uowager

Duchess de la

Rochefoucauld.

HAMILTON, LORD BELHAVEN.

The present and eiglith Lord Belhaven, and
his six predecessors, are a younger branch of

a younger branch of the great house of

Raploch, of which Hamilton of Barns is

chief. However, the first Lord Belhaven

was of a diiFerent family. This peerage was

conferred, in 1675, on John Hamilton, of

Broomhill, great-grandson of John Hamilton,
of Broomhill, illegitimate son of James, first

Lord Hamilton.

John, first LoRD Belhaven, married Mar-

garet, illegitimate daughter of James, second

Marquis of Hamilton, by whom he had thi-ee

daughters. Of these, the second, the Honour-
able Anne Hamilton, married Sir Robert

Hamilton, Baronet, of SilvertonhUl, descended

from Alexander, next brother of James,
first Lord Hamilton. Sir Robert and Lady
Hamilton had several children. Among
others, Sir Robert Hamilton, Baronet, who
carried on the line of the Silvertonhill family ;

and Margaret, who married John Hamilton,
eldest son of Robert Hamilton, of Pres-

mannan. The first Lord Belhaven settled

his estate upon this grand-daughter Margaret,
and her husband. And, in favour of the

latter, he resigned his peerage, getting a new

grant of it with remainder to him.

John Hamilton, accordingly, became
second Lord Belhaven. This nobleman
was descended from a younger son of a

younger son of the ancient and distinguished
house of Hamilton of Raploch, whose descent

has been stated in treating of its heir and

representative, Hamilton of Barns. James

Hamilton, of Raploch, had a fourth son,

John Hamilton, of Nielsland, who married
the daughter and heiress of Hamilton of

IJdston. His descendant, John Hamilton,
of Udston, had a numerous family. John,
his eldest son, carried on the line of Hamilton
of Udston, of whose descendants hereafter.

James, the second son, was of Barncluith,
and was grandfathcr to thc second Lord

Belhaven. William, the third son, was of

Wishaw, of whose descendants hereafter.

The second son, James, of Barncluith, had,

among other children, a third son, Robert
Hamilton, of Presmannan, who, in 1689,
was one of the Judges of the Court of Session,
and died in 1696. He had two sons, first

John, who, as aforesaid, married Margaret
Hamilton, and upon whom his wife's grand-
father, the first Lord Belhaven, settled his

title and estate
; second, James Hamilton,

of Pencaitland, of whose descendants here-
after.

John Hamilton, second Lord Belhaven,
was a very eminent man, and a distinguished

patriot. He died in 1708. His son, John
Hamilton, third Lord Belhaven, had two

sons, JoHN, fourth, and James, fifth Lord
Belhaven. The last of these peers died un-

man-ied, in 1777. Upon his death, his estates

of Biel, &c., &c., went to his nearest rela-

tion, the descendant and representative of the

yoiinger brother of his grandfather, the second
Lord Belhaven. But as this descendant was
a female, the title could not devolve upon her.

James Hamilton, of Pencaitland, the second
Lord's younger brother, had a son, Alexander

Hamilton, of Dechmont, whose only chUd,
Mary Hamilton, heiress of Pencaitland and

Dechinont, succeeded also to the estate of Biel,
on the death of her cousin, the fifth Lord, in

1777. In 1747, she married William Nisbet,
of Dirleton. Her son, William Hamilton
Nisbet, of Biel and Dirleton, by his wife,

Mary, daughter of Lord Robert Manners,
had an only child, Mary, who married the

Earl of Elgin ;
and her eldest daughter, Lady

Mary Bruce, the wife of the Right Hon.
Robert Adam Dundas Christopher, is heiress

apparent of Biel and Dirleton. William

Nisbet, of Dirleton, and Mary Hamilton, of

Biel, had also a daughter, Mary, who in-

herited the Pencaitland and Dechmont estates.

She married Walter Campbell, of Shawfield,

by whom she had two daughters : first,

Hamilton CAMruELL, heiress of Pencaitland,
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wife of Robert, eighth and present Lord
Belhaven

; second, Mary, wife of James,
sixth and late Lord Ruthven.

On the death of the fifth Lord Belhaven,
in 1777, the title continiied for some time

dormant. It was claimedby Captain Robert
Hamilton, the nearest descendant and heir

male of John Hamilton, of Udston, eldest

brother of the father of the second Lord
Belhaven. His descent was undoubted

;
but

his right to the title was defective, because

there existed descendants and heii's male of

William Hamilton, of Wisliaw, youngest
brother of tlie father of the second Lord
Belhaven. Thus the heir to the title was the

descendant of the youngest, rather than of the

eldest uncle of the second Lord. William
Hamilton, of Wishaw, therefore, became, de

jiire, sixth Lord Belhaven, on the death of

the fifth Lord, in 1777. His son, William,
assumed the title, as seventh Lord

;
and his

son Robert is tlie eighth, and present Lord

Belhaven. He married Hamilton Campbell,
daughter of Walter Campbell, of Shawfield,

by Mary Haniilton Nisbett, heiress of Pen-

caitland, by whom he has no issue. His

Lordship's sister, Susan Mary, married her

cousin, Peter Ramsay, by whom she has
issue. Thus, the Hamiltons of Wishaw are a

younger branch of the Hamiltons of Udstone,
Avhich was a younger branch of the great

family ofRaploch, wliose head is now Hamilton
of Bai-ns. There are several younger branches
of the family of Wishaw

; among others, Wil-
liam Richard Hamilton, late minister at the

Court of Naples.

//rms—Quarterly, grand quarters, Ist and 4th, gules,
a sword in pale, proper, hilt or., belween three cinque
foils, argent for Lord Belhaven ; and 2nd and 3rd,

quarterly ;
Ist and 4th, gules, a mau's heart or., between

three cinque foils, ermine for Hajiilton of Raploch ;
and

2nd and 3rd, gules, a mullct argent between three cinque
foils, ermine for Hamilton of Udston.
Crest—A horse's head couped argent, bridled, gules.
SupporterS'-'Tv!o horses argent, bridled, gules.
Motto—Ride through.

W I N T H R O P,

Or WiNTHORPE, fonnerly of Groton, in Suf-

folk, now of New England. The Wmthrops
were settled at Groton, temp. of Henry VIL
Adam Winthrop, Esq., son of Adam Winthrop
of Groton, had a grant from the crown of the
manor of Groton, on the dissohition of the

Monasteries. He presented to the church of

Groton, 5th Edwai-d VI., and died in 1562.
His son, Adam Winthi-op, was father (by Anne,
his wife, daughter of Henry Browne, Esq.,) of

JoHN WiNTHROP, Esq., of Grotou, Justice

of the Peace, who settled with his family in

America, where his descendants have enjoyed
great reputation and eminent position

—three

members of the family, his successors, having
been governors of the Colonies of Massachus-
setts and Connecticut, and others, members of

Council, and of Congress. He was himself
the first Governor of the Province of Massa-

chussetts, and is styled
" The father of Massa-

chussetts." His son, by his first wife, Mary,
dau. and heir of John Forth, Esq., of Stan-

don, Essex, John Winthrop, Esq., was
meniber of Council of Massachussetts, and
assisted to establish the colony of Connecticut,
for which he procured a charter from the King,
and was, for many years, up to his decease, in

1676, Governor of Connecticut. He also came
as agent for the colony to England, and, while

here, aided in the formation of the Royal
Society, to which he afterwards wasa freqiient
contributor of papers and curiosities. His

eldestson, Fitzjohn Winthrop, Esq., F.R.S.,
was likewise Governor of Connecticut in 1698,
and continued in that office for nine succes-

sive annual elections, up to his death, in 1707,
and his secondson, Wait Still Winthrop, Esq.,
was many years Member of Council, and sub-

sequently becanie Chief Justice of Massachus-

setts. The son of Chief Justice Winthrop,
John Winthrop, Esq., of New London, F.R.S.,
married in 1707, Anne, daughter of Governor

Joseph Dudley, and died in 1747, leaving a

son and heir, John Still Winthrop, Esq., of

New London, who died in 1776—having
married twice. By his first wife, a daughter
of William Sheriff, Esq., an officer in the

British service, he left, among others, Ben-

jamin Winthrop, Esq., of New York, and
Robert Wirithrop, Esq., Vice-Admiral of the

Blue, in the British Navy ;
and by his second

wife, Jane, only daughter of Francis Borland,

Esq., of Boston, he left three daughters and
five sons,

—
1, John, of Hansard CoIIege ; 2,

Francis Borland, of New Yoi-k
; 3, William,

also of New York; 4, Joseph Henry, of

Charleston
;
and 5, Thomas Lindall Winthrop,

Esq., of Boston, many years Lieut.-Governor
of Massachussetts, and President of the Mas-
sachussetts Historical and Antiquarian Socie-

ties, who died 22nd February, 1841, leaving,

by Elizabeth-Bowdoin, his wife, daughter of
Sir John Temple, H.B.M.'s Consul-General
for the United States, and grand-daughter of

James Bowdoin, Governor of the Common-
wealth of Massachussetts—several sons and

daughters, viz.—
James, who assumed, in compliance with the

will of his maternal great-grandfather,
Governor Bowdoin, the name of Bowdoin,
and d. in Cuba in 1833.

General Grenville Temple Winthrop.
Francis William Winthrop.
George Edward Winthrop.
The Hon. Robt. Charles Winthrop, A.B., b.

1809; someyears Speaker of the House of

Representatives, in Massachussetts, subse-

quently member for Boston, in the Con-
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gress of the United States, and late

Speaker of that Assembly. He even-

tually succeeded Daniel Webster as

United States Senator for Massachussetts.

A daughter, m. to the Rev. Benjamin
Sappan, of Augusta, Maine.

Another daughter, m. to George Sullivan,

Esq., formerly of Boston, now of New
York.

A third daughter, m. to Dr. John C.

WaiTen, of Boston.

Arms.— ( As still preserved on the tomb of Adam Win-
throp, in thechurch atGroton) — Quarterl.y, Ist and 4th

argt., three chevronels gu., over all, a lion r.impant sa.,

for AViNTHRop. 2nd and 3rd, Gu. two bends vaire arg-t.

and sa., on a canton, or., a demi greyhound courant,
of the third, for Forth.

Crest.—On a mount vert a hare eourant, ppr.

C O O P E R,

Of Failford, County of Ayr. The surname of

this family was originally written "
Couper,"

or "Cowper." It is stated by Playfair, inhis

Baronetage, to be nearly as okl in Scotland,
as the time of Malcohn Canmore. Sir George
Mackenzie, in his Science of Heraldry, 1680,

says that the arms of the Cowpers
"
signify

their descentfrom France, and from Bretaigne,
in that kingdom." They anciently bore

fleui-s-de-lis, and ermine in one shield, al-

though subsequently the fleurs-de-lis were

changed to slips of Laurel, as appears from
Nisbefs Heraldry. The Coupers appear as

landholders, in vai"ious counties, at an early
date. The principal family of the name was

Couper, of Gogar, in Mid-Lothian, of whom
the Lyon Register, and Playfair, both state

that their first ancestor on record was Simon

Covper, one of the Barons of Scotland, who
was compelled to swear fealty to Edward I.,

in the year 1296, and whose name accordingly

appears on the Ragman Rolls. This family
was i-aised to the baronetage of Nova Scotia,
in 1638, in the person of Jokn Coiiper, or

Coicper, of Gogar, who was killed in 1640,

along with the Earl of Haddington and many
gentlemen, in the blowing up of Dunglass
Castle, when that fortrcss was held by the

Scotch army. From WilHam Cowper, the

third son of tlie first baronet, the family now
settled in Ayrshire claim descent.

WiLLiAM CouPER, or CowPER, bom 1629,
was an officer of Dragoons during the civil

war
;
he married Christian Scot, and settled

in the county of Dumbarton. He had, with

other issue,

JoHN CouPER, or CowPER, who lesided at

the Tower of Banheath, county of Dumbarton
;

he married Christian Gray in 1676, and died

in 1687. His son and successor,
JoHN CouPER, born 1677, also resided at

the Tower of Banheath
;
he married Margaret

Thom in 1708, and had a numerous issue.

The Reverend John Couper, the eldest

son, was settled as a clergyman in the county
of Lincohi. Hcchangod his name to "Cooper,"
and died, unmarried, at GLasgow, in 1789,
when the rej^resentation of the family de-

volved on his brother,
WiLLiAM Couper, of Smeithstoii and Fail-

ford, who also changed his name to "
Cooper,

"

which name he entailed upon his successors

along with his estates. He married in 1754,

Mary, eldest daughter of Hugh Stewart, Esq.,
and by her, who died 1768, had issue,

William, born 1761, died 1768.

Alexander, bornl765, of whom afterwards.

Samuel, born 1768, of whom afterwards,

Cecilia, born 1757, married Lieutenant-

General David Shank, an officer, who

highly distinguishedhimself in the Ameri-

can war. She died in 1842.

Also three daughters, of whom two died in

infancy, and the other unmarried.

Winiam Cooper died in 1793, and was suc-

ceeded by his eldest surviving son,

Alexander Cooper, of Failford, who held

a commission in the army, and served abroad.

He was afterwards appointed Captain Com-
mandant of the Mauchline Volunteers, Lieu-

tenant-Colonel of the 2nd Regiment of Ayr-
shire Local Militia, and a Deputy-Lieutenant
for the county of Ayr. He died, unmarried,
in 1829, and was succeeded by his brother,

Samuel Cooper, of Failford, and of Bal-

lindalloch, in the county of Stirhng ;
who

married, in 1795, Janet, daughter and heiress

of Henry Ritchie, Esq., of the family of Craig-

ton, by Esther Craufurd, representative of the

Craufurds of Balshagray and Scotstoun, a

family possessed of valuable estates in

the counties of Lanark and Renfrew, and

descended from the very ancient house of

Craufurdland, in the county of Ayr. Soon

after his marriage, Samuel Cooper acquired
the barony of Ballindalloch, in the county
of Stirling. He was Lieutenant-Colonel of

• the Western Battalion of Stirhngshire
Local MiHtia, and a Deputy-Lieutenant for

that county. He died in 1842. His issue

were—
Janet Craufurd, who married William Wal-

lace, Esq., of Busbie, county of Ayr, and

has issue.

Mary.
Ceciiia, who married Robert Struthers,

Esq., and died in 1841, leaving issue.

WiUiam, born 1801, died the same year.

Henrictta, who married John Crooks, Esq.,

of Levan, county of Renfrew.

Frances, who married Herbert Buchanan,

Esq., son of Herbert Buchanan, Esq., of

Arden, county of Dumbarton, and died

in 1 843, leaving issue.
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Anne, who married George Ross Wilsone,

Esq., late of Benmore, in the county of

Argyle, and has issue.

William, of whom afterwards.

Ellinor, who man-ied Thomas Gray Scott,

Esq., W. S., Edinburgh, and has issue.

Esther-Ritchie, who married Alexander

Graham Dunlop, Esq., younger, of Gair-

braid, county of Dumbarton, and died in

1844, leaving one son, who died the same

year.

Henry-Ritchie, of Ballindalloch, who mar-

ried Mai-y Jane, daughter of Gerald

Butler, Esq., of the county of Wexford,
and has issue.

WiLLiAM CooPER, of Failford, and of Sols-

girth, county of Dumbarton, the eldest survi-

ving son, succeeded his father. He married,

in 1835, Isabella, daughter of Robert Clarke,

Esq., of Comrie Castle, in the county of Perth;
but by her, who diedin 1841, he had noissue.

He married, secondly, in 1845, Margaret,
eldest daughter of the Rev. Dr. Hill, Professor

of Divinity in the University of Glasgow, by

Margaret, only daughter of Major Crawfurd,
of Newfield, county of Ayr, and has issue,

W^illiam-Samuel.

Margaret-Crawfurd.
Janet-Ritchie.

Alexander-Hill.

The family of Cooper, of Failford, is

descended, by several difFerent lines, from the

Royal Family of Scotland
; and, consequently,

from that of England. They represent the

family of Craufurd of Balshagray, as also one

of the co-heiresses of Fletcher of Cranstown,
in Mid-Lothian ;

the other co-heiress being re-

presented by the Earl of Stair.

Jrms.—The arms of this f;imily have been several

times recorded in the Lyon Register. They are, quarterly,

fii-st, argent, on a bend engrailed between two lions ram-

pant, gules, three crescents of the field, all within a bor-

dure cheque argent and azure, for Cooper. Seconl and
third quartered, first and fourth, argent on a chief, gules,

three lions' heads erased of the first, all within a bordure

ermine for Ritchie ; second and third, gules, a fess er-

mine, and in chief a muUet of the last, for Craufurd.

Fourth, argent a chevron, gules, surmoimted of another

ermine betwixt three laurel slips vert., all within a bor-

dure cheque as the former, for Coupee, or Cowper.
Crests.—On the dexter side, issuant out of a wreath

argent and gules, a dexter hand holding a garland of

laurel, both proper, and over the same, this motto,
" Vir-

tute ;" and on the sinister, upon a wreath argent and

azure, an oak tree, with a branch borne down by a

weigbt, both proper ; and over the same, this motto,
"
Resurgo."

E D W A R D S,

Of Hardingham Hall, co. Norfolk, as borne

by the late Rev. John Edwards, of that

place, who left Hardingham Hall and estate to

his widow, Lucy, youngest daughter of the

late Robert Marsham, Esq., of Stratton

Strawless, co. Norfolk, {'or her life, and after-

wards to his eldest son, Henry William B.

Edwards, Esq.

Arms.—Qnarterly Ist and 4th argt. on a fesse between
three martlets sa., a cinquefoil or. forEowARDS. 2nd and
3rd per chev. argt and gu ;

a crescent in centre counter-

changed for Ch^vpman, impaling for Marsham ; arg.

crusiiy fitehee sa., a lion passant gu.between twobendlets

az., each charged with three crosslets or.

Cresf.—A martlet sa., charged on the wing, with a

cinquefoil, or.

Motto.—Quid leges sine moribus.

SPOFFORTH OF Y O R K S H I R E.

The family of SpofForth have, for the last

240 years, been settled at the town of Howden,
in Yorkshire, and have been the owners of

considerable property in that Lordship.
RoBERT Spofforth, Esq., of Easthorpe Hall,
near Castle Howard, is still the owner of a

large portion of the estate.

Before the portioning of England amongst
the retainers of the Duke of Normandy, the

Lordship or manor of Spofforth or SpofFord,

(near Wetherby, Yorkshire, )
was held by a

Saxon family of the same name. It is men-
tioned in Domesday that Gamelbar de Spof-
ford held lands there, previous to the time of
that survey, after which, the Percys had a

grant. The present family of SpofForth may
be authentically traced to within a few miles of

the place; and, from the scarcity and singu-

larity of the name, there is no doubt they are

descendants of the foiTner possessors.
In 1265, Nicholas de SpofFord lived in

the neighbourhood, and in 1313, Roger de

SpofFord obtained a pardon from Edward II.

for his participation in the conspiracy of the

Earls of Warwick, Lancaster, and Arundel,
to expel Gaveston, the King'sfavourite. Friar

Walter SpofFord was Prior of Helaugh, in

1320. Thomas SpofFord, or SpofForth, was

made Abbot of St. Mary's, York, June 8th,

1405, was mitred, and had a seat in Parlia-

ment. In 1422, he was elected Bishop of

Rochester ; but, being appointed by the Pope
to the see of Hereford, he accepted the latter,

1422 ;
built the Palace there, and resigned

in 1448, when he returned to his Abbey at

York, where he died,

G
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In Catwick Church, York, is the following

inscription
—" Orate pro anima DoniiniThomse

SpofFord, Abatis Monasterii Beatae Mariae,
Ebor."

After this time, the family became converts,
and John Spofford was many years vicar of

Silkiston, Yorkshire, from wliich he was ejected
in 1663. John, his son, was, with niany of

the old famihes from that part of Yorkshire,

driven, dm-ing the civil wars, to America
;

where, as one ofthe Pilgrim Fathers, he was
the founder of a large and influential family
in Massachussetts, some of them having re-

peatedly represented the coimty in the States

Senate.

After the Restoration, the family property
was in Wistow lordship, Turnhead Hall, and

Barlby manor, Yorkshire : and alliances

were made with the Fawkes', Nixons,

Thornhills, Lacys, Lodges, Listers, &c. They
migrated, subsequently, to Howden, and have
since intermarried with some of most in-

fluential families in the district.

Arms.—Gu. -witlim a bordiire, two chevronels, or.

Crest.—A chess rook gules.
Motto.— Tem-pvLS mese opes.

RoBEET Spofford, or Spofforth, of New-=Maria Meynell, of London.
sam, near Spofforth, Com. Ebor.

Thomas Spofforth, of "Wistow Lordship, ob. 1595.=Lucy, dau. of John Simeon, Esq.

Simeon, of "Wistov and Selby,=Mai7, dau. of W. Pahner, John Spofford, Clerk, Vicar of Silkiston,

Com. Ebor., b. 1583, ob. 1G70. Esq. or Silkstone, Yorkshire, b. 1580, ob. 1668.

I

John, temp. Charles I., emiprated with=Elizabetl«.

twenty N onconformist Yorkshire faniilies,

Robert, ofTurnHeadHouse,=EUen, dau. of Roger Lacy,
one of the Pilgrim Fathers, and founder

near Selby, b. 1618, ob. 1663.
| Esq., of Barlby, Yorkshire. of a numerous and mfluential family in

Massachussetts, U.S.

Eobert, of Turn Head, 6.=Alice, dau.of— Fa-svkes, Esq.,
1638, ob. 1701.

I
of Leeds, Yorkshii-e.

Kobert, of Turn Head and=A daughter of E. MaskeU, of

Howden, b. 1668, ob. 1728. I Portington, Yorkshire.

Ilobert,ofTurnHead,Barlby,_lst, Ann, dau. of Ralph Lodge, Esq., of Leeds, and Barlby, Yorkshire, ob. V2Ss.p.
andHowden, b. 1705, ofi,1778. I 2nd, Ann, dau. and co-heiress of Ralph Nixon, Esq., of Howden, b. 1706, ob. 1749.

Robcrt, of How-= Ann, dau. of Edward, b. = Clara, dau. of Ralph Grin-

den, b. 1740, ob.

1827,

Thomas Mark- 1749, o6. 1816, Ralph Nixon. ston, o6. 1759,

ham, of the s.p. s.p.

Manor, Howden.

Clara, — Bell, Esq.,
of Selby.

Robert, of How-=Anne, dau. and co- Ralph, Vicar of =EUzabeth, dau.

den, b. 1768, ob.

1830.

heiress of — Tur- Howden and East- of Blencowe
nell or Thornhill, rington^and Rector Dunn,of KeacUey
of Howden, and of Cowthorpe, and Howden,
TickhUl, Notts, Yorkshire, i. 1771, Esq.

Esq. ob. 1824.

Anne. =William Scholfield,
of Sand Hall,York-

shire, Esq.

EUza-
beth,
ob.

1851.

- John Alice,o6.=JamesStovin Samuel, =Anne, dau. Mary.= Joseph Helen.
Dixon, of 1851. Lister,of b. 1784. of Thomas Haworth,
London, Hurst Priory, Richard- of HuU,
banker. Lincolnshire, son, of merchant.

and Onsfleet Enthorpe,
Grange, Yorkshire.

Yorkshire,
Esq.

Robcrt Spofforth, Esq., of Easthorpellall, Malton, Yorkshire, 6.=Sarah Anne, dau. of Robert Jefferson, Esq. (Capt.
1804. I R. H. Guards, Blue.)

Robert Jefferson Spofforth, 59th Regt. (eldest son.)
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W A L D I E,

Of Hendersyde Park, co, Roxburgh.
JoHN Waldie, Esq., of Hendersyde Park,

co. Roxburgh, and of Kingswood, co. North-

umberland, justice of the peace and Deputy-
Lieutenant for both shires, lineally derived

from John WaUho or Waldoe, Esq., of Kelso,
co. Roxburgh, living in 1579. (See Burke's
Lmided Genfry.) Bears his paternal arms

quartered with those of Ormston, as the re-

presentative of the families of Waldie and

Ormston, of the county of Roxburgh.

Arms.—Ist and 4th, or. a bend between three leopards,
faees azure, for Waldik, 2nd and 3rd arg. three peli-

cans, gules, -within a bordure wavy vert. for Ormston.
Crent.—A dove and olive branch, all pp. for Waldie.

2nd., an anchor pp., sunnounted with the words,
" Fe-

licior quo certior," for OaMSTON.
Motto.—'' FideUs."

B E N S O N,

Of Utterby House, co. Lincoln. This family,

originally resident in Yorkshire, was a near
branch of that from which Robert Benson,
Lord Bingley

—who was born 25 th March,
167G, and d. 9th April, 1731, descended

;

George Benson, (first cousin of his Lord-

ship,) b. 1662, tn. 23rd Oct., 1692, Ann
Couhon, and d. 5th April, 1738

; being then
Lord Mayor of York ; by her he hadissue :

—
I. John, b. 2nd Oct., 1693, and d. unm., 2nd

March, 1754.
II. George, b. 13th June, 1695, and d. unm.
III. Ann, b. 4th Nov., 1697; m. 9th May,

1721, Christopher Coulton, ofYork.
IV. Richard, b. 9th May, 1700, d. 8th July,

1701.

V. Jane, b. 13th July, 1701; d. unm., 23rd

Sept., 1748.

VI. Robert, b. 12th Dec, 1703; ^.19th Dec,
1703.

VII. Frances, b. 20th Jan., 1705
;
d. unm. 25th

Jan., 1777.

VIII. Dorothy, b. Ist Jan., 1707
;
d. 20th Feb.,

1707.
IX. Robert, b. at York, 14th Jan., 1708, m.

firstly, 6th Jan., 1742, Elizabeth, daughter
of Isaac Handcock, of Leeds, goldsmith,
and by her (who d. 24th Nov., 1743,) had

issue, one son, John, who died the same

day.
He TH.secondly, 27th June, 1754, Mary,

b. Ist April, 1721, daughter of Mr. Thomas
Bridges,of Leeds, and by her (who d. 22nd

Dec, 1816,) had issue :
—

1* Robert, b. at Leeds, llth May, 1755;
A.M. of Christ's College, Cambridge ;

and for thirty-seven years patron and vicar

of Heckington, co. Lincoln
;
m. 8th Dec,

1778, Lucinda, only daughter of Matthew
Fretwell, Esq., of Snaith, co. York, and
had issue—

1 Lucinda Maria, b. 23rd Dec, 1779;
d. imm. 21st Jan., 1816.

2 Robert-Haggard, b. 29th Nov., 1782;

formerly of University College, Oxford,
who d. s.j).,

2nd Feb., 1829.

3 Harriett-Frances, 6. 12th Jan., 1787, m.

27th July, 1820, John Skipworth, of

York, soUcitor
;
and has issue :

—
Harriett Mary, b. llth May, 1821.

Lavinia, b. in 1823; vi. 17th Oct.,

1847, Rev. WilUam George, only
son of Lieut.-CoL Jervis, of Barley

HaU, Herts, and has issue.

George, b. 17th July, 1825, Lieut.

41st Regiment.
4 Henry Bristowe, present representa-

tive of the family, A.M., a magistrate
for Lincolnshire, andlateVicar of Heck-

ington; b. 9thAug., 1793, m. 15th Oct.,

1829, Mary Catherine, only child of the

late Sapsford Harrokl, Esq., of Utterby
House, co. LincoUi.

2* John, Son of Robert and Mary, b. at

Leeds, 22nd Jime, 1756, m. 3rd Aug.,
1780, Martha, daughter of Paul Tate,

Esq., of Gauber HaU, co. York, and
had issue :

—
Robert Michael, Mary Ann, James,

Martha, WiUiam, John, Thomas,
and Richard.

3* Thomas, Son of Robert and Mary, h.

at Leeds, llth Nov., 1757, was one of the

Hon. Band of Gentlemen Pensioners.

He d. unm. 9th AprU, 1794, being ac-

cidentaUy drowned, in atteinpting to ride

through the stream caused, near the

Castle miUs, York, from the unusual swell

of the rivers Ouse and Foss.

x. Mary, b. 18th June, 1710; m. the Rev.
Philemon Marsh,Rectorof St.Martin's-cum-

Gregory, York, and had issue, one daughter,
who died an infant.

Arms.—Arg-. three trefoils sa. between two bendlets.

gu. An EscuTCHEON of PRErENCE for Hakrold.
Crest.—A bear's head erased, arg., muzzled, gu.
Jl/oi*o.—luconcussa Virtus.
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CARMICHAEL, OF CARSPHERNE,

A family of considerable note in Ayrshire, in temp. James II. of Scotland, is now repre-
the 15tli century, which by the marriage of sented by John Ross Coulthart, of Coulthart,

Anne, daughter and co-heiress of the last Sir co. Wigtown ; Collyn, co. Dumfries
;
and

Richard Carmichael, of Carspherne, to Sir Croft House, Ashton-under-Lyne, co. Lan-

Roger de Coulthart, Kt., chief of the name, caster, banker.

Hector de Carmichael grants by charter certain lands called " Craighead," to Jorworth de Boyce, A.D. 1141.

Hector de Carmichael, the son, conflrms the grant of lands to Jorworth de Boyce.

David de Carmichael seems to have been largely engaged in fisheries on the Ayrshire coast, and paid one Duffus
sixteen marks for repairing sundry boats employed in the enterprise.

Hector de Carmichael.

Walter de Carmichael.

T

Maud, (Ist wife) dau. of the=David de Carmichael.=Margaret, (2nd wife) dau. of Sir James Douglas.
Laird of Crombie.

Robert, {unm.) killed at the battle
of Inverary, ncar Aberdeen,

whilst fighting under King Kobert
the Bruce, against Edward II.,

King of England, and the Cumin
party.

Hector de Carmichael,=Agnes, dau. of the
second son and heir. I Laird of Heirriggs.

Walter de Car-=Helen, daii.of

, N I I

Margaret, Agnes,
Maud, Hclen, d. s.p.

miehael,?. tohis
brother Hector,
and d. aged 98.

Sir James Carmichael, designated "of
Carspherne," in a wadset, or mort-
gage, bearing date, Martinmas, 1379.
He was a man of distinguished mili-

tai-y skill and bravery, andwithother
marks of royal favour, received from
King Robert II. the honour of

knighthood, for the courage and in-

trepidity he displayed at the battle of

Otterburn, 5th August, 1388.

Rachel, dau. of

Ramsay of
Dalhousie.

WilUam, m. Anne,
sister of the Rev.
Canon Lawson, of
St. Giles' Church,

Edinburgh.

Maud, m. the Laird
of Hepbum.

Sir John
Stewart, of

Dalswinton.

Alice, m. Sir

Riehard
Keith,

ancestor of
the Earl
Marischal.

Sir Richard Carmichael, of Carspherne, the lOth, and last recorded==Anne, dau. of Sir Divid Chancellor, of

heir-male possessor. Marriage covenants dated Easter Monday, Quodquam.
A.D. 1419.

Anne, dau. and coheiress. Marriage=Sir Roger de Coulthart, Kt., chief of the name,
Bettlements executed on St. Oswald's

day, A.D. 1447.

the direct lineal ancestor of John Ross Coult-

hart, Esq., of Croft House, Ashton-under-

Lyne, co. Lancaster. (See that Pedigree.)

Rachel, m. Gilbert, younger
son of Sir James Douglas, of

Loudon, aneestor of the

Earls of Morton.

Arms.—Ar. a bend cottised potentee, sa., charged with
a tilting spear of the first.

Crest.—A dexter haud and arm in armour, brandish-

ing a tilting spear, ppr.
Motto.—Toujours prest.

(See Illustration, Pl. iv.)

CAMPBELL,
Of Colgrain, co. Dumbarton

;
as borne by

CoLiN Campbell, Esq., of Colo;rain, third son
of John Campbell, Esq., of Morreston, co,

Lanark, who was third son of Alexander
Campbell, captain in the old " Black Watch,

' '

of the family of Kinloch, Perthshire, descended
from Sir John Campbell, of Lawers, who was
raised to the peerage, in 1633, by the title of

Baron Farringham and Mauchline, and became
ancestor of the Earls of Loudon.

Arms.—Gyronny of eight or. and sa. in chief a mullet

counterchanged ;
all within a bordure embattled az.,

eharged witli eight buckles of the Ist.

Cresi.—A boar's head erect, and erased or, armed and

langued arg.

Motto.—Fa.c et spera.
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DU BOULAY,

Of Donhead Hall, co. Wilts, as borne by
JoHN Du BouLAY, Esq., of Donhead Hall.

Francois Houssemayne Du Bou-=Ma(ille.

lay (son of the Marquis D^Argen-
5on of Le Boulay, in France), a

Huguenot : left France at the re-

vocation of the edict of Nantes in

1685, and took refuge in Holland.

de Vysme.

Benjamin Francis Houssemayne= Louisa La Motte.
Du Boulay, Minister of the French
Protestant Chapel in Thread-

needle-street, London ;
d. in 1765,

and was iuterred in the French
Protestant Church at Southamp-

ton.

Francis Houssemayne=Marianne, dau. of A.
Du Boulay, only son,

d. in 1818.
Paris, Esq., of Wan-

stead.

Two
daus.

Four JoHN DuBouLAY,Esq.,=Mary Farr, b. 6

fifthson, now of Don-
head Hall, Wilts, b.

24 June, 1811, m.
Feb. 17, 1841.

June, 1821,

youngest dau. of
the Kev. H. F.
Yeatman of Stock

House, Dorset.

Three
daus.

Arthur Housse- Bertha-Dalbiac, b. Emest deVysme,
mayne, 6. 11 31 July, 1848. b. 7 Oct., 1852.

March, 1843.

Arms,—Arg. a fesse wavy gu.

Cresl.—Out of a ducal coronet, a dog'8 head, coUared.

Motlo.—Semper fidele.

TROYTE-BULLOCK,

Of North Coker House, co. Somerset, asborne

by George Troyte-Bullock, Esq., who
assumed the additional surname of Troyte
in 1852.

Cicely Wrothe, _ Ist husband, _ 2nd husband,
dau. and heir of

Sir Thomas
Wrothe, Bart.

SirHugh Acland,
Bart.

The Rev. Thomas
Troyte, vi. in 1729.

Arthur Acland, Klizabeth, dau. of
third son, of

Fairfteld, d.

about 1771.

Wm. Oxenliam,
of Oxenham.

VVilliam Troyte,
m. Arundel Berke-

ley.

Elizabeth Ac-

land, seconddau.
_ Charles Grove,
"M.D., of Salis-

bury.

The Rev. Edward
Berkeley Troyte,
LL.D., d. 1852.

1 Wil-
liam

Chafyn
Grove,

of Zeals,
Wilts.

I I

2. Charles,
Preben-

dary of

Sarum,
and Rector

ofOdstock,
WUts.

3. Harry-
Thomas.

Maria
Grove.

George
Bullock,
Esq., of
Aorth
Coker

House, co.

Somerset.

Frances-

Harriet,
m. her

cousin,
WiUiam
Grove,
Esq., of
Ferne
House,
Wilts.

George Teoyte-Bullock, Esq.

Arms.—Quarterly, Ist and 4th, BuIIock—Gules on a
cheveron between three bulls' heads cabossed arg. armed
or., another];cheveron erm. charged with as many annu-
lets az. 2nd and 3rd, Troyte—or., an eagle displayed
with two heads ppr., within a bordure invected erm.,
for distinction in chief a cross pattee sable.

Crest of BuLLOCK.—On a mount vert. five black bills

erect, banded with a wreath of olive ppr., therefrom

pendant an escutcheon az., charged with a cross crosslet
or.

Crest of Troyte.—An eagle's wing, sable, charged
with five estoiles or., environed with a snake ppr., the

wing charged for distinction with a cross pattee gold.
Motto.—Nil conscire sibi.

ROSS,

Of Dalton, co. Dumfries, as bome by George
Ross of that place, and of Ross House, near

Newport, co. Salop, Esq., fourth son of the

late John Ross, Esq., of HaUfax, co. York,

by Anne, his wife, relict of the late Charles

Warner, captain R.N., and dau. of John

Walker, Esq., of Knaresborough, co. York.—
(See Burke's Landed Gentry.)

Sir John Ross, of Halkbead, one of the conservators of a treaty between Scotland and England, 20th September, 1484,
was ennobled by the title of Lord Ross, of Halkhead, co. Renfrew. He left a son,

John, second Lord Ross, of Halkhead, killed at Flodden, =Christian, dau. of Archibald Edmonstone of Duntreath.
9th September, 1513. 1

Ninian, Third Lord Ross,=Lady Janet Stewart, Randolph Ross of=Anne, dau. of

who m. secondly, Eliza-

beth, dau. of WiUiam,
Lord Ruthven.

third dau. of John,
Earl of Lennox.

Rosshill, 00. Ayr,
killed at Pinkie, in

1547.

Lindsay of

Crawford.

Agnes, m. in 1520, John

Boyle, of Kelburn, ances-
tor of the Earls of

Glasgow.
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I

James, fourthl-ord Ross,=Jean, dau. of Robert, Patriek Ross, of=Frances, dau. of John
died in 1581. tliird Lord Sempill. Eosshill, died in

1586.
Hallyburton, of

Dirlton.

c

I 1 I
I

I

Andrew, William,
Grace, Anne,

Agnes.

Robert, fifth Lord Ross,=Jean, dau. of Hamilton,
died in 1595. of Raploch.

Sir William Ross,
of Muiriston,
whose son,

William Ross, of =

Rosshill, d. in
1614.

James, sixth Lord Ross,=Margaret, dau.oftheflrstLord
died in 1633. 1 Scott, of Buccleuch.

James, scventh Lord

Ross, d. unm. in

1636.

William, eighth
Lord Koss, d.

untn. in 1640.

Robert, ninth
Lord Ross, d.

unm. 1643.

Patrick Ross, who suffered^
a long- imprisonment

under the Commouwealth.

ss, orNinianRoss, of Rosshill,:

accompanied King James
to France, and d. 1646.

=Margaret, dau. of

Fotheringhame, of
Powis.

'Anne, dau. of Sir

Jolm McKenzie, of
Farbate.

Elizabeth, dau. of
Sir John Allardice.

of Allardice.

William, tenth Lord Ross,
d. in 1656.

:Helen, dau. of George,
Lord Forrester.

first

Ninian Ross, of Rosshill,=Matilda, dau. of

George, eleventh Lord Ross,=Grizel, dau. of George, flrst Earl of

d. in 1682. I Dundonald.

William,
'

twelfth Lord=Agnes, dau. of Sir John Wilkie.

Ross, d. va. 1738. I of Fouldean.

b. 1641, entered the army
in 1663, purchased the

lands of Keir, in Nithsdale,
from Kichard Boyd, of

Blackwood, in 1671, and
alienated the estate of
Rosshill to Meldriun of

Craigford, in 1676. He d.

12 Oct., 1732.

Fatrley of Brade,
whose marriage-
settlement bears

date, 9 June, 1671,
and whose death

occurred, 20thNov.,
1699.

George, thirteenth Lord Ross, d. 17th June,=Elizabeth Kerr, dau. John Ross, Esq., of Keir,=Helen, dau. of An.

1754, of William, second

Warquis of Lotliian.

co. Diunfries, d. in 1763.

William, fourteenth Lord Ross, d. nnm.
19th August, 1754, the title beconiing

extinct, and the estates devolving
chietly on his sisters.

Jane, m. 28 July, 1755, John
Mac Kye, of Palgowan.

Elizabeth, m. llth June, 1755,

John, tliird Earl of Glasgow.
Mary d. unmarried, 22 Oct. 1762.

di-ew Galloway,
Esq., of Perth.

John Ross, Esq. of^Margaret, dau. of

Dalton, co. Dum- Alexander Glen-

fries, d. 6th June, dinning, Esq., of

1813. the Isle.

John Ross of=Anne, reUct

Dalton, co,

Diuiifries,
and of

Halifax, co.

York, d. in

1829.

of Charles

Warner,
Captain

R.N., and
dau. of John
Walker,
E.sq., of

Knaresboro.

William of

Hightae,
m. Anne,
dau. of
John

Lindsay,
Esq., and
Icft issue,

Joseph,
Susannah,
and Mary.

Alexander of

Captaintown
m. Janet,

dau. of John
Reid, Esq.,
of Hoddom,
and has

issue, John,
Margaret,
Catherine,

Jessie,

Mary,
Nancy,

Joseph of

Halifax,
d. 5th

April,
1850,

leaving,

by EUza-
beth, his

wife,

Anne,
Mary,

Margaret,
and Helen.

Agnes. m.
Thomas

Hewitson,
Esq., of

Bolton, co.

Cvmiber-

land, and
has issue,

Joseph,
Alexander,

Thomas,
William,
Mary,

Margaret.

Helen, m.
AVilliam

Coulthart,
of Coult-
hart and
CoUjTi,

Esq., cliief

of his

name, and
has issue,
John Ross,
a banker at
Ashton-
under-

Lyne, and
Margaret,
wife of
James

McGuffie,
Esq.

Mary m. to

WiUiam
Brockey,
Esq., of
MiUer's

Bridge, co.

Dumfries.

Margaret, m,

William
Irving, E.sq-,

andhas issue,

John, Chiis-

topher,
William,
Benjamin,
Joseph,
Mary,
Jessie.

John Ross, who d. s.p.
in the Ufe-timc of his

father.

Alexandcr Glendinning Joseph Ross,
Ross, who d. in 1838, who d. s.p.
without leaving malej at Liverpool,

issue. in 1837.

George Koss, ofRoss
House, co. Saloi), s. to

the estates and repre-
sentation of the

Rosses, of Dalton,
Uth Junc, 1838.

WiUiam Henry
Ross, of the

Admlralty, m.
Waria, dau. of
the Rev. O.

Koberts, A.M.

Margaret,
d. 1823.

Anne,
d. 1817.

Mary,
d. 1847.

Arms.-~Gu., three water-bougcts, ar.

Cresl.—A hawk'3 head, coiiped, ppr.

Motto.^Think on.

(See lUuitration, Pl. iv.)
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MURRAY OF CARDONE.

Adam Murray, the first of Cardone, was a

younger son of William Mun-ay of Stanhope,
and Romano, by Elizabeth, daughter of John

Howeson, of Braehead, (seeBuRKE's Peerage
and Baronetage, and Y)ovg'la.s's Baronage of
Scotland.) Mention of Adam's lands occurs

in a Roll of the free rent of the lands and
tiends within the shire of Tweeddale set down

by the Commissioners of Assessment, Anno
1657, to be the ground of a vakiation de-

duced by them the year aforesaid to " The
Laird of Cardone, Adam Murray, for his

lands of Cardone, Smellhope, and Glenheigh-
ton, rentalled at 800, whereof deducible for the

minister's stipend 100 so rests of fi-ee rent 700."
As appears by an "

Inventory of the writs of

Cardone belonging to Sir James Nasmyth,
20th September, 1785,"these estates descended
to William Murray, son of the aforesaid

Adam, on whose death they came to " Adam
Murray of Cardon, as heir to William Murray
late of Cardon, his father." Adam Murray the

second had two sons, Alexander, who went to

the West Indies, and another who was i-esident

in London. No issue of either is known to

survive. His sister, Christian Murray, was
married to the Rev. John Wallace, minister

of Drummellier, and had a son, John Wal-
lace, as appears by the following extracts

from the "Register of Births, Marriages, and

Deaths, for the parish of Drummelzier, in the

county of Peebles, Scotland,"—"
February

16, 1706, Mr. John Wallace, Minister at

Drummellier, and Christian Murray, lawful

daughter to ye deceased William Murray of

Cardon, now in ye north-west parish Edr.

gave up yr names to be proclaimed in order

to marriage. March fifth they weremarried."

"January 7, 1718, Mr. John Wallace, minister

att Drummelzier, had a son baptized by Mr,
Thomas Simson,minister att Broughton, called

John." "Nov. 21, 1755, Christian Murray,
rehct of the deceased Rev. Mr. John Wallace,
late minister of the Gospel in Drummelzier, a

gentlewoman aged 79 years, was buried."

This son, John Wallace, went in 1742 to

America. After passing a short time at New
Port, Rhode Island, where his name is found

among the members of a society which after-

wards founded the Redwood Library at that

place, he fixed his residence in Philadelphia,
where his name is found as one of the four

Managers of the first City Assembly in 1748;
one of the founders of St. Andrew's Society in

1749, and as a member of the Common Council

of that city from 1755 to 1776. He married,

prior to 1752, Mary, only daughter of Joshua

Maddox, Esq., one of his Majesty's Justices

for the Province of Pennsylvania ;
and died at

his seat, Hope Farm, Somerset County, New
Jersey, 26 Sept., 1783, wherehehadretired on
the breaking out of the American Revohition.

Their son was the Honourable Joshua Maddox
Wallace, of EllersUe and BurHngton, in New
Jersey, Esq., who mai-ried, Aug. 4th, 1773,

Tace, daughter of CoL William Bradford, of

the Army of the United States of 1776; by
whom he had issue, sons, Mr. Joshua Maddox
Wallace, Jun., for many years a distinguished
merchant of Philadelphia, and John Bradford

Wallace, of Philadelphia, Burlington, and

Meadville, Esq., an eminent barrister of

Pennsylvania. The familyofMurray ofCardone
would appear therefore to be represented by
the descendants, now resident in Philadelphia,
of John Wallace, Esq., who went to that

country from DrummelHer on the Tweed, in

1742.—(See Pedigree of Wallace.)

Arms.—Argr. a hunting horn sa. strinp:ed and gamished
gu., on a chief az. three estoiles of the field.

Crtst.—A dove and olive branch ppr.

GORDON, OF SORBIE,

An ancient Scottish family, whose pedigree is

traceable from a period anterior to the 13th

century. It eventuaUy merged into that of

the Coultharts of Coulthart, chiefs of their

name, in 1698, by the marriage of Jean, dau.

and heiress of WiHiam Gordon, Esq.-, the last

male heir of Sorbie, to Richard Coulthart,

Esq., of Coulthart in the co. of Wigtown, and
of Largmore in the Stewartry ofKirkcud-

bright, whose Hneal heir-male representative
is John Ross Coulthart, of Ashton-under-

Lyne, in the county of Lancaster, Esq.,
banker.

Kennethus .=Marcella.

Jorworth, surnamed "
Longfoot."=Griseldus.
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Kennethus, killed by a fallover a precipice.=Margaretta, dau. of the Laird of Knock.

Bedolphus, in 1288.=Martha, dau. of Foulis.

Marcus Gordon had a grant of the lands of Mountragget for=Janet, dau. of Ivor.

his bravery at Bannockburn, 24th June, 1314.

Adam Gordon, of Sorbie.=Elizabeth Myeres.

,JWalter Gordon, of Sorbie, Poet and Chronicler.=MiIlicent, dau. of Sir WiUiam Knatchley.

James Gordon,'of Sorbie, m. 12th July, 1406.=Rachel, dau. of Thomas Maltravers.

Robert Gordon, of Sorbie, augmented the size of the family=Beatrice William. Elizabeth.
mansion in 1488. Murhead. Daniel. Janet.

Robert Gordon, of Sorbie, retoured=Helen, dau. of jUan Dundas. Adam, " of Lockhead." Margaret.
to his father in 1478. Isabel.

EUzabeth.

Robert, killed at Flodden, Alan Gordon, of Sorbie,=Anne Pringle. Helen, m. WiUiam Margaret, m. Walter
9th Sept., 1513, s.p. living in 1536. | Findlater. Pitcaim.

Robert Gordon, of Sorbie, purchased, In 1522, the lands of Carsmains,=Mary, dau. of John Forsythe, of Lochmaben,
in Annandale, which were subject to a military tenure of Ward

and ReUef.

I I

John Gordon, of Sorbie, whose—Mary, dau. of John Alan, designated Robert witnesses the Mary.
marriage covenants are dated

lOth Feb., 1564.
Learmouth, of " of Portrack." marriage of his Blanche.

Pitcleuch. brother John.

Richard Gordon, of Sorbie, a man that was much esteemed for his piety and=Mary, dau. of Sir John Riddell (who
learning. He obtained a charter of the lands of Blackmark, in 1G24, and
had a lawsuit in the Court of Session, Edinburgh, with WiUiam BosweU, of

Auchenphad, respecting a feu conti'act.

m. secondly, Robert Fraser, of

that iUi.)

r
WUUam Gordon, of Sorbie, tbe last hoir-male, whose marriage=Anne, reUct of Sir Florence 0'Donogh.

settlements bear date 26th June, 1674.

Jean Gordon, heircss, and last of the house of Gordon of=Richard Coulthart, of Coulthart and Largmore, chief of

Sorbie, 6. 18th Aug., 1675 ; ?». 15th Nov., 1698. the name CoiUthart, Uneal ancestor of John Ross Coult-

hart, of Ashton-under-LjTie, co. Lancaster, banker.

Arms.—^rm. a fesse sa. charged with a spear ar., the Crest.—Ont of a mural crown a boar's head, as in the

polnt to the dexter side, between three boars' heads, arms, all ppr.
erect and erased, of the second. JtfoHo.—Forward and fear not.
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STE P

Formerly of Eastington, and of Little Sodbuvy,
co. Gloiicester.

The faniily of Stephens was seated, iip to

the end of the seventeenth century, in the co.

of Gloucester, where it had been for upwards
of two centuries, in possession of large landed
estates. It sufFered like many other families

during the civil war, and lost the greater part
of its possessions. It was eminently attached

to the royal cause during those eventful times.

The family appears to have separated, one
branch having settled in the co. of Essex,
and the other in the co. of Leicester. Of the

former no member now survives.

Henuy Stephens is the first of the name
that is handed down as a landed proprietor,
in the county of Gloucester. He lived at

Frocester, and was buried in the church of

St. Peter there. He married the daughter and
heir of Edward Lugg, of Herefordshire,

Esq. His will was proved March 6th, 1552.

He had many children, and was succeeded by
his eldest son and heir,

Edward Stephens, who purchased the

Manor of Eastington, in the county of Glou-

cester, of Henry, Lord Staftord, in 1573. He
married Jane, daughter of R. Fowler, of Stone-

house, county of Gloucester, Esq. They died in

1587, and were buried at Eastington, having
had issue three sons and three daughters.
I. RicHARD, eldest son and heir, of Easting-

ton, buried there 1599. Left issue,
II. James, of Eastington, Esq., died, aged 19,

1594.

III. JoHN, of whose descendants we treat.

The third son,
JoHN Stephens, Esq., of Over-Lypiate,

parish of Stroud, county of Gloucester,

Attorney-General to Prince Henry, and

King Charles I., some time Reader of the

Middle Temple, London, died April 26th,
1613, set. 55. Will proved November 24th,
1613. m. Elizabeth, daughter and co-heir

of John Stone, of Over-Lypiate, Esq., and
had issue, with several daughters, three sons.

I. Edward, of Little Sodbury, co. Glouces-

ter, Esq., d. 1670. He m. Anne, daughter
of Sir Thomas Cave, of Stene, co. North-

ampton, Knight, Serjeant-at-Law, and
sister of Ist Lord Crewes, of Stene. They
had issue one son,
Sir Thomas Stephens, of Sodbury, co.

Gloucester, Knight, living 1681, m. Ca-

therine, daughter of W. Combes, Esq.,
of Stratford-upon-Avon.

II. John Stephens, of Over-Lyj^iate, Esq.,
Bencher of the Middle Temple ;

had four

wives
;

he d. and was buried at Stroud,

August 12th, 1679, jet. 76. Left issue.

III. Nathaniel Stephens, of whom presently.
I. Elizabeth Stephens, m. Samuel Cod-

rington, of Dodington, co. Gloucester,

Esq., and had issue.

H EN S,

The third son,
Nathaniel Stephens, of Horton, and

Cheriton, co. Gloucester, Esq., d. 1640, ?et. 30.

he m. Elizabeth, daughter, and eventually sole

heir of Robert Tyringham, of Weston-upon-
Plavell, co. Northampton, and of Barkby, co.

Leicester, Esq., and had issue :

I. Edward, of Alderley, Horton andCheriton,

county of Gloucester, of the Middle Tem-

ple, Barrister-at-Law, bapt. July 25th,

1682, m. Mary, daughter of John Rayns-
ford, of Staverton, co. Northampton, and
of Wolfhamcote, co. Warwick, Esq., elder

brother of Sir Richard Raynsford, Knight,
Lord Chief Justice of the King's Bench.

II. Tyringham, of whom presently.
The second son

Tyringham Stephens, of the Castle, near
the Borough of Leicester, Archdeacon of Lei-

cester, b. and bapt. at St. Martin's Leicester,

May 29th, 1635
;
buried at St. Mary's Cluirch

June 21st, 1710. He m. first, Isabel, fourth

daughter of George Rayson, of the Borough
of Leicester, Esq., but by her (who d. about

1688) hehadno issue. Hejw. secondly, Mili-

cent, daughter of William Inge, of Thorpe Con-

stantine, co. Stafford, Esq. She d. November
23rd, 1731. They had issue six sons and
several daughters.
I. Tyringham, of St. Mary's Leicester, b.

April 30th, 1672, d. June, 1710.

II. Walter, b. February 27th, 1675. d. s.p.
III. Thomas, of whom presently.
IV. Nathaniel, b. 3rd July, 1697, in Holy

Orders, Rector of Alphamstowe, county
Essex, m. May 25th, 1709, Ellis, daughter
of P. Deane, of Harwich, gent. He d. and
was buried at Harwich, Essex, April 28th,
1730. They had issue : Tyringham, Na-

thaniel, Captain R.N., Philip,* Sir, Bart.,
and other issue.

* Issue of Kev. Nathaniel Stephens, b.vEllis, his wife :

I. Tyring-ham, a Commissioner in the Victualling Oftice,
b. March 20th, 1713

; d. unmarried, February 18th,
17G8, and was buried at Harwich.

II. Nathaniel, 6. October ISth, 1721, in the Royal Navy,
Captain of "Livelv ;" d. and buried at Fort St. Dand"'s
East Indies, Marcii 23rd, 1747.

III. Sir Philip Stcpliens, of St. Faith's, and Horsford,
co. Norfollj, and of Fulham, county Middlesex, b. at

Boi-es, county Essex, Octoberllth, 1725; represented
the Borough of Sandwicli in Parliament

; for many
years Secretary to the Admiralty, created a baronet,
by patent, bearing date March 17tli, 1795; one of the
Lords Commissiuners of tlie Admiralty. He d. s.p.,
Ixovember 2Cth, 1809, and was buried atFulham.

I. Ellis, b. February 22, 1709 ;
d. August 4th, 1710.

II. Grace, b. August 5th, 1719, d. unmarried, March
I4th, 1783.

III. Milicent, m. W. Howe, cf Mistley Thorns, co,

Essex, gent., sonof LeonardHowe, of \\ ickham Brook,
co. Suiiblk, Ksq ,

d. 1736, They had issue, five sons and
four daughters.
1, William Howe, Esq., I?.N., Captain

" Montreal"
Frigate ;

6. July olst 1709, d. January 31st, 1765,
buried at Gibraltar.

2, Tyringham Howe, Esq., Post Captain, R.N., 6.

January 22nd, 1748, d.s.n., 17k3.

3, Nathaniel Howe, b. July 6, 1741, d. young.
H
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V. Richard, b. November 2nd, 1684, d. s.p.
1745.

VI. Charles, b. September 12th, 1686, buried

1687, at Leicester.

VII. Jane.

VIII. Milicent, and other daughters.
The third son,
Thomas Stephens, Esq., an ofRcer in the

army, b. Decemher lOth, 1679, m. Hannah,
daughter of Francis Ward, of Leicester, Esq.,
and died January 2nd, 1767, (buried at St.

Martin's, Leicester,) having had issue three
sons and four daughters :

—
I. JoHN, of whom presently.
II. Thnmas, b. July llth, 1710; m. Hannah,

daughter of— Garratt, Esq., and had issue

three sons and four daughters :
—

1. WiUiam.
2. Thomas.
3. Joseph.
1. Mary.
2. Elizaheth, m. T. Lockwood, Esq., and

had issue.

3. Sarah, b. February llth, 1746.
4. Anne, b. February 15th, 1743; m. R.

Kirkwall, of Cosby, co. Leicester, Esq.
III. Francis, b. October 5th, and d. Novem-

ber following, 1712.
I. Elizabeth, b- June llth, 1706; m. —

Meares, Esq., of Leicestcr.
II. Hannah, b. December 9th, 1703; m. J.

Cape, of London, Esq.
III. Mary, b. October 4th, 1706; m. Law-

rence Reade, of Leicester, Esq., and had
issue.

IV. Anne, m. — Baddily, of Dudley, co.

Gloucester, Esq.,
The eldest son,
JoHN Stephens, of St. Martin's, Leicester,

Esq., b. January lOth, baptized February
5th, 1707; m. Elizabeth, daughter of John
Barfoot, of Evington, co. Leicester, Esq. He
died Nov. 15th, 1782, and was buried at St.

Martin's, Leicester. They hadissue four sons
and one daiighter.
I. John, b. Dpcember 12th, 1783; d. March

7th, 1808, .9.;^.

II. Thomas, b. May 14th, 1735
;
m. daugh-

ter of— Dell, of Hull, co, York, Esq. ;
d.

January 29th, 1790,«.^.
III. William, b. October 8th, 1737; d. Feb.

IGth, 1760, s.p.
IV. RicHARD, of whom presently.

4. Philip Howe, of Havant, county Hants, Esq., Cap-
tain of Marines, b. March I8th, 1750, m. Mary Anne,
daughter of — Tongue, of Gibraltar, gent.

5. Stephen Howe, Esq., h. at Harwicli, March I6th,
1751, M.P. for Yarmouth, Colonel of the Huke of
York's and Wcst India Regiments, and lirigacUer-
General of His Mnjesty^s Forces.in the West Indies.
A.D.C. to the King. d. unmarried.

1. Grace, d. young.
2. Grace, rf. 1793.

3. Milicent, m. Thomas Wilkinson, Captain, R.N., d.

onhoard " Pearl" frigate, Fcbruary, 1777. Hadissue,
one son.

4. EUis Cornelia, d. 1792.

i. Sarah, b. Sept. 24th
;
and d. November,

1739.

The fourth son,
RicHARD Stephens, Esq., b. June 28th,

1745, m. Alice, daughter of the Rev. John
Lettice, B.A., Vicar of Boseate, and Rector of

Stoixton, co. Northampton ;
and died August

llth, 1810, having had issue twosonsand five

daughters :
—

i. JoHN, of whom presently.
II. Richard, b. March29th, 1785, educated at

Rugby, and at Brasennose College, Oxford.
Elected Fellow, June 29th, 1810. En-
tered Holy Orders. Ordained deacon, Dec.

23rd, 1810. Vicar of Belgrave-cum-Bir-
stall, co. Leicester. Mai-ried Jan. 7th,

1819, at the British Embassy, Paris, Emily-
Anne, youngest daughter of Monsieur
Henri de Sievrac, of Creuse, near Toulouse,

Departement de la Garonne, France, and
has issue :

—
1. Richard, b. at Belgrave, September 16th,

1824, educated at Eton College, and at

Merton College, Oxford
;

m. at St.

George's, Hanover Square, London, Oct.

31st, 1850, Henrietta, only daughter of

Major-General the Right Hon. Sir Henry
Pottinger, Bart., Governor of the Madras

Presidency, East Indies, and late Her

Majesty's Plenipotentiary in China, and
has issue :

—
1. Henry Pottinger Lygon, 6. September

21st, 1851.

2. Edward Richard Boyle, b. 25th Sep-
tember, 1852.

2. John Lettice, b. March 24th, 1828, d. in

infancy.
3. John-Otter, b. April 26th, 1832, edu-

cated at Winchester College, and at

Brasennose, Oxford.
4. Henry-Euseby, R.N., b. March 24th,

1834; educated at Eton College, and
afterwards entered the navy.

5. Prescot-William, R.N., Midshipman of

H.M.S. Terrible
;

b. December llth,
1835.

1. Alice Maria, b. at Paris
;
m. April 4th,

1839, Rev. Charles Pratt Terrot, Vicar
of Wispington, co. Lincoln, only son of

General Terrot, late of tlie Royal Ar-

tillery, and has issue.

2. Emily, b at Wold, co. Northampton ;

7«. July 15th, 1842, George Vere Lucas,

Esq., secnnd son of tlie Rev. Richard

Lucas, of Edith-Weston Hall, co. Rut-

land, and has issue. Mr. G. V. Lucas,
at his father's decease, took by Royal
licence, the name and arms of Braith-

waite, only in lieu of his patronymic
Lucas, according to the will of the late

Miss Braithwaite, on his succeeding to the

property of Stock Park, co. Lancaster.

3. Eliza.

4. Rosine-Lettice.
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5. Mary-Louisa, b. Jiily 20th, 1829; m.

January 7th, 1852, Thomas Henry Pares,

Esq., eldest son of T. Pai'es, of Hopwell
Hall, co. Derby ;

and of Ulverscroft, and

Kirby Frith House, co. Leicester, Esq.
(See "Burke's Landed Gentry.")

6. Octavia Lettice.

7. Alicia.

8. Agnes Tyringham.
I. EHzabeth, h. October 25th, 177G; m. Sa-

muel Bankait, Esq., and has issue one son.

II. Alice, b. August 12th, 1778; d. February
14th, 1780.

III. Anne, b. June 27th, 1780 ;
m. John Cal-

decott, of Holbrook Grange, co. Warvvick,

Esq. ;
and d. s.p. September 4th, 1845.

(See "Burke's Landed Gentry.")
IV. Maria, b. January 9th, 1782

;
d. yoimg.

V. Alice, b. November llth, 1783; m. Rev.

Henry Greene, of Upton Snodsbury, co.

Worcester, and Rector of All Saints, Bris-

tol, co. Somerset
;
and has issue.

The eldest son of Richard Stephens,
JoHN Stephens, Esq., of St. Martin's,

Leicester, b. May 23rd, 1775
;

m. Maria,

daughter of Walter Ruding, of Westcotes,

co. Leicester, Esq., and dying November,

1823, left issue :—
I. JoHN-RuDiNG, h. 12th July, 1803, edu-

cated at Rugby, m. 14th September, 1843,

Harriett, daughter of the Rev. Rogers

Ruding, late Fellow of Merton College,

Oxford; and d. in September, 1852.

II. RicHARD-RuDiNG, b. Dccember 19th, 1807,

in Holy Orders, educated at Winchester Col-

lege, elected Fellow of New College ; tracing

throvigh the Rudings, Lord Saye and Sele's

family, and others, Founders kin to WilUam
of Wykeham.

I. Elizabeth-Ruding.
II. Sarah-Ruding.
III. Agnes-Alice-Ruding, d. 1842.

IV. Maria-Ruding.
V. Catlierine-Ruding.

Arms.—Per chev. az. ancl or., in chief two falcoiia

volant or. for Stephens ; quartering Lugg and TjTing-
ham.

Crest.—A demi-eagle displayed.
Motto.—Deus inteisit.

HOLE, OF DEVONSHIRE.
The landed property of this family lies

in Cliumleigh parish, but as representa-
tives of the Wykes of North Wyke, they

possess Cocketree, in Devon—a property
which was in the Wykes family from the

time that they mai'ried, in the early part of

the fifteenth century, the heiress of Burnell.

In 1713, John Wykes, of North Wykes, Esq.,

sold his paternal estates to his brothers-in-law,

George Hunt and Robert Hole, who by the

death of this John, and Francis Wykes his

brother, became the representatives of the

ancient family. The Holes bear as their

Arms,-
let or.

-Az. three lozenges arg., in the centre an annu-

K E L S O,

Of Kelsoland, Scotland, descended from Hugo
de Kelso, whose name appears in the Ragman
Roll, anno. 1296. The present male repre-
sentative of this ancient house is Edward
JoHN Francis Kelso, Esq.,

" of Kelsoland,"
of Horkesley Park, Essex, late Captain 72nd

Higlilanders.

Arms—Sa.. a fesse engr. between three gavbs or.

An Escutcheon op Pretence, in right of his wife,
Franees Laetitia Philippa, only child of the late Barring-
TON PuRvis, Esq. : Quarterly I. and IV., az. on a fesse

arg. between three mascles or., as many cinquefoils of

the fiekl ; II. and III. az. a fesse between three dolphins
hauriant arg.

Crest—A garb or.

Supporters—Two lions rampant, gu. each charged on
the shoulder, with a garb, or.

Motto—Above.—Otium cum dignitate.

D OD,

Of Cloverly, co. Salop, as borne by John
Whitehall Dod, Esq., of Cloverly, M.P.

Arms.—Arg. a fesse gu. between two cottises wavy sa.

Quarterings :
—

II. Cloverly, arg. a chevi-on gu, between three sprigs
of clover ppr. III. Warren, chequy arg. and sa. IV.

Whitehall, or. a fesse ehequy gu. and sa. between three
helmets ppr. V. BR0UGHT0N,erm. alionrampant sa. VI.

WooDTEARE, per pale gu. and sa. semee of fleurs-de-Iis or.
three leopards' faces arg.

Crest.—A serpent vert., issuing from and piercing a
garb.
Motto.—In copia cauta.
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B O T F I E L D,

Of Norton Hall, co. Northampton, and
Decker Hill, co. Salop, (a branch of Botevyle,
of Botevyle, co. Salop,) now represented by
Beriah Botfield, Esq., F.R.S., of Norton

Hall and Decker Hill, Chevalier of the Order
of Albert the Brave, of Saxony; Knight of

the Order of Leopold, of Belgium ;
M.P. for

Ludlow, from 1840 to 1847.

SiR Geopprey Boteville, (mentioned by Matthew Paris) living A.D. 1210.

William Boteville, alias William de Bottefelde, was seated in the parish of Church Stretton, and was one of the

Sub-Foresters of the Forest of Shirlot, co. Salop, A.D. 1255, as appears by the Himdred Rolls of that year.

Hugh Botefeld, Chaplain, had livery and seisin of his
father's lands in Stretton, and paid his relief for the

same, 35 Edw. III., 1361.

Sir John de Bottefelde is recorded as one of the Knights of Shropshire that were at the siege of Carlaverock Castle,
temp. Edward I.

; he was one of the inquest to take the extent of the Manor of Stretton in 1309.

Sibilla, a widow,
34 Edw. III.

Richard Botefeld, recorded as son of Thomas, and nephew and heir of Hugh Botefeld, was living 17 Richard II., 1394,
and 4 Hen. V., 1416, in which last-named year he died.

Thomas Botcfeld, had livery and seisin of=

lands in Stretton, 30 Edward III., 1356.

Thomas Botefelde, in the 4 Henry V., paid his relief, and did fealty for lands in Stretton, of which his father had died

seised, and in the 18 Henry VI., he surrendered lands and tenements in Stretton to the use of

John Botefeld his son, and Joane his wife, and their heirs.

William Botefelde, alias William " de la Inn,"=Alice, named with her l>usband in John Botefelde=Joane, living
son of Thomas Botefelde, died 1 Edw. IV..

1461, aged about 80.

the i-ecords of the W anor of

Stretton, 5 Hen. VI.

18 Hen. VI..

1439-1440.

From this marriage descends the Marquess op
Bath.

18 Uen. VI.

John Botefelde, alias John Botevyle, of Botewle, reeorded by
Randle Hohne (Harl. MS. 1984,"folio 100,) as living 5 and 9

Edw. IV., 1465 and 1469.

William Botevyle, of Botevyle, parish of Church Stretton, co. Salop, recorded by=
Randle Holme, as living in 1504 and 1508, and described by him as son of

John Botevyle.

Jovce, dau. of Jenkyn Sankey,'

of Lebotwood, co. Salop.

Thomas Botevj'le, of Botevyle,=rirst wife, Margaret,=2nd wife, Pcter Botevyle, of

son and heir. dau. of Thos. Faluier,
of Ilughley, co. Salop.

Joan. Lebotwood, co.

Salop.

Richard Botevyle,
of Lebotwood, co.

balop. _

Three
daugh-
ters.

Thomas Botevyle,=Katherine, dau.
of Botevylc, son

and heir.

of Richard
Slade, of Woot-

ton Ilall,

Salop.

WiUiam
Botevyle,

d. s.p.

Peter
Bote-

vj-le,
1623.

John Botevyle,
of Leighton, eo.

Salop. =
Richard Humphry
Bote- Botevyle
^^j-le, of of Frodsley.
Shrews-

bury.

Roger Peter
and and

Richard. Richard.
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Richavd Botevj'le, of Botevyle,=Evetta, dau.

sou andheir, died about 1650.
I ofHcnry
Wood, M.D.,

of West
Coppice.

William Botevyle,=
alias William Bot-

ticld, of Leishton,
1623, died before

SrdMay, 1639.

From this marriage descended the Botevtles of Botevyle.

Franees, first wife,=Anne, second
buried at Leiph- wife, living, a

ton, 8th April, widow,
1632. 3rd May,

1639.

theri]Katherine.

Thomas Botfield, Churchwarden of=Mary, first wife, buried at Mary, seeond wife.

Eaton Constantine, co. Salop, 1665. Leighton, 4th Aug., 1663.
Frances, davi. of William
Botevyle, otherwise Wil-

liam Botfield, baptized at

Leighton, 8th April, 1632 ;

buried there, 20th Dec,
1636.

Kichard Botfleld, of=

Dawley, co. Salop.
Mary, buried at

Dawley, 28th

May, 1735.

Thomas Botfleld, of Dawley, buried=

there 28th May, 1735, from

Madeiey.

=Abigail. Martha, dau. of Thomas
Botfield, baptized at

Leighton, from Eaton
Coustantine, 14th April,

1663.

Richard Botfield,

baptized at Daw-
ley, 26th March,

1683.

Mary, baptized at

Dawley,24th Feb.,
1684-5.

Sarah, baptized at

Dawlev, 29th Jan.,
1687-8.

Mary, baptized
at iJawley, 16th

April, 1689.

Ann, baptized
at Dawley, 30th

Oet, 1691.

Abigail, bap-
tizedatDawley,
10thApril,1693.

Thomas Bodfeld,
baptized at Daw-
ley, 7tli January,

1696.

Beriah Botfield,=

Esq., of Dawley,
born 28th Feb.,
1702-3

;
married

at Madeley, I4th

Feb., 1732-3
;

buried 8thApril,
1754, atDawley.

Margaret,
dau.ofJohn
Adams, and
Ann, his

wife, b.lih.

Oct., 1703.

Agnes
"Botevj'le,"
m. at Made-

ley, 17th

Nov., 1728.

William
Baugh,

of

Dawley.

Thomas Botfield, Esq., of Dawley= Margaret,
and Ditton Stoke, co. Salop, and
Norton Hall, co. Northampton, b.

14th Feb., 1736; w. 29th Sept.,
1761

;
d. SthApril, 1801.

dau. of Wil-
liam Baker,
Gent., of

Bromley, co.

Salop, b. 6th
Dec , 1730

;
d. 5th Nov., 1803.

Kichard, twin
with Sarah, b.

llth June, and
d. 31st July,

1739.

Mary, b. 16th

Dec, 1732;
d. 15th Dec,

1740.

Martha, 6.

14th Feb.,
1736; d.

17th Feb.,
1740.

1,

Thomas Botfleld, Esq.,=
of Hopton Court, co.

Salop, b. 14th Feb.,
1762 ;

m. at Wrexham,
14th Feb., 1800

;
Shcriflf

of Shropshire, in 1818 ;

d. s.p. 17th Jan., 1843.

=Lucy, dau.of
William

SkeIhorne,of
Liverpool, b.

17th June,
1774.

WiIIiamBotfieId,=
Esq., of Decker
HiU, 00. Salop,6.
7th May, 1766,m.
at Donnington,
co. Salop, 14th

Jan., 1794
;

ShorifFof ^hrop-
shire, in 1806

;
d.

s.p. 26th Dec,
1850.

= Lucy, dau.
ofJohnBish-
ton, of Kil-

sall, co.

Salop, b. 8th

Sept., 1770
;

d. 9th Dec,
J851.

Beriah Botfield. Esq.=
of Norton Hall, co.

Northampton, b. 27th

Jiily, 1768
;
?«. at Aston

juxta Birmingham,
20th Julv, 1806 ; d. 27th

April, 1813.

Saran, twin
with Richard,
b. Uth June,
and d. Ilth

Sept., 1739.

Charlotte, dau.
of William

Withering,
M.D., of the

Larches, Edg-
baston, b. 21st

Feb., 1778, d.

20th Oct., 1825.

Beeiah Botfield, Esq., M.A,, F.R.S., F.S.A., of Norton Hall, co. Northampton,
and of Decker Hill, co. Salop, b. 5th March, 1807.

Arms.—Barry of twelve or. and sa.

Crest,—A reiii-deer, statant or.

Motto.—J'ay boime cause.

As borne by Joseph Sandars, Esq.
resident at Taplow House, Bucks.

SANDARS,

now Arms.— Sa.. a chev. erm. between thi-ee bulls' heads
cabossed arg.

Crest.—A demi bull rampant gu. armed or.

Motio.—Nos bos in lingua.
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G R E G O R,

Of Trewarthenick, Cornwall.

Arms.—Erm. a chevron gu. bet^een three partridges
ppr., a chief of the second, thereon two e.scutcheons or.,
each charged -with an eagle di.splayed vert.

Crest.—k Saracen's head, face affrontfie, surmounting
a javelin in bend, all ppr.
Mutto.—Loyal au mort.

L E A T H E S,

Of Dalehead Hall, Cumberland, a very an-
cient family, now represented by Thomas
Leathes Stanger-Leathes, Esq., of Dale-
head Hall,

Arms.—Az. on a bend between three fleurs-de-lis or.
as many muUets gu.

Crest.—A. Iion's head affrontee.
Motto.—Sat cito si sat bene.

D U P R E,

As borne by James DuPre, Esq., of Wilton and a lion passant in base arg. from the centre chief

Park Bucks ** ^ P^® issuant of the second.
' *

Crest—A lion rampant arg. resting the dexter hind paw
on a fleur-de-Iis gu.

Arms—Az. a chev, or. between two mullets in chief,

WATLINGTON.
As borne by John Hooper Watlington,
EsQ,, of Reading, who assumed the additional

surname of his maternal ancestors the Wat-

lingtons, in 1852.

Arms—Barry of six argent and sable gutte d'eau, on a
chief of the second, a saltire double parted, and fretty of
the first.

Crest—A demi-lion, ppr., sem6e of spear heads, sable,
holding iu the dexter paw a sword, also proper, and
re.sting the sinister on an escutcheon sable, charged
with a saltire double parted and fretty argent.

The family of Watlington is of very ancient

descent, being lineally descended from Sir

Robert de Watlington, living temp. King
Stephen.

0'NOLAN, OF BALLYKEALY.
The 0'Nolans, who were seated at Bally-

kealy, in the co. of Carlow, from the earliest

periods of Irish history imintemtptedly down to

about the middle of the last century, afford

one of the most curious examples that can be
adduced of remote and conthmous connection
between a family and a territorial possession,
not only in this empire, but perhaps in all

Europe.
The chief of our ancient writers, the national

Records, private mimiments, monumental and
traditional history, all bear testimony to the

origin and pedigree of the 0'Nolans.

Keating, the historian, in tracing the royal

genealogies of Ireland, comes to Conn Ceadh
Chathach,

" the hero of the hundred battles,"
whom he states to have had two brothers.
From EocHAiDH Fionn, one of them, de-
scended 0'Nuallain, otherwise 0'Nolan,
in Leinster. Conn's posterity were kings of

Ireland, and governed in Tara; Eochaidh
Fionn's went into Leinster, at the time when
Chucorb, the son of Modhachorb, was king of
that province.

After quoting some verses, with which he

closes the reign of "Cormac," who was
Eochaidh Fionn's grand nephew, Keating
goes on as follows :

" It may not be improper, in this jjlace,

the better to illustrate this part of the history,
to mention particularly the genealogies of

some of the principal persons concerned in

the government, and in the public administra-

tion of Irish affairs. It must be observed,
therefore, for this purpose, that Feidhlime
Reachtmar had three sons. Their names
were Conn Ceadhchathach, who was known

by the title of " the hero oi the hundred

battles," Eocliaidh Fionn, and Fiachadh

Suidhe, as before mentioned. The posterity
of Conn were kings of Ireland, and governed
in Tara

;
the second brother, whose name was

Eochaidh Fionn, went into Leinster at the

time when Chucorb, the son of Modhachorb,
was king of that province.

"Lavighseach Cean More, the son of

Connall Cearnach, had his education with

the Prince Eochaidh Fionn, and at this tirae

tlie inhabitants of Munster mc: le incursions

into Leinster, and conquered a large portion
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of that province ;
and by the success of their

arms they were in possession of Ossory and

Lavigheis, as far as the top of Maistean.

Cuchorb then reigned in Leinster, and per-

ceiving that the forces of Munster had got

footing in his province, and were not easily
to be expelled by his own strength, he

entreated the assistance of Eochaidh Fionn,
to drive them back into their own territories.

Eochaidh complied with his request, and sent

commissioners to his friends and allies to

attend upon him witli a competent number
of troops to engage in the expedition. His

orders were faithfully obeyed, and he advanced
his companion, Lavighseach Cean More, who
was bi-ed up with him, to be the general of

his forces. Cuchorb put himself at the head
of what men he could engage to follow hhn,
and joined his ally, who thought it proper
that his friend Lavighseach should be Com-
mander-in-Chief of the whole army. Thus

united, they marched towards the Momonians,
or men of Munster, who, apprehending they
should be attacked, prepared to receive them.

The two armies soon engaged, and a bloody
action foUowed, where both sides fought with

great vigour and bravery, and it was difiicult

for some time to jadge which way the victory
would incHne

;
but fortune, after a sharp

dispute, declared in favour of the confederate

army, who broke the ranks of the enemy
with terrible slaughter, and routed them from

the top of Maistean to the river Bearbha. The
battle was fought at a place called Arthrodain,
known now by the name of Athy, situated upon
the river Bearbha, now called Barrow

;
and

the Momonians in this engagement were de-

feated, and the flower of their army lay dead

upon the spot. The Lagenians, or men of

Leinster, animated with this success, piu-sued
the chase

;
and perceiving that a strong body

of the enemy had rallied, and were drawn

up in order at Cainthine, on Maghkiada, now
called Lavighis, that is Laisse, or Laissekiada,
the victors fell upon them with desperate fury,
and put them to flight ;

then pursued them to

Slighe Dhala, now called Bealch Moreossery,
where the forces of Leinster made so dreadful

a slaughter of the Momonians, that they were
forced to desist, for want of enemies to kill

;

which victory resettled the state of that pro-

vince, and so discovuaged the men of ]Mvmster,
that they never attempted to enlarge their

bounds. Cuchorb, being reinstated in his

dominions, by the assistance of Eochaidli

Fionn, out of gratitude, thought himself

obhged to make a recompense for his services,

and therefore he generously bestowed upon
him The Seven FothartKaths, and confirmed

this donation by perpetuating the rights to

his posterity for ever." Keating authenti-

cafes this, by quoting the original extract, in

a marginal note in h-ish character. He con-

tinues,
"
Lavighseach, the general of the con-

federate army, who had his education with

Eochaidh, he rewarded with the Seveii

Lavighises, to be enjoyed by him and his

heirs, &c." * * * " From this instance

of gratitude to Lavighseach, the posterity of

this general took upon themselves the title of

Kings of Leix, or Leise; and the King of

Leinster, &c., obliged himself and his succes-

sors, &c., &c., to make a perpetual acknow-

ledgement to the kings of Leix, in memory of

the servicehe received from Lavighseach, who
restored him to his throne." Here he enu-

merates the tributes, oflices, and privileges, at

the court of the King of Leinster, to be enjoyed

by Lavighseach and his heirs, and then con-

cludes as foUows :
—

" It was observed, above, that Lavighseach
Cean More, the first king of Lavighseach, or

Leix, was brought up, and had his education

with Eochiadh Fionn, (son of Feidhlimidh

Reachtmar) the first king of Fothartuath
;

for which reason it was that the kings of Leix

were obliged to be ready, upon all occasions,
with a competent number of troops, to assist

the king of Fothartuath, upon the first sum-

mons, and this custom was faithfully observed

by the kings of Leix, to the time of Henry
II. King of England."
And English corroborative testimony, we

find, in the very first mention made of the

locality, after the invasion—ample corrobora-

tive proof of its being still the property of the

descendants of Eochaidh Fionn Fuath-airt,

bearing still the same name
; and, with this

additional corroboration, that, as the Irish

nobility had adopted surnames, some century
and a half before the invasion, we now find,

added to its former designation, the surname

adopted by Eochaidh's descendants, thereby

giving additional confirmation to the narrative

of the ancient histories.

Hanmer informs us, that " Hugh de Lacy
built a castle, in Fotheret '

0'Nolan,' for Ray-
mond, and another for Griflin, his brother,

the sons of William Fitz-Gerald."

Here then, is a clear and distinct proof

that, at theearliest period of English acquain-
tance with the locality. it was found to be

possessed by the family, and calledby the name
of the 0'Nolans, and this in an uninterrupted
succession from Eochaidh Fionn Fotheret, for

none but a genuine 0'Nolan, or descendant

of Fionn, could have held property in the dis-

trict prior to the invasion.

Hugh de Lacy was made Lord Deputy, for

the second time, in 11 79, just seven years after

theinvasion, by Henry II.; anditis wellknown
that Raymond le Gros was amongst the most

conspicuous of the expedition first sent by
Strongbow, and was the founder of the Grace

family.

By a curious coincidence, the site of the

castle, built for Raymond, by de Lacy, is con-

tiguous to Ballykealy, and forms the outside
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boundary of Fotheret 0'Nolan, in that diree-

tion. It is called, to this day,
" Castle

Grace," although few of the ruins remain.

Thus commenced the first spoliations of

Fotheret 0'Nolan on this side of the boun-

daiy, (the 0'Nolans had been already driven

in from the other side, viz., the '•

Barony of

Forth," in the county of Wexford, which,

doubtless, formed originally part of the
" Seven Fothartuaths,") ; and, as must natu-

rally be expected, the history of the locality,

for the next couple of centuries, is scarcely

anything but details of conflicts and collisions

between the 0'Nolans (defending themselves,
no doubt, from such encroachments, as that

above referred to, on the part of de Lacy)
and the English adventurers.

The accounts, however, meagre as they are,

of this continued warfare, afFord, at all events,
additional confirmation, that "

Foghird" still

continued to be the recognised "country"
and property of the 0'Nolans.

Camden's 3rd vol. of the " Britannia
"
gives

the following :
—

Mcccxxix. "
Philip Staunton was slain,

and Henry Lord Traherne was treacherously
taken in his own house at Kilbeg, by Richard,
son to Philip 0'Nolan. James Lord Botiller,

Earl of Ormond, burnt Foghird in revenge to

0'Nolan, for his brother Henry's sake." Cox.

Hib. an. p. 109, describes the same circum-

stance thus :
—" Sir Philip Staunton had the

ill luck to be slain by the Irish, and Sir Henry
Traherne, by means of 0'Nolan, was sm-prised
in his own house at Kilbeg ;

but in revenge of

it, the Earl of Ormond burnt Foghird in

0'Nolan's country." . . . He goes on to

say, "The Lord Chief Justice prosecuted the

0'Birnes so eft"ectually, that, after the slaugh-
ter of some of the best of them, they were

forced to submit
;
but the Lord Chief Justice

finding himself too weak to deal with such a

vast number of rebels as were now in arms in

all parts of the kingdom, he invited Maurice

(afterwards Earl of Desmond) to take the

field, and promised him the King's pay.
•Maurice came accordingly, with a very consi-

derable army, and advanced against the

0'Nolans. He routed them, and burnt their

country ;
so that they wcre forced to submit,

and give hostages. Ile did the like to the

0'Morroughs, and took the castle of Leyfrom
the 0'Dempsies. But the Lord Chief Justice

was not able to pay so great an army, beiiig

near 10,000 men, and therefore he was fain

to connive at their extorting coyn and livery,
which now was first practised by the

English," &c.
This is related by Caniden in the following

way—"The samc year John, Lord Darcy,
Chief Justice, and the King's Council in Ire-

land, about the Feast of our Lord's Circum-

cision, commandcd Maurice, Lord Fitz-Tho-

mas of Desmond, to march with his army

against his majesty's enemies, to subdue them ;

adding that the king would take care to defray
the charge he might be at, both for himself

and his army. So that Lord Fitz-Thomas,

accompanied by Briene 0'Brene, came with

an army of 10,000 men, with which he

marched against the 0'Nolanes, and conquered

them, having got a considerable booty, and

wasted their country by fire. The 0'Nolanes

fled : but afterwards delivered hostages, who
were sent to the Castle of Dublin. Hence he

marched against the 0'Morches, who gave

hostages, with a promise of living quietly, and
then to the Castle of Ley, &c., &c."

It is needless to multiply proofs of the con-

tinuous connection between the 0'Nolansand
Fothert.

It is obvious Henry II. received homage
from the 0'Nolans, and confirmed to them

their possessions and "rights," in the same

way as he did to other chieftains and Irish

princes "whom," we are told in several in-

stances,
" he dismissed to ' their terretories,'

laden with royal gifts.
"

In the reign of Richard II., Cox tells us

how [after the landing of the King at Water-

ford]
"
Mowbray, Earl of Nottingham, and

Earl Marshal of England, had received, on

the part of his Majesty, homage and oaths of

fealty from the Irish of Leinster ; by virtue

whereof," he says,
" Gerald 0'Birne, Donald

0'Nolan, Malachias 0'Morrough, Rore Oge
0'More, Arthur 0'Connor, and others, made
their humble submission by an interpreter, in

the open field at Baligory, near Carlow, on

the 16th of February." He says :
"
They

laid aside their girdles, skeins, and caps, and

falling on bended knee, did homage ;
which

being performed, the Marshal gave each ot

them the Osculum Pacis." That "they were

bound in large penalties ; 0'Birne, for in-

stance, in 20,000 marks, and 0'Nolan in

£10,000 sterling."
An Inquisition of 3rd September, lfi37,

finding Caher 0'Nolan the owner of Bally-

Keally from " the King in capite," finds also

" that he died seized thereof, in January,

1592," that is, in the reign of Elizabcth. It

is obvious he could not have received the
"
re-grant

" from her, nor from her prede-

cessor, Mary, as it would then have been

foimd that he "held of the Queen ;" as is the

case in another Inquisition [1632], in which
" Walter 0'Nolan

"
is found seized of Cap-

pagh,
" which he held of Queen Elizabeth by

military service."

Neither is it likely to have been received

from Edward VI. It is therefore clear that

either Caher himself, or his ancestors, must

have had the "
re-grant

"
from Henry VIII.,

or from some of Henry's predecessors.
There is enrolled in the Exchcquer, how-

ever, a grant datcd tlic second year of James L,

which throws light on the various points of
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this subject. It gives incontestible pvoof of

the e;irly and complete recognitionandadinis-
sion of several of these ancient titles, whether

on the grounds of "special writs," consequent

upon submission to the Henrys, the Johns,
the Edwards, and the Richards

;
or in the

shape of the more formal and more recent

"re-grants," by letters patent froni "the king
in capite."

Tliis grant gives away a whole tract of

country, admitting, in the fullest manner, that

it belonged, up to that period, to seven or

eight of the 0'Nolans, whom [with their

respective properties] it describes minutely

by name, as the owners and proprietors
thereof.

The following Inquisitions of Office, copied
from the Rolls in the Chief Remembrancer's

Office, Court of Chancery, Dublin, carry on

the family history :
—

"
Inquisition held at Catherlough, on the

3rd September, 1G27, finds on the oath of a

jury, that Caher 0'Nolan, late of Bally-

kealy, held the lands of Ballykealy of the

King in capite, by Knight's service
;
that he

died 15th January, 1592; thatTeige 0'Nolan
is his son and heir, of full age, and married."

The second is as foUows :
—

"Inquisition held at Catherlough, the 27th

April, 1637, finds that Thadeus, alias Teige
0'Nolan, was possessed of Ballykealy, Bally-

morenan, Bally-my-coU, and Conniger, held

of the King in capite (in the Barony of Ffort

0"Nolan), which he conveyed for certain

uses to Gerald Fitz-Gerald, also possessed
of Gan-enegowne Cloghevannehan, Banoge
Domnoghavane, Bally-ranell, Rathsessin,
Tarrantallon :

"
that " He died 6th January,

1636
;
that Teige 0'Nolan is his son and heir,

and of full age ;
and that Gerald 0'Nolan

was another son of said Teige ;
that they

mortgaged certain of the premises to Pat

Murpliy, of Kilkenny, aldei'man
;
that Daniel

0'Nolan claims part of the lands."

It is obvious that the above inquisition

(1627) found,
" on the oath of a jui-y," that

the then late proprietor of Ballykealy was
Caher (alias Charles) 0'Nolan

;
that he

held it of the king in capite, by knighfs
service

;
and died 15th January, 1592; his

wife's nanie is not known, buthe was succeeded

by his son,
Teige (or Thadeus) 0'Nolan, whomarried

twice, and had by his second wife, Onora

OByrne,
Thadeus (alias Teige) 0'Nolan, who died

without issue, and was succeeded by his brother,

Gerald, whose wife (there are reasons for

believing) was " Joan Fitz-Gerald," and who
had issue, daughters and sons. The eldest of

the latter is supposed to have been named
" Gerald Fitz-Gerald," and another, John

;

but both died young, and Gerald was suc-

ceeded by his youngest son,

Garret, born about 1670, or 1672, vvho

died ISth August, 1746, and had been twice

married. By his first wife, who, it is

believed, was Elinor Warren, he had a

daughter, Elinor, who married Grymes
(or Grinies), Esq., and had issue, the cele-

brated "
Marcus," and other sons.

(Mrs. Grimes succeeded her father Garret,

and was the last of the 0'Nolan family that

had resided, from time immemorial, at Bally-

kealy. She continued down to the purchase
of it by the present owner.

By Garrefs second wife, Anastacia Wall,

daughter of Valentine Wall, he had three

sons. The eldest of them,
JoHN NoLAN, Esq., also married twice, and

died at the age of 91, in 1801, or 1802. By his

first wife, Elizabeth Whelan, sister to James

Whelan, of Laragh House, he had a daughter,

Mary, who m. William MacDarby, Esq., but

had no issue. By his second wife, Mai-y Dela-

hunty, daughter of John Delahunty, of Cherry-

Orchard, (by his wife, Miss Dillon,) he had
several sons, but most of them died young.
The third was—

James Nolan, Esq., h. 1758, who m. 1787,
or 1788, Mary Moore, and d. 3rd July, 1819,

having issue, two daughters and the foUowing
sons, viz. :

—
I. JoHN, b. 1792, ?«. in 1820, Catherine

Walsh, and died in 1824, leaving issue, two
sons and a daughter.

II. Edward, b. 1793, the Right Rev. Dr. Nolan,
R. C. Bishop of Kildare and Leighlin, who

died, universally esteemed and regr"etted,

14th Oct.,' 1837, aged 44. To shew the

high esteem in which his lordship was held

in his native country, the Carlow Quarter
Sessions were adjourned, until the inter-

ment of Dr. Nolan had taken place, both

as a mark of respect to the memory of that

prelate, and on account of the inconvenience

that would arise from the difficulty of pro-

curing jurors.
III. Thomas, of whom presently,
IV. Patrick, b. in 1797, graduated, as M.D,

at Trinity College, Dublin, and died at

Rome in 1841.

V. James, died an infant.

VI. Daniel-Francis-Delany, in holy orders,

. b. June, 1806.

The third, but eldest surviving son, is the

pi-esent
Thomas Nolan, Esq., the senior existing

descendant of the 0'Nolans of Ballykealy, b.

3rd March, 1795, who »;., 20th May, 1828,
Juliana Mary Agnes, youngest daughter of

the late Michael Blount, Esq., of Maple
Durham, co. Oxford, by Catharine, his

second wife, only daughter and heiress of

John Petre, Esq., of Belhouse, Essex, and had
an only child,

Julia Agnes Mary, b. 22nd April, 1829,
died Ist July, 1845.
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Arms — Arij. on a cross betwecn four dasijers, in pale

gu., a lion passant between four mai-tlets of the field.

Crest.—On a mount vert, a falcon arg-.

LEATHAM,

Of the High Hall, Hemsworth, co. Yoik, as

borne by William Henry Leatham, Esq.,
of that place, second son of the late William

Leatham, banker at Wakefield, Pontefract,
and Doncaster, by Miss Walker, his wife,

danghter and heiress of Joshua Walker, M.D.,

on a chief

2nd and 3rd,

.^rms.— Quarterly, Ist. and 4th, arg,
indented az. three plates, for Leatham.
arg. a chev. between three crescents, sa.

Impaling, Guuney, arg. a cross engr. gu.
Crest.—Aii cagle with wings elevated, preying on an

infant, ppr., swaddled az., banded arg.
Motfo.—Virtute vinces-

William Leatham, Esq., of=Miss Walker, daughter
Heath, banker at Wakefield,
Pontefract, and Doncaster,

deceased.

andheir of Joshua Walker,
M.D., and his wLfe, Mary
Arthington, of Leeds.

I

WiLi,iAM HENRTLEATHAM,=Priscilla, daughtcr of Sa-

Esq., of Hensworth Hall,
co. York, J.P. and D.L., b.

6th July, 1815.

muel Gurney, Esq.,
West Ham, Essex.

of

1. Samuel Gurney, 6. December, 1840.
2. William Henry, b. December 1844.
3. Edmund Ernest, b. December, 1847.
4. Charles Alfred, b. September, 1849.
5. Gerald Arthur Buxton, b. April, 1851.
6. Herbert Barclay, b. November, 1852.

B A N K E S,

As borne by the Rev. Frederick Bankes,
M.A., Magdalene Hall, Oxford, of Graham's

Town, Cape of Good Hope, descended from a

branch of the Bankes family, which settled in

Shropshire about one hundred and fifty years

ago : Mr. Bankes derives maternally from

Edward Payne, Esq., of Bexley, co. Kent,

living A.D. 1583,

Arnis.—Az. a cross parted and fretty, between four
fleurs de lis, or., in the centre point a rose arg.
QUARTERING PaYNE.
Crest.—An eagle's head erased or., gorged with a

coUar gemel az. between two wings of the last, crusilly

gold.
ilfo«o.—Follow good and fear not.

E V E R S,

Of York, descended from a branch of the old

baronial family of Eure, or Ever, and now

represented by Richard Evers, Esq., Lord

Mayor of York, whose eldest son, Frederick

EvERs, Esq., is of Trinity College, Oxford.

Arms.—Quarterly or. and gu. ;
over aU on a bend, sa.

three escallops arg.
Crest.—T^vio lions gambs or., supporting an escallop

arg.
Motto.—Fuimus.

M A Y N E,

Of Powis, Clackmaiman.
The surname of Mayne is of great antiquity,

and the Scottish records prove that there were
free barons of the name in the north and south

parts of the country many centuries ago, viz.,

the Maigns of Auclihichry in Aberdeenshire,
the Maynes of Auchterhouse in Forfarshire,
the Maynes of Lochwood in Clydesdale, &c.

The family of which we treat, descended from
the Maynes of Lochwood, were settled near

Stirling, and have been landed proprietors in

that neighbourliood since the commencement
of the fifteenth century.
WiLLiAM MAYNE,living temp.QwQew Mary

and James VL, held in fee, from the Baron of

Tullibodie, the lands of Pile, within a few
miles of Stii-ling, then the chief residence of

the family, in which, as well as in the posses-
sions in Clackmannanshire, he was s. by his

son,

JoHN Mayne, Esq., h. in 1586, who m. Ist,

Catherine Kerr, of the family of Fairneyhirst,
and had with three daus. Margaret, Janet,
and Mary, one son, Joiin, who ?«. Margaret,
sister of Captain Robert Anderson of Glasgow,
and was father of William, Edward, who d.

at Lisbon, and Catlierine, wlfe of JamesBurn,
of

Stirling. He m. 2ndly, Margaret, sister-

gernian of Sir James Hall, of Dunglass ;
and

3rdly, Janet Burn, but had no other children.
He died at the unusually advanced age of

110, in 1G96, and was s. by his grandson,
William Mayne, Esq., who was, by his

brother Edward, put in possession of the lands
of Powis and Logie in 1731. He m. Ist,

Eupham Christie, of Lecropt, and had, with
several daus., three sons, viz.

I. John, a merchant in London and Lisbon,
whose issue is extinct.

II. James, of St. Ninians, whose only dau.
Euphemia 7n. Ist, James Henderson, Esq.
of Westerton

;
and 2ndly, James Alexan-

der, Esq., of Stirling.
111. Edward, of Powis, who m. Janet, dau. of
James Henderson, Esq., of Westerton, by
whom he had (with several daus., one of
of whom m. Alexander Cunningham, of

Capeston) two sons,

James, a major in the army, who ?». Mary,
dau. of Henry Crawford, Esq., and was
father of Helen-EIphinstone Mayne.

Edward, d. unm.
IV. Catherine, m. to James Burn, Esq. of

Galeside.

V. I\L'u-garct, m. to Sir Alexander Cunning-
ham, of Capeston.
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William Mayne m. 2ndly, Helen, dau. of

William Galbvaith, Esq., oftheBalgair family,
and grand-dau. of Sir Philip Musgrave, Bart.,

by whom he had issue,
VI. WiLLiAM, Baron Nlwhaven, of Carrick-

mayne, in the county of Dublin
;
a Baronet

and a Privy Councillor
;
created a peer 1776;

he m. Frances, daugliter and co-heiress

of Joshua, Viscount Allen, and had only
one son, who died young ; consequently liis

honours became extinct at his death, 1794.
VII. Robert, b. in 1724, of Upper Gatton,

Surrey, for many years M. P. for that

borough, m. first, Anne, daughter of John

Knight, of the co. of Gloucester, which

lady d. without issue
; and, secondly, in

1775, Sarah, daughter and co-lieiress of
Francis Otway, Esq., of Lincolnshire, and

by her, who d. March, 1780, left at his

decease in 1783,
1. William, b. 1776, Colonel in the Life

Guards, w. 1805, Elizabeth, daughter
(and co-heiress on the death of her

brother, Sir Simon Taylor, Bart.,) of Sir

John Taylor, Bart., and d. llth Decem-
ber, 1843, leaving issue,
I. Simon William, Captain H. M.'s 40th

Regt., m. in 1829, Cliarlotte, relict of

R. Balland, Esq., and d. 25th Decem-
ber, 1843, leaving issue,

1. WlLLIAM SlMON, h. 1831.
II. John, MajorH. M.'s Ist Royals, m.

25th March, 1829, Mary, daughter of
Sir R. Armstrong, K.C.B., who
d. in 1830 without issue. He m.,

secondly, 19th October, 1841, Lucy,
daughter of the late N. Ives, Esq.,
who d. in 1851, without issue.

III. Charles Frederic, Captain in H. M.'s
61st Regt.,m. in 1839, Eliza, daughter
of the Rev. Mr. Lockwood, and d. s.^J.

IV. Taylor Lambarde, H. M.'s 14th

Light Dragoons.
I. Eliza, m. 6th October, 1830, M. E.

Lnpey, Esq.
II. Sarah Otway, m. 26th September,
Rev. Richard HoUings.

2. Robert, in Holy Orders, M.A., Rector of

Limpsfield, and Deputy-Lieutenant for

co. Surrey, b. February 26th, 1778, m.
June 8th, 1803, Charlotte Cunningham,
youngest daughter of Colonel Graham, of

St. Lawrence House, near Canterbury,
and by her (who died 1827) he left at

his decease, 7th March, 1841,
I. Frederic, b. July 25th, 1804, d. June

27th, 1820, unmarried.
II. Charles Otway, b. September 6th,

1807, M.A., Prebendary of Wells, and
rural Dean and Vicar of Midsomcr
Norton, Somerset, m. in 1833, Emily,
daughter of the late G. R. Smith, Esq.,
M.P., of Selsdon, Surroy, and has

issue,

1. Ashton George, b. Junel5th, 1834.

2. RobertGraham, i. Augustord, 1841.

3. William Otway, b. August llth 1843.

4. Moseley, b. August 9th, 1845.

5. Charles Cunningham, b. August
12th, 1847

1. Emily Charlotte.

2. Catherine Frances.

3. Augusta Anne, d. 1848.

III. George, b. December 29th, 1808, d.

February 9th, 1830, at Meerut, a

Lieutenant in the Bengal Artillery.

IV. Henry Blair, b. August 23rd, 1813,
Student of Christ Church, Oxford,

Barrister-at-Law, aiid one of the

Officers of the House of Commons.
V. William, b. October 28th, 1818, a

Major in the Bengal Army, Honorary
A. D. C. to the Governor-General of

India, and Brigadier commanding H.
H. Nizam's Cavalry ;

m. in 1844, Helen

CunhfFe, eldest daughter of the late

T. R. Davidson, Esq., B.C.S., resident

Nagpore, and had issue,

1. Charles Hardinge Hawtrey, boru

August, 1848.

VI. Robert Graham, b. February 18tli,

1820, H.E.I.Cs Service, m. in 1849,

Eliza, daughter of — Landal, Esq.,
and has issue,

1. Robert-Graham.
2. Richard,

1. Anne.
2. Frances.

3. Mary Charlotte, d. an infant.

4. Charlotte Mary.
5. Frederica Eliza Graham.

3. Frederic, b. in 1779, lost at sea, ofF the

Scilly Islands, in a French gun-brig taken

by H.M.S. Naiad, circa 1799.

4. Charles-Otway, b. 12th March, 1780,
of the manor house, Great Stanmore, a

Captain in H.E.I.C. maritime service,

m., J4th August, 1815, Emma, eldest

daughter of Harry Taylor, Esq., M.C.S.,
and has issue,

I. Otway, b., lOth November, 1816, d.,

8th February, 1820.

II. Henry-Otway, b. llth March, 1819,
in the H.E.I.C. Madras cavalry, ?n.,

12th January, 1850, Mary Ewer,

yovmgest daughter of T. J. Turner,

Esq., B.C.S., and has issue,

1. Grace Otway.
2. Aurea Otway.

III. Frederic-Otway, /). 5th August, 1823,
M.A. of Trin. Coll. Camb., a Chaplaiii
on the H.E.I.Co.'s Bengal establish-

ment, m. 13th Febmary, 1849, Eliz-

abeth Louisa, eldest daughter of the late

Colonel James Blair, Brigadier-Colonel
H.H. Nizain's cavalry, and has issue,

1. Charles Jaiues, b. 20th November,
1849,
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2. Frederic George, b. 7tli October,
1852.

1. Mary Louisa.

IV. Francis Otway, b. 29th September,
1827, in the H.E.I.C. Bengal Civil

Service.

V. Augustus Otway, b. 23rd January,
1829, in the H.E.I.C. Bengal Horse

Artillery.
VI. Jasper Otway, b. 16th July, 1830,

in H.E.I.C. Madras Engineers.
VII. Cliarles Thomas Otway, b. 6th

February, 1835.

I. Emma Otway.
II. Marianne Otway.
III. Helen Otway.

viii. Helen, /«. to John Graham, Esq. of

Kernock.
IX. Barbara, m. to James Duucanson, Esq. of

Glasgow.
X. Isabel, m, to James Duncanson, Esq. of

Inverary.

William Mayne m. 3rdly, Helen, dau. of

the Rev. Mr. Stark, and had by her,

Thomas, of Lisbon, who m. Ist, Miss Clever ;

and 2ndly, Charlotte, dau. of Alexander

Pringle of Whytbank, and had a dau.,
Susan AUan.

Elizabeth, m. to the Rev. Archibald Sinith

of Fintry.

Jean, ?«. to John Brown, of Glasgow, mei-
chant.

Mr. Mayne had by his three wives twenty-
one children, and the cradle is said to have
rocked in his house for tifty years.

Arms.—Matriculated in the Lyon Office, in ICGO, us
descendcd froni IMayne ofLocliwood. Arg. a chev. i;u.

voided of the field, hetween two pheons in chief sa., and
a fleur-de-lis in base, ax., all witliin a bordure wavy of
the last

; quartering Otway, &c.
Crcsi.—A dexter mailed arm erect, hand ppr., hold-

ing a plain cross gu.
iVio«o.—Yirtuti fortuna comes.

M A C K E N Z I E,

Of Clarendon, in the island of Jamaica.
This is a branch of the noble houses of Sea-

forth and Cromarty in Scotland. The first of

the name is said to have been Colin Fitz-

GERALD, descended from Otho, a Baron of

England in the 16th year of Edward the Con-

fessor, who married Nesta, daughter of Rhese,
Prince of South Wales. This Colin Fitz-

gerald was of the family in Ireland, whence

sprang the great houses of Leinster, Des-

mond, &c. He came with a few volunteers

from that kingdom, in 1263, to the assistance

of Alexander III. of Scotland, against Haco,

King of Norway, and behaved so well at the

battle of Largis, in Conyngham, that tlie

king took him into great favoin-, and by his

charter, dated at Kincardine 1266, gave hiin

the barony of Kintail
;
and also, for saving

bis life in a stag-hunt, assigned bim for his coat

annour a golden stag's head, cabossed, on an
azure field.

This Colin Fitzgerald, the first feudal Baron
of Kintail, married a daughter of Walter, Lord

High Steward of Scotland, and dying in 1278,
was succeeded by his son,

Kenneth, second Baron of Kintail, and he
vvas succeeded in 1304, by his son,

Kenneth, third Baron, who, in the Gaelic,
was called Kenneth MacKenneth, after the

Highland fashion, which soon became cor-

rupted into Mackenny or Mackenzie, and
from him descend all the branches of this

great family. He was succeeded by his son,

Kenneth, fourth Baron, and he by a son,

Kenneth, fifth Baron, and he by a son,

MuRDocH, sixth Baron, and he by a son,

Alexander, seveuth Baron, who m. the

Lady Agnes Campbell, and had by her one
son (he afterwards m. Margaret, daughter of

John MacDougal, Lord of Lorn, and had by
her a son, Hector Mackenzie, ancestor of the

Gairloch family),

SirKENNETH,eighthBaron,slain atFlodden,
1513

;
he m. Agnes, only daughter of Hugh,

second Lord Lovat, and had foiir sons. Of
these, the eldest was John, ninth Baron, Privy
Councillor to James V., ancestor of the noble

houses of Seaforth and Cromarty, for whose
further descent see Extinct and Dormant

Peerage ; and the fourth was
Kenneth Mackenzie, of Killichrist, who

obtained a chaiter, from James V., of the

lands of Suddy, datcd 1526
;
he m. Heleii,

daughter of Robert Sooal, of Balumbie, 1539,
and his eldest brother and himself became

parties contractors, whereby, in case of his

decease before her, she was tohave an annuity
of 600 marks per anniuTi : by her he had four

sons, of whom the eldest, Alexander Mac-

kenzie, succeeded his father, and got a

charter, from King James V., of the lands cf

Suddy, in 1571, and was ancestor of the Mac-
kcnzies of Suddy. The second son,

TnoMAs Mackenzie, was of Ord, co. Ross;
he m. Annabella, daughter of Murdoch Mac-

kenzie, of Fairburn, and had issue, Murdoch,
who d. s.j)., and
John Mackenzie, of Ord, who m. Isabel,

daughter of Alexander Cuthbert, of Di-akies,

and had
1. JoHN, of Ord, ancestor of the Ord

branch.

2. Thomas, of Highfleld, ancestor of the

Iliglifield branch.
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3. George, ancestorof the Jamaicabranch.
The third son,
George Mackenzie, m. Janet, daughter

of Mr. Linen, minister of Fairnbee, and had
one son,

Alexander Mackenzie, who joined tlie

Darien expedition, and afterwards returned

and settled in Jamaica, where he acquired
considerable possessions. He was born in

1663, and died 20th Uecember, 17M, having
married Mary, daughter of Arthur Gressel

Jenners, and leaving two sons,
—Arthur, the

younger, and
George Mackenzie, of Clarendon, who

m. Mary Stevens, and by her (who died lOth

Oct., 1798) left two sons and eight daughters.
I. George Mackenzie, of Chu-endon, m. Miss

Israel, and liad issue living in Jamaica.
II. Peter Mackenzie, h. 1754, m. 27th June,

1778, Mary, daugliter and heiress of Ennis

Read, Esq., of Harmony Hall, in Jamaica.
He came and settled in England, at Grove

House, Middlesex, and d. 8th Septeniber,

1807, leaving tliree daughters.
1. MaryStevens, b. 16th December, 1784;

m., 4th June, 1804, Colonel Jolm Byng,
afterwards Earl of StrafFord; and d. 17th

Jime, 1806, leaving one son,

George Stevens Byng, Viscount Enfield.

2. Sarah Mackenzie Mackenzie, h. 14th

August, 1788; ?«. 30th May, 1809,
Frederick Garsham Carmichael, Captain
9th Dragoons.

3. Dorothy Parker, b. 18th June, 1793;
m. 30th May, 1811, Henry Bellairs,

Jjieut. 15tli Hussai-s, who afterwards

took holy orders, and is Rector of

Bedworth, co. Warwick, Rural Dean,
and Honorary Canon of Worcester

( Vide

Bellairs of Kirkby Bellairs).
I. Sarah d. unmarried, 1836.

II. Mary, m. Pliilip Cornish, Esq.. of Teign-
mouth (wliose sister m. John, Lord Teign-
mouth), and had issue, Eliza Rhodes, m.
John Hill, Esq., eldest son of Sir John

Hill, Bart.; and had issue,

Rowland Viscount Hill, and other sons.

Rachel, m. Sir Andrew Corbet, Bart.

Miriam, m. Andrew Corbet, Esq., of Sun-
dorne Castle.

III. Paulina, m. WilHam Hugo, Esq.
IV. Joanna, m. WilUam Bryan, Esq.
V. Anastacia, /«. William Hewitt, Esq.
VI. Rachel Stevens, m. John Tliomas Parker,

Esq., of Bath.

VII. Elizabeth, m. Dr. Airey, M.D.
VIII. Jane, 7n. Rev. James Carington, Chan-

cellor of Exeter.

Arms.—Quarterly Ist, Or. a mountain per pale az. and
g:u. inflamedppr. 2nd, gu. thrce legs arnied, ppr., con-

joincd in the fess point at the iipper part of the tliighs,
flexed in triangles, garnished and sijurred, arg. 3rd, arg.
a stag's head cabossed, or. 4th, arg. on a pale sa. within a
double tressure flory counterflory, gu. an imperial crown,
or.

Crest.—\ sun in splendour.
Motto.—Luceo non uro.

W O R N A C K,

Of Norwich, as borne by, and duly registered
in H.M. CoUege of Arms to, George Wor-
nack, Esq., of Norwich.

Arm,s—(j\x\eii a cross parted and fretty between four
crosses patonce argent.

Crest—A goafs head erased argt. semee of cinquefoils,
and in the mouth a cinquefoil slipped gules.
Motto—Esse quam videri.

TENNYSON D'EYNCOURT.

The Right Hon. Charles Tennyson D'Eyn-
couRT, of Bayons Manor, and Usselby Hall,
both in the co. of Lincohi, long M.P. for

Lambeth, M.A. of Cambridge, F.R.S. and
F.S.A., High Steward of Louth, &c., &c.,

superadded the name and arms of d'Eyncourt
to those of Tennyson, by royal licence, dated
27th July, 1835, in compliance with a con-
dition attached to the enjoyment of certain

manors and estates by a codicil to the will of
his father, George Tennyson, Esq., of Bayons
Manor,

" in order to commemorate his descent
from the ancient and noble family of d'Eyn-
court, Barons dEyncourt of Blankney, and
his i-eprescntation in blood, as co-heir of the

Earls of Scarsdale, Barons d'Eyncom't, of

Sutton."

Arms—Quarterly. First, az., a fesse dancettee between
ten billets, four and six or. for D^Eyncourt. Second,
gu., three leopards' faces or,, jessant fleurs de lis az.,
over all a bend of the last, for Tennyson. Third, arg.,
on a saltire cngr. sa. nine annulcts or., for Leke

( Earl of
Scarsdale and J3aron d'Eyncourt). Eourth, vaire arg.
and az. a fesse gu., for AIarmion. Fifth, barry of slx

arg. and az. a label of three points gu. on each, three
bczants, for Grey. Sixth, az., three cinquefoils or. for
Baudoi-ph.

Crests—Tn-st, for D'Eyncourt, a lion passant, guardant
arg. on the head a crown of fleur de lis or., the
dexter fore paw supporting a shield, charged with the
arms of d'Eynoourt. Second lor Tennyson, a dexter arm
in armour, the hand in a gauntlet or. grasping a broken
tilting spear, entiled witli a garland of laurel, ppr.

Muttnes—" En avant," for D'Eyncourt. " Hil
temerc," for Te.snyson.
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E V A N S,

Of Plasgwyn, Trefeiler and Henblas, co.

Anglesey, now represented by Charles
Henry Evans, Esq., of Plasgwyn, Trefeiler,

and Henblas, descends from the Morgans and

Lloyds of Henblas, and quarters their arms.

David Llwyd, of Henblas, (llth in a direct descent from =Catlieruie, dau. of UicliardOwen, Esq., of Penmyuydd,
Llywarch ap Bran) d. in 1619, a learned linguist. 1 descendcd from Kdnyfed Vychan.

William Lloyd, of Henhlas, Rector of Llanelian.=Ami, dau. of William Cynwric, of Maen y Dryw.

Anne Lloyd, eldest dau. and heiresss.=Eobert Morgan, D.D., Bishop of Bangor, d. 1673, derived

I

from Gwaethvoed, Lord of Cardigan.

William .Morgan, L.L.B., of Henblas, Chaucellor of=Dulcibella, dau. of Henry Jones, Esq., of Plas

Bangor, ti. 15th August, 1713.
|

Llangoed.

Mai-garet Morgan, sister andheir of Henry Morgan, Esq., of=WiUiam Evans, Esq., of Trefeiler, co. Anglesey,
Henblas, Sheriffof Anglesey, 1727. 1 Sherilf, 1733.

Dulcibella Evans, m. Rev, Henry
Kowlunds, of Plasgwyn, grand-

son of the author of " .Mona

Antiqua," and had two sons,

Heury and William.

Charles Evans, Esq., ofTrefeilcr
and Henblas, Sheriff, 1752, d.

15th Scptember, 1H()2
;
m.

Elizabeth, dau. and heir of

Hugh Lewis, Esq. of Pontne-

wydd.

William Evans,
of Glanalow,
00. Anglesey,

his son,

WiUiam, d.s.p.

The Rev. Richard Evans,
Prcbendary of Hereford
and Bangor, and Reetor
of Kingslaud, d. 1797, ;«.

Jane Lloyd, dau. of the

Rev. Kobert Lloyd, of

Cefn. =

Hugh Evans, Esq., of Trefeiler andHenblas,=Elizabeth Jumess.
Sheriff, 1811, d. 20th January, 1831, aged 65.

Edward Evans, Esq. of Eyton=Aniie, dau. and
Hall, co. Hereford, fourth heir of John

son. Weaver, Ksq.,
of Eyton.

Charles IIknry Evans, Esq., of=Henrietta, dau.

Plasgwyn, Trefeiler and Henblas. of John War-
ren, Dean of

Bangor.

Richard Weavcr, Evans, Jane, m. Rev. R. E.

m. EUcn, dau. of Thomas Benyon of CuUbrd
Clutterbuck, Esq., of HaU, Sutfolk.

Bushey, Herts.

1. Hcnry-John.
2. Henrietta-Dulcibella.
3. Charles-Henry.

I

1. llichard.

2. Hcnry-Charles.
3. Edward-Jamcs.

Edward Charles

Evans, m.
Erances M ary,
dau. of Sir John

Peyton, Bart.,
and has issue.

Arms.—Quarterly Ist arg. thrce war saddles two and
one, sa. stirrups or. 2nd. oi, a lion rumpant, rc-

guardant sa. 3rd. arg. a chcv. sa. between three choughs
ppr. cach holding in his bUl an ermine spot ; 4th. sa. a

5th.lion rampant, arg. within a bordure ongr. or.

or. a chev. between three muUets sa. 6th. as first.

Crcsl.—A cubit arm erect, holding in thu hand a torch

inflamed, also erect, all ppr.
Mutto.—Hcb Uduw heb diUm Duw a Digon.

C R E A G H,

Of the co. of Cork, a very ancient family

claiming to be a branch of the "
High Niall"

race, descended froni Eogan, son of Niall,
of tlie Nine Hostuges : some writers and

family tradition accomit for the change of

name from ONiall to Cieagh, as foUows :
—

One of the Princes of thc Hy Niall Dynasty

led his clan from Ulster to the assistance of

Limerick against the Danes, and they being

expelled therefrom through his timely aid,

tlie citizens placed green boughs in the head-

stalls of their deHverers' horses : thence thc

chief was named " 0'Niall na Creavh,
"

signifying,
" 0'Niall of the Green Branch."
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In commemoration of tliis event, the crest of

the family has since been,
" The head of a

War Horse bearing a lam-el branch in the

head-stall of his bridle."

Arms.—Ar. a chev. gu. between three laurel leaves

vert, on a chief az. as many bezants.

Crest.—AhoTse"s head fuUy caparisoned with a laurel

branch on the head-stall of the bridle.

1/oHo.— Virtute et niunine.

C R E A G H,

Of Laurentinnm, co. Cork, descended from

Michael Creagh, Esq., of Laurentinum, sixth

son of John Creagh, Esq., of Kilowen, co.

Cork, by Elinor, his wife, daughter of Colonel

John Barret, of Castlemore. The last Miciiael

Creagh, Esq. of Laurentinum, d. 17th Oct.,

Miohael Crcagh, Esq., of Laurentinum, sixth sonof=Mar
John Creagh, Esq., of Kilowen, co. Cork,

d.llNov., 1781.

1845, leaving, by Sarah Dohson, his wife,

daughter of Sliapland Carew, Esq., of Castle-

boro', 00. Wexford, and aimt of Lord Carew,
an only child, Isabella Carew, ?h. to John

Singleton, Esq., of Quinville, co. Clare.

y, dau. and heir of Arthur Gethin, Esq., whose Royal descent

from King Edward III. is given in Bueke's "
Koyal

Descents."

Arthur Gethin Creagh, Esq., of Laiirentinum,=Isabella, dau. of William Bagwell, Esq., M.P. for

b. in I74G
;
m. in 1770

;
d. 13th May, 1833. 1

Clonmel.

1. Michaei Creagh, Esq.,=Sarah Dobson, dau. of

of Laurentinum, b. in

1771, d. 17 Oct., 1845.
Shapland Carew,Esq.

of Castleboro'.

IsabcUa Carew, only=John Singleton, Esq., of

child of Michael 1 QuinviUe, co. Clare.

Creagh, £sq.

2. The Rev. John Bagwell Creagh,=Gertrude, dau. of

of Bally Andrew, co. Cork, Vicar John Miller,Esq.,

of Carrig, and Rector of Rincurran of Toonaghmore,
in that co., i. in 1772; d. 12 Eeb., co. ClaTe, m. in

1846 1797; d. 11 March
1844.

Thrce

younger
sons and

five

daugh-
ters.

2. John, 6. in 1802, m.
in 1831, Mary, dau. of

St. John Galway, Esq.,
of Mallow, and d. 9

March, 1841, leaving
a son, Arthur Gethin,

b. in 1836.

3. Thomas Miller, an
oiiicer in the Army,

b. in 1803, m. in

1843, Eliza Hewitt,
of Glancoole, co.

Cork.

4. Michacl, b. in 1811, m
24 May, 1843, Louisa-

Emma, dau, of James
Dominick Buvke, Esq.
of Bccan, co. Mayo, and
has John, 6. in 1844,

Michacl-Claj-ton, Ran-
dolph-Gethin, Arthur-

Gethin.

5. Richard Gethin,
b. in 1813, m. in

1842, Isabella Melle-

font, and has John,
and other issue.

1. Ben.iamin
Bousfield.

Three
survi-

ving
daus.

1. Arthttr-Gethin Creagh, Esq., of Bally Andrew, co. Cork,=Mary, only dan. and hoir of JamcsM'Gee, Esq., of

eldest son
;

b. in 1799, m. in 1827, d. 25 Feb., 1849. 1 Carahan, co. Clare.

1. JoHN Bagwell Creagh, Esq., now of 2. Arthur Gethin, 6. 3. Thomas-Miller, 6. 4. Rebecca-Victoria.

Bally Andrew, 6. in 1828. in 1833. in 1833.

Arms, Crest, and MoUo, same as the preceding.

BELL
Of Kii-kby Bellairs, in the co. of Leicester.

This family deduce their orii^in from

Judith, sister of Hugh Lupus, Earl of Chester,

nephew of King William the Conqueror.
Tlais Judith m. Richard de Aquila, and had

issue, Maud de Aquila, m. first to Robert de

Mowbray, Earl of Northumberland, and 2ndly
to Nigel de Albini, youngerbrother of William

de Albini de Pincerna. By this Nigel she

had two sons :
—

1. RoGER MowBRAY, aucestor of the ducal

house of Norfolk.

2. Hamon de Beler, ancestor of the

AIRS,
Bellairs' family. He was Lord of Eye
Kettleby, in Leicestershire, a.d. 1160.

Ralph de Beler, of Eye Kettleby (son of

Hamon) m. Emma, daughter of Sir Walter de

Folvile, of Ashby Folvile, Kt., and had issue,

two sons. The younger, Roger, SherifF of

Lincolnshire, 1256, died 127/. The elder,

WiLLiAM de Beler, of Eyc Kettleby,

living in 1235 and 1273, m. Isabel, daughter
of Sir Robert Dangervile, Kt., and had issue,

two sons, the second, William de Beler, and
the elder,

Hamon de Beler, of Kettleby, living in
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1288, who m. Mabel, daughter of Mansel,
Kt., and had issue, a son,

Hamon de Beler, of Kettleby, who died
in 1304, leaving

SiR Ralph Beler, of Kettleby, who died

before 1345. He married Agatha, daughter
and heiress of Sir Richard Bingham, of Bing-
ham, Kt., and left a son,

SiR Henry Beler, Kt., 1388, who m.

Lettice, daughter and heiress of Walter Prest,
of Melton, and left issue,

SiR James Bellars, of Kirkby Bellars, co.

Leicester, m. Mai-garet, daughter of Richard

Barnard, of Hoftingham, by Ellen, sister of
Sir Philip Limbrey, Kt., and left issue,

JoHN Bellars, Esq., of Kirkby Bellars,

1461, who m. Elizabeth, only daughter and
heiress of Anthony Howby, Esq., and had

issue,

1. Anthony, d. sp.
2. JoHN, of whom presently.
3. Marina, m. Sir Thomas Greene, of

Greenes Norton.
4. Joanna, m. J asper Villiers of Brocklesby.
5. Margaret, Prioress of Langley.
6. Eleanor, m. William Ruskin, of Melton,
The second son,
JoHN Bellars, Esq., of Kirkby Bcllars

and Billesdon, m. Katharine Digby ;
he was

attainted of high treason—and died in 1473.
From him we pass to

JoHN Bellars, Esq., born 8th August,
1629, who m. Esther Greene, and had issue,

1. James, his heir.

2. Tobias Bellars, died 1682.

3. Ann, m. John Goodyer, Esq.
Tlie eklest son,
James Bellars, Esq., of Uffington, co.

Lincoln, and of Billesdon, co. Leicester, born

May, 1680, died in 1744. He m. 1714,
Catherine, daugliter and heiress of John
Lea, of Bracebrough, Esq., (by Catherine,

daughter and heiress of Thomas Foot, of

Ryhall, Esq.,) and by her, who died 21st

January 1757, had issue,

1. James, his heir.

2. Elizabeth, m. William Pank, Esq., of

Wansford, wliose daughter Mary m.
John Mansfield, Esq., M.P. for Leicester.

3. Estlier, born 1716, m. Richard Boar,

Esq., of Maxey.
4. Alice, born 1718, m. William Clark, Esq.,

of Lobthorpe; and was grandmother of

William Stevenson, wlio died in 1844,

leaving his large possessions to the

Bellairs' family.
5. Ann, born 1723, m. J. W. Davie, Esq.,

of Stamford.

The son and heir,
.Tames Bellars, Esq., of Uffington, co.

Lincoln, and of Billesdon, born 5th Sept.,
1720, died 5th Dec, 1799. He married
twice (his second wife was Martha, daughter
of William Barker, Esq., of the family of Sir

Abel Barker, Bart.) : his first wife was Mary,
daughter and heiress of Abel Walford, Esq.,
hy Susanna, daughter and heiress of J.

Venour, Esq., an ancient Warwicksliire

family ; by her he had issue :
—

1. Arel, his heir.

2. John, Captain 46th Regiment.
3. James, Major 12th Reginient.
The elder son.

Arel AValford Bellairs, Esq., (inserted
the letter "I" into tlie name) of Uiiington and
Billesdon, born 8th February, 1755. He was

High Sheriff, co. Rutland, Deputy-Lieutenant
and J. P. for Lincohishire and Nortliampton-
shire; he died23rdApril, \Qm, having married
15th October, 1781, Susanna, only daughter of
Miles Lowley, Esq., of Oakham, and had
issue,

I. James Bellairs, Esq., of Uffington, who as-

sumed by Royal Sign Manual in 1844, the
nanie of Stevenson, in compHance with the
will of Wilham Stevenson, Esq. : born 9th

August, 1782, died 18th August, 1853; he
married 29th January, 1807, EHzabeth
Ann, eldest daughter of Lawrence Peel,

Esq., and niece of Sir Robert Peel, Bart.,
and has issue,

James Peel Bellairs, Esq., born 20th June,

1808, married Maria, daughterof Colonel
Mackenzie.

And othcr issue.

II. George Bellairs, Esq., of Stockerston, born
25th February, 1787 ; marriedMiss Linwood
and has issue,

Stevenson Gilbert Bellairs, in holy orders,

George Clarke, and Dora Mary.
III. Henry Bellairs, born 29th August, 1790,

entered the navy and was wounded at Tra-

falgar, afterwards Lieutenant 15th Hussars,
and subsequently in holy orders : Rector
of Bedworth, co. Warwick, Rural Dean and

Honorary Canon of Worcester; married,
30th May, 1811, Dorothy, daughter and
co-heir (with Mary, wife of John Earl of

Strafford, and Sarah, wife of Captain
Carmichael), of Peter Mackenzie, Esq., of

Grove House, Middlesex, and has issue,
1. Henry-Walford, H. M., Lispector of

Schools, born 14th March, 1812
; married

15th July, 1839, Mary Hannah Albina,

daughter of George Watkin Kenrick,

Esq., of Woore Hall, Salop, by Isabella,

daughter of William ffarington, Esq.,
of Worden, Lancashire, and has issue.

2. William Oswald-Mackenzie, born 22nd

July, 1814.

3. Charles, in holy orders, born 3rd jNIarch,

1818, marriedAnna J\laria, eldestdaughter
of.John Isherwood, Esq., of Marple Hall,

Cheshire, and has issue.

4. Arthur-Heathcote, born 27th September,
1826,

5. George-Byng, born 7th March, 1828.

I. Doi-a-Ennis, ?«. Reginald Simpson Gra-
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ham, Esq. Both accidentally drowned,
1845.

2. Mary EUen, m. Thos. Bradshaw Isher-

wood, Esq., of Marple-hall, co. Chester.

3. Rosamh-a, m. Benjamin Lancaster, Esq.
4. Laura; 5. Frances

;
6. Nona; and 7.

Agnes, m. Rev. Rertram Brooke Hulbert.

IV. Sir William Bellairs of Mvdbarton Lodge,
Norfolk, Capt. 15th Hussars; served in the

Peninsular War, and at Waterloo, created

a Knt. Bacliel. : m. Cassandra, daughter
and heir of Edmund Hooke, Esq. ;

has issue,

Edmund, Leopold, and William.

I. Emilia, m. Rev. John W^ood, of Swan-
wick Hall, co. Derby.

II. Frances, m, James Higgon, Esq., of

Scolton House, co. Pembroke.
III. Catherine, m. Ist, Rev. J. Lindsay
Young, and 2ndly, Rev. George Mac-
lear.

IV. Anna Maria, m. William Matthew

Harries, Esq., of Haverfordwest.

Arms.—Per pale gules and sable, a lion rampant argent*

Crest.—A lion's gamb gules.

Motto.—In cruce mea fldes.

CALVERLEY.
JoHN Calverley, Esq., of Oulton Hall,

Wakeiield, who has dropped the name of

Blayds, and resumed that of Calverley,
bears for

Arms.— Quarterly : Ist, Sa. an inescutcheon ar. within
an orle of owls argent.

2. Gu. a garb, or.

3. Az. a chev. ermine, in base a Bword ar., hilt and

pommel or. ; on a ehief silver two leopards' heads proper.
4. Harty per fess gu. and or. a lozenge counterchanged.
5. Gules, on a chev. between three ostrich feathers ar.

three roundles sa.

6. Ar. a cross engraUed per pale, giiles and sable.

7. Ar. three pales wavy, gules.
8. As first.

Crest.—A horned owl ar.

S P E R L I N G,

Of Dynes Hall, Essex.

^/•m*.—Quarterly : Ist, for Sperling : arg. on a mount
in base vert, tliree cornflowers proper, stalked and leaved
of tlie second

;
a chief arg. charged with four mullets of

sis potnts or.

2nd, for Piper. Gules, a chevron embattled argent
between two falcons, with bells on their legs in chief or.,
and a dexter gauntlet in base barwise, holding a sword
erect proper.

3rd, for Milner. Azure, three horse-bits proper.
4th, for Foxall. Argent, a chev. az. between three

foxes' heads, couped proper.

Crests.—Sperling. A muUet or. between a pair of

wings argent.
2nd, Piper. A demi-griffin regardant ppr., support-

ing an antique shield, charged with a dexter gauntlet
barwise, holding a sword ereot proper.

Motto.—" In veritate Salus."

POLHILL-TURNER.

Frederick Charles Polhill, Esq., of

Howbury Hall, co. Bedford, Esq., late Captain
6th Regiment of Dragoon Guai'ds, and Emily
Frances, liis wife, were authorized by Royal
licence, dated 21st February, 1853, in com-

pliance witli a direction contained in the last

will of Dame Frances Page Turner, relict of
Sir Gregory Page Turner, of Ambrosden, co.

Oxford, Bart., to take the surname and arms

of Turner, in addition to and after those of

Polhill.

Arms.—lst and 4th, Ttjrner : Arg. a mill-rind sable

(for distinction), a canton also sa.

2nd and 3rd, Polhill : Arg. on a bend gu. three cross

crosslets or.

Cresls.—\st, TuKNER : A lion guardant arg., ducally
crowned or., holding in the dexter paw a mUl-rind sa.,

and charged for distinction with a cross crosslet gules.

•2nd, PoLHiLL : Out of a mural crown or. a hind's

head between two sprigs of oak, fructed proper.

MACKNYGHTE,
Of Macknyghte, an ancient Scottish family,
seated on their patrimonial estate in the re-

gality of Galloway, as early as 1114, when,

according to the Selkirk chartuLiry, Uchtred

was the feudal possessor ;
but which, by the

failure of male heirs in 1408, and the inter-

marriage of Janet, the daughter and heiress of

Donald de Macknyghte, with Sir John the

Ross of Renfrew, the estates and family

identity passed with tlieir daugliter and co-

heiress, Margery, to Sir Roger de Coultliart,

Knight, cliief of the name, who is now repre-
sented by John Ross Coulthart, of Coulthart,

co. Wigtown ; Collyn, co. Dumfries
;
and

Croft House, Ashton-under-Lyne, co. Lan-

caster, banker.



66 VISITATION OF ARMS.

Uchtred de Macknyghte, mentioned in thc chartulary of Selkirk Abbey.

Hugh de Macknyghte.

Felyx, alias Phenwycks de Macknyghte, living temp. 'William the Lion, he having obtained from that prince, in

the 39th year of his reign, a charter of lands in Twyneham, in exchange for other lands situated at Kyrkandrew.

TJchtred de Maeknyghte devised, 12th Alexander II., a portion of the lands
of Macknyghte, in pure and perpetual alnis for the good of his soul to the

monks of Whithorn.

Fergus de Drumore, m. Richinda,
dau. of Harvey Cunningham, ancestor
of the eimobled house of Cunningham

of Glencairn.

Hugo de Macknyghte, so designated in a charter of land, sans date, granted to Richard
de Borgue, the said charter having had at one time the ensigns-armorial of Macknyghte,
of Macknyghte, appended to the bottom, but the impression is now in so effaced a con-

dition, that the charges borne cannot be deciphered. This Hugo de Macknyglite was
buried before the high altar in the priory of Whithorn, and dying sine prole, the

estates went to his cousin.

Williaia de Macknyghte, the sixth recorded possessor.: =Sarah, second daughter of Angus oig Macdonald, of the

Isles, whose eldest daughter, Mora, m. Farquhard, laird of

Mackintosh, father, by her, of Angus de Mackintosh, who
m. A.D. 1291, Eva, only dau. and heiress of Gillipatrick

Macdougald, Chief op the Clan Chattan.

Fergus de Macknyghte m. firstly,=Helen (second wife),
Margaret, dau. of Maldain de Mac-
farlane, who appears to have d. s.p.

daughter of Murdoch
de Kelso.

Angus, m. Matilda, dau.
of Stephen de Carrick.

Ninian, kiUed at the
battle of Byland, near

Yoi-k.

Fergus de Macknyghte, the eighth recorded possessor, appears by the chartulary of the priory of=Elizabeth, dau.

Whithorn, to have been a very generous contributor to that religiou". fraternity, for, by a deed of of Gilbert de

mortiflcation, dated Martinmas 131)4, he bestows on the order for all tinie coming, there located, Wedderbum.
one-twentieth portion of his lands of Macknyghte and Drumore, on condition that weekly inter-

cession should be perpetually made for the salvation of his soul and that of his wife Elizabeth.

Adam de Macknyghte, ninth recorded possessor.=Mary, daughter of Adam Gordon. John, William, Helen,
Anne, d. unm.

Donald de Macknyghte, tenth and last recorded heir male=Anne, daughter and heiress of Sir Robert de Glendonyn.
possessor. 1 (See the pedigree of "

Glendonyn of Glendonyn.")

Janet, daughter and heiress.=Sir John the Ross of Renfrew, Knight. (See the pedigree

I
of " Ross of Renfrew.")

Margery, daughter and co-heiress.— Sir Roger de Coulthart, Knight, chief of the name, Anne, daughter and co-

ancestor of John Ross Coulthart, Ksq.,of Coulthart, heiress, m.Johnde Mur-
co. Wigtown ; CoIIjti, co. Dumfries ;

and Croft distone.

House, Ashton-under-Lyne, co. Lancaster.

Arms.—Sa. an inescutcheon chequy, or. and ar.

betwecn three lions' hcads, erased of the last.

Crest.—A demi-Iion rampant, ar.

ilfo«o.— Omnia fortunsD committo.
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NICHOLSON,
Of Ballow, co. Down, originally from Cum- Arms.—Gu. two bars erm. in chief, three suns in glory

berland, seated for upwards of two centuries
°^'

in the county of Down, and now represented
Crej^.—Out of a ducal coronet or. a Iion's head erm.

by RoBERT NiCHOLSON, EsQ., of Ballow, J.P. ilfo^o.—Deus mihi sol.

FORTEATH,
As borne by George Alexander Forteath, trippant ppr. as many boars heads sa. a chief of the

Esq., of Newton House, Elginshire.
*''°''^ <=^^'"^'^ ^*^ ^ ^'^^ °^ *^^ ^^''^-

Crest.—A buck's head erased ppr.

Arms.—Gu. on a chev. or. between three bucks Motto.—Tamanimo (^uam mente sublimis.

D R A F F E N,

As borne by Joseph Wright Draffen, Esq.,
of 78, Canibridge-terrace, Hyde Park, Lon-
don.

Arms.~hz. a fleur-de-lis, or. betweentwo lions rampt.,
arg. on a chief of the third, three mullets gu.

Crest.—Out of a ducal coronet or. a demi-Iion rampt.
gu. gorged with a chaplet of trefoils ppr. supporting a

spear, thereon a banner of the second, charged with a

fleur-de-lis, as in the arms. Over the Crest in scroll,"
Lesmahagow."
Motto.—Per ardua surgo..

R Y D O N,

As borne by Henry Rydon, Esq., of Pyrland
House, Highbury New Park, Middlesex.

Arms—Or. a gryphon, segreant, gules, gutte d'or.,
cliief engraUed, chequy, argent and gules.

Crest—K gryphon segreant gules, wtiigs chequy argt.
and gules, holding between the claws a shield gules,
charged with a bezant.

ilfo«o-^Fortuna et honos ab alto.

WALKER,

Of Berry Hill, Notts, as borne by Sir Ed-
ward Samuel Walker, Knight, of Berry
Hill, a magistrate for the counties of Notting-
ham and Chester, and Mayor of Chester in

1838, son of Joseph Walker, Esq., of East-

wood, near Rotherham, co. York, and grand-
son of the celebrated Samuel Walker, of

Rotberham, the principal Founder of the
Iron-Works.

Arms.—Arg. on a chev. gu., between two anvils in
chief and an anchor in base sa., a bee between two cres-
cents or.

Crest.—A dove encircled by a serpent.

Motto.—Juncti valemus.

HU YS H E,

Of Clysthydon and Sand, Devon, as borne by
the Rev. John Hu yshe, of Clysthydon, present
male representative of the very ancient family
of Huyshe, of Sand. {See Plate XI.)

Arms.—Arg. on a bend sa. three roches ppr.
Tliis was anciently the bearing of Koche. It was as-

sumed by Oliver Hj^wish, of Doniford, in consequence of
his marriage with the heiress of Simon de la Roche,
4, Edward III.

QUAKTERINGS.
II. Hywts. One of the ancient coats of Hywys, a

chevron between three rouudlets.
III. Hywys. Another of the old coats of Hywys, a

che\Ton, on a chief, three leaves.
IV. AvENEL. Oliver Huyish, of Doniford, married a

co-heiress of Avenel, 30, Heury VI.
V. BouECHiER. James Huyslie married the heiress of

Eobert Bourchier or Bowser, 1553.
VI. Seymee.
VII. Lapflode, of Sidbury..
YIII. Gambon.
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IX. BuRNELt, of Cocketree, in Devonshire.
X. Tremayle, in Devon. TMs is au uniqiie bearing.

Argent a fess gules, between three trammels, or tre-

mayles, of the second. These traraniels are the ornaments
used at the bits of the horses in tournaments and ancient

battles.

XI. Reyxell of Credy-Wiger, in Devonshire. James

Huyshe married Deborah Reynell, a co-heiress with her

brother, about the year 1623.

XII. Bassingboukne, of Cambridge.
XIII. La Fkaunceis, also of Cambridge.
XIV. Stighull (Devonshire).
XV. Malston ;

a Devonshire family.
XVI. BuEDON ;

a Cornish family.
XVII

XVIII. Rouse or Rous, of Combe, Devonshire.

XIX. Bkanch. This coat was assumed by Peryam,
instead of the paternal coat of that family, on the mar-

riage of one of the Pervams mth the heiress of Branch.

XX. Pekyam. The ancient paternal coat of that

family before the marriage just mentioned above.

XXI. IIone. An old Devonshire family.
The quarterings are brought in by three heiresses—

Avenel, Bourchier, •n-hich brought in 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 ;
and

Keynell, which brought 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21.

Cresl—An elephanfs head, couped arg., crowned and
hiisked or.

il/o^o—Fide et taciturnitate.

Of Alton Manor, co. Derby.

Ariiis—Erxmne, a millrind palewise, between two
flaimches sable.

M I L N E S,

Crest—A garb, erminois, between two trefoils vert.

Motto—^Son sine labore.

S M A R T,

Of Tjewhitt, Northuniberland, lineally de-

scended from the Rev. Peter Smart, born in

1570, who derived from the Smarts of Harton,

county Dm-ham. The present representative
is WiLLiAM Lynn Smart, Esq., of Trewhitt,
who has three younger brothers, and three

surviving sisters, all the children of John

Smart, Esq., of Trewhitt, and Dorothy, his

wife, daughter and co-heir of Robert Lynn,

Esq., of ^lainsforth, Durham. (See Biirke's

Landed Gentry, New Edition.) The brothers

and sisters are as foUows—
I. WiLLiAM Lynn Smakt, Esq., of Trewhitt,

b. in 1781 ; m., first, Rosaniond, daughter
of John Longley, Esq., of Boley Hill and

Angley, whicli lady d. in 1841
;

and

secondly, Charlotte Catlierine, second

daughter of William Hesse Gordon, Esq.,
of the Madras Civil Service.

II. John Smart, Esq., of Bridgen Hall,

Enfield, h. in 1794, m., 1823, Mary Ann,
dau. and co-heiress of Thomas Gregory,
vicar of Henlow, Beds., and Mary Ann
Prichard, his wife, has issue,

1 William Lynn, h. 1824.

2 John Henry, h. 182.5.

3 Thomas Gregory, k. 1827.

4 Robert Williamson Hunt, h. 1829.

5 Newton Reginald, h. 1831.

6 Eleanor Mary.
iii. Robert Smart, Esq., of Mainsforth,

Captain, R.N., K.H., h. 1795, m. 1848,

Elizabeth Isabella Sharpe, daughter of John

Sharpe, Esq., Fleet Street, banker, and has

issue, Robert William John, b. 1849, and

Dora Isabella, h. 1853.

IV. Newton Smart, prebendary of Salisbury

and vicar of Alderbury, h. 1798, m., first,

in 1822, Mary Susan, heiress of Stephen

Groombridge, of Gowdhurst, Kent, and had

by her, (who d. 1824,) Newton Groom-

bridge, h. 1824. He m., secondly, 1834,

Frances Charlotte Josephine de Berniere,

daua;hter of General de Berniere ;
and by

her has,
Henriette Louisa de Berniere, h. 1842.

Elizabeth Dorothea, h. 1843.

Henry John de Berniere, h. 1845.

Robert Lynn, h. 1847.

Edith Mary, h. 1849.

i. Jane, m. 1805, Alexander Whalley Light,

Colonel 25th Regiment, son of Alexander

Light, Paymaster-General to the forces in

India, and has issue.

II. Dorothy Smart, d. 1797.

III. Eleanor Smart, deceased.

IV. Sarah Smart, d. 1795.

v. Mary Smart.

VI. Margaret Bewicke Smart, m. 1834, the

Rev. John Cecil Grainger, vicar of St.

Giles, Reading, and eldest son of Thomas
Cecil Grainger, of Bridge House, Sussex,

and has issue, one son, John Cecil,

1830.

Arms.—Ax^cni. A chcvron, betweenthree pheons, sa.

quiutering Lynn and Newton.
Crest.—A (iemi-fnlcon rismg, bearing in the beak a

bcotch thistle slipped and leaved ppr.
Motto—Virtus prai nummis.
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P O R R I T T,

As borne by William Henry Porritt, Esq.,
of Armley, Leeds, now resident at Gressen-
hall Hall, East Dereham, Norfolk, son of
David Wright Porritt, deceased.

Arms. Or. on a bend nebul§ between two lions' heads
eiased gu., three bezants.

Crest A deini heraldic antelope gu. plain collared or.,
resting the shiister paw on a shield of the last, charged
with a lion's head of the arms.
Motto. Fortiter et sapienter ferre.

P L A T T,

Of Dean Water, co. Chester, as borne by
RoBERT Platt, Esq., of Dean Water, a
Justice of the Peace for the coimties of Lan-
caster and Chester, son and heir of the late

George Platt, Esq., of Staly Bridge, in the

parish of Stockport, Cheshire.

Arms. Per fesse dancettee arg. and gu, a pale and
three frets, one and two, counterchanged.

Crest. Adeini wolf gu. semee of plates, armed and langued
az., holding in his dexter paw a wreath arg. and gu.

Motto. iLafiltur et lalittur.

PENNYMAN,
Of Ormesby Hall, co. York, as borne by
James White Pennyman, Esq., late of

Thornton-le-Moor, in the North Riding, and
now of Ormesby Hall, aforesaid, Captain in

the Royal Engineers.

Arms. Gu. a chev. erm. between three broken spears
or., headed arg.

Crest. On a mural crown gu. a lion's head erased or,,

pierced through the neck with a broken spear in bend
gold, the head towards the sinistcr arg.

PENRUDDOCKE,
Of Compton Park, Wilts, one of the most
ancient and eminent families among theimtitled

aristocracy, originally seated at Arkelby,
Cmnberland

;
and now represented by

Charles Penruddocke, Esq,, of Compton
Park, the lineal descendant of Sir George
Penruddocke (the purchaser of Compton
Chamberlayne), who was Standard-bearer to

William tirst Earl of Pembroke, of the name
of Herbert, at the siege and battle of St.

Quintin, in Picardy. Of this family, also.

was the ill-fated Sir John Penruddocke, whose

unjustifiablg execution forms so dark an

episode in the history of the Great Civil War.
The present Mr. Penmddocke impales the
Arms of Long, in right of his wife, the

daughter of Walter Long, Esq,, of Rood
Ashton, Wilts, M.P.

Arms.—Gu, a bendraguly arg., impalinq sa. semeeof
cross-orosslets, and a Uon rampant, arg.

Crest.—A demi-ch'agon, sans wings, egreant vert.,
between two eagles' wings expanded, or.

C A R N E G I E,

Of Southesk, co. Forfar; the present male

representative of the Earls of Southesk, is Sir

James Carnegie, Bart., Lord-Lieutenant of

Kincardineshire, and hereditary Cup-Bearer
of Scotland.

The head of the family has, for two or three

hundred years, borne a "covered cup, or," on

the breast of the azure eagle on the shield, as

a mark of the office he holds, as hereditary

Cup-Bearer of Scotland. The second and fol-

lowing Earls of Southesk togk Talbots instead

of Greyhoimds for supportel-s. The reason of,

or authority for, the change is not known,

Arms.—Or. an eagle displayed az., armed and beaked
gu.
Crest.—A thunderbolt, ppr., inflamed at both ends,

winged or.

Suppnrters.
—Two greyhounds, arg., coUared gu.

Moito.—Dread God.
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WINGROVE,
As borne by Richard Fownes Wingrove,
of the Grove, in the parish of Worth, co.

Sussex, Esq., late in the civil service of the

East India Company, on the Bengal establish-

ment, and sometime judge at the Court of

Judicature of Prince of Wales Island, Singa-

pore, and Malacca, third son of Geo. Fownes

Wingrove, Esq., Lieutenant-Colonel in the

army, deceased.

Arms.—Per chev. az. and or. in cMef two tridents, and
in base, on a mount a hurst ppr., impaling arg. on a chev.
sa. three besants.

Crest.—On a Koman fasces lying fesseisise, a phannix
in flames ppr. Wings expanded and charged, each with
a cinquefoil or.

Motto.—Fear God and dread nought.

WOODWARD,
Of Butlers Marston, co. Warwick.

Letitia Atkins, of Butlers Marston,
widow of John Atkins, of Sti Lawrence,

Jersey, Esq. ;
and Ann Catherine Andrews,

otherwise Woodward, of Butlers Marston

aforesaid, spinster, only surviving daughter of

Thomas Andrews, late of Hoxton, gent., by
Amy, his wife, and sister of Richard Wood-

ward (formerly Richard Andrews) late of

IsUngton, Esq., were authorized by Royal
licence in 1853, in compUance with the will of

the Rev. Richard Woodward, to take the name
and arms of Woodward.

Arms.—kz. a pale between two eagles displayed arg.

GLOVER, OF MOUNT GLOVER.

JoHN Glover, Esq., the first of the family
who settled in Ireland, early in the seven-

teenth century, was a near relative of Robert

Glover, Esq., the famous genealogist, of the

sixteenth century, and Somerset herald-at-

arms. This John Glover was captain in

command of a large and efficient regiment of

troops under one of the Percivals, and signa-
lized himself in many battles with the native

Irish, bvit more particularly distinguished
himself by his obstinate and valiant defence
ofthe " Rath ofAnna," which he succeeded
in holding against the attacks of an immense

body of the Irish, who continued to charge
his small but gallant band for three days,
when they were compelled to retire vvith much
slaughter. For his remarkable bravery and
success on this occasion, as well as for his

many other services in the local wars of the

times, he obtained possession of many exten-

sive estates in the counties of Cork and
Limerick. He m. a Miss Mills, sister of
Thomas Mills, Esq., and had issue, one son
and three daughters, viz.,

i. Edward, of whom presently.
I. Mary, m. to James Hennesy, Esq., of

Gervane, co. Cork.

II. Jane, m. to — Webb, Esq., of New-
market, co. Cork.

iii. Catherine, m. to John Purcell, Esq., of

Kanturk, co. Cork, eldest brother of

Richard Purcell, Esq., of Temple-Mary,
ancestor of the Purcells of Burton.

The son,
Edward Glover, b. in 1663, d, 24 April,

1753. He m. in 1695, Eleanor, daughter of

James Barry, Esq., of Ballinvonere, and had

issue, four sons,

I. Edward, h. in 1696, and d. 23 April,

1742, aged forty-five, m. Miss Quin, and
left only one dau., who m. her first cou-

sin, Phillip Barry, of Ballinvonere.

II. James, of Four-i\IiIe Waters, b. in 1705,
(/. inApril, 1753, aged forty-eight, m. Miss
Maunsell

;
he leaving no issue, his estates

devolved on his third brother, Thomas.
III. Thomas, of whom presently.
IV. Philip, m. Frances, dau. of William

Thornhill, Esq., of the family of the

Thornhills of Castle Kevin, and by her

he had a large family,
1. James Philip, who died unm. This

gentleman was well known as " The

Chancellor," a sobriquet which was

given hini by the celebrated Curran,
in one of his humoursome moods, upon
hearing Mr. Glover decide, with re-

markable clearness and impartiality,
some very knotty point of law, left

to liim for arbitration :

" Well done,
Glover

;
tliat decision entitles you

to be made Chancellor," cried the

witty and facetious Curran ;
and if

Mr. Glover gained none of the honors,

patronage, or emoluments of that dis-

tinguished office, yet he was hardly
known by any other name than that of

"The Chancellor," until the day of

his death. With him the orator and
wit spent many of his young and
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happiest days. They were great
friends.

2. Ednuind Thornhill, who died leaving
a large family.

3. William Philip, of Burton Park, who
married the eldest daughter of James

Magrath, Esq., of Ballyaddam, by
whom he left a large family.

4. Jolin, of John's Grove, m. to Miss

Pole, of Kinsale, but died without

issue.

The third son,
Thomas Glover, of Mount Glover, h. in

1712, d. 22 April, 1772, aged sixty years. He
m. Ist, in April, 1751, Mary, only dau. and
heiress of William Martin, Esq., of Curro-

clonbro, by his wife, Ann Purdon, of Bally-

clough Castle
;

and 2ndly, Mary, only dau.

of Edward Brailing, Esq., of Dublin, and
widow of Charles M'Carthy, Esq., of Rath-
dulF: by tlie former only he had issue, two
sons and three daus.,

I. Edmund, m. Isabella, only dau. of Cap-
tain Patterson, of Pine Grove, but had
no issue.

II. James, of whom presently.
L. Anne, m. to — Crane, Esq.
II. Mary, m. to Thomas 0'Donnell, Esq.
III. Sarah, m. to Nicholas Carpenter, Esq.

The second and eventually only surviving

son,
James Glover, Esq., m. Mildred,* eldest

dau. of Robert Freeman, Esq., of Ballinguile

Castle,t by his wife, Mildred, dau. of William

Seeley, Esq., and his wife, Mildred, dau. of

Col. Frederick Mullins, direct ancestor of

Lord Ventry. By this lady Mr. James Glover
had fourteen children, ten alive at his death,

viz., six sons and four daus.

I. Thomas, who d. in 1811, unm.
II. Edward, M.D., d. unm.
III. James, of Mount Glover, the present

representative of the family.
IV. William, a Lieut. in the army, d. umii.

v. Stirling-Freeman, now Lieut.-Col. in the

12th Foot, who m. in 1833, Georgina,
second dau. of Lord Charles Henry So-

merset, second son of Henry, fifth Duke
of Beaufort.

VI. George-Freeman, who m. Miss White,
of Cork, and d. leaving two sons, Robert
and George.

* Her only sister, Ellen, m. Marlborough Parson Stir-

ling, ( olonel of the 36th Regiment, and Governor-General
of Pondicherry. He left his estates to his wife, having
no issue, and after death, to his nephew-in-law, Stirling
Freeman Glover, now Lieut.-Colonel in the 12th Foot.

+ This Robert Freeman was eldest son of John Free-

man, of Ballinguile Castle, by his wife, Alice, daughter
of Henry W^rixon, grandfather of the present Sii' William
Wrixon Beecher, of Ballygiblin.

I. Mildred, who m. Maurice Newman, Esq.,
and has issue,

Philip Glover Newman, and Mildred

Lavinia, m. to Eyre Ivers, Esq., of

Castle Ivers, in the county of Clare,

by whom she has a large family.
II. EUen, who m. William Hudson, Esq.,

M.D., and has issue,

The Rev, James Hudson, a clergy-
man at Miramichi, in North America

;

Edward H. Hudson, a distinguished
advocate at the New York bar

;
and

Ellen, unm.
III. Mary, d. unm.
IV. Bridget, m. to Edward Powell, Esq., of

Kildare.

The third son.

JamesGlover, Esq., of Mount Glover, co.

Cork, s. his two elder brothers, Thomas and
Edward. He m. in 1813, Ellen, only dau,

of John Power, Esq., of Rosskeen, (only son

of Pierce Power,*) by Abigail Bullen,t and
has had issue, five sons and four daus.,

I. EdwArd-Auchmuty, barrister-at-law.

II. James, M.D., d. unm.
III. John-Power.
IV. Marlborough-Parsons-Stirling-Freeman,

d. unm.
v. Pierce-Power, d. yoimg.
I. EUen-Alicia-Crofts.

II. Mildred-Lavinia-Freeman, m. to Town-
send McDermott, barrister-at-law, by
whom she has two sons, WLlliam Freeman
and James.

III. Anna-Maria-Stirling.
IV. Mary-Georgina-Somerset, m. to J.

0'Halloran, Esq.

Arms.—Sa., a chev,, erm., between three crescents,

arg.

Crest. An eagle displayed, arg., charged on the breast
with three spots of erminites.

Motto. Neo timeo, nec sperno.

Seat. Mount Glover, co. Cork.

* This Pierce Power was eldest son of Francis Power,
of Rosskeen, by his wife, MaryO'CaIlaghan, great-grand-
dau. of Donough 0'CaUaghan, alias "0'CaIlaghan," chief
of his name in 1041, and ancestor of the Lismore family.
Francis Power was the only son of Richard Power, of

Carrigaline, near Cork, and one of the family of that
name in the county of Waterford, by Alice Denis, of the
Tracton family.

+ This Abigail Bullen was dau. of Robert BuUen, of

Kinsale, descended from the BuUen family, who came
and settled in Ireland m the reign of Elizabeth, and who
are stated to have been not remotely related to that

Queen. After the death of John Power, she mairied
secondly,

— 0'Grady, Esq., of co. Limerick, by whom she
had no issue. On his death, she married, thirdly, the
Rev. Richard de Burgh, by whom she had an only child,
Anna de Burgh, umuarried. Abigail had two sisters :

the eldest is still alive, and unmarried ; the second,
Eliza BuUen, married Captaiu Jerome Burdett, and died

leaving an only child, Sir Charles Wentworth Burdett,
Bart., of the Hon. E.I. Company's service, Madras.

M. S. Myers, Printer, 22, Tavistock Street, Covent Garden, London.
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INDEX OF SEATS AND OWNERS.

* The prefixed asterisks indicate those Seats which are illustrated by Views.

•Abadam, Edward, Esq. (Middleton Hall), 179

Abbotsford, co. Roxburgh (James E. Hope,
Esq., Q.C.), 244

Aberaman, co. Glamorgan (Crawshaw Bailey,

Esq.), 203

Abercairny, co. Perth (Mrs. Home Drummond),
74

Acrise Plaee, co. Kent (Thos. Papillon, Esq.), 114

Adderley, Piev. Bowyer (Fillongley Hall), 131

Adlington Hall, co. Lancaster (Richard Clayton,
Browne Clayton, Esq.), 105

Alcock, Thos. Esq. (Ivingswood Warren), 181

Allesley Park, co. Warwick (Edwai-d V. Neale,

Esq.), 153

Alresford Hail, co. Essex (William Warwick

Hawkins, Esq.), 205

Alton Manor, co. Derby (.James Milnes, Esq.),
19(j

Ames, L. Esq. (the Hyde), 195

Anketell Grove, co. Monaghan (Matthew J.

Anketell, Esq.), 17

Anketell, Matthew John, Esq. (Anketell Grove),
17

Anthony House, co. Cornwall (W. H. P. Carew,

Esq.), 96

Ardfert Abbey, co. Kerry (Wm. Talbot Crosbie,

Esq.), 137

Arkwi-ight, Robert, Esq. (Sutton Hall), 167

Annytage, Sir George, Bart. (Kirklees), 211

Arnold, Thomas, Esq. (Hoppeford Hall), 235

Asbbumham, Earl of (Ashbumham Place), 161

Ashbumham Place, co. Sussex (Earl of Ash-

burnham), 161
AshluII Towers, co. Limerick (Eyre Evans, Esq.),

231
Ashton Gourt, co. Somerset (Family of Smythe),

206

Ashton Hall, co. Lancaster (Duke of Hami]-

ton), 208

Ashwelthorpe Hall, co. Norfolk (Lord Bemers),
83

Astley, F. D. Palmer, Esq. (Duldnfield), 43

Aylmer, Sir Gerald George, Bart. (Donadea
Castle), 80

Aylward, James Keamey, Esq. (Shankill Castle),
228

Badminton House, co. Gloucester (Duke of

Beaufort,) 44

Bailey, Crawshaw, Esq. (Aberaman), 203

Baily, Thomas F., Esq. (HaU Place), 231

Baker, W. E., Esq. (Bayfordbury), 49

Balguy, John Esq. (Duffield), 130

Ballyclough, co. Cork (James BaiTy, Esq.), 207

Barbavilla House, co. Westmeath (W. Barlow

Smythe, Esq.), 197

Barker, J. R. Raj-mond, Esq. (Fairford Park), 43

Barry, James, Esq. (Bahyclougb), 207

Barton, co. SufFolk (Sir Hen. Edm. Bunbury,
Bart.), ]05

Basset, Mrs. (Beaupr^ Castle), 102

Batard, Thos. M. Bearda, Esq. (Ramsden Crays),
122

Bates, Ralph, Esq. (Milboume Hall), 187
Battle Abbey,co. Sussex (Family ofWebster), 180

BayfordbmT, co. Herts (W. R. Baker, Esq.), 49

Beaufort, Dulve of (Badminton House), 44

Beaupre Castle, co. GIamorgan(Mrs.Basset),102
Beddington, co. Surrey (Capt. Chas. Hallowell

Carew, R.N.), 37

Bedingfeld, J. Longueville, Esq. (Ditchingham
Hall), 192

Bellingham, Sir Alan (Castle Bellingham), 134



11 INDEX OF SEATS AND OWKEES.

Benett, John, Esq. (ryt Hoiise), IRfi

Benson, Eev. Henry B. (Utterby Honse), 85

Berington, Chs. Esq. (Little Malvem Court), 17

Berkeley, Eobert, Esq. fSpetchley Eark), 13

Berkeley, William, Esq. (Cotheritlge Court), 86

Eernard, Capt. (Castle Bernard), 2-10

Bemard, Arthur Beamish, Esq. (Palace Anne),
194

Bemers, Lord(Ashwellthorpe Hall), 83—(Kirhy
Cane), ih.—(Kevthorpe Hall), Ui.

*BeiTy Hill, Notts. (Sir E. S. Wulker), 245
Benvick Place, co. Essex (Eev. G. Gretton

Townsend), 08

Bircher HaU, co. Hereford (Thomas Dunne,
Esq.), 42

Blair, Sir David Hunter, Bart. (Blairquhan
Castle), 164

Blairquhan Castle, co. AyT (Sir D. Hunter Blair,

Bart.), 164

Blunt, Eev. Walter (Wallop House), 184

Bold, co. Lancaster (Henry Hoghton, Esq.), 48
Bookham Grove, Surrey (YiscountDowne), 180

Booth, Eichard, Esq. (Glendon Hall), 150
Borthwick Castle, co. Edinhurgh (John Borth-

wick, Esq.), 188

Borthwick, John, Esq. (Borthwick Castle), 188

Bosanquet, S. E., Esq. (Dingestow Coiut), 170

Boskenna, co. Cornwall (Thos. Paynter, Esq.),
196

Botleys, co. Sun'ey (Eohert Gosling, Esq.), 115
Borwick Hall, co. Lancaster (Charles Standish,

Esq.), 44

Boulay, John Du, Esq. (Donhead Hall), L3

Bowes, John, Esq. (Gihside Hal]),57; (Streatlam

Castle), 58; (Hilton Castle), 00

Bowood, co. Wilts (Marquess of Lansdowne), 92

*Boyd, Geo. Augustus, Esq. (Middleton Park),
152

Bragge, Wm. Esq. (Sadhorow), 56

Bramston, Thos. W. Esq. (Skreens), 86

Bricklehampton House, co. Worcester (Fras.

Woodward, Esq.), .05

Briscoe, John Ivatt, Esq. (Eox Hills), 220

Brockhall, co. Northampton (T. E. Thomton,
Esq.), 242

BrocklesbyPark, co.Lincoln (Earl ofYarhorough),
71

Bromley, Eev. W. Davenport (Wootton Hall), 22

Broughton, Peter, Esq. (Tunstall Hall), 186

Browne, William Kenwortliy, Esq. (Goldington
Hall), 22

Browne Clayton, Eichard Clayton, Esq. (Adling-
ton Hall), 105

Browsholme Hall, co. York (Thomas G. Parker,
Esq.), 232

Brynbras Castle, co. Carnarvon (Thos. Wilhams,
Esq.), 08

Buchanan House, co, Stirling (Duke of Mont-

rosc), 100

Buchanan, James, Esq. (Craigond Castle), 228

Bunbury, Sir Henry Edmund, Bart. (Barton),
105

Burlon, E. Esq. (Castle Eden), 215
Burton Constnble, co. York (Sir T. A. CHlford

Cnnstable, Bnrt.) H!)

Bushe, Gervase Parker, Esq. (Glencaim Abbey),
213

ByJe, Tliomas Hopp, Esq. (Ware Park), 204

*Cadland, co. Hants (Andrew E. Drummond,
Esq.), 56

Caldwell, J. Stamford, Esq. (Linley Wood), 215

Callaly Castle, co. Northumberland (Edward
Jolm Clavei-ing, Esq.\ 12

Calvert, Major-Gen. (Himsdon), 68
Cambusnethan House, co. Lanark (J. Sinclair

Lockhart, Esq.), 47

Campion, W. J. Esq. (Danny, co. Sussex), 24

Campbell, Colin, Esq. (Colgrain), 154

Capel, William, Esq. (The Grove), 19

Carbery, Lord (Castle Freke), 239

Cardinall, John, Esq. (Manor House,Tendring),
36

Carew, Capt. Charles Hallowell, E. N. (Bed-
dington), 37

Carew, W. H. P. Esq. (Anthony House), 96

CamaiTon, Earl of (Pixton House), 223

Camegie, Sir James, Bart. (Kinnaird Castle), 93

Carntyne, co. Lanark (Eev. J. Hamilton Gray),
OOQ

Caniden, co. Linlithgow (Capt. James Hope,
E. N.), 182

Carrigmore, co. Cork (Earl of Norbury), 184

Carter, Family (Castle Martin), 128

Cary, E. Shedden Sulyarde, Esq. (Tor Abbey),
74

Cassiobury Park, co. Herts (Earl of Essex), 135
Castle Ashby, co. Northampton (Marquess of

NorthamjDton), 25

Castle Bemard, King's County (Captain Bemard)
240

CastleCombe,Wilts (G.Poulett-Scrope,Esq.), 245
Castle Eden, co. Dinrham (Eouland Burden,

Esq.), 215
Castle Freke, co. Cork (Lord Carbery), 239
Castle Mai-tin, co. Kildare (Carter), 128

Castletown, co. Kildare (Thomas Conolly, Esq.,

M.P.), 147

*Castle Toward, co. Argyle (A. S. Finlay, Esq.),
73

Chadacre Hall, co. Suffolk (Misses Halifax), 207

Chapman, Sir B. J. Bart. (Killua Castle), 180

Chatsworth, co. Derby (Duke of Devonshire), 3

Chichester, Earl of (Stanmer Pai-k), 192

Chicksands Priory, co. Beds. (Sir G. E. Osbora,
Bart.), 187

Childwall Hall, co. Lancaster (Marquess of Salis-

bm-y), 46

Chilhngham Castle, co. Northumberland (Earl
of Tankenille), 67

Cholmondeley Castle, co. Chester (Marquess of

Cholmondeley), 108

Cholmondeley, Marquess of ( Cholmondeley Cas-

tle), 108

Claremont, co. Surrey (Leopold, King of the

Belgians), 20

Clark, Eev. J. Crosby (Cowley House), 215

Clavering, Edw. John, Esq. (Callaly Castle), 12

Clayton Priory, co. Sussex (Lieut.-Colonel C. W.
Elwood), lil

Clifford, Col. (Llantilio), 42—(Perristone), ib.

CloncuiTy, Lord (Lyons), 81

Close, Col. Maxwell (Drumbanagher), 193

Cloveiiey, co. Salop (John Whitehall Dod, Esq.),
197

Clumber Park, co. Notts. (Duke of Newcastle),
126
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KjMiiy oastle, co. Inverness (Cluny Macpberson),
yo

Cochno House, co. Dumbarton (Miss Hamilton),
27

Cockermouth Castle, Cumberland (General

Wyndham), 240

Colchester, Lord (Kidbrooke House), 18

Colgrain, co. Dumbarton (Colin Campbell, Esq.),
154

Colue Park, co. Essex (Robert Hills, Esq.), 116

Coltmann, John, Esq. (Elesk Castle), 204
Coml)ermere Abbey, Cheshu'e (Viscouut Com-

bermere), 243

Compton Wyuyate, co. Warwick (Marquess of

Northampton), 48

Couan, 00. Eoss (Sir Kenneth S. Mackenzie,

Bart.), 120

Condover, co. Salop (Edward W. Smythe Owen,

Esq.), 19S

Couingsbm-gh, co. York, 217

Conuer, Daniel, Esq. (Manche), 178

Conolly, Thomas, Esq. (Castletown), 147

Coustable Burton, co. York (Marmaduke Wyvill,

Esq.), 55

Coustable Maxwell, W. Esq. (Everingham Park),
88

Constable, Sir T. A. Clifford, Bart. (Burton

Coustable), 86— (Wyehffe), 90

Cooper, William, Esq. (Smitstone House), 142

Corbet, Sir Andrew Vincent, Bart. (Moretou

Corbet), 209

Corbett, Panton, Esq. (Longnor), 47

CorseUis, Nichs. Caisar, Esq. (Wyvenhoe Hall),
46

Coryton, John Tillie,Esq.(Pentillie Castle), 151

Cothelstone House, co. Somerset (E. J. Esdaile,

Esq.), 153

Cotheridge Court, co. Worcester (WiUiam Berke-

ley, Esq.), 86

Com-teen Hall, co. Northampton (Sir C. Wake,

Bart.), 28

Cowley House, co. SuiTey (Rev. J. Crosby Clark),
215

Craigend Castle, co. Stixling (James Buchanan,

Esq.), 228

Crawshay, Eichard, Esq. (Ottershaw Park), 214

Crosbie, Wm. Talbot, Esq. (Ardfert Abbey), 137

Croxden Abbey, Staffordohire (Gervase Wood,
Esq.), 241

Cullen, Lord (Eushton HaU), 172

Cunhffe, FamUy of (WycoUer), 193

Cm-teis, H. MascaU, Esq. (WindmUl HiU), 73

Curwen, Heury, Esq. (Workington HaU), 149

Dalehead HaU, co. Cumberland (Thos. L. Stan-

ger Leathes, Esq.), 148

Dalemain, co. Cumberland (Edward WiUiams

Hasell, Esq.), 95

Danny, co. Sussex (W. J. Campion, Esq.), 24

Daunt, W. J. 0'NeU, Esq. (Kilcascau), 1U2

Da\idson, Patiick, Esq. (Inchmaido), 85

Deepdene, co. Surrey (Henry Thos.Hope,Esq.),
217

Delvine, co. Perth (Sir John Muir Mackenzie,

Bart.), 22

Denison, John Evelyn, Esq. (Ossington HaU),
121

De Salis, Count (HiUiugdon Place), 130

Devonshire, Duke of (Chatsworth), 3

De Winton, Walter, Esq. (MaesUwch Castle),95

Dickm, Thomas, Esq. (Loppington House), 119

DiUon, Viscount, (Ditchley), 84

Dingestow Court, co. Monmouth (S. E. Bosau-

quet, Esq.), 176

Dingley Park, co. Northampton (Henry H.
Holdich Hungerford, Escj.), 120

Ditchingham Hall, co. Norfolk (John L. Beding-

feld, Esq.), 192

Ditchley, co. Oxford (Viscount DiUon), 84

Dod, John WbitehaU, Esq. (Cloverley), 197

Dod, Miss (Edge), 46

Dogmersfield, Hauts (Sir H. P. St. John MUd-

may), 242

Dolwilym, co. Carmarthen (FamUy of Protheroe),
206

Donadea Castle, co. luldare (Sir Gerald George
Aylmer, Bart), 80

Douhead Hall, co. Wilts(JohnDuBoulay,Esq.),
13

Donibristle, co. Fife (Earl of Moray), 155

Doouas House, co. Limerick (Sir H. DiUon

Massey, Bart.) 152

DowdesweU, George, Esq. (The Down House), 18

Dowu House, The, co. Worcester (George Dow-
desweU, Esq.), 18

Driukston l'ark, co. Suffolk (Mrs. Grigby), 117

Dromana, co. Waterford (Lord Stuart de Decies),
30

Drumcar House, co. Louth (John McCUntock,
Esq.), 49

Drumbanagher, co. Armagh (Col. MaxweU Close),
193

*Drummond, A. R. Esq. (Cadlands), 56

Drygrange, co. Eoxburgh (Thonias Tod, Esq.), 93

Duberly, James, Esq. (Gaines HaU), 210
Du Boulay, John, Esq. (Donhead HaU), 13

Duffield, co. Derby, (John Balguy, Esq.), 130

Duke, Eev. Edward (Lalie House), 63

Dukinfield, co. Chester (F. D. Palmer Astley,

Esq.), 43
Duncombe Park, co. York (Lord Feversham),

31

Dundas, Sir J. B, Bart. (Queensberry ViUa), 207

Duune, Thomas, Esq. (Bircher Hall), 42

DunoUy Castle, co. Ai-gyU (John McDougaU,
Esq.), 136

Dunrobin Castle, co. Sutherland (Duke of

Sutherland), 130
Du Pre, James, Esq. (Wilton Park), 93

Dm-ham, Earl of (Lambton HaU), 140

Dynes Hall, co. Essex (H. J. Sperling, Esq.), 69

Dysartj Earl of (Ham House), 223

East Sutton Place, co. Kent (Sir Edward FUmer
Bart.), 104

Edge, co. Chester (Miss Dod), 46

Edwards, Henry, Esq. (Pye Nest), 210

Egerton, Wilbraham, Esq. (Tatton), 193

Elkington HaU, co. Liucoln (Eev. W. Smythe),
119

EUesmere, Earl of (Wai-dley HaU) ,
191

EUison, Cuthbert, Esq. (Hepburn Hall), 238

Elwood, Lt. Col. Chas. Wm. (Clavtou Priory),
111
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Enfield Old Park, co. Middlesex (Edward Ford,

Esq.), 90

Esdaile, E. Jefiries, Esq. (Cothelstone House),
153

Essex, Earl of (Cassiobury Park), 135

Evans, Cbarles Henry, Esq. (Henblas), 206—
(Trefeiler), 207— (Plasgwyn), 207

Evans, EjTe, Esq. (Ashhill Towers), 231

EveljTi, William J., Esq. (Wotton House), 176

Everingham Park, co. York (W. Constable

Maxwell, Esq.), 88

Eyton, John Wynne, Esq. (Leeswood), 76 ;

(Tower), ib.

Fairford Park, co. Gloucester (J. R. R. Barker,

Esq.), 43

Faithlegg, co. Waterford (Nichs. Mahon Power,

Esq.), 159

Felbrig Hall, co. Norfolk (W. Howe Windham,
Esq.), 55

Felix Hdl, or Filiols Hall, co. Essex (T. B.

Western, Esq.), 31

Felton Hall, co. Northumberland (Thos. Eiddell,

Esq.), 200

Feversham, Lord (Duncombe Park), 31

Ffolkes, Sir W. J. H. Browne, Bart. (Hillington
Hall), 85

FUlongley Hall, co. Warwick (Eev. B. Adderley),
131

FiLmer, Sir Edward, Bart. (East Sutton Place),
104

*Finlay, A. S., Esq. (Castle Toward), 73

Fitwilliam, Earl (Wentworth House), 109

Flasby Hall, co. York (Cooper Preston, Esq.), 87
Flesk Castle, co. Kerry (John Coltmann, Esq.),

204

Fletcher, Thomas William, Esq., M.A., F.E.S.

(Lawneswood House), 18

Flintham HaU, co. Notts. (Thomas B. Thoro-
ton Hildyard, Esq.), 220

Ford, Edward, Esq. (Enfield Old Park), 90
Fornham Hall, co. Suflbllv (Lord Manners), 94

Forteath, George Alexander, Esq. (Ne-svton

House), 155
Fort Eobert, co. Cork, 178
Fort WUIiam, co. Waterford (John Bowen

Gumbleton, Esq.), 213

Fountaine, Andrew, Esq. (Narford Hall), 194
Foxdenton Hall, co. Lancaster (Family of

Eadclyfle), 220
Fox HiUs, co. Surrey, (John Ivatt Briscoe, Esq.),

220

Fremantle, Et. Hon. Sir T. F., Bt. (Swan-
bourne), 142

FuIIer, Augustus EUott, Esq. (Eosehm Park), 103

Fyvie Castle, co. Aberdeen (Cosmo Gordon,
Esq.), 10

Gaines Hall, co. Eutland (James Duberly,
Esq.) 210

Gairloch, co. Eoss (Sir Kenneth S. Mackenzie,
Bart.), 120

Gaybrook, co. Westmeath (Eobei-t Smyth Esq.),
104

Gibside Hall, co. Dm-ham (John Bowes, Esq.),
57

Gifibrds' Hall, co. Sufiblk (P. Mannock, Esq.),
130

Giles-PuUer, Lady (Youngsbury), 106

Gillow, Eichard, Esq. (Leighton Hall), 197
Glemham Hall, co. Sufi"oIk, (Dudley North,

Esq.), 18

Glencaim Abbey, co. Waterford (Gervase P.

Bushe, Esq.), 213
Glendon Hall, co. Northampton (Eichard Booth,

Esq.), 150

Glendomvj-n, Miss, (Parton), 237
Glin Castle, co. Limerick (The Knight of Glin),

118

Glin, Ivnight of (Glin Castle), 118

*GoIa House, co. Monaghau (The Eev. Wm.
Henry Wood Wright), 121

Golden Grove, co. Flint (Lieut-Col Morgan), 94

Goldington Hall, co. Bedford, (W. Kenworthy
Browne, Esq.), 22

Gordon, Cosmo, Esq. (Fj^vie Castle), 10

Gore-Langton, W. H. Powell, Esq. (Newton
Park), 14

Gosling, Eobert Esq. (Botleys), 115

Gower, William Leveson, Esq. (Titsey Place), 69

Grant, Sir Jas, Bart. (MonjTnusk), 148

Gray, Lord (Ivinfauns), 156

Gray, Eev. J. Hamilton (Carntyne), 229

Graythwaite Hall, co. Laucaster, (J. DalrjTnpIe

Sandys, Esq.), 227

Greenwood, John, Esq. (SwarcUfie Hall), 12

Gregor, Gordon W.F., Esq. (Trewai-thenick), 178

Greysbi-ooke Hall, co. Stafibrd, 157

Greystoke Castle, co. Cumberland (Henry How-
ard, Esq.), 142

Grigby, Mrs. (Drinkston Park), 117

Grissel, T, Esq., (Norbury Park), 246

Grove, The, co. Gloucester (William Capel, Esq.),
19

Grovelands, co. Middlesex (John Donnithorne

Taylor, Esq.), 73

Gumbleton, John Bowen, Esq. (Fort William),
213

Gyll, Brooke Hamilton, Esq. (Wyrardisbury
House), 14

Haddon Hall, co. Derby (Duke of Eutland), 50

Halhfax, The Misses (Chadacre Hall), 207

Hall Place, co. Kent (Thomas F. Baily, Esq.),
231

Halsnead Park, co. Lancaster (Eichard WUMs,
Esq.), 210

Halsewell, co. Somerset (Charles K. Kemeys-
Tynte, Esq.), 110

Ham House, co. Surrey (Earl of Dysart), 223

Hamilton, Duke of (Ashton Hall), 208

Hamilton, Miss (Cochno House), 27

Hannay, George Francis, Esq. (Kingsmuir), 150

Hannay, William E. Esq. (Ku-kdale House), 182

*HanweU Park,co.MiddIesex(BenjaminSharpe,
Esq.), 86

Harden, co. Eoxburgh (Lord Polwarth), 125

Harewood, Earl of (Hai-ewood House), 69

Harlington House, co. Bedford (George Pearse,

Esq.), 186

*Harrison, John, Esq. (Snelston Hall), 228

Harristown, co. KUdai'e (John La Touche, Esq.),
131
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Harewood House, co. York (Earl of Harewood),
00

Hasell, Edward Williams, Esq. (Dalemain), 9o

Hawkins, Wm. Wanvick, Esq., M.P. (Alresford

Hall), 205

Haydock Lodge, co. Lancaster (Thomas Legh,
Esq.), 36

Heaton Park, co. Lancaster (Earl of Wilton),
174

Hemsworth Hall, co. York (W. H. Leatham,
Esq.), 117

Henblas, co. Anglesey (Charles H. Evans, Esq.),
206

Hepburn, co. Durham (Cuthbert EUison, Esq.),
238

Hesketh, Sir Thos. George, Bart. (Ruflbrd), 47

Hext, Thomas, Esq. (Trenarren), 86

Hickman, H. Bacon, Esq. (Thonock Hall), 45

Hildyard, Thomas B. Thoroton, Esq. (Flintham
Hall), 220

HilUngdon Place, co. Middlesex (Count deSalis),
130

Hilhngton Hall, co. Norfolk (SirW. J. H. Browne
Ffolkes, Bart.), 85

Hills, Robert, Esq. (Cohie Park), 116

Hilton Castle, co. Dmham (John Bowes, Esq.),
60

Hoare, Mrs. (Luscombe House), 228
Holkam Hall, co. Norfolk (Earl of Leicester), 71

Holme Lacy, co. Hereford (Sir Edwyn F. Scud-

amore Stanhope, Bart.), 38

Holmwood House, co. Surrey (Francis Seymour
Laiijeut, Esq.), 208

Homme House, co. Hereford (WiHiam Money
Kyrle, Esq.), 216

Hope, Henry Thomas, Esq. (Deepdene), 217

Hope, Capt. James, (Carriden), 182

Hoppesford Hall, co. Warwick (Thomas Amold,
Esq.), 235

Horkesley Park, Essex (Capt. Kelso, of Kelso-

land), 248
Hothtield Place, co. Kent (Sir Pdchard Tufton,

Bart.), 232

Hovingham Hall, co. Yorke (Su' William Wors-

ley, Bart.), 133

Howard, Heniy, Esq. (Greystoke Castle), 142—
(Thornbury Castle), 144

Howard, Hon. Col. Fulke Greville (Levens), 49

*Hughes, Hugh Piobert, Esq. (lunmel Park, co.

Denbigh), 1

*Hughes, Wm. Bulkeley, Esq. (Plas Coch), 103

Hungerford, Henry H. Holdich, Esq. (Dingley
Park), 120

Huntroyde, co. Lancaster (Le Gendre N. Starkie,

Esq.), 198

Hunloke, Sir Henry, Bt. (Wingerworth Hall), 15

Hunsdon, co. Herts (Major Gen, Calvert), 68

*Huyshe, Piev. Johu (Sand), 173

Hyde, The, co. Bedford (L. Ames, Esq.), 195

Ham Hall, co. Stafford (Jesse Watts-Eussell,

Esq.), 78

Inchmaido, co. Kincardine (Patrick Davidson,

Esq.), 85

Irton Hall, co. Cumberland (Samuel Irton,

Esq.), 36

Iiton, Samuel, Esq. (Irton Hall), 36

Jersey, Earl of (Osterley Hall), 211

JoUilie, Sir W. G. Hylton, Bart. (Merstham
Place), 171

*Jones Pan'y, Lady (Llan-Bedrog), 79

*Jones Parry, Thomas Love Duncombe, Esq.
(Madryn), 33

Kelso, Captain, of Kelsoland (Horkesley Park),
248

Kemeys-Tynte, Charles Kemeys, Esq. (Halse-
well), 110

Kerapnall Hall, co. Worsley (Le Gendre N.

Starkie, Esq.), 198

Kendal Castle, co. Westmoreland, 199

Keythorpe Hall, co. Leicester (Lord Bemers),
83

Kidbrooke House, co. Sussex (Lord Colchester),
18

Kilcascan, co. Cork (W. J. 0'NeiII Daunt, Esq.),
162

Kilua Castle, co. Westmeath (Sir B. J. Chapman,
Bart.), 180

Kimberley Hall, co. Norfolk (Lord Wodehouse),
107

Kimbolton Castle, co. Huntingdon (Duke of

Manchester), 64

Kinfauns, co. Pertli (Lord Gray), 156

King of the Belgians (Claremont), 20

Kingscote, Colonel (Ivingscote Park), 29

Kingscote Park, co. Gloucester (Colonel Kings-

cote), 29

lungsmuir, co. Fife (George Francis Hannay,
Esq.), 150

Kingswood Warren, co. Surrey (Thomas Alcock,

Esq.), 181
*KinmeI Park, co. Denbigh (Hugh Eobert

Hughes, Esq.), 1

Kinnaird Castle, co. Forfar (Sir James Camegie,
Bart.), 93

Ivirby-Cane, co. Norfolk (Lord Bemers), 83
I\irkdale House, co. Ivii^kcudbright (WiUiam

E. Hannay, Esq.), 182

Kirldees, co. York (Sh- George Armytage, Bart.),
211

Kirkham Abbey, co. York (Edwai'd Taylor, Esq.),
227

Knowlmere Manor, co. York (Jonathan Peel,

Esq.), 150

Laghooge or Seafog, co. Lancaster (Family of

Parr), 195
Lake House, co. Wilts (Eev. Edward Dul^e),

63

Lambton Hall, co. Durham (Earl of Durham),
140

Langleys, co. Essex (John JoIIiffe Tufnell, Esq.),
130

Langton, William Henry Powell Gore, Esq.
(Newton Park), 14

Lansdowne, Marquess of (Bowood), 92

Larpent, Francis Seymour, Esq. (Hohnwood
House), 208

Latouche, John, Esq. (Harristown), 131
Lawneswood House, co. Stafford (Thomas W.

Fletcher, Esq., M.A., F.R.S.), 18

Leatham, W. H., Esq. (Hemsworth Hall), 117
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Leathes, Thomas L. Stanger, Esq. (Dalehead

Hall), 148

Leeswood, co. Fliut (John Wynne Eyton, Esq.),
76

Legh, Thomas, Esq. (Lyme, co. Chester), 34
—(Haydock Lodge, co. Lancaster), 30

Leicester, Earl of (Holkham Hall), 71

Leighton Hall, co. Laucaster (Eichard GiUow,

Esq.), 197

*Leshe, Wilham, Esq. (Warthill), 123

Levens, co. Westmoreland (Hon.-Col. Fulke
Greville Howard), 49

LUleshall Hall, co. Salop (Duke of Sutherlaud),
1!J1

Linley Wood, co. Staiford (J. Stamford Caldwell,

Esq.), 215
Little Malvern Court, co. Worcester (Charles

Beriugton, Esq.), 17

Little Thurlow HaJJ, co. SufFolk (Mrs. Soame),
104

Littleton Park, co. Middlesex (Colonel Wood),
18

Liverpool, Earl of (Pitchford), 192

*Llan-Bedrog, co. Carnarvon (Lady Jones Parry),
79

Llantmo, 00. Monmouth (Col. Chfford, M.P.),
42

Llanwern House, co. Monmouth (Sir Charles

J. Salusbury, Bart.), 124

Lockhart, James Siuclair, Esq. (Camhusnethan
House), 47

Lockington Lodge, co. Cavan (J. HamUton
Story, Esq.), 117

Longe, John Esq. (Spixworth Park), 158

Lognor, co. Saloi^ (Panton Corhet, Esq.), 47

Lonsdale, Earl of (Lowther Castle), 28

Loppington House, co. Salop. (Thomas Dicldn,

Esq.), 119

Lowther Castle, co. Westmoreland (Earl of

Lonsdale), 28

Lude, co. Perth (James P. McTnroy, Esq.), 74

Lumley Castle, co. Dm'ham (Eaii of Scar-

borough), 163

Luscombe House, co. Devon (Mrs. Hoare), 228

*Lyme, co. Chester (Thomas Legh, Esq.) 34

Lyons, co. Dubhn (Lord Cloncurry), 81

Massey, Sir Hugh Dillon, Bart.(Doonas House;,
152

Maxwell, Sir John, Bart. (Poloc), 94

McClintock, John, Esq. (Drumcai- House), 49

McDougall, John, Esq. (Dunolly Castle), 136

Mclnroy, James P., Esq. (Lude), 74

Medlycott, Sir William Coles, Bart. (Ven House),
243

Merstham Place, co. Surrey (Sir W. G. Hylton
JoUitfe, Bart.), 171

Mettingham Castle, co. Suffolk (Rev. J. Cuttiug
Satford), 100

*Mid(.Uetou Park, co. Westmeath (Geo. Augustus
Boyd, Esq.), 152

*Mid(.Ueton Hall, co. Cai'marthen (Edward
Abadam, Esq.), 179

MUbourne HaLl, co. Northumberland (R. Bates,

Esq.) 187

Mildmay, Sir H. P. St. John, Bait. (Dogmers-
field), 242

Milues, James, Esq. (Alton Manor), 196
MUsted Manor House, co. Kent (Sir John Max-
weU Tylden), 232

Money Kyrle, Wm. Esq. (Homme House), 216
Mouk Coniston, co. Laucaster (Jas. G. MarshaU,

Esq.), 88

Montrose, Duke of (Buchanan House), 166

Monjinusk, co. Aberdeen (Sii- Jas. Grant, Bart.),
148

Moray, Earl of (Donibristle), 155
Moreton Corbet, co. Salop (Su* A. V. Corbet,

Bart.), 209

Morgan, Lieut.-Colonel (Golden Grove), 94

Morgan, Sir Charles, Bart. (Tredegar House),
152

Morley, co. Lancaster (Eichard Marsh, Esq.), 57

Mote, Kent (Earl Eomuey), 240

Mulgrave Castle, co. York (Marquess of Nor-

manby), 65

Muncaster, co. Cumberland (Lord Muncaster),
114

Muncaster, Lord (Muncaster), 114

Myude Park, co. Hei'eford (Thomas George
Symons, Esq.), 180

Mytton HaU, co. Yox-k (Stapylton Stapylton,

Esq.), 23

Mackenzie, Sir John Muii-, Bart. (Delvine), 22

Mackenzie, Sir Kenneth S., Bart. (Gaiiioch),
120—(Conan), ib.

Macpherson, Ewen (Cluny Castle), 90

*Mach-yn, co. Caemai'von (Thomas L. D. Jones

Pai-ry, Esq.), 33

MaesUwch Castle, co. Radnor (Walter de Winton,
Esq.), 95

Manche, co. Cork (Daniel Conner, Esq.), 178

Manchester, Dulie of (Kimboltou Castle), 04

Manners, Lord (Fornham Hall), 94

Mannock, P., Esq. (Gitfords' HaU), 180

Manor House, Tendiing, Essex (Johu CardinaU,

Esq.), 30

Manvers, Earl (Thoresby Park), 128
Mareslield Park, co. Sussex (Sir J. VUIiers

ShcUey, Bart.), 200

Marsh, Eichard, Esq. (Moiiey), 57

Marshall, .lames Gartli, Esci. (Mouk Coniston),
8S

Narford Hall, co. Norfolk (Andrew Fountaine,

Esq.), ]i)4

Neale, Edward Vansittart, Esq. (AUesley Park),
153

Newby Wiske, co. York (WUham Rutson, Esq.),
184

Newcastle, Duke of (Clumber Pai-k), 126

*Newman, Major (Thornbm-y Piuii), 215

Newton House, co. Elgin (George Alex. For-

teath, Esq.), 155

Ne^vton Pai-k, co. Somerset (WiUiam H. Powell

Gore Langton, Esq.), 14

Nicholson, Stephen, Esq. (Eoundhay Park), 56

*Norbm'y Park, Surrey (T. GrisseU, Esq.), 240

Norbury, Earl of (Carrigmore), 184

Normanby, Miurquess of (Mulgrave Castle), 05

North, Dudley, Esq. (Glemham Hall), 18

Northampton, Maiquess of (Castle Ashby),25
—

(Comptou Wyuyate), 48
Norton HaU, co. York (Oflley Shore, Esq.), 98
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Ombersley Coiirt, co. Worcester (Lord Sandys),

Orwell Park, co. Suffolk (George Tomline, Esq.,

M.P.), 85

Osbom, Sir George Eobt. Bart. (Chicksands
Priory), 187

Ossington Hall, co. Notts (John Evelyn Denison,
Esq.), 121

Osterley Park, co. Middlesex (Earl ofJersey), 211
Ottershaw Park, co. SiuTey (Pdchard Crawshay,

Esq.), 214

Owen, EdwardW. Smythe, Esq. (Condover), 198

Oxburgh, co. Norfolk (Sir H. E. Paston Beding-
feld, Bart.), 112

Palaee Anne, co. Coi-k (Arthur Beamish Bernard,
Esq.), 194

Papillon, Thomas, Esq. (Acrise Place), 114

Pares, Thomas, Esq. (Ulverscroft Abbey), 1

Parker, Thomas G. Esq. (Browsholme Hall), 232

PaiT, FamUy of (Parr, co. Lancaster and Lagh-
hooge), 195

Parr, co. Lancaster (Family of Parr), 195

Parton, Kirkcudbriglit (Miss Gleudonwyn), 237

Paston-Bedingfeld, Sir H. E., Bait. (Oxburgh),
112

Paynter, Thomas, Esq. (Boskenna), 196

Pearse, George, Esq. (Hariington House), 1S6

Peel, Jonathan, Esq. (Knowlmere Manor), 150

Pendarves, co. Cornwall (Family of Pendaiwes),
203

Pendai^^^es, Family of (Pendarves), 203

Pennyworlodd Hall, co. Brecon (A. F. Sparkes,
Esq.), 49

Penrhos Park, North Wales (Hon. W. Owen
Stanley), 155

Pentillie Castle, co. Cornwall (John Tillie Cory-
ton, Esq.), 151

Perristone, co. Hereford (Coh Clifford, M.P.)42
Petre, Lord (Thorndon Hall), 06

Phillips, Edward, Esq. (Whitmore Park), 96
*Pinner Hill House, co. Middlesex (A. W. Tooke,

Esq.), 64

Pitchford, co. Salop (Earl of Livei-pool), 193
Pixton Park, co. Somerset (Earl of Cai-narvon),

223
Plas Coch, co. Anglesey (William Biilkeley

Hughes, Esq., M.P.), 103

Plas-yn-Yale, co. Denbigh (Colonel Yale), 56

Poloc, co. Kenfrew (Sir John Maxwell, Bart.), 94

Polwarth, Lord (Harden), 125

Portland, Duke of (Welbeck Abbey), 201

Power, Nicholas Mahon, Esq. (Faithlegg), 159

Vowis, Eari of (Walcot), 55

Poynton Hall, co. Chester (LordVemon), 106

Pratt, Edward Eoger, Esq. (Ej^ston Hall), 149

Preston, Cooper, Esq. (Flasby Hall), 87

Prothero, Family of (DolwiljTu), 206

Pusey House, co. Berks (PhUip Pusey, Esq.),
102

Pusey, Philip, Esq. (Pusey House), 102

*Pye Nest, co. York (Henry Edwards, Esq.) 210

Pyt House, co. Wilts (John Benett, Esq.) 186

Queensberry Villa, Eichmond (Sir J. B. Dundas,

Bari.), 207

Eaekheath Hall, co. Norfolk (Captain H. J.

Stracey), 171

Eadcliffe, (Foxdenton Hall), 220

Ealeigh Lodge, co. Tyrone (Colonel Eobert W.
Story, E.A.), 118

Eamsay, E. B. Wardlaw, Esq. (Whitehill), 174;

(Tilicoultry), 175
Eamsden Crays, co. Essex (Thomas M. Bearden

Batard, Esq.), 122
Eavensworth Castle, co. Durham (Lord Eavens-

worth), 62

Eavensworth, Lord (Eavensworth Castle), 62

Eebow, J. Gurdon, Esq. (Wyvenhoe Park), 46

Eedgrave Hall, co. Suffolli (George Wilson,

Esq.), 91
Eed House, co. York (Sir Chas. Slingsby, Bart.),

83

Eenishaw Hall, co. Derby (Sir S. Eevesby Sit-

well, Bart.), 16

Eiby Grove, co. Lincoln (George Tomline, Esq.,

M.P.), 70

Eiddell, Thomas, Esq. CFelton Hall), 200

Eodboume, Wilts (E. H. Pollen, Esq.), 240

Eomney, Earl of (The Mote), 240
Eosehill Park, co. Sussex (Augustus Ehott Fuller,

Esq.), 103

Eosslyn Castle, Midlothian (Earl of Eosslyn),
169

Eosslyn, Earl of (Eosslyn Castle), 169

Eoundhay Park, co. York (Stepheu Nicholson,

Esq.), 56

Eowley, Sir Joshua Eicketts, Bart. (Tendring
HaU), 101

Eufford, co. Lancaster (Sir Thomas G. Hesketh,
Bart.), 47

Eushton Hall, co. Northampton (Lord Cullen),
172

Eussell, Jesse Watts, Esq. (Ilam Hall), 78

Eutlaud, Duke of (Haddon Hall), 50

Eutson, AVilham, Esq. (Newby Wiske), 184

Eyston Hall, co. Norfolk (Edward Eoger Pi-att,

Esq.), 149

Sadborow, co. Dorset (William Bragge, Esq.),
56

Safford, Eev. Jas. Cutting (Mettingham Castle),
100

Sahsbury, Marquis of (Childwall Hall), 46

Sahisbury, Sir Chas. J. Bart. (Llanwern House),
124

*Sand, co. Devon (Eev. John Huj'she), 173

Sandars, Josei>h, Esq. (Taplow House), 228
Sandford Hall, co. Salop (T.H.Sandford, Esq.),

122

Sandford, T. H. Esq. (Sandford Hall), 122

Sandys, Lord (Ombersley Court), 123

*Sandys, J. D., Esq. (Graythwaite Hall), 227

Scarborough, Enrl of (Lumley Castle), 163

Scrope, G. P., Esq. (Castlecombe), 245

Shafto, E. D., Esq. (Whitworth Park), 246
Shankill Castle, co. Kilkenny (James Kearney

Aylwai-d, Esq.), 228

*Sharpe, Benjamin, Esq. (Hanwell Park), 86

SheUey, Sir J. ViUiers, Bart., M.P. (Mai-esfield

Park), 206

Shore, OtOey, Esq. (Norton HaU), 98

SitweU, Sir S. Eevesby, Bt. (Kenishaw HaU), 10
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Skreens, co. Essex (Thos. W, Bramston, Esq.),
86

Skipton Castle, co. York (Sir Pdcbard Tufton,

Bart.), 235
Sledmere Hall, co. York (Sir Tatton Sykes,

Bart.), 124

Slingsby, Sir Charles, Bart. (Eed House), 83

Smart, W. Lynn, Esq. (Trewhitt House), 208
Smithstone House, co. Argyle (WUliam Cooper,

Esq.), 142

Smyth, Eobert, Esq. (Gaybrook), 104

Smythe, (Ashton Court), 206

Smythe, Kev. William (Elkington Hall), 119

Smythe, W. Barlow. Esq. (Bai-barilla House),
197

*Snelston Hall, co. Derby (John Harrison,

Esq.), 228

Soame, Mrs. (Little Thurlow Hall), 104
Southwick Pai'k, co. Hants (T. Thistlethwaite,

Esq.), 209

Sparkes, A. F., Esq. (Pennyworlodd Hall), 49

Sperling, H. J., Esq. (Dynes Hall), 09

Spetchley Park, co. Worcester, (Piobert Berkeley,
Esq.), 13

Spixworth Park, co. Norfolk (John Longe, Esq.),
158

Standish, Charles, Esq. (Standish Hall), 44—
(Borwick Hall), ih.

Standish Hall, co, Lancaster (Charles Standish,

Esq.), 44

Stanhope, Sir E. F. Scudamore, Bart. (Holme
Lacy), 38

Stanley, Hon. W. Owen (Penrhos Park), 155
Stanmer Park, co. Sussex (Earl of Chichester),

192

Starkie, Le Gendre Nicliolas, Esq. (Himtroyde),
198—(Kempnall Hall), ih.

Stapylton, Stapylton, Esq. (Mytton Hall), 23
Statfold Hall, co. Statford (Stanley P. Wolferstan,

Esq.), 211

StirUng, Wm. Morav, Esq. (Abercairny), 74

Story, Col. Eobert W. (Raleigh Lodge), 118

Story, Jas. Hamilton, Esq., LL.B. (Lockington
Lodge), 117

Stowlangloft, co. Suifolk (Henry Wilson, Esq.),
109

Stracey, Captain Hemy J. (Eackheath Hall),
171

Strathfieldsaye, co. Hants (Duke of Wellington),
314

Streatlam Castle, co. Durliam (John Bowes,
Esq.), 58

*Stronge, Sir James Matthew, Bart. (TjTian
Abbey), 19

Stuart de Decies, Lord (Dromana), 30

Sutherland, Duke of (Dumobin Castle), 130—
(Lilleshall Hall), 191

Sutton Hall, co. Derby (Robert Ark\vright, Esq.),
167

Sutton Place, co. Surrey (Family of Weston),
225

Swanboume, co. Bucks (Eight Hon. Sir T. F.

Fremantle, Bart.), 142

SwarcUffe Hall, co. York (John Greenwood,
Esq.), 12

Sykes, Sir Tatton, Bart. (Sledmere Hall), 124

Symons, Thomas George, Esq. (Mynde Park),
186

Tankerville, Earl of (Chillingham Castle), (

Taplow House, co. Bucks (Joseph Sanaars,
Esq.), 228

Tatton, co. Chester (Wilbraham Egerton, Esq.),
193

Taylor, Edward, Esq. (Kirkham Abbey), 227

Taylor, John Donnithorne, Esq. (Grovelands),
73

Tendring Hall, co. SuJBfolk (Sir Joshua Eicketts

Eowley, Bart.), 101
The Castle, Castle Bellingham, co. Louth (Sir
Alan Bellingham), 134

Thistlethwaite, T. Esq. (Southwick Park), 209
Thonock Hall, co Lincoln (H. Bacon Hickman,

Esq.), 45

Thoresby Park, co. Notts (Earl Manvers), 128

Thornton, T. E. Esq. (Brockhall), 242

Thornbiu-y Castle, co. Gloucester (Henry How-
ard, Esq.), 144

Thornbury Park, co. Gloucester (Major New-
man), 215

Thorndon Hall, co. Essex (Lord Petre), 60

Tighe, Pdght Hon. W. F. Fownes (Woodstock), 19

TilhcouUry, co. Clackmannan (E. B. Wardlaw
Eamsay, Esq.), 175

Titsey Place, co. Surrey (W. Leveson Gower,
Esq.), 69

Tod, Thomas, Esq. (Drygrange), 93

TomUne, George, Esq., M.P. (Eiby Grove), 70—
(Orwell Park), 85

*Tooke, A. W. Esq. (Pinner Hill House), 64
Tor Abbey, co. Devon (R. Shedden Sulyai'de

Cary, Esq.), 74

Tower, co. FUnt (John Wjiane Eyton, Esq.), 76

Towsend, Eev. C. G. Gretton (Ber\vick Place), 68

Tredegai' House, co, Monmouth (Sir Charles

Morgan, Bart.), 152

Trefeiler, co. Anglesey (Charles H. Evans, Esq.),
207

TrenaiTen, co. CornwaU (Thomas Hext, Esq.), 86

Trewarthenick, co. Cornwall (Gordon W. F.

Gregor, Esq.), 178
Trewhitt House, co. Northumberland (W. L.

Smart, Esq.), 208

TuifneU, John JoIUife, Esq. (Langleys), 130

Tufton, Sir Richard, Bart. (Hothfield Place),
232—(Skipton Castle), 235

Tunstall Hall, co. Salop (Peter Broughton,
Esq.), 186

Tylden, Sir John MaxweU (MUsted Manor

House), 232

*Tynan Abbey, co. Armagh (Sir James Matthew

Stronge, Bai't.), 19

Ulverscroft Abbey, co. Leicester (Thomas Pares,

Esq.), 119

Utterby House, co. Lincoln (Rev. Henry B.

Benson), 85

Ven House, co. Somerset (Sir AV. C. Medlycott,

Bart.), 243

Venion, Lord (Poynton HaU), 106

Wake, Sir Charles (Com-teen Hall), 28

Walcot, co. Salop (Earl of Powis), 55
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Walker, Sir G. S. (Berry Hill)

Wallop House, co. Hants (Rev. Walter Blunt),
184

Walton Hall, co. York (Charles Waterton, Esq.),
154

Wardley Hall, co. Lancaster (Earl of Ellesmere),
191

Ware Park, co. Herts (Thomas Hope Byde,
Esq.), 204

Warthill, co. Aberdeen (Wm. Leslie, Esq.), 122

Waterton, Gharles, Esq. (Walton Hall), 154

Webster, Lady (Battle Abbey), 180
Welbeck Abbey, co. Notts (Duke of Portland),

201

Wellington, Duke of (Strathfieldsaye), 214
Wentworth House, co. York (Eai'l Fitzwilliam),

109

Western, T. Burch, Esq. (Felix Hall), 31

Weston, Family of (Sutton Place), 225

Whamchflfe, Lord (Wortley Hall), 139

Whitehill, co. Midlothian (R. B. WardlawRam-
say, Esq.), 174

Whitmore Pai-k, co. Warwick (Edward PhilHps,

Esq.), 96

White Webbs, co. Middlesex (Henry Wilkinson,

Esq.), 171

Whitworth Park, co. Durham (R. Duncombe
Shafto, Esq.), 246

Wilkinson, Henry, Esq. (White Webbs), 171

Wilhams, Thomas, Esq. (Brynbras Castle), 68

Willis, Eichard, Esq. (Halsnead Park), 210

Wilson, George, Esq. (Eedgrave Hall), 91

Wilson, Henry, Esq. (Stowlangtoft), 109

Wilton, Earl of (Heaton Park), 174
Wilton Pai-k, co. Bucks (James Du Pre, Esq.),

93

Windham, W. Howe, Esq. (Felbrig Hall), 55

Windmill Hill,co. Sussex (H, M. Cm-teiSjEsq.),
73

Wingerworth Hall, co. Derby (Sir Henry Hun-
loke, Bai-t.), L5

Wodehouse, Lord (Kimberley House), 107

Wolferstan, Stanley Pipe, Esq. (Statfold Hall),
211

Wood, Gervase, Esq. (Croxden Abbey), 241

Wood, Colonel (Littleton Park), 18

Woodstock, co. Kilkenny (Right Hon. W. F.
Fownes Tighe), 19

Woodward, Francis, Esq. (Bricklehampton
House), 55

Wootton Hall, co. Stafford (Rev. W. Davenport
Bromley), 22

Workington Hall, co. Cumberland (Henry Cur-

wen, Esq.), 149

Worsley, Sir William, Bart. (Hovingham Hall),
133

Wortley Hall, co. York (Lord Whamcliffe), 139
Wotton House, co. Surrey (William J. Evelyn,

Esq.j, 176

*Wright, Rev. William Henry Wood, Esq,
(Gola House), 121

WyrardisbuyHouse, co.Bucks (Brooke HamUton
Gyll, Esq.), 14

WycHffe, co. York (Sir T. A. Clifford Constable,
Bart.), 90

Wycoller, co. Lancaster (Family of Cunliffe),
193

Wyndham, General (Cockermouth Castle)

Wyvenhoe Hall, co. Essex (Nicholas Csesar

Corsellis, Esq.), 46

Wyvenhoe Park, Colchester (J. Gurdon Rebow,
Esq.),46

Wyvill,Marmaduke,Esq. (ConstableBurton),55

Yale, Colonel (Plas-yn-Yale), 56

Yarborough, Earl of (Brocklesby Park), 71

Youngsbury,- 00. Herts (Lady Giles Puller), 106
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* Tbe asterisks prefixed denote those Arms that are illustrated by Engravings.

*Arnold, of Hoppesford Hall, co. Warwick,
pl. xiii.

*Ashby-Maddock, of Naseby, co. Northampton,
and Greenfields, co. Salop, 25, pl. vi.

*Ashpitel, Arthur, Esq., F.E.S., fl. xiii.

Bacon, Mary-Ann, (Wife of Kenrick Bacon,
Esq.), 27

*Bankes, Kev. Frederick, M.A., Magdalene Ilall,

Oxford, and Cape of Good Hope, 58, pl. ii.

*Belhaven, Lord, 38

Bellairs, of Ivirkby BeUairs, co. Leicester, 63

BeUairs, James Peel, Esq., of Utfington, 64
BeUairs, Eev. Henry, of Bedworth, 64

*Benson, of Utterby House, co. Lincoln, 43,

pl. iii.

*Botfield, of Norton HaU, co. Northampton, and
Decker HiU, co. Salop, 52, pl. i.

*Boyd, George Augustus, Esq., of Middleton
Park, Westmeath, p/. iii.

*Browne, Thomas Beale, Esq. 3, fl. vi.

Buck, of Sturry Court, Kent, 17

*Bullen, of Marshwood, 29, p/. viii.

*BuUock, George Troyte, Esq., North Coker

House, Somerset, 45, pl. i.

*Calverley, John, Esq., Oulton HaU, Yorkshire,
65, fl. xii.

*Campbell, of Colgrain, co. Dumbarton, 44, p/. vi.

*CampbeU, Sir James, of Sti'acathro, co. Forfar,

pl. %iii.

*Carmichael, of Carspherne, N.B., 44, pl. iv.

Carnegie, of Southesk, 69

*Chadwick, Eobert, Esq., High Bauk, Preslwich,

pl. xii.

Chapman, of Bowers, in Molash, 17

*Cooper, of Failford, co. Ayr, 40, pl. i.

*Coulthart, of Coulthart and CoUyn, 18, pl. iv.

Creagh, Michael, Esq., of Cork, 62

Creagh, of Laurentinum, co. Cork, 63

Creagh, of BaUyandrew, co. Cork, 63

De Dufield, Duffeld or Duflield of Eipon and
Coverdale, co. York, 23

*D'Eyncoui-t, Eight Hon. Charles Tennyson, of

Bayons Manor, 61, pl. xii.

*Dod, of Cloverley, co. Salop, 51

*Draffen, Joseph W. Esq. 67, pl. xiii.

*Du Boulay, of Donhead Hall, co. Wilts, 45, pl .i.

Duffeld, Duffield or De Duffeld, of Eipon and
Coverdale, co. York, 23

*Dupre, James, Esq., of Wilton Park, Bucks,
54, pl. viii.

*Dykes, of Dovenby HaU, co. Cumberland, 12,

pl. X.

Edwards, of Hardingham HaU, co. Norfolk, 41
*Evans, of Plasg\vj'n, TrefeUer and Henblas,

co. Anglesey, 62, pl. vi.

Evans, of Eyton HaU, co. Hereford, 62

Evans, Eichard Weaver, 62

*Evers, of York, 58, pl. vi.

*Fetherstonhaugh, of Hopton Court, co. Wor-
cester, 27, jol. v.

*Fetherstonhaugh, Alexander Stephensou, Esq.
27, pl. V.

*Finlay, Alexander S. Esq., Castle Toward, co.

ArgyU, pl. xii.
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Fletcher, of Lawneswood House, co. Stafford,
21

*Forbes, of Pitscottie, fl. iv.

*Ford, of Ellell Hall, co. Stafford, Morecambe

Lodge, and Enfleld Old Park, co. Middlesex,

2l,pl.y.
Forieath, Geo. Alexander Esq. of Newton, co.

Elgin, 67, pL ii.

*Glendonyn, of Glendonyn, pl. iv.

*Gordon, of Sorbie, 47, pl. iv.

Glover, of Mount Glover, 70

Glover, Edward Auchmuty, Esq. 71

*Guldsmid (Sir Isaac Lyon), Baron and Baronet,

pl. vi.

Gray, Eev. ,John Hamilton, 34

*Greenwood, John, Esq. of Swarcliffe Hall, co.

York, }A. ii.

Gregor, of Trewarthenick, Comwall, 54

*Hambro, Baron, 3, pl. xi.

Hamilton, Lord Belhaven, 38

Hamilton, of Bnrns, 20

Hamilton, of Newton, 34

Hamilton, of Westburn, 24

*Harwood, Henry Harwood, Esq. of the Middle

Temple, and Cromarty House, Porchester

Terrace, 22, pl. vii.

*Hawkins, W. W. Esq. Alresford Hall, pl. iii.

Hole, of Devonshire, 51

*Hughes, of Ystrad, co. Denbigh, 10, pl. iii.

*Huyshe, of Sand, Devon, Ql,pl. xi.

Montgomerie, Austin, Esq. 37

Murray, of Cardone, N.B., 47

*Nicholson, Kobert, Esq. Ballow, co. Down, 67,

pl. \\\.

*Nolan, 57, pl. xiii.

*0'Nolan, of Bally Kealy, 54, pl. xiii.

Osborne, J. P. Esq., 68

*Parry, T. Love Duncombe Jones, Esq. of

MadrjTi, 4, pl. ix.

*Peabody, of Andover, Haverhill, London, and
New England, 11, pl. v.

*Pelham, Piev. Henry Thursby, of Cound, co.

Salop, 35, pl. vii.

Pelham, of Crowburst, co. Sussex, 35

*Penruddocke, Chaxles, Esq. Comjjton Park,
Wilts, 69, pl. viii.

*Perth, Earl of, pl. i.

*Pennyman, of Ormesby Hall, co. York, 69, pl.
xiii.

*Pidcock, oi-iginally of co. Derby, afterwards of
co. Stafford and Worcester, 7, pl. iii.

*Pidcock, John H., Esq. Devonport Street, Hyde
Park, 8, pl. iii.

*Platt, Robert, Esq. Dean Water, Cheshire,
69, pl. vii.

*Polhill, Capt. TiuTier, Howbm-y Hall, &b,pl. xiii.

*Porrittj William Henry, Esq., 69, pl. v.

*Kelso, of Kelsoland, 51, pl. viii.

*Larpent, Baron de Hochepied, pl. xiii.

*Leatham, of High Hall, Hemsworth, co. York,
58, pl. ii.

Leathes, of Dalehead Hall, Cumberland, 54

*Leigb, Capel Hanbury, Esq. Pontypool Park,
co. Monmouth, pl. ii.

*Leslie, of Warthill, co. Aberdeen, pl. xii.

Roberts, of co. Montgomery, afterwards of

Shropshire, 30

*Roberts, Charles, Esq. of St. John's Wood
Pavk, 30,;j/. ^ii.

*Robei'ts, Heni-y, Esq. London, 30, pl. vii.

*Eoberts, Eev. George, of Cheltenham, 30,

pl. vii.

*Ross, of Dalton, co. Dumfries, 45, pl. iv.

Ross, George, Esq. of Ross House, 45

*Rydon, Henry, Esq. Pyrland House, 67, pl. v.

*Mackenzie, of Craig Hall, pl. iv.

Mackenzie, of Clarendon, Jamaica, 60

*Macknyghte, of Macknyghte, 65, pl. iv.

*McCumming, Eichard Henry John Beaumont,
Esq. M,pl. vii.

*Maddock, of Naseby, 25, pl. vi.

*Mannock, P. Esq'. Gifford's Hall, Suffolk,

pl. iii.

*Margary, J. J. L. Esq. Kensington, jd. iii.

Mayne, of Powis, Clackmannau, 58, pl. iii.

*Mayne, William Siraon, Esq. 59, pl. iii.

*Mayue, Rev. Charles Otway, b^,pl. iii.

*Mayne, Henry Blair, Esq. 50, pl. iii.

*Mayne, Major William, H.E.I.C.S. 59, pl. iii.

*Mayne, Charles Otway, Esq. 59, pl. iii.

*Milnes, James, Esq. Alton Manor, co. Derbv,
68, pl. ii.

Montgomerie, of Lainshaw, and Brigend, co.

Ayr, 36

*Montgomerie, William, Esq. United States, 36,

pl. vii.

Sandars, Joseph, Esq. of Taplow House, Bucks,
53

*Sandford, of Sandford Hall, co. Salop, pl. xii.

Sears, originally of Colchester, co. Essex, and

subsequently of Boston, N. England, 5

*Sharpe, Benjamin, Esq., Hanwell Purk, pl. v.

*Smart, of Trewbitt, Northumberland, 68,

pl. vi.

*Soame, of Little Thurlow Hall, pl. v.

Sperling, of Dynes Hall, Essex, 65

*Spofforth, of Howden, co. York, and Easthorpe
Hall, 41, pl. vii.

Stephens, formerly of Eastington and Little

Sodbury, co. Gloucester, 49

Stephens, of Belgrave, co. Leicester, 50

Story, of Bingfield, Raleigh Lodge, and Lock-

ington Lodge, Ireland, 12

*Stracey, Captain, of Rackheath Hall, Norfolk,

pl. xii.

*Stronge, Sir James M. Bart., pl. v.

Sturgis, of Boston, U. S., 9
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*Sturgis, Russell, Esq., of London, 9, pl. i.

Symons, of Mynde Park, co. Hereford, V.]

*Tatchell-Bullen, of Marshwood, co. Dorset, 29,

pl. viii.

*Tennyson d'Eyncourt, Right Hon. Charles, of

Bayons Manor, 61, pl. xi.

Thomson, Richard Edward, Esq., of Kenfield,
15

Tod, of Drygrange, co. Roxbui'gh, 4

*Toker, of the Oakes, Ospringe, Kent, 14,^/. iii.

Toker, Philip Champion, Esq., 15

Toker, Captain Thomas Richard, R.N., 15

*Toker, .Tohn Buck, Esq., R.N., 16, pl. iii.

Toker, Margaret-Grace, 16

Troyte-BuUock, of North Coker House, co.

Somerset, 45

Turner, of Howbury Hall, Beds, 65, pl. xiii.

^Undei-wood, Rev. J. H., Boshury, co. Hereford,

pl. xi.

Van de Weyer, Ehzabetli Anne, 10

*WakUe, of Hendersyde Park, co. Roxburgh,
43, pl. viii.

*Walker, Sir E. S. Berry Hill, Notts, 67,

pl. ii.

*Wallaee, of Philadelphia, U. S., 31, pl. xi.

*Wathngton, Johu Hooper, Esq. of Reading, 54,

pl. i.

*Wilkinson, Henry, Esq. of White Webbs, Mid-

dlesex, pl. viii.

*Wingrove, Richard Fownes, Esq. The Grove,
Sussex, 70, pl. V.

Winthrop, of Winthrop, formerly of Grotton,
co. Sutfolk, now of New England, 39

*Woodward, of Butlers Marston, co. Warwick,
70, pl. ii.

Woodyeare, of Crookhill, co. York, 29

*Womack, of Norwich, 61, ^/. ii.

*Worrall, or Wyrrall, formerly of Bicknor, now
of Clifton, co. Gloucester, 17, pl. viii.
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